Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik

RESEARCH

Jonas Bergmann

At Risk of Deprivation

The Multidimensional Well-Being Impacts of Climate Migration and Immobility in Peru





Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik

Reihe herausgegeben von

Danielle Kasparick, Institut für Sozialwissenschaften, Stiftungs-Universität Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Niedersachsen, Deutschland Sascha Krannich, Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen, Gießen, Deutschland Roswitha Pioch, Fachhochschule Kiel, Kiel, Deutschland Stefan Rother, Universität Freiburg, Freiburg, Deutschland Migration ist eines der zentralen Globalisierungsphänomene des 21. Jahrhunderts. Entsprechend groß ist das Interesse an Fragen der politischen Regulierung und Gestaltung der weltweiten Migration, den Rechten von Migrantinnen und Migranten und der Integration von der lokalen bis zur globalen Ebene. Die Buchreihe ist interdisziplinär ausgerichtet und umfasst Monographien und Sammelwerke, die sich theoretisch und empirisch mit den Inhalten, Strukturen und Prozessen lokaler, regionaler, nationaler und internationaler Migrationsund Integrationspolitik befassen. Sie richtet sich an Wissenschaftlerinnen und Wissenschaftler, Studierende der Geistes-, Sozial-, Wirtschafts- und Rechtswissenschaften sowie an Praktikerinnen und Praktiker aus Medien, Politik und Bildung.

Die Herausgeberinnen und Herausgeber werden in ihrer Arbeit durch einen wissenschaftlichen Beirat unterstützt, den die ehemaligen Sprecherinnen und Sprecher des Arbeitskreises bilden: Prof. Dr. Sigrid Baringhorst, Universität Siegen; Prof. Dr. Thomas Faist, Universität Bielefeld; Prof. Dr. Uwe Hunger, Hochschule Fulda; Prof. Dr. Karen Schönwälder, Max-Planck-Institut zur Erforschung multireligiöser und multi-ethnischer Gesellschaften, Göttingen; Apl. Prof. Dr. Axel Schulte i.R., Leibniz Universität Hannover; Prof. em. Dr. Dietrich Thränhardt, Universität Münster.

Jonas Bergmann

At Risk of Deprivation

The Multidimensional Well-Being Impacts of Climate Migration and Immobility in Peru



Jonas Bergmann D Berlin, Germany

This book is the marginally abridged version of the author's dissertation, which was submitted and defended at the Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences at the Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin in 2022. Prof. Helga Weisz (Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin) and Prof. Susan F. Martin (Georgetown University) supervised the dissertation.



ISSN 2567-3076 ISSN 2567-3157 (electronic) Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik ISBN 978-3-658-42297-4 ISBN 978-3-658-42298-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s) 2024. This book is an open access publication.

Open Access This book is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this book are included in the book's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the book's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer VS imprint is published by the registered company Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden GmbH, part of Springer Nature.

The registered company address is: Abraham-Lincoln-Str. 46, 65189 Wiesbaden, Germany

Acknowledgements

This research has greatly benefitted from the support of various persons and institutions that I would like to thank and give credit.

The interview partners in Peru are the most important group to whom I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks. They, as the experts of their experiences, generously shared their precious time with me despite their very busy lives. Every person I interviewed taught me more about the world than I can express in writing. I stand in admiration not only of their resilience and resistance against the experienced injustices, but also of their courage to speak about their hardship, despair, and hopes.

Three professors have been pivotal in guiding the completion of this PhD. Primarily, I would like to thank my first supervisor Prof. Helga Weisz for her invaluable intellectual guidance through all stages of the research process. She has very generously shared her academic expertise with me, and this research has greatly benefited from her feedback from day one. I very much appreciated Prof. Weisz's support to use part of my time at PIK to disseminate the findings of this study to practitioners and policymakers in Peru through trainings and workshops. My second supervisor, Prof. Susan F. Martin, has been a precious professional and personal mentor for many years. I am very grateful that her expertise, wisdom, and kindness have enriched my journey for almost a decade now, from Washington D.C. to Potsdam. Moreover, I feel much obliged that Prof. Steffen Mau kindly agreed to share his expertise on my Doctoral Degree Committee. Thank you sincerely.

Additionally, I am indebted to the support provided by the East Africa–Peru– India Climate Capacities (EPICC) Project, for which I have worked from 2018 to 2021. I conducted the research for this dissertation and several other outputs in the context of this project. The Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK) led the execution of the project with its partners, The Energy and Resources Institute and the German Meteorological Service. EPICC was part of the International Climate Initiative. The Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety supported this initiative on the basis of a decision adopted by the German Bundestag. I would also like to express my sincere gratitude for the support provided throughout my previous academic studies by the Fulbright Commission, Georgetown University, the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD), the Erasmus Program, the German National Academic Foundation, and the German Economy Foundation (SDW).¹

Clearly, this dissertation is also a co-creation by a team of wonderful colleagues at PIK. I could not have asked for a better project lead, officemate, and friend than Dr. Kira Vinke, and am beyond grateful for all the support she provided along this journey. Dr. Roman Hoffmann has been a great mentor and inspiration and I would like to thank him deeply for the fruitful collaboration on the quantitative analysis in this study. He spent many days generously sharing his expertise and time with me even after moving to Vienna, and I am very thankful for his continued support. Prof. Schellnhuber graciously gifted his time and expertise for the EPICC research project, and his expertise has nurtured the project since my very first day at PIK. Thank you also to Dr. Emanuela Paoletti for the wonderful time shared and the kindness she brought into the office. The academic work at PIK would have not been as intriguing without my direct colleagues Mechthild Becker, Julia Blocher, and Himani Upadhyay-thank you for sharing this journey. I am also very grateful to all other colleagues in the EPICC project for their insightful inputs. They have advanced the knowledge on climate impacts and adaptation in the EPICC partner countries on many frontiers beyond migration. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Stephanie Gleixner for the climate data analysis she provided for my case studies. My thanks also goes to Riccardo Biella who helped with the analysis of flood exposure indicators in the Costa case study. I am equally thankful for the experience of writing and editing the PIK-IOM report "Assessing the Evidence: Climate Change and Migration in Peru" together with wonderful co-authors, namely Carlos Antonio Fernández Palomino, Dr. Stephanie Gleixner, Dr. Christoph Gornott, Rahel Laudien, Dr. Anastasia Lobanova, Dr. Josef Ludescher, Prof. Hans Joachim Schellnhuber, and Dr. Kira Vinke. Moreover, a special thanks to Claudia Bouley for her warm, effective, and continued support as the EPICC research coordinator, as well as to the

¹ German names: Deutscher Wetterdienst; Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz, und nukleare Sicherheit; Deutscher Akademische Austauschdienst; Studienstiftung des deutschen Volkes; Stiftung der Deutschen Wirtschaft.

team members Thiago Garcia, Frederic Grobler, Andrea Kambergs, Anastasiia Polianskaia, Alicia Wach, Ole Weber, and Lena Winter for their great work. I am also grateful to Gonzalo Gutierrez at the Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú, who skillfully transcribed the interview transcripts from the fieldwork. Furthermore, I would like to express my gratitude to all FutureLab Social Metabolism colleagues and in particular to Camille Belmin, Ingram Jaccard, Manuela Lubinsky, Dr. Paul Pichler, Prof. Detlef Sprinz, and Janna Rheinbay. I enjoyed the shared discussions, presentations, feedback sessions, and luncheons. Juan Auz lightened up the daily work at PIK during his stay through his inspiring and cheerful friendship. Finally, Dr. Max Callaghan, Nikola Milojevic-Dupont, and Dr. Jan Minx at the Mercator Research Institute on Global Commons and Climate Change (MCC) kindly shared their time with me to introduce me to their tools for synthesis research.

I also want to convey my deep gratitude to the local partner organizations in Peru that competently facilitated access to the study sites so I could collect the primary data. Key partners included the Mountain Institute for the *Sierra* case study; San Martín's Regional Office of Security and National Defense and the Peruvian National Center for Disaster Risk Estimation, Prevention, and Reduction for the *Selva*; as well as Caritas and the student group CIMA at the University of Piura for the *Costa*. Moreover, I would like to express my gratitude to the colleagues at the Peruvian National Institute for Statistics and Informatics for supporting this research by merging the two surveys applied in the case study of the 2017 Costal El Niño floods.² I would like to acknowledge how much all these partners have done for this research project and thank them for the many days we shared together and the invaluable support they offered for this work.

Various additional experts have graciously shared their expertise with me. I am very grateful to Elisa Mosler Vidal, Berenike Firestone, Dr. Dominik Hügle, Dr. Fanny Thornton, and Andre Sanchez-Montoya for their invaluable comments. Additionally, I am obliged to Dr. Helen Adams, Eyner Alata, Prof. Teófilo M. Altamirano Rua, Dr. David Bartram, Dr. Juan Bazo, Mariano Castro Sánchez-Moreno, Prof. Robin Cavagnoud, Dr. Fabian Drenkhan, Julian Emmler, Prof. Thomas Faist, Prof. Elizabeth Ferris, Dr. Martjin Hendriks, Prof. Ulrike Kluge, Dr. Sonja Köke, Dr. Kanta Kumari Rigaud, Dr. Julian Lehmann, Prof. Robert McLeman, Dr. Susanne Melde, Dr. Andrea Milan, Karoline Popp, Dr. Jeanette Schade, Stella Schroeder, Tobias Wolf, Prof. David Wrathall, Antonio Zambrano

² Original Spanish names: Instituto de la Montaña; Oficina Regional de Seguridad y Defensa Nacional; Centro Nacional de Estimación, Prevención y Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres (CENEPRED); Grupo de Formación en Ciencias del Medio Ambiente (CIMA); and Instituto Nacional de Estadisticas e Informatica (INEI).

Allende, Florencia Zapata, and Dr. Caroline Zickgraf. I would also like to thank the reviewers of the publications that I have prepared during my research for this dissertation and the EPICC project.

Numerous other actors have contributed to this research. Principally, the collaboration with the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and its offices in Lima, Geneva, and Berlin was instrumental for the joint PIK-IOM production of the "Assessing the Evidence" report that fed into this dissertation, the dissemination of findings, and the liaison with key actors in Peru. Within IOM, a special thanks appertains to Pablo Escribano for his masterly support of the trainings. workshops, and outputs we produced together. I am also grateful to my IOM colleagues Miguel Lorenzo De Lim, Harvy Gadia, Julio Gutierrez, Sieun Lee, Madeline Page, Rogelio Quintero, Quynh Anh Thuy Chu, Nicolas Vexlir, and Sergio Zapata for the productive collaboration. Special thanks are also due to the staff at the Peruvian Ministry of the Environment, the Ministry of Women and Vulnerable Populations, and the National Meteorological and Hydrological Service of Peru.³ These counterparts were key for formulating the research interests and have kindly engaged with my results during various in-country workshops, advisory board sessions, trainings, and bilateral meetings. Additionally, I am grateful that the German Embassy in Peru supported this research by sponsoring the translation of the PIK-IOM report into Spanish.

To conclude, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to my family and friends for their love, inspiration, and support. It would take too much space to list all the dear people to whom I am grateful, but please know how much I appreciate that all of you are in my life. In particular, I am humbled by the loving company, care, support, and encouragement that my parents Bärbel and Jochen as well as my brothers Magnus and Stefan have provided throughout my journey. Thank you for being there and for being my home. Isabelle, thank you for dreaming and growing together, for your inspiration, and for your support. Dominik, Kasper, and Sam, you have been the greatest roommates one could wish for during a PhD project that involved extensive periods of home office

³ Original Spanish names: *Ministerio del Ambiente (MINAM)*; *Ministerio de la Mujer y Pobla*ciones Vulnerables (MIMP); and Servicio Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología del Perú (SENAMHI).

under pandemic conditions. Thank you very much. And thank everyone else who has gifted my journey with their presence.

During the research and publication process, the author has been affiliated with the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK). He worked for the East Africa–Peru–India Climate Capacities (EPICC) Project, which was supported by the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety on the basis of a decision adopted by the German Bundestag. The publication of this work was supported by the Open Access Publication Fund of Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin; the Publication Fund for Monographs of the Leibniz Association; and the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (PIK).



Abstract

Worsening climate impacts are forcing subsistence farmers worldwide to decide whether to stay in place or migrate. Both alternatives, immobility and mobility, are presumed to affect multiple dimensions of human well-being. Yet, knowledge about the well-being impacts of such climate (im)mobilities and their underlying mechanisms of action remains limited. Impact studies are rare and often only focus on select wealth effects while overlooking how climate migrants or stayers self-assess their wider state. To address this gap, this work analyzes how and why climate (im)mobilities affect both people's objective needs (including livelihoods, education, health, housing, basic services, safety from hazards, security, and social relatedness) and their subjective well-being (emotional balance, cognitive satisfaction, and views of the future). It compares the impacts of diverse climate (im)mobilities on such multidimensional well-being across three case studies in Peru's major topographical zones: (1) rural-to-urban migration and immobility related to water scarcity in the highlands, (2) flood-driven entrapment and planned relocation in the rainforest, and (3) internal disaster displacement following the 2017 Coastal El Niño. A mixed methods approach was applied, drawing on interview data from 93 affected people and over 60 experts. In the Coastal El Niño case, existing countrywide survey data from close to 190,000 respondents were assessed as well. Based on these analyses, the study identifies the multidimensional well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities and mechanisms of action with the aim of informing research, policies, and planning in this area. The findings highlight that well-being impacts were on average more net-negative than net-positive, regardless of whether farmers stayed or migrated. The principal limitation for achieving well-being was structural constraints, such as development gaps, weak governance, marginalization, and land issues. In most cases, prior structural constraints were reproduced or exacerbated. Similarly, the

more damaging the climate impacts were, the higher the risk of an ensuing wellbeing decline. Affected people's agency and their ability to moderate losses were often very limited. While the observed well-being impacts were multifaceted, most elements of people's need fulfillment tended to affect one other significantly. Often, these elements also jointly determined the direction of change in people's subjective well-being. These results suggest that the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities depend heavily on structural conditions and the severity of climate impacts; as such, many poor farmers are left with limited agency and only marginal influence over outcomes. The identified vulnerabilities thus challenge prevalent framings of "migration as adaptation" and rather stress the need to protect affected people's human rights and human security while redressing loss and damage. To this end, the study proposes measures that could help reduce climate risks, protect stayers, facilitate movement in dignity, and safeguard migrants' well-being. Without substantial investments in such efforts, climate impacts could sharply reduce numerous subsistence farmers' well-being globally-irrespective of whether they stay or migrate. The study also discusses methodological and conceptual implications as well as future research needs.

Keywords: Climate change \cdot Migration \cdot Displacement \cdot Relocation \cdot Immobility \cdot Well-being \cdot Peru

Verschärfende Klimafolgen stellen weltweit Menschen, die von Subsistenzlandwirtschaft abhängen, zunehmend vor die Entscheidung, ob sie vor Ort bleiben oder migrieren. Es wird vermutet, dass beide Alternativen, Mobilität und Immobilität, vielfältige Dimensionen des menschlichen Wohlergehens beeinflussen können. Jedoch ist der derzeitige Wissensstand über die Auswirkungen von Klimamigration oder Immobilität auf menschliches Wohlergehen und die zugrunde liegenden Wirkmechanismen nach wie vor begrenzt. Wirkungsstudien sind rar und konzentrieren sich oft nur auf ausgewählte Wohlstandseffekte, ohne zu untersuchen, wie Betroffene ihre weitere Situation selbst einschätzen. Um diese Lücke zu schließen, vergleicht diese Studie wie und warum Klima(im)mobilitäten sowohl die objektive Bedürfniserfüllung der Menschen (einschließlich Lebensunterhalt, Bildung, Gesundheit, Wohnen, Grundversorgung, Schutz vor Umweltgefahren, Sicherheit und soziale Verbundenheit) als auch deren subjektives Wohlbefinden (emotionales Gleichgewicht, kognitive Zufriedenheit und Zukunftsaussichten) beeinflussen. Die Arbeit vergleicht die Auswirkungen verschiedener Arten von Klima(im)mobilitäten auf multidimensionales Wohlergehen anhand von drei Fallstudien in den wichtigsten topographischen Zonen Perus: (1) Land-Stadt-Migration und Immobilität im Zusammenhang mit Wasserknappheit im Hochland, (2) hochwasserbedingtes Eingeschlossen-Sein (entrapment)

und geplante Umsiedlungen im Regenwald sowie (3) Binnenflucht nach der Küsten-El Niño Katastrophe im Jahr 2017. Es wurde ein Mixed-Methods-Ansatz angewendet, der sich auf Interviewdaten von 93 Betroffenen und über 60 Expert:innen stützte. In der Fallstudie zum Küsten-El Niño wurden ebenso bestehende landesweite Erhebungsdaten von beinahe 190,000 Befragten ausgewertet. Basierend auf diesen Analysen identifiziert die Studie die multidimensionalen Auswirkungen von Klima(im-)mobilitäten auf menschliches Wohlergehen sowie zugrundeliegende Wirkmechanismen mit dem Ziel, Wissen für Forschung, Politik und Planung in diesem Bereich bereitzustellen. Die Ergebnisse unterstreichen, dass die Auswirkungen auf das Wohlergehen der landwirtschaftlich Beschäftigen im Durchschnitt eher nettonegativ als nettopositiv waren, unabhängig davon, ob sie vor Ort blieben oder migrierten. Das maßgebliche Hindernis für das Erreichen von Wohlergehen stellten strukturelle Beschränkungen dar, wie Entwicklungslücken, schwache Regierungsführung, Marginalisierung und Landprobleme. In den meisten Fällen wurden anfängliche strukturelle Beschränkungen reproduziert oder verschärft. Auf ähnliche Weise war das Risiko einer Minderung von Wohlergehen desto höher, je schädlicher die Klimafolgen waren. Die Handlungsfähigkeit der Betroffenen und ihre Möglichkeiten, Verluste auszugleichen, waren oft stark begrenzt. Wenngleich die beobachteten Auswirkungen auf das Wohlergehen vielschichtig waren, beeinflussten sich die meisten untersuchten Elemente der menschlichen Bedürfniserfüllung erheblich gegenseitig. Gemeinsam bestimmten diese Elemente der objektiven Bedürfniserfüllung häufig auch die Richtung der Veränderung im subjektiven Wohlbefinden der Betroffenen. Diese Ergebnisse deuten darauf hin, dass die Auswirkungen von Klima(im-) mobilitäten auf das Wohlergehen stark von den strukturellen Bedingungen und der Schwere der Klimafolgen abhängen, so dass viele mittellose Landwirt:innen nur begrenzte Handlungsmöglichkeiten und einen geringen Einfluss auf die Ergebnisse haben. Die identifizierten Vulnerabilitäten stellen somit die weitverbreitete Darstellung von "Migration als Klimaanpassung" in Frage und betonen stattdessen die Notwendigkeit, Menschenrechte und Menschliche Sicherheit von Betroffenen zu schützen sowie klimabedingte Verluste und Schäden auszugleichen. Zu diesem Zweck schlägt die Studie Maßnahmen vor, die dazu beitragen könnten, Klimarisiken zu reduzieren, vor Ort bleibende Menschen zu schützen, Migration in Würde zu ermöglichen und das Wohlergehen von Migrant:innen zu sichern. Ohne erhebliche Investitionen in solche Bemühungen könnten Klimafolgen das Wohlergehen zahlreicher Subsistenzlandwirt:innen weltweit stark beeinträchtigen - unabhängig davon, ob sie vor Ort bleiben oder migrieren. Die Arbeit erörtert abschließend methodische und konzeptionelle Einsichten sowie zukünftige Forschungsbedürfnisse.

Schlüsselwörter: Klimawandel \cdot Migration \cdot Flucht \cdot Geplante Umsiedlung \cdot Immobilität \cdot Wohlbefinden \cdot Peru

El empeoramiento de los impactos climáticos está obligando a l@s agricultores de subsistencia de todo el mundo a decidir si permanecer en el lugar o migrar. Se presume que ambas opciones, la movilidad y la inmovilidad, afectan múltiples dimensiones del bienestar humano. Sin embargo, el conocimiento sobre los impactos de las (in)movilidades climáticas en el bienestar y sus mecanismos de acción subyacentes sigue siendo limitado. Los estudios de impacto son escasos y, a menudo, solo se enfocan en efectos de riqueza seleccionados mientras pasan por alto de cómo l@s migrantes climátic@s o los que se quedan autoevalúan su estado más amplio. Para abordar esta brecha, este trabajo analiza cómo y por qué las (in)movilidades climáticas afectan tanto a las necesidades objetivas de las personas (incluidos los medios de vida, la educación, la salud, la vivienda, los servicios básicos, la exposición a los peligros, la seguridad y las relaciones social) como a su bienestar subjetivo (equilibrio emocional, satisfacción cognitiva y perspectivas del futuro). El estudio compara los impactos de las diversas (in)movilidades climáticas en el bienestar multidimensional a través de tres estudios de caso distribuidos en las principales zonas topográficas de Perú: (1) la migración rural-urbana y la inmovilidad relacionadas con la escasez de agua en la sierra, (2) el atrapamiento y la relocalización planificada impulsados por las inundaciones en la selva tropical, y (3) el desplazamiento interno después del evento de El Niño Costero de 2017. Los casos fueron analizados aplicando un enfoque de métodos mixtos, en base a los datos de las entrevistas de 93 personas afectadas y más de 60 expert@s. En el caso de El Niño Costero, también se evaluaron los datos de encuestas existentes que cubren todo el país, con cerca de 190,000 encuestados. A partir de estos análisis, el estudio identifica los efectos de las (in)movilidades climáticas en múltiples dimensiones del bienestar y los mecanismos de acción con el objetivo de informar la investigación, las políticas y la planificación en esta área de estudio. Los resultados destacan que los impactos en el bienestar fueron, en general, más netos negativos que netos positivos, independientemente de si l@s agricultores migraron o no. La principal limitación para lograr el bienestar fueron las restricciones estructurales, como las brechas de desarrollo, la gobernanza débil, la marginación y los problemas relacionados a los terrenos. En la mayoría de los casos, las restricciones estructurales existentes se reprodujeron o exacerbaron. De manera similar, cuanto más dañinos fueron los impactos climáticos, mayor fue el riesgo de una consiguiente disminución del bienestar. La agencia de las personas afectadas y su capacidad para mitigar pérdidas a menudo fueron muy limitadas. Si bien los impactos observados en el bienestar fueron multifacéticos, la mayoría de los elementos de la satisfacción de las necesidades de las personas tendieron a afectarse entre sí significativamente. A menudo, estos elementos asimismo determinaron de manera conjunta la dirección del cambio en su bienestar subjetivo. Estos resultados sugieren que los impactos de las (in)movilidades climáticas en el bienestar dependen en gran medida de las condiciones estructurales y la gravedad de los impactos climáticos; como tal, much@s agricultores pobres se quedan con una agencia limitada y solo una influencia marginal sobre los resultados. Por lo tanto, las vulnerabilidades identificadas cuestionan los marcos predominantes de "migración como adaptación" y más bien enfatizan la necesidad de proteger los derechos humanos y la seguridad humana de las personas afectadas mientras se reparan pérdidas y daños. Con este fin, el estudio propone medidas que podrían ayudar a reducir los riesgos climáticos, proteger a las personas que se quedan, facilitar el movimiento con dignidad y salvaguardar el bienestar de 1@s migrantes. Sin inversiones sustanciales en tales esfuerzos, los impactos climáticos podrían reducir drásticamente el bienestar de numeros@s agricultores de subsistencia a nivel mundial, independientemente de si migran o no. El estudio también discuta las implicaciones metodológicas y conceptuales, así como las necesidades futuras de investigación.

Palabras clave: Cambio climático · Migración · Desplazamiento · Relocalización · Inmovilidad · Bienestar · Perú

Contents

Part I Setting the Stage

1	Intr	oduction	3		
	1.1	Context and Scope of the Research	5		
	1.2	Research Questions and Objectives	12		
	1.3	Structure of the Dissertation	14		
2	Conceptual Approach				
	2.1	Climate Change Hazards and Impacts	17		
	2.2	Initiation and Impacts of Migration or Immobility	19		
		2.2.1 Terminology and Definitions	19		
		2.2.2 Starting Migration: Aspirations-Capabilities			
		Framework	21		
		2.2.3 Processes and Mechanisms Shaping Outcomes			
		of (Im)mobilities	29		
	2.3	Well-Being Impacts of (Im)mobilities	35		
		2.3.1 Terminology and Definition	36		
		2.3.2 Conceptualization of Key Well-Being Elements	38		
3	Res	earch Philosophy, Methodological Implications,			
	and	Research Design	57		
	3.1	Critical Realist Stance and Implications	57		
	3.2	Mixed Methods Research Design	61		
		3.2.1 Qualitative Methods	63		
		3.2.2 Quantitative Methods	83		

Stat	e of the Evidence on Climate (Im)mobilities and Well-Being	
4.1	State of the Research on Links between Hazards	
	and (Im)mobilities	
	4.1.1 Research Evolution and Landscape	
	4.1.2 Identified Effects and Underlying Mechanisms	
	4.1.3 Linkages in Latin America	
4.2	State of the Evidence on Links between (Im)mobilities	
	and Well-Being	
	4.2.1 Effects on Objective Dimensions of Well-Being	1
	4.2.2 Effects on SWB	1
4.3	Summary and Implications for this Study	1

Part II At Risk of Deprivation

5	Sier	ra: Rural-to-Urban Migration and Immobility Related		
	to Water Scarcity in Peru's Highlands			
	5.1	Context	136	
	5.2	Empirical Results	152	
		5.2.1 Climate Change Dimensions	157	
		5.2.2 Migration Dimensions	160	
		5.2.3 Well-Being Dimensions: Migrants at Their		
		Destination	164	
		5.2.4 Well-Being Dimensions: Stayers in Source Areas	173	
	5.3	Discussion	177	
		5.3.1 Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways	177	
		5.3.2 Well-Being Effects, Structural Conditions,		
		and Mechanisms	179	
	5.4	Summary and Induction of Propositions	187	
6	Selv	a: Flood-Driven Entrapment and Planned Relocation		
	in P	eru's Rainforest	193	
	6.1	Context	194	
	6.2	Empirical Results	207	
		6.2.1 Climate Change Dimensions	210	
		6.2.2 Migration Dimensions	214	
		6.2.3 Well-Being Dimensions: Migrants from V3 After		
		the Belated, Completed Relocation	218	
		6.2.4 Well-Being Dimensions: Aspiring Migrants		
		from V4 in Prolonged Entrapment	228	
	6.3	Discussion	236	

		6.3.1	Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways	237
		6.3.2	Well-Being Effects, Mechanisms, and Structural	
			Conditions	239
	6.4	Summ	hary and Induction of Propositions	245
7	Cost	ta: Floo	od Displacement During the 2017 Coastal El Niño	
	in P	eru		249
	7.1	Conte	xt	250
	7.2	Qualit	tative Empirical Results	264
		7.2.1	Climate Change Dimensions	265
		7.2.2	Migration Dimensions	269
		7.2.3	Well-Being Dimensions	272
	7.3	Quant	itative Empirical Results	286
		7.3.1	Magnitude of Displacement and Differential	
			Displacement Risk	287
		7.3.2	Short- and Mid-Term Impacts of Displacement	
			on Well-Being	289
	7.4	Discu	ssion	304
		7.4.1	Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways	304
		7.4.2	Well-Being Effects, Structural Conditions,	
			and Mechanisms	309
	7.5	Summ	hary and Induction of Propositions	315
8	Con	iparati	ve Analysis and Overarching Propositions	319
	8.1	Well-I	being Impacts	322
	8.2	Condi	tions and Mechanisms Shaping Well-being	327
		8.2.1	Structural Conditions	328
		8.2.2	Nature and Impacts of Hazards	332
		8.2.3	Agency	333
	8.3	Summ	hary and Overarching Propositions	336
Pa	rt III	Seei	ng Behind the Curtain	
0	Con	clusion		3/3
1	0 1	Implie	and the second	345
	0.2	Pacor	nmendations	357
	9.2	Recen	rch Avenues	368
	9.5 0 /	Outlo	ak	300
	7.4	Outio	UR	512
Re	eferen	ices		377

Abbreviations and Acronyms

Codes for Study Sites and Respondents

- (H-#) Huancayo
- (L-#) Lima
- (LP-#) Lower Piura
- (UP-#) Upper Piura
- (V1-#) Village 1, in the Lima Region in the Peruvian highlands
- (V2-#) Village 2, in the Lima Region in the Peruvian highlands
- (V3-#) Village 3, in the San Martín Region in the Peruvian rainforest
- (V4-#) Village 4, in the San Martín Region in the Peruvian rainforest

Other Abbreviations and Acronyms

ABM	agent-based model
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AIC	Akaike information criterion
ANA	National Water Authority (Peru)
	(Spanish: Autoridad Nacional del Agua)
ARA	Regional Environmental Authority (San Martín)
	(Spanish: Autoridad Regional Ambiental San Martín)
CEN	Coastal El Niño
	(Spanish: El Niño Costero)

CENEPRED	National Center for Disaster Risk Estimation, Prevention and
	Reduction (Peru)
	(Spanish: Centro Nacional de Estimación, Prevención y
	Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres)
CEPES	Peruvian Center for Social Studies
	(Spanish: Centro Peruano de Estudios Sociales)
CEPLAN	National Center for Strategic Planning (Peru)
	(Spanish: Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico)
CIMA	Training Group in Environmental Sciences (University of Piura)
	(Spanish: Grupo de Formación en Ciencias del Medio Ambiente)
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
СР	Central Pacific (El Niño)
DRR/DRM	disaster risk reduction and management
EGRIS	Expert Group on Refugee and IDP Statistics
ENAHO	National Household Survey (Peru)
	(Spanish: Encuesta Nacional de Hogares)
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
EP	Eastern Pacific (El Niño)
EPICC	East Africa Peru India Climate Capacities Project
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GCA	Global Center on Adaptation
GCM	general circulation model
GDP	gross domestic product
GFDRR	Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery
GLOF	glacial lake outburst flood
IASC	Inter-Agency Standing Committee
IDB	Inter-American Development Bank
IDMC	Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre
IDP(s)	internally displaced person(s)
IKI	International Climate Initiative
	(German: Internationale Klimaschutzinitiative)
INAIGEM	National Institute for Research on Glaciers and Mountain
	Ecosystems (Peru)
	(Spanish: Instituto Nacional de Investigación en Glaciares y
	Ecosistemas de Montaña)
INDECI	National Civil Defense Institute (Peru)
	(Spanish: Instituto Nacional de Defensa Civil)

INEI	National Institute of Statistics and Informatics (Peru)
	(Spanish: Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática)
INRENA	National Institute of Natural Resources (Peru)
	(Spanish: Instituto Nacional de Recursos Nacionales)
IOM	International Organization for Migration
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IRIS	International Recommendations on IDP Statistics
ISIMIP	Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project
JIPS	Joint IDP Profiling Service
KNOMAD	Global Knowledge Partnership on Migration and Development
L&D	Loss and Damage
m.a.s.l.	meters above sea level
MHPSS	Mental Health & Psychosocial Support
MIDIS	Ministry of Development and Social Inclusion (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio de Desarrollo e Inclusión Social)
MIMDES	Ministry of Development and Social Inclusion (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio de la Mujer y Desarrollo Social)
MIMP	Ministry of Women and Vulnerable Populations (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio de la Mujer y Poblaciones Vulnerables)
MINAGRI	Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio de Agricultura y Riego)
MINAM	Ministry of Environment (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio del Ambiente)
MINJUSDH	Ministry of Justice and Human Rights (Peru)
	(Spanish: Ministerio de Justicia y Derechos Humanos)
MMC	Mayors Migration Council
MML	Municipality of Lima
	(Spanish: Municipalidad Metropolitana de Lima)
NAP	National Adaptation Plan
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration (USA)
NDCs	Nationally Determined Contributions (Paris Climate Agreement)
NELM	New Economics of Labor Migration
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
OCHA	UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OWB	objective well-being
РАНО	Pan-American Health Organization
PCA	principal component analysis

РСМ	Presidency of the Council of Ministers (Peru)
	(Spanish: Presidencia del Consejo de Ministros)
PIK	Potsdam-Institut für Klimafolgenforschung
	(English: Postdam Institute for Climate Impact Research)
PISCO	Peruvian Interpolated data of the SENAMHI's Climatological
	and hydrological Observations
PWB	psychological well-being
ΟΤΑ	Oualitative Text Analysis
OUAL	qualitative
quant	quantitative
RCC	Authority for Reconstruction with Changes (Peru)
	(Spanish: Autoridad para la Reconstrucción con Cambios)
RCP	representative concentration pathway
SD	standard deviation
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SENAMHI	National Meteorological and Hydrological Service (Peru)
	(Spanish: Servicio Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología del
	(Spanishi Servicio Fractoria) de Meteorologia e Marologia del Perú)
SERNANP	National Service of Natural Areas Protected by the State (Peru)
	(Spanish: Servicio Nacional de Áreas Naturales Protegidas por el
	(17 Estado)
SINAGERD	National System for Disaster Risk Management (Peru)
	(Spanish: Sistema Nacional de Gestión del Riesgo de Desastres)
SISFOH	Household Targeting System (Peru)
	(Spanish: Sistema de Focalización de Hogares)
SLR	sea-level rise
SSP	shared socioeconomic pathway
SST	sea surface temperature
SWB	subjective well-being
UGEL	Local Educational Management Unit (Peru)
	(Spanish: Unidad de Gestión Educativa Local)
UN	United Nations
UNDESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNDRR	United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction
	(formerly known as the United Nations International Strategy for
	Disaster Reduction (UNISDR))
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UNHCR	United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees
UNISDR	see UNDRR
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
WBGU	German Advisory Council on Global Change (Germany)
	(German: Wissenschaftlicher Beirat der Bundesregierung Globale
	Umweltveränderungen)
WFP	World Food Programme
WHO	World Health Organization
WIM	Warsaw International Mechanism
WMO	World Meteorological Organization

List of Figures

Figure 2.1	Aspirations-Capabilities Framework	
	and structure-agent interactions	28
Figure 2.2	Key elements in the development of impacts	
	during the life cycle of (im)mobilities	33
Figure 2.3	Locally grounded framework for assessing OWB	
	in Peru	47
Figure 2.4	Comparison of Cernea's model and OWB dimensions	
	in this study	48
Figure 2.5	Differential possibilities of OWB and SWB outcomes	54
Figure 2.6	Measures of OWB and SWB applied for assessing	
	impacts of climate (im)mobilities	55
Figure 3.1	Layers of research and application in this study	58
Figure 3.2	Overview of the applied mixed methods design	62
Figure 3.3	The three Regions for the qualitative data collection	
	in Peru	64
Figure 3.4	Sites for qualitative data collection across Peru's three	
	large regions	65
Figure 3.5	Topical guide and topical complexes	71
Figure 3.6	Photo of an interview with an affected farmer	72
Figure 3.7	Photo of the focus group with pupils in a study site	
	in the highlands	73
Figure 3.8	Qualitative data profiles of 93 affected people	74
Figure 3.9	Experts consulted across administrative scales	
	and fields of expertise	75
Figure 3.10	The analytical process of Qualitative Text Analysis	78

Figure 4.1	Prior country case studies on climate change	
	and migration in the Americas	98
Figure 5.1	Sites for qualitative data collection in Peru's highlands	137
Figure 5.2	Ecosystems in the Cordillera Central and glaciated	
-	surfaces	138
Figure 5.3	Temperatures and rainfall close to V1 and V2	139
Figure 5.4	Contribution of glacier meltwater to river flow	
C C	in the Lima Region	140
Figure 5.5	Temperature trends close to V1 and V2	141
Figure 5.6	Rainfall trends close to V1 and V2	142
Figure 5.7	Loss of glaciated areas in the Cordillera Central	143
Figure 5.8	Observed and projected temperature in the Province	
U	where V1 and V2 are sited	145
Figure 5.9	Observed and projected rainfall for the Province	
U	where V1 and V2 are sited	146
Figure 5.10	Impressions of the field work in the highlands	153
Figure 5.11	Impressions of the field work in Lima	
0	and in Huancavo	156
Figure 5.12	Hazards affecting interviewees in the highlands	157
Figure 5.13	Situation in the highland villages of origin	174
Figure 5.14	Main well-being effects for migrants from V1 and V2.	
U	structural conditions, and identified mechanisms	
	of action	188
Figure 6.1	Sites for qualitative data collection in Peru's rainforest	195
Figure 6.2	Temperatures and rainfall close to V3 and V4	197
Figure 6.3	Temperature trends close to V4	198
Figure 6.4	Rainfall trends close to V4	199
Figure 6.5	Observed and projected rainfall in the Province home	
i iguie olo	to V4	200
Figure 6.6	Observed and projected temperature in the Province	
0	home to V4	201
Figure 6.7	Flood risk zones in Peru	203
Figure 6.8	Impressions of the study sites V3 and V4	208
Figure 6.9	Hazards affecting interviewees in the rainforest	211
Figure 6.10	Main well-being effects for relocatees from V3	
	and trapped persons in V4, structural conditions.	
	and identified mechanisms of action	246
Figure 7.1	Sites for qualitative data collection on Peru's coast	251
Figure 7.2	Temperatures and rainfall close to the sites in Piura	2.52

Figure 7.3	Temperature trends close to LP	253
Figure 7.4	Rainfall trends close to LP	254
Figure 7.5	Observed and projected temperature in the Province	
	where LP is sited	256
Figure 7.6	Observed and projected rainfall in the Province	
	where LP is sited	258
Figure 7.7	Exposure to probability of ENSO events by Regions	260
Figure 7.8	Rainfall anomalies during the 2017 CEN in Peru	
	and flood extent in its northwest	261
Figure 7.9	Impressions of the field work in Piura	265
Figure 7.10	Hazards affecting interviewees in the coastal region	267
Figure 7.11	Rainfall anomalies and household displacement	
	in severely affected districts	288
Figure 7.12	Loss and damage among the affected, displaced	
	or non-displaced population	295
Figure 7.13	Histogram of the normalized well-being index based	
	on 35 indicators	299
Figure 7.14	Main well-being effects for displaced persons	
	from LP and UP, structural conditions, and identified	
	mechanisms of action	316
Figure 8.1	Spectrum of well-being Ideal types and outcomes	
	of studied groups	322
Figure 8.2	Heatmap of well-being outcomes	323
Figure 8.3	Approximate directions of interactions	
	between well-being components	324
Figure 8.4	Three characteristic well-being trajectories of climate	
	(im)mobilities over time	326
Figure 8.5	Major influences on well-being changes	327
Figure 8.6	Structural constraints and limited opportunities	
	strongly influence well-being paths	328
Figure 8.7	Well-being impacts in function of structure, hazards,	
	and agency	337
Figure 9.1	Recommendations to enhance the well-being	
	of affected populations	358
Figure 9.2	Intervention options to safeguard and improve	
	migrants' well-being	366

List of Tables

Table 2.1	Defining dimensions of migration in this study	20
Table 2.2	Aspirations-Capabilities-derived (im)mobility types	24
Table 2.3	(Im)mobility forms resulting from structural constraints	
	and opportunities	25
Table 2.4	Possible measures of SWB or OWB and indicators	39
Table 2.5	Major existing approaches to well-being	40
Table 2.6	Components of well-being ranked by Peruvian	
	respondents	45
Table 3.1	Areas for data collection in the CEN Survey	84
Table 3.2	Summary statistics on CEN Survey respondents	
	cross-identified in the National Census and those	
	not re-identified	86
Table 4.1	Identified synthesis studies of hazard-migration linkages	
	worldwide	92
Table 4.2	Synthesis of available studies on climate migration	
	outcomes in Peru	100
Table 5.1	Basic data on interviewees in the mountain villages V1	
	and V2	152
Table 5.2	Basic data on migrant interviewees originally	
	from the mountain villages	154
Table 6.1	Basic data on interviewees from the rainforest villages	
	V3 and V4	209
Table 7.1	Loss and damage in Peru during recent El Niño events	262
Table 7.2	Basic data on interviewees in areas affected by the 2017	
	CEN in LP and UP	266

Table 7.3	Logistic regression models analyzing marginal effects	
	of drivers of household displacement risk	290
Table 7.4	Summary statistics on loss and damage experienced	
	by households due to the CEN event in 2017	294
Table 7.5	Summary statistics of variables used for constructing	
	the well-being index	296
Table 7.6	Summary statistics of the principal component analysis	298
Table 7.7	Linear regression models analyzing drivers of individual	
	well-being impacts seven months after the CEN	300
Table 8.1	Key migration and immobility variables in the case	
	studies	320

Part I Setting the Stage

Introduction



Worldwide, climate hazards increasingly pose existential threats to subsistence farmers (Cohn et al. 2017; Niles & Salerno 2018). Worsening hazards include both *abrupt* events, such as floods, and *gradual* processes, such as glacier retreat (Pörtner et al. 2022). Many subsistence farmers struggle to manage such hazards where they live because they are multidimensionally poor (Donatti et al. 2019; Sietz et al. 2012). As a result, climate impacts are increasingly influencing their migration decisions (Cissé et al. 2022; FAO et al. 2018). For example, when water gradually becomes scarcer and threatens harvests, smallholders may send a household member to the city to find work (Wrathall et al. 2018). As another example, abrupt floods that destroy farmers' fragile shelters may lead to displacement (Ginnetti et al. 2019), sometimes of entire communities that require state-supported planned relocation (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021). Such climate migration has become a reality in numerous areas worldwide and is projected to increase further as climate impacts intensify (Clement et al. 2021; Rigaud et al. 2018). Simultaneously, many affected people are either unable to leave risk areas or do not wish to do so (immobility) (Benveniste et al. 2022; Choquette-Levy et al. 2021).

Both migrating from and remaining in areas facing climate hazards can have sweeping and enduring impacts on the well-being of affected people. While a new home can provide benefits such as safety from climate hazards, better access to education, and new sources of income, migrants often also face severe risks (Adger et al. 2014; Cissé et al. 2022). Such risks include precarious work, unsafe housing, discrimination, loss of social ties and traditions, increased hazard exposure, dissatisfaction with life, emotional stress, and loss of hope for the future (e.g. Melde et al. 2017). Similarly, some people who remain in risk zones may have the capacity to adapt locally to climate impacts and thus preserve their wellbeing within their home communities, whereas others with limited resources may

J. Bergmann, At Risk of Deprivation, Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1_1

become trapped and experience recurrent loss and damage that threatens their well-being (Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2018; Mallick & Schanze 2020). Nevertheless, the implications of climate migration and immobility (or climate (im)mobilities) for people's well-being remain poorly understood. Few studies provide comprehensive analyses of how moving or staying influences multiple facets of objective need fulfillment. Even less research examines how affected people self-evaluate their lives, how they feel, and how they look to the future in these situations.

In this interdisciplinary, mixed methods dissertation, I aim to address these gaps by dissecting multidimensional well-being impacts related to varied climate (im)mobilities within Peru. The study examines all four types of climate (im)mobilities identified by the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC 2010) and the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2022a), namely migration, displacement, relocation, and immobility. Peru provides a fitting case to examine such dynamics. The tropical country can be considered a microcosm of the global challenges caused by climate change because it is home to examples of most of the Earth's climate zones, vastly varying landscapes, and megadiverse ecosystems (MINAM 2015). Moreover, Peru's large rural population remains poor and reliant on livelihoods that are susceptible to climate impacts (USAID 2017; World Bank 2021c). Many farmers live in areas that are highly exposed to hazards, which climate change is intensifying (SINAGERD et al. 2014). As a result, abrupt and gradual water-related hazards, such as floods and glacier retreat, have increasingly influenced farmers' migration decisions. In addition, Peru's deeply rooted systems of internal migration suggest that moving will remain an important response strategy in a future affected by climate change (see review in Bergmann et al. 2021a). Simultaneously, large numbers of people remain in areas affected by hazards, at least at the onset of hazards (Adams 2016; Koubi et al. 2016; SINAGERD et al. 2014).

To investigate the well-being impacts of climate migration and immobility within Peru, I applied a mixed methods design. Detailed interview data from 81 affected people across Peru's three large natural zones—its coastal desert, highlands, and rainforests—and one focus group with 12 participants shed light on the complexity of these effects and their underlying mechanisms of action. To gather contextual information, I also held discussions with more than 60 experts. In addition, I examined the well-being impacts of displacement in the coastal case study from a complementary angle by using survey data from close to 190,000 respondents.

By assessing multidimensional well-being effects and their mechanisms of action, the dissertation pursues two main goals. First, it aims to inform debates about the potential of migration as an adaptation strategy and about loss and damage due to climate change. Second, it strives to provide evidence that can support development and adaptation planning to safeguard the well-being of the growing number of climate migrants and people in immobility.

1.1 Context and Scope of the Research

Climate change is rapidly altering the planet Earth (Hallegatte et al. 2016; Pörtner et al. 2022). Greenhousse gas emissions, mainly from the use of fossil fuels and land-use changes, have already caused global warming of approximately 1.1 °C above pre-industrial levels and continue to raise global temperatures by nearly 0.2 °C per decade (IPCC 2018b, 2021). This warming and other emissions-driven changes in the climate system are multiplying climate-change-related hazards worldwide. Observed variability and average trends, such as rainfall per year, have begun to shift. Simultaneously, weather extremes, such as heavy rainfall events and heat waves, are intensifying and becoming more frequent. These changes have already started to have concerning effects. Examples abound: glaciers and ice sheets have retreated globally, the oceans have warmed and acidified, and sea levels have risen by 0.2 m since the early 20th century; extreme events, such as droughts and ten-year heatwaves, likely occur two to three times more often now than they did in the base period of 1850-1900 (IPCC 2021); land degradation and desertification have intensified (IPCC 2019b); and extensive coral reef losses have been observed in various oceans (IPCC 2019a).

In the approaching decades, all elements of life on Earth will be confronted with increasing climate risks (IPCC 2021). Examples of risks for physical systems include additional coastal erosion and further changes in the cryosphere. Risks for biological systems comprise further losses of coral reefs and mass species extinction, while crop losses and human ill-health are examples of risks for human systems (Díaz et al. 2019; IPCC 2014). These climate risks often interact with non-climatic stressors such as pollution, soil degradation, and overexploitation of resources. As the term "risk" implies, the potential future magnitude of these effects is concerning but not entirely predetermined. While the emissions accumulated since the Industrial Revolution have made several impacts unavoidable (Huntingford et al. 2020; Zhou et al. 2021), the magnitude of future climate risks depends partially on the socioeconomic and emissions pathways that are pursued in the upcoming decades (IPCC 2021). On the one hand, societal factors such as demographic change, development, and governance influence the extent of human and natural systems' exposure and vulnerability to hazards. For example, societal factors will determine the future growth of settlements in threatened areas and the

changes in people's resources and abilities to deal with hazards. Simultaneously, the ways in which societies live, produce, and consume will drive greenhouse gas emissions. Despite the committed warming due to accumulated past emissions, a profound and rapid mitigation of emissions could still lower risks substantially (IPCC 2021, 2022b; Masson-Delmotte et al. 2018). Transformative mitigation action might reduce future warming to a more manageable magnitude of well below 2 °C-or ideally below 1.5 °C-by 2100, a goal to which 192 parties committed in the Paris Agreement (UNFCCC 2015). Far from guaranteeing a safe future, warming of this extent would still entail moderate to high risks, for example due to more frequent and severe hot temperature extremes, extreme precipitation events, and droughts in drying regions (IPCC 2014, 2021). However, current real-world action suggests a path that is likely to result in global mean temperatures 2.7 °C above those of pre-industrial times by 2100 (Climate Action Tracker 2021; WMO 2021), and the window for action is closing rapidly. If warming of this extent or even greater were to occur, related impacts such as extreme heat stress would become nearly impossible to manage in several world regions (Andrews et al. 2018; Mora et al. 2017a). Additionally, greater warming would increase the risk of exceeding various tipping points in the Earth system, such as the collapse of large ice sheets or the dieback of tropical rainforests, which would lead to abrupt, severe, and partially irreversible feedback effects worldwide (Lenton et al. 2008; Lenton et al. 2019).

Although projections of the extent of climate risks for human development vary, the risks are severe in all scenarios (Pörtner et al. 2022). Climate change is the largest threat to the goals of human development, namely, to expand human well-being and people's freedom to live their lives as they choose (Alkire 2016; Gough 2015; Sen 1999). Climate impacts compromise human security, peace, and states' ability to govern (Adger et al. 2014). They also undermine the livelihoods of people who already suffer from multidimensional poverty and inequality, exacerbate non-climatic stressors, and can create poverty traps (Birkmann et al. 2022; Cohn et al. 2017). Most at risk are people with preexisting susceptibilities, such as those with high dependency on ecosystem services, livelihoods that are not easily diversified, and poor shelter. Equally at risk are persons who face intersecting discrimination related to factors such as age, ethnicity or "race",¹ gender, and physical ability. Impacts can also create new vulnerabilities, push more people into poverty, and increase inequality (Birkmann et al. 2022). As one example,

¹ I opt for the term *ethnicity or "race"* instead of *race*, which is a social construct common in the United States. However, there is only *one* human race, and using this term is "problematic at best and harmful at worst"; it "should be used with caution for its history is one of misuse and injustice", see ASHG (2018); Bhopal (2004: 442); Yudell et al. (2016: 564).

without major development efforts, climate impacts could drive around 100 million additional people into extreme poverty by 2030 (Hallegatte et al. 2016). As another case in point, climate change and infectious diseases are linked in multiple ways, which can increase the risk of pandemics such as that of COVID-19 (Caminade et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2016).

Globally, people are struggling to confront these worsening climate impacts. While some attempt to deal with the impacts where they live, others migrate to prepare for future hazards or to cope with damage already experienced (Castells-Ouintana et al. 2018). Examples of local coping or adaptation strategies include changes in crop, farming, land, and water management, as well as financial practices (Challinor et al. 2014; Owen 2020). At once, climate hazards, together with other factors such as a shortage of jobs or educational opportunities, are increasingly shaping people's decisions about whether to leave affected areas. Although migration is multicausal, and climate impacts intersect with economic, political, social, and demographic drivers, meta-analyses corroborate that climate signals are relevant in migration decisions (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Hoffmann et al. 2020; Hoffmann et al. 2021). Climate-induced harm influences whether people aspire to move, the resources they have available to implement this choice, and the larger societal structures such as government policies that facilitate or hinder their decisions. With worsening hazards, the future scale of climate migration could be substantial. Conservative estimates of recent models indicate that in a scenario with high emissions and unequal development, close to 3% of the total population in six developing regions² may become internal climate migrants by 2050 (Clement et al. 2021; Rigaud et al. 2018). Simultaneously, meta-analyses demonstrate that such increasing climate impacts can reduce resources and decrease migration for other groups (Hoffmann et al. 2020; Šedová et al. 2021). Given these possibly large numbers of affected people, it is imperative for policy and planning to understand the impacts of climate migration or immobility on affected people's lives and well-being.

Although investigations of the impacts of climate-induced (im)mobilities are few, general migration studies underscore that moving can have large effects on multiple dimensions of life (Lagakos 2020; Lucas 2021a; Selod & Shilpi 2021), as the following examples illustrate for a number of key dimensions. Many internal migrants profit from moving in terms of the human development indicators of income, education, and health (UNDP 2020). However, these indicators are not improved for all migrants, and benefits can be accompanied by challenges

 $^{^2}$ East Asia & the Pacific; Eastern Europe & Central Asia; Latin America; North Africa; South Asia; Sub-Saharan Africa.

in terms of exclusion, discrimination, insecurity, and a lack of access to basic services or decent work (Melde et al. 2017; UNESCO 2020). Depending on the context, settling in a new place can result in mental illness or improved mental health (Foo et al. 2018; Mak et al. 2021; Stillman et al. 2015). Additionally, distance from close contacts and social support systems can cause psychological distress after migration (Hynie 2018; Selod & Shilpi 2021; World Bank 2017b). The review of evidence in the latest IPCC report emphasizes that displacement and involuntary migration in particular have "generated and perpetuated vulnerability" (2022a: 12). On the other side of the equation, people who remain in their areas of origin may profit from remittances such as technology or money (Mohapatra et al. 2012; Obi et al. 2020), but these benefits can be distributed unevenly and thus increase inequality (Azizi 2021; Le Dé et al. 2013). In some cases, emigration can strain social relations, erode traditions, and deprive sending communities of a labor force, thereby contributing to food insecurity (Lucas 2021c; Obi et al. 2020; Sherman et al. 2015). While less evidence is available regarding the well-being impacts of immobility, persons involuntarily trapped in adverse situations may suffer from impoverishment, food insecurity, health issues, and hostility and violence (Brubaker et al. 2011; Herren 1991; Mallick & Schanze 2020; Schwerdtle et al. 2017; Sow et al. 2016). Altogether, these examples illustrate that (im)mobilities can affect most dimensions of people's lives deeply and enduringly. Nonetheless, a major research gap remains regarding the impacts of climate migration and immobility (Clement et al. 2021; Hoffmann et al. under review).

Since climate (im)mobilities influence such a wide range of factors, it is important to choose an adequate lens through which to frame and assess their impacts. The decision of what to include and exclude when measuring impacts is not trivial and has tangible implications because only what is defined can be measured and assessed and thus inform policy and planning. To begin with, the idea of immobility has gained traction since the publication of the seminal Foresight (2011) research report and has generated at least three narratives (Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2018). Despite their differences, these three narratives all imply that studies should focus on measuring the economic, social, and political risks related to immobility. The dominant narrative warns of extreme impoverishment risks related to forced immobility (Adger et al. 2015; Black et al. 2011a; Black et al. 2013). A second discourse expands this narrative by highlighting the dangers arising from entrapment that extend beyond economic damage, such as discrimination, racism, and violence (Black & Collyer 2014; Geddes et al. 2012; Geddes 2015; Sow et al. 2016). Finally, a few authors have raised the criticism that actors who promote migration as a solution to "entrapment" are concealing an agenda of racial management, exploitation, and the maximization of capital circulation through mobility (Baldwin 2016; Felli & Castree 2012). By contrast, other authors have recently highlighted that certain groups *decide* to remain immobile (Farbotko et al. 2020; Farbotko & McMichael 2019; Mallick et al. 2020; Mallick & Schanze 2020). Consequently, these scholars focus more on assessing people's agency, resistance, adaptation and livelihood options, social equality, and human rights.

Next, studies on climate migration also apply various frames and metrics.³ Initially, scholars tended to frame the implications of such migration through a prism of human rights protection or security ("environmental refugees") (Piguet 2013), often using the topic as a "shorthand for climate security concerns in general" (Baldwin et al. 2014: 125). For assessing the impacts of migration, this viewpoint implies a focus on possible violations of the human rights of affected people or on conflict in destinations. Partially in response to the security lens, other scholars re-framed the issue from a human security perspective (Dalby 2002, 2012; Methmann & Oels 2015). In this view, affected people's vulnerabilities are the central criterion for assessing impacts. Moreover, since the 2000 s, there has been a major shift in the research, which has gone from highlighting the forced nature of climate migration to emphasizing it as a possible adaptation to climate change (Black et al. 2011a; McLeman 2016a; McLeman & Smit 2006; Webber & Barnett 2010). Climate adaptation refers to attenuating or circumventing the harm caused by climate impacts, for example by protecting exposed assets, reducing and diversifying risk, or changing location (Adger et al. 2014; Adger et al. 2018). The new migration-as-adaptation framing is based on the New Economics of Labor Migration (NELM) theory, which sees migration as a group risk management strategy that seeks to diversify income sources (Stark 1978; Stark & Bloom 1985; Stark & Taylor 1989). Additionally, the framing is informed by empirical migration studies, in particular those conducted in drought areas (Gray & Mueller 2012; Henry et al. 2003; McLeman & Hunter 2010; McLeman & Smit 2006). This re-framing of migration as a possible means of adaptation has become a central perspective in the literature. It has been adopted by major actors such as the IPCC (Adger et al. 2014) and is embodied in policy processes such as the Cancún Adaptation Framework (UNFCCC 2010), the Global Compact for Migration (UNGA 2018), and the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 (Guadagno 2016; UNISDR 2015).

³ Parts of this and the next paragraph draw on Bergmann (2019).
This new framing of migration as adaptation has proved a powerful antidote to prior discourses that securitized or victimized migrants, yet its adequacy continues to be debated. While this shift in framing has directed crucial research and policy attention to the potential positives of migration, various scholars cast doubt on the extent of the agency of migrants who must confront severe hazards, and criticize the lack of attention paid to structural inequalities that shape people's attempts to move for adaptation (Sakdapolrak et al. 2016; Schade et al. 2016; Vinke et al. 2020). Others criticize the migration-as-adaptation lens as a neoliberal shift of responsibility for climate adaptation from emitting states and home governments to individuals, which conceals climate injustice dimensions, the moral need and urgency of protection, as well as the losses preceding and following migration (Bettini et al. 2017; Bettini & Gioli 2016; Gemenne 2015). Similarly, I argue in this dissertation that although understanding the adaptive potential of climate migration is key, this perspective has blind spots and risks ignoring the full extent of migration's meaning for people's lives. A large empirical study has demonstrated that although migration may hold some adaptation potential for certain households, it can also erode the adaptive capacities of households with preexisting vulnerabilities (Warner & Afifi 2014). The IPCC also acknowledges that climate change will "have significant impacts on forms of migration that compromise human security" (Adger et al. 2014: 758) as it may "perpetuate or amplify [poorer] migrants' socio-economic precarity" (Cissé et al. 2022: 56), for example if the migrants are exposed to new climate hazards at their destination. Displacement and planned relocation are forms of coping with negative to mixed results at best (Melde et al. 2017). Thus, while member states of the UNFCCC recognized migration as a possible form of adaptation in the Cancún Adaptation Framework and committed to improve related "understanding, coordination, and cooperation" (UNFCCC 2010: para. 14(f))-constituting a landmark catalyst for policy attention (Nash 2018; Warner 2012)-they also considered mobility under the Warsaw International Mechanism (WIM) for Loss and Damage with the aim to "avert, minimize and address displacement" (Task Force on Displacement 2018: 1). In contrast to adaptation, the Loss and Damage prism centers on negative climate impacts that overwhelm people's adaptive capacity and thus emphasizes the severe or irreversible harms that climate change can produce (James et al. 2014; Tschakert et al. 2019). For example, when adaptation limits are transgressed, losses of housing, livelihoods, cultural practices, and biodiversity can induce migration or harm those who remain. Accordingly, the Loss and Damage lens implies a focus on protection, compensation, and remedies for assessing the impacts of climate (im)mobilities. It emphasizes that "migration is not socially neutral or simple" even when it facilitates successful adaptation to climate impacts (Adger et al. 2018: 40). On the contrary, migration can create far-reaching social costs and risks, including disruption of social cohesion, loss of life satisfaction, emotional stress, and despair regarding the future. The migration-as-adaptation lens, which is often focused on select economic measures of success based on NELM assumptions, tends to overlook such types of impacts. Moreover, adaptation aims only to preserve a status quo or return to zero by avoiding or attenuating climate impacts. In this sense, migrating would be desirable if it allowed people to reduce and adjust to harm. However, the goal, from a development perspective, should go beyond allowing migrants to balance out climate impacts so that they can return to a previous and possibly precarious state. Rather, concerned actors should ensure that migrants can flourish and be well. Martin Seligman, the founder of Positive Psychology, advanced a similar argument when discussing his discipline: "[It was not] enough for us to nullify disabling conditions and get to zero. We needed to ask, what are the enabling conditions that make human beings flourish? How do we get from zero to plus five?" (cited in Wallis 2005: para. 2). Assessing climate migration or immobility through an adaptation prism stops short at the essential point of the assessment: how these phenomena influence people's multidimensional well-being. The timeliness of this focus on well-being is highlighted by the fact that the latest IPCC report for the first time includes an entire chapter on well-being, which also discusses health, migration, and conflict (Cissé et al. 2022).

Examining the impacts of climate migration and immobility requires comprehensive and locally grounded measures of well-being. The few existing studies overemphasize indicators chosen by outside experts that are thought to represent the adaptive potential of migration (e.g. Melde et al. 2017). Migration can strongly influence such objective measures of well-being (OWB) that gauge means and conditions to meet human needs, such as income, health, and education (UNDP 2020). These measures are essential to appraise the conditions that presumably enable migrants and stayers to "be well". Although they provide important information, there are empirical and conceptual limitations to the use of such objective measures alone to infer the overall impacts of (im)mobilities and design adequate policy responses. First, well-being needs and goals depend on weightings given by people themselves, which vary across time and contexts (OECD 2013). Universalistic approaches that assume the same patterns of needs in all human beings disregard sociocultural differences across countries and regions. Well-being research must therefore be grounded in local contexts (Yamamoto et al. 2008; Yamamoto & Feijoo 2007). The decision about which needs are central to people and thus measured should be informed by research conducted with the respective populations. Second, conditions judged as decent from the outside do not automatically translate into positive lives in people's own evaluations. Consequently, assessing changes in migrants' or stayers' objective conditions is necessary but not sufficient to gain a comprehensive understanding (Forgeard et al. 2011; Tay et al. 2015). As Campbell wrote, "ultimately, the quality of life must be in the eye of the beholder, and it is there that we seek to evaluate it" (1972: 422). Well-being relates not only to how needs are met but also to how people evaluate need fulfillment in the present (Costanza et al. 2007) and how they look to the future (Gulyas 2015). Migration can have significant effects on these measures of subjective well-being (SWB) (Haindorfer 2019b; Helliwell et al. 2018b). For example, migration may help people to reduce the harm they face from climate impacts, but it makes a great difference to their well-being how satisfied they remain with their lives after migrating, if they experience more negative or positive emotions, and if they look to the future with fear or hope. Since SWB measures directly assess people's lived experiences and the significance they attach to them, they provide a more complete picture of what migration or staying means for people. SWB is also a means to an end in itself because it contributes to health, longevity, social relationships, workplace success, and other domains (Carver et al. 2010; Diener et al. 2017a). SWB perspectives are thus relevant for policy and planning in many fields (Diener & Tay 2016; OECD 2013) and are a valuable lens for studying climate (im)mobilities. Because measures of OWB and SWB both have distinct advantages and limitations, a combined application of these measures offers a more detailed and "full picture of human flourishing" than either one alone (Costanza et al. 2007; Forgeard et al. 2011: 98; OECD 2013). To summarize, this dissertation aims to assess the multidimensional well-being impacts related to climate migration and immobility in Peru. To this end, I analyze how migrants and stayers can fulfil the human needs they prioritize and investigate how they evaluate their own lives, feel about the present, and see their futures.

1.2 Research Questions and Objectives

The main research question in this dissertation—*in what ways and why does migrating from, or staying in, areas harmed by climate hazards affect people's well-being?*—comprises several sub-questions and research objectives. First, I am interested in empirical effects: what well-being impacts do affected people experience? Given that well-being is a multidimensional concept (OECD 2013), how do various components of objective well-being, such as income, health, and

education, relate to one another? Do changes in objective and subjective indicators such as emotional balance contrast or complement each other? In addition, I investigate effects across localities: in what ways does migration affect not only the persons who leave but also those who remain in their communities of origin (Gemenne & Blocher 2017)? Finally, because well-being is not a state but a process (Copestake 2008b; Laczko & Appave 2013), another research interest is the evolution of effects: how do people's situations and their assessments thereof change over time?⁴

My second interest is in the underlying mechanisms of action. What determines, moderates, and mediates the well-being of migrants and stayers? Why do the well-being effects evolve? I aim to examine the social conditions under which migrating or staying have positive, neutral, or negative well-being impacts. How do structural constraints and opportunities, together with the conditions and resources required to migrate or stay, influence well-being impacts (Bartram 2015)? For example, which configurations of social structures affect an individual's likelihood of faring better or worse in different well-being dimensions after moving or staying? Why do people with similar starting conditions sometimes fare differently? Which factors at the individual, community, and societal levels influence these impacts?

This investigation of the well-being impacts related to climate (im)mobilities and their mechanisms of action stands to make several contributions to research. policy, planning, and public debate. First, the study can make an original contribution to the limited empirical research on what migrating from or remaining in areas facing climate hazards means for affected people. As worsening climate impacts will increase migration in many contexts but also constrain movement in others (Clement et al. 2021; Rigaud et al. 2018), it is key to examine how (im)mobilities affect the multilayered dimensions of people's well-being. However, studies that adopt a well-being lens are still rare, especially for hazard-driven instances of (im)mobilities. By using mixed methods-an approach that is still rare in this field (Boas et al. 2020)-this study also contributes to methodological development in this subject area. Second, the analysis may yield important information for policymakers and practitioners who are interested in safeguarding or improving affected people's well-being. The cases that are analyzed respond to calls in major international frameworks (UNFCCC 2010) to further the knowledge about migration, displacement, and relocation. The cases also include

⁴ A group of migration scholars emphasizes the need for life-course approaches that take into account effects across generations, see King et al. (2006). Such approaches could usefully extend this work in the future.

voluntary and involuntary immobility, which are two under-researched areas of concern (Cissé et al. 2022). Evidence regarding how such climate (im)mobilities contribute to multidimensional changes in people's objective and subjective conditions is vital to inform climate adaptation action, development strategies, and remedies or compensation for Loss and Damage. Therefore, I situate the results of this dissertation within the policy discussions about migration as adaptation (Gemenne & Blocher 2017) and about Loss and Damage (Thomas & Benjamin 2020). By identifying the well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities and explaining their fundamental mechanisms of action, this dissertation aims to help devise better policies and improve planning to meet people's complex needs at the national or subnational levels and to allocate scarce government resources more efficiently. Moreover, the findings could inform international adaptation efforts and help development donors devise programs that target people's needs more effectively. Third, the study strives to humanize the debates on climate migration. Climate migrants are often portrayed as passive victims, scapegoats, profiteers, or security threats, or they are framed in other ways that ignore the human dimension and complexity of climate migration (e.g. Bettini 2013; Durand-Delacre et al. 2021; Geddes et al. 2012; Hartmann 2010; Myers 1993). By demonstrating how migrating from or remaining in areas facing climate hazards shapes human wellbeing, I attempt to place the affected people and the stories of their attempts to confront climate hazards at the center of the discussion. The focus on multiple nuances of human well-being aims to provide a view of climate migrants and stayers as complex human beings with needs, emotions, fears, and hopes who are attempting to live a life that they have reason to value despite the challenges they face.

1.3 Structure of the Dissertation

To achieve these objectives, this dissertation is structured in three main parts.

- (1) The first part "Setting the Stage" includes the introduction, the conceptual framework, the research approach, and a review of the existing evidence base.
- (2) The second part "At Risk of Deprivation" details the empirical results and discussion of each case study, a comparative analysis of these case studies, and the induction of propositions regarding the research questions.

(3) Finally, the concluding part "Seeing Behind the Curtain" presents the implications, recommendations, and research needs following from this dissertation. It closes by providing an outlook on possible future developments regarding the nexus between climate (im)mobilities and well-being.

In the first part, I set the stage for the research and subsequently explain the conceptual framework of the dissertation. To understand the initiation and conditions of migration, I draw on the Aspirations-Capabilities Framework (de Haas 2014, 2021). To analyze the impacts of migrating or staying, I build on a resourcebased model of migrant transitions (Ryan et al. 2008) and use a locally grounded well-being concept drawing on theories of human needs (Gough 2015) and SWB (Diener & Tay 2016). In the following chapter, I explain the implications of the applied research philosophy of critical realism. Based on this discussion, I detail the mixed methods research design with two concurrent streams of qualitative and quantitative methods that I applied to answer the research questions. The qualitative strand is central and draws on primary data collected in interviews with 81 affected people and 12 focus group participants. I analyze this data using qualitative text analysis (Kuckartz 2014b; Kuckartz & Rädiker 2019). More than 60 discussions with experts add contextual information. In addition, for the displacement case, I use regression analyses based on large-scale data from two Peruvian surveys to examine differential displacement risk and well-being impacts (INEI 2017a, 2018a). To provide a baseline for the following empirical analysis, this first part of the dissertation closes by reviewing the existing evidence on the nexus between hazards, (im)mobilities, and well-being.

In the second part of the dissertation, I discuss the empirical results of the case studies carried out in Peru's three large topographical areas. First, I perform a qualitative analysis of the well-being impacts of internal migration from areas with *gradual* climate hazards in Peru's highlands and immobility in home villages. This migration occurred mostly from rural to urban areas and in the context of progressive climate hazards emerging from glacier retreat and rainfall changes. The second case study adds qualitative results on a special case of migration, in which people aspire to move but have low capabilities to pursue migration. It analyzes the outcomes of two communities threatened by *abrupt* riverine flooding that requested planned relocation to more secure sites within Peru's rainforest. Only one of them succeeded in relocating after many years of limbo; the second is still in involuntary immobility at the time of writing. In the third results chapter, I analyze qualitative and quantitative data to understand differential displacement risk and how people have fared following displacement due to *abrupt* flooding during the 2017 Coastal El Niño. At the end of each of

the three case studies, I induce propositions on well-being dynamics in climate (im)mobilities by drawing on the observed well-being effects and mechanisms of action. This part of the dissertation ends with a comparative analysis of the findings of the three case studies, in which I use the full evidence base to induce overarching propositions on well-being impacts related to climate (im)mobilities.

To conclude, I highlight the broader implications of these findings, provide recommendations for how to enhance or preserve well-being in climate (im)mobilities, identify areas where additional research is required, and provide an outlook on possible future dynamics in Peru and beyond.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Check for updates

Conceptual Approach

2

In this chapter, I discuss the main concepts and the theories guiding this research on the impacts of migration from, and immobility in, areas harmed by climate hazards. They include the applied approaches to climate impacts (2.1), related (im)mobilities (2.2), and their well-being effects (2.3).

2.1 Climate Change Hazards and Impacts

To decipher how climate change leads to local effects, the starting point are *haz*ards, namely events or trends which can damage natural and human systems (IPCC 2018a: 551; UNGA 2016: 18; UNISDR 2015). Hazards can be individual, consecutive, or combined in their origins and effects. They can have varied intensities, magnitudes, and frequencies. I distinguish between two types of hazards: gradual (or slow-onset) hazards that evolve over a longer period, such as sea-level rise, and *abrupt (sudden-onset)* hazards that materialize fast, often due to distinct events, such as storms. I follow this coarse differentiation also made by the UNFCCC (2013) and others for two reasons, but recognize that they are Ideal types with limitations.¹ First, the speed of hazard onset often determines the type of responses taken by concerned actors. Second, it also shapes the strategies

¹ For example, sudden-onset hazards can cause cumulative damage, which extends beyond the effects of the single hazards. As another example, flooding and wildfires are typically categorized as sudden-onset hazards, although riverine floods or wildfires in some cases develop over long periods. Finally, slow- and sudden-onset hazards are not separated in all cases but can also interact. For example, *gradually* rising sea levels can increase more *abrupt* storm surges.

available to affected people, including whether to migrate, flee, or stay. Typically, abrupt events create more unplanned and rapid migration that can be prolonged; they can also lead to pre-hazard anticipatory migration as well as post-hazard return or redistribution movement (Black et al. 2013; Fussell et al. 2014). By contrast, gradual hazards usually first lead to attempts to adapt locally but can involve increasingly permanent migration later (Koubi et al. 2016). I use hazards as the shorthand for *climate (change-related) hazards*, focusing on hydrometeorological or climatological hazards which are either likely attributable to climate change (Stott et al. 2016) or which provide a temporal analog for projected climate hazards (Ford et al. 2010).² Hence, I also examine events or trends that cannot (or cannot yet) be attributed to climate change, if they represent dynamics that will likely be aggravated by climate change, and thus provide useful insights for the present by analogy.³ The primary focus is on water-related hazards that climate change will render more salient in Peru, such as rainfall changes or floods (Christensen et al. 2013; Giorgi et al. 2014) as well as glacier retreat (Vuille et al. 2018).

Hazards can create varied *impacts* depending on *exposure and vulnerability. Exposure* concerns location; it is the "inventory of elements in an area in which hazard events may occur" (Cardona et al. 2012: 69). People, their livelihoods,⁴ infrastructure, ecosystem services and other elements can suffer damage when they are located where hazards hit. Exposure is necessary but not sufficient for impacts; an element exposed to harm can have traits that protect it from damage (Field et al. 2012). For example, farmers' may be exposed to drought, but they may have irrigation to offset possible damage. Therefore, *vulnerability* is the third key variable to consider (UNFCCC 1992: 2, 4, 9).

(Social)⁵ vulnerability has emerged as a central but contested concept in climate studies (Füssel & Klein 2006). The literature abounds with conceptualizations (Otto et al. 2017), but many lack clear definitions. Two common features guide my approach (Smit & Wandel 2006). First is the idea of "susceptibility" (Eakin & Luers 2006: 366) or "sensitivity" (Möller et al. 2022: 47) to harm. Human systems suffer from a "varying degree of adverse effects" to the same

 $^{^2}$ The hazard definition applied here excludes other technological, geological, biological, and extraterrestrial hazards.

³ See section 3.2.1 for a more detailed discussion of this temporal analog approach.

⁴ For a conceptualization, see the *Sustainable Livelihoods Framework* by Chambers & Conway (1992); Scoones (1998).

⁵ Vulnerability is my shorthand for *social vulnerability*. *Social* emphasizes the interest in human systems in this study.

harm they are exposed to given their "differential social vulnerability" (Schellnhuber et al. 2016: 274). These differences emerge due to internal (person-specific) and external (socioeconomic and locational factors) lines of differentiation (Otto et al. 2017). Internal factors determining vulnerability include age, (dis)ability and health status, ethnicity or "race", gender, and religion. External factors include access to assets, cultural knowledge, education, social status, political power, and wealth; they can also comprise varied structural conditions, such as governance (Cardona et al. 2012; Oppenheimer et al. 2014). The second feature of vulnerability is the lack of capacity to cope with or adapt to hazards (e.g. Füssel 2012; Möller et al. 2022). While coping capacity refers to basic functioning and managing adversity in the short to medium term, adaptive capacity means the transformative ability to adjust to, address, and take advantage of changes over the long term (Möller et al. 2022: 4, 12). Coping and adaptive capacity combine to resilience (Möller et al. 2022: 37-38). For this study, it is sensible to include the lack of capacity to cope and adapt under the umbrella of vulnerabilities, although some scholars prefer to frame it as a separate component. Vulnerability is not fixed but can change during (im)mobilities. To summarize, human-made changes in the climate can create hazards with detrimental impacts, if elements of interest are located in the way of hazards, and if these are sensitive to related harm as well as deprived of strategies for managing the harm.

2.2 Initiation and Impacts of Migration or Immobility

2.2.1 Terminology and Definitions

Migration lacks an internationally agreed upon definition,⁶ but most concepts revolve around the idea of "a person who moves away from his or her place of usual residence" (IOM 2019: 130). Table 2.1 summarizes three key dimensions applied in this study.

First, migration has a *spatial dimension*. I define that the change of place of usual residence (UNDESA 1998: 9) requires a geographical move to another settlement, at least transferring to another village.⁷ I focus on *internal* migration *within countries*, unless otherwise noted. The data used here comes from two

⁶ Part of this section draws on Bergmann (2019).

⁷ Note that in some cases of community-wide planned relocation and acute forced migration, people establish a new settlement in close geographic proximity. This type of movement is still included under "migration".

	Spatial threshold	Temporal threshold	Motivational threshold
Minimal requirements for <u>primary</u> data	Change of usual residence across human settlements	Significant presence of at least one month at destination	Need or intention to stay
Usual requirements for applied <u>secondary</u> data	Change of district	Recent migrant (<60 months) Lifetime migrant (>60 months)	-

 Table 2.1
 Defining dimensions of migration in this study

Note: The applied definitions for secondary data originates from the Peruvian Census 2017 (INEI 2018a) and a special survey on the effects of Coastal El Niño-related hazards in 2017 (INEI 2017a), see section 3.2.2.

sources with slightly different spatial thresholds: when using primary data, I consider people as migrants if they change their community. The Peruvian surveys with providing my secondary data define migration as living in a district different than the previous usual residence or the place of birth (INEI 2016a; Sánchez Aguilar 2012a, 2012b). Districts are the finest administrative boundary in Peru, followed by Provinces and Regions. Second, migration requires crossing a temporal threshold of stay. For primary data, I define that at least one month of presence at destinations is needed, to include the many people in Peru who move for short periods, such as seasonal or temporal migrants, but exclude temporary travel or commuting (UNDESA 1998).⁸ For secondary data, I use the surveys' criteria. Third, for the primary data, I define that migration also requires an *intention or a* need to live at the destination, which can imply varied shades of voluntariness, depending on migrants' aspirations (de Haas 2021) (see section 2.2). In summary, with climate migration I refer to a change of the usual residence from an area with climate hazards, for at least one month, with the intention or need to stay. (Climate) migration is the umbrella term for varied types of movements, involving different shades of voluntariness. It encompasses what policy language refers to as migration, displacement, and planned relocation (UNFCCC 2010).

I add three qualifications. First, migration is a continuous process and not a state. The process before migration is also part of the journey, and beyond the physical transition, changing homes also results in a process of internal, psychosocial, and economic migration with varied effects (Han 2005), which are the

⁸ The UN distinguishes between short-term migration (< one year) and long-term migration (> one year), see UNDESA (1998: 94, 123). Some key studies use a threshold of three months for internal migration, see e.g. Melde et al. (2017).

focus of this study. Second, not only individuals, but also groups, households, or entire communities can move. Occasionally, a community (or parts of it) relocates with some degree of planning permanently to another site or is forced or assisted to move by a third party (Brookings et al. 2015). Such planned relocation can occur in anticipation or after hazards and is also examined in this study. Third, even when affected by severe hazards, migration is not the predetermined or sole response. Many people are unable or unwilling to leave and stay in areas facing climate hazards, a still understudied fact (Foresight 2011; Zickgraf 2018). I refer to this opposite of migration as *immobility*, which can be *involuntary*, *acquiescent*, or *voluntary* (de Haas 2021) (see section 2.2).

Weaving these concepts together, I use (climate) (im)mobilities as the shorthand for migration from, or immobility in, areas facing climate hazards. Scholars lack consensus on terms for these phenomena (Dun & Gemenne 2008). Controversies persist around (a) the terms for moving or staying and (b) how the causal link to hazards is expressed. Early studies tended to use the term environmental or climate refugee (Bates 2002; El-Hinnawi 1985; Jacobson 1988; Myers 1993) but over time, environmental or climate migrant has become common (Hugo 1996; Renaud et al. 2007).⁹ For this study, "refugee" is not fitting as it refers to people crossing borders, whereas I focus on internal migration. Next, I use climate (im)mobilities for people staying in or migrating from areas facing climate hazards instead of implying a strong causality through prefixes such as "climate change-driven" or "climate-induced" migration, because this study focuses on the impacts of climate (im)mobilities rather than on the exact drivers-which remains an important field of research (Borderon et al. 2019; Foresight 2011; Hoffmann et al. 2020). This approach is close to the working definition for climate migration by the International Organization of Migration (IOM) (2011: 33, 2019: 29) and to the logic adopted by the seminal Foresight report (2011: 34).

2.2.2 Starting Migration: Aspirations-Capabilities Framework

Migration theories address questions such as why people decide to move; when they turn intentions to move into migration; and how movement affects people and places. They come from anthropology (Brettell 2016), economy (Greenwood 2016), geography (Wright & Ellis 2016), sociology and political science

⁹ Still, some authors who had originally championed seemingly neutral terms (such as climate-induced migration) later argued that these failed to adequately express the often-forced nature of the phenomenon, see Gemenne (2015).

(White & Johnson 2016), and other fields. Various migration theories implicitly draw on one of the three main sociological paradigms—functionalist, conflict, and symbolic interactionist (Castles 2012; de Haas 2021)—as briefly synthesized in the following.

Migration theories based on the functionalist paradigm consider migration as a balancing and optimization strategy and migrants as rational, utility-maximizing black boxes. Main approaches include neoclassical theories, such as the push and pull model by Lee (1966), the Harris-Todaro model (1970), and gravity models (Beine et al. 2016). Social network theory (Gurak & Caces 1992; Massey & España 1987) and New Economics of Labor Migration (NELM) (Stark 1978; Stark & Bloom 1985; Stark & Taylor 1989) also have certain functionalist assumptions. However, it is questionable if migration is a free and rational optimizing behavior. Behavioral economics emphasize, for example, that rationality is bounded and information imperfect (World Bank 2015). Moreover, functionalist perspectives overlook people's agency and cannot explain why migration is channeled into social and spatial channels characterized by unequally distributed power, restrictions, opportunities, and benefits. The overemphasis on the representative migrant moving after cost-benefit calculus and for better opportunities ignores underlying variation and contributes to this omission. The functionalist assumption that systems are predisposed to equilibrium without interference does not account for the fact that migration can reproduce, exacerbate, or introduce new inequalities between groups (for example, income groups) and across space (for example, rural and urban zones). It also overlooks how states and structures, such as networks, can constraint movements (de Haas 2014, 2021).

By contrast, migration theories based on the conflict paradigm (or historicalstructural theories) hold that structural inequalities restrain, regulate, and drive migration (Brettell & Hollifield 2014a; Massey et al. 1993). Migration, in turn, can reproduce inequalities, rather than leading to equilibria. Powerful actors such as states and businesses irregularize migrants, exploit their labor, and scapegoat them. According to de Haas (2021), examples include neo-Marxist conflict theory, dependency theory (Frank 1966), world systems theory (Wallerstein 1974), dual and segmented labor theory (Piore 1979), and critical globalization theory (Sassen 1991). However, these top-down approaches ignore migrants' agency. Migrants are not merely passive victims of adverse structures shifted around by an exploitative system. Although they do face great inequalities and restrictions, their rational (but bounded) aspirations do influence decisions to move, and many of them do improve their quality of life by moving, while challenging the control and restrictions imposed on them (de Haas 2021). Finally, migration theories based on the symbolic interactionist paradigm stress migrants' individuality and interactions. Examples are theories on transnationalism (Portes et al. 1999; Schiller et al. 1992; Vertovec 1999), multicultural societies (Vertovec 2007), diaspora dynamics (Cohen 2008; Gilroy 1994), and creolization (Cohen & Toninato 2010; Palmié 2006). Many empirical studies on micro-level dynamics of migrants' livelihoods, identities, and experiences use this paradigm. However, some of these studies overlook the larger structural forces and systemic variables involved.

Although the many available migration theories are seen as complementary tools (Brettell & Hollifield 2014a; Massey et al. 1993), empirical studies tend to use little theory, specifically those on climate migration (Hunter et al. 2015; Piguet 2018). Most investigations, if they apply theory, do not use a framework suited for the complex interactions between structure and agency¹⁰ in migration and other social processes (Bakewell 2010). By contrast, the Aspirations-Capabilities Framework by de Haas (2010b, 2014, 2021) provides a complex view of structure and agency and a lens applicable to many forms, instances, and areas of migration and immobility. De Haas emphasizes that migrants' agency is visible in their aspirations and capabilities to move. Such agency is real but limited by structural constraints and opportunities. The framework makes it possible to analyze how varied types of migration and immobility—with different agency and structural conditions—affect well-being, a key advantage as these conditions shape linked outcomes (Laczko & Appave 2013; UNDP 2009).¹¹

2.2.2.1 Agency through Aspirations and Capabilities

People's individual or collective *agency* to act is restricted by structural constraints (see discussion on structure below), but it is real within that bounded circle. Regarding migration decisions, this agency is constituted by individual *aspirations* and *capabilities* (de Haas 2021). First, people have socially and culturally formed life goals and they perceive different chances to move or stay, which shape migration aspirations. Aspirations can be instrumental (means to an

¹⁰ *Structure* refers to regular "patterns of social relations, beliefs and behaviour", see de Haas (2021: 14). Ethnicity, power, and other factors or institutions delineate people's routines, perceived opportunities, and constraints. *Agency* refers to people's autonomy, or to the "limited but real ability of human beings (or social groups) to make independent choices" which, in turn, can shape their surrounding structures, see de Haas (2014: 21).

¹¹ The theoretical framework also dovetails with my critical realist perspective: it permits me to situate migration in processes of social change, but also to investigate migrants' agency, structure, interactions, and feedback mechanisms.

end) and intrinsic (value of migration in itself). Since people have different preferences and perceptions, not all react in the same fashion to the same stimuli. Using Hirschman's (1970) work, one can argue that people may either aspire to *stay* (*loyalty* to the local setup or attempting to enact local change by exercising *voice*) or they may *exit* (migration) if they expect better chances elsewhere. Second, individuals need *capabilities* to move,¹² such as access to different social, economic, and human capitals or resources. Table 2.2 reviews combinations of aspirations and capabilities and identifies degrees of voluntariness.

		Migration capabilities (social, economic, and hum	nan)
		$Low \rightarrow$	High
Migration aspirations	\downarrow Low	Acquiescent immobility	Voluntary immobility <i>and</i> Forced migration
	High	Forced immobility (entrapment)	Voluntary migration

 Table 2.2
 Aspirations-Capabilities-derived (im)mobility types

Note: Created by the author, building on and adapting work by de Haas (2021: 22).

Different agency can result in two migration types (de Haas 2021). First, people with high aspirations and high resources *migrate voluntarily* (for example, high-wage migration). Second, when resources are high but aspirations to move are low, *forced migration* results (for example, displacements). The flipside is immobility. *Voluntary immobility* means low aspirations to move despite high resources. *Acquiescent immobility* occurs when both resources and desires to migrate are low. If desires to move are high but low resources hinder movement, *forced immobility* results (*entrapment*). While I use the prefixes *voluntary* and *forced* (or *involuntary*), the reality is seldom as clear-cut and unambiguous as these stylized Ideal types; all cases of migration and immobility can have elements of voluntariness and force, and are located on a continuum (Hugo 1996).¹³

¹² Other authors have referred to this as *motility* (see Kaufmann et al. (2004)), and still others view migration in itself as a *resource* (see Lockley et al. (2008); Ryan et al. (2008)).

¹³ Defining thresholds between *voluntary* and *forced* cases implies a degree of artificial delineation. Even seemingly *voluntary* migration can be linked to financial or social necessities, and the character of migration can also change even during the journey, for example, when migrants become victims of trafficking, see de Haas (2021). For these reasons, I follow

Moreover, migration capabilities and aspirations interact. For example, more education can make people aspire lives elsewhere; the loss of resources can reduce aspirations; aspiring migrants may start acquiring skills necessary to realize their desires ("brain gain" (Kone & Özden 2017)); and those desiring to stay may withdraw resources from potential migration capabilities for local change. Finally, migration aspirations and capabilities do not only interact, they are also driven from below and above: agency depends on *individual factors* (such as age and health) as well as on *structural constraints and opportunities*, as explained next.

2.2.2.2 Structural Constraints and Opportunities

Structures at different levels strongly *constrain* or *enable* individual's actions. They include states, socialization, institutions, policies, networks, culture, power, customs, norms, and other factors or processes. Together, they channel migration and immobility patterns and conditions into specific paths. Based on Isaiah Berlin's work (1969), de Haas conceives these constraints and opportunities as manifested in migrants' *negative* and *positive liberties* (2014: 33). *Negative liberty* (freedom from) is determined by the absence of constraints to exercise agency to stay or move. *Positive liberty* (freedom to) refers to the presence of structural opportunities for people to move or stay. Structural constraints and opportunities co-exist; for example, visa policies hinder the movement of some while enabling others to move. Together, they lead to four Ideal types of migration that occurs in *free, improvement, distress,* or *survival* conditions. Although not discussed by de Haas (2021), I argue here that structural factors do not only affect migration but also immobilities, as summarized in Table 2.3.

		Presence of opportunities (positive liberty)	
		$Low \rightarrow$	High
Absence of constraints (negative liberty)	$High \downarrow$	Improvement migration or immobility	Free migration or immobility
	Low	Survival migration or immobility	Distress migration or immobility

 Table 2.3 (Im)mobility forms resulting from structural constraints and opportunities

Note: Created by the author, building on and adapting work by de Haas (2021: 27).

Hugo's (1996) argument that migration decisions are situated on a *continuum* of voluntariness.

First, people may underake *free migration* when highly enabling conditions are present and constraints absent, which is often true for high-wage migration. Neoclassical migration theories can shed more light on such migration, which is not observed in this dissertation and therefore not further discussed.

Second, improvement migration results if constraints are moderate, but opportunities are lower than for *free* migration. Because *improvement migration* occurs in this study, I briefly review the major applicable theories here. Network theories of migration hold that social networks can partially balance out the absence of structural opportunities typical for this form of movement. Networks are "sets of interpersonal ties" between migrants and stayers (Massey et al. 1993: 448), which reduce costs and risks for migration or increase expected returns, for example, by providing contacts for shelter or to potential employers. Thereby, networks make follow-on migration more likely. Beyond network theories, the New Economics of Labor Migration (NELM) theory indicates that households who lack enabling conditions may pool resources to send a family member to work elsewhere (Stark 1978; Stark & Bloom 1985; Stark & Taylor 1989). Migration is thus framed as a group strategy to diversify income sources and reduce risks for both migrant and non-migrant members, for example through remittances. Migration of a family member can provide self-insurance, such as against crop losses, or generates capital required for investments (Massey et al. 1993). It may not yield absolute gains in all cases, but it may buffer shocks and help improve deprivations relative to other groups.

Third, strong constraining and low enabling conditions can drive *survival migration*.¹⁴ *Survival* migrants lack protection, are prone to exploitation, and face high mobility restrictions, while they have little opportunities to move safely, for example, due to restrictive policies (de Haas 2021). Examples include internally displaced people and irregular migrants. *Distress migrants* face similarly strong structural constraints, but slightly more enabling conditions. Because *survival* and *distress* migrationare frequent in this dissertation, I explore the limited applicable theoretical views here (Piguet 2018). Extant theories hold that even *survival* and *distress* migrants keep some choice and theorize initial flight along a continuum of acuteness (Johansson 1990; Kunz 1973, 1981; Richmond 1988, 1994, 2002). *Acute* (or *reactive*) *distress* or *survival* migrants flee fast from imminent threats, often with little resources and toward any nearby, safer site, while those escaping in *anticipation* (or *proactively*) may have more time, information, and resources for planning and selecting sites. In addition, FitzGerald and Arar (2018)

¹⁴ Instead of de Haas' (2021) term *precarious* migration, I use *survival* migration to emphasize the involved adversity.

demonstrate that flight often proceeds in stages. After initial flight to safe havens close to source, secondary and tertiary movements can follow on to other, more selected sites. The authors also argue that standard migration theories can shed light on *distress* and *survival* cases. For example, NELM provides several such transferable insights. It shows that when life is threatened, not all household members may flee given financial burdens and risky trajectories; that even those with enough resources may wait until thresholds of risk are crossed; and that groups often decide together on who is to flee, while characteristics such as age or gender shape the decisions.

2.2.2.3 Feedbacks and Bidirectional Links between Structure and Agency

Enabling and constraining conditions can work in different directions, rendering "complex, non-linear and sometimes counterintuitive" effects on people's agency (de Haas 2014: 27). First, *constraining conditions* can affect both migration aspirations and capabilities. For example, more hazards can raise migration aspirations, but they can also reduce needed resources or dishearten people. Second, *enabling conditions* mostly affect resources to move, but can also indirectly shape aspirations, by raising access to resources needed to realize them. For example, higher income can increase migration in the short run despite improving local conditions (Martin 2003). Indirectly, more enabling conditions can also raise the "capacity to aspire", including through migration (de Haas 2021: 26).

Simultaneously, migrants who exert agency can either reproduce, reinforce, or modify macro structures to a limited extent through cumulative (Massey 1990) or contextual feedback effects (de Haas 2010b). They may occur through migration networks, translocality, or remittances. For example, migration can shape structural ideas of gender roles and belonging to social classes. Such feedback effects remain understudied. Different variations of this feedback argument can be found in the broader theories of Bourdieu and Wacquant (2004), Coleman (2000), Giddens (1984), and others.

In summary, de Haas' (2021) framework provides a useful lens for studying various types of (im)mobilities. It enables me to investigate agency (desires and resources to migrate), while situating people's bounded agency in structural conditions that enable or constrain movement. Moreover, the framework permits me to investigate interactions between agency and structure as well as feedbacks, thus locating migration within broader social change. In Figure 2.1, I summarize the framework. While the framework is useful for analyzing the initiation and conditions of (im)mobilities, it does not illuminate their effects, which are the focus here and discussed next.



Figure 2.1 Aspirations-Capabilities Framework and structure-agent interactions. (Note: Created by the author, building on de Haas' (2021) framework and including the amendments explained above)

2.2.3 Processes and Mechanisms Shaping Outcomes of (Im)mobilities

Few studies on climate (im)mobilities use theories, especially those discerning the resultant effects (Hunter & Nawrotzki 2016; Piguet 2018). Migration can be considered as a passage in life (leaning on van Gennep 1960), with the separation from an existing situation, transition, incorporation, and adjustment to new conditions. Throughout, people must rebuild their lives and manage new economic, institutional, social, and cultural variables. In this section, I first present an overview of relevant theories and then identify key processes and mechanisms through which the impacts for migrants and stayers unfold by using the lens of Ryan and colleagues' Resource-Based Model (2008).

2.2.3.1 General and Sociological Migration Theories

Most general migration theories center on the initiation and perpetuation of movement (e.g. Brettell & Hollifield 2014b; Massey et al. 1993; Piguet 2018) but provide few insights into the impacts and how they evolve (Melzer & Muffels 2017).¹⁵ Closest are anthropological theories, which center on migrants' lived and human experiences (Brettell 2014, 2016), and sociological views, discussed next.

Sociological theories explain individual factors in migration outcomes while treating migrants as "embedded mover[s]" in networks (Boyd 1989; White & Johnson 2016: 70). They are concerned with how migrants¹⁶ adjust¹⁷ to new

¹⁵ For example, neoclassical economic theories underscore the utility-maximizing rationales of migrants, yet do not detail relevant processes in destinations (King 2012). Rational choice economic theories assume that only those migrate who, after evaluating costs and gains, expect to profit (Sjaastad 1962). Yet, information is imperfect and conditions may change, resulting in miscalculations. The Harris-Todaro model assumes that migrants move to cities despite high urban unemployment and informal sector growth as long as they expect higher incomes (Harris & Todaro 1970). However, the model remains focused on economic changes and fails to provide details on other consequences. Next, historical-structural models frame migration as the search of means to subside in unequal and exploitative labor markets (King 2012); and while these models imply that migrants may face dire lives, they do not explicate how these effects arise.

¹⁶ While most theories focus on migration, Emanuel Marx (1990) provides one example of a sociological approach on the social world of refugees, their relationships, and networks, and how these change throughout flight and settlement.

¹⁷ I will use *adjustment* rather than the common term *adaptation*, to avoid confusion with *climate adaptation*.

lives, how they are incorporated or excluded, how these processes shape belonging and identity, and how migration changes destinations (Brettell & Hollifield 2014a; Zhou 1997). Since traditional sociological models focus on intergroup processes in populated destinations, they mainly apply to one of my three cases studies, namely migration from highland villages to cities (chapter 5). In the other two cases—planned relocation in Peru's rainforest and displacement in the coastal zone—the migrants moved together with most of their communities to spaces without host communities (chapters 6 and 7); similarly, immobile populations stayed in the same communities. Thus, I only briefly discuss sociological theories and mostly for the highland case.

In the long-dominant classical assimilation model, immigrants are pulled by their roots, but naturally assimilate into the dominant destination mainstream to gain social mobility over generations (Park et al. 1925; Park 1928; Stonequist 1937). Assimilation is not without obstacles, such as exclusion by the majority and institutions due to social markers attributed to migrants (Warner & Srole 1945), cultural differences, and limited intergroup contact (Gordon 1964). Nonetheless, all classical models assume that migrants abandon their ethnic distinctiveness over time. As one important refinement, segmented assimilation theory emphasizes that host communities are often significantly stratified. Thus, migrants move into different segments, whose historically contingent contexts of reception (human capital, family structure, and modes of incorporation) drive varied acculturation¹⁸ tracks over time (Haller et al. 2011; Portes et al. 2005; Portes & Zhou 1993). Obstacles for inclusion can include de-industrialization and labor markets split into high- and low-wage jobs as well as discrimination due to ascribed minority group statuses. Critics point to empirical discrepancies of these models, including the persistence of ethnic sub-societies (Haller et al. 2011), and developed theoretical responses (Alba & Nee 2005; Perlmann & Waldinger 1997). The normative tenet that migrants should and will assimilate into a uniform, dominant mainstream is also debated (Geschwender 1978; Rudmin 2003; Rumbaut 1997).¹⁹ More recent, fundamental critiques of "integration" approaches to

¹⁸ Acculturation here refers to the "processes that summarize the relations between immigrant children, their parents, and the wider ethnic community", see Waters et al. (2010: 1170).

¹⁹ In a more nuanced view, Berry framed *acculturation* strategies as "the dual process of cultural and psychological change" resulting from intergroup contact (2016: 15), which depends on the relations sought among groups and the maintenance of heritage culture and identity. The strategies adopted by ethnocultural groups can result in integration, assimilation, separation, or marginalization, while societies can strive for multiculturalism, melting pots, segregation, or exclusion (Berry 1992, 1997, 2009). While more differentiated, Berry's model has

migration also question their normative, nationalist, and neocolonial assumptions (Favell 2019; Saharso 2019; Schinkel 2018, 2019).

Although all these theories focus on *international* migrants, several insights are transferable to my case study of rural-to-urban, *internal* climate migrants in Peru, who likewise "are transiting significant cultural space" (White & Johnson 2016: 77). For example, the theories suggest these migrants may enter different segments of unequal and stratified host communities and acculturate with the multiple aspects of the new urban life at different speeds and depths, as they encounter varied obstacles. I provide more details in the case study of rural-to-urban migration in chapter 5.

One theoretical insight applicable to all case studies herein is that the structural (dis)advantages which climate migrants experience in host areas depend on socially ascribed identity factors, such as age, ethnicity or "race", or sex. For analyzing such processes, *intersectionality* may provide a valuable lens. It highlights people's multiple and multifaceted identities as well as how marginalization and privileges related to these identities can change in different social, spatial, and temporal settings (Collins & Bilge 2020; Crenshaw 1989; Howard & Renfrow 2014). I strive to discuss differential impacts in Peru in this study whenever possible but time and resource constraints prevented a full-fledged intersectional analysis. Future work could differentiate even more how impacts they depend on intersecting sociocultural and biological factors (Anthias 2008; Bastia 2014; Cundill et al. 2021).

2.2.3.2 Resource-based Model of Migrant Adaptation to a New Site

The sociological models above offer limited insights for my case studies which lack pre-defined host communities, namely immobility and community relocation or displacement. For examining key processes and mechanisms of transitions in all the case studies in more detail, the Resource-Based Model of Migrant Adaptation to a New Site (RBMMA) offers a more fitting lens (Ryan et al. 2008).²⁰ While RBMMA is focused on migrants, its key tenets also have explanatory power for immobility.

RBMMA posits that migrants can lose personal, material, social, and cultural *resources* throughout migration. Examples include physical and psychological

also been criticized for ignoring acculturative bidirectionalities (Rudmin et al. 2016; Ward 2008). Other theories underscore that intergroup contact is a two-way-street (Croucher & Kramer 2017; Kramer 2019).

 $^{^{20}}$ The authors build on theories on migrants' mental health, which use different medical or psychosocial stress models.

resources, assets, social support, networks, skills, knowledge, and beliefs learned within given cultures. Migrants require resources to satisfy *needs*, pursue *goals*, and address *demands*, while navigating *constraints* and *opportunities*.²¹ Unsatisfied needs result in distress and alienation.²² Resources are not only needed for initiating movement, but all phases of the migration life cycle (before, during, and after movement) can de- or increase preexisting resources, facilitate new resources, or deplete them. Resource changes can shape initial decisions to move, and later, migration journeys continue to affect resources in many ways.

These changes in resources before and during migration also influence migrants after settlement, when they strive to rebuild their lives by replacing or substituting recoverable losses. Such attempts are shaped by personal constraints and constraints in migrants' new environments. For example, resources can become devalued, obsolete for adapting to the new sociocultural setting, or blocked by policies.²³Migrants also gain and lose new resources after arrival. Levels of resources can change as much as their value to migrants, depending on the relevance of the needs, goals, and demands in destinations. Over time, migrants' frames of reference for assessing outcomes can change, as explained further below. Stress results when migrants (a) lose resources; when they are (b) threatened with such losses; when (c) expected returns on investments do not materialize; or when (d) the new site obliterates goals or obstructs their attainment. Stress may also emerge from four demand events or situations in the migration process: (a) demand overload (resources insufficient to satisfy needs or goals); (b) demand strain (finite resources for competing priorities); (c) aversive demands (hostile external events and experiences); and (d) demand insufficiency (un- or underchallenging situations).

In summary, the Resource-Based Model effectively identifies key mechanisms and processes in the development of impacts of (im)mobilities, which I highlight in Figure 2.2. With its focus on needs, resources, and goals, the model underscores the human dimensions of migration (and, by extension, immobility). It usefully illustrates how losses experienced before and during (im)mobilities such as those related to climate hazards—can continue to affect well-being long

²¹ Since the authors do not develop their concepts of *needs* and *goals* fully, I explain them in detail in section 2.3.

²² The authors' ideas of *resources* dovetails with de Haas' (2021) idea of *capabilities* (2.2.2). He frames them as social, economic, and human resources, which excludes the cultural dimension that Ryan and colleagues highlight.

²³ While RBMMA focuses on constraints, de Haas' (2021) and Kunz's (1981) frameworks highlight that structural opportunities also matter, and migration has feedback effects on structures.

after. Notably, migrants can face new demands in destinations (which may include exposure to new hazards) when they are navigating constraints and opportunities for changing their resource base. Not only resources and goals may change but also migrants' *frames of reference* for assessing outcomes, as I explain in more detail below. Finally, the model emphasizes that the well-being of migrants and stayers depends on fulfilling varied needs and goals, two concepts which I explore in detail in the following section.



Figure 2.2 Key elements in the development of impacts during the life cycle of (im)mobilities. (Note: Created by the author, drawing on the model by Ryan and colleagues (2008) and the discussion below on frames of reference)

RBMMA posits that migrants use different frames of reference to assess outcomes (Ryan et al. 2008). Initially, many compare their own lives pre- and post-migration. Relative changes matter. For example, if few needs had been fulfilled in areas of origin, even small gains in destinations are valued highly, but low starting resources also raise susceptibility to resource losses. Conversely, greater initial resources may increase resilience; they provide chances for aggregated gains and permit easier adjustment. Peers staying in home areas provide another reference point through social comparison. Over time, migrants may shift their reference points away from their own previous lives or peers at origin; instead, they may compare themselves to (segments) of the resident population.

While not explicated by the authors, these ideas draw on comparison (or discrepancy) theory, which states that people use several benchmarks to assess their situations. The theory comprises (a) adaptation level theory, (b) social comparison theory, and (c) aspiration theory, which assume (a) prior life circumstances, (b) peers, and (c) future expectations as benchmarks for subjective evaluations (Haindorfer 2019a; Schyns 2000, 2001). First, (hedonic) adaptation level theory (also: dynamic equilibrium or set point theory) stipulates that people grow accustomed to new stimuli and recurring situations, which therefore are assumed to change people's subjective assessments only transiently (Brickman et al. 1978; Scitovsky 1992). Even after strongly positive or disruptive events-such as a relative's death-people are thought to adapt and return to equilibrium levels (Diener et al. 2009; Lucas 2007; Sheldon & Lucas 2014). This theory thus predicts that migrants' subjective evaluations may change at first but then return to a stable set range, holding them in a hedonic "treadmill" (Brickman 1971). Second, aspiration theory states that people assess their lives by evaluating their goal fulfillment (Henne, Thorsten and Stutzer, Alois 2014). Migrants constantly change aspirations after settling, and as a result, the benchmark for success can change. Third, established psychological research (Festinger 1954; Gruder 1971; Hyman 1942; Wills 1981) indicates that all humans compare themselves to others for selfevaluation (Wood et al. 2007).²⁴ Such social comparisons can result in relative

²⁴ More recent research indicates that social comparisons are applied for different selfevaluation purposes, such as self-assessment, self-enhancement, self-improvement, and selfverification; the preference for eye-level, downward, or upward comparisons depends on self-esteem, personality, affect, threat levels, and other factors; and that such comparisons can have varying positive and negative effects on people, see Buunk & Gibbons (2007); Gerber et al. (2018).

deprivation (Melzer & Muffels 2012, 2017):²⁵ people can feel angry, resentful, or frustrated when they believe that they have less than others (Crosby 1976; Crosby & Gonzalez-Intal 1984; Merton & Kitt 1950; Schulze & Krätschmer-Hahn 2014: 5443). As targets of comparison, models assume either society at large²⁶ (Sen 1983) or members of a reference group (Runciman 1966). Applied to this study, migrants and stayers may thus assess their relative rank in society or compare themselves with others similar to them, for example, those in comparable social positions, jobs, or residential zones, and those with similar characteristics, at home or in destinations.

To summarize, migrants use varied frames of reference to assess their situations. Pre- and post-(im)mobility changes can be assessed in all case studies in this dissertation, and these internal standards thus are the analytical focus. Conversely, new peers only matter as a benchmark for rural-to-urban migrants who move to new host communities, whereas the rainforest and coastal migrants moved to uninhabited areas. Due to time constraints, I could not collect detailed data on all vantage points; future work could assess all relevant frames of reference. Nevertheless, chapter 5 with the rural-to-urban migration case study provides various insights into comparisons with peers at home.

2.3 Well-Being Impacts of (Im)mobilities

In chapter 1, I have argued why multilayered well-being provides an appropriate lens for my research questions. First, other common prisms to assess impacts of climate (im)mobilities—such as human rights protection, security, human security, or adaptation—are valuable but imply different priorities regarding the data to be collected and the measures to be evaluated. This study sets a more ambitious benchmark than recent migration as adaptation perspectives, which are concerned with preserving a status quo or returning to zero after climate hazards. Rather, the aim here is to investigate if migrants and stayers can "be well" and lead the lives they aspire to (leaning on Sen's (1999) idea of development). Well-being analysis is a more comprehensive and human-centered view of effects related to

²⁵ Conversely, NELM theory argues that *relative deprivation* can also affect a household's likelihood of *initiating* migration, see Czaika & de Haas (2012); Stark (2006); Stark & Taylor (1989).

²⁶ This mechanism partially explains the *Easterlin Paradox*: if incomes rise for most in society, social comparison effects counterbalance expectable surpluses in happiness over time, see Easterlin (1974); Easterlin & O'Connor (2020).

(im)mobilities beyond standard economic measures of success, as it moves people and their varied needs, goals, and resources to the center of the discussion (see previous section). Second, even when migration facilitates successful climate adaptation, it "is not socially neutral or simple" (Adger et al. 2018: 40). Especially those forced to move can face great psychological, social, and cognitive stress (Helm et al. 2018; Schwerdtle et al. 2020). In addition, not all movements that net improve socioeconomic indicators also raise subjective well-being (SWB), and vice versa, making a SWB lens a valuable complement to more objective indicators (OECD 2013). For example, even those who improve materially may feel poorer in a larger sense when they experience loneliness or despair (Wright 2010, 2011). By using socioeconomic indicators chosen by outside experts as proxies for migrants' adaptive capacities (Gemenne & Blocher 2017; Melde et al. 2017), the few existing studies move subjectively felt well-being effects to a dead corner. Finally, a certain degree of outside forcing is likely even for climate migration that is framed as anticipatory and adaptive (Gemenne 2015); analyzing the related loss and damage requires to "engage more deeply with values, places, and people's experiences" (Tschakert et al. 2017: 1). A SWB lens serves these purposes well. Moreover, SWB also ought to be measured because it is a means to an end that contributes to health, relationships, and other spheres (see chapter 4). This focus on well-being is also in line with the IPCC's latest approach (Cissé et al. 2022). Below, I review well-being concepts and define it as how the needs that climate migrants or stayers prioritize are met (*measures of objective well-being*, OWB); how they evaluate their life situations cognitively and emotionally in the present; and how they look to the future (measures of SWB). Then, I specify the indicators chosen to represent OWB and SWB.

2.3.1 Terminology and Definition

Well-being concepts used in similar ways include capability, human development, happiness, living standards, quality of life, prosperity, utility, and social welfare (McGillivray 2007). Among these terms, I choose well-being to link this work to the centuries-old discussions of what "being well" means to people (Copes-take 2008a) and the rise of well-being as a "major research focus in development studies" (Gasper 2008: 47). The term "be-ing" usefully underlines the active process needed for a good life (Gough et al. 2008) and still leaves space to define the scope of the desired state of being well (Copestake 2008b). Many ideas with different purposes exist of what constitutes a "good life" (Dodge et al. 2012;

Gasper 2007; McGillivray 2007). They structure what goals people value and pursue, how they build institutions, and how they make political decisions (Adler & Seligman 2016). Defining and measuring well-being is thus "unavoidably political" (Copestake 2008b: 1). Well-being is a normative concept, person-centered, and it aims for more than just avoiding harm by setting a high quality and sufficient quantity of life as the goal (Copestake 2008b; Gasper 2008). There is "no settled consensus on its meaning" (Gough et al. 2008: 5), and well-being has often been described, but seldom defined (Dodge et al. 2012). I draw inspiration from several sources.

First, McGillivray's seminal review of well-being concepts defines it as "the state of individuals' life situation" (2007: 3). I draw on this non-normative definition as it usefully underscores that well-being concerns all spheres of life and many factors that may differ between individuals. While life situations dynamically change over time, the term state underscores the momentary nature of the assessment. Second, for further refinement, Costanza and colleagues define well-being as "the extent to which objective human needs are fulfilled in relation to ... perceptions of subjective well-being" (2007: 269). Similarly, Gough and colleagues use well-being as an umbrella for the "objective circumstances of the person and their subjective evaluation of these" (2008: 5). In these views, being well depends on "what a person has; what they can do with what they have; and how they think about what they have and can do" (McGregor 2008: 317). These definitions usefully emphasize that being well arises from abilities to meet needs, in practice or as a possibility. Needs are normatively prioritized goals, whose fulfillment through different satisfiers results in OWB, and whose absence leads to harm (Gasper 2008); in section 2.3.2, I explain the notion in detail. Moreover, the definitions above highlight that it also matters how people perceive and evaluate current need fulfillment (SWB). Various reasons speak in favor of this perspective. First, means to meet human needs do not necessarily translate into what Sen and Nussbaum (1993) would call valuable functionings. For example, income does not equal subjectively felt greater well-being if it is spent on self-destructive behavior (McGillivray 2007). Second, measures on need fulfillment describe the conditions that people deem necessary for a good life, but do not measure directly if they perceive their lives as positive (Campbell & Converse 1972). Although linked, need fulfillment and respective evaluations are not the same (Tay & Diener 2011). Even when all needs are fulfilled, people may feel discontent, hopeless, or realize that they have been pursuing the wrong goals. For example, in Latin America, human development indices are only weakly correlated with people's SWB (Rojas 2018). SWB centers on one "end goal of all human activities" (Tay et al. 2015), namely the direct perception that life is going

well (Diener & Tay 2016; OECD 2013), and that the future offers chances for desired outcomes (Gulyas 2015). It thereby provides a valuable, complementary window into people's inner lives that also incorporates the distinct weights they give to nuances of their well-being (OECD 2013). Third, the evidence indicates that SWB is not only an essential metric but also a means to an end, as it shapes health, relationships, and work (Paul 2016; see section 4.2.2). For these reasons, I argue that frameworks to analyze well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities ought to integrate SWB.

While I consider SWB a useful complement to OWB, it is not sufficient as a standalone measure. SWB can be affected by a lack of information, norms, mental capacity, psychological resilience when facing adversity, the cultural and linguistic context of interviews, and other factors (OECD 2013). Evaluations can be made with different suitability (Veenhoven 2015) and people can mis-assess their situations (Kagan 1994). Framing effects-such as comparisons with prior own states or with reference groups-may shape results (Fujita 2008; Fujita & Diener 2013). Further, response shifts or adaptive preferences (Crettaz & Suter 2013) can, to some extent, mean that "one's preferences and perceptions adjust to one's situation... to reinterpret it as normal and tolerable" (Gasper 2007: 35). Rather, I frame well-being as consisting of both non-subjective and subjective aspects (Dolan et al. 2017; Gough et al. 2008). OWB and SWB have their distinct values and limits, and a mix offers a fuller perspective than either one alone (Costanza et al. 2007; OECD 2013). While early well-being accounts tended to be utilitarian and focused on few dimensions, multidimensional accounts prevail nowadays (Alkire 2002; Gough et al. 2008), and "future assessments should combine both measures of objective and subjective well-being, in order to provide the full picture of human flourishing" (Forgeard et al. 2011: 98). In line with debates on how to measure societal progress beyond income, SWB research is expanding fast (Diener et al. 2017a). In summary, I define well-being as the state of people's life situations based on need fulfillment, their present evaluation thereof, and their views of the future. Below, I examine the literature on the key elements of my definition.

2.3.2 Conceptualization of Key Well-Being Elements

The applied definition underscores that gauging migrants' well-being requires three measures: (a) on people's need fulfillment (OWB) as well as on (b) their present evaluation of need fulfillment and (c) views of the future (SWB) (Costanza et al. 2007, 2008; Gasper 2007). OWB and SWB measures can be

self-reported or subject-independent (Gasper 2007), as listed in Table 2.4. In this work, I use self-reports (interview and surveys), in which affected people explain and evaluate their need fulfillment.

	Self-report indicators	Non self-report (subject-independent) indicators
Measures of OWB	Self-report objective (for example: "I can walk 100 meters")	Objective (for example observing how far people (can) walk)
Measures of SWB	Self-report subjective (for example: "I am very satisfied with how far I can walk")	Objective (for example monitoring of types of brain function and physiological indicator that express SWB)

Table 2.4 Possible measures of SWB or OWB and indicators

Note: The approach chosen here is underlined. Adapted by the author from Gasper (2007: 33).

I select a substantive good approach to identify measures of OWB and elements of hedonic approaches for measures of SWB.²⁷ By contrast, I reject the idea of people as homines oeconomici focused on desires or revealed preferences. In such utilitarian notions, people are considered well when they fulfill their inclinations (Gasper 2007). Often, these preferences are measured through income or consumption as proxies for well-being (Chambers & Echenique 2016). Such an approach is not suitable for this dissertation for four reasons. First, these proxies neither gauge well-being nor preferences directly, but rather the monetary choices made (Gasper 2007). Second, not all preferences can be expressed adequately in money but may still be relevant for well-being, such as relationships. Third, consumption choices only reveal what people are prepared to and able to pay for desires, a limitation for poor zones, such as the deprived Peruvian communities investigated here. Finally, there are also obstructive consumption patterns such as

²⁷ Parfit's (1992) seminal categorization of well-being theories lists three streams, namely those which see well-being as substantive goods; as satisfaction; and as desire (Scanlon 1993). One can add eudaimonia as a fourth approach, which sees well-being as realizing the human potential (Huta 2014). An eudaimonic approach could usefully expand the framework herein in the future but is not in the scope of this study; I explain the related potential in section 9.1.

addictions or preferences to harm others that, if fulfilled, can reduce well-being (Sagoff 1994; Scanlon 1993) (Table 2.5).

	Well-being as	Use in this study
Substantive goods (objective list) theories	Listings of elements that make a "good life", concerning access or achieved valued functionings	For measures of OWB
Hedonia	Achieving satisfaction or pleasure	For measures of SWB (added: views of the future)
Eudaimonia	Realizing the human potential	(Possible future extension)
Desire theories	Fulfilling revealed preferences or desires	Not used

Table 2.5 Major existing approaches to well-being

Note: Created by the author, building on and extending the overview by Gasper (2007) and Parfit (1992).

2.3.2.1 Measures of OWB (Need Fulfillment)

In the definition applied here, OWB focuses on how human needs are met or on means and conditions to meet them theoretically. Below, I explain that needs comprise things that persons value and manage to do or be in their lives, and satisfiers contribute to or permit these needs (Gasper 2008). To identify the needs and satisfiers of interest here, I use a substantive good approach (Parfit 1992; Scanlon 1993). Such approaches frame well-being as the access to, or achievement of, lists of substantive goods that can facilitate a state of being well (although, as implied in my definition and argued before, not everyone subjectively experiences life as positive even if needs are fulfilled, and vice versa).

2.3.2.1.1 Needs in Different Substantive Good Approaches

Between 1938 and 2000, at least 39 attempts were made to define well-being through substantive good lists (Alkire 2002). Such lists can be stipulated; be based on analytical work; drawn from consultations with people; or emerge in a combination thereof (Gasper 2007). Stipulated lists can, for example, draw on religious principles or traditions (for an overview, see Gore 1930). Lists can also be based on analytical work, as illustrated by Rawls' list of prerequisites for planning

and implementing rational life, which he deduced from rational thinking (Rawls 1993, 2005).²⁸Nussbaum's (1992, 2012, 2013) list of functional capabilities is a key example of an approach derived from formal criteria and ethical reflections.²⁹ Her work builds on Sen's capabilities approach, which does not explicate a list of universal outcomes (Sen 1999; Sen & Nussbaum 1993). Rather, well-being for Sen is how people can function with available resources. People can value doing different activities (beings or doings, or functionings) and capabilities refer to the opportunity and freedom to achieve valued combinations of functionings. Well-being is what people can achieve, and what they prioritize according to their needs; according to Sen, well-being is leading the life one aspires to live.

By contrast, the substantive good lists that inform the measures of OWB in this study draw on theories of "needs" derived from analytical work. Theories of needs have a long history. Early, Maslow (1943) considered humans as innately driven by seeking to satisfy physiological needs first, and only then needs for safety, love, self-esteem, and self-actualization. He saw needs as built-in drives that regulate behavior (Gasper 2008). Although this theory is often cited, critics have pointed to a lack of scientific foundations and its hierarchal and ethnocentric conception of needs (Hofstede 1984; Mittelman 1991; Neher 1991). The idea of needs, still, has continued to influence policy and practice. In the 1970s, various UN agencies championed a basic needs lens to development practice, focused on the bare minimum required for physical health, such as food and shelter (Jolly 1976; Stewart 1985). The poverty line was defined by the absence of means to satisfy these needs. Thus, needs referred to means to ends (as opposed to Maslow's idea of built-in drives) (Gasper 2008). Later, these approaches were criticized as lacking scientific rigor, being overly focused on consumption and subsistence rather than progress and self-reliance, and remaining uninformed by class and group conflicts (Ghai 1978). Basic needs views were based on ethically or publicly prescribed priorities that the state should strive to provide. They fell in disuse in the 1980s and 1990s (Gasper 2008, 2009). During these years, Penz (1986), Braybrooke (1987), and Max-Neef and colleagues (1991; 1986) further developed the needs concept. The latter argue that being well depends on fulfilling fundamental human needs specific to humans.³⁰ While these needs are

²⁸ Rawls' list includes rights, liberties, opportunities, income, wealth, and the social bases of self-respect.

²⁹ Her (non-exhaustive) list of ten capabilities for human functioning includes life; bodily health; bodily integrity; senses, imagination, and thought; emotions; practical reason; affiliation; living in relation with other species; play; and control over one's environment.

³⁰ Such as subsistence, protection, affection, understanding, participation, leisure, creation, identity, and freedom.

universal, the means to achieve them (coined as satisfiers) are of different types and dependent on time, place, and culture.

Later, Doyal and Gough (1984, 1991) integrated these and other advances in their theory of human need. Instead of seeing needs as in-built behavioral drives, they use needs normatively as aims "that everyone either does or should try to achieve" for the universal goal of avoiding serious harm (Doyal & Gough 1991: 35).³¹ For the authors, the two normative, universal basic needs are (a) physical health and (b) cognitive autonomy. Physical health needs are vital to avoid serious harm, such as hunger or diseases, and these needs can be satisfied with objects, activities, and relationships that have universal features. Such satisfiers comprise food; water; shelter; non-hazardous work and physical environments; physical security; health care; security in childhood; significant primary relationships; economic security; safe birth control and childbearing; and education. While satisfiers can have universal features, their properties can vary culturally, such as types of food. Additionally, these satisfiers create conditions (mental health, thinking skills, and chances for social participation) in which cognitive autonomy can be satisfied (making cogent choices to achieve intentional goals). Hence, in this theory, two universal objective needs exist, but they can manifest or express themselves differently in different cultures and be met through culturally varied satisfiers (Gasper 2008).

These refined needs conceptions gained traction again in development practice in the 1990s. For example, need fulfillment is the focus of the early 1990s Human Development Index, the late-1990s Millennium Development Goals, and the 2015 Sustainable Development Goals (Gasper 2008; Gough et al. 2008).³² Doyal and Gough's theory also shaped the Wellbeing in Developing Countries (WeD) project in the 2000s, which aimed to re-direct development practice toward well-being

³¹ This distinction matters for well-being analyses, since fulfilling drives does not automatically advance normative goals that increase well-being. Some needs are outmoded drives and do not fulfill any goals but may still raise well-being; others such as addictive drives fulfil objectives, but not normatively prioritized ones, and may threaten well-being. Still others are needed for normative goals but lack a motivational drive; therefore, even when the need is unsatisfied, the required action to improve well-being is not automatically mobilized. The constellation that needs are requisites for non-normative goals and simultaneously lack drive is less important for well-being analyses, see Gasper (2008).

³² Current ideas of development practice often remain based on this model of "needs first" (targeting the satisfaction of multiple basic needs). Additional prisms include "income first" (envisaging material income, leisure, and choices); "rights first" (envisioning social justice and equity); and "local first" designs (aiming for community solidarity and local self-determination) Copestake (2008b, 2011). For a detailed review of development thinking, see Rapley (2007).

thinking. This project links needs and well-being approaches in a way that can usefully inform this empirical study.³³

2.3.2.1.2 Specifying Needs for the Peruvian Context

Fulfilling needs is the precondition for OWB, but "different conceptions of wellbeing lead to different specifications of need" (Gasper 2008: 59). Often, lists of needs are stipulated by experts. Yet, I argue that three reasons speak for a different approach. First, such expert lists can constitute elitist knowledge shaped by researchers' values that is removed from the local context of their use (Copestake 2011; Crisp 2017; Gasper 2007).³⁴ Second, they can be questioned from a decolonial perspective, especially in former colonies such as Peru (Escobar 1995; Yamamoto et al. 2008).³⁵ With these criticisms in mind, I second the argument that well-being studies must be informed by local contexts (Chambers 2003; Yamamoto et al. 2008).³⁶ Local culture and values influence ideas of the good life (Diener et al. 2018b; Schimmack et al. 2002; Suh et al. 1998); weightings vary across time and context (OECD 2013); and "developing countries people's thoughts and emotions matter" as the experts of their lives (Yamamoto 2007: 1). A locally sensitized approach is also relevant for this work. Emic research in the Andes and the Amazonas (from within the groups of interest, not from an observer view (Kottak 2012)) reveals that well-being conceptions in traditional Peruvian villages are different from, although shaped by, those of individualism and autonomy in the Global North (Alvarez 2008; Yamamoto 2014, 2016; Yamamoto & Feijoo 2007). Villagers lean on ancestral lifestyles and traditions revolving around collective behavior, community, cooperation, reciprocity, nuclear family, self-consumption lifestyles, as well as physical

³³ Although the *theory of human need* was developed mostly referring to high-income countries (see Gasper (2008)), its criticism of income as the main proxy of development and its advocacy for a broader understanding of needs can be connected well with ideas of well-being.

³⁴ Often, educated and wealthy thinkers in the Global North create such lists based on research with affluent respondents with lives that differ considerably from the lives of the poor, see Copestake (2009).

³⁵ Decolonialism questions the universality claim of knowledge produced by the "matrix of power" in the Global North, see Mignolo (2007b: 156). For example, Peruvian researchers in the WeD project showed "strong opposition" to universalist concepts (see Copestake (2011: 104)) of well-being from the Global North, which, in their view, degraded developing countries to "the ball required to play the game", see Yamamoto (2007: 1).

³⁶ Similarly, Max-Neef (1991) and Doyal and Gough (1991) argued that needs are universal, but properties of satisfiers vary, and thus can be identified for specific times and places, for example, through community consultations.

and spiritual health. Hence, a locally grounded approach is key for my research in traditional rural communities in Peru (Adler et al. 2016).

My objective is neither to "essentialize" experiences of people in the Global South and to "overemphas[ize] the unchanging nature" of their world (Copestake 2008b: 13). Nor do I uncritically approve of all local notions and practices, even harmful ones, for the sake diversity, a common criticism identified by Nussbaum (2012). Rather, grounding universal models in local reality acknowledges that they have shared, but also different views about the good life and deprivations (Altamirano et al. 2004; Nuijten & Vries 2003). Since location and history shape the relationships to factors that make for a good life (Álvarez et al. 2008), an approach is required that is "universally comprehensible but ... nevertheless sensitive to particular social, economic and cultural contexts" (McGregor et al. 2015: 2). To me, being well means the ability to achieve goals shared by all people as well as those set within specific local contexts. This conception matters beyond theoretical discussions. Well-being and development ideas also structure the work of development actors, who "often act in a way that fails to give sufficient weight to the wellbeing of all those affected by their actions" (Copestake 2008b: 1). Such failures can stem from knowledge production detached from local realities (Mignolo 2007a, 2012). By analogy, this study of climate (im)mobilities should account for the well-being notions held by affected people in Peru. Therefore, I identified needs and satisfiers from existing research with deprived Peruvians (Copestake 2008c, 2011) and adjusted these items through analysis of the new data collected for this study, as explained next.

The main source for identifying local Peruvian needs was the WeD research mentioned above (Copestake 2008c, 2011). Starting from Doyal and Gough's (1991) theory, it offers a well-being approach as conceived by deprived Peruvians. To identify local well-being notions, scholars reviewed the literature and collected extensive data³⁷ from seven poor, diverse sites in Peru (Altamirano et al. 2004; Alvarez 2008). Respondents specified 35 well-being goals, and factor analysis identified three underlying latent goals (shown in Table 2.6). Respondents also cited seven resources as key means to achieve these goals, including migrating (Copestake 2011; Lockley et al. 2008).³⁸

³⁷ Data collection included interviews with 419 individuals; a questionnaire on resources and needs with 1004 households; a survey on well-being with 550 individuals; semi-structured interviews with 71 key migration informants; and surveys on income and expenditure with 254 households. Researchers lived in the sites for over a year, see Copestake (2009).

 $^{^{38}}$ The three goals are (a) *a place to live better* (a clean/nice environment, living without violence or delinquency, and getting ahead or resolving problems); (b) *raising a family* (having a partner and children); and (c) *improvement from a secure base* (job, education, food and

Latent goals and their component items	Importance	
	Mean	Rank
A place to live better	1.53	-
Getting ahead / resolving problems	1.56	8
Tranquility: without violence or delinquency	1.54	9
Clean and nice environment	1.47	14
Raise a family	1.07	_
• Children	1.09	25
• Marriage	1.06	26
• Partner	1.03	28
Improvement from a secure base	1.68	_
• Health	1.88	1
Daily food	1.85	2
Education for children	1.77	3
• Room or house	1.68	4
• Work for a salary	1.59	6
• To be a professional	1.51	12
Consumer goods	1.17	24
Other individual items	_	_
Electricity, water, sanitation	1.63	5
Good family relations	1.57	7
• To be good with god and/or the church	1.53	10
• To be of good character	1.52	11
Education for yourself	1.51	13
Public transport	1.44	15
• Improvement in the community	1.41	16
Household goods	1.38	17
• Getting on well with neighbors	1.37	18
Recreational space, like sports complex	1.37	19
• To teach others what you know	1.36	20
Neighbors participate in an organized way	1.28	21

 Table 2.6
 Components of well-being ranked by Peruvian respondents

(continued)
Latent goals and their component items	Importance	
	Mean	Rank
• Clothes	1.26	22
• Friendship	1.18	23
Telephone or other form of communication	1.06	27
• Shop, buying and selling (cattle, crops)	0.97	29
Member of communal/community association	0.95	30
Own transportation	0.92	31
• To be in a position of authority	0.7	32
• Go to fiestas	0.42	33
Participate in organizing fiestas	0.29	34

Table 2.6(continued)

Note: Respondents rated importance as very necessary (2), necessary (1), or not necessary (0). Adapted from Copestake (2009: 9).

Based on these results, WeD defined well-being as "a state of being with others in society where (a) people's basic needs are met, (b) where they can act effectively and meaningfully in pursuit of their goals, and (c) where they feel satisfied with their life" (Copestake 2008b: 3). This definition has many commonalities (and some nuanced differences)³⁹ with my own, which frames well-being as the state of people's life situations, based on need fulfillment, the present evaluation thereof, and views of the future. While the WeD results provide a valid foundation for specifying goals and needs relevant in the local Peruvian context, I also interviewed people in areas beyond WeD's sites in Central Peru. I therefore verified, prioritized, and adjusted the WeD measures of OWB through my own interview data. Using concept- and data-driven coding of the data (see 3.2.1), I

health, and goods). Besides migrating, further resources were getting loans, renting or leasing land, saving, inheriting, having social contacts, and being able to secure support from organizations.

³⁹ First, both definitions combine OWB and SWB. Yet while WeD uses "satisfaction with life", I apply the terms "evaluation of need fulfillment" or "SWB", which are better suited for the subjective, cognitive and emotional assessments implied (as explained in section 2.3). Second, WeD stressses the relational ("state of being with others") as a standalone category, whereas I subsume *social relatedness* as a need in OWB. Third, the WeD definition emphasizes the active pursuit of goals ("act effectively and meaningfully"), while I point to the outcome of this pursuit ("need fulfillment") and resulting evaluations. Fourth, WeD does not integrate views of the future, as opposed to my framework.

merged or moved certain elements and added or renamed items. Figure 2.3 shows the resulting OWB framework for this work.



Figure 2.3 Locally grounded framework for assessing OWB in Peru. (Note: Created by the author)

In summary, the three central OWB categories for this research are (a) *development from a secure base*, (b) *social relatedness*, and (c) *a space to live better*. Four comparisons validate the relevance of the chosen components. First, the selected items cover most intermediate needs cited by Doyal and Gough (1991).⁴⁰ Second, they cover most impoverishment risks ensuing from forced migration identified in Cernea's (2004) influential work. Figure 2.4 shows the eight major sub-elements of this impoverishment risk. To counter these risks, Cernea classifies eight required reconstruction efforts, which closely align with the OWB elements identified here and corroborate their significance.⁴¹

Third, the items selected here also cover most indicators proposed by international organizations to measure vulnerability in displacement and to assess

⁴⁰ A space to live better covers Doyal and Gough's items adequate protective housing; nonhazardous physical environment; physical security; and non-hazardous work environment. *Development from a secure base* contains their items economic security; adequate nutritional food and water; appropriate education; and appropriate health care (security in childhood, safe birth control and childbearing are implicit in my item health and food security). Finally, *social relatedness* covers Doyal and Gough's item significant primary relationships.

⁴¹ Reemployment is included in *decent livelihoods*; adequate nutrition and health care are covered by *health and food security*; social inclusion is echoed in *social relatedness*; and finally, land-based reestablishment, house reconstruction, as well as restoration of community assets and services are contained in a *space to live better*. Three differences with Cernea's model are my inclusion of safety from hazards and pleasant surroundings as items of interest (within *a space to live better*), as well as the exclusion of his item community reconstruction (partially covered in *social relatedness*).



Figure 2.4 Comparison of Cernea's model and OWB dimensions in this study. (Note: Created by the author, drawing on the model by Cernea (2004))

progress toward durable solutions, a right enshrined in principles 28–30 of the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement (OCHA 1998). The conceptual framework here includes most of the eight requirements to end displacement defined by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC 2010) Framework on Durable Solutions for Internally Displaced Persons (The Brookings Institution & University of Bern 2010), which was operationalized later (JIPS 2018).⁴² Similarly, the International Recommendations on IDP Statistics (IRIS) have drawn on the IASC framework to develop metrics for measuring progress in addressing vulnerabilities (EGRIS 2020). The framework applied in this study cover most of these metrics.⁴³ Three main differences are that none of the international metrics

⁴² Development from a secure base and a space to live better cover the requirements access to livelihoods and employment; enjoyment of an adequate standard of living without discrimination; effective and accessible mechanisms to restore housing, land and property; and long-term safety and security. Family reunification is covered by *social relatedness*. The framework applied here does not cover access to personal and other documentation without discrimination; participation in public affairs without discrimination; and access to effective remedies and justice.

⁴³ My categories *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better* cover the following suggested indicators: safety and security; adequate standard of living (including food

on displacement vulnerabilities include SWB, social *relatedness* is mostly limited to family reunification, whereas the framework here does not cover suggested political and legal items, such as access to documentation.

Finally, the needs chosen for this study cover key development objectives enshrined in the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).⁴⁴ *Development from a secure base* is closely aligned with SDGs 1–4 and 8. *A space to live better* echoes SDGs 6, 9, and 11 as well as SDGs 7 and 11 in part. By contrast, the SDGs only implicitly cover the two other dimensions applied here, namely *social relatedness* and *subjective well-being*. In addition, the needs applied here do not cover SDGs with relevance at the societal level, such as those relating to biodiversity (SDGs 5, 10, 12, and 14–17).

2.3.2.2 Measures of SWB

After having specified the OWB items, I turn to discuss measures for how people evaluate present need fulfillment and how they view the future. The umbrella term *subjective well-being* (SWB) is rooted in hedonic philosophy (from ancient Greek hēdonḗ, "pleasure"). This tradition frames being well as achieving different pleasures or satisfactions while reducing discomfort and pain, as embodied in writings by Epicurious, Bentham, Hobbes, and Locke (Huta & Ryan 2010; Kashdan et al. 2008). Psychological SWB research builds on this notion and has been a central field of Positive Psychology (Diener 1984, 2000; Pavot & Diener 1993). It frames SWB as "the extent to which a person believes or feels that his or her life is going well" (Diener et al. 2018a: 1). Measures of SWB are direct, internal, self-reported evaluations of how people assess their lived experience and the significance they attach to them (Diener 2000; OECD 2013). How such evaluations arise is explained next.

security, shelter and housing, medical services, and education); access to livelihoods; and restoration of housing, land and property. Access to documentation is not covered.

⁴⁴ SDGs 1–4 and 8 are no poverty; decent work; good health and well-being; zero hunger; and quality education. SDGs 6, 9, 11, 7, and 11 are clean water and sanitation; industry, innovation and infrastructure; sustainable cities and communities; affordable and clean energy; and climate action. SDGs 5, 10, 12, 14–17 are life below water and on land, responsible consumption and production, peace and justice, income and gender equality, and partnerships to achieve the Goals. The SDGs only implicitly cover *social relatedness* and *SWB* through Goal 3 on Good Health and Well-being, which according to the WHO, refers to "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being" (1948: 1), emphasis added.

2.3.2.2.1 Evaluation of Need Fulfillment in the Present

People have varied inner abilities "to cope with the problems of life", which can translate into an inner, present "subjective enjoyment of life" (Veenhoven 2015: 208).⁴⁵ Yet, good chances do not automatically lead to positive results; and equally, limited chances can be occasionally sufficient for positive results. Present SWB depends on two pathways: first, cognitive calculations of goal realization or satisfaction in life domains, and second, inferences based on emotions (Veenhoven 2014, 2015). The first path to SWB is satisfaction, the cognitive evaluation of current need fulfillment (Diener et al. 2010; Diener et al. 2017a).⁴⁶ The second path to present SWB is having more positive than negative emotions over time (Diener 1984; Schwarz et al. 1999).⁴⁷ Taken together, research emphasizes that cognitive and emotional paths are correlated, but distinct; and while both matter for SWB, affective appraisal is often principal (depending on social and normative contexts) (Busseri 2018; Dolan et al. 2017; OECD 2013; Suh et al. 1998; Veenhoven 2015). Present SWB stems mostly from people's mental appraisals of emotional balances and, to some degree, of their cognitive satisfaction (Kahneman & Riis 2006; Pavot & Diener 1993). Researchers thus characterize present SWB by (a) high experiences of positive feelings, (b) low experiences of negative feelings (emotional balance), and (c) high cognitive satisfaction (Busseri 2018; Diener 1984; Diener & Tay 2016; Schwarz et al. 1999). SWB appraisals come with varying degrees of confidence, reflection, and suitability (Veenhoven 2015). Since SWB is a mental assessment made and felt by people, it can be asked for. For emotional balance, people are asked repeatedly to record their affect or to fill out diaries about activities and linked feelings. SWB studies ask people to assess (cognitive) satisfaction with domains of live or live overall, commonly

⁴⁵ The same holds true for *outer chances* for a good life, such as safe physical and social environments, which may translate into *outer life outcomes* or actual utility of one's life for the environment, see Veenhoven (2015).

⁴⁶ When people mentally evaluate satisfaction, they either assess discrepancies between socially and culturally varying goals and reality or they calculate the sum of pleasures and pains in life domains, compare their relative social standing, and identify the balance (see section 2.2.3: Frames of reference), see Paul (2016). Besides these two bottom-up calculations, overall present SWB also shapes domain satisfaction top-down Headey et al. (1991).

⁴⁷ People infer SWB from how well they generally feel, see Veenhoven (2015). They usually draw on present mood for gradually recalling and assessing longer-term emotions because mood signals how things are going overall, as opposed to more immediate feelings. A good mood depends on meeting needs. For recalling mood, people focus on the frequency of pleasant (for example, joy) and unpleasant affect (for example, sadness) rather than their intensity. This sum of positive and negative feelings is coined emotional balance, see Diener et al. (2017a).

in surveys⁴⁸ (OECD 2013). In this study, I interviewed people and derived their SWB from their narratives (see section 3.2.1 on the qualitative strand).

Critically, the hedonic tradition does not favor more positive thoughts and emotions at all costs, without limits, or in all cases (Gruber et al. 2011). Transient negative emotions are normal and needed in specific situations, such as after losses. Moreover, the types of valued positive states can differ across cultures and some positively sensed emotions, such as hubris pride, do not create benefits. In addition, positive emotions can lead to suboptimal behavior when people must detect threats and react fast; when they must make appraisals that require systematic processing of information; and in certain social situations. Finally, the benefits of SWB—such as better health—do not require exceedingly high levels; rather, "frequent but mild positive moods may be sufficient" (Diener et al. 2017a: 94).

2.3.2.2.2 Views of the Future

The two emotional and mental evaluations discussed above are concerned with need fulfillment in the present (and to some degree, the past). For this study, I decided to add *views of the future* as a third dimension (Glatzer 2012; Gulyas 2015).⁴⁹ The additional prism is valuable for three reasons. First, well-being feelings and thinking about the past, the present, and the future are linked but not the same; for example, one can be grateful for the past and content in the present but pessimistic about the future (Forgeard & Seligman 2012; Seligman 2002). I agree that "people with hope and those without are of different subjective well-being, given all other components of well-being are equal" (Glatzer 2015: 10) and "how we perceive the future can greatly affect how we feel in the present" (Pleeging et al. 2021a: 1019). For example, migrants with unmet needs who either look to the future with hope or with fear will experience different SWB.⁵⁰ Second,

⁴⁸ Typical examples are the single-item question "how satisfied are you with the life you lead" from the Eurobarometer, and the five questions used in the Satisfaction with Life Scale (see Diener et al. (1985)).

⁴⁹ Exemplary positive emotions about the future include hope, optimism, faith, trust, and confidence, whereas negative ones include fear, worry, hopelessness, despair, and pessimism, see Forgeard & Seligman (2012); Seligman (2002).

 $^{^{50}}$ One caveat applies: while being hopeful and optimistic mostly yields positive downstream effects (see review in section 4.2.2), positive views of the future can be harmful in some cases, see Forgeard & Seligman (2012; Pleeging et al. (2021a). They are detrimental when danger is imminent or when health and professional decisions must be made; when adverse or unfitting goals are pursued; when they are based on illusions or denial of reality; when a goal realistically cannot be achieved; when they act as a defense mechanism; or when they prevent action to improve an adverse situation.

climate change shapes people' future expectations through various mechanisms (Doherty & Clayton 2011; Helm et al. 2018; Manning & Clayton 2018), including uncertainty, distress, helplessness, and anxiety on the negative end (Fritze et al. 2008), for example after the loss of place (Tschakert & Tutu 2010; Warsini et al. 2014). Because such processes will likely also affect people who stay in or leave areas that face climate hazards, it is valuable to measure their views of the future. Third, (im)mobilities are driven not only by aspirations for the future (see section 2.2.2), but can also alter future outlooks, for example, by creating risks and uncertainty (e.g. Williams & Baláž 2012). The review in chapter 4 provides more details. For these reasons, views of the future offer a valuable additional prism for assessing climate (im)mobilities.

Researchers have conceptualized outlooks on the future differently. Studies on hope(lessness)⁵¹ typically focus on "expectations of improvement or deterioration of the economic, social or personal situation" in most fields (Pleeging et al. 2021b: 3). Social science studies tend to center on external sources of hope (for example, conflict, culture, or history); its social experience; and its external effects, such as societal mobilization. By contrast, for psychological approaches, hope is an active force for individual and concrete goals; they often have two common elements, namely (a) a future desire and (b) the belief that this desire can be achieved (Pleeging et al. 2021b). Hope can be conceptualized as a multidimensional experience with at least these three layers (Pleeging et al. 2021b; Pleeging et al. 2021a): its cognitive and motivational dimensions (Snyder et al. 1991; Snyder 2000, 2002) as well as its emotional function (Fredrickson 2001).

In the end, hope, optimism, and positive expectations (and their antonyms) are all future-oriented, expectancy-based states or beliefs that desired events will (or will not) outweigh negative events in the future. They are often used interchangeably despite fine conceptual differences (Milona 2020; Peterson & Seligman 2004; Pleeging et al. 2021b), which I will also do for ease.⁵² Under the umbrella term "views of the future", I follow the definition of hope as "a positive expectation that something good will happen, or that the future will be better than the present", and fear being the reverse (Gulyas 2015: 872). Optimism is a state with more hope than fear regarding the future, pessimism the reverse, and

⁵¹ For brevity, I will use *hope* as the shorthand for both hope or hopelessness.

⁵² Studies agree more on definitions for optimism than for hope. They suggest that hope and optimism are mostly aligned when desired outcomes have a significant probability to eventuate, but less so when they are not probable yet important; in other words, "hope is tapped into when odds are low yet individuals are highly invested in the outcome", and offers limited personal control, see Bailey et al. (2007); Bruininks & Malle (2005); Bury et al. (2016: 588).

neutralism means that there is no expectation of change (Gulyas 2015). People's arrays, experiences, and effects of such hopes and fears are heterogenous. Pleeging et al. (2021a) provide a review of the varied objects and sources of hope, the diverse possibilities to experience hope, and its variable effects. Moreover, future outlooks can have varied subjects. Especially in more collectivist societies, subjects can include family, peers, or spiritual beings (Bernardo 2010), a vital insight for Peru given its collectivist leaning (Alvarez 2008; Yamamoto 2014, 2016; Yamamoto & Feijoo 2007). To learn about people's views of the future in this study, I used interviews (see section 3.2.1).

2.3.2.2.3 Possible SWB Outcomes

SWB combined with OWB, as used here, offers a broad view of the effects of climate (im)mobilities that is greater than the sum of its parts (Forgeard et al. 2011), since it permits examining outer and inner life chances as well as results (Glatzer 2015). However, objectively fulfilled needs do not mechanically lead to the subjective perception that needs are satisfied or vice versa (Veenhoven 2015), so that OWB and present SWB can converge or diverge (Glatzer & Zapf 1984; Zapf et al. 1987), as can views of the future (Gulyas 2015). Figure 2.5 displays the range of possible outcomes. (A) true well-being refers to a state in which people in good conditions evaluate and experience their present lives as good; it can be attended by enfolded hope or dramatized future fear. Conversely, (b) deprivation denotes people in adverse conditions who evaluate and experience their lives as negative, which can be combined with precarious hope or enforced future fear. In between, (c) fragile dissonance is a state when people live in good conditions, hold negative evaluations and feelings, but also hope for the future, whereas high dissonance means they lack such hope. (D) adjustment means positive present satisfaction and feelings despite negative conditions; it is *fragile* when combined with fear and *high* when accompanied by hope for the future.

Combining the measures of SWB and OWB developed in this chapter renders a comprehensive framework for assessing the well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities, as presented in Figure 2.6.



Figure 2.5 Differential possibilities of OWB and SWB outcomes. (Note: Created by the author, building on the work by Gulyas $(2015)^{53}$)

 $^{^{53}}$ I added the prefix *true* to the original term. Rather than *adaptation*, I use *adjustment* to distinguish it from other usage.



Figure 2.6 Measures of OWB and SWB applied for assessing impacts of climate (im)mobilities. (Note: Blue icons designate OWB and the grey icon SWB. Created by the author)

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.





Research Philosophy, Methodological Implications, and Research Design

In this chapter, I explain the choices for the four different layers of the research approach applied in this dissertation, which are illustrated in Figure 3.1 (Saunders et al. 2011). I used a critical realist research stance, applied retroduction and abduction as modes of reasoning, and analyzed both qualitative case studies and survey data in a mixed methods approach.

3.1 Critical Realist Stance and Implications

First, the *philosophical* (or *research*) *stance* as the outermost layer refers to assumptions about the nature of reality (ontology), valid knowledge and knowing (epistemology), and values and aims of research (axiology). Few migration studies explicate their philosophical stance (Castles 2012; Iosifides 2012). This dissertation is based on critical realism, which combines a realist ontology and relativist epistemology. This research philosophy has gained a standing in social sciences and serves this study for four reasons (Maxwell & Mittapalli 2010). First, its ontology allows for a complex analysis of why well-being changes in (im)mobilities occur, and what role structure and agency play therein. Second, its epistemology favors diversity in research perspectives, methods, and data, which is useful for examining alternative explanations of well-being impacts. Third, the stance makes it possible to incorporate the role of the human mind into research,

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1_3.



Figure 3.1 Layers of research and application in this study. (Note: Blue boxes indicate the choices made in this study. Reproduced from Saunders et al. (2019: 130) and edited by the author.)

for example, the insight that biases may lead migrants to misinterpret their wellbeing situations. Finally, critical realism has a strong value orientation, which is, in my view, essential when studying well-being in the context of climate injustices and in an unequal society such as Peru (Iosifides 2012; Maxwell 2012; World Bank 2021b).

Second, philosophic stances come with different *approaches to theories* or *modes of reasoning*. Theories are "the analysis and statement of how and why a set of facts relates to each other" (Kumar 2011: 21). Approaches to theories refer to different mental operations to construct order and logic in data and to connect data with theory. The critical realist goal is to develop hypothetical models for the mechanisms and structures behind empirically observed phenomena and build theories of them with multiple viewpoints (Lawson et al. 2009). Realism permits both using existing theories and provides guidance on how theory can be developed. Induction (going from data to broader theory) and deduction (testing theory-derived hypotheses with data) serve as the foundation for abduction and

retroduction (Hartwig 2007).¹ In other words, I will "continue to ask the question why?" (Easton 2010: 124), use counterfactual thinking, study extreme or surprising cases, and compare cases to identify generative mechanisms (Danermark et al. 2002).

Third, *methodology* applies the research stance and modes of reasoning systematically to the research (Castles 2012). It discusses how scholars can retrieve and produce knowledge about the social world and why which type of *methods* can provide valid data (Teddlie & Tashakkori 2010). Given the critical realist premises, both quantitative and qualitative research methods can produce valid knowledge under certain conditions (Iosifides 2012; Maxwell & Mittapalli 2010).² Given these complementarities of qualitative and quantitative approaches, it is methodologically sensible to combine them (Sayer 1992; Seawright 2016). Qualitative methods can discern social action, intentions, and meanings around (im)mobilities and well-being. They can address context, complexity, and diversity, and shed light on generative mechanisms. Conversely, quantitative methods are valuable to systematically inquire diversity and regularities in well-being effects; to scale and compare scales; to measure the strength of influences; and to test and refine hypotheses about mechanisms. Various prior mixed methods studies have used critical realism (Shannon-Baker 2016) and several authors have

¹ Abduction means "a theoretical redescription of events, phenomena and processes using certain conceptual schemes and frameworks" (see Iosifides (2012: 43)), with the aim of redescribing and re-contextualizing the observed by relating it to a rule, see Danermark et al. (2002)). *Retroduction* refers to "identifying the necessary conditions for the occurrence of certain events, processes or phenomena" (see Iosifides (2012: 43)) and asking about the more fundamental "transfactual conditions, structures and mechanisms" that must exist for something to be possible, see Danermark et al. (2002: 80).

² Quantitative methods can discern persistent regularities (or semi-regularities), patterns, and effect distributions; they allow investigating "formal relations of similarity" and find "descriptive, representative generalizations" (Danermark et al. 2002: 165). Nonetheless, quantitative research is limited to observable and quantifiable objects, while quantification and aggregation, in turn, can lead to simplistic representations of the social world that can ignore diversity, context, and outliers, and may lead to basic, biased models (Maxwell & Mittapalli 2010). While quantitative research uses an established range of methods to distinguish correlation from causation, it is often not sufficient for *understanding* generative mechanisms, which depend on process, contexts, and underlying conditions (Cook et al. 2002). Conversely, qualitative methods can shed light on generative mechanisms behind quantitatively observed regularities by elucidating contexts and tracing in detail how processes materialize in specific cases (Iosifides 2012). Nevertheless, small qualitative samples cannot adequately represent the full diversity of a setting or population, so that care must be taken to avoid "simplistic generalizations" (Maxwell & Mittapalli 2010: 160).

called for mixed methods to study migration (Castles 2012; Iosifides 2012, 2017). I explain the research design in detail in section 3.2.

Before, I close with discussing how the critical realist value base shapes this research. Critical realist research aims at reducing domination and expanding freedom or flourishing (Maxwell 2012).³ It is based on a similar argument as critical social theories that theory should serve emancipation and not mere knowledge creation (Horkheimer 1982; Lawson et al. 2009). I agree that in a world where migration offers opportunities for few wealthier people while many marginalized groups confront restrictions and control, "realist explanatory critiques of social relations of injustice and of their effects and consequences are urgently needed" (Iosifides 2012: 47). All knowledge generation is a social practice with impacts; it should aim to inform those affected by domination and inequality to empower them in their struggles for self-determination. In this study, I attempt to do so by revealing structures of domination, control, oppression, and exclusion before and after people leave areas facing climate hazards; how these structures shape the uneven distribution of opportunities to migrate in the first place and under humane conditions; and how they shape chances to preserve well-being. I also attempt to expose mechanisms behind well-being changes of migrants and stayers, and how climate (im)mobilities modify, reduce, reproduce, or reinforce such structural inequalities. In doing so, I refrain from dominant discourses of managing and controlling migrants.

Finally, I also attempt to approach the subjects of inquiry (self-)critically. Producing knowledge is a social practice shaped by politics, power, and by researchers themselves. Evaluating knowledge requires awareness that it is produced by communication, which, in turn, typically occurs in unequal social settings that favor certain narratives. My own values, socialization, and biases can have influenced this research. As a relatively young, male, white academic from the Global North, my socialization is different from that of most interviewees. I interviewed people of all different ages, also much older ones; of different ethnicities and religions; as well as with a different upbringing and socioeconomic situation. While I have studied and lived in Latin America, speak Spanish, and prepared scientifically and culturally for the fieldwork, these differences have shaped interviews, the analysis, and interpretations. I am aware that relationships with the respondents were often unequal. Lastly, while I have tried

³ Critics raise that using these goals as the value base of research results in bias, see Hammersley (2009). I argue that all research is value-laden, even allegedly value-free positivist studies. The latter only do not expose the values that underlie research. Applying values in research always implies judgement, but such judgement calls are justified if research explores and exposes social structures of inequality, as is the case here.

to be as impartial as possible, I acknowledge that all collected data on empirical events linked to concepts like (im)mobilities and well-being are value-laden and do not represent one objective truth.

3.2 Mixed Methods Research Design

After having explained the three outer layers of this research approach, I turn to discuss the concrete choices for the research design and *methods* in the next section. Methods are the procedures and practices chosen to collect and analyze data, as justified by the methodology (Castles 2012).

To study the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities in Peru in this dissertation, I use an ex-post-facto, convergent parallel design with qualitative methods weighted more heavily than quantitative ones (Creswell & Clark 2017). An ex-post design is appropriate here given the absence of experimental options, which could have reduced the influence of unobserved third factors, such as self-selection of migrants (McKenzie et al. 2010; McKenzie & Yang 2010; Stillman et al. 2015). This choice was most realistic for the time and resource horizon of this study and is in line with prior guidance for studies in this research field (Banerjee et al. 2013; Melde et al. 2017; Milan & Gioli 2015). I partially address the lack of experimental setup through method and results triangulation.

The chosen critical realist stance favors mixed methods approaches, which bring several benefits for studying climate (im)mobilities and well-being. Fore-most, social science studies apply mixed methods to use strengths of both qualitative and quantitative strands while reducing their individual limitations (Kelle 2014; Teddlie & Tashakkori 2010). Beyond, mixed methods allow testing whether both components produce convergent results (corroboration); shedding light on respective blind spots (completeness); and raising the integrity of findings (credibility) (Bryman 2006; Kelle 2014; Schoonenboom & Johnson 2017; Tashakkori & Teddlie 2010). These advantages lead eminent scholars like Stephen Castles to argue that "most forms of migration research are likely to require 'mixed-methods approaches'" (2012: 21; Fauser 2018).

In mixed methods designs, qualitative and quantitative strands can be weighted differently and integrated at different points (Kelle 2014; Schoonenboom & Johnson 2017). In this study, I prioritized the qualitative component due to its unique adeptness to assess the meaning of people's climate-related experiences in the social world (Nature Climate Change 2021). For comparability, I conducted the

same qualitative methods in all three large zones of Peru (highlands, rainforest, and coast). Moreover, data and time constraints allowed for one additional quantitative analysis of the Coastal El Niño case. I performed both components concurrently but separately to preserve data independence and triangulation options, and integrated them later through meta-inferences (Tashakkori & Teddlie 2010). This approach is coined convergent parallel or parallel mixed design (Creswell & Clark 2017; Schoonenboom & Johnson 2017). Figure 3.2 provides an overview of the applied research design.



Figure 3.2 Overview of the applied mixed methods design. (Note: Created by the author)

In this paragraph, I briefly outline the applied methods before I explain them in detail below. I started the central qualitative research with a review of the evidence (see chapter 4). Afterwards, I collected data through 81 problem-centered interviews (Witzel & Reiter 2012), one focus group with 12 affected people (Morgan 1999b), and discussions with over 60 experts. Next, I analyzed the data through Qualitative Text Analysis to examine effects, mechanisms, social system dynamics, and structures (Kuckartz & Rädiker 2019). For the parallel quantitative study on the Coastal El Niño, I assessed extensive survey data through regression models. To evaluate differential displacement risk, I used a dataset collected by Peru's National Institute of Statistics and Informatics (INEI)⁴ directly after the disaster with close to 190,000 affected adults spread across all of Peru. Additionally, INEI on request created a customized, merged dataset of that survey and the National Census collected later in the same year, which I analyzed to identify the effects of displacement on well-being.

3.2.1 Qualitative Methods

I mainly used qualitative methods to analyze affected people's narratives on the experienced well-being changes and underlying mechanisms of action. I collected data during several weeks of research in the Peruvian communities of interest during three visits in 2018 and 2019. Another scheduled visit in 2020 to present results and liaise with stakeholders was held virtually due to COVID-19 restrictions. The collected data included (a) problem-centered interviews with 81 (36 m / 45f) migrants and family members to explore their perceptions on hazards and well-being impacts of (im)mobilities (Witzel & Reiter 2012); (b) one focus group with 12 (3 m / 9f) pupils in a sending community to cover an important group underrepresented in the interviews (Vogl 2014); and (c) more than 60 discussions with experts such as policy makers, researchers, and practitioners to gain background insights into structural conditions that shape well-being effects (Gläser & Laudel 2010; Helfferich 2014).

The qualitative strand is case-oriented and uses the comparative method for "rich descriptions of a few instances" of typical cases of villages of departure or immobility and areas of arrival, focusing on "context, complexity and difference" in the chosen cases (Della Porta 2008: 216, 221). The dense knowledge created in this small-N case comparison is useful for discovering well-being effects and mechanisms. While the three cases in Peru are distinctively configured in space and time, the knowledge gained in these in-depth studies can help to build more generalized concepts "that transcend the validity of individual cases" (Della Porta 2008: 206). I explain the site selection below.

⁴ Original Spanish name: Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática (INEI).

3.2.1.1 Site Selection

I collected data from Peru's three major regions to cover the following cases (Figure 3.3):

- (1) Long-distance rural-to-urban migration from two villages in the highlands of the Lima Region and immobility in these areas, influenced by *gradual* glacier recession and rainfall changes;
- (2) short-distance, attempted planned relocation (community-wide migration) of two villages in the rainforest Region of San Martín due to *abrupt* floods, resulting in entrapment and only one eventual relocation; and
- (3) short-distance displacement (*acute*, forced migration) from several villages in the coastal Region of Piura, forced mainly by *abrupt* flooding.



Figure 3.3 The three Regions for the qualitative data collection in Peru. (Note: The map on the left displays Peru's location in Latin America, the one on the right the Regions within Peru where qualitative data was collected. Created by the author using paintmaps.com © and mapchart.net © and edited subsequently)

Figure 3.4 below specifies the distribution of these villages across Peru's three large natural zones.



Figure 3.4 Sites for qualitative data collection across Peru's three large regions. (Note: To protect the respondents, the pins indicate approximate locations only. Created by the author, based on CIA (1970))

I selected the areas of origin of migrants (and the homes of stayers) with a view to match three criteria:

- (1) Rural villages with similar, locally typical subsistence livelihood systems that
- (2) have experienced impacts of *water-related climate hazards* typical for *Peru's three large topographical zones* (highlands, rainforest, and coast), which
- (3) have influenced *(im)mobilities* in forms characteristic for these hazards, but varied across cases, resulting in diverse well-being conditions.

First, I selected areas with livelihoods—and by extension with (im)mobility patterns—susceptible to climate hazards. The chosen villages primarily use ecosystem-based livelihoods and are typically home to smallholder subsistence farmers with low levels of income, education, and health, who tend to be among the groups most vulnerable to climate impacts (Cohn et al. 2017; Donatti et al. 2019; Niles & Salerno 2018). Selecting villages with these similar livelihood features reduced the number of confounding variables and facilitated better insights into well-being mechanisms; nonetheless, even similar villages are never the same and keeping all contextual variables constant is impossible.

Second, I chose home villages of migrants and stayers affected by either gradual or abrupt water-related hazards, which were either directly related to climate change or provided temporal analogs. To begin with, I set the focus on water (and related hazards) because it is one of Peru's adaptation priorities in its Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and National Adaptation Plan (NAP) (GoP 2015; MINAM 2021), while global reviews highlight its role in climate (im)mobilities (Nagabhatla et al.; Wrathall et al. 2018). Next, the ex-post design required to select areas where people could notice physical (for example, glacier retreat) or temporal effects of hazards (for example, changes in rainfall timing) which influence (im)mobilities (Laczko & Aghazarm 2009). I selected three hazard dynamics that the systematic review for this study identified as the most typical influences on (im)mobility patterns in Peru's three large topographical zones: glacier recession (alongside rainfall changes) in the highlands (Sierra); floods in the rainforest (Selva); and El Niño events in the coastal zone (Costa) (Bergmann et al. 2021a; see also reviews in results chapters 5-7). On the one hand, I selected Sierra villages harmed by gradual hazards directly attributable to climate change, namely glacier recession (Seehaus et al. 2019) and changes in the rainfall regime (Heidinger et al. 2018). Studies demonstrate that both such glacier retreat (e.g. Alata et al. 2018; Altamirano Rua 2021; Figueiredo et al. 2019; Heikkinen 2017; Wrathall et al. 2014) and rainfall changes (e.g. Hook & Snyder 2021; Lennox 2015; Milan 2016; Milan & Ho 2014) can alter migration in the Sierra. On the other hand, I chose villages affected by two types of abrupt

hazards for which climate change attribution is not as clear, but which provide temporal analogs for future climate impacts.⁵ To begin with, I selected two Selva villages harmed by floods, which periodically affect (im)mobilities in this region (e.g. Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Langill 2018; List 2016; Sherman et al. 2016). When habitability is threatened, the state has occasionally attempted to relocate entire communities (Bernales 2019; Desmaison et al. 2018; Estrada et al. 2018; Lopez 2018; Pittaluga 2019). While extreme floods have already increased in the Selva (Barichivich et al. 2018; Gloor et al. 2013; Marengo & Espinoza 2016), it remains unclear how much more likely climate change made the specific floods analyzed in this study. Yet, given that extreme floods have increased in this region overall, and climate change is projected to raise them further (Duffy et al. 2015; Langerwisch et al. 2013; Zulkafli et al. 2016), the cases do provide valuable insights into a dynamic with increasing importance. Moreover, I selected sites on the Costa harmed by the 2017 Coastal El Niño (CEN) floods. Peru's coast is periodically affected by severe flooding due to El Niño events (Sanabria et al. 2018), which are among the main drivers of *acute* migration in this zone (Bayer et al. 2014; Ferradas 2015; French & Mechler 2017; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). Climate change made the specific 2017 CEN analyzed here at least 1.5 times more likely (Christidis et al. 2019). Even independently of the exact climate attribution for this event, the analysis of the 2017 CEN sheds light on a type of phenomenon that Peru will face more often due to climate change (Cai et al. 2015; IPCC 2019a; Peng et al. 2019). (Lastly, choosing one case per zone also did justice to Peru's diverse topography and made the findings relevant for national policymakers, who typically think in these boundaries.)

Third, I selected departure and arrival points of diverse spatial and temporal forms of migration to observe varied conditions for well-being changes. Migration was either propelled suddenly (coast and rainforest) or driven over longer time frames (highlands), as shaped by the *abrupt* and *gradual* hazards discussed above. Moreover, I sought to investigate various forms of (im)mobilities along the

⁵ The temporal analog approach is useful to infer possible future impacts of climate change, related (im)mobilities, and well-being implications, see Smit & Wandel (2006). How a system reacts to hazards now can shed light on possible interactions in another time or area for a similarly structured and organized system, see Ford et al. (2010). While systems are never identical and analogs cannot echo future situations perfectly, they can provide a useful empirical starting point and are often employed in research on human dimensions of climate change, see McLeman & Hunter (2010); Sherman et al. (2015). The specific conditions for climate impacts in selected sites provide overarching insights for similar localities that can expect to see more frequent and severe hazards of the same type, see Berrang-Ford et al. (2011). Therefore, notwithstanding causal attribution to climate change, the analogs can provide insights for the future.

spectrum of more voluntary (some cases from the highlands) and forced instances (highlands, coast, and rainforest). I also chose (im)mobilities involving different numbers of people, from individuals to households (highlands and some coastal cases) and entire communities (coast and rainforest). These choices intended to satisfy quality criteria for case selections (Gerring & Cojocaru 2016; Seawright & Gerring 2008).⁶

The local partners facilitating the selection of cases included the Mountain Institute for the highlands; San Martín's Regional Office of Security and National Defense and the Peruvian National Center for Disaster Risk Estimation, Prevention and Reduction (CENEPRED) for the rainforest cases; as well as Caritas and the student group CIMA at the University of Piura for the coast.⁷ Gaining access to the research sites and subjects is a key task of empirical research, and these partners allowed me to enter the villages together with local experts who had known the respondents for years. This approach is common in studies on hard-to-reach migrant populations (Bloch 2007; Ho & Milan 2012). Once the sites were determined, sampling and interviewing followed to gather the qualitative data.

3.2.1.2 Data Collection

The analytical units were individual migrants and members of migrant households who either accompanied these migrants or stayed at home (stayers). I targeted the heads of migrant households, and occasionally additional household members like spouses, to gain insights into their experiences related to hazards, (im)mobilities, and well-being. For families of migrant members who had moved away, I attempted to interview the new head of household in the village of origin.

I used non-probabilistic, iterative sampling orientated at contrasts, which some authors coin as *theoretical sampling*. I selected this strategy to systematically

⁶ For *comparability*, I only selected rural agrarian villages with mainly poor subsistence farmers as sending communities. To ensure *plentitude*, I visited at least two areas per region and several villages in each region. To guarantee sufficient *variation*, I selected a range of values for the variables of interest, namely various forms of (im)mobilities leading to diverse conditions for well-being changes. For *independence*, I chose villages across Peru's three large areas that are spatially and socioeconomically distinct. To raise *representativeness*, I discussed the case selection with local experts in ministries, academia, and civil society so that they would reflect properties of a larger number of cases. These discussions also served to do justice to the *boundedness* criterion.

⁷ I reiterate my deep gratefulness to these partners. Their original Spanish names are: *Instituto de Montaña*; Oficina Regional de Seguridad y Defensa Nacional de San Martín; and Centro Nacional de Estimación, Prevención y Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres; Cima (Grupo de Formación en Ciencias del Medio Ambiente) de la Universidad de Piura.

contrast cases and reveal themes, connections, and divergences; to compare the mechanisms which express themselves in the different cases; and to illustrate the diversity of well-being constellations, similar as in grounded theory (Corbin & Strauss 2014; Przyborski & Wolhrab-Sahr 2014; Strübing 2014).⁸ After interviews, I iteratively read through notes to find incipient patterns and themes around well-being effects and mechanisms, which guided the selection of new interviewees until returns of further interviews diminished and saturation was reached, which was the case after 81 interviews.⁹ The sampling differed slightly in the three cases. Migrants from the villages in the Selva and Costa moved in large clusters and over short distances, so that they could be readily tracked in destinations. Accompanied by local partners, I spent several days in these sites and went from home to home to select and interview migrants until saturation was reached. By contrast, sampling longer-distance migrants from the Sierra required two steps. I started by interviewing households in the Andean home villages affected by hazards, and then used snowball (or chain referral) sampling to trace migrants in urban areas.¹⁰ Regarding destinations, I focused on Junín's Regional capital Huancayo and the national capital Lima for two reasons. First, interviewees in the villages observed that these were the main destinations. Second, both cities featured migrant hometown associations from the Province of origin, which organized events that offered chances to meet migrants. I conducted all interviews in Spanish without interpreters. As all inhabitants in the study areas spoke Spanish, no exclusions due to language had to be made.

For conducting the interviews, techniques with varying premises exist (Hopf 2015; Lamnek & Krell 2016). Broadly speaking, they are either like *structured*

⁸ Such sampling does not aim to saturate existing categories (such as age or gender, as in *selective sampling*), but rather to select cases that shed light on the key topics for the research questions, see (Witzel & Reiter (2012). Thus, I recruited participants with varied well-being paths or with similar outcomes despite dissimilar conditions.

⁹ Some authors argue that one interview can be enough, others indicate that saturation can be reached after six to twelve interviews, or between 20 and 50 interviews, see Baker et al. (2012); Guest et al. (2006); Guest et al. (2017).

¹⁰ In snowball sampling, initial respondents refer researchers to others with similar backgrounds in their networks, see Biernacki & Waldorf (1981); Sadler et al. (2010). After identifying and interviewing migrant households in the villages of origin, I asked whether they could connect me with the absent relatives and other migrants. I repeated this step until saturation was reached for the family interviews and sufficient contacts to urban migrant were identified. In the next step, I contacted and visited the migrants in the cities for interviews, and asked each one of them for additional contacts to migrants from their villages until saturation was reached.

mining for information or *narrative travelling* (Kvale & Brinkmann 2009: 48–50).¹¹ I decided that combining structured and narrative interviewing served the research interest here best for two reasons. First, it puts researchers in an active position so they can use scientific research knowledge to structure key topics in the interview. Yet, second, it does not limit the proper local perspectives of respondents or impede the chance of discovering novel aspects. To this end, I used elements of the problem-centered method (Kurz et al. 2000; Witzel & Reiter 2012),¹² which brings together the knowledge of the researcher and respondents in a dialogue. Interviewees are competent (but partially biased) insider experts of their lives. Researchers enter as well-informed travelers with scientific knowledge to openly learn, and at once, to assist in reconstructing the meaning of the insider knowledge regarding the research interests.

Accordingly, a prerequisite for this research was compiling information on the interviewee's living conditions. I had gathered this knowledge in a preliminary sensitizing framework that defined the direction of interest and initial priorities. Later, during the interviews, I assessed and situated new empirical observations by continuously mentally referring to this knowledge. Based on the framework, I developed a topical guide with a road map of key interview topics (Figure 3.5 and Electronic Supplementary Material). The guide provided structure and enabled me to re-center on the research interest during interviews, although the relevance and sequence of topics depended on respondents' accounts and the guide was adjusted to new data received. In this way, the guide also ensured comparability across interviews by establishing similar topical complexes in each dialogue.

¹¹ *Mining* allows searching for specific information through pre-defined interests and standardized questions. Yet, it provides limited opportunities to discover new or unanticipated aspects, and changing prearranged criteria is difficult. By contrast, *travelling* is like open wandering in the interviewee's experiences. This form facilitates an unprejudiced view of how interviewees construct their subjectivity, but is less goal-orientated, and can require substantive time and resources.

¹² The German term *Problem* underscores the focus on a societal issue with practical relevance for the respondent, in this case, the impacts of (im)mobilities (the *Problemstellung*). *Centering* means that researcher and respondent jointly establish a focus on the research subject of interest. See Witzel & Reiter (2012).



Figure 3.5 Topical guide and topical complexes. (Note: Created by the author)

Conducting the interview proceeded in several stages (Witzel & Reiter 2012). Bearing in mind that the questions were personal and partially sensitive, I left it to the respondents to decide on a setting in which they felt most comfortable to speak (and which still permitted decent recording). Often, we spoke at their homes but when outside, I asked to talk at a small distance from other people (Figure 3.6). Afterwards, a warming up phase with informal conversations with respondents followed to build a relationship. Then, I briefly explained the research project and answered initial questions. Afterwards, I provided an introductory explanation for the interview, including ethical and data protection information as well as a request for permission to record (see Electronic Supplementary Material). Opening questions followed to facilitate narrative accounts by the respondents; they prompted interviewes to tell me the story of how their lives and well-being had changed since they had migrated or stayed. These narrative accounts provided cues for the follow-up conversation on well-being effects

and their causes. Next, I asked follow-up questions to encourage additional narrative accounts and to stimulate self-reflection, sporadically providing imaginative prompts or pre-interpretations. I also used strategies to improve understanding where suitable. When topics from the topical guide were omitted, I asked ad-hoc questions on them, usually toward the end. Closing the interview involved various steps. First, I collected data on age, gender, livelihoods, occupation, and other factors to compare profiles. The recordings stopped here. Second, I debriefed respondents and thanked them for the insights shared. I invited final questions or thoughts and provided information on how to contact me. Third, after leaving the interview site, I wrote postscripts that captured key information for selfdebriefing, as sketches of the interviews with first interpretations and cues that would later support the analysis of the data.



Figure 3.6 Photo of an interview with an affected farmer. (Note: Photo taken by colleagues from the *Mountain Institute*)

Besides individual interviews, I convened one focus group with adolescents, as they were previously underrepresented in the data (Figure 3.7). This method brings together people from a target group to engage in a moderated discussion and interaction, which provides different types of insights than individual interviews (Krueger & King 1999; Morgan 1999b). Twelve pupils (3 m / 9f) aged 14 to 16 years old participated. The sampling was purposive: through local partners

in the school, pupils in the final classes before graduating from school—and thus facing the decision whether to stay or migrate—were invited. Questions followed the topical guide for the interviews in a discreetly structured approach. I allowed participants to open their own directions but also applied moderation tools to refocus group dynamics on the research interests. To this end, I used a funnel approach, moving from initially broader, open-ended questions encouraging narration to the central topics, and finally, to specific questions on the research interests (Krueger 1999; Morgan 1999a).



Figure 3.7 Photo of the focus group with pupils in a study site in the highlands. (Note: Photo by the author)

The charts in Figure 3.8 below summarize key data of the 93 affected people. The tables in the respective results chapters 5–7 provide information disaggregated by regions. They illustrate that while most interviewees were at working age, I also covered younger and older groups. Women are slightly overrepresented in the data. While most respondents were mestizo, I was able to sample one indigenous village. Primarily, most interviewees worked in agriculture, and almost all households were agricultural. Finally, across Peru's three large zones, I interviewed similar shares of migrants, displaced persons, relocatees and those trapped but aspiring to relocate, as well as other stayers.



Figure 3.8 Qualitative data profiles of 93 affected people. (Note: The graphs illustrate the profiles of 81 interviewees and 12 focus group participants. Created by the author)

I also conducted discussions with experts for background context on the larger structural factors and processes behind the well-being effects of (im)mobilities in Peru. I identified the experts through desk research and referral from authorities, civil society, and international organizations working on related topics. They included experts at higher state levels, such as staff in national ministries, and at the local level, such as village heads. In total, I discussed with more than 60 policy makers, officials, practitioners, academics, and activists working in diverse entities (Figure 3.9).

Discussions with experts are not a method as such; rather, they are defined by the target group of respondents, namely experts (or key informant), and their special knowledge, position, and access to information about climate change, (im)mobilities, and well-being (Witzel & Reiter 2012). While the interviews with affected people aimed at distilling their subjectivity, discussions with experts



Figure 3.9 Experts consulted across administrative scales and fields of expertise. (Note: Boxes colored beige indicate discussions with experts from the *Costa*, gray from the *Sierra*, and green from the *Selva*. V1 and V2 = village 1 and village 2 in the *Sierra*; H and L = Huancayo and Lima; V3 and V4 = village 3 and 4 in the *Selva*; LP and UP = Lower and Upper Piura on the *Costa*. Created by the author)

intended to find more neutral views on the effects of (im)mobilities held by people who are not research objects themselves (Bogner & Menz 2009; Gläser & Laudel 2010; Helfferich 2014).¹³ To this end, I used elements of the problemcentered method (Witzel & Reiter 2012).¹⁴ These discussions fed into the analysis via field notes taken and were not recorded or transcribed.

3.2.1.3 Transcription and Text Analysis

The next step for analyzing the information contained in the recorded interviews with affected people was transcribing them into text. Transcription is an integral part of qualitative analysis processes because it requires selective decisions that imply a first sampling and analysis of the oral material, and results in interpretive constructions (Davidson 2009; Kvale 2007; Sandelowski 1994; Wellard & McKenna 2001). To guarantee careful transcription, the EPICC project at PIK hired a Peruvian student assistant who typed the Spanish transcriptions manually. I provided the assistant with detailed notation, confidentiality, and data protection instructions as well as information on the study purpose, as recommended by the literature (Stuckey 2014; Wellard & McKenna 2001). The transcriptions are based on intelligent verbatim guidelines, with cues of some nonverbal behavior, an approach which can increase reliability, dependability, and trustworthiness of the results (Easton et al. 2000; Stuckey 2014). In this way, the assistant only discreetly adjusted information for readability, without changing the core of what was said. Finally, the assistant proofread all transcripts and I checked and listened to some of the transcribed tapes for quality control (MacLean et al. 2004). After transcription, I deleted any data that could identify the interviewee, such as names, workplaces, and specific positions (Stuckey 2014). The transcription guidelines are in the Electronic Supplementary Material.

Amon the many approaches used for analyzing qualitative data (Flick 2009; Gläser & Laudel 2010; Mayring 2014), I selected thematic and evaluative Qualitative Text Analysis (QTA) after Kuckartz (2010, 2014b; Kuckartz & Rädiker 2019) as the central method for analyzing the transcribed interviews in this dissertation. Thematic (or content-related) analysis enables "identifying, systematizing, and analyzing topics and subtopics and how they are related", while evaluative analysis is about "assessing, classifying, and evaluating content" (Kuckartz 2014b:

¹³ Nevertheless, expert knowledge is also formed by personal experiences, aspirations, and socialization.

¹⁴ The method stipulates that discussions with experts require significant prior knowledge so that the researcher can structure the conversation and reconstruct knowledge. Researchers thus become co-experts, but still aim for a dialogue with narrations and moderately re-center on the research interests along the topical guide.

68). I used this combination to understand factual changes in well-being as well as underlying processes.¹⁵ The QTA followed a five-step approach with reference to the research questions (Kuckartz 2014b) (Figure 3.10).

Using MaxQDA software, first I added several variables to the cases for comparative analysis later (age; gender; interview site; occupations; and (im)mobility status). Then, I systematically read entire interviews with a view to *understanding* their meanings for the research questions (Kuckartz 2014b).

Afterwards, I created a combination of thematic and evaluative categories in a mixed, concept- and data-driven approach.¹⁶ In a first step, I derived conceptdriven, thematic and evaluative categories and sub-categories from the research questions, central concepts, theories, and topical guide in this study. For example, for categories on objective well-being, I adjusted and extended previous findings from ressearch with deprived groups in Peru (Copestake 2008c) (see section 2.3). Initial categories also evolved from the topical interview guide, for example, on migration capabilities, aspirations, and drivers. The coding started with these categories. Second, while coding the first 30% of all interviews, I added new, data-driven categories using a subsumption strategy (Kuckartz 2014b; Mayring 2010): I probed all text step by step to find new topics around the research questions. Then I subsumed aspects already covered by existing categories under those. Finally, I created new (sub-)categories for new aspects. For evaluative categories (such as well-being changes in health), I defined three ordinal levels: positive/improving, neutral, or negative/deteriorating. While coding the first 30% of the material, I also adjusted the concept-driven categories as needed. Third, I compiled all text segments for each category, developed category definitions and anchor examples (and differentiation from other codes, where needed), and fixed the category system. Finally, I used this system to code the whole material. The category system is detailed in the Electronic Supplementary Material.

¹⁵ Beyond, I also explored the use of fine structure and system analyses for a deeper level of understanding, see Froschauer & Lueger (2003). However, the preconceived ideas of the German discussants and their social conditions (foreign, white, academic, wealthy, researchers) were too different from the Peruvian context. To apply this method, the original Spanish texts would have also required a translation into English or German that would have further blurred words and meanings.

¹⁶ Categories (sometimes labelled *codes*) in social research are "a term, a heading, a label that designates something similar under certain aspects", see Kuckartz & Rädiker (2019: 184). They depict commonalities. As umbrella terms, they are based on criteria that allow subsuming common features to lower complexity and sort information on research interests. They are the central analytical tool in QTA, which "stands or falls by its categories", see Berelson (1952: 147). All categories together form the *category system*.



Figure 3.10 The analytical process of Qualitative Text Analysis. (Note: Reproduced and edited by the author, based on Kuckartz (2014b: 40))

Subsequently, I used three tools to analyze the data based on these categories (Kuckartz 2014b; Kuckartz & Rädiker 2019). First, I focused on *topics and sub-topics*, analyzing each main category regarding what was discussed and what was omitted or evaded, as well as what tendencies and singularities emerged across cases. I thereby aimed to account for the criticism that QTA tends to overstress frequently mentioned topics, reproduce mainstream and dominant narratives, and

suppress or deny other contents and their absence (George 1959). Second, I examined *relationships between* main *categories* and their sub-categories. For example, I analyzed how well-being components within the category *development from a secure base* (livelihoods, education, health and food security) related to each other, and also how this main category related to the other three main categories. Third, I examined *trends across groups*, for example by comparing views of people engaging in varied types of (im)mobilities, driven by either *abrupt* or *gradual* hazards. Building on these tools, I drew conclusions on the research questions and identified new questions arising from the analysis.

3.2.1.4 Ethical Considerations and Data Protection

Research with human subjects must address ethical challenges (Friedrichs 2014), especially when asking migrants or stayers, some of whom in vulnerable situations, about sensitive topics (van Iiempt & Bilger 2012). Ethics require taking responsibility for the researchers' actions as well as providing accountability and redress options (Dench et al. 2004). The principle of "do no harm" is key for qualitative studies, which imply personal and little standardized interactions. Guidelines and regulations commonly highlight the Belmont principles.¹⁷ The German Professional Association of Sociologists and the American Sociological Association share similar criteria (Friedrichs 2014).

To comply with these standards, I asked respondents for their written informed consent to participate in interviews (see Electronic Supplementary Material).¹⁸ Further, I explained which information would be collected and how it would be used. I also detailed the research procedures and products as well as related potential benefits and risks. As migration research often influences real policies, scholars need to be aware of possible impacts on their respondents and reflect on which data truly needs to be collected (van Iiempt & Bilger 2012).¹⁹ Next, prior to the interviews, I explained that confidential information would be treated as

¹⁷ Respect for human dignity, justice, and beneficence, which are to be fulfilled through four strategies: "informed consent, non-deception, privacy and confidentiality, and accuracy", see Christians (2005: 144).

¹⁸ Receiving *genuine* consent from respondents who are in vulnerable situations can be challenging, as they may consent due to power dynamics, see Mackenzie et al. (2007). Therefore, I stressed that participation was voluntary, and that refusal to participate or to answer specific questions would not result in negative consequences.

¹⁹ Although I strived to understand possible risks for the respondents, I recognize that I am an outsider without full knowledge of their social circumstances and cannot rule out all negative impacts.

such, and that the data would not be used in ways that could compromise respondents. I stressed that I would never reveal people's clear names or the names of their hometowns, and since I interviewed respondents from small settlements, I carefully assessed if they could be identified despite the deletion of these names. In the analysis, I use a numbering system (for example, V1-4 for respondent 4 from village 1) and broad categories (such as age group) to refer to interviewees. Then, I asked for written permission to record, transcribe, and use the information academically. Finally, I restricted access to recordings and transcripts to myself and the student hired for transcription, under strict data protection policies. Focus groups require equal attention to ethical principles (Morgan 1999b), especially as the one conducted here was with adolescents.²⁰ One overarching ethical challenge in the qualitative part was dealing with inequalities in the relationship with the interviewees (Lammers 2007). I, as a foreign, privileged researcher, met people in often-vulnerable situations in which power relations, hierarchies, and strong socio-economic differences were salient. I attempted to be aware of these factors to avoid that people participated against their will, for example, due to social pressure or fear of negative consequences, and bearing in mind that there might be personal reasons to participate (Glazer 1982). I emphasized that the interviews had academic character and would not entail financial compensation, which was key as many deprived respondents hoped for support.²¹ Ethical considerations also applied to the time after collecting the qualitative data. (Most

²⁰ I highlighted voluntary participation and the right to refuse to answer questions, assured confidentiality, and informed participants that what they said would never be quoted with their names. Participants were free to take breaks or leave at any point. Especially when discussing potentially sensitive or stressful aspects, I set limits for the discussion and tried to avoid over-disclosure by participants which they might regret later, or which might expose them.

²¹ In some cases, respondents still approached me for non-financial help. No official guidelines exist on adequate reactions to such requests, and according to van Iiempt and Bilger, they constitute "an ethical challenge that is open for debate and strongly influenced by one's personal views" (2012: 461). In the critical realist view taken here, practical help and advocacy were desirable whenever feasible without compromising the research quality, if respondents explicitly requested and agreed to such non-financial support. Interviewing requires building trustworthy relationships and a reciprocal process of giving and receiving, and research with people in vulnerable positions must go beyond doing no harm toward reciprocal benefits: "when a human being is in need and the researcher is in a position to respond to that need, non-intervention in the name of 'objective' research is unethical", see Mackenzie et al. (2007: 316). In my view, researchers are often well-positioned and may even have a duty to speak on behalf of their respondents if the latter lack voice to speak for themselves.

of these considerations also applied to the quantitative strand discussed further below).²²

3.2.1.5 Limitations

The research design offered various strengths—which are discussed in the conclusions (chapter 9)—but also implied limitations. First, the site selection was strongly shaped by what local partners suggested as accessible locations. Although I chose sites representing diverse conditions, partners did not propose areas that would be too dangerous for an outsider. Thus, the study might not cover well-being processes of people in insecure vicinities. I attempted to compensate for this possible limitation through discussions with experts and the quantitative strand, which provides data for all settings.

Second, not all migrants of interest could be sampled and interviewed. For example, men, adolescents, and older adults are underrepresented in the data, and I did not interview children due to ethical concerns. In particular, the snowballing technique applied for tracing migrants from the Sierra might have created biases and blind spots (Jacobsen & Landau 2003). People without close contacts in their villages of origin were possibly not reached and respondents' personal situations might have further shaped the reach. For example, some migrants may have declined interviews as they were either ashamed of their situations or doing so well that they did not care to spend time with an outsider. In addition, not all migrants came to hometown association meetings where most interviews took place, some possibly because they lacked money for the necessary travel or time due to their hard work. Nevertheless, snowballing was the most robust option available for the set-up of this study and built upon prior studies in this field (Koubi et al. 2016; Laczko & Aghazarm 2009). In research with hard-to-reach populations, accurate sampling frames tend to be unavailable or too expensive to create, as was the case here (Bloch 2007). In such cases, chain referral through

²² Storing and cleaning the data from the fieldwork involved a strict protocol for data protection, such as encrypted storage in a separate virtual partition with password protection and saving identifying information separately from files with substantive responses. The student assistant hired for transcription signed a contract with strict data protection requirements. When analyzing data and formulating interpretations, I considered potential risks and benefits for the respondents, especially when dealing with inconsistencies in the primary data, for example, what respondents revealed and what they seemed to adapt, distort, or conceal, see van liempt & Bilger (2012). Before disseminating the findings through this dissertation and other publications, I took care to review how the outputs could affect respondents first. Finally, since affected people shared their time and information with me, I also attempted to share the results of this study with them in reciprocity. However, since COVID-19 made traveling to Peru difficult, I could not share the results directly on-site as originally planned.
intermediaries, service providers, and local organizations—such as the migrant hometown associations here—is common. In addition, as the new respondents often have friendly and trusted ties with the chain referrers, such sampling can build more motivation and higher response rates among otherwise hard-to-reach groups than other methods (Bloch 2007; Faugier & Sargeant 1997). Building such access and personal relationships is key for interviewing people who may be otherwise reluctant to participate and allows for an efficient use of time and resources (Atkinson & Flint 2001; Heckathorn 2002; Rodgers 2004).

Third, in some cases it was not possible to follow through with the interview techniques suggested by the problem-centered method. Respondents were often on the move or occupied, so that conversational instead of overly formalized approaches were required. Moreover, many respondents did not provide long narrative accounts in response to opening questions or further prompts, which led to some situations where question-response schemes prevailed. In addition, as interviews mostly took place in places familiar for respondents, occasion-ally, more people joined in and created small group discussions. These additional accounts often opened new views, but occasionally, they also changed the conversation dynamics. In such situations, social desirability, hierarchies, and fear of over-disclosure may have shaped the main respondents' answers (Reczek 2014).

Third, I initially had envisaged more focus groups, yet time, resource, and later COVID-19 constraints impeded this goal. The focus group in the *Sierra* provided valuable insights and might have been usefully replicated in other settings to explore narratives of other specific groups. For example, distilling female group views would have been interesting to contrast male narratives, since gender aspects are often salient in rural areas in Peru (Milan 2016). However, with around 60% of the interviewees being women, female views are still duly accounted for. Valuable insights could also have been gained through additional focus groups with members of receiving communities or with groups divided between migrants faring better and those faring worse in destinations. I accounted for this change in plans by considering results across varied sub-groups of respondents in the analysis.

Fourth, Qualitative Text Analysis also implied certain limitations. To start with, additional coders or reviewers could have increased the reliability and quality of the category system (Kuckartz & Rädiker 2019) but were not available due to resource constraints. Beyond, QTA alone may not pierce through the surface of all interview content (Rosenthal 2018), and as a code-based analysis, it risks detaching text from the original context (Hitzler & Honer 1997). I countered this constraint by accounting for the sequential structure and *Gestalt* of key cases, which raised the understanding of the meaning of the texts and their contexts

(Hopf 1995; Hopf & Hopf 1997; Hopf & Schmidt 1993). Finally, because I met several experts in the context of work trips for the EPICC project at PIK, some of the discussions were infused with discussions around project needs and results, which occasionally conflicted with a structured interview approach. For this reason and due to time and resource constraints, these discussions with experts were not recorded or transcribed; rather, I used notes taken from the conversations with experts mostly as contextual information for the analysis.

Lastly, while several features of the study design raised the validity of results-including in-depth interviews with affected people and triangulation with experts-findings should still be read with two limitations in mind. First, the cross-sectional data may mask longer-term changes in OWB and SWB or lagged interactions. Intergenerational and life-course views would provide additional value for time-dependent effects (Dustmann & Glitz 2011; Singh et al. 2019) and longitudinal data could provide supplementary insights (KNOMAD 2015). For example, the lack of long-term data impeded an evaluation of possible longterm, positive side-effects of the 2017 CEN on the Costa (such as more pasture, planting areas, and forests, which were witnessed in prior events (Sperling et al. 2008)), which could influence people's well-being. Finally, for the Selva and *Costa* cases, limits of temporal analogs must be kept in mind, so that the results of this study may be transferable to a large degree to future El Niño events or rainforest floods, but not fully (Berrang-Ford et al. 2011; Ford et al. 2010). As just one example, governance strongly shapes the emergence of disasters (e.g. Ahrens & Rudolph 2006; UNDRR 2020) and strongly affected the well-being effects for displaced persons and relocatees in this study; however, it remains unclear how Peruvian institutions, policies, and governance may change in the future, and how these changes would affect well-being outcomes in turn.

3.2.2 Quantitative Methods

This section explains the data and methods used in the statistical analyses to study differential displacement risk and the effects of displacement on people's wellbeing after the Coastal El Niño (CEN) floods in March 2017. I give additional details in the full empirical case study in chapter 7.

3.2.2.1 Data

The quantitative analyses make use of two datasets compiled by INEI. First, INEI collected data from households and public buildings in areas affected by the CEN through a survey conducted between mid-April and end of April 2017. Through

this "CEN Survey"²³, it aimed to improve the understanding of damages and the characteristics of affected people, their dwellings, and public infrastructure. To gather the data, INEI asked local authorities in the 892 districts declared in a state of emergency due to the CEN (Table 3.1) to identify all affected rural villages as well as the affected blocks in urban areas, in which enumerators then recorded data from all heads of households and information about all public buildings (INEI 2017a, 2017c).²⁴ Altogether, the CEN Survey registered 398,148 persons in 199,938 dwellings and 2,615 public buildings. This analysis focuses on the 186,437 adult respondents whose homes where directly affected and experienced at least minor damages.²⁵ The extensive CEN Survey provides a first valuable data point about the most affected areas in Peru shortly after the main floods had affected Peru in March 2017.

Region	Number of affected districts	Region (continued)	Number of affected districts (continued)
Áncash	166	Lambayeque	38
Lima	148	Ica	33
Cajamarca	127	Tumbes	13
La Libertad	83	Huánuco	2
Piura	65	Moquegua	1
Huancavelica	61	Junín	1
Ayacucho	53	Cusco	1
Arequipa	52	Madre de Dios	1
Loreto	47		

Table 3.1 Areas for data collection in the CEN Survey

Note: Data were collected in 892 districts declared in a state of emergency during the 2017 CEN. Reproduced from INEI (2017c: 4).

²³ Census of Population, Housing, and Public Infrastructure Affected by El Niño Costero 2017, original Spanish name: *Censo de Población, Vivienda e Infraestructura Pública Afectadas por El Niño Costero 2017.*

²⁴ For more technical details regarding sampling and enumeration, refer to INEI (2017c).

²⁵ The analysis excludes children below 18 years to avoid double counting and because the survey did not contain relevant data for them on key well-being items, such as employment.

The second dataset is the Peruvian National Census 2017 (INEI 2018c),²⁶ which was by chance enumerated seven months after the CEN disaster and thus six months after the CEN Survey. To support this research, INEI searched for the 398,148 respondents of the CEN Survey of April 2017 among the 29.4 million entries of the National Census collected on the 22nd October 2017 (INEI 2018c).²⁷ INEI found 342,009 CEN respondents in the Census (87.2%), whereas 49,933 persons (12.7%) could not be cross identified. The well-being analysis here focuses on the 186,437 adult CEN Survey respondents with affected homes, of whom 164,084 (88%) could and 22,353 (12%) could not be cross-identified in the National Census data. This attrition could be due to various reasons. For example, persons surveyed in the CEN could have passed away, moved abroad, lived in areas that could not be surveyed, or refused to cooperate in the enumeration. However, because the differences between the identified and non-identified groups are not large, they should not lead to a strong systematic attrition bias in the analyses. The summary statistics for the CEN Survey respondents with homes affected by the disaster demonstrate that the respondents who could not be identified in the National Census did not differ substantially from the cross-identified population regarding key social factors (Table 3.2). The two groups had almost identical rates of secondary education, civil status, and disabilities. In the group cross-identified in the Census, approximately five percentage points less respondents lived in small rural villages and around five percentage points more were unemployed or female compared to the non-matched group.

²⁶ Original Spanish name: Censos Nacionales 2017: XII de Población, VII de Vivienday III de Comunidades Indígenas.

²⁷ I would like to reiterate my gratitude to the colleagues at INEI for supporting this research. They first cleaned the CEN Survey data and removed entries without information on surnames, which left 391,942 records. Afterwards, it identified the CEN Survey respondents in the Census based on identical names, surnames, dates of birth, sex, districts of residence, and identity document numbers through a deterministic linking application in SQL Server. Entries with a similarity of more than 85% were selected. INEI then tracked further cases through probabilistic linking with names, surnames, and similar ages, as well as through visual review. Duplicates were removed.

Variable	N	Mean	Median	SD	Min	Max
CEN Survey respo	ondents cross	-identified	in the Natior	nal Census		·
Age	164,084	44.005	41	17.74	18	99
Female	164,084	.527	1	.499	0	1
Disability	164,084	.085	0	.279	0	1
Secondary education	164,084	.513	1	.5	0	1
In partnership	163,243	.403	0	.49	0	1
Living in small rural village	164,084	.233	0	.423	0	1
Unemployed	163,433	.496	0	.5	0	1

Table 3.2 Summary statistics on CEN Survey respondents cross-identified in the National Census and those not re-identified

CEN Survey respondents not identified again in the National Census

Age	22,353	43.434	39	20.161	18	99
Female	22,353	.466	0	.499	0	1
Disability	22,353	.092	0	.289	0	1
Secondary education	22,353	.523	1	.499	0	1
In partnership	22,175	.37	0	.483	0	1
Living in small rural village	22,353	.286	0	.452	0	1
Unemployed	21,985	.452	0	.498	0	1

Note: For all variables but age, 0 = no and 1 = yes. The comparison considers only affected, adult household members.

3.2.2.2 Regression Models

These datasets were then used to analyze the research questions explained above through several regression models. The first analysis estimated how different environmental, socioeconomic, and demographic factors influenced the displacement risk of the households. Because the outcome is binary coded, the estimation was completed with logistic regression models. Model 1 considered only the influence of exogenous environmental factors, such as topographical and rainfall data.²⁸

²⁸ The rainfall data was drawn from the MERRA-2 dataset, which is based on GPM satellite data and provided by NASA. Riccardo Biella helped with the data extraction and resampling to a 1 km resolution using bilinear interpolation. The topographical data (maximum elevation

This baseline model was then gradually extended by including further information on household composition and demographic characteristics (model 2) as well as on livelihood factors and wealth (model 3). I detail the model parameters in the empirical section 7.3.

The second analysis centered on how displacement affected people's wellbeing. It started by comparing the well-being of the displaced households to those whose houses were affected but who could remain at home directly after the disaster, based on summary statistics of the CEN Survey. Because this exceptional sample covers close to the full affected population, summary statistics render robust results on people's well-being outcomes. Then, five linear regression models were specified to explore the impact of the displacement on well-being seven months after the CEN under control of a broad set of environmental, demographic, and socioeconomic variables. The sample in this part of the analysis were the affected adult CEN Survey respondents who could be tracked in the National Census. To understand the displacement effects, a well-being index based on indicators available in the data was built, mainly using items for a space to live better and, to some degree, items for development from a secure base (see section 7.3 for details). The impacts on well-being were then analyzed through various models. Baseline model 1 comprised displacement as the only parameter. The next models added gradually more control variables for environmental factors (model 2), household composition and demographics (model 3), livelihood characteristics and wealth (model 4), and individual characteristics (model 5). The models thereby control for the potential non-randomness of the displacement risk. People do not randomly migrate or flee but factors such as age, sex, and well-being can systematically shape the probability of movement (Aksoy & Poutvaara 2021; Borjas et al. 1992; Kaestner & Malamud 2014). The controls are needed since the observed well-being outcomes might therefore not be due to the displacement itself, but due to pre-movement factors that made displacement more likely in the first place.

3.2.2.3 Limitations

The quantitative work allowed for a novel analysis of differential displacement risk and well-being impacts in an extensive sample of affected people from all of Peru. Thereby, the work complemented the in-depth qualitative analysis of wellbeing effects and mechanisms in coastal Piura usefully. Despite generating this added value, the results should be read with the following limitations in mind.

and elevation range in the districts as well as average distance to inland water bodies) were distilled from the GTOPO30 digital elevation model, which has a 30 arcsec resolution.

First, because data was not available for all parameters, the analyses operated with a subsample of the respondents (see section 7.3). Data was not consistently enlisted for those households whose homes had remained *unaffected* by the disaster. Therefore, the analyses focused on the respondents who had indicated that the disaster had *affected* their houses negatively, and for whom data was available. The differences in displacement risk and well-being might be even larger if compared to the unaffected. In addition, as the study excludes respondents below 18 years to avoid double counting and due to missing data, it allows insights into children's situation by extension only.

Second, because the CEN Survey did not contain an explicit question on displacement status, the analysis is based on proxies that may be noisy. The assumption that uninhabitable homes equaled displacement (see section 7.3) is a plausible basis for the analysis. However, people with intact homes could still have fled, for example, because they were afraid of the disaster, had lost their livelihoods or health, or complied with the issued early warnings. Conversely, respondents whose homes were destroyed could still have decided to remain in place. Additionally, while the data on habitability allowed to infer that people were displaced one month after the CEN, information was missing if they had returned or remained in displacement due to the event seven months later.

Third, a possible attrition bias must be discussed for the well-being analysis because 12% of the subsample of interest was lost when merging the surveys. The remaining sample is still large, but if the attrition is not random, then the differences between the dropped-out and the remaining respondents could introduce a bias into the results and decrease the internal validity of the study (the identified relationships between variables). Yet, the summary statistics document that the differences between the remaining and the dropped-out respondents are marginal (Table 3.2). Additionally, the attrition affects the external validity less (the generalizability to the original population) as the sample still includes almost the entire possible population of the Peruvian households affected by the CEN.

Fourth, the surveys collected by INEI could not reflect the full range of well-being indicators of interest in this dissertation (see framework developed in section 2.3). Primarily, the data did not contain indicators on *social related-ness* and *subjective well-being*. While more data was available for the components *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better*, information was missing for several key subitems of these components, such as education or physical security. Therefore, the quantitative well-being analysis offers a robust indication of the life situations of a large group of affected people, but the scope of well-being which could be analyzed was limited. The qualitative analysis was a critical complement to understand the broader range of well-being changes of interest.

Fifth, there might be additional, district- or community-level factors that this analysis could not control for, but which could have influenced the well-being results. Examples include the quality of community networks and support, social participation, neighborhood infrastructure, local leadership and governance, and resource equity (Berkes & Ross 2013; Koliou et al. 2018). While the statistical analysis could not rule out indirect effects through these factors, the qualitative analysis partially compensates for this lack of data and offers insights into some of the possible influences.

Finally, the survey data offered two data points for up to seven months after the CEN, but neither allowed for insights into people's gradual development of well-being nor into the outcomes over the long term. Given that many persons displaced by the CEN have remained in prolonged displacement (AFP 2021; IOM 2017c, 2018), it would have been interesting to see how different groups have recuperated over time, and which factors have aided or impeded recovery. The qualitative data collected one year after the Census helped to discern some of these longer-term phenomena.

Despite these limitations, the analyses of the secondary quantitative data provide extensive information on the differential displacement risk and well-being of a large group of affected people across the entire country, which usefully complements the analysis of the primary qualitative data.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



State of the Evidence on Climate (Im)mobilities and Well-Being

In this chapter, I review and synthesize the existing evidence relevant for the research questions of this dissertation. First, I briefly assess knowledge on the effects of hazards on (im)mobilities, underlying workings, and seminal studies in Latin America. Afterwards, I evaluate the literature on how migration in general—and climate-related cases in particular—can affect objective and subjective well-being (OWB and SWB). Finally, I discuss implications for this study. The chapter sets the stage for the subsequent discussion of the new empirical findings on Peru in chapters 5–7, which also contain detailed reviews of hazard-(im)mobility links in the respective study areas.

4.1 State of the Research on Links between Hazards and (Im)mobilities

4.1.1 Research Evolution and Landscape

Research on hazard-(im)mobility links has rapidly developed and applied varied foci (Flavell et al. 2020). After a first wave of research in the 1980s, studies have steadily risen and reached over 100 peer-reviewed outputs per year since 2008 (Ionesco et al. 2017). While first generation research focused on the causal contributions of hazards to migration (Jäger et al. 2009), second generation research expanded to more holistic assessments of migration as one among many livelihood strategies to address climatic and other stressors (McLeman & Gemenne 2018; Piguet 2013). Throughout, various streams of research have also mapped populations at risk of migration or projected future pathways (Clement et al.



4

Region or focus	Author and year	# Studies analyzed
Africa	Borderon et al. 2019	53
Africa, Sahel	Jónsson 2010	13
Africa, Sahel	Neumann & Hermans 2017	53 case studies
Africa, Sub-Saharan Africa	Morrissey 2014	More than 30 studies
Africa, West Africa	van der Land et al. 2018	15 case studies
Arab Countries	Wodon et al. 2014	Unspecified
Asia	Hugo & Bardsley 2014	Unspecified
Asia	Ober 2019	Unspecified
Central Mediterranean Route	Bendandi 2020	Unspecified
Europe	Mulligan et al. 2014	Unspecified
Global	Field et al. 2012	Unspecified
Global	Gómez 2013	Unspecified
Global	Adger et al. 2014	At least 29 clearly specified
Global	Berlemann & Steinhardt 2017	Unspecified
Global	Beine & Jeusette 2021	51
Global	Piguet et al. 2018	1193 publications with 463 empirical case studies
Global	Cattaneo et al. 2019	Unspecified
Global	Flavell et al. 2020	Unspecified
Global	Hoffmann et al. 2020	30
Global	Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020	17
Global	Šedová et al. 2021	116
Global	Yar & Wali 2020	Unspecified
Global	Cissé et al. 2022	Unspecified
Global (focus on agriculture)	Falco et al. 2018	Unspecified
Global (focus on agent-based models)	Thober et al. 2018	15 model studies
Global (focus on bibliometry)	Milán-García et al. 2021	140 from Web of Science, 193 from Scopus

Table 4.1 Identified synthesis studies of hazard-migration linkages worldwide

Region or focus	Author and year	# Studies analyzed
Global (focus on cross-border)	Obokata et al. 2014	92
Global (focus on cross-border)	Veronis et al. 2018	183 articles
Global (focus on drylands)	Smith et al. 2011	34
Global (focus on ecoregions)	McLeman 2016b	160
Global (focus on low-lying coastal areas)	Costanza et al. 2011	Unspecified
Global (focus on health)	Zanhouo & Nana 2019	32
Global (focus on health)	Mazhin et al. 2020	20
Global (focus on health)	Schwerdtle et al. 2020	50
Global (focus on mountainous regions)	Kollmair & Banerjee 2011	Unspecified
Global (focus on quantitative methodologies)	Hoffmann et al. 2021	127
Global (sea-level rise)	McMichael et al. 2020	33
Global (focus on settlement abandonment)	McLeman 2011	246 cases (from a higher number of studies)
Global (focus on urbanization)	Morinière 2012	147
Global (focus on water-stress)	Wrathall et al. 2018	184
Hindu-Kush Himalayas	Banerjee et al. 2014	Unspecified
Latin America	Kaenzig & Piguet 2014	Unspecified
North America	Adamo & de Sherbinin 2014	Unspecified
Oceania	Campbell & Bedford 2014	Unspecified

Table 4.1 (continued)

Note: Created by the author.

2021; de Sherbinin & Bai 2018; Gemenne 2011; Warner et al. 2009). While scholars have also started to warn of risks linked to immobility in dangerous areas, this flipside of migration has remained studied less (Foresight 2011; Wiegel et al. 2019; Zickgraf 2018). Later, a third generation of studies has started to empirically assess the impacts of climate migration (e.g. Melde et al. 2017). I summarized existing synthesis studies in the field elsewhere (Bergmann 2019)

and briefly repeat main findings here, especially from reviews published later (Table 4.1).

The synthesis of existing reviews certifies that knowledge about climate *migration* has improved, yet with marked gaps and biases. Key hazards remain understudied; key geographic gaps persist; North–South divides in research and funding agendas have endured (Piguet et al. 2018; Wrathall et al. 2018); and publication biases exist (Šedová et al. 2021). Additionally, methodological choices strongly shape results (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Šedová et al. 2021). The variety of concepts, designs, and methods used—and diverse spatial and temporal scales, units, and data structures—have made it difficult to compare results and draw conclusions (Borderon et al. 2018; van der Land et al. 2018; Vinke & Hoffmann 2020). While research mostly consists of case studies (Gemenne 2018; Piguet et al. 2018), meta-analyses have advanced recently (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Hoffmann et al. 2021). Conversely, climate *immobilities* remain understudied (Cundill et al. 2021; Hoffmann et al. 2020).

4.1.2 Identified Effects and Underlying Mechanisms

Meta-studies find significant positive and negative effects of hazards on migration, especially in low- and middle-income and agriculturally-dependent countries (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Hoffmann et al. 2020; Šedová et al. 2021). Most migration is within countries and over long distances, rather than localized (Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020), often from rural to urban areas (Šedová et al. 2021).

Both environmental hazards and benefits can shape migration (Bendandi 2020). Hazards can inhibit and accelerate existing movements or create entirely new flows, depending on the hazard type and duration (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Borderon et al. 2019). Especially extreme temperatures, water-stress, and rainfall changes have significant effects (Berlemann & Steinhardt 2017; Hoffmann et al. 2020; Šedová et al. 2021). The severity of hazards affects flows nonlinearly, depending on people's capabilities and vulnerabilities (Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020). The impacts on migration also seem greater for recent hazards (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Šedová et al. 2021). The speed of hazards can create different outcomes. If *gradual* hazards make migration more or less likely remains disputed and depends on context (Borderon et al. 2019; Cattaneo et al. 2019; Zick-graf 2021). The most direct climate-migration link is displacement after *abrupt* extreme events (Cattaneo et al. 2019), which is usually short-term, short-distance, and shaped by gender and vulnerabilities (Berlemann & Steinhardt 2017; Cardona et al. 2012). Displacement can become permanent due to cumulative shocks and

extraordinary disasters, particularly for at-risk households (Berlemann & Steinhardt 2017). Finally, abrupt extreme events can also drive in-migration, such as for reconstruction (Adger et al. 2014).

However, migration is not the default strategy. Even during *abrupt* disasters, displacement is often a last resort (Foresight 2011). Other people opt to stay despite gradual hazards. Alternative strategies include "on-farm adaptation, offfarm adaptation, informal credit, participation in risk-reducing networks, social protection policies, and international development assistance" (Cattaneo et al. 2019: 8). Additionally, climate impacts, such as reduced crop yields, can also decrease migration. Hazards that damage micro level factors such as health or wealth can reduce the ability to move even if hazards would make escape desirable (Choquette-Levy et al. 2021; Flavell et al. 2020; Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020). As "vulnerability is inversely correlated with mobility", and moving requires resources, hazards may trap the most affected (Adger et al. 2014: 767; Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020; Morrissey 2014). A meta-study observes immobility in multiple contexts, especially where liquidity constraints are tangible, and underscores that entrapment risk is especially high in low-income countries and for women (Šedová et al. 2021). Obstacles tend to be particularly high for cross-border migration (Veronis et al. 2018). Finally, hazards can raise stayers' vulnerabilities and cause downward spirals of poverty (Kaczan & Orgill-Meyer 2020).

While the evidence demonstrates that some people move to address climatic risks (McLeman 2016b), the underlying mechanisms are less clear. In many regions, such as the Sahel, migration is a common livelihood strategy and one among several options to respond to environmental change (Morrissey 2014). However, most reviews agree that establishing direct causation from hazards is difficult, because decisions to migrate are multicausal and climate risks interact with non-climatic stressors (Adger et al. 2014). As one example, migration due to sea level rise (SLR) is "multifaceted" and "further research is needed on the fundamental mechanisms underlying SLR migration, tipping points, thresholds and feedbacks, risk perception and migration" (Hauer et al. 2020: 28). A meta-analysis indicates that economic migration drivers are particularly sensitive to climate hazards, and income moderates and explains hazard-migration links partially (Hoffmann et al. 2020). For example, hazards can increase income variability or widen income gaps that propel migration (Cattaneo et al. 2019). As agrarian livelihoods are most likely to be affected (Borderon et al. 2019), changing rural wages and agricultural productivity are also key paths underlying migration (Berlemann & Steinhardt 2017; Falco et al. 2018). Additionally, climate-related conflict can moderate the relationships, but the direction of its

influence is context-specific (Cattaneo et al. 2019; Hoffmann et al. 2020). Besides livelihood erosion, hazards can also threaten non-economic factors key for people's place attachment and thereby drive migration, for example, by destroying cultural or spiritual ecosystem services such as sacred glaciers (Adger et al. 2014). These pathways remain understudied. Ultimately, (im)mobility dynamics seem to depend on time- and place-specific demographic, environmental, political, and socioeconomic contexts, alongside social differentiation, which makes multiple outcomes possible for any given hazard, occasionally in contradictory directions for different areas (Veronis et al. 2018). Both micro variables such as age, gender, and wealth as well as meso level factors such as social networks influence the propensity to move, often in heterogeneous ways (Borderon et al. 2019; Cattaneo et al. 2019). The interplay of hazards and structural changes can make migration more likely (Jónsson 2010) but institutions shape how such dynamics emerge (Morrissey 2014). Thus, while most reviews stress the multicausality in (im)mobilities, it is still not clearly understood under which exact circumstances people affected by climate change are compelled to move (O'Neill et al. 2022). Uncertainties relate to the nature and extent of climate impacts, including non-linear changes; the complexities of human vulnerability to these changes; adaptation possibilities; and the intricacies involved in migratory decisions (Flavell et al. 2020). The effect of prior migration experience-or the absence thereof-is another research gap (Findlay 2011; Henry et al. 2003). While direct environmental channels today still seem less vital than economic and social ones, studies usually do not account for indirect effects, interactions (both chain-logical causation and independent operation), or complex pathways, and may thus underestimate the effects of hazards (Beine & Jeusette 2021; Borderon et al. 2019; Neumann & Hermans 2017; van der Land et al. 2018). Finally, solid theoretical frameworks that account for these complex links are scarce (Hunter et al. 2015; Piguet 2018). A seminal model highlights that hazards mostly shape economic, environmental, and political migration drivers, but micro and meso level variables also affect the initiation of movement (Black et al. 2011b).

4.1.3 Linkages in Latin America

In Latin America, the focus region of this study, a meta-analysis finds strong significant effects of hazards on migration (Hoffmann et al. 2020). Another study using 21 million census data points from eight South American countries (not including Peru) also observes significant effects of climate variability on migration, which is mostly directed toward cities. The effects are heterogeneous across

gender, age, country of residence, and depend on baseline climatic conditions (Thiede et al. 2016).

Nonetheless, research on climate migration in Latin America is limited (Figure 4.1), and even more so on immobility (Castellanos et al. 2022; Piguet et al. 2018). The only dated, academic review on climate migration in the region concludes that empirical studies are scant, particularly for Andean countries such as Peru (Kaenzig & Piguet 2014).¹ Especially "the broad absence of water stress-migration research across the continent is worrisome" (Wrathall et al. 2018: 14), a gap I aim to respond to through this study. For the Andean states beyond Peru, most research exists for Ecuador (e.g. Gray 2007, 2010; Gray & Bilsborrow 2013) and Bolivia (Balderrama 2011; Brandt et al. 2016; Kaenzig 2011, 2015). Most available studies center on Central American migration—often as it relates to the US—and focus on tropical storms as well as on links between drought, heat, and food security (Baez et al. 2017a, 2017b; IDB et al. 2017; Spencer & Urquhart 2018).

The IPCC's latest regional assessment observes with high confidence that Latin America is sensitive to climate migration dynamics, whose magnitude has been increasing due to water-related hazards, such as droughts, heavy rainfalls, floods, and storms. Climatic- and non-climatic drivers of migration interact in complex and partially indirect ways, while intersectional social factors influence propensities to move (Castellanos et al. 2022). Previous empirical studies agree that multiple hazards shape migration in the region (Kaenzig & Elizabeth Warn 2015; Kaenzig & Piguet 2012). Water hazards such as floods, glacier retreat, and rainfall variability affect many countries, but are "just one more factor added to social and political contexts that are sometimes steeped in deep inequality... and power dynamics" (Kaenzig & Piguet 2014: 171). Especially for gradual hazards, pathways are context-specific and multicausal. Vulnerabilities to water scarcity are high in the region but little evidence of effects on migration exist at present. Sea-level rise has not caused migration so far, but since many at-risk areas are urban and densely populated, pressure may rise. Besides temporary movements, some people use multiple residences to address hazards. Disaster displacement tends to be short-distance, short-term, and directed to urban destinations (Kaenzig & Piguet 2014). Movement often originates in climate-affected rural areas but tends to be a last resort. Immobility is a salient issue especially for the poor, who

¹ Besides academic researchers, development actors have started to investigate climate migration in the region, see IOM (2017d); Oetzel & Ruiz (2017). An additional stream of research concerns related policies in Latin America, see Cantor (2016, 2015); Kälin & Cantor (2017); Lavenex et al. (2016); Llamas (2017); Medina (2021); Nansen Initiative (2015); Pires Ramos et al. (2017); Popp (2014); Yamamoto et al. (2018).



Number of case studies

Figure 4.1 Prior country case studies on climate change and migration in the Americas. (Note: Peru is marked red. The size of the circles indicates the relative number of case studies. Based on 532 articles from the CliMig database (1970–2016). One article can contain multiple sites. Cropped from Piguet and colleagues (2018: 369), edited by the author)

may end up trapped in vulnerable situations. Others, however, make a conscious decision to stay due to high place satisfaction (Castellanos et al. 2022). The IPCC stresses that the outcomes of climate migration in the region are uncertain. While urban opportunities exist, the authors have high confidence that moving can reproduce structural problems and deepen pre-existing vulnerabilities, especially for socially disadvantaged groups (Castellanos et al. 2022: 85–86).

Looking to the future, the IPCC expects that climate migration will continue to increase in Latin America (Castellanos et al. 2022). The most robust study projects that in a worst-case scenario, slow-onset hazards may force up to 17.1 million migrants to move within their Latin America countries by 2050, representing 2.6% of the region's total population. They would leave areas with water stress and crop losses or those threatened by rising sea levels and storm surges. Yet, dedicated development action and climate mitigation could strongly change

these numbers. For example, a more climate-friendly scenario would result in up to 9.4 million internal climate migrants (Rigaud et al. 2018).

In summary, existing studies indicate that climate migration is a major issue in Latin America and projections suggest that it will gain relevance in the future. However, the breadth and depth of the evidence remains limited, especially on varied forms of (im)mobilities and their differential outcomes, a gap this study strives to bridge. In the next section, I assess the general literature on how climate (im)mobilities can affect well-being. (Additionally, in chapters 5–7, I discuss migration dynamics specifically for my three case study areas and provide indepth reviews of the relevant evidence on exposure, vulnerability, and climate-(im)mobility links in these zones).

4.2 State of the Evidence on Links between (Im)mobilities and Well-Being

Well-being is the state of people's life situations, based on *need fulfillment*, their present *evaluation* thereof, and *views of the future*. Using this lens developed in Section 2.3, I first review possible effects of (im)mobilities on the fulfillment of relevant needs, namely *development from a secure base, a space to live better*, and *social relatedness*. Then, I assess the state of research on how (im)mobilities can affect people's cognitive and emotional need evaluation for the present and views of the future.

First of all, the evidence on the effects of climate *immobility* worldwide and in Peru is limited. Global studies suggest that risks may be high for trapped, non-resilient populations in areas severely affected by climate impacts, who may suffer from cumulative damage, food insecurity, health issues, as well as hostility, racism, and violence (Brubaker et al. 2011; Herren 1991; Mallick & Schanze 2020; Schwerdtle et al. 2017; Sow et al. 2016). Even though the dominant discourse highlights that risks related to immobility include "people losing their assets, falling into poverty traps, or suffering from a lack of capital", generalizations about impacts remain difficult because immobilities are multifaceted (Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2018: 563). Since the empirical evidence on the impacts of immobilities is incomplete to such an extent, this review focuses on the effects of climate *migration*.

Second, research on climate migration is more readily available but rarely analyzes the impacts of such movements in destinations, as a systematic review of about 3,200 empirical studies finds (Rigaud et al. 2018; Zander et al. 2022). A prior review of mine distilled broad directions for Peru specifically (Bergmann

et al. 2021a). (Chapters 5–7 provide more detailed reviews of hazard-(im)mobility links and effects in the Peruvian areas of interest in this study). The studies reveal that some migrants within Peru can escape hazards, diversify incomes, acquire new skills, and send remittances to their communities (Badjeck 2008; Lennox 2015; Milan & Ho 2014). Conversely, more studies in Peru seem to suggest negative impacts on those moving and staying. First, farmers whose skills are not transferable to cities can end up in informal jobs, food insecurity, precarious housing with limited access to basic services, and exposed to new climate risks (List 2016; Sherman et al. 2015). Second, migration can heighten vulnerabilities in sending areas by eroding local knowledge and adaptive capacity, removing workers from labor-intensive agriculture, and increasing workloads for non-migrant women (Lennox & Gowdy 2014; Milan & Ho 2014; Sperling et al. 2008). Overall, studies argue that the outcomes depend on hazard patterns, migration trajectories, and profiles of receiving areas. Household vulnerability is another key determinant (Ho & Milan 2012): relatively well-off households can raise resilience through temporal migration that facilitates diversification; less resilient households may gain the bare minimum through survival migration; but when the poor migrate, resilience often erodes, because they tend to end up lacking income for remittances while sending areas are deprived of labor. Beyond migration, studies agree that prior disaster displacement has had a high toll on people in Peru (e.g. Espinoza-Neyra et al. 2017; Rojas-Medina et al. 2008) and relocations have reduced well-being by failing to consider place attachment, land and social issues, and livelihood necessities (e.g. Pittaluga 2019; Sperling et al. 2008) (Table 4.2).

Study	Outcomes
Adams 2012	Migration:
	 Possible well-being risks due to migrants' inability to recover non-provisional losses (predictive assessment)
Altamirano Girao 2012	Migration:
	Negative social impactsIncreased hazard exposure in destinations
Altamirano Rua 2014	Migration:
	- Negative sociocultural impacts in areas of origin

Table 4.2 Synthesis of available studies on climate migration outcomes in Peru

Study	Outcomes
Badjeck 2008	Migration
	+ Social remittances and technology transfers for areas of origin
	 Risk of higher costs, less educational chances, and social instability for migrants Irregular housing and increased hazard vulnerability for migrants Increased drug-use, unrest, and xenophobia in host communities
Badjeck et al. 2009	Migration:
	 Overexploitation of local fishing stocks and natural habitats by migrants Conflict due to increased pressure on natural resources in destinations
Bernales 2019	Relocation:
	 Increased distance to old site obstructs livelihoods and basic services Inadequate housing and urban design Increasing insecurity
Desmaison et al. 2018	Relocation:
	+/- Durable housing materials, yet unadjusted to local climate (heat exposure)
	 Housing design, lot size, spatial distribution, and socio-spatial organization unadjusted to local context Livelihood challenges due to asset and market distance, high transportation costs, and barriers for job uptake Loss of identity links with territory
Espinoza-Neyra et al. 2017	Displacement:
	- Mental health burdens
Estrada et al. 2018	Relocation:
	 Livelihood challenges, remoteness from prior activities and alternatives Urban design, basic infrastructure, and housing problems Increased environmental pressure on protected area
Erwin et al. 2021	Migration:
	 Poorer migrants at risk of ending up in irregular settlements Lack of electricity and water access

Table 4.2 (continued)

Study	Outcomes
Ho & Milan 2012	Migration:
	+/- Household profiles determine possibility and outcomes of migration: adaptive, survival or erosive
	 Additional work and caregiving burdens for women in areas of origin
Jarman 2020	Migration:
	- Settlement in high-risk zones, unawareness of hazards
	Relocation, displacement:
	+Reduced hazard exposure
Koubi et al. 2018	Migration, displacement
	 Possible conflict risk in destinations due to climate migrants' prior grievances (predictive assessment)
Langill 2018	Migration:
	- Increased hazard vulnerability in destinations
Lennox & Gowdy 2014	Migration:
	+ Income-earning opportunities
	 Migration becomes an imperative, not enhancing well-being Possibly increased hazard vulnerability due to loss of labor force and traditional knowledge in areas of origin (predictive assessment)
List 2016	Migration:
	 Increased poverty due to school desertion of children sent to work
Lopez 2018	Relocation:
	+Reduced hazard exposure
	 Losses of prior livelihoods due to increased distance to assets, markets, and transportation Loss of basic services, culture, and identity Strains on social relations
López-i-Gelats et al. 2015	Migration:
	 Shortage of labor, loss of traditional knowledge, and reduced adaptive capacity in areas of origin

Study	Outcomes
Manzi 2005	Relocation:
	 + Increased access to land and market resources, reduced isolation, empowerment + Improved poverty and reduced environmental degradation
MIMP & IOM 2015	Displacement:
	 Livelihood challenges and loss of assets Food insecurity, increased burden of physical and mental diseases Risks due to insecurity and criminality Inadequate temporary shelters
Oliver-Smith 2014	Migration:
	 Irregular and unplanned settlements, higher hazard vulnerability and exposure
Ramírez 2019	Displacement:
	 Possible contribution to spread of infectious diseases after disasters (predictive assessment)
Rojas-Medina et al. 2008	Displacement, relocation:
	- Mental health burdens
Rubiños & Anderies 2020	Migration:
	- Settlement in high-risk zones, unawareness of hazards
Sherman et al. 2015	Migration
	 + Income-earning opportunities + Some financial and social remittances to areas of origin; but limited due to
	 strained ties between migrants and stayers, who lack resources to support each other Precarious jobs, unemployment, exploitation, and decreased resilience for migrants Increased food insecurity for migrants Housing and food insecurity due to loss of labor force in areas of origin Loss of traditional knowledge and history in areas of origin
Sperling et al. 2008	Migration:
	+ Income earning compensates for losses and improves food security

Table 4.2 (continued)

Study	Outcomes
	 Migration becomes an imperative, puts migrants lacking demanded skills or qualifications in precarious jobs School desertion due to migration Erosion of local knowledge in areas of origin Negative social impacts
	Relocation:
	- Negative social impacts
Tumi & Tumi 2013	Migration
	 + Income and food generation through temporary labor migration and after harvest losses + Remittances to improve food security and cover educational costs
Vidal Merino et al. 2020	Migration:
	+ Income and remittances generation after harvest losses

Table 4.2	(continued)
-----------	-------------

Note: Created by the author.

Because insights into the effects of climate migration within Peru are limited, it is sensible to also review (a) studies on climate migration in other areas and (b) the broader literature on migration and well-being, which can provide insights by analogy. To gauge this broader state of research adequately, I prioritize meta-analyses and systematic reviews when available. Moreover, in this review I also distinguish between different migration types and conditions (compare Section 2.2.2) in the few cases for which such data exists, because these factors affect outcomes. Overall, people forced to relocate or move may have less capabilities than those freely choosing to migrate, and may thus achieve less positive results (Bartram 2015; de Haan 1999; UNDP 2009). Similarly, although gender and other social factors-and their intersections-can strongly influence migrants' well-being, few studies disaggregate results accordingly (Fleury 2016; Selod & Shilpi 2021). Finally, when indicated, I also review results of crossborder migration because "remarkably little attention is given to the patterns of internal migration around the world...[and d]ata are relatively scarce and often out of date" (UNDP 2020: 33), especially for rural-to-rural and urban-to-urban migration (Selod & Shilpi 2021).

4.2.1 Effects on Objective Dimensions of Well-Being

I begin this review by analyzing data on how migration affects OWB, namely *development from a secure base, a space to live better*, and *social relatedness* (see Section 2.3).

4.2.1.1 Development from a Secure Base: Decent Livelihoods, Health and Food Security, and Educational Opportunities

Livelihoods are a key research interest in climate migration studies (Bardsley & Hugo 2010; Black et al. 2011a; McLeman 2016a; Tacoli 2009; Webber & Barnett 2010). Research emphasizes that the outcomes depend on intersectional variables, social mobility, and initial vulnerability profiles (Afifi et al. 2016; Jäger et al. 2009; Warner et al. 2009): people with greater resilience prior to moving can benefit from *adaptive migration*; others with less resources use *migration for* survival or for erosive coping; and the most deprived often lack capitals required to move. Climate impacts make beneficial conditions for migrants less likely, especially for forced migrants (Rigaud et al. 2018). Thus, the most affected may use migration in ways that raise vulnerability or end up trapped (Adger et al. 2015; Black et al. 2013; Zickgraf 2018). A cross-country study confirms these differentiated livelihood pathways. It finds that internal climate migrants mostly perceived positive effects on income and employment and around 40% of them learnt new skills; yet relocatees and forced migrants had fewer income sources, higher debts, and more vulnerabilities (Melde et al. 2017). Other reviews stress how relocations due to hazards can threaten livelihoods (Hino et al. 2017; Mazhin et al. 2020); in a global mapping, relocatees lost their revenues in one third of 308 cases (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021). Finally, disaster displacement can create chances for migrants "but most often it undermines their welfare" (IDMC 2021a: 18). In summary, migration may hold adaptive potential for more resilient groups but for more vulnerable ones, it threatens to be erosive coping or mere survival.

General migration studies complement these results. They indicate that *cross-border migration* to higher-*income* areas "typically brings about dramatic increases in the earnings of migrants" compared to areas of origin (Yang 2009: 6). Incomes are especially higher for voluntary migrants with higher capabilities (Dustmann & Glitz 2011; UNDP 2009) but the relationship holds for migrants in low-wage jobs or working below their skill levels (UNDP 2020). Migrants moving from lower to higher-income countries increase their incomes three to six times, and most migrants and refugees move from countries with lower to those with higher employment rates (World Bank 2018). Still, migrants are "at

a severe economic disadvantage" compared with natives upon arrival, and wages and employment converge only over time (World Bank 2018: 22). Progress is slower for refugees and irregular immigrants, who are often excluded from formal labor (World Bank 2018). Camp-based refugees often live in dire conditions; their chances to progress are low as they face restrictions, although "refugee economies" usually develop (Alloush et al. 2017; Bruijn 2009; Turner 2016).

Most internal migrants also move to wealthier areas (World Bank 2018) and have a "large urban premium" in income (although smaller than crossborder migrants), which holds across generations (Harttgen & Klasen 2009; Lucas 2021b; Selod & Shilpi 2021: 21). One study finds 25% returns for internal migrants (Lagakos 2020). Nonetheless, they initially earn less compared to locals and only gradually catch up (de Haan 1999). However, internal migrants are more often employed than locals (Tacoli 2007) and their movement also raises productivity and decreases inter-regional inequality in developing countries (Selod & Shilpi 2021). Overall, norms, policies, sociocultural distance, social capital, and information availability shape outcomes (Selod & Shilpi 2021). The results are often most challenging in adverse migration conditions. Specifically, many persons internally displaced due to conflict or disasters frequently face reduced employment, average incomes, and livelihoods (Cazabat 2020; World Bank 2017b). Similarly, relocatees often risk impoverishment, especially in forced cases (Arnall 2019; Cernea 2004; Piggott-McKellar et al. 2020; Wilmsen & Webber 2015), whereas voluntary cases can occasionally render higher incomes (Bazzi et al. 2016). The data seen so far emphasize that "very high" livelihood benefits and costs of internal migration can occur at once (Selod & Shilpi 2021: ii). Costs, including for transportation and subsistence, can reduce livelihood gains; such costs depend on trajectories, occupations, and individual variables (World Bank 2017b, 2018). For example, a review identifies jobs as the most salient migration-related stressor (Mak et al. 2021), and short-term employment migrants usually require long before making returns (Bedford et al. 2009). While migrants' occupational quality can be low at arrival (depending on migration corridors and skillsets), it improves "fairly rapid" (World Bank 2018: 197). Nonetheless, migrants often have jobs below their skill levels, and their human capital is frequently under-utilized or lost (McAuliffe et al. 2019). Especially cross-border migrants with low levels of education have to work in problematic "3D" jobs, in "low-skilled occupations that are shunned by members of the host society - manual labour that is often dirty, difficult, dangerous and in relatively isolated places" (Bedford et al. 2009: 64; Martin 2005). Irregularity raises the risk of underemployment, low wages, high living costs, and exploitation (Baldwin-Edwards 2008). Similarly, such risks and discrimination are salient for female migrants, which often complicates their economic situation (Fleury 2016).

Few empirical studies on climate migrants' health outcomes exist (Schwerdtle et al. 2020). Reviews find that water and food security act as key moderators but outcomes are varied and context-dependent (Hunter et al. 2021; Schwerdtle et al. 2020); "in the early stages[, they] are expected to be similar to the health outcomes associated with refugees", including the risk of disease, disability, and loss of life (Mazhin et al. 2020: 97). Four major health concerns identified are (a) an altered distribution of infectious disease, partially due to high exposure during the journey or poor living and labor conditions especially in displacement and irregular settlements; (b) changes in non-communicable diseases, including food insecurity and diet-related diseases due to unfamiliar destinations and barriers in accessing healthcare; (c) psychosocial health challenges due to reduced social capital, deprivations, uncertainty, increased violence, and destruction of ecosystems or other resources key to migrants' identities; and (d) unequal access to health care in urban destinations, in relocations, or after hazards damaged infrastructure (Mazhin et al. 2020; Schwerdtle et al. 2020). Overall, climate migrants' profiles and conditions influence if moving is adaptive for health and food security (Schwerdtle et al. 2020; Warner & Afifi 2014). Results can thus be mixed: in a cross-country study, climate migrant households reported mostly positive effects on health and food security, including through better access to health care services (Melde et al. 2017), whereas a review in the Pacific finds that health worsened due to discrimination, poor housing, and livelihood barriers (Yates et al. 2021). Finally, forced climate migrants in particular bear severe health risks (McMichael et al. 2012); for example, mental health burdens after disaster displacement tend to be high, especially for women who experience violence and additional caregiving burdens (Rigaud et al. 2018).

General migration studies provide extensive, complementary results. *International migrants* seem to profit as they can gain access to better health facilities, staff, services, and health-enhancers, such as water and sanitation. For example, child mortality rates greatly decline across all migrant corridors (UNDP 2009, 2020). Mortality is also lower for migrants than for locals (Abubakar et al. 2018). Selection processes and sociocultural resources are reasons why most (particularly voluntary) immigrants in richer countries have better mortality and health than locals. Yet, this *healthy immigrant paradox* can cease the longer migrants stay due to acculturative stress and lifestyle changes (Markides & Rote 2015). Additionally, a meta-analysis finds that mortality premiums are clearer in high-income countries than for marginalized migrants in low- and middle-income

countries (Aldridge et al. 2018). Finally, morbidity can be larger for some diseases and among specific migrant groups (Abubakar et al. 2018; Alidu & Grunfeld 2018). Next, rural-to-urban migrants often improve health through access to better services, yet they tend to remain behind locals (Harttgen & Klasen 2009). In addition, a review demonstrates that internal migrants in poorer countries improve health through income gains, but benefits "can be counterbalanced by adverse living conditions" (Selod & Shilpi 2021: 26). Especially marginalized, irregular, and female migrants' tend to have constrained access to health services (Fleury 2016; UNDP 2020) and many migrants in 3D jobs suffer job-related hazards (Ratha et al. 2011). Moreover, two systematic reviews note that cardiovascular risk factors are greater for urban migrants than in rural groups (Hernández et al. 2012), and that migrants' self-perceived health is often worse than that of nonmigrants (Lu et al. 2020; Nielsen & Krasnik 2010). For forced migrants, food security depends strongly on the host context (Bruijn 2009); their health tends to be better in urban than in camp settings (Crea et al. 2015). Finally, migration also strongly affects mental health, and the effects seem to depend on context, coping strategies, and personal resilience (Mak et al. 2021; Siriwardhana et al. 2014). A natural experiment finds that cross-border migration can raise mental health (Stillman et al. 2015), whereas two meta-analyses find opposite effects at arrival, for those un- or underemployed, and for those with downward social mobility (Das-Munshi et al. 2012; Foo et al. 2018). A different review and a meta-analysis report increased post-traumatic stress disorders among migrants and refugees (Bustamante et al. 2018; Lindert et al. 2009). Some risks are gendered, and a review finds that female migrants have a greater risk of perinatal mental health issues than non-migrant women (Fellmeth et al. 2017). For developing countries specifically, a review corroborates that rural-to-urban migration often involves high psychological costs (Selod & Shilpi 2021). Taken together, the existing reviews identify key health determinants as (a) pre-migration trauma; (b) post-migration income, employment, housing, language skills and interpretation, communication, continuity of care, confidence, social support; (c) financial, legal, cultural, and spatial challenges; and (d) structural and political factors, such as discrimination, gender inequalities, and exclusion from services (Abubakar et al. 2018; Brandenberger et al. 2019; Hynie 2018).

Lastly, the UNESCO underscores that *educational* effects remain understudied, but most climate migrants are likely "to suffer exceptional educational vulnerabilities" due to trauma, infrastructure failure, or administrative, economic, and linguistic access hurdles (2020: 4). By contrast, in one of the few existing cross-country studies, climate migrant households reported mostly positive effects, including through better access to services; yet not all benefitted, and gains coincided with exclusion and discrimination (Melde et al. 2017). General migration studies provide additional insights. First, they show that educational selectivity shapes who migrates in the first place, and thereby also the outcomes (Bernard & Bell 2018). Second, migrants often move to improve children's education (UNDP 2020), and even before they move, the prospect of migration can raise educational investments both for migrants and their children (Dustmann & Glitz 2011). Third, many migrants' education profits from moving, especially when going from poorer to richer areas, where they have more years of schooling than at origin (Harttgen & Klasen 2009; UNDP 2020). Additionally, migrants from the poorest countries on average double school enrollment rates in richer countries (World Bank Group 2016). While migrants often improve educational attainment over generations, institutional and language barriers can slow the process of catching up with natives (Dustmann & Glitz 2011), and the accessibility of services is often gendered (Fleury 2016). Finally, educational effects for refugees depend on the host country and available international assistance (Bruijn 2009; World Bank 2020a).

4.2.1.2 A Space to Live Better: Adequate Housing, Basic Services, Pleasant Surroundings, Safety from Hazards, and Security

Climate migrants often move to cities (Adamo 2010; Black et al. 2011a), especially in the swiftly urbanizing Latin American region (Villa et al. 2017; Warn 2014). While these cities provide chances, risks also abound, including due to the effects of rapid urbanization, such as sprawl and irregular housing (Adger et al. 2020). Studies confirm that many climate migrants have constrained access to housing and basic infrastructure (Adger et al. 2020; Adger & Adams 2013; McMichael et al. 2012). For example, a cross-country study finds that their households fare worse than non-migrants concerning shelter and housing materials, which may raise vulnerabilities (Melde et al. 2017). In particular, disaster displaced persons frequently cannot satisfy basic shelter needs due to their definitive losses of portable assets and fixed capital (World Bank 2017b). Many displaced persons are forced to live in temporary shelter insufficient for lasting protection, which reinforces precarious living conditions and can trigger secondary displacement (IDMC 2020). Similarly, deficient shelter is widespread in planned relocations (Cernea 2004). A global mapping notes that main problems are "the availability and quality of infrastructure at the settlement site [as well as] architectural layout of homes and incompatibility with traditional ways of life or expectations" (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021: 9). General migration studies substantiate that housing conditions depend on context, such as financial resources,

family sizes, and conditions of arrival and at destination. Key factors include legal status, family networks, property prices, the quality of information, social housing, and social benefits. Especially migrants who settle first in a new place, those with low incomes, and those subjected to discriminatory practices are at risk of substandard housing (OECD & EU 2015). Finally, most refugees live in cites, where they "share accommodation, live in non-functional public buildings, collective centres, in slums and irregular types of settlements; often their living conditions are poor, cramped and unsafe" (UNHCR 2014: 13). Refugee camps in rural areas imply their own challenges.

Next, some climate migrants, displaced persons, and relocatees succeed in reducing exposure to hazards at least initially (Melde et al. 2017). Yet, others "tend to cluster in low-cost locations exposed to environmental hazards" (Adger et al. 2020: 397), and migrants writ-large continue to move toward areas highly exposed to climate hazards, such as coastal or deltaic cities exposed to sea-level rise (de Sherbinin et al. 2012; Foresight 2011; McGranahan et al. 2007). Cities also tend to expose migrants to unfamiliar environmental stressors, such as water and air pollution (Carrasco-Escobar et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2013) or urban heat stress (Tuholske et al. 2021). Therefore, the IPCC names new hazard exposure in destinations as one illustrative cause why certain forms of climate migration can "compromise human security" (Adger et al. 2014: 758). Similarly, a global relocation mapping highlights the risks related to secondary hazard exposure in many, but not all cases (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021). Within cities, many migrants also have higher vulnerabilities to hazards than locals because they often live in densely populated areas, and have no access to basic services or lack political voice (Adger et al. 2020; Adger & Adams 2013; McMichael et al. 2012). In general, disaster displacement risk is significant in many urban areas (IDMC 2021c). Disasters are more likely to harm the poorer segments of urban populations with limited political voice and subjected to structural disadvantages, which often includes migrants (de Sherbinin et al. 2007; Hallegatte et al. 2017). Migrants may also lack knowledge of hazards in new settings and fail to receive or understand early warnings (Melde et al. 2017). Even so, few cities account for the vulnerabilities of climate migrants (Gemenne et al. 2020) and their climate risks in destinations remain underreserached.

Beyond hazards, climate migrant households reported also greater human *inse-curity* than non-migrants in one cross-country survey (Melde et al. 2017). A review on general migration reveals that women, especially those with irregular status, are at high risk of violence, sexual exploitation, and forced prostitution (Fleury 2016). Interpersonal and self-directed violence are also rife after disasters and during displacement (Asgary et al. 2013; Bruijn 2009; IDMC 2020;

McMichael et al. 2012; Rezaeian 2013; True 2013). While women displaced by disasters face high risks, men can also end up in vulnerable situations, for example, when norms demand male risk-taking behavior (Demetriades & Esplen 2008; Rigaud et al. 2018). Finally, insecurity is equally frequent in relocations. For example, a review in the Pacific region finds that relocations can raise conflicts between ethnic groups or over land and fishing rights (Yates et al. 2021). Relocatees may also experience organized violence or be relocated by force, occasionally for political or economic motives (Webber & Barnett 2010).

4.2.1.3 Social Relatedness

Even though the effects of climate migration on *social capital* and *networks* are salient, they remain underexplored. First, when suffering climate impacts, social factors affect capacities to remain in place or to migrate and the related outcomes (Nawrotzki et al. 2015; Webber & Barnett 2010). Second, migration itself also affects *social relatedness*, but the results are inconclusive. For example, most climate migrant households stated positive effects on family relations in one cross-country study (Melde et al. 2017). Yet, other studies argue that social exclusion is frequent for climate migrants in many cities (Adger et al. 2020). Moreover, reviews point out that displacement and relocations frequently fragment social networks and cohesion, which contributes to psychosocial issues, and may engender frictions, tensions, and discord among generations (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021; Schwerdtle et al. 2020). In relocations specifically, community support and social support are key to mitigate challenges and ease adjustment to unfamiliar settings; however, the possibility to maintain social relationships hinges upon community structure and relocation design (Yates et al. 2021).

Expanding these findings, reviews on general migration confirm that social networks are key for support in destinations (Munshi 2020; Selod & Shilpi 2021) and for recovery after displacement (World Bank 2017b). Social impacts depend on changing family and household dynamics throughout migration (Bedford et al. 2009). The distance to family members and translocal relationships can cause psychological distress for migrants (Selod & Shilpi 2021), and losing social support can have strong mental health repercussions (Fellmeth et al. 2017; Hynie 2018). Female migration can occur as a self-sacrifice for the family, but can also strain family ties, for example when it challenges patriarchal norms or when it involves translocal parenting. Female migrants with legal status and formal employment have better chances to become socially empowered (Fleury 2016). After disasters and displacement, social relations can change profoundly (Bonanno et al. 2010; Cohan & Cole 2002). For example, mental diseases and worsened parenting efficacy or support can harm family functioning (Green et al. 1991; Hackbarth et al.

2012; McDermott et al. 2010; McDermott & Cobham 2012; McFarlane 1987; Pfefferbaum et al. 2016). Successive displacements are common and can also disrupt social capital and networks, because building social ties requires years (World Bank 2017b). On the contrary, supportive primary relationships as well as family or community cohesion and support raise forced migrants' resilience against mental illnesses (Siriwardhana et al. 2014).

4.2.1.4 Effects on Sending Communities

Climate change, migration, and development are intertwined across localities (Lucas 2021a). Generally speaking, emigration can bolster development for sending communities, but it also implies costs and losses, so that the net effects on adaptive capacities in hometowns remain debated (Vinke et al. 2020): Webber and Barnett argue that "in most cases, and in aggregate, migration seems to contribute positively to the capacity of those left behind to adapt to climate change" (2010: 22), whereas others argue that emigration can increase precarity (Porst & Sakdapolrak 2018).

First, economic effects for sending households "are usually mixed... and in large measure [migration] can be seen as either virtuous or vicious for development" (Katseli et al. 2006; Martin 2005: 190). While sending areas of climate migrants often profit, the effects depend on the context and phase of migration and tend to be unevenly distributed (Rigaud et al. 2018; Webber & Barnett 2010). Since cross-border migration is too costly for many people, it can initially raise inequality in sending areas (see below on remittances); yet over time, the relationship between emigration and inequality at home seems to be U-shaped (McKenzie & Rapoport 2007). Wages in sending countries can increase for workers with similar, substitutable skills, while those with different or complementary skills stand to lose (World Bank 2018). A systematic review finds that international migration reduces labor force in rural areas, which can trigger child labor, land control losses, and a feminization of agriculture at home (Obi et al. 2020). Emigration can both reduce the labor force and erode traditions at home and thus raise food insecurity (Kothari 2003; Sherman et al. 2015). While emigration can also generate employment at home, labor availability, service delivery, and equality may decrease if many highly-skilled persons migrate (Katseli et al. 2006). Finally, human capital effects depend on context and can include brain drain (loss of human capital due to high-skill emigration), brain gain (increase in human capital investment), or brain circulation (knowledge diffusion and economic integration) (Beine et al. 2008; Kone & Özden 2017; McAuliffe et al. 2019).

Second, *financial flows* such as remittances, diaspora bonds, and fundraising by hometown associations can support relatives at home (Mendola 2012; Mohapatra et al. 2012). Reviews highlight that remittances can raise expenditures and reduce poverty for migrant households (Obi et al. 2020; Ratha et al. 2011), and children with migrant parents have usually more household assets (DeWaard et al. 2018). Multiplier effects due to remittances spending and changes in the labor market can also reach non-recipients (Katseli et al. 2006; Mendola 2012). As often-stable inflows, remittances can provide insurance against shocks or buffer them; they can thus also support recovery from-and to some extent preparedness to-climate impacts (Banerjee et al. 2017; Bendandi & Pauw 2016; Rigaud et al. 2018). Migrant networks may also aid home areas by delivering or organizing humanitarian or development projects, information, and political action (ADB 2012; Webber & Barnett 2010). Moreover, hometowns may profit from social remittances, such as technology and skill transfers (de Haas 2009; Levitt & Lamba-Nieves 2011). For example, migration can facilitate the spread of mobile phones (Hübler 2016; Kothari 2003). For climate migration, results are inconclusive: one cross-country study finds positive effects of remittances on poverty reduction but less so on adaptive capacity (Melde et al. 2017), while another one is more positive on the adaptive benefits (Scheffran et al. 2012). However, remittances also imply challenges. First, they can create dependencies (de Haas 2010a). Second, remittances may raise inequalities since the poorest often cannot migrate or their migrant members cannot remit (Le Dé et al. 2013; Schade et al. 2016; Tacoli 2011), but such effects remain debated (Azizi 2021). Third, benefits "might come at substantial social costs to the migrants and their families" (Ratha et al. 2011: para 1). For example, short-term employment migrants often have to service loans and fees for long, and thus, "the absence of regular remittances because of loan repayments poses a double burden on the left-behind" (Bedford et al. 2009: 64).

Third, remittances can have several *health effects*. While they are primarily spent on food, more affluent recipients also invest in health care and housing (UNDP 2009). Two reviews confirm that remittances often improve educational and health indicators, including food security (Obi et al. 2020; Ratha et al. 2011). A different review qualifies that remittances can reduce food insecurity and underweight, but not chronic undernourishment, while they may also increase unhealthy food intake (Thow et al. 2016). For climate migration, a cross-country study finds that it can stabilize food consumption in sending areas, yet outcomes depend on the profiles of migrants (Warner & Afifi 2014). Besides remittances, visits and returns can also improve health knowledge and preventative health care in sending areas (Hildebrandt & McKenzie 2005; UNDP 2009;

Yang 2009). Nevertheless, debates continue if some groups staying behind can suffer from increased morbidity for certain diseases or conditions (Abubakar et al. 2018). For example, while one review does not find different or worse outcomes for the physical health of children with absent parents (Abubakar et al. 2018), another meta-analysis reports that migration strongly worsened nutrition and mental health of left-behind children and adolescents "with no evidence of any benefit" (Fellmeth et al. 2018: 1). The health of left-behind, older family members in rural areas can also deteriorate (e.g. Ao et al. 2016).

Fourth, the effects of emigration on *education* at home can be mixed. They partially depend on "changes in family composition and the role of women within the family and society" (Katseli et al. 2006: 9). Especially wealthier house-holds also spend remittances on education, which raises schooling rates and reduces child labor (Lucas 2021c; UNDP 2009; Yang 2009). Additionally, high-wage emigration can create brain gain when it raises stayers' desires to move and thus incentivizes spending on education (Dustmann & Glitz 2011; Kone & Özden 2017), but not always, for example, when more housework reduces school attendance and attainment (McKenzie & Rapoport 2011).

Fifth, the *social effects* of emigration on stayers differ and are shaped by age and gender. If men move, female stayers may experience greater autonomy, but also increased workload and emotional strains (Abdurazakova 2013); if women move, men may have to assume (often-unfamiliar) household and child caring duties, which can be challenging if norms frame such work as feminine (Fleury 2016). Long separations of children from parents and of couples create social strains in developing countries worldwide (Lucas 2021c). Ultimately, extended family networks are a key mediator for children and older adults to manage the absence of migrants (Bedford et al. 2009).

Lastly, the effects of migration on the *environment* at home are not fixed. Environmental stress can be reduced as population pressure is lowered, land abandoned, and agriculture de-intensified; yet weakened local resource management after emigration and rising consumption due to remittances can create opposite effects (Gray & Bilsborrow 2014; Rigaud et al. 2018; Scheffran et al. 2012).

4.2.1.5 Effects on Receiving Communities

While not the focus of this study, I also briefly review the possible effects of immigration on receiving areas. Overall, such effects depend on migrants' social factors as well as markets, structures, and policies at their destination (Rigaud et al. 2018; Webber & Barnett 2010). While climate migrants are often "used as 'scapegoats' for a host of larger socioeconomic structural issues" and portrayed as creating "competition, tensions and conflict" in receiving areas, reality

is more complex (Melde et al. 2017: 11). First, migration usually creates net economic benefits for receiving countries (Golding et al. 2018; McKinsey&Company 2016; World Bank 2018) and refugees also contribute to growth if they can work (Betts et al. 2014). Yet, unreceptive settings can induce brain waste (McAuliffe et al. 2019). Aggregate labor markets effects are often marginal, defined by the degree of skill complementarity between migrants and non-migrants (Clemens et al. 2018; OECD 2018; Ruhs 2015). If migration restocks the labor force, it supports wealth, taxes, public goods, pensions, and care systems; if labor is scarce overall or in certain segments, results can be mixed and may include labor market segmentation (Golding et al. 2018; McAuliffe et al. 2019; Webber & Barnett 2010). For example, meta-analyses in richer countries find that immigration affects wages and work marginally while native job losses are small at most (Longhi et al. 2008, 2010). However, a review argues that the effects can differ for internal migration in developing countries; because their labor markets tend to be more "dualistic and isolated... with a predominance of unskilled workers, migration could be more likely to depress local wages and the employment rate" in the short term (the longer term remains unclear) (Selod & Shilpi 2021: 29). The impacts of displacement camps for host areas are also mixed (Cazabat 2020). Such camps can increase wealth for nearby rural households, but also raise food prices and reduce wealth in urban areas (Alix-Garcia et al. 2018; Alix-Garcia & Saah 2010; Taylor et al. 2016). Regarding health and education, the evidence is mixed. Immigration creates additional demand for such services and may overcharge them, but it can also provide benefits. For example, the immigration of health workers is essential to maintain care systems in many countries (Connell 2010; Kingma 2018; Stilwell et al. 2004). As another health effect, migration and travel can, under certain circumstances, be one factor in the spread of communicable and infectious diseases in transit and receiving areas (Bedford et al. 2009; Heymann 2007; Tognotti 2013). Next, concerning a space to live better, findings are mixed. Internal migration is key for urbanization, a salient process in in the Global South (Cerrutti & Bertoncello 2003; Murillo 2014; UNDESA 2018; Villa et al. 2017). Urbanization, in turn, can cause "negative externalities, such as high unemployment, strained infrastructure, and environmental degradation"; however, cities can also help reduce poverty and environmental harm and are "often unfairly stigmatized" (Marcotullio et al. 2012; Rigaud et al. 2018: 35). How immigration affects urban adaptive capacities remains unclear (Barnett & Adger 2018), while its effects on local environments depend on context: ensuing clustered population growth can result in land-use change or degradation and pollution (Bilsborrow 1992; Hugo 1996), but not necessarily so (Muradian 2006; Price & Feldmeyer 2012). Finally, in receiving areas, immigration also

has complex and context-dependent *fiscal impacts* (Rowthorn 2008), as well as effects on *innovation*, *foreign direct investment*, *official development assistance*, and *trade flows* (Egger et al. 2012; McAuliffe et al. 2019; Webber & Barnett 2010); on *demography* (Coleman 2008; Rodríguez-Vignoli & Rowe 2018); on *social cohesion* and *diversity* (Bauloz et al. 2019; Reitz et al. 2009); and on *conflicts* (Burrows & Kinney 2016).

4.2.2 Effects on SWB

SWB—present emotional and cognitive evaluations of need fulfillment alongside views of the future—offers an additional analytical lens (see Section 2.3). Below, I first review the evidence on the general changeability of SWB and its effects before examining the links between migration and SWB.

4.2.2.1 Changeability and Effects of SWB

The evidence demonstrates that while certain factors stabilize present SWB, other processes can change it enduringly (Veenhoven 2015). Change factors exist at the macro and individual levels, with different durations of effects; the interaction of all the factors discussed below determines SWB (Diener et al. 2017a). First, the large SWB differences between countries is partially due to varied *macro conditions*, such as wealth, rule of law, freedom, inequality, corruption, and climate (Rentfrow 2018; Tay et al. 2014). This *livability of the surroundings* may explain about three quarters of the SWB variance between states (Veenhoven 2015). Research on the effects of the physical environment is limited; it suggests that SWB is highest in moderate climate zones; air quality can slightly decrease SWB; and differences between rural and urban areas are marginal (Veenhoven 2015).

Second, besides macro conditions, *individual factors* shape SWB, and people's *life-ability* may explain up to half of the variance (Veenhoven 2015). Genes and related personality and proficiencies fix a certain "set range" of long-term SWB (Diener & Biswas-Diener 2008: 162) but how strongly this range is "set" remains disputed (Anglim et al. 2020; Bartels & Boomsma 2009; Neve et al. 2012; Røysamb et al. 2018). Age and gender may have effects (Biermann et al. 2022; Senik 2015; Veenhoven 2015). Beyond these stable, inner life-ability factors, change can occur at the individual level for three reasons. To start with, a review and a meta-analysis find that psychological *interventions* can partially raise people's SWB over the long term (Koydemir et al. 2021; Solanes et al. 2021). In addition, *brief stimuli* such as weather, season, moods, random events,

and preceding questions can change SWB self-reports shortly, but appropriate survey design and data aggregation over time can reduce their influence (Diener et al. 2017a). Moreover, certain *life events* and *changes in life circumstances* can alter SWB, although the magnitude of effects has been debated (Cummins 2014). Hedonic adaptation level theory stipulates that people get used to new stimuli as well as to recurring or constant situations (see Section 2.3). Yet, while most people adapt to adverse or positive situations to a certain extent, a meta-analysis

as well as to recurring or constant situations (see Section 2.3). Yet, while most people adapt to adverse or positive situations to a certain extent, a meta-analysis emphasizes that SWB is not static or always adaptable (Luhmann et al. 2012). Recent life events can shape well-being for some time (Suh et al. 1996) and certain major life (or course of life) events can shift SWB levels lastingly (Luhmann et al. 2012). Meta-analyses and longitudinal research find that major life events concern more the cognitive than the emotional dimension of SWB, and can have diverging impacts on these two features. They do not necessarily depend on the perceived desirability of the events. And their effects are more pronounced for certain individuals than others (Anglim et al. 2020; Luhmann et al. 2012; Luhmann et al. 2013; Yap et al. 2014).² A longitudinal, nationally representative study in Australia reveals that positive events, such as monetary gains and retirement can lastingly raise cognitive satisfaction, although followed by emotional adaptation (Kettlewell et al. 2020). Conversely, so-called scarring due to certain strong negative life events, such as unemployment, can enduringly reduce SWB even after remedy of the events (Jovanović 2019; Mousteri et al. 2018). For example, SWB can return to previous states after people are widowed or separated, but health shocks and financial losses decrease cognitive satisfaction and emotional balance without hedonic adaptation (Kettlewell et al. 2020). Migration figures among the life events that can shift present SWB beyond adaptation, as discussed in detail further below (Kettlewell et al. 2020; Luhmann et al. 2012; Luhmann et al. 2013).

Similarly, subjective *future-oriented states* can change to some degree, although a certain disposition for hope(lessness)³ seems stable (Hellman et al. 2013). Hope has diverse internal and external sources (Pleeging et al. 2021b),

² Some life satisfaction stability may be due to personality factors and parental influence, but people have varied volatility (variability within a certain period, but similar mean level over a longer period); medium and long-term changes can occur due to differences and changes in values, life priorities and behavioral choices, see Headey & Muffels (2018).

 $^{^3}$ For brevity, I will use hope as the shorthand term for both hope and its antonym hopelessness.

some of which are relatively firm (such as biology⁴ and social factors or culture and history), whereas others appear more variable (such as past experiences and choices or social networks and work). Therefore, hope can be lost due to major life transitions, traumatic events, loss, failure, alienation, and lack of social connections, control, or progress (Edey & Jevne 2003; Snyder 2002). However, strong evidence simultaneously demonstrates that specific interventions can raise hope (Hernandez & Overholser 2021; Long et al. 2020).

Feeling well and being content with life in the present and having hope for the future are not only states that people desire but also have major downstream effects on them, as converging empirical evidence proves. Present SWB can raise work productivity, creativity, and how people contribute to their organizations; support health and longevity; improve caring social relationships; as well as increase virtuous behavior, such as volunteering and donations (Diener et al. 2017a; Diener et al. 2017b; Diener et al. 2018b). Due to these beneficial ripple effects, more positive emotions and cognitive satisfaction are mostly desirable, yet not at all costs, without limits, or in all situations (see Section 2.3). Likewise, having hope or not strongly affects several aspects of life. According to a review, possible internal effects of hope include motivation, personal development, positive feelings and comfort, meaning and purpose, or spiritual experiences, but also disappointment. Potential external effects include shared feelings of identity, socially shared capital, smoothed social interaction, virtuous or ethical behavior, or mobilizing large groups, but also societal disillusionment and abuse or manipulation of people (Pleeging et al. 2021b). Views of the future, such as outcome expectancies, are a key determinator of action and behavior (Feather 1992; Wigfield & Cambria 2021; Wigfield & Eccles 2000).⁵ Hope and optimism are significantly correlated with better performance and success at work, improved social relations, and increased psychological and physical health, whereas hopelessness and pessimism deepen perceptions of vulnerability, uncontrollability, and unpredictability, and block action and engagement (Carver & Scheier 2014; Cheavens & Guter 2017; Forgeard & Seligman 2012; Long et al. 2020). Hope and positive future self-views also strongly predict SWB in the present (Lu et al. 2018; Satici 2016; Werner 2012)⁶ and the relationship seems bidirectional (Long

⁴ The exact degree of genetic heritability remains unclear but may amount to around 30%, see Carver & Scheier (2014).

⁵ This fact links back to Expectancy Value Theory (see Vroom (1964)), which holds that motivation for actions or behavior depends on the perceived (future) probability of achieving the desired outcome and the value attached to it.

⁶ Three mechanisms are possible: hope can shape (a) the extent of creativity and perseverance and thus the creation of successful experiences, (b) the awareness of opportunities and their
et al. 2020; Pleeging et al. 2021a). Similar as for present SWB, more optimism and hope are typically beneficial, but exceptions exist (see Section 2.3). Finally, how people subjectively perceive their future time also affects well-being (Kooij et al. 2018). One reason is that different *future time perspectives* result in different motivations for action (Lens et al. 2012).⁷ For example, children focus on exploring and learning, but people who perceive their future time as limited increasingly prioritize emotionally meaningful goals (Liao & Carstensen 2018).

4.2.2.2 Migration and Present SWB

While many migration theories presume that people move to maximize their standard of living (Brettell & Hollifield 2014b; King 2012; Massey et al. 1993; Piguet 2018), more complete measures of well-being are gradually entering academic debate and policy frameworks (Laczko & Appave 2013). Migration requires widereaching adjustments in daily lives, and OWB effects do not necessarily converge with SWB outcomes⁸; the related literature is relatively new but has advanced over the past decade (Haindorfer 2019a; Helliwell et al. 2018b; Hendriks & Commandeur 2018).

The SWB concept has to my knowledge not yet been directly applied to climate migration, but indirect evidence suggests that it can provide valuable additional insights. For example, one review finds that climate migration and relocation in the Pacific can render "new hope and reliefs from fears of … hazards" but "even the least disruptive movements caused significant stress", and can trigger strong fear, sadness, distress, and resentment by disrupting relationships to land, culture, identity, and social networks (Yates et al. 2021: 1). Studies only focused on OWB would miss such key findings.

Given the shortage of SWB studies on climate migration, research on general migration provides supplementary, but occasionally mixed results, as discussed below. Most studies focus on cross-border *free* and *improvement* migration to rich destinations, but less so on internal, *distress*, or *survival* movements (Hendriks & Commandeur 2018; Knight & Gunatilaka 2018). Existing analyses are

use, and (c) the openness to new situations, relationships, or impressions, and thus the ability to gain experiences and skills. See Pleeging et al. (2021a).

⁷ Even though experienced time increases and remaining future time generally decreases with age, individuals of similar age can hold different contents and extensions or depths of future time perspectives, see Kooij et al. (2018).

⁸ Qualitative studies confirm that well-being effects can be complex. For example, work on low-income Peruvian emigrants in London and Madrid demonstrates that benefits, such as sending remittances and status gains on return, may be offset by losses, discrimination, and problems in other well-being aspects. See Wright (2010, 2011).

mostly quantitative, cross-sectional comparisons between migrants and stayers (non-migrants), matched stayers, or natives at one point in time (Bartram 2015; Hendriks & Bartram 2019; Laczko & Appave 2013). Comparisons to matched stayers can reveal information that comparisons with natives may conceal due to intrinsic differences between the migrant and the local population (such as culture or language). Nonetheless, these cross-sectional approaches cannot unveil how migrants' present SWB develops over time, and may entail further problems. In comparisons with locals, ecological fallacy can be an issue; in comparisons with stayers (and for longitudinal studies), selectivity and endogeneity can be problematic (Bartram et al. 2013; Haindorfer 2019a). For example, studies cannot rule out that people who migrate are inclined to more or less happiness than stayers. Various studies try to control for selection bias through statistical methods such as matching, which cannot fully account for the problem (Hendriks 2015). A few natural experiments exist that avoid selection bias (e.g. Stillman et al. 2015), and longitudinal studies also provide robust insights (e.g. Chen et al. 2019)

To start with, the evidence highlights that migration conditions strongly affect SWB (Bartram et al. 2013; Hendriks 2015). The degree of voluntariness is one key factor (Bartram 2015). Survival or distress migration often challenges mental health for long, including through suffering and trauma (McMichael et al. 2012; Murray et al. 2008; Schwerdtle et al. 2017). Conversely, free or improvement migrants may have higher capabilities and better chances to meet their goals. However, they could also have greater expectations and thus be more likely to be disappointed after settling. The exact SWB effects depend on drivers, reasons, and events behind migration, and "[i]t would be desirable to investigate the happiness consequences of migration by migration motives" (Nowok et al. 2013: 999). Yet, SWB data on forced migration remains "virtually nonexistent" (Hendriks & Bartram 2019: 286). A meta-analysis finds that SWB effects are often positive for voluntary movements but results are unclear for involuntary cases (Luhmann et al. 2012). Gallup data suggests that refugees in Germany raised their SWB, but less so than other migrants (Helliwell et al. 2018b). By contrast, a longitudinal study in the UK (2002-2012) shows that voluntary migrants maintain high levels of well-being, but older internal migrants who move involuntarily (for example, due to health reasons or a split from the partner) also decrease the well-being decline that can be linked to ageing (Finney & Marshall 2018). Beyond voluntariness, the spatial, cultural, and linguistic distance covered by migrants are other key factors shaping SWB conditions. Thus, below, I first discuss results on internal migration, the focus of this dissertation, and complement them with findings on cross-border flows.

For *internal migrants*, the evidence is still limited for poorer countries (Helliwell et al. 2018b). Nevertheless, various high-quality longitudinal studies and cross-sectional analyses offer mostly matching results. To begin with, two longitudinal studies for poorer countries indicate negative effects. Research in Indonesia (2000-2007) highlights that people with higher aspirations self-select into internal migration, but even economic success may fail to raise their SWB (Czaika & Vothknecht 2014). Similarly, a study in rural Pakistan (1991-2013) finds that migrants are 12-14 percentage points less likely to feel happy or calm despite strong economic gains, even when accounting for selection effects (Chen et al. 2019). For richer countries, longitudinal studies render more mixed results. An analysis in South Africa (2008-2012) indicates that rural-urban migration raises incomes but reduces SWB by 8.3% four years after moving, even if controlled for self-selection (Mulcahy & Kollamparambil 2016). Similarly, a nationally representative study in Australia (2002-2016) finds that moving homes lastingly reduces cognitive satisfaction but not emotional balances (Kettlewell et al. 2020). Yet in other countries, results seem more positive. Data in Great Britain (1996-2008) documents that migrants' SWB strongly declines before moving, then increases back to initial levels after settling, but does not rise further (Findlay & Nowok 2012; Nowok et al. 2013). The authors control for selection effects and find no SWB differences due to gender or spatial distance. A study in Germany (1985–2016) identifies a causal SWB effect of migration, even when controlling for selection effects. Both genders but only long-distance migrants experience an anticipation effect of migration that reduces SWB before and shortly after moving (for example, due to preparation stress or prior overestimation of negative effects). Yet after settling, male migrants reach lasting SWB gains of 0.35 points on a scale from 0 to 10, whereas women return to initial set points. Urban destinations raise SWB more permanently than rural ones (Kratz 2020). Similarly, in a Finnish study (1966, '67, '80, '97), only rural-urban male migrants reported significantly higher SWB than non-migrants (Ek et al. 2008). Moreover, a crosssectional analysis in China shows that migrants achieve higher incomes but lower SWB than stayers in rural areas (Knight & Gunatilaka 2010, 2018). Related, a small-N study in Germany accounting for selection effects finds that internal migrants have less SWB than locals (Hendriks et al. 2016), similarly as in China (Cheng et al. 2014) and Turkey (Aksel et al. 2007). Finally, explicit questions on migration success exist but are still rare; they may also be prone to various cognitive biases (Haindorfer 2019b). While most interregional Nordic migrants in Europe (1999-2001) self-reported satisfaction with migration outcomes (Lundholm & Malmberg 2006), in Thailand, a study with explicit before-after migration questions finds that slightly more permanent migrants raise satisfaction than not, but results are worse for temporary migrants (de Jong et al. 2002).

Additionally, studies on cross-border migration provide partly transferable insights for internal migration.⁹ One *natural experiment* study of a visa lottery for migrants from Tonga to New Zealand finds that despite large gains in OWB, migrants' SWB declined and was "0.8 points lower than they would have been in Tonga, about four years after migrating" (Stillman et al. 2015: 11). Longitudinal data are scarce. One study of Russian migrants in Finland (2008-2013) finds that SWB rose half a year after migration, but then stabilized, while selfesteem declined (Lönnqvist et al. 2015; Mähönen et al. 2013). Other longitudinal data (1990-2014) exists for migration between former East and West Germany after reunification, which falls in between international and internal migration (Melzer 2011; Melzer & Muffels 2012, 2017). Most East-to-West migrants experienced a SWB decline around the first move and a sharp rise during the first year of settling, after which SWB plateaus, despite strong income profits. All migrants gain SWB compared to former East German peers (men more than women) but remain slightly below the level of locals. Conversely, West-to-East migrants' SWB decreases after settling but remains higher than that of locals. Furthermore, cross-sectional studies add mixed results. Gallup data of 156 countries (2005-2017) documents that many migrants moving to happier countries tend to increase happiness, unlike those reaching unhappier countries, even if figuring in selection effects (Helliwell et al. 2018a). Several studies also suggest that migrants fare better than similar stayers (Bartram et al. 2013). For example, migrants moving from post-socialist states to richer countries raise their SWB compared to matched stayers (Nikolova & Graham 2015). In a similar fashion, the SWB of most but not all immigrants in Canada and the UK increases relative to stayers, particularly strongly for migrants from countries with lower average SWB (Frank et al. 2016; Helliwell et al. 2020). In like manner, a study using Latin America Gallup data shows that international emigrants became modestly happier than comparable stayers once living abroad, while before moving, they had used to be unhappier (but wealthier) than those wishing to stay. SWB gains were greater for Latin American than non-Latin American destinations and highest for middle-aged migrants in their working years (Graham & Nikolova 2018). However, conflicting data exists; specifically, older studies suggest that Latin American emigrants realize income gains but remain less satisfied than stayers

⁹ While internal and international migration conditions differ in some aspects, there can also be commonalities. Still, the results here on cross-border movements can only be transferred in part to internal migration.

(Graham 2016; Graham & Markowitz 2011). On the contrary, studies agree that only few international migrants reach similar SWB levels as *locals* (Bartram et al. 2013; Hendriks & Commandeur 2018). In Canada and the UK, migrants' SWB approaches that of natives but remains slightly lower (Helliwell et al. 2020) and in thirteen European countries, it stays below that of natives (Safi 2010; Vroome & Hooghe 2014). Scholars suspect that the context influences outcomes, and that migrants remain unhappier than (even comparable) natives in richer countries, while they have more comparable levels in poorer countries (Bartram et al. 2013; Safi 2010). Lastly, regarding the question of adaptation, data suggests that international migrants' SWB plateaus over time and the second generation may not be more satisfied than their parents (Helliwell et al. 2018b; Safi 2010). However, studies on SWB adaptation after migration are rare and more conclusive findings on long-term effects are "clearly needed" (Luhmann et al. 2012: 610).

All things considered, theory and data point to several determinants of migrants' present SWB. Theory holds that SWB can be shaped by (a) adaptation to new situations, (b) social comparisons, or (c) altered aspirations after settling (see Section 2.2.3). Existing data illuminates that these three mechanisms can but do not necessarily overlap (Haindorfer 2019a; Melzer & Muffels 2017). Gains compared to own past living standards seem key, followed by comparisons to peers in home villages and destinations as well as self-ranking in society at large (Bartram 2010; Clark & Senik 2010; Gelatt 2013; Melzer & Muffels 2017; Senik 2009). Along the same vein, several empirical studies explain migrants' worse SWB compared to stayers-or the lack of full SWB convergence-by false expectations, lacking information, unrealized or rising aspirations, shifting reference groups, and relative deprivation (Chen et al. 2019; Czaika & Vothknecht 2014; Knight & Gunatilaka 2018; Mulcahy & Kollamparambil 2016). Many of them focus on how income changes affect migrants' SWB (Haindorfer 2019a), although income is not the major driver of SWB and may thus have limited explanatory power (Hendriks & Commandeur 2018). Some studies link migrants' SWB gains to income increases and find no evidence for hedonic adaptation (Melzer & Muffels 2017), but others argue that even high-income gains do not raise SWB (Chen et al. 2019; Stillman et al. 2015). One well-established explanation could be that comparison effects result in complex SWB effects.¹⁰ Social comparisons and footprint effects seem to influence SWB simultaneously. On the one hand, the SWB in migrants' areas of origin-and thus the conditions into

¹⁰ Especially in richer (less so in poorer) countries, once people become wealthier beyond a threshold, they adapt and their aspirations or reference groups can change; relative rather than absolute gains become key, and accordingly, more income does not necessarily yield higher SWB, see Easterlin (2001); Easterlin & O'Connor (2020); Easterlin et al. (2010).

which they were born—have "small but significant footprint effects" for their SWB even years after settling (Helliwell et al. 2020: 1637). On the other hand, migrants' SWB also depends on the average SWB of locals, to which they tend to converge to a certain degree. Data suggests that "on average, a migrant gains in happiness about three-quarters of the difference in average happiness between the country of origin and the destination country" (Helliwell et al. 2018b: 6). Lastly, SWB also depends on macro conditions in destinations, including socioeconomic and governance variables (Hendriks & Bartram 2016). For instance, hurdles for migrants' SWB include adverse living conditions, social and emotional costs of adjusting to a new life, discrimination, language difficulties, and less time spent on SWB-lifting activities (Chen et al. 2019; Helliwell et al. 2018b; Hendriks et al. 2016; Safi 2010; Texidó & Warn 2013).

Moving also influences the SWB of migrants' kin who live elsewhere. The effects are context-dependent, but studies suggest that costs of moving (such as emotions related to family separation) can be high even when compared with the benefits (such as receiving remittances) (Laczko & Appave 2013). For example, a Gallup survey in 156 countries (2015-2017) shows that partial household emigration creates mixed SWB effects for remaining family members: on average, they improve life satisfaction and positive feelings, but simultaneously feel more negative emotions such as sadness, worry, and anger, especially due to temporary migration (Hendriks et al. 2018). Likewise, a study using Gallup data for 114 countries (2009-2011) finds that stayers experience higher satisfaction and positive emotions and yet also report more stress and depression. Remittances can enhance SWB gains-especially in poorer and more unequal societies and for poor respondents-but do not offset adverse effects, and impacts are less negative in areas where migration is common (Ivlevs et al. 2019). Results seem consistent in Latin America, where families with migrant members benefit from remittances and make modest satisfaction gains, but also report more depression than others (Graham & Nikolova 2018). By the same token, an earlier study finds that cross-border migration from Latin America raises satisfaction of family members staying (probably linked to remittances) but decreases nutritional security at the same time (Cárdenas et al. 2009). Other studies identify mostly negative effects: one systematic review with studies mostly on internal migration in China and in 15 other low- and middle-income countries highlights that children, adolescents, older parents, and spouses left behind suffer from physical and mental health issues (Paudyal & Tunprasert 2018). Certain effects can be gendered; a study in Central Asia documents that after male emigration, women can suffer from added care burdens and may feel isolated, deprived, and sad (Abdurazakova 2013).

4.2.2.3 Migration, Climate Change, and Views of the Future

The links between migration and time have only recently gained more attention (Baas & Yeoh 2019; Cwerner 2001; Griffiths et al. 2013), however, especially *migrants' views of the future* remain "quite understudied" (Boccagni 2017: 2). A small number of studies exist on the objects and the subjects of migrants' imagined futures; the determinants of baseline hopes and fears, their changeability after migration, and relevant mechanisms; their functions; and the heterogeneity of outlooks to the future.

First, the *objects* of imagined futures after migration are diverse but tend to include employment, income, education, better living conditions, upward social mobility, safe return and investment, or legalization (Boccagni 2017; Portes et al. 1978; van Meeteren et al. 2009; Wake et al. 2019; Yeboah 2021). Migrants do not only imagine a future for themselves, but *subjects* of their views of the future frequently involve peers. Primarily, views of the future tend to involve other generations. Even when migration displaces or postpones migrants' own hopes over time, many of them still hold externalized hope for their children (Boccagni 2016, 2017; Pine 2014; Wake et al. 2019).

Next, migrants' initial views of the future depend on socioeconomic and demographic factors as well as personal factors. Often, people with high aspirations self-select into migration (Czaika & Vothknecht 2012), but a lack of information can bias their expectancies (Knight & Gunatilaka 2010). Still, views of the future are not static during migrants' life course: imagined futures often appear open, blurred, and accessible early after moving but over the course of migration, relative deprivation and worsened social status can gradually flatten these imaginations and make them more uncertain, ambivalent, and closed (Boccagni 2017). Other studies confirm that risks and uncertainty created by migration can alter views of the future (Wake et al. 2019; Williams & Baláž 2012), sporadically creating oscillations between hope and despair (Pettit & Ruijtenberg 2019). Notwithstanding, even forced migration can create hope if refugees feel safe and welcome and improve their living conditions (Siriwardhana et al. 2014). Finally, rural-to-urban migrants may increase their aspirations for the future, for example, regarding asset wealth, once they become established (Chen et al. 2019).

Migrants create future expectations through various mechanisms, which include chances and problems in the present, such as poverty, inadequate living conditions, discrimination, and exclusion (Koo 2012; Ming et al. 2021; Pettit & Ruijtenberg 2019; Wake et al. 2019). Views of the future also depend on personal-level processes, such as evaluations of past accomplishments and skills (Portes et al. 1978), as well as comparisons between migrants' present utility of life and

the socially-expected utility in life course stages (Hu et al. 2020). Moreover, a 'stress-is-enhancing' mindset and the belief in upward social mobility are coping mechanisms that can mitigate hopelessness in deprived rural-to-urban migrants (Ming et al. 2021). In a similar fashion, climate relocatees who trust in god's provision or protection often hold hope and determination for a better future (Yates et al. 2021).

Critically, views of the future have varied functions for migrants. Hope often motivates action, although not always in ways stringent with desired outcomes (Boccagni 2017). Moreover, hope can provide consolation. Many low-wage migrants endure hardship in the present and near future only because they are oriented toward hopes for the long-term future (Pine 2014), and hope helps forced migrants to navigate post-displacement challenges (Umer & Elliot 2021; Yohani & Larsen 2009). Nevertheless, being hopeful is not unequivocally positive. For example, detained asylum seekers often suffer from extreme uncertainty and despair, yet overfocusing on the unrealistic hope of moving to safety can further diminish daily functioning (Turner 2017). In general, uncertainty or unpredictability—for example regarding duration of migration, employment or legal status—can also affect migrants' decisions, such as if to enter serious social relationships (Griffiths et al. 2013).

Overall, the limited existing literature suggests that migrants' hopes and fears regarding the future are heterogeneous. For example, studied Rohingya refugees in Bangladesh were "cautious and constrained" regarding future expectancies (Wake et al. 2019: 10); rural-to-urban migrants in China suffered from low expectations, high hopelessness, and high uncertainty for their futures (Knight & Gunatilaka 2010; Koo 2012; Ming et al. 2021); and in Ghana, young rural-to-urban migrants' held hopes despite constraints (Yeboah 2021). A review of climate relocations in the Pacific documents this heterogeneity. It finds that relocatees frequently suffered from anxiety due to the uncertainty of their futures and the unfamiliarity of their new environment as well as from fear of near hazards and concerns about intensifying climate change. Simultaneously, some relocatees gained a sense of safety after relocation, and many held hope and determination for a better future (Yates et al. 2021).

While few (climate) migration studies examine people's views of the future, increasing evidence highlights that climate change itself strongly affects future expectations (Doherty & Clayton 2011; Helm et al. 2018; Manning & Clayton 2018), and one can reasonably assume that some of the insights from this literature also apply to migrants from areas affected by climate hazards. Climate change shapes people' future expectations through various mechanisms. On the negative end, general concerns about uncontrollable, unpredictable, and uncertain

climatic changes can induce negative views of the future, perceived helplessness, and inaction (Albrecht 2011; Hayes et al. 2018). Moreover, approaching or already experienced climate impacts can create uncertainty, generalized anxiety, hopelessness, feeling of doom, resignation or fatalism (Bennett & McMichael 2010; Clayton 2020; Fritze et al. 2008; Hayes et al. 2018). As one example, despair can ensue when climate impacts destroy homes or cherished environments (Albrecht et al. 2007; Albrecht 2011; Tschakert & Tutu 2010; Warsini et al. 2014). On the more positive end, hope is possible as long as people perceive chances to take action (Fritze et al. 2008), and vice versa, active, constructive hopes can raise psychological adaptation or motivate action (Hayes et al. 2018; Ojala 2012). Even climate anxiety is not maladaptive per se, as long as it does not induce rumination or block action (Clayton 2020). Furthermore, climate threats can raise cooperation, compassion, and bonding that ultimately contribute to optimism (Edwards & Wiseman 2011; Hayes et al. 2018; Ramsay & Manderson 2011). Lastly, optimism, hope, and faith protect against disaster trauma and help people to cope with related severe losses (Cherry et al. 2017; Hackbarth et al. 2012; Hirono & Blake 2017).

4.3 Summary and Implications for this Study

In this section, I briefly synthesize the main review findings on climate *migration* and infer implications for this study. Conversely, the effects of climate *immobilities* remain a key research gap.

The evidence on how migration can alter OWB is most robust for effects on livelihoods and health, while education, social ties, security, as well as hazard exposure and vulnerability are explored less. There are also few studies that comprehensively assess the interrelations of OWB variables and their links with SWB. These areas indicate research gaps that this study partially aims to bridge.

First, the existing evidence suggests that climate migration may facilitate *development from a secure base* only under certain conditions. Forced migrants and relocatees are more likely to suffer losses in income, education, and health than voluntary ones. Gains are smaller for internal than for cross-border migrants. Worldwide, many internal migrants make stepwise *livelihood* gains, but the conditions of moving, household vulnerabilities, intersectional social factors, and the context of reception determine if such migration is adaptive or maladaptive. Migration also implies major costs, and the risks of un- or underemployment, discrimination, and precarious jobs are high especially for workers with rural skillsets and women. While well-prepared migrants often improve *education* and

health through higher incomes and better services, catching up with locals is rare, and the accessibility of services depends on intersectional factors. Additionally, adverse living conditions can offset health gains. Migrants can face a high incidence of physical and mental diseases and unequal access to health care. Mental health issues are notably high for marginalized, unemployed, and female migrants.

Second, regarding *a space to live better*; this review shows that many migrants—especially forced ones and relocatees—live in unfavorable areas with constrained access to adequate *housing* or basic *infrastructure*, at least initially. Poor conditions are more likely for first-movers, low-income migrants, and those subjected to discriminatory structures. Cities can provide opportunities for climate migrants, but adverse living conditions can also create higher vulnerability to *hazards*. While some migrants succeed in reducing exposure to hazards by moving, especially poor people often have few choices but to settle in zones highly exposed to unfamiliar hazards. *Insecurity*, including interpersonal or organized violence, is frequent for climate migrants and often gendered.

Third, results on *social relatedness* are inconclusive. Studies find positive effects on family relationships for some climate migrants, whereas in other cases, exclusion and fragmentation of social networks or cohesion occur. In general, impacts depend on changing family and household dynamics, the circumstances of moving, and the experience of settling in a new place. The risk of losing social support is tangible for numerous migrants, especially as a result of forced and recurring movements.

Furthermore, climate migration also affects *sending communities*.¹¹ To begin with, economic impacts depend on the migration context and phase. They can be positive but are often unevenly distributed. How emigration influences labor markets at home depends on who and how many people leave. While remittances frequently reduce poverty and can contribute to health, food security, education, and adaptive capacities, positive effects are less likely for the poor and exacerbating inequalities are possible. Further effects of emigration on education and health are mixed and include threats of increased morbidity, such as mental illnesses for at-risk groups. Finally, migration may empower stayers but can also cause social strains; the impacts depend on the individual migration journey, intersectional factors, and the use of extended family networks.

Taken together, these complex findings illuminate why controversies on the adaptive potential and risk of migration have persisted (Bettini & Gioli 2016;

¹¹ Since effects on *receiving communities* are not the focus of this study, they are not recapped here.

McLeman 2016a; Vinke 2019). This study aims to expand prior findings by analyzing objective *and* subjective dimensions of well-being in Peru.

The review synthesized that present SWB partially moves within a stable range defined by genes, personality, and proficiencies, but can change according to circumstances at the macro and individual levels. The evidence suggests that hedonic adaptation occurs in some but not all situations, yet how it arises and with which limits remains less clear. However, migration figures among those major life events that can shift SWB beyond adaptation. Similarly, people have a partially stable disposition for hope(lessness), but several processes can raise or reduce positive views of the future. Present SWB and views of the future seem to influence each other to some degree. Moreover, both can have significant downstream effects on people's health, social relationships, work, and other domains of life. However, while positive SWB and views of the future are generally beneficial, exceptions exist.

The empirical findings demonstrate that gains and losses of migrants' present SWB are not uniform and depend on the reasons for moving, the conditions of the journey, the migration corridor, the duration of stay, as well as the conditions in source and destination areas. The limited data suggests that forced migration likely generates most SWB challenges, although many studies only provide averages, which conceal changes for specific groups of migrants. For internal migration, the breadth and depth of the evidence are robust. Various high-quality longitudinal studies emphasize that even if migrants gain economically, rising or unrealized aspirations, relative deprivation, and factors such as emotional, social, and health costs reduce their SWB in all investigated poor countries. In richer countries, longitudinal studies also find an anticipation decline in SWB before migrants implement their moves. After this decline, some studies report a return to initial levels, while others find that (male) migrants can raise SWB enduringly. Cross-sectional studies, within the discussed limitations, reveal that many migrants remain behind the SWB of both stayers and locals despite income gains, for similar reasons as cited above. Studies on subjective migration success are rare and have their own biases but suggest that migrants may perceive their endeavors more positively than SWB data would indicate. Next, for cross-border migration, a natural experiment provides strong evidence that migrants' SWB can fall despite OWB profits, while the few available longitudinal studies suggest that SWB decreases before moving, then improves, and later plateaus. Crosssectional analyses yield mixed findings and suggest that the direction of specific migration streams matters: migrants moving from countries with lower to higher average SWB often improve their SWB compared to that of stayers, probably due to OWB gains, unlike those migrating to unhappier countries. However, migrants

can concurrently lose SWB through social comparisons in destinations that induce relative deprivation. In happy countries, migrants' SWB converges with that of locals over time to some degree, but only few reach similar SWB levels, partially because they take footprint effects of lower SWB averages from their areas of origin with them. Conversely, in unhappy countries, migrants are often happier than locals. Few studies exist on long-term SWB effects of migration and hedonic adaptation; they suggest that SWB may remain flat over time even for the second generation, possibly due to changes in reference groups.

Next, the evidence of SWB effects on stayers is limited and inconclusive. Results seem to depend on specific migration experiences, structures in areas of origin, household characteristics, and intersectional factors. Most existing analyses suggest that emigration can raise cognitive satisfaction and positive feelings (although not in uniform ways) but simultaneously create negative feelings, such as anger, depression, sadness, and worry. Other studies, however, find mainly negative effects.

Lastly, the evidence on migrants' views of the future is limited. Still, it seems agreed that many migrants live orientated toward the future and that the subjects of their imagined futures can be relational and intergenerational. The objects of migrants' views of the future are frequently diverse-often revolving around upward mobility-and their aspirations high, but potentially biased. Imagined futures can strongly change across life course trajectories and phases of migration, but the direction of changes is neither linear nor predetermined because both external circumstances and personal-level processes influence these imaginations. Depending on the circumstances of moving and settling, the point in time, as well as individual factors, resultant views of the future can vary greatly. For climate migrants, climate change is likely a key influence on their views of the future. Linked general climate concerns, felt unpredictability and uncontrollability, as well as impending or past impacts can create pessimism. Conversely, hope can be a key catalyst for action against climate change while actions and linked outcomes, such as bonding, can on occasion create optimism. Finally, hope and optimism can buffer adverse psychological effects of climate change to a certain degree.

In brief, these findings have several implications for this study of climate (im)mobilities within Peru. The review yielded a breadth of evidence on migration, but implications on immobility are uncertain. First, the evidence suggests that internal migration can have mixed effects on people's OWB. Key determinants include how voluntarily and how prepared migrants can leave; under what conditions they move and into which contexts of reception they arrive; the time passed since settling; and how intersectional factors shape (dis-)advantages throughout the process. Some gains seem possible under positive conditions of moving—which may be true for some of the more anticipatory migrants from Peru's highlands—but even then, high costs will likely accompany these gains. Enhancing *development from a secure base* and finding *a space to live better* may prove difficult for those climate migrants in Peru with preexisting vulnerabilities and those moving under *distress* or *survival* conditions. Here, the new case studies on flood-driven displacement in Peru's *Costa* and relocation in the *Selva* promise insights. Moreover, mixed effects on *social relatedness* are possible. Finally, the effects on sending communities depend on the strength of translocal ties; remittances are one central effect but should not detract from others, including those on social relationships. The case study in the Peruvian highlands includes both migrants and stayers and may thus render new insights.

Second, the review does not provide clear expectations for this study regarding SWB effects. Since context matters, it is valuable that the case studies performed in this dissertation cover different forms and distances of movement and considerably varied contexts of reception, ranging from large cities to previously uninhabited spaces. As in other poor countries, most involuntary migrants and rural-to-urban migrants are bound to lose present SWB. Only a few migrantsespecially men and those moving under more positive conditions-might lose SWB shortly before migrating, but then make gains beyond the prior set range. It is possible that climate migrants' SWB will remain worse than that of stayers and locals. Additionally, negative feelings are likely for stayers, but may be accompanied by positive feelings and gains in satisfaction, especially for poorer recipients of remittances in areas where migration is common. The review also does not offer clear implications concerning climate migrants' views of the future. Strong stressors, including those related to climate change, could negatively shape outlooks to the future, but personal-level factors may create buffering effects. More positive views of the future are possible where migrants perceive opportunities, agency, and pathways to desired futures, including for next generations. Critically, if the affected people end up holding more hope or fear could have feedback effects on OWB.

Third, the review shows that migrants' OWB and SWB can converge or diverge, stressing the need to analyze both jointly. In this study, I will assess who among the affected people experiences (a) *true well-being*, (b) *deprivation*, (c) *dissonance*, and (d) *adjustment* and for which reasons (see Section 2.3). Comparison theory may offer one promising explanation for differences. Finally, present SWB and views of the future can also converge to varying degrees depending on external and personal-level factors, and this study intends to add insights into the array of possible outcomes.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Part II At Risk of Deprivation



5

Sierra: Rural-to-Urban Migration and Immobility Related to Water Scarcity in Peru's Highlands

"Toda la gente se va a las ciudades, pero ya no hay espacio donde vivir, ... y el agua se va a escasear, y en las ciudades serán peor seguramente ..."

"Everyone goes to the cities but there is no longer space to live, ... and water is going to be scarce, and in the cities, they will be certainly worse ..." (own translation, as in all the chapter).

Statement by a mestizo¹ man living in a village in the highlands that is experiencing glacier retreat. He was in his early 60s and in good health at the time of the interview and made a living as a civil servant and farmer (V1-1).

The research interest in the Lima Region in Peru's Central Highlands was in longer-distance, rural-to-urban migration from two villages, both harmed by two types of *gradual* climate impacts: glacier retreat and rainfall changes. The villages V1 and V2 were the starting points to trace migrants in the Regional and national capitals Huancayo and Lima.² This dynamic is of interest for two reasons: first, water scarcity due to glacier retreat and rainfall changes is already salient across the highlands (*Sierra*) (Heidinger et al. 2018; Seehaus et al. 2019). Migration from the *Sierra* can be shaped by both such rainfall changes (e.g. Hook & Snyder 2021; Lennox 2015; Milan 2016; Milan & Ho 2014) and glacier retreat (e.g. Alata et al. 2018; Altamirano Rua 2021; Figueiredo et al. 2019; Heikkinen 2017; Wrathall et al. 2014). Second, while rainfall projections are uncertain, future

¹ Mestizo refers to a person of a combined European and Indigenous American ancestry.

 $^{^2}$ For privacy protection, I specify neither the names of the study sites nor of respondents. Quotes by villagers from Village 1 and 2 are marked with V1 and V2, respectively, and those from migrants in Lima or Huancayo with L or H, respectively. The codes include an individual identifier, for example, V1-1 or L-15.

J. Bergmann, At Risk of Deprivation, Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1_5

glacier loss will be severe even for low emission scenarios (Adams et al. 2014; Marzeion et al. 2012; Radić et al. 2014; Schauwecker et al. 2017), with likely strong impacts on water security and migration. In the first section below, I provide information on the geographical context, measured and projected climate change trends and impacts, exposure, vulnerabilities, local coping and adaptation, and hazard-related migration in Peru's highlands. Afterwards, I describe the empirical results of the new case study, discuss them, and induce propositions on broader well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities.

5.1 Context

28% of Peru's population resides in the *Sierra* (INEI 2018c), a share that has significantly decreased over the past decades, similarly as in other Andean regions and highlands worldwide (de Sherbinin et al. 2012; Valdivia et al. 2010). The study sites V1 and V2 are in one of the mountainous Provinces of the Lima Region (Figure 5.1). In 2017, one year before I collected the data, 0.91 million inhabitants lived in this Region, not counting the Metropolitan Province of Lima. V1 was home to about 200 residents (56% male / 44% female) and had 200 houses (INEI 2018c).³ It was connected to the public water network, electricity grid, and drainage system, and hosted a health post as well as small primary and secondary schools. By contrast, V2 had only 70 houses home to about 40 villagers (49% m / 51% f). It had access to electricity, but not to the water network or drainage system, and only a primary school with one pupil left. In both sites, villagers speak Spanish and consider themselves as *mestizo*. V1 is a district village whereas V2, as V1's administrative annex, lacks an independent budget.

The Andes, home to V1 and V2, feature an alpine Tundra climate with wet and dry seasons (Beck et al. 2018; Mächtle 2016).⁴ Humid air masses from Amazonia travel westwards over the high mountain chains (*Cordilleras*) that are separated by deep valleys, and bring summery rainfall from December to March. Precipitation gradients and topography-related temperature differences shape vegetation and agricultural potential: western Amazonia features open mountain forests, followed by humid grassland highlands in the north, and arid desert *puna* in the south. Between 2,000 and 3,500 m.a.s.l., the cold land (*tierra fría*) and cloud

³ The exact number of inhabitants is known but not specified here for privacy protection.

⁴ The following sections draw in part on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).



Figure 5.1 Sites for qualitative data collection in Peru's highlands. (Note: To protect the respondents, the pins indicate approximate locations only. Created by the author, based on CIA (1970))

forests allow for livestock farming and field crops, such as corn and quinoa. Above the timberline, in the frosty land (*tierra helada*), few crops such as potatoes and pastures such as alfalfa grow. Vegetation in the *puna* consists of grasslands that provide forage to camelids such as alpacas. Above 4,500 m.a.s.l., vegetation is scarce.

The river basin in the *Cordillera Central* that is home to both V1 and V2 has around 500 lagoons and 15 km² of mostly small, glaciated surfaces higher than 3,700 m.a.s.l. (Proyecto Glaciares 2018). Figure 5.2 shows the glaciated surfaces. Rainfall and glacial meltwater feed a high-altitude dam lake, which supports the water regulation in the basin; during the dry season, up to 80% of the water in the dam lake is from glaciers. 85% of its water is used for hydropower generation and 15% for agriculture.



Figure 5.2 Ecosystems in the Cordillera Central and glaciated surfaces. (Note: Cropped from INAIGEM (2018: 156) and adjusted by the author)

Within the basin, V1 and V2 are in a remote, protected natural area at an altitude of around 3,600 m.a.s.l. The next larger cities are several hours away by

car. Pulgar Vidal (1972) coined this ecological floor as *Suni.*⁵ The cold subalpine climate here has distinct dry and rainy seasons and low average temperatures (INAIGEM 2018) (Figure 5.3). Rainfall occurs mostly from October to March and is the main source of water in the basin (Proyecto Glaciares 2018; SERNANP 2006).



Figure 5.3 Temperatures and rainfall close to V1 and V2. (Note: Average temperatures and rainfall per month from 1982-2016. Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author. The station name here and in the following figures is concealed to protect the privacy of respondents)

However, for some rural zones in the Andes, glacial meltwater is key during the dry season (Buytaert et al. 2017). In the mountainous Lima Region, the focus herein, meltwater contribution to river flow can reach between 50% to 100% during the driest months of a drought year (Figure 5.4, right). Similarly, the villages V1 and V2 have an increased dependence on meltwater during dry months.

Most highland areas in Peru are exposed to various natural hazards, climatic changes, and non-climatic stressors, such as soil degradation and overgrazing (Dourojeanni et al. 2016; MINAM 2011, 2016b; SERNANP 2016). Many inhabitants in the *Sierra* must confront multiple hazards, sometimes concurrently or in short subsequent periods (Cavagnoud 2018; Perez et al. 2010). Hazards often revolve around water (droughts, floods, hail, snow, glacier retreat, rainfall changes) and temperature (daily and seasonal extremes, average increase) (e.g. Alata et al. 2018; Aragón et al. 2018; Koubi et al. 2016). Highland villagers perceive that climate change has multiplied hazards (Oft 2009), especially glacier retreat and rainfall changes (Heidinger et al. 2018; Seehaus et al. 2019).

⁵ From *Quechua*, meaning "wide" or "high".



Figure 5.4 Contribution of glacier meltwater to river flow in the Lima Region. (Note: Spatial propagation of the contribution of glacier melt water [%] to river flow; yearly average for a normal year (left) and monthly maximum for a drought year (right). Cropped by the author from Buytaert et al. (2017: Supplementary Materials S4, S7))

For V1 and V2 specifically, a trend analysis is possible with gridded satellite and station data from the PISCO dataset (Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2016).⁶ Figure 5.5 displays that average monthly temperatures have increased by up to 0.5 °C when comparing 1997-2016 with 1982-2001. Annual mean average, minimum, and maximum temperatures validate this warming trend. Maximum daily temperature ranges show strong interannual variability but are overall decreasing. Despite the low temperatures, cold spells of several days are rare and their length has decreased over the past years.

⁶ In Peru, with its complex topography and climate, weather stations only tell a part of the full story and the limited long-term weather data introduces uncertainties into trend analysis, see Bergmann et al. (2021a). Modern satellites facilitate more complete monitoring, but the data is less reliable. Observational datasets with data from satellites *and* weather stations offer comprehensive information with a greater reliability. The Peruvian meteorological service (SENAMHI) has produced such a dataset called PISCO, see Aybar et al. (2020). My colleague Stephanie Gleixner kindly produced graphs with PISCO data for the results chapters on *Sierra* and *Costa*, and with station rainfall data and PISCO temperature data for the *Selva* chapter. For trend analyses, she split the longest available time series in the data set split into two even parts.



Figure 5.5 Temperature trends close to V1 and V2. (Note: Average monthly temperature 1982-2001 compared to 1997-2016 (top left) and annual mean, maximum, minimum temperature (bottom left); cold spell analysis (top right) and daily maximum temperature range (bottom right). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author)

Previous studies do not find significant rainfall trends in the tropical Andes in the 20th century (Rabatel et al. 2013). For V1 and V2, the data in Figure 5.6 seems to suggest an upward trend in annual precipitation, but with strong interannual variability. The rainy season has ostensibly intensified, whereas dry months have become marginally drier. While the frequency of dry spells seems to have decreased, their length might have increased. For rainfall extremes, the data displays no clear trend.

Rainfall changes and glacier retreat—the hazards in focus here—often affect people in the *Sierra* in parallel (e.g. Charbonneau 2008; Heikkinen 2017; Magallanes 2015). In prior studies of climate migration, people reported changes in seasonal rainfall patterns (Milan & Ho 2014), such as delays in the seasonal onset (López-i-Gelats et al. 2015), changes in seasonal length (Alata et al. 2018), and abrupt seasonal turns (Adams 2016). Altered rainfall availability was also reported, such as periods with more or less precipitation than usual (Cometti 2015a), reduced water availability (e.g. Adams 2016; Alata et al. 2018; Milan & Ho 2014), and droughts (Cavagnoud 2018; Koubi et al. 2016; Kuznar 1991;



Figure 5.6 Rainfall trends close to V1 and V2. (Note: Average daily precipitation (top left) and annual precipitation (bottom left); dry spell and 95th percentile trends. Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author)

López-i-Gelats et al. 2015; Oft 2009). Studies also document changing rainfall intensities (e.g. López-i-Gelats et al. 2015), such as more frequent and extreme events (Oft 2009; Wrathall et al. 2014), which can contribute to mud- and land-slides (e.g. Adams 2016; López-i-Gelats et al. 2015). The studies above conclude that rainfall changes can have widespread impacts on people's lives and livelihoods in the highlands, including losses or reduced crop and fodder yield, crop diseases and pests, reduced quality of products, losses and diseases of animals, a decline of biodiversity, damages to infrastructure and assets, food insecurity, and other health challenges.

The severe glacier retreat in Peru is due to warming and changing El Niño events (Rabatel et al. 2013; Vicente-Serrano et al. 2018; Vuille et al. 2018). The retreat has accelerated since the mid-twentieth century (Bury et al. 2011; Georges 2004; Hastenrath & Ames 1995; Racoviteanu et al. 2008). Today, surface losses are at least 40% for all glaciers and various smaller ones are about to disappear

with below 10% to 30% surface remaining (INAIGEM 2018). From 2000 to 2016 alone, close to 30% of Peru's glacier area was lost (Seehaus et al. 2019). In the *Cordillera Central*, where V1 and V2 are located, data indicates that the glaciated surfaces decreased by 64% from 1962-2016 (Figure 5.7). Once a peak is crossed, glacial meltwater flows decrease, which is especially problematic for agriculture during the dry season (Orlove 2009; Wrathall et al. 2014). Glacier retreat also frees contaminants stored in the ice (Alata et al. 2018), has started to create water conflicts, and is affecting spiritual and cultural dimensions of people's lives in the *Sierra* (Altamirano Rua 2014).



Figure 5.7 Loss of glaciated areas in the *Cordillera Central*. (Note: Reproduced and edited by the author from INAIGEM (2018: 166))

Even in a low emission scenario, future average temperatures in the *Sierra* could increase between 0.75 and 1.5 °C by 2050 and between 1 and 1.75 °C by 2100 compared to 1985-2005;⁷ in a high emissions pathway, they could rise by

⁷ Climate models in the IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report used four representative concentration pathways (RCPs) to cover possible future emissions, see van Vuuren et al. (2011). RCP8.5 (*high*) assumes the highest CO₂ concentration, leading to a global surface temperature increase of 2.6 to 4.8 °C for the end of the 21^{st} relative to the end of the 20^{th} century. RCP2.6 (*low*), the most optimistic scenario that requires strong mitigation suggests an increase of 0.3 to 1.7 °C. RCP6.0 and RCP4.5 (*medium*) fall in between with 1.1 to 2.6 °C and 1.4 to 3.1 °C warming. See IPCC (2014).

as much as 1 to 2 °C and 3.5 to 6 °C (Bergmann et al. 2021a).⁸ Specifically in the Province home to V1 and V2, in a high emissions pathway⁹, the 50th percentile of mean air temperature would rise from ~7.5 °C in the 2010s to above 11°C in the 2080s, and maximum temperature would rise from 20.5 to 24 °C (Figure 5.8). These changes lead to ample risks for crops (Sanabria et al. 2014). 1.3 °C and 2.6 °C higher mean temperatures over the coming 35–70 years could reduce maize and potato production in Peru by more than 87% in current elevations (Tito et al. 2018).

Rainfall projections are less certain; Peru may see fewer rainy days but with more intense rainfall (Christensen et al. 2013; Giorgi et al. 2014). For the Province home to V1 and V2, a high emissions pathway could lead to fluctuating but rising average rainfall and more wet days by 2085 (Figure 5.9).

Future glacier volume losses are projected between 78% and 97% for the Central Andes, home to V1 and 2, for low and medium emission scenarios (leading to 2 ° or 3 °C warming above pre-industrial temperatures by 2100). By contrast, the loss would be close to complete with 93% to 100% in a high emissions scenario (inducing 4 °C warming) (Adams et al. 2014; Giesen & Oerlemans 2013; Marzeion et al. 2012; Radić et al. 2014). Lower-lying glaciers are most at risk (Rabatel et al. 2013). If the current trend in the Central Andes was to continue linearly, its glaciers would disappear in 2048 (INAIGEM 2018). Runoff will decrease once peak flow is crossed (Seehaus et al. 2019; Veettil 2018; Vuille et al. 2018), which is projected in 20-50 years for most tropical glaciers (Adams et al. 2014).

The projected retreat of Peru's glaciers will heavily affect downstream ecosystems and users. Future glacier reductions would not necessarily reduce total water yield in Peru, but dry season runoff and seasonal buffering capacities may sink, especially as rainfalls may become even more seasonal at the same time (Buytaert et al. 2017). Projections show reductions of dry-season runoff and increases of wet-season discharge for the 2050s and 2080s (Andres et al. 2014; Juen et al. 2007; Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2011), including for a basin in the Lima Region close to V1 and V2 (Olsson et al. 2017). Meanwhile, rising populations, especially in cities, and more usage by industries, hydropower generation, and intensive irrigation on the coast increase the demand on already stretched

⁸ Average of four Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP) models.

⁹ The Shared Socioeconomic Pathway (SSP) 3 (Regional Rivalry) is combined with a forcing level of 7 Watt per square meter in 2100, leading to above 4 °C mean global temperature increase by 2100.



Figure 5.8 Observed and projected temperature in the Province where V1 and V2 are sited. (Note: Mean air temperature (top) and maximum air temperature (bottom), 1975–2085. Observations/ W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3, 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsda m.de)



Figure 5.9 Observed and projected rainfall for the Province where V1 and V2 are sited. (Note: Precipitation (Top) and number of wet days (Bottom), 1975–2085. Observations/W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsdam.de)

resources (Buytaert et al. 2017; Buytaert & de Bièvre 2012). Moreover, meltwater can accumulate in glacial lakes that carry the risk of potentially destructive outburst floods (GLOFs) (Emmer et al. 2018). Such GLOFs threaten Huancayo, Huaraz, and other large cities in the *Sierra* (Frey et al. 2016; Haeberli et al. 2016; Huggel et al. 2020; Stuart-Smith et al. 2021). Rapid deglaciation will also result in water quality issues and severe non-economic losses, including the disruption of moorlands (Adams et al. 2014) alongside the loss of aesthetic and spiritual ecosystem services key to people's identity (Adams 2016; Paerregaard 2013, 2016). Because glacier landscapes are also key destinations for tourism, their loss might threaten jobs in the tourism sector (Altamirano Girao 2012).

Vulnerabilities to the discussed climate hazards are significant in the Sierra. They depend on the extent, quality, and location of household resources, including land and livestock, and factors such as age, family size, and health (Heikkinen 2017). In many areas, poverty, insufficient property and resource rights, poor soil quality, poor basic infrastructure and services, a lack of quality education, food insecurity, as well as a lack of savings and access to credit raise vulnerabilities (Koubi et al. 2016; Oft 2009; Oliver-Smith 2014; Sperling et al. 2008)). For example, a large-scale survey across the Peruvian Sierra finds a high poverty incidence of 55% (Aragón et al. 2018). Vulnerabilities are differentiated within households; for example, illiteracy is especially high among women and malnutrition particularly affects children (Oliver-Smith 2014). Constrained livelihood options also raise vulnerabilities: many households depend heavily on few agricultural activities, with limited diversification options and a small number of income earners (Cavagnoud 2018; Oft 2009, 2010). They are often subsistence crop and livestock farmers (Oft 2009, 2010; Perez et al. 2010), and as smallholders who use traditional practices, they are mostly dependent on rain-fed crops and have limited means to irrigate (Aragón et al. 2018; Heikkinen 2017). Some villages hold lands in various ecological floors to diversify livelihoods (Crespeigne et al. 2009), yet options are more limited the higher the altitude. Crop farming becomes less viable as elevation increases (Magallanes 2015; Milan & Ho 2014; Oliver-Smith 2014), and in the highest altitudes, pastoralism is often the first and, in some cases, the only option (Alata et al. 2018; Oliver-Smith 2014; Orlove 2009). Off-farm options can decrease vulnerability; for example, some farmers work complementarily in coffee harvest areas or in urban activities, such as construction (Milan & Ho 2014). However, additional non-farm incomes are only available where spatial proximity permits (Adams 2012, 2016; Adams & Adger 2013; Cavagnoud 2018; Cometti 2015a). Remoteness, land tenure, market competition, globalization, rural population changes, renunciation of traditional practices and institutions, as well as a lack of state presence and public services

further heighten people's vulnerabilities (Lennox 2015; Lennox & Gowdy 2014; López-i-Gelats et al. 2015; Oliver-Smith 2014).

Such vulnerabilities-especially those related to poverty and constrained livelihood options-also limit people's range of strategies to deal with hazards. Generally speaking, people in the Sierra react to variations in precipitation and glacier retreat through changes in crop management and crop varieties or changes in animal raising, care, and derived goods (Alata et al. 2018; Heikkinen 2017). To anticipate extreme heat, farmers use different plants and expand land use; once heat creates income losses, they sell livestock, make children work, and invest extra time in off-farm activities (Aragón et al. 2021). Yet, vulnerable groups usually have limited adaptation options: in one study, wealthier pastoralists accumulated livestock, less wealthy factions diversified assets, and the poorest groups reduced participation in pastoralism and sometimes completely abandoned it (López-i-Gelats et al. 2015). Moreover, climatic and non-climatic stressors often already exceed the adaptive capacity of mountain villages and threaten to create downward spirals of poverty (López-i-Gelats et al. 2015). Some practices, such as giving up traditional crop rotations, can further deteriorate soil quality and impair future production, and others may increase vulnerability, for example, if they raise dependency on single products (Lennox 2015; Lennox & Gowdy 2014). Recovery from shocks is often incomplete. In one study, surveyed households could only recover 76% of losses after droughts and floods (Oft 2009, 2010). In addition, today's practices come with limits-such as the availability of land-and may be insufficient to meet the magnitude of future changes (Aragón et al. 2018). For example, in one study, many highland villages struggled to cope with water scarcity in the short term, mostly asking peers for help, and reportedly lacked long-term options to adapt (Oft 2009, 2010).

Several prior studies observe migration for coping or adaptation, both due to rainfall changes and glacier retreat. For contextualization, it is key to know that Peru has experienced strong demographic changes and migration patterns are long established, as I analyzed in detail elsewhere and only briefly outline here (see Bergmann et al. 2021a). Over the past decades, Peru's population has grown at a flattening rate, moving the country toward a low transitionary state with a rising life expectancy in a population that is still young, but has a greater share of older people than before (INEI 2018c; UNDESA 2019; World Bank 2021c). This shift may have raised migration potential, as younger people tend to be more mobile (Millington 2000; Plane 1993; Rogers & Castro 1981). The focus of this dissertation is on internal migration, which outweighs cross-border migration in

Peru (INEI 2018b; Sánchez Aguilar 2012a; UNDESA 2016).¹⁰ About one fifth of Peru's population are internal migrants, with slightly more men than women (Sánchez Aguilar 2012a). They tend to be relatively young and educated above the average. Many internal migrants work usually outside of agriculture and seem to earn more than non-migrants, although data on available *net* income is limited. Internal migrants remit some of their income to support family members—mostly women and economically inactive relatives—in their home communities, which could contribute to climate adaptation.

This internal migration is a major driver of Peru's population redistribution: between 1940 and 2017, the share of the population living in the highlands has dwindled from 65% to 28%, while the share of population on the coast has increased from 28% to 58%, and that in the rainforest from 7% to 14%. Prior research confirms that migration is part of the social fabric in the *Sierra* (Cavagnoud 2018; Skeldon 1977, 1985). Both permanent and circular migration is common.¹¹ Demography, lack of land or educational opportunities, poverty, and unequal market access are among the main drivers (Crespeigne et al. 2009; Heikkinen 2017). Increasingly, disrupted lifecycles of many rural highland families also drive migration (Alata et al. 2018), so that many Andean and other mountainous villages have become skewed toward older adults (de Sherbinin et al. 2012; Valdivia et al. 2010).

Existing internal migration patterns are deeply embedded in Peru. They involve relatively stable shares of the population and reproduce disparities between receiving and sending areas. Rural–urban migration is high but urban–urban and intra-metropolitan flows are increasing (INEI 2011, 2018c). Metropolitan Lima and Huancayo are hubs for migrants from the rural *Sierra* given perceived opportunities for education and jobs (Sánchez Aguilar 2012a). They are also two of the main destinations for V1 and V2. Lima is the primary hub of migration in Peru; by 2017, a net number of close to 2.8 million lifetime migrants had moved there. Both cities have doubled their inhabitants since the 1980s; Lima

¹⁰ International emigration from Peru has mainly involved people from professions outside of agriculture and been relatively modest (around 3 million cross-border emigrants since 1990), see INEI (2017b, 2018b). Nevertheless, surveys indicate large future desires to emigrate, see Gallup (2017); Latinobarómetro (2018). More people have left than entered Peru, but recent arrivals of Venezuelans have also made Peru an important destination. see UNHCR (2021). International remittances are comparable to peer states, and most recipients in Peru are urban dwellers, see INEI (2016a, 2017b).

¹¹ For some highland areas, transhumance is also an inherent feature of lifestyles, see Cometti (2015a, 2015b, 2018). Additionally, where proximity permits, commuting to cities can be common, see Adams (2016); Milan & Ho (2014).

has become home to about a third of Peru's population or 10.5 million people, while Huancayo has reached 0.46 million inhabitants (INEI 2018c). Both cities have witnessed attendant urban restructuring and problems related to infrastructure, basic services, social cohesion, and livelihoods (Carpenter & Quispe-Agnoli 2015; Haller & Borsdorf 2013; Ioris 2015; MML 2021).

Among other drivers, migration is also a traditional diversification strategy for subsistence farmers in the Sierra to anticipate or react to hazards or crop failures in general (Heikkinen 2017; Perez et al. 2010; Sperling et al. 2008). Such migration is especially frequent after abrupt and rapid-onset hazards, whereas gradual climatic changes, such as droughts, can make migration less likely because people tend to invest first in local adaptation efforts (Koubi et al. 2016). When affected by environmental change, it is often the young, poor, and males who leave, at least initially, because they tend to lack livelihood options in-place, sufficient quality land, and support systems or risk-sharing strategies (Crespeigne et al. 2009; Lennox 2015; Lennox & Gowdy 2014; Milan & Ho 2014; Sperling et al. 2008; Wrathall et al. 2014). In some areas, climate impacts add to but remain behind other main drivers of migration, such as demographic and aspirational changes in high-altitude pastoralist communities (Alata et al. 2018). In other zones, migration is strongly driven by frost, freezing, and hail (Cometti 2015a; Sperling et al. 2008), cold spells (Crespeigne et al. 2009), and coping with floods (Oft 2010; Sperling et al. 2008). One survey in five highland communities identifies "environmental problems" as the second-most important motivation for migration (Cavagnoud 2018). The two hazards of focus here-glacier retreat and rainfall changes-also figure among the drivers of migration. Rainfall changes, drought, and food security stressors are key drivers of migration in various studies (Altamirano Girao 2012; Oliver-Smith 2014; Sperling et al. 2008), especially for agricultural communities in the high mountains (Milan & Ho 2014). Migration is used both for short-term coping with and long-term adaptation to these hazards (Oft 2010). When glaciers retreat, many variables shape adaptation decisions. Smallholders rely more on migration in later stages of retreat, when peak flow has been crossed and water levels have sunk during the dry season (Wrathall et al. 2014). Family members-often young adults-are asked to migrate to cities to send remittances back home to support their families. Often, rainfall changes and glacier retreat jointly drive migration of small-scale farmers (Altamirano Girao 2012; Altamirano Rua 2014; Cometti 2015a, 2015b, 2018; Orlove 2009). Low stream levels due to glacier retreat also harm pastures and complicate herding for pastoralists, making migration of these already mobile people to other regions more likely; at most, some of them may be able to stay in the Sierra during the rainy season (Orlove 2009). Glacier retreat can also drive migration of tour operators and their employees who lose income opportunities due to deteriorating environments (Altamirano Girao 2012; Oliver-Smith 2014).

Simultaneously, people's reasons for staying despite such hazards are diverse. In one survey in the highlands of the Lima Region (the home to V1 and V2), many people were strongly affected by hazards, and every second respondent had considered migration in the five preceding years but stayed (Adams 2012). Most chose to remain because of high levels of satisfaction. To a lesser extent, respondents stayed because they feared or were not interested in leaving or had obligations that tied them to their communities. The smallest share of respondents who stayed did so because of resource constraints. The study highlights that instrumental *and* affective bonds can bind people to places that are already imperiled; these bonds continue to be a strong link even when climate change increases the risks for these places. However, thresholds of place satisfaction may be crossed eventually.

The climate projections discussed above may have several consequences for future migration patterns in Peru's Sierra. Emigration is a common trend from the highlands and will likely be amplified because of rising climate impacts and demographic changes that increasingly disrupt the villages lifecycles. Available models indicate that water scarcity driven by glacier retreat could continue to amplify emigration, especially for less resilient rural households and people born in the cities in Peru's highlands (Magallanes 2015; Milan 2016).¹² The projected warming could create high crop and animal losses and food insecurity risks, which could coerce migration. Rainfall projections are uncertain, but glacier losses will certainly be extreme in all emissions scenarios and raise water scarcity especially during the dry seasons. This glacier loss could result in more seasonal migration during the dry seasons as an attempt to spread risks to livelihoods and generate remittances. Conversely, where dependency on glacial meltwater for agriculture and glacier-related tourism is high, losses of glaciers could also lead to gradual settlement abandonment and conflicts between water users. In addition, people derive a sense of well-being from the many non-economic ecosystem services where they live, yet climate impacts are threatening these services. Their degradation could drastically decrease place utility and thereby shape the migration decision processes of more people than usually assumed (Adams 2016). Finally, growing glacial lakes will pose risks of outburst floods and could spark relocation discussions in several highland cities. After this contextualization, I examine climate (im)mobilities from and in V1 and V2 in detail in the next

¹² The applied agent-based models (ABMs) try to model the behavior of autonomous individuals confronted with changing surroundings, see de Sherbinin & Bai (2018).

section and explain how the affected people evaluated the well-being impacts associated with these (im)mobilities.

5.2 Empirical Results

In November 2018, I interviewed eleven people (4m / 7f, see Table 5.1) affected by climate hazards within the villages of origin V1 and V2. The age range of the eight migrant family members and three returned migrants was 18–81 years with an average of 55 years. Because the age structure in both villages was inclined toward older adults, I also convened a focus group of twelve pupils aged 14-16 in V1 (3m / 9f) to represent the views of the small young population appropriately. Some older dwellers had only primary, later generations usually secondary education. Having lived for some days in village V1, I also took field notes, observed participants, and engaged in less formal conversations and community meetings with various other farmers (see Figure 5.10).

Location of interview & alias	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
V1-1	М	61	Providing services (civil servant)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V1-3	F	74	Retired	Crop farming	Mestizo
V1-4 (returned migrant)	М	18	Unemployed	-	Mestizo
V1-5 (returned migrant)	F	30	Providing services (civil servant)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V1-12 (returned migrant)	F	55	Crop farming	Providing services (hotel owner)	Mestizo
V1-16 (focus group of pupils)	3m/ 9f	14-16	Pupils	-	Mestizo
V2-1	F	69	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
V2-2 (migrant from V2, in V1)	М	35	Providing services (aquafarm)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V2-3	М	52	Crop farming	Providing services (civil servant)	Mestizo

Table 5.1 Basic data on interviewees in the mountain villages V1 and V2

(continued)

Location of interview & alias	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
V2-4	F	67	Crop farming	Livestock farming	Mestizo
V2-5	F	81	Retired	-	Mestizo
V2-7	F	63	Crop farming	Livestock farming	Mestizo

lable 5.1 (continued



Figure 5.10 Impressions of the field work in the highlands. (Note: Community meetings with farmers in V1 (left, photo by the author) and in V2 (right, photo by the Mountain Institute))

Table 5.1 details that most interviewees were farmers who mainly worked in smallholder crop cultivation. Some had additional livestock farming in the upper elevations, including sheep, cows, and few alpacas in V1. In the basin's sections where the interviews took place, subsistence farmers mostly rely on rain-fed agriculture.¹³ In V1, people additionally use basic flood irrigation techniques with water from an adjacent river fed by glacial meltwater and rainfall. In V2, only a small spring was left for limited irrigation (see section 5.2.1 for more details). Farmers produced typical Andean transient crops such as corn or potatoes and cultivated pastures such as alfalfa. Their fields extended across various ecological floors and were maintained in a rotational system. Given their isolated locations,

¹³ In very high elevations of the basin, only animal husbandry is possible. The lower part of the basin is to a large extent dry and home to intensive agriculture and a hydropower plant. In these high and low areas, no interviews took place.

interviewees had limited income sources. Even the few ones who offered services, such as municipality staff, still sowed their crops and had a few animals, similarly as most retired villagers.

To gather background material, I also talked to several experts at the village level, including the two respective presidents of the farmers' associations (*comunidades campesinas*). Further discussions were held with the mayor, the alderman (*regidor*), the peace justice, the health post worker, and the secondary school director in V1, as well as the teacher in V2. For further context, I visited two additional villages in higher elevations to discuss informally with farmers and local experts.

As a next step, I traced and interviewed 20 migrants (11m / 9f) from V1 and V2 mainly in Lima and Huancayo (Table 5.2), often at sports events organized by migrant hometown associations (Figure 5.11). Migrants were between 18 and 77 years old with an average age of 47. All had left as young adults, and some had migrated decades ago. Three of the migrants had returned to the *Sierra* after having spent time in the cities. Most interviewees provided services in the cities and remained in informal or low-wage positions, whereas a small number had entered better-paid jobs (see section 5.2.3: Decent livelihoods). All migrants identified as *mestizo* and spoke Spanish.

Location of interview & alias	Hometown	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
Huancayo (H-8)	V2	М	59	Retired	-	Mestizo
Huancayo (H-13)	V2	F	77	Retired	-	Mestizo
Huancayo (H-14)	V1	М	53	Providing services (engineering)	-	Mestizo
Huancayo (H-15)	V1	М	30	Providing services (engineering)	-	Mestizo

 Table 5.2
 Basic data on migrant interviewees originally from the mountain villages

(continued)

Location of interview & alias	Hometown	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
Lima (L-15)	V2	М	70	Retired	-	Mestizo
Lima (L-16)	V1	F	38	Providing services (teacher)	_	Mestizo
Lima (L-17)	V1	М	53	Providing services (accounting)	_	Mestizo
Lima (L-18)	V1	F	52	Housekeeping	-	Mestizo
Lima (L-19)	V1	F	40	Housekeeping	-	Mestizo
Lima (L-20)	V1	F	40	Providing services (teacher)	_	Mestizo
Lima (L-21)	V1	F	77	Retired	-	Mestizo
Lima (L-23)	V2	М	54	Livestock farming	-	Mestizo
Lima (L-24)	V2	М	69	Providing services (dressmaking)	_	Mestizo
Lima (L-25)	V2	F	32	Providing services (sewing)	Housekeeping	Mestizo
Lima (L-26)	V2	М	41	Providing services (carpenter)	_	Mestizo

Table 5.2	(continued)
-----------	-------------

(continued)
Location of interview & alias	Hometown	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
Lima (L-27)	V2	М	24	Providing services (administration)	-	Mestizo
V1 (V2-2, from V2)	V2	М	35	Providing services (aquafarm)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V1 (V1-4, returned migrant),	V1	М	18	Unemployed	-	Mestizo
V1 (V1-5, returned migrant)	V1	F	30	Providing services (civil servant)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V1 (V1-12, returned migrant)	V1	F	55	Crop farming	Providing services (hotel owner)	Mestizo

Table 5.2 ((continued)



Figure 5.11 Impressions of the field work in Lima and in Huancayo. (Note: The photo on the left displays a sport event in Lima organized by the migrant hometown association; the interviews partially took place at these regular sport events. On the right, the head office of the Regional government in Huancayo. Photos by the author)

In addition, I interviewed several experts at the municipal level in Huancayo for background information, including the responsible officials for rural development, urban development, communal kitchens, civil defense, and environmental management.

5.2.1 Climate Change Dimensions

In the interviews, young and old villagers alike reported a wide range of climatic changes, often talking spontaneously about them and without specific prompting. Figure 5.12 exposes that the main observed impact was water scarcity related to glacier retreat and rainfall changes, and views on these changes converged across sex and age groups. Impacts were felt on crops, pastures animal and human health, as well as on people's lifestyles and traditions. Villagers said that climate impacts were already undercutting livelihoods in the zone and anticipated that they would continue to increase. While many farmers linked these alterations to climate change, few knew about underlying mechanisms. Among the interviewed young pupils, for example, only a small number correctly connected climate change to greenhouse gases. Especially the young people also observed additional non-climatic stressors such as contamination, deforestation, overgrazing, solid waste problems, and soil degradation.



Figure 5.12 Hazards affecting interviewees in the highlands. (Note: Depicts the percentage of interviewed affected people from the highland villages who mentioned different types of hazards affecting them at least once during the interviews. Created by the author)

When asked about changes in their environment, most dwellers first mentioned the drastic losses of their *nevados* (snowcapped mountains), which have caused gradually rising water stress in V1 and severe scarcity in V2. The glaciers, firn, and snowpack in the higher elevations—connected to the villages by lagoons

and rivers—are key for people's identity and for their water supply, especially in the dry period. In V1, the firn used to almost touch a river close-by the village. However, respondents claimed a surface reduction by at least half since the 1950s, which they explained by reduced rainfall and warming that prevented snowfall. As the village's alderman observed:

The water has also gone down, don't you see that the mountain range is already thawing, the weather is not as before, that hail no longer falls now, it rains pure water. ... Yes, there is not much snow, pure water no more, that's why the snow does not accumulate. ... There is no longer much water we can use to irrigate (V1-1)

As a result, the once abundant meltwater has decreased. Although the glacier retreat was still manageable, it affected irrigation, production stability, and crop yields in the dry season. Moreover, water scarcity and declining pastures have made livestock raising less profitable, so that farmers have had to reduce their herd sizes and the remaining healthy pastures are increasingly overexploited.

Although adjacent to V1, V2 suffered from more severe impacts of a later stage of glacier retreat. The village was once fed by canals to artificial meltwater lagoons in the higher elevations. Yet, villagers noticed how glacier retreat starting in the 1970s had gradually reduced meltwater from the 1990s onward until ten to fifteen years ago, when the meltwater disappeared completely. All farmers openly worried about the resulting "*water crisis*" (V2-1). The president of the peasants observed that,

The first thing that the global warming of the Earth has eliminated was the mountain range, the snow-capped mountains... It dried up completely. [Before], the water just came from that hill, the one that is here ... Well then, it was nothing left ... Little by little, with the heat it melted ... The water was no longer advancing... The land has become dead and there is nowhere to put crops. (V2-3)

The loss of meltwater has gradually reduced crop yields. Villagers had to switch mostly to temporary rain-fed crops and pastures. The remaining water from a small spring was scarce even for the now much reduced village size: "As I say, we are few and for that it suffices. Of course, it is not enough, and sometimes we are struggling ..." (V2-2). Farmers reported misery especially during the dry season. The glacier loss has made the land desertic and people who once had sold their produce now could only produce for subsistence. Animals suffered from thirst and sometimes died because of the lack of pastures, as for example in 2017, a sad event in people's collective memory.

159

In both villages, respondents mentioned rainfall changes second-most often. Since 2000, they have seen more erratic rainfall seasons, with both unexpectedly more and less rain: "*Right now, here it has changed a lot and it is varied, ... when it should rain in its period, it doesn't*" (V1-1). It is "*a total change ..., before [the rain] had its periods, ... now it rains anytime*" (V2-7). Farmers reported that they sowed less because, "*Sometimes the rains delay, and the food is spoiled; in previous years that was not seen*" (V1-16). They also described diminishing rainfall quantities but greater intensities, which aggravated crop losses. Young people were saddened that the rain was occasionally so scarce that animals died due to a lack of fodder. Many interviewees also noticed more warming and heat periods that have become "*unbearable*" (V1-16). The heat affected health and crops and resulted in higher irrigation needs while water resources have kept declining. Moreover, cold waves have caused diseases, animal losses, and crop damages, and people noted more weather-related pests and diseases.

Adaptation efforts and options differed considerably between V1 and V2. In V1, where glacier retreat was still less severe, a local NGO project supported people in conservation and water harvesting techniques to optimize their resources and adapt to declining water availability. Due to the project, farmers perceived some progress and that they had learnt new agrarian skills. Yet, some of the more educated villagers worried about the lack of external help, expertise, technology, and market networks to mitigate the declining yields. Looking to the future, farmers worried that surviving only with erratic rainfall for irrigation would be difficult. For example, two well-educated men worried that their glaciers might disappear over the coming two decades. A woman in her mid-70s voiced concerns about the disappearing water and the lack of good governance, fearing that V3 may turn into a "ghost village" in twenty years: "I don't see how it's going to improve, how? ... What will we do if there is no water? All lies. There is no water, no" (V1-3). Village leaders were also aware that they were still better off than V2 but could face a similar future. Nonetheless, some of the younger residents were hopeful that people were finally waking up to the change, as illustrated by the election of a young agronomist as the new mayor. Some put hopes for adaptation into unrealistic ideas, such as painting the glaciers with sun-reflective color; such hopes seemed to be a sign of cognitive dissonance or denial that the situation could become as severe as in V2. A few other respondents downplayed the possible effects and completely discounted the probably challenging future for V2.

Foreshadowing possible future challenges for V1, the situation of V2 demonstrates how difficult adaptation to a complete loss of glacial meltwater is for poor, remote, and marginalized villages. Farmers made some adaptation efforts, such as changing cropping techniques and cementing the water canal to maximize the decreasing streamflow to the village. Yet, the attempts failed because the farmers lacked needed finances, resources, and skills. Given their remote and marginal location, they had no market access or diversification options; the only attainable adaptation was reliance on rain-fed agriculture and the limited water provided by a local spring, which offered less cropping and pasture potential for substantially fewer people. Bad governance and a lack of voice also limited adaptation possibilities. As an administrative annex, farmers lacked a proper budget and needed to ask the district authorities in V1 and the Ministry of Agriculture in Lima for help. However, the promised support never arrived, and interviewees suspected that the authorities did not care enough about their misery or did not possess enough resources. Several villagers perceived themselves "in a system of abandonment by the government"; they alleged corruption and that the authorities "cheat the people" and "only want the money" (V2-1). Eventually, farmers resigned, "praying to God for rain" and hope (V2-7). Several migrants, discerning the situation from afar, hoped that adaptation might still be possible. Yet farmers in V2 did not seem to hold any hope for a better future absent water and resources or state support to address the crisis. For example, a woman almost 70 years old asked:

What state have we come to? To a very sad life, a water crisis. Why do we lose both our youths and our children? Because there is nothing good here for how to survive. There is no work, there is no water! We, the older adults, are the only ones to stay in this village. There are no more young adults, we cannot sow anymore given the lack of water. We only have one life but are in a time of crisis in [V2]. (V2-1)

In both villages, farmers observed migration related to these changes (see next section 5.2.2). Farmers also reported more quarrels around water than in the past. Some considered more conflict possible in a future with less water, but beyond the call for more climate adaptation measures, local-level institutions or mechanism preparing for such conflicts were missing. In the depopulating village V2, the community seemed to partially disintegrate into disunity and withdrawal with quarrels among themselves, which were driven by the emigration related to the water scarcity (see section 5.2.4).

5.2.2 Migration Dimensions

The cases of V1 and V2 offer a detailed view of migration decisions in the context of slow-onset hazards and their interplay with other drivers. Interviews

indicate that temporary and permanent migration have been common for long in the villages, whereas transhumance or commuting to urban areas is rare to the spatial setting. In the second half of the 20th century, agrarian crises and violent conflict triggered substantial emigration. Later, some migration continued for social reasons, to establish a family or join relatives. In addition, more villagers have left yearning for a new urban lifestyle instead of rural agricultural lives. Yet, the major driver of migration has been the lack of jobs and income possibilities; traditionally, many youths have left to find urban jobs, aiming for higher and more stable incomes to support their families, and sometimes returning later to their birthplaces.

However, over the past two decades, climate impacts have exacerbated the economic situation in V1 and V2 and raised migration rates. In V1, the village alderman observed that more peasants have migrated for work since the glacial meltwater has decreased and the rains have started to be more erratic ten to 15 years ago, because there is "not enough to provide for yourself anymore" and farmers cannot "produce as much anymore, so people leave to search for jobs" (V1-1). Around five families were leaving the village every year because they could only sow few crops. After V2 had completely lost its glacial meltwater for irrigation, agricultural production went down drastically, and much more young adults than usually had to leave to the cities for work, while fewer returned. A woman in her late 60s mourned that they "lost their youths and children" who "cannot survive here anymore - there is no work or water to sow anymore" (V2-1). Migrants remarked that they had had to leave as there was "no more life" or work (L-25), and, "Farming did not render enough, there is nowhere to harvest, and livestock does not give good results anymore" (H14). A migrant in Huancayo explained:

People left as the animals... had nothing to eat, they got thinner, and died... The village is depopulated, there are no more people, a few no more. All are leaving as there is no more water. A lot of dryness, for this reason the young people have left... In some rooms are still the older adults, who are now dying. (H13)

Increasingly, water has become a main "*motivation for people to leave* ... *since the land is all powder*" (L23). The president of the migrants' hometown association in Lima indicated:

Principally, people left because there is no water anymore, there is no more future in the Andes... They cannot produce anymore... Mainly, they came for work because in the village, there is no income, there is no work, and there is also no water. (L15)

These climatic drivers interacted with other economic, educational, and lifestyle drivers. For example, a final economic push for migration was when a small mining site near V2, in which ten to fifteen young dwellers used to work, closed some years ago. The general lack of jobs also combined with a lack of educational opportunities, the second-most reported driver. While V1 had a secondary school, higher education was only possible in the cities and continued to pull migration. Some feared that climate impacts might indirectly exacerbate this pull: as more people leave the villages (partially due to climate impacts), schools might close soon, which could propel further migration of families with children. Several other feedback mechanisms also accelerated migration. First, urban migrant networks have reduced the social and financial costs of moving for migrants, while remittances and stories of urban lifestyles provided additional pulls. Second, migration has deprived the village of workers required for manual agriculture; as a result, rising salaries for the limited workforce have reduced agricultural profitability, and thus made migration more likely. Third, depopulation removed social resources that were key for place satisfaction. A migrant from V2 said that he had wanted to stay but moved for the good of his son, who aspired to leave as most of his peers had already gone.

While advancing glacier retreat has thus been a mostly emerging driver in V1, in V2, complete glacier loss has been a major driver of an exodus. Among the remaining villagers, migration aspirations differed between generations. Most of the older remaining dwellers in V1 wanted to stay. Some were voluntarily immobile and stayed as they enjoyed the calm natural surroundings and their customs. Others were acquiescently immobile, as they worried to fall sick in the cities or could not grow used to city lives, which they linked to physical insecurity. By contrast, a few villagers felt forced into immobility: for example, a poor woman in her 80s suffered from serious health issues and aspired to leave V2, but her two migrated children in Huancayo and Lima refused to take her in. Conversely, young villagers in V1 and V2 usually strongly aspired to leave and considered migration as their best option, although they liked the quieter highlands and were aware of the urban stressors. The construction of a road, better access to markets, internet, media, and mobile phones have raised the knowledge and attraction of city life. This city life pulled those who preferred jobs outside agriculture, especially "The youths who do not want to live off the fields anymore, they dislike it" (H-13). In the past, pupils used to work in the fields after secondary school, but nowadays, all interviewed pupils who were about to graduate desired to migrate to continue their studies, find off-farm jobs, and move out of poverty (voluntary improvement migration). Many established migrants also confirmed retrospectively that they had had strong aspirations to leave. However, other recent migrants from V2 had moved against their will to survive (*anticipatory, forced survival* migration); they missed their homes and still felt the pain of leaving and seeing their village decaying.

Few people from V2 had sufficient resources to implement their migration decisions fast. Once the glacial meltwater had disappeared, the few relatively better-off households with resources to settle elsewhere left first, whereas most poorer households faced limitations and depended on the support of relatives. Family networks helped with information, finances, food, and housing to the extent they could. However, poor families could only offer limited support for migrant members. Related, initial settlement often depended on where relatives lived who could host newcomers and was therefore dispersed. Gender and age also played a role: when V2 lost its glacial meltwater, young men tended to leave first to the cities, while their wives and children, if applicable, joined later. Overall, many migrated at a young age. The main destinations for migrants from V1 and V2 were Huancayo and Lima.¹⁴ While many of them went directly to these cities, some first moved to the surrounding, larger villages or provincial towns, and then eventually on to the Regional and national capitals. Since V1 and V2 are in remote locations with difficult access, migration was often permanent.¹⁵

Few migrants returned permanently; only some younger migrants aimed at gaining new skills in the cities, hoping that they would enable them to return and help their home villages. Nevertheless, close to all migrants preserved emotional, social, cultural, and material links to their home villages. They routinely visited for traditional celebrations or to see relatives. For example, one woman in her late 70s had moved to Lima at the age of 16 to study for two years, then went back to V2 to work, and eventually moved to Huancayo when she was 50, where she opened a small shop, but still returned sporadically to V2. Visits were a twoway street: people staying in the villages also visited their migrant children in the cities, for example to skip the rainiest highland months. Many migrants kept their highland properties, and a few admitted that not selling them to the young adults in their birthplaces may break the villages' life cycle and render agriculture more difficult. Some soils were already eroding. Moreover, migrants in the cities sent a limited amount of remittances (see section 5.2.4). Finally, translocal links were also institutionalized through hometown associations (HTAs). Both V1 and V2 had founded associations decades ago, with more than 200 migrant members

¹⁴ Interviewees stated that as these cities have gotten more saturated, the attraction of other coastal cities has also risen.

¹⁵ Circular or temporal migration concerned mainly pupils who worked in the cities during vacations to earn money for school supplies, to support their families, and to build urban job networks.

from V1 in Lima and 80 in Huancayo. The much smaller village V2 has around 50 members in these cities. The organizations provide mostly non-material support to newcomers, who can participate in sports games, celebrations of Andean traditions, and social media communication. The presidents of the HTAs reported that they had tried to help V1 and V2 economically, providing technical support, infrastructure investments, and food and income support. While their help has not alleviated the impacts of glacier loss in V2, it might back adaptation to future impacts in V1, if channeled suitably.

5.2.3 Well-Being Dimensions: Migrants at Their Destination

In this section, I explore how migration from the two highland villages threatened by water scarcity has affected people's well-being. I apply the well-being axes explained in chapter 2: *development from a secure base, a space to live better,* and *social relatedness* (objective well-being, OWB), as well as *subjective well-being* (SWB). The analysis is based on migrants' retrospective assessments of how their situations have evolved after arrival in the cities. Future work on intergenerational processes would be desirable, which could not be examined in detail due to due to time and resource constraints.

5.2.3.1 Development from a Secure base

5.2.3.1.1 Decent Livelihoods

Settlement in the cities affected people's livelihoods differently, although many migrants from V1 and V2 had had similar starting conditions. Most arrived after leaving school or with agricultural skills not in demand in cities. On one end of the spectrum, the majority and especially young migrants struggled to make a decent living. They worked long hours in informal, unstable, and low-paid jobs to survive—often in addition to family and housekeeping obligations—but were unable to advance. In some deprived situations, children had to work to support the family. Typical work included ambulatory sales, construction, day labor, manufactories, or small trading. Competition was high. For example, a young woman had left V2 after the glacial meltwater had disappeared and experienced a "very shocking start" in Lima; only after years, she had gotten "used to it … more than anything else out of necessity" (L-25). She and her husband worked in dressmaking and transportation, noting that

... [Y]ou must work here, both spouses have to work, otherwise the money is not enough... Yes, all day, so much sun, and sometimes all night, and there is a lot of

competition here now... Yes, it is not easy, we must continue working, that's it. You must work hard, to survive more than anything else.... (L-25)

According to the presidents of both hometown associations, migrants coming to Lima and Huancayo ended up two times more often in precarious than in decent jobs:

Look, here the people who arrive have mostly no income, it is just enough for getting by... [T]hey do not have good jobs... Of course, the vast majority are small businessmen, as well as street vendors, they work in factories ... Dad and mom both work and with that they sustain their household.... (L-15)

Municipal and NGO experts agreed that although a few migrants improve after moving to Lima and Huancayo, many suffer from multiple deprivations and frequently fail to escape poverty.

On the other end of the spectrum, a few migrants did profit from their transition. Especially some of the older interviewees who had arrived decades ago had tapped into urban education opportunities to switch into higher wage positions in services, such as accounting, administrating, engineering, and teaching. For example, a migrant now in his early 70s reported about his strenuous but eventually successful journey in Lima, and the dual burden of working precariously while studying:

I left [to Lima] at the age of ten ... and finished my primary school, but as my father had no financial solvency, I could not study, ... as my father was a farmer ... I stopped studying for at least six years... I worked in the field, I even worked in construction... My life has been work ... Ever since I use reason, I thought I cannot be like this, I go to Lima. I had a brother who was here ... When I was in Lima, I first started working as a waiter ... The next year, I started studying, ... for six years I studied at night ... I worked during the day and at night I studied... I worked in factories, later as a baker, that's how it was, tough sacrifice... [Now], look, I am a professional, I studied engineering.... (L-15)

Some also improved their incomes without studies. For example, one female migrant first was a street vendor, then took a credit from relatives to start a small market stall, and eventually gained well. Yet, income gains compared to prior rural lives did not automatically make for a decent live. For example, a man said that working with his disability had been impossible in V2, whereas in Lima he "dedicated myself to sewing, and with that I am living more or less because I do not want to be a burden on the family". Despite the improvement, his livelihood in Lima was still "very tiring, a lot of stress because we really can't stop working,

as we have to survive in some way" (L-24). Intersectional factors, such as health status, thus also shaped livelihoods. As another example, most male migrants provided services, while women were said to work more often in housekeeping and lack individual incomes.

5.2.3.1.2 Health and Food Security

On the negative end, financial resources were the major constraint to access health services. Various poor migrants became more food insecure in the cities. One claimed, "*Everybody wants to go* ... [to the] invasiones *and* cerros [human settlements on the city hills] although they do not have enough to eat [there]" (V1-4), whereas in the *Sierra*, people had produced their own food. A few better educated migrants were concerned that indirectly, climate impacts also affected the prices for and quality of agricultural products, which could in turn worsen urban food security. The alderman in V1 stated:

Everyone goes to the cities but there is no longer space to live, ... and water is going to be scarce, and in the cities, they will be certainly worse. I think that rather with time, people will return to their land... in Lima, on a daily basis, [basic necessities] have to be bought. Instead, here we sow a piece of land, and we already have to eat all year round. (V1-1)

Especially recent migrants suffered from a lack of basic services that might contribute to healthy lives, such as water, sanitation, and drainage systems. These gaps were often due to the lack of landownership or housing titles. Moreover, urban pollution and contamination worried many migrants and caused diseases for some. For example, one migrant reported that "*we are crying because of the contamination here*" (H-14). Another young migrant strongly suffered from the economic and social challenges in Lima, exhibited mental health issues, and, after getting asthma in the humid and polluted city, eventually had to return home. Similarly, various migrants reported high stress levels due to long working hours, intense traffic, and multiple parallel burdens through jobs, education, or caregiving. Younger migrants also observed ill-being due to the separation from their families. On the positive end, a few migrants improved their health in the cities, if they could afford to access the better health system and thus to receive the specialized attendance they required.

5.2.3.1.3 Educational Opportunities

Migrants' educational opportunities frequently improved in the cities, but sometimes at a high cost. The cities offered more opportunities to study, which, constituted strong motives for migrants to stay, according to parents who hoped their children could become professionals one day. Vocational training and evening schools enabled migrants to work during the day and still improve their skills. For many, this setup was a necessary but challenging one, given the relatively high costs for urban education. They described the triple burden of working during the day, going to school in the evening, and studying during the night, which led to health problems and self-exploitation that hindered learning. For example, one young man had moved to Lima for education, but pollution and the stress of studying while working in a gas station to pay for his expenses forced him to return:

Unfortunately, ... we have to work to start studying... The truth is that at first it was shocking... [S]ometimes, I had to work at night and study during the day, in class I fell asleep. Sometimes, I attended and sometimes I didn't. This way, I suffered a couple of months... [Studying] is costly, life becomes difficult for a poor person to progress... Then, because my finances were not enough, I had to leave my second semester... The minimum salary at that time was 850 soles and my institute costed 500. Paying for food and tickets, everything was gone... (V1-4)

He also felt that the generally worse education situation in rural areas led to a disadvantaged start for migrants from the highlands compared to city natives.

Other migrants spoke of tough sacrifice, but a worthwhile one. As one example, a male migrant who had gone to Lima at the age of ten to study had to return as his parents could not afford the costs. Several years later, he went to Lima again, working precariously during the day and studying at night, but through "tough sacrifice", he progressed: "[Now] look I am professional, I studied engineering". While he felt content, these taxing years also "have marked" him (L-15). Another female migrant remembered the "hard" and "sad" separation from her family when she came to Lima to study, but in retrospect, saw the greater good of her studies, which enabled her to become a teacher (L-20).

5.2.3.2 A Space to Live Better

5.2.3.2.1 Adequate Housing

Migrants' quality of housing depended on their available resources and social contacts. A few of them were fortunate to move in with relatives who lived in decent houses. However, most of the poorer migrants needed to settle in the outskirts of the cities, in new and frequently irregular settlements:

It was not easy, if you don't have a place to stay here, you don't have an income or you don't work... Over there, they have gone, outside of Lima because here in Lima,

they have not been able to get homes. Further on the side of the hills, in asentamientos humanos [new or irregular settlements]. (L-15)

Many needed to move into crowded homes of relatives or rent precarious houses at a high price: "It is not easy in the city, [even] to have a small house here, it costs much to rent it" (H-13). Others had to build their houses from nothing, and some achieved gradual upgrades. For example, a woman in her 70s reported how today, she felt content with her home, but it had required years to obtain a small terrain and only then, she said, "I was able to make my little house little by little ... Years, years, and years we have built, until finally now, we have the little house finished" (L-21). Financial resources, networks, and titling efforts were key for achieving progress regarding housing and landownership.

5.2.3.2.2 Basic Services

The principal determinant of migrants' access to basic services was where they could afford to settle in the city. The president of the hometown association of V2 described how fellow migrants in Lima

are quite dispersed, they are in different places, some of them who earn well are in urbanizations... Many live in places, asentamientos humanos, invasiones [irregular settlements], well away from the city center ... You do suffer there, it takes several years for them to have electricity, water. (L-15)

The many poorer migrants who moved to new and irregular settlements lacked access to basic services, and many failed to receive titles or to have water, sanitation, and drainage systems installed for years. In the meantime, migrants had to buy water from car distributers or walk long distances to distribution points. For example, one female migrant in her early 40s moved to an *invasion* that she described as a "*desert*"; lacking a property title, she had to petition and wait for fifteen years until the settlement was eventually regularized and she and her family received access to water and other services, whereas "*those who live on the hill still receive water from the* aguateros [*small-scale water providers*]" (L-19). Another woman now in her late 70s described the struggle upon arrival:

[My children] looked at me as I suffered and there was no water. We carried water from afar, from the park, far, far from the house, to cook at home here... In a wheelbarrow I have carried it, with a bucket. (L-21)

In Huancayo, unlike years ago, even the few better-off migrants had only water by the hour and worried that climate change would increase water stress: *"There is no water, here we suffer"* (H-13).

5.2.3.2.3 Pleasant Surroundings

Most migrants depicted their urban surroundings as dissatisfying. They perceived great differences between their prior rural villages, with fresh air, clean water, appealing natural landscapes, and recreational areas, and their current arid, hectic, and congested city neighborhoods: "We lived there, where my sister was, it was like a desert ... all just gasoline, smell of smoke" (L-19). With the rising saturation of the city, pleasant areas have become less accessible for poor migrants. This view held across age groups, but some older migrants seemed especially dissatisfied; they described how Lima had become more polluted and congested with traffic. Even those who enjoyed urban commodities stated they missed the tranquility of the countryside, including the farm life with physical outdoor work. Only few migrants in relatively wealthier areas of Lima were more content. Some also felt more satisfied with their urban surroundings since the climate was warmer than in the highlands.

5.2.3.2.4 Safety from Hazards

While migrants had left rural areas that faced climate hazards, such hazards also threatened Peru's cities. In Huancayo, cited concerns included flooding from torrential rainfall and from glacial lake outbursts. Migrants in Lima struggled with the temperature difference to the highlandy and the city's seasonal humidity. Water quality and quantity—one driver of migration from V1 and V2 to the cities—also constituted a main urban concern. Migrants worried that Huancayo and Lima partially depended on glacial meltwater that would eventually disappear, thus exacerbating water stress. In Huancayo, unlike years ago, many migrants had only water by the hour. Experts explained that diminishing water resources, the slow exploration of new sources, and simultaneously increasing demand made higher water prices and more rationing likely. Given this situation, a migrant asked:

Eventually, where will people go? It will start in the small villages, but from Huancayo, where will they continue to go, as there will be no water? From what will we live if agriculture decays? (H-14).

5.2.3.2.5 Security

Most migrants lived in "movidos [dangerous]" zones of Lima (L-15), which are "very hectic, with a lot of crime" (L-17). As one migrant said, "There are so many thieves and criminals and all. They all come to Lima and the big cities" (H-13). Established migrants described that insecurity had increased. Similarly, a returned migrant in V1 worried about her migrated children because

In the year 1980, Lima was not like now, it was calmer. At least for me it was nice to be in Lima, there was not much violence, there was no robbery like now... [N]owadays, there is too much theft, it is already too much, too much in Lima. (V1-12)

Few migrants were able to move to more secure areas or described that the security in their neighborhoods was improving. For example, two migrants felt lucky to live in a place with "*sufficient security*", "*a little bit more peaceful than other places*" (L-27; L-25). Similarly, a carpenter in his early 40s, who had come to Lima in the 1990s, observed that, "Where I live it is quiet, I hardly see any theft, or it goes unheard, but in the nearby neighborhoods, yes there is a lot of crime" (L-26).

5.2.3.3 Social Relatedness

Several migrants struggled with the separation from their relatives. Especially young migrants often lived with urban relatives they seldom knew well; one of them lamented that, *"Indeed, a separation from parents is always sad"* (L-16). The initial lack of support networks caused hardship:

There [in Lima], I lived alone. Sometimes with my uncle, but it's not the same, it's not like mom or dad ... [I felt] alone, alone, I felt that everything was coming over me. Away from home, away from grandparents ... It is difficult to be alone and not have the support, no one to talk to ... I thought of leaving everything. I was alone ... When you're away from home, it's shocking ... There, no one gives you a glass of water if you are ill, if you are sick. I don't know, they don't care, you must look after yourself. Even family members do not look after you, much less strangers. The change was quite hard. (VI-4)

Some migrants felt that unfamiliar social codes in the cities also hampered relationships initially.

However, with time, many migrants had gotten to know partners and spouses in the cities, founded families, and started to raise their own children, with whom they usually described good relations. For example, a now retired migrant in his late 50s said his social relations were "*slightly better*" in Huancayo than in V2 because he had married and founded a family (H-8). Many reported "good connections with neighbors" (L-26) and peers, partially facilitated by hometown associations.

5.2.3.4 SWB Dimensions

5.2.3.4.1 Emotional Balance and Cognitive Satisfaction

Many migrants described sadness and stress especially at their arrival, due to the separation from loved ones and their cherished highland environments. In addition, the dual burden of working and studying in the cities to fulfill migrants' own and their family's expectations caused anxiety in several respondents. Migrants were anxious in some cases despite improvements in material conditions. For example, a migrant in his 50s described the past sacrifices of working as a mechanic while studying during the night. Although he had met his wife in the city, had children, had tapped into educational opportunities, and has improved living standards, he concluded that, "Well, I wasn't happy... [but] a little more anxious" both at arrival and later in his life (H-8). He did not grow accustomed and considered return, claiming that various other migrants were in a similar state. In addition, many described tension and stress due to precarious livelihoods. Various migrants were also frightened due to urban insecurity. Moreover, some felt fatigue due to the city environment: "Life is more tiring now ... very tiring indeed" (H-8). A few expressed feelings of being overwhelmed, saying that they liked "almost nothing" in Lima (L-25). For example, a young student had strongly aspired to leave the highlands and had considered migration as his best option at the time but regretted his decision to migrate in retrospect. In Lima, without sufficient networks and finances, his income "improved a bit", but he faced higher costs of living. Although he gained valuable skills, he "suffered": "It was bad for me, not only in the part of trying to progress, but also in health ... To be honest, almost nothing makes me happy because I am full of problems". He retrospectively assessed his urban situation with dissatisfaction, "Because I did not have the emotional support of my family", and also felt "more anxious ... much more, because of the surroundings and the social change" (V1-4). Migrants were also angry and frustrated due to corruption and governance failures, and stated, "Over there [in *Lima], you must learn the reality of your country, where you live, the corruption*" (V1-4).

On the positive end, the fewer migrants who had succeeded in leveraging educational and income opportunities were satisfied with their urban lives. A retired engineer reported that, "*The life I live, well, I like it, it does not preoccupy*

me, I like having a cheerful life ..." (L-15). Others in less well-paid but still formal jobs or their own businesses were also more satisfied. They were grateful for the chance to advance economically and that their children would be better off. In addition, those living in quieter areas reported more positive feelings. Moreover, new family ties and lifestyles influenced satisfaction; for example, when asked if she had gotten used to Lima, a female teacher replied:

Uy! We no longer want to know about my land [in the Sierra] ... Due to the cold there, and we also don't want agriculture anymore. We also don't have family there anymore, everyone is here. (L-20)

5.2.3.4.2 Outlook on the Future

Many migrants who answered questions about their future expectations were more anxious than hopeful. The challenges back home in the highlands were one key concern. As one migrant said exemplarily: "I suffer for my land, for my town, I would like to have water so that my countrymen and the youth can return [to the village of origin] ... That makes me worry a lot" (H-13). Migrants "really worried" and felt "much more fear [than hope]" as "the water does not come anymore, and the mountains are drying" in the Andes, which, in their view, foreshadowed future problems in the cities: "The hills dry up, well, in some time. Where will we get water from?" (H-8). One worried, "From what will we live if agriculture decays?" (H-14). Others in the city seemed resigned given their own deprivation and economic fears, especially if in low-wage temporary jobs or informal positions. Partially due to such resignation, various migrants did not hold hope for themselves but only for their children's advancement. This hope for the next generation was a main driver and motivation for them to endure hard work. By contrast, others expressed anxiety that the younger generation had few perspectives in the cities. For example, a migrant in Huancayo stated, "My daughter is 32 years old and so I say to her, 'You don't want to have a son?' She replies, 'For what, only so my children suffer?" (H-8).

A small number of migrants who had objectively good prospects, religious faith, and personal resilience in the face of adversity were more hopeful. For example, a migrant in his mid-twenties worked as an administrative assistant in Lima and saw more possibilities in the city than in V2, where the glacier was lost: *"Well, yes, there are more opportunities to have something, perhaps to progress more"* (L-27). Some migrants retained hope despite *"so many obstacles"*, like a

young man who had to return from Lima to his village after he had gotten sick and could not finance his studies anymore: "I do not lose hope that there is more, ... that I can achieve my goals ... Faith and hope is the last thing I will lose" (V1-4). Another returned migrant recognized "the deprivation of the people" in V1, but still felt good about the future, "Because we talked and agreed that we must make a change among the youth ... There is much potential here ... [W]e'd like to return and bring in ideas" (V1-5).

5.2.4 Well-Being Dimensions: Stayers in Source Areas

While not the focus of this study, I briefly explore the well-being of families staying in V1 and V2 in this section. Migration affected the home villages by changing their sizes and compositions, alongside people's economic, health, educational, social, and cultural situations, as well as their SWB.

5.2.4.1 Demographic changes

Family planning and rising emigration have decreased population sizes in V1 and V2 in a mutually reinforcing process, leaving many homes abandoned (Figure 5.13). Because families have significantly fewer children today than some decades before, the migration of teenagers more strongly affects population sizes. V1 had had reportedly about ten births per year until the 1990s but now, only one child was born per year, so that the migration of the fewer young adults could not be offset in the same way as before. At the same time, climate impacts (together with other drivers, see 5.2.2) have increased the flows from V1. As a result, V1 has gradually shrunk: between the 1960s and 80s, it had been allegedly home to more than 150 families yet in 2018, only 40 families with mainly older adults were left, who worried that the village might become depopulated. V2 was reportedly home to 60 to 80 families in 2000. Yet, as the glacial meltwater disappeared, more and more youths left. In 2010, only 25 families remained and by 2018, fifteen more had left. In contrast to previous decades, most migrants left permanently since they lacked water and jobs in V2. Because mostly older adults stayed behind, no more new children were born and the life cycle in V2 was disrupted.



Figure 5.13 Situation in the highland villages of origin. (Note: The photos present abandoned houses of migrants in V1 (left) and V2 (right). Photos by the author)

5.2.4.2 Economic, Health and Educational Changes

Economically speaking, emigration subtracted labor force from the villages but also generated some remittances. For V1, the economic effect was noticeable but still less severe than for V2. For example, one father in V1 reported how his children had migrated to Lima and how he struggled to compensate for the loss of their labor support on his fields. Conversely, in V2, the economic situation deteriorated severely because many residents had left. Mostly older adults stayed behind, and they had limited resources or physical abilities to make a decent living. These stayers observed that glacier loss and ensuing migration had ruined their economy. For example, a woman in her early 80s remained back alone in V2 in deprived conditions and with serious health problems, mostly dependent on the few remittances sent by her children in the cities. Migrants from V1 and V2 now living in cities also worried about the economic downturn, constrained resources, and decaying houses in their home villages. The migrants and hometown associations from V1 and V2 would send support to their relatives at home, but not enough to buffer the lack of water and labor force.

In V2, the remaining mostly older residents suffered from typical health problems of their age, yet climate impacts and emigration have aggravated these problems. Since the village was shrinking, health workers would visit less regularly so that inhabitants lacked needed medical care. Hunger and despair, loneliness, and social disintegration further threatened people's health. Conversely, in V1, emigration had not yet had the same extent of adverse health

effects. Because sufficient dwellers have remained in the village, it still disposed of a medical post with semi-regular attendance.

Emigration—in combination with other factors that have reduced population sizes in V1 and V2—has also affected education. In V1, the director of the secondary school worried that the service might close soon due to the low birth rate and ever fewer incoming pupils. For the few remaining younger families, such a closure would create additional emigration pressure, as the next schools are too far for daily commuting. In V2, the school was about to close with only one pupil left. The vanishing educational opportunities have exacerbated the already difficult prospects for the village.

5.2.4.3 Social Changes

Emigration also has affected social relationships at home. The effects were especially severe in V2, where the president of the farmers' association worried about social disintegration. He observed increasing fights, grudges, and egoism among the stayers, which resulted, for example, in one episode where they failed to take the needed logistical steps to accept help offered by a local NGO. A female farmer in her late 60s remarked that the village had disintegrated due to the emigration and resultant losses of markets and community organization. People used to be caring and compassionate but now mostly remained within their houses. Remaining connected with migrated relatives was difficult because the remote village had limited mobile reception. Another woman in her early 80s deplored that her children would only rarely come to visit. She felt on her own and abandoned, missing the unity and mutual help she had experienced before the exodus. Migrants in the cities also worried about the decay of social relationships in V2 and the resulting loneliness of the remaining dwellers.

In V1, social ties still seemed more intact thanks to the larger remaining population. Village associations and religious celebrations continued to bring people together. Families stated that their children's migration was usually emotionally challenging in the beginning, especially when the first child left. However, they also said that they had tended to grow accustomed to emigration and were able to adjust slightly easier to subsequent departures of further children. Many stayed in constant contact through mutual visits and their phones, the latter facilitated by a decent mobile reception.

In both villages, older household members lamented that migration had resulted in losses of traditional knowledge and customs. However, these changes may be part of a larger social change that migration has only accelerated; a focus group with pupils who still lived in the villages but aspired to migrate revealed that many were disinterested in maintaining such customs and traditions.

5.2.4.4 Changes in SWB

People in V2 felt depressed and desperate due to the decay of the village, the exodus of relatives, and the lack of social contacts. One stark example was a woman in her early 80s: her husband had died decades ago, and her migrated children were not taking care of her regularly. She struggled to walk, was blind and almost deaf, and lived by herself. She suffered hunger, seemed distressed, fearful, and exhausted, and lacked medical care. Moreover, most villagers were resigned and tired due to the loss of water and jobs. For example, a woman in her late 60s saw, "*No future; rather we need, we live in great need… I will die this way, without seeing the water [again]*" (V2-4). Another old woman asked,

So, how will I spend my life now, how will I eat when my belly asks for food when I go to sleep, as a poor person? ... I don't know how I will spend my life, young man [sighs]... I'm already [in my early 80s], I can't anymore, I can't anymore. (V2-5)

Similarly, the president of the farmers' association asked,

[W]hat are we supposed to do without water? The water is essential. If we do not have water, we will remain the same here, more and more people of the few ones left will migrate ... Even I think, 'what to do if there are no resources to make a living?'. (V2-3)

In their misery, a small number of villagers held on to religious faith. For example, a farmer asked, "Do you see how the town is? A desert, it is a desert … There is no future, with nothing but the grace of God we live" (V2-1). Some farmers kept hopes that their children would be able to advance, such as one young man who stated that, "Well, for the future I only think about my son, to educate him, give him the best possible" (V2-2). One woman in her mid-60s, when asked about the next five to ten years, expressed a grim sense of humor by noting, "I will have died by then [laughs]" (V2-7).

In the less-affected V1, especially some of the older villagers perceived that migration had caused partial but limited social deprivation. They also worried about the well-being of their migrated relatives due to the insecurity and criminality in the cities. For example, a woman in her mid-70s felt saddened and alone after her children had migrated. After their migration, she was by herself, lacked support, and felt less satisfied with life, a situation captured in a traditional song (*huayno*) she recited:

[The relatives] only come a little while, and then they leave again; we remain behind, sad. What will we do? ... As I say, I keep crying. There is a huayno that goes like

this [sings]: 'whoever leaves is happy seeing new horizons, whoever stays is sad, heartbroken [crying].' It is sad, sad [crying]. (V1-3)

Yet, others described that they were more contented knowing that their children were advancing and becoming professionals in the cities. A few held hopes that adaptation to future climate impacts would be possible (see section 5.2.1), but such views were mixed with strong concerns about more hazards, deprivation, and economic insecurity. For example, a woman worried that in the long term, V1 would become a "*ghost town, because there are no people*" (V1-3). The focus group of young pupils, many of whom aspired to leave, were afraid that climate change would imperil their futures. One pupil was

Sad for what has happened. Our children will not have the privilege of living everything we have lived, in a healthy environment, the river by your side. It seems that our children will no longer have water, they will suffer many things. It is very sad, disappointing. (V1-16)

5.3 Discussion

These findings in the *Sierra* case study can contribute to the understanding of the nexus between climate (im)mobilities and well-being in several ways. In this section, I interpret the observed hazard-(im)mobility links and ensuing effects along the studied four well-being axes, situate them in the broader literature, and analyze relevant mechanisms and structural conditions.

5.3.1 Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways

The poor agricultural villages V1 and V2 have long histories of migration to cities driven by multiple reasons, similar to the historical trends in mountain areas worldwide (de Sherbinin et al. 2012). Traditionally, mainly younger people have left the study sites seeking jobs, education, and lifestyle changes, an age-specific pattern known worldwide (Millington 2000). Changes in family planning and family sizes have further reduced populations, as statistics indicate (INAIGEM 2018; INEI 2018c). *Hazard-related* migration specifically is also common in Peru's highlands (Milan & Ho 2014; Vidal Merino et al. 2020). In the study sites, strong glacier retreat and rainfall changes have caused water stress and

thereby gradually gained importance as migration drivers over the past thirty years. Simultaneously, these gradual climate impacts have made migration conditions more difficult and return less likely. The most direct climate effect on migration from the mainly ecosystem-dependent V1 and V2 was the loss of agricultural productivity; similarly, climate effects on economic migration drivers are also most salient worldwide (Foresight 2011). In V1, the mid-stage glacier retreat and rainfall changes have only gradually intensified preexisting migration because an NGO helped to mitigate the water stress to some extent. Likewise, many rural Peruvians tend to stay at the beginning of slow-onset climate impacts to attempt local adaptation (Koubi et al. 2016). By contrast, in V2, the fast and near-complete loss of meltwater caused an exodus because remoteness, poverty, lack of diversification options or necessary skills, and an absent state apparatus strongly limited capacities for adaptation in place. Increasingly, whole families have left for good, mainly to Huancayo as the Regional and Lima as the national capital. Such accelerating effects of advancing stages of glacier retreat on migration are also described in other Andean villages in Peru (Wrathall et al. 2014). In the future—when glacier loss will intensify, and adaptation limits may be reached due to insufficient state support, skills, technology, and market networks-V1 will therefore likely be at risk of a similar exodus as V2. Other studies confirm that because many people in highlands worldwide are poor and depend on ecosystembased livelihoods, they frequently move to smooth income shocks, and degrading ecosystems make emigration from such areas more likely (Kollmair & Banerjee 2011). The cases here also corroborate that feedback mechanisms can enlarge emigration; such mechanisms include shortage of labor force, closure of critical infrastructure, and removal of social resources in villages of origin as well as expanding migration networks in cities and chain migration effects. When tipping points are crossed and life cycles are compromised-as seen in other Peruvian pastoralist communities (Alata et al. 2018)-gradual settlement abandonment can become a real threat. Such abandonment processes are known from historical cases (McLeman 2011). Simultaneously, the case of V2 emphasizes that gradual hazards can reduce the ability of people with limited prior resources to move out of harm's way and thus forcibly trap them, as suspected by other studies (Kollmair & Banerjee 2011). Even more so, place attachment and health limitations can make people stay despite rising climate hazards, a dynamic also observed in other Peruvian highland zones (Adams 2016).

Among those who left, agency varied (de Haas 2021). Most migrants disposed of limited, but sufficient *capabilities* to implement their choices to move. Men and wealthier families left first, which validates that gradual climate migration is often gendered in Peru (Milan 2016; Sperling et al. 2008), and that vulnerability

and capacities to move are inversely correlated (Adger et al. 2014). Conversely, the findings here provide nuances to another study of Peru which holds that gradual hazards first push those with least assets and skills to migrate (Koubi et al. 2016); such a dynamic is probable when impacts are still more manageable in place (V1) but once habitability is threatened (V2), most affected people will be compelled to leave, and the wealthier have better chances for doing so faster. Migration ranged from more *voluntary* to more *forced* instances, as some people had *aspired* to leave but others hoped to stay. In Kunz's terms (1981), migration was *anticipatory* at first, as people increasingly worried about the climate-related, gradual loss of jobs and educational opportunities; yet, it had *acute* elements later on, especially once the meltwater was entirely lost in V2 and people were forced to react. This underscores that the lens of *mixed migration*, which has recently gained traction in migration policy debates (Sharpe 2018), is also relevant for climate migration (e.g. Sow et al. 2016).

While much fewer migrants from V1 have opted to return permanently than used to be common decades ago, all migrants have maintained translocal links with their birthplace, which underlines the merit of studying climate migration through translocality lenses (Greiner & Sakdapolrak 2016; Rockenbauch & Sakdapolrak 2017). Due to V2's remote location, limited mobile reception, and the few stayers left, translocal ties to the village were weaker than to V1. In the cities, hometown associations were key actors for migrants' new pursuits (Pairama & Le Dé 2018), yet such HTAs and other collective actors, such as faith-based organizations or NGOs, have still received limited attention in the literature on internal climate migration.

5.3.2 Well-Being Effects, Structural Conditions, and Mechanisms

5.3.2.1 Migrants' Development from a Secure base

Mechanisms conducive to decent livelihoods included vocational trainings or studies in the cities that enabled a small number of migrants to take up better positions; networks permitting access to credit and jobs; entrepreneurship and innovation to find niches or make use of urban opportunities; as well as sacrifice and hard work, often at the cost of other well-being elements, such as health. Conversely, especially the case of V2 corroborates findings from other highland studies that migration becomes "more of an imperative to maintain livelihoods than a way to enhance well-being" when climate impacts cause severe harm and exacerbate unequal access to resources or power (Lennox 2015: 793; Wrathall

et al. 2014). This dynamic was evident in the heavily harmed, spatially and administratively isolated V2. When farmers from V2 had to migrate to the cities, they lacked transferable skills and often ended in precarious jobs, which confirms a concern raised before in Peru (Sperling et al. 2008). Interviewees with prior vulnerabilities suffered from urban livelihood stress, which inflicted further harm such as food insecurity, in line with the larger internal migration literature (Lagakos 2020; Selod & Shilpi 2021), other climate migration studies (e.g. Melde et al. 2017), and a study in Peru's Selva (Sherman et al. 2015). Most migrants' urban occupational quality did not greatly improve, contrary to global findings (World Bank 2018). This observation substantiates the warning that distress migrants are at risk in labor markets split into high- and low-wage jobs (Waters et al. 2010), as is the case in Peru (Carranza 2016). The lack of skills transferable to the cities or the inability to acquire new skillsets, for example due to the high costs of education, were a first major obstacle for decent job and income situations. Second, additional barriers included baseline health problems or worsening health conditions due to migrants' new urban lives. Third, limited social networks posed further obstacles. Fourth, structural factors also obstructed advances: due to population growth, labor market segments of interest have gotten more saturated and highly competitive while occasionally, the rising costs of urban living nullified relative income gains compared to migrants' previous lives. Furthermore, weak governance and alleged corruption issues as well as a lack of adequate resources and personnel in municipal service provision hindered economic advances.

For education, several mechanisms worked in different directions. Migrants started with disadvantages in the cities because education in the *Sierra* lagged. Nevertheless, many appreciated the better availability of educational institutions in the cities with more programs, better staff, and greater market recognition. Flexible options such as evening schools were key resources for migrants. However, these options were also expensive; migrants had to study, learn, and work simultaneously to pay the costs, and this burden prevented several of them from accessing or progressing in education. Hence, few migrants had access to this educational gateway to better jobs and health, which echoes UNESCO's (2020) concern about educational vulnerabilities in climate migration, but contradicts the gains found by prior studies on climate (Melde et al. 2017) and general migration (UNDP 2020).

Additionally, many interviewees suffered from several of the health challenges common in climate migration (see review in Schwerdtle et al. 2020), which contradicts the more positive results by Melde et al. (2017). A first, major constraint for food security and access to the health care system was migrants' lack

of income. Second, deficient basic services, often due to a lack of land- and homeownership, aggravated health problems. Third, stressful lives, pollution and contamination, and precarious livelihoods also affected health, as did family separation. Finally, partial health gains were often offset by higher costs of living and adverse living conditions, as can be the case for internal migrants worldwide (Selod & Shilpi 2021). Conversely, the few migrants with the necessary resources to access urban health services, staff, and infrastructure tended to profit from moving.

All things considered, the new cases substantiate results of prior studies in Peru's highlands (Afifi et al. 2016) and the general literature (see chapter 4), which stress that well-being effects of rural-to-urban climate migration vary: the higher prior vulnerabilities are, the more likely adverse results. More voluntary, *improvement* migration under tolerable conditions made it possible for a small number of migrants to advance in their *development from a secure base*. Conversely, those with little prior resources moving forcibly and under *distress* conditions experienced hardship.

5.3.2.2 Migrants' Space to Live Better

Achieving a space to live better depended on migrants' resources, social networks, land availability, and administrative decisions regarding titles and basic services. A small number of migrants was privileged to move in with established relatives who lived in decent houses, which stresses the key role of family networks to mitigate some of the possible hardship in cities (OECD & EU 2015). Better situated migrants were generally content in the nicer and safer areas of Lima, and some preferred the warmer climate compared to the Sierra. By contrast, for most of the poorer and more recent migrants, the oversaturation of the rapidly growing destinations Lima and Huancayo has created challenges. Vertical, horizontal, and informal growth has led to problems related to land acquisition, infrastructure, basic services, social cohesion, and urban livelihoods (Carpenter & Quispe-Agnoli 2015; Haller & Borsdorf 2013; Ioris 2015). Many interviewees had to move gradually more toward the outskirts, often to precarious and unsafe housing in new settlements. Because few of the attainable settlements were legal, many migrants lacked titles and therefore access to basic services for long and some for life. Most poorer migrants also described their new urban surroundings as arid, hectic, and congested, and thus as dissatisfying compared to their previous rural environments, confirming that the lack of green spaces and connections with nature can heavily reduce well-being (Wolsko & Marino 2016). The observed loss of place satisfaction compared to rural homes also supports the prediction by Adams (2016) that climate migrants who suffered non-provisional

losses in their birthplaces face well-being risks in the cities, because they cannot recover these losses. A growing literature on distress caused by environmental change refers to this phenomenon as solastalgia (Albrecht et al. 2007; Tschakert & Tutu 2010; Warsini et al. 2014). Most poor migrants also had to live in urban zones that were insecure and dangerous, such as riverbanks or hills surrounding Huancayo, and the arid, hilly outskirts of Lima. While they managed to escape from primary hazards in the Sierra, many suffered from secondary hazards in the cities, a concern also stressed by the climate migration literature (Adger et al. 2014; de Sherbinin et al. 2012; Foresight 2011). In Peru specifically, studies indicate that rural-to-urban climate migrants from the Sierra (Oliver-Smith 2014), Selva (Langill 2018), and Costa (Rubiños & Anderies 2020) often end up in hazard-exposed zones due to structural and intersectional factors (Erwin et al. 2021). In both Huancayo and Lima, numerous interviewees worried about water scarcity, and the literature substantiates this concern. Water is already scarce, but demand is increasing in many growing cities in Peru; simultaneously, the projected vast glacier loss further threatens highland cities that depend on meltwaters and coastal cities' inter-annual water buffering systems, and thereby exacerbates the competition for water between human use and agriculture (Buytaert et al. 2017; Buytaert & de Bièvre 2012).

To summarize, *a space to live better* was unreachable for most poor climate migrants who had moved under *distress* to disadvantaged urban zones characterized by tenure insecurity, deficient housing, poor basic services or infrastructure, as well as insecurity, pollution, and hazards. These results substantiate the risks for climate migrants in rapidly urbanizing areas with adverse structures identified in other climate migration studies (e.g. Adger et al. 2020; Melde et al. 2017).

5.3.2.3 Migrants' Social Relatedness

The review in chapter 4 led to mixed expectations regarding the effects of ruralto-urban climate migration on *social relatedness*, ranging from gains (Melde et al. 2017) to losses, especially for forced migrants (Schwerdtle et al. 2020). The limited information for Peru also suggested negative impacts (Sherman et al. 2015; Sperling et al. 2008). This study adds nuances to this literature by demonstrating that the quality of migrants' *social relatedness* was in part a function of time. Initially, different social systems and codes, family separation, and losses of strong prior ties often reduced migrants' *social relatedness*, in line with results of general migration studies (Selod & Shilpi 2021). However, consolidated migrant structures in the large cities reduced social costs for newcomers by allowing them to *acculturate selectively*, namely, to gradually adopt new ways while nurturing partial roots in their co-ethnic communities (Waters et al. 2010). Over time, migrant networks therefore created social gains. The more established migrants became, the more often they also met partners and spouses in the cities, founded families, and started to raise own children, with whom they usually described good relations. Many also experienced positive social cohesion in their neighborhoods. This value of primary relationships and community support in destinations is consistent with findings of general migration reviews (Munshi 2020; Selod & Shilpi 2021).

5.3.2.4 Migrants' SWB

No previous study had explored the SWB of climate rural-to-urban migrants in Peru.¹⁶ On the negative end, the findings here reveal that most of those moving under structural distress conditions and settling in places with relatively hostile modes of incorporation suffered from deprivation¹⁷ due to multiple unfulfilled needs and limited development prospects. Many migrants described negative feelings especially at the beginning of their time in the challenging urban areas. A first burden was sadness due family separation. Second, anxiety, stress, and tensions frequently persisted due to the demanding city life, precarious livelihoods, the dual burden of working and studying, and insecurity. Various migrants were overwhelmed by these dynamics, exhausted, and dissatisfied with life. Third, migrants were also angry and frustrated due to corruption and governance failures. Fourth, negative feelings often related to adverse material conditions, and even some migrants whose conditions had improved reported negative emotions. Nevertheless, other than predicted before (Koubi et al. 2018; Magallanes 2015), the interviewees' experiences of hazards, grievances, and deprivation did not (yet) seem to make conflict more likely in the cities.¹⁸ Over time, several but far from all migrants experienced partial hedonic adaptation to the surrounding urban risks. These results corroborate that migration voluntariness, resources, and conditions strongly determine SWB (Bartram et al. 2013; Hendriks 2015) and that most rural-to-urban migrants in poorer countries stand to lose SWB (e.g. Chen et al. 2019; Mulcahy & Kollamparambil 2016). Various of the mechanisms identified in the review chapter 4 are plausible. First, it is known that migrants' SWB partially converges to the average SWB of locals (Helliwell et al. 2018b), and

¹⁶ At most, studies on displacement and relocation have identified associated mental health burdens, see for example Espinoza-Neyra et al. (2017); Rojas-Medina et al. (2008).

¹⁷ For terminology, see section 2.3. *Deprivation* refers to adverse objective conditions accompanied by low cognitive satisfaction and negative emotional balance.

¹⁸ Neither did conflict emerge due to increased pressures on natural resources at their destination, as for example identified after climate-related migration by fishers on Peru's coast, see Badjeck (2008); Badjeck et al. (2009).

most interviewees lived in poor zones with expectedly low SWB. Second, *relative deprivation* compared with better situated segments of the cities may have further reduced SWB because the more migrants integrate, the more they tend to take residents in their new homes as reference points (Melzer & Muffels 2017). Third, the difficult macro conditions in the cities may have further decreased SWB (e.g. Hendriks & Bartram 2016). And finally, a part of migrants' low SWB in the cities may relate to *footprint effects* from source areas (Helliwell et al. 2020), especially for migrants from the SWB-deprived village V2.

On the positive end, the small number of *improvement* migrants who had achieved urban upward mobility seemed to experience true well-being. This result contradicts most other studies on internal migrants in poorer countries (for whom SWB losses are common even despite high OWB gains (e.g. Chen et al. 2019; Czaika & Vothknecht 2014)), but is closer to results in a few richer areas (where some male migrants make lasting SWB gains (e.g. Ek et al. 2008; Kratz 2020)). Advantageous mechanisms included successfully leveraging educational and income opportunities, working in formal jobs or in own businesses, living in quieter areas, and having good family ties. Therefore, the reasons behind these rare SWB gains in this study may be large *relative* OWB *improvements* compared to migrants' own prior lives, combined with relative improvement compared to their many often-poor urban peers. Prior studies also find that OWB gains (especially in income) compared to migrants' previous lives can drive lasting SWB increases beyond hedonic adaptation (Melzer & Muffels 2017). By contrast, the mechanisms most commonly stressed in the field-rising or unrealized aspirations, lacking information, relative deprivation, and migration costs (Haindorfer 2019a)-ostensibly had limited influence on this small number of migrants. Even so, the reviewed literature suggests that most interviewees will likely remain unable to catch up with the SWB of city natives (e.g. Hendriks et al. 2016), a prediction that future studies could assess.

Beyond their emotional balance and cognitive satisfaction in the present, most migrants' views of the future were negative (*enforced* and *dramatized fear*)¹⁹ due to various mechanisms. First, migrants in low-wage temporary positions in the city suffered from deprivation and economic fears and had often resigned. This result contrasts other cases where hope aided low-wage migrants to endure present hardship (Pine 2014) but is in line with cases where migrants' hopes wane over time (Boccagni 2017). Second, several migrants worried about the observed challenges in their highland villages of origin and third, various of them felt anxious for the coming generations due to their lack of development prospects

¹⁹ For terminology, see section 2.3.

and the rising magnitude of climate impacts. These findings stress how salient climate anxiety can be for climate migrants (Clayton 2020); they also suggest that migrants may not be able to escape this anxiety by moving, since they are linked to stayers in still-exposed hometowns and often remain affected themselves by hazards out of their control in cities. Conversely, those who held hopes did so due to relatively good economic prospects, religious faith, or personal resilience in the face of adversity, occasionally despite deep poverty, which reveals that circumstantial and personal factors interact to create hope (see chapter 4). Other migrants only held hope for their children's progress, a finding consistent with other studies (e.g. Boccagni 2016). However, as noted above, still other migrants despaired over impending challenges for their children.

5.3.2.5 Stayers' Well-Being

As a secondary interest, this study also led to insights into several mechanisms through which emigration affected the social systems and well-being of stayers in the Sierra. Migration together with changing family planning have reduced population sizes in migrants' birthplaces toward (V1) or below (V2) critical thresholds that have started to threaten village life. Economically speaking, emigration subtracted labor force from the shrinking villages, which complicated labor-intensive agriculture. It also generated remittances, but their extent depended heavily on the urban jobs attainable for migrants. Many of the interviewed poor migrants in precarious and informal jobs had limited resources for remittances, similar as in Peru's Selva (Sherman et al. 2015) and other contexts (Le Dé et al. 2013; Schade et al. 2016). Adding insights to a still-open debate (Banerjee et al. 2017; Bendandi & Pauw 2016), in this study, financial remittances did not seem to buffer the loss of water and labor force and thus failed to support climate adaptation. As a result, in V2, many economically inactive and physically limited older adults suffered economic hardship due to emigration. Interviewees also did not report large benefits from remittances on health and education, contrary to a study of climate migration on Peru's coast (Badjeck 2008) and to general reviews on migration (Obi et al. 2020; Ratha et al. 2011). Social remittances, another possible development catalyst (de Haas 2009), were also limited due to migrants' economic struggles and the remoteness of their birthplaces. Hometown associations from V1 and V2-another potential supporting actor for climate adaptation in source areas (ADB 2012; Webber & Barnett 2010)-mainly focused on sociocultural events and support for migrants in the cities. Nonetheless, general statistics indicate that internal remittances hold potential to support at-risk stayers in rural source areas in Peru, as almost one third of the recipients are women, 65 years or older, and 47% of them are economically inactive (Sánchez Aguilar 2012a).

However, this study suggests that limits apply; once thresholds toward settlement abandonment are crossed, remittances cannot counterbalance the ensuing threats to the survival of critical infrastructure, services, and social stability. Similarly, extended family networks can help mitigate some of the social effects of emigration (Bedford et al. 2009), but only to a certain degree. These networks gradually failed in V2, where too many entire families had already left, and the few remaining villagers suffered from a disrupted social system. Overall, the socio-cultural effects of emigration depended on who left, their numbers, the pace of departures, and the possibilities to maintain contact. In V1-with its still lower pace of emigration and better mobile reception-social relationships were less affected than in V2. The exodus from V2 also aggravated existing health issues by deteriorating health service provision, food insecurity, and psychosocial issues, which confirms the concern by general reviews that emigration can raise morbidity for stayers (Abubakar et al. 2018; Paudyal & Tunprasert 2018), especially for older adults (Ao et al. 2016). By contrast, increasing emigration has had few effects on health in V1 so far, where more people have remained in place. Regarding education, the increasing departure of the youth and young families has led to ever fewer pupils in both villages, which has threatened the continuance of the educational infrastructure. In summary, the findings on the OWB of stayers stress that emigration can induce losses of labor force, critical infrastructure or services, social networks, and traditional knowledge, which corroborates findings of prior studies of climate migration in Peru's highlands (Altamirano Rua 2021; Lennox & Gowdy 2014; López-i-Gelats et al. 2015) and the general literature (Obi et al. 2020).

Finally, emigration also affected *SWB* in the villages. Key mechanisms were the severity of climate impacts and related magnitudes and conditions of emigration; the well-being of migrated relatives; the possibility to maintain contact; and stayers' social and material prospects. The entirely negative SWB effects of emigration in V2 are consistent with results of a prior review study (Paudyal & Tunprasert 2018), and the cases suggest that the reasons behind this decline are losses of identity, community organization, and critical infrastructure due to emigration. By contrast, migration has had more mixed SWB effects in V1, confirming that gains in some SWB factors can occur simultaneously with losses in others (Graham & Nikolova 2018). Future outlooks in V1 were mixed given concerns about livelihoods and climate change, yet still more positive than in V2, where personal coping mechanisms like faith or humor could not offset the salient stressors. These findings confirm the expectations from the review in chapter 4 that climate change can worsen views of the future through various pathways, including past and expected climate impacts, and that rising despair can deepen perceptions of vulnerability, uncontrollability, and unpredictability, which may ultimately block action or engagement (e.g. Carver & Scheier 2014; Forgeard & Seligman 2012).

5.4 Summary and Induction of Propositions

In this section, I summarize the key structural conditions, mechanisms of action, and well-being dynamics in this case study of rural-to-urban migration related to gradual hazards in the *Sierra*. In a final step, I then induce broader propositions on the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities.

Figure 5.14 displays the identified well-being outcomes for climate migrants as well as significant structural conditions and mechanisms shaping these outcomes. Stayers are not depicted. The figure illustrates that the migration in the context of gradual glacier loss and rainfall changes occurred with average to low structural opportunities, including freedom of movement within Peru and established translocal networks. However, structural constraints were larger and included severe climate risks and limited adaption possibilities, poverty and inequality, limited livelihood options, spatial insularity, tenure insecurity, poor basic infrastructure and services, weak governance, lack of political voice, and population growth. Given these structural conditions, the flows from the rural areas to the large cities were situated on a spectrum between improvement and distress migration. Regarding agency, most migrants had limited but sufficient migration capabilities to implement their decisions, yet aspirations to leave varied, and movements thus ranged from more *voluntary* to clearly *forced* instances. Most remaining adolescents aspired to depart to the cities. Among those staying in V1, many older adults were voluntarily immobile, whereas others, especially those in V2, were trapped.

Migrants' well-being results in Lima and Huancayo were on average more net-negative than net-positive. For finer analysis, the figure below differentiates between two factions. The first group covers most of the interviewees who had left the increasingly adverse situations in their home villages in recent years under *distress conditions* and arrived with limited baseline resources and skills in the oversaturated, large urban agglomerations. These migrants experienced great challenges for their *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better*, while gradually reaching similar or better *social relatedness* as before migration. Although they were subsisting in the cities, multiple deprivations restricted their development prospects. These migrants with multiple unmet needs subjectively suffered from *deprivation* in their cognitive satisfaction and emotions; only few



reported partial and gradual *adjustment*.²⁰ In the figure below, they are marked in red as the "losing" group. By contrast, the second group comprises a small number of migrants who achieved urban upward mobility, in particular those who had moved voluntarily and a longer time ago. In often-arduous processes, they have used urban education and job opportunities to improve their well-being and long-term prospects. This small group evaluated its needs as mostly fulfilled (*true well-being*). In Figure 5.14, this faction is highlighted in green as the "gaining" group. Nonetheless, both the large number of migrants losing OWB (*enforced fear*) and the few ones gaining OWB (*dramatized fear*) held mostly negative views of the future. The light gray boxes in the figure synthesize the key structural conditions and well-being mechanisms explained above that may be applicable to other contexts.

These empirical findings on *improvement* and *distress* climate migration from Peru's highlands, ranging from *voluntary* to *forced* cases, make it possible to induce broader propositions on the well-being of climate migrants in cities and stayers in rural source areas.

Foremost, when severe and irrevocable climate impacts threaten the means of existence of remote and poor agricultural communities with constrained on-site adaptation options, migration likely gradually becomes an imperative. Self-accelerating migratory feedback mechanisms then can reduce population size at an exponential pace, pushing settlements to points of no return and toward eventual abandonment. This is particularly likely when village life cycles are disrupted because the youth and young families leave, as is common in many small mountain towns worldwide with deeply rooted cultures of migration, which can raise the pace and volume of departures. If land and livelihoods are not entirely lost, increasingly smaller shares of the residents may be able to apply the limited inplace diversification options to carve out a living in the original site. Yet, absent strong support from the state or translocal networks, these remaining villagers are at risk of progressively more severe OWB and SWB declines due to the losses of labor force, knowledge, social networks, and key infrastructure or services, which can endanger their self-organization, identity, and survival.

If enough freedom of movement and migration networks exist, two internal migration paths are possible for such former subsistence farmers who leave areas with progressively worsening slow-onset impacts. First, if impacts are still more manageable in place, they are likely to emerge as one factor among many that

 $^{^{20}}$ For terminology, see section 2.3. *Deprivation* refers to adverse objective conditions accompanied by low cognitive satisfaction and negative emotional balance. *Adjustment* is subjective well-being despite adverse objective conditions.

jointly drive gradual, anticipatory *improvement* migration. People engaging in this type of migration have a chance to experience improved OWB in the cities, albeit with taxing and laborious processes. Second, OWB is likely at risk if climate impacts reach critical thresholds and increasingly force *distress* migration, and if such migrants arrive with limited baseline resources and untransferable rural skills in overcrowded zones of large cities. Such migrants may subsist in their new urban lives, but multiple deprivations will significantly restrict their development prospects. The well-being results of these two groups will likely diverge strongly in the four studied dimensions:

- (1) Most of the poor farmers who must move to irregular, peripheral zones marked by high job competition, limited state presence, and deficient basic services will have almost no chance to transform their skillsets to meet urban demands. They will likely continue with limited opportunities for *development from a secure base* while they struggle to achieve decent livelihoods, education, or health and food security. A few migrants may see progress if they arrive in the cities during periods with more favorable labor, land, and housing markets as well as receptive policies. However, making such advances additionally requires strong educational and social entry points and migrants' entrepreneurship, hard work, or sacrifice.
- (2) A space to live better is likely out of reach for many poor climate migrants who move under distress conditions to irregular urban settlements at the margins of oversaturated cities, where they lack state support, tenure security, as well as basic infrastructure and services, and may be exposed to insecurity, pollution, and unfamiliar climate hazards. In the rarer cases where positive conditions work together—such as sufficient migration resources, strong social networks, state support, and urban livelihoods gains—migrants may start with or gradually achieve more decent living conditions.
- (3) If a strong diaspora provides climate migrants with time and support so they can gradually blend into segmented, co-ethnic urban social systems and learn new social codes, they may, gradually, reach similar *social relatedness* as before, especially as they build new ties and found families.
- (4) As a result of multiple unfulfilled needs, many climate migrants are likely to suffer from subjective *deprivation*. Such *deprivation* threatens to be especially salient when migrants start to settle in, a time when several negative factors such as family separation, parallel burdens, insecurity, weak governance, and unfamiliarity with the new social system are common. If people's attained human development state as well as the quality of their urban locations and security remain low, even expectable social gains made over time

and personal coping mechanisms are unlikely to raise their *evaluation of need fulfillment* in the present. Few of these migrants may gradually and partially experience *adjustment* through hedonic adaptation. By contrast, a smaller group of migrants with urban upward mobility can experience *true well-being*. Nevertheless, most of the internal climate migrants moving, settling, and living under the conditions described above are likely to experience *enforced* (and some *dramatized*) *fear* regarding the future, given economic problems and lack of progress, anxiety regarding uncontrollable climate impacts, concerns about the future of their children, and worries about their rural hometowns, which personal coping mechanisms may moderate only to some degree.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.




6

Selva: Flood-Driven Entrapment and Planned Relocation in Peru's Rainforest

"Para mi igual no más ha sido, porque cada vez que inunda igual sufrimos, no hay cambio. Cambio puede haber cuando nosotros salgamos de aquí, cuando nos reubiquen."

"For me, it has stayed the same really, because every time it floods, we suffer the same, there is no change. Change can happen when we leave here, when they relocate us" (own translation, as in all the chapter).

Statement by an Indigenous subsistence farmer, in her early 40s at the time of the interview, and mother of two children. She aspired to relocate but has been trapped since a major river flood in 2015 (V4-14).

In Peru's rainforest (*Selva*), the research interest was in two cases of flood-driven, short-distance, planned relocation (community-wide migration) in the Region of San Martín. After having requested relocation, both villages first became forcibly immobile for years and only one relocation was eventually accomplished. These cases are of interest for two reasons. First, the evidence demonstrates that the annual flood cycle in the rainforest and extreme floods periodically drive individual migration (e.g. Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Langill 2018; List 2016; Sherman et al. 2016). When habitability is threatened, the state has occasionally attempted to relocate entire communities (Bernales 2019; Desmaison et al. 2018; Estrada et al. 2018; Lavell et al. 2016; Lopez 2018; Pittaluga 2019). Second, extreme floods have already increased in the rainforest (Barichivich et al. 2018; Gloor et al. 2013; Marengo & Espinoza 2016) and are projected to rise further due to climate change (Castellanos et al. 2022; Zulkafli et al. 2016). Without attribution analysis, it remains difficult to know how much more likely climate change made the specific floods analyzed in this dissertation. Yet, since extreme floods have

increased in this region overall, and climate change is projected to intensify them further, the case studies do provide valuable insights into a dynamic with rising importance for (im)mobilities.

In the first section, I explain the geographical context, measured and projected climate change trends and impacts, exposure, vulnerabilities, local coping and adaptation, and hazard-related migration in Peru's *Selva*. Afterwards, I describe and discuss the new empirical results before inducing propositions on well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities in the last section.

6.1 Context

Peru's share of Amazonia—the second-largest after Brazil's—comprises 58% of the its landmass but is home to only 14% of the population (INEI 2018c; Mächtle 2016).¹ The study sites V3 and V4 are located in the San Martín Region (Figure 6.1), where 813,000 people lived in in 2017, 68% of them in urban zones (INEI 2018c).² V3 and V4 are two small but growing villages without district status. In 2018, V3 housed 150 farmers who auto-identified as *mestizos* (Amerindian and other ancestry).³ Due to high birth rates, V4 has more than doubled its size since 1990 and is now home to 700 *Indígenas* (Indigenous people) (INEI 2018c). The population in V4 is young, with almost every second villager being at school age. It has retained Indigenous ancestral customs such as music, dances, and handicraft, and special relations to the surrounding nature. In both sites, slightly more inhabitants are male than female, and all villagers speak Spanish.

Amazonia contains much of the remaining rainforest on Earth, which provides key ecosystem services to people in Peru and worldwide. The tropical rainforest still covers about two thirds of the *Selva* in Peru, with transitions into forest and savanna on the northern and southern extremes, and into montane and cloud forest in the Andes to the west (Encyclopædia Britannica 2018; Mächtle 2016). Some of Peru's rainforest is protected or belongs to Indigenous people, but an increasing share is exploited for agriculture, agroforestry, and resource extraction. Deforestation is a serious problem and mainly driven by agricultural migration, logging,

¹ This section partially draws on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

² For privacy protection, I neither mention the names of the specific sites of investigation nor of interviewes. V3 stands for interviews from the completed relocation and V4 for interviews from the stalled relocation case (*forced* immobility).

³ The exact number of inhabitants is known but not mentioned here for privacy protection.



Figure 6.1 Sites for qualitative data collection in Peru's rainforest. (Note: To protect the respondents, the pins indicate approximate locations only. Created by the author, based on CIA (1970))

illegal wood extraction, and climate impacts (MINAM 2016b; USAID 2014). Humans have caused vast biodiversity losses and species extinction in Peru, one of the world's seventeen megadiverse countries (CEPLAN 2011; USAID 2014).

Besides rainforest cover, vegetation in the *Selva* depends on elevationrelated temperatures (Encyclopædia Britannica 2018; Mächtle 2016). Land below 1,000 m.a.s.l. is suitable for producing bananas, cacao, and similar crops. These lowlands feature two landforms, the wide surfaces above highest flood levels (*terra firme*) and alluvial floodplains by the river (*várzeas*) with annual floods. Above 1,000 m.a.s.l., more moderate temperatures allow for crops such as coffee and corn.

Peru's rainforest and its pre-mountains feature a humid and tropical climate (Mächtle 2016). Seasonal temperatures vary slightly, but daily ranges between maximum and minimum temperatures can be high in the lowlands and even higher in the mountainous zones. In austral summers, the South American Summer Monsoon brings abundant rainfall with yearly averages of 1,500–2000 mm. Maximum rainfall develops along the north-eastern Andean slopes. As a result, the Atlantic drainage basin, which includes Amazonia, accounts for more than 97% of the total available water in Peru (ANA 2018). While the rainforest has high temperatures and rainfall rates nearly all year long, the seasonality of rainfall regimes varies across zones. The study sites V3 and V4 are located at approximately 250 and 200 m.a.s.l on the ecological floor coined *Omagua* (Pulgar Vidal 1972).⁴ Temperatures here are high all year and the region has a bimodal rainfall regime. V3 experiences rainfall peaks from February-April and September-November. The rainy season in V4 lasts from September-May, whereas the drier period is from June-August (Figure 6.2).⁵

In Peru's already warm rainforest, temperatures have risen by up to 0.25 °C per decade from 1981 to 2016 (Bergmann et al. 2021a; Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2016). Extremely hot days during the warm months have increased at least by a factor of two over recent decades in northern South America (Feron et al. 2019). Abrupt temperature falls (*friajes*) also threaten people, fauna, and flora in Peru's *Selva* six to ten times per year (MINAGRI 2012; SENAMHI n.d.; SINAGERD et al. 2014), and San Martín has the second-highest exposure to *friajes* in Peru (SINAGERD et al. 2014). For V4 specifically, the analysis of gridded satellite and station data reveal that 1997–2016 temperatures were up to 0.2 °C higher

⁴ The term *Omagua* is derived from the name of an Indigenous people in the *Selva*.

⁵ I would like to thank my colleague Stephanie Gleixner, who kindly produced these graphs. Because the PISCO dataset does not perform well in the rainforest, she also used weather station data for graphs in this chapter.



Figure 6.2 Temperatures and rainfall close to V3 and V4. (Note: Average temperatures and rainfall per month 1982–2016 for weather stations closest to V3 (left) and V4 (right). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner, using station and PISCO data (Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2016). The station name here and in the following figures is concealed to protect the privacy of respondents)

compared to 1982–2001 (Figure 6.3). The maximum daily temperature range has declined, while the absolute maximum temperatures and the number of hot days have been rising.

Rainfall trend analysis for Peru comes with uncertainties. Several studies find no significant average trends in the Amazon (Haylock et al. 2006; Heidinger et al. 2018), but specific basins show significant increases (for example, the southern Ucayali basin in the south) or low significant reductions (for example, the northern Ucayali basin in the central rainforest) (Da Paca et al. 2020). While Da Paca et al. (2020) find insignificant increases in the northern rainforest, Lavado-Casimiro et al. (2012b) document significant decreases. Runoff for the Amazon basin has significantly decreased (Espinoza et al. 2006; Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2012a). Data analysis for V4 specifically indicates that daily mean rainfall has increased throughout the year for the period of 1997–2016 compared to 1982–2001, particularly during the rainy season (Figure 6.4). Annual rainfall also indicates an upward trend after a dry period in the second half of the 1990s. While the number of dry spells seems to have decreased and shortened, the intensity of extreme precipitation events (95th percentile) has increased.

The exact direction of future changes in mean and extreme rainfall in the Amazon is unclear (Christensen et al. 2013; Cook & Vizy 2008; Giorgi et al. 2014; Sörensson et al. 2010), as is the case for the Province home to V4 (Figure 6.5). Peru's rainforest may see fewer rainy days but more intense rainfall events (Castellanos et al. 2022; Christensen et al. 2013; Giorgi et al. 2014). While the mean runoff in main Amazon river basins is not projected to change significantly (Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2011; Zulkafli et al. 2016), the wet season



Figure 6.3 Temperature trends close to V4. (Note: Average monthly temperature 1982–2001 compared to 1997–2016 (top left) and annual mean, maximum, minimum temperature (top right); daily maximum temperature range (middle left), 95th percentile of maximum temperature (middle right), and hot days >35 °C (bottom left). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner, edited by the author)

flood pulse (Zulkafli et al. 2016) and wetness extremes (Duffy et al. 2015) will intensify. Mild and severe multiyear droughts are projected to increase for the whole Amazon region (Duffy et al. 2015; Parsons et al. 2018).

Already today, temperatures and humidity are high in the *Selva*, which creates occupational heat stress even in the shade. However, climate change will intensify heat stress and lead to deadly heat conditions—too hot, too humid, or both, for human thermoregulation (Mora et al. 2017b)—that threaten work and survival (Andrews et al. 2018; Feron et al. 2019; Mora et al. 2017a). In a high emissions



Figure 6.4 Rainfall trends close to V4. (Note: Average daily precipitation (top left) and annual precipitation (bottom left); dry spells (top right) and 95th percentile trends (bottom right). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner, edited by the author)

pathway,⁶ the 50th percentile of mean temperature for V4 may rise from 26.5 °C in the 2010s to 30.5 °C in the 2080s; by then, the whole year may consist of hot days (Figure 6.6, see also Mora et al. (2017a)). In some rainforest zones, even limited global warming of 2 °C would sharply increase the days per year when temperature is above the deadly threshold. Across Peru, such conditions would expose more than 10 million people to extreme heat stress (Andrews et al. 2018).

Moreover, the rainforest could reach a dieback tipping point at which large extents of biomass would be substituted through savanna or grassland (Adams et al. 2014; Borma et al. 2013; Lenton et al. 2008; Lyra et al. 2017; Nobre et al. 2016; Staal et al. 2020). Such a dieback could be driven by deforestation, climate impacts, or a combination of both. 75% of the Amazon rainforest has lost resilience since the start of this century and may already be approaching a

 $^{^{6}}$ SSP 3 is combined with a forcing level of 7 W/m², leading to above 4 °C mean global temperature increase by 2100.



Figure 6.5 Observed and projected rainfall in the Province home to V4. (Note: Precipitation (top) and number of wet days (bottom), 1975–2085. Observations/ W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsdam.de)



Figure 6.6 Observed and projected temperature in the Province home to V4. (Note: Mean air temperature (top) and number of hot days (bottom), 1975–2085. Observations/ W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsdam.de)

dieback threshold (Boulton et al. 2022). In Peru, agricultural expansion and other factors had already destroyed more than 7% of the rainforest by 2014 (MINAM 2016b). A dieback would disrupt hydrological cycles, biodiversity, and carbon storage. Forest resources and agriculture would also greatly decline and thereby erode linked livelihoods (Boulton et al. 2022; Lyra et al. 2017; Masson-Delmotte et al. 2018).

In line with the data above, prior studies find that people in Peru's Selva are recurrently exposed to multiple hazards that often relate to erratic, deficient or excessive rainfall, and resulting floods or droughts (Langill 2018; Marengo & Espinoza 2016; Zavaleta et al. 2018). Farmers are familiar with the impacts of an annual flood cycle, which can benefit lowland agriculture by leaving fertile alluvium (Sherman et al. 2015; Takasaki et al. 2004). However, periodically heavier rainfall can drive severe, exceptional floods (Langill & Abizaid 2020; Sherman et al. 2015), which have intensified over the past decades (Barichivich et al. 2018; Bodmer et al. 2018; Gloor et al. 2013; Marengo et al. 2013).⁷ Such intense rainfall occurs mostly between September and May and can result in floods, mudslides, and erosion. Figure 6.7 shows that many of Peru's flood risk zones are in the Selva. Numerous rainforest dwellers experience at least one major flood in their lives (Coomes et al. 2010; Langill 2018; List 2016). Communities by main river channels can be more exposed than those by tributaries (Langill 2018). Flood exposure also depends on land type and elevation, increasing from upland over high levee to low levee and back slope land (Langill 2018; Takasaki et al. 2004). In 2014, 435,000 people were exposed to intense rains in San Martín, the Region home to V3 and V4 (SINAGERD et al. 2014). Conversely, droughts have not yet had strong effects in San Martín, but drought risk could increase.8

Temperature-related hazards such as heat (Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Zavaleta et al. 2018) and abrupt temperature falls (*friajes*) add to the problems (SINAGERD et al. 2014). As discussed above, climate change has intensified these hazards and is projected to further increase them extensively.

This high exposure to hazards in the *Selva* combines with substantial vulnerabilities. First, rural livelihoods in Amazonia mostly depend on ecosystem services

⁷ In the past, intense floods have frequently been linked to La Niña, see Marengo & Espinoza (2016).

⁸ Drought risk in San Martín is low but could increase, see SINAGERD et al. (2014). Between 1981 and 2018, ten episodes of meteorological droughts occurred in Peru, see SENAMHI (2015, 2019). Droughts in the rainforest reduce flow discharges, increase ecosystem vulnerability, impair farming, health, and food security, raise forest fire risk, and affect hydropower generation as well as fluvial transportation networks, see Hofmeijer et al. (2013); Langill (2018).



Figure 6.7 Flood risk zones in Peru. (Note: San Martín's location is circled. Red indicates very high, orange high, yellow medium, and green low flood risk. This map from MINAGRI (2012: 38) was edited by the author)

that are threatened by climate impacts. Villages not directly located by rivers use three food sub-systems (Coomes et al. 2010; Zavaleta et al. 2018): forest, farming, and external sources, such as seasonal migration and day or wage labor (Langill 2018)). If proximity to rivers permits, people also fish (Manzi 2005; Sherman et al. 2016). The relative share of these livelihood activities can differ considerably across villages (Coomes et al. 2010; Hofmeijer et al. 2013). Besides proximity to rivers, land elevation and flood cycles shape livelihood options (Langill & Abizaid 2020; Takasaki et al. 2004). Farmers use ecological zoning to exploit time-specific opportunities in growing seasons, and upland farmers whose fields are not affected by floods use different agricultural production than lowland farmers. Additionally, farmers rotationally adjust their livelihoods in floodplains to the flood cycle by raising agricultural production during flood recession and increasing fishing during floods (Langill 2018; List 2016).

Second, rural Amazonian households are often extremely poor. According to government data, 42% and 55% of the habitants in the two districts⁹ where V3 and V4 are located are poor and 13% and 26%, respectively, extremely poor (MIDIS 2020). According to district-level data, 57% and 65% of the households, respectively, have only dirt floors, and many use fragile housing materials (INEI 2018a). In both districts, close to 80% of all households cook with wood, more than 60% of the people have only primary education or less, and around 15% cannot read and write.

Third, intersectional factors further heighten vulnerabilities (Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Langill 2018, 2020). Non-majority ethnic groups frequently face discrimination (Barrón 2008) and a disproportionately high poverty incidence in Peru (INEI 2016b). Age and sex also matter; for example, older adults often suffer disproportionately from floods because their health baseline tends to be worse and they have less capacity to move or work (Langill 2018; Takasaki et al. 2010). Single-headed female household are frequent in the rainforest and tend to be overloaded with labor (Langill 2021). After floods, women can also suffer more mental health issues than men (Rojas-Medina et al. 2008). Yet, gendered effects are not fixed. For example, when men migrate during the rainy season, women often become heads of household (Langill 2020). The place of birth can also shape vulnerabilities. Migrants often live in highly exposed areas, such riverbanks (MIMP & IOM 2015; Rojas-Medina et al. 2008), while knowledge about hazards and coping strategies can depend on the duration of residence (Langill

⁹ More granular data is unavailable. In the district where the *indígenas* live, there are 47 other villages and four urban areas. In the district where the *mestizo* community is sited, there are 34 other villages and four urban areas.

2018; List 2016). External factors can further increase vulnerabilities. Such factors may include demographic growth and resource degradation in areas with limited diversification options, or policies that undermine traditional Indigenous institutions, social cohesion, and disaster risk reduction and management (DRR/ DRM) knowledge (Zavaleta et al. 2018).

The available evidence on strategies to manage rainforest floods is robust (whereas prior evidence on hazards outside this study's focus is limited).¹⁰ Amazonian farmers usually can adapt to regular, annual floods, some of which can create benefits such as better access to fishing (Coomes et al. 2010).¹¹ However, exceptional floods often exceed people's capacities. In one study, 71% of respondents could not do anything to respond to flood shocks to agriculture, which stresses extant limits to adaptation (List 2016). Poor lowland farmers' strategies tend to be limited: they lack upland holdings which are usually spared by floods to diversify livelihoods; are too poor for precautionary savings; lack financial networks for credits; and their few assets which could be converted to money are often destroyed by floods (Coomes et al. 2010). Other strategies to mitigate food insecurity after floods include harvest delay and crop mix changes or shifts (Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Sherman et al. 2015). Engaging in off-farm work, including day labor, is also common (Langill 2018; Takasaki et al. 2004), although not in remote areas (Coomes et al. 2010). Some households invest in basic physical protection such as fortifying shelter, which can offer partial protection but also increase attachment to at-risk flood zones (Sherman et al. 2015). Finally, households in the Selva also cope with floods through migration, and occasionally, entire communities are relocated, as discussed next.

Individual and *household* migration is frequent after annual and exceptional rainforest floods. Since these flows are not the focus of this study, this section only briefly discusses them.¹² In many Amazonian settlements, inhabitants have migration experiences, especially if close to urban areas (Langill 2018). Floods

¹⁰ To react to drought, 58% of the respondents in one study did nothing, while 36% sowed again, see List (2016). Some Indigenous groups use dispersion into the forest and gathering of wild foods to adapt to drought, see Zavaleta et al. (2018). A small number of studies describes strategies to deal with river-related hazards, see List (2016); Manzi (2005).

¹¹ Flood waters can improve access to and opportunities for fishing, forest product extraction, hunting, and floodplain farming, see List (2016). Although all forms of floods can have positive side-effects, one large survey found that their negative impacts on health, safety, and food provision tended to outweigh positive impacts, see Langill (2018).

¹² These flows are reviewed in detail in my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

strongly influence migration.¹³ First, in standard flood years, rural dwellers, especially the youth, often migrate for seasonal harvests or urban work during the rainy season, when rainwater constrains subsistence food production (Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Langill 2018). These migrants often use extended family networks for jobs, shelter, and food at their destination (Sherman et al. 2015; Sherman et al. 2016). Consecutive floods shocks and the erosion of traditional livelihoods, however, can also induce permanent migration (Hofmeijer et al. 2013; Sherman et al. 2015; Sherman et al. 2016). Second, contrary to this anticipatory migration, moving can be an "almost-instantaneous response" to exceptional floods (Sherman et al. 2016: 561). After major floods, prior studies report that 6% to 22% of residents migrate temporarily (Coomes et al. 2010; List 2016; Takasaki et al. 2004), and others find that up to one third of residents left permanently to a close-by city for jobs (Sherman et al. 2015; Sherman et al. 2016). Simultaneously, these studies emphasize that many affected people lack social and financial resources to escape hazards (Sherman et al. 2015; Sherman et al. 2016).

In cases when entire poor villages are at risk, *community-wide* migration can occur, which is the focus of this study. While such relocations can improve human security in certain cases (Ferris & Weerasinghe 2020), experiences in South America and worldwide are rife with challenges (Arnall 2019; Bower & Weerasinghe 2021; Cernea 2004; Correa 2011). Past examples in Peru frequently harmed livelihoods and threatened well-being (see review in Bergmann et al. 2021a). Planners often paid insufficient attention to social, cultural, and land issues; infrastructure, livelihood, and transportation necessities; and people's place attachment. Many of the affected people declined to move, returned, or maintained dual residencies. In the *Selva* specifically, relocations, such as an attempted large-scale relocation of a neighborhood in Iquitos, have also had adverse effects (Bernales 2019; Desmaison et al. 2018; Estrada et al. 2018; Lavell et al. 2016; Vásquez et al. 2018).

Despite this conflicted past use, global "momentum is shifting towards planned relocation" (Farbotko et al. 2020: 703) and various Peruvian frameworks embrace planned relocation as a strategic solution to prevent that people settle in risk zones or remove them from such zones (French et al. 2020; Lavell et al. 2016). For example, the Regional Climate Strategies of Cusco and Junín consider it as a priority action.¹⁴ In 2012, Peru adopted a law on relocation from areas with

¹³ Other hazards can also result in migration, yet fewer studies explore these links, see review in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

¹⁴ Original Spanish names: *Estrategia Regional Frente al Cambio Climático Cusco* (Regional Strategy Against Climate Change Cusco, 2012); *Estrategia Regional de Cambio Climático Junín* (Regional Climate Change Strategy Junín, 2014).

"very high, unmitigable risk", one of the rare existing examples worldwide,¹⁵ which covers most areas of action recommended by international guidance, from planning, participation, transfer, and livelihood restoration to monitoring and evaluation (see Bergmann 2021). However, the well-being analysis in section 6.2.3 shows that the road from well-meaning legislation to good practice is still long in Peru.

For future migration flows in Peru's rainforest, the climate projections debated above may have several repercussions. Fewer rainy days but more intense rainfall events, together with intensifying wet season flood pulses and wetness extremes, could create rising needs for relocations and displacements from the many poor villages along Peru's rainforest rivers. Simultaneously, the effects of increasing droughts for migration remain uncertain; people often attempt to cope on-site first but their adaptive capacities may become overwhelmed as impacts intensify (Koubi et al. 2016). People in the Selva will suffer from a high risk of occupational heat exposure and deadly heat over extended periods, with likely extreme health risks. Open-air manual labor, currently the norm, could become unbearable while indoor ventilation would be prohibitively expensive for most poor people (Dunne et al. 2013). In addition, the rainforest itself is at risk of dying back or degrading severely. If deadly heat and rainforest degradation combined, they would reduce the habitability of the Selva extensively and thereby displace gradually more at-risk groups, such as subsistence farmers. Many others could become trapped. The full migration repercussions of this extreme scenario are difficult to estimate.

In the next section, I analyze how the long-delayed but completed (V3) and the still-stalled (V4) flood-driven relocations from two rainforest villages have affected people's well-being.

6.2 Empirical Results

In May 2019, I interviewed 30 people (14 m / 16f) from V3, which had completed its relocation after years, and V4, which remained in limbo (Figure 6.8). The average (and median) age of respondents was 47 years, with a range of 22 to 62 years (Table 6.1). Most households were similarly poor. Focused on smallholder subsistence crop farming or day labor, they complementarily relied on

¹⁵ Ley N°29869 (Law, 2012); Ley N°30645 (2017, Modification); Decreto Supremo N°115–2013-PCM (Regulation).

forest and river products. In V3, interviewees produced corn, rice, yucca, plantains, and beans for auto-consumption. Approximately 10% to 20% sold parts of their outputs. Several engaged in day labor, either constantly or as a complementary, temporary activity. Women often worked in housekeeping, helped with farming and day labor, and raised free-range animals. Few households possessed cows for milk production or for converting them into money after shocks. A limited number of households had off-farm incomes, for example through work in transportation services or as civil servants. Similarly, most villagers in V4 were poor subsistence crop farmers with free-range animals. Various of them worked on small patches of land ranging from 0.5 to 2 ha because inheritance mechanisms have reduced field sizes in the growing village. Several farmers have started to produce organic cacao¹⁶ and sugar cane, although their isolated location hampered market access for vending. A few farmers in V4 also fished or hunted, whereas day labor was less common in V4 than in V3.



Figure 6.8 Impressions of the study sites V3 and V4. (Note: The photos by the author depict decaying houses in the abandoned site of V3 (top left) and homes still under construction in the relocation site (top right) as well as a house in the stalled relocation in V4 (bottom left), located directly by a river (bottom right))

¹⁶ According to a village-level expert, until about 2000, people in the area also produced *coca* due to a lack of alternatives. The government eradicated this production and made agreements with farmers to substitute it with *cacao*.

Alias	Sex	Age	Main Occupation	Secondary Occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
V3-1	М	54	Day labor	-	Mestizo
V3-2	М	61	Day labor	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-4	F	47	Housekeeping	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-5	М	59	Providing services (cab driver)	Livestock farming	Mestizo
V3-3	М	43	Providing services (civil servant)	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-6	М	32	Day labor	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-7	F	42	Housekeeping	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-9	F	53	Housekeeping	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-10	М	56	Crop farming	Day labor	Mestizo
V3-16	F	52	Crop farming	Selling produce	Mestizo
V3-17	F	49	Crop farming	Selling produce	Mestizo
V3-18	F	30	Housekeeping	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-19	М	44	Day labor	Crop farming	Mestizo
V3-20	М	55	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
V4-2	М	37	Selling produce	Providing services (religious leader)	Indígena
V4-3	М	39	Selling produce	Providing services (civil servant)	Indígena
V4-5	F	46	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-6	М	52	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-7	F	39	Crop farming	Selling produce	Indígena
V4-9	М	35	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-10	F	30	Crop farming	Selling produce	Indígena
V4-11	F	62	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-12	F	29	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena

 Table 6.1
 Basic data on interviewees from the rainforest villages V3 and V4

(continued)

Alias	Sex	Age	Main Occupation	Secondary Occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
V4-14	F	40	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-15	М	58	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Indígena
V4-16	F	38	Crop farming	Selling produce	Indígena
V4-17	F	56	Crop farming	-	Indígena
V4-18	F	67	Crop farming	Fishing	Indígena
V4-19	М	73	Crop farming	Fishing	Indígena
V4-20	F	42	Crop farming	Providing services (restaurant)	Indígena

Table 6.1 (continued)

To gather background material, I also talked to staff at San Martín's Regional Office of Security and National Defense (and at provincial and district levels); staff at the Regional Environmental Authority (ARA), its Executive Directorate of Territorial Management, and its Regional Technical Group on Climate Change; as well as mayors, religious leaders, and health post workers in the study sites.

6.2.1 Climate Change Dimensions

When asked which hazards affected their livelihoods, close to all interviewees cited floods (Figure 6.9). They said that V3 and V4 are located directly by two different rivers that cause fluvial flood risk; for V4, surrounding ravines compound such risk during intense rainfalls. More than two thirds also identified weather-driven diseases that harmed people, and about a quarter pests or diseases damaging animals or crops. Finally, about one fifth observed changes in temperature and rainfall.

Respondents in V3 and V4 experience varied types of floods. V3 was affected by single, large floods in 1963 and in 1999. The incident in 1999 was the largest flood the villagers had ever experienced; it caused unanticipated damage and triggered the relocation decision. Heavy rainfall inundated all houses in the village and adjacent fields by as much as 1.5 to 2.2 m:



Figure 6.9 Hazards affecting interviewees in the rainforest. (Note: The graph depicts the percentage of interviewed affected people from the rainforest villages who mentioned different types of hazards affecting them at least once during the interviews. Created by the author)

Look, it was winter, the first flood came. We already know, as we have been living here for years, we already know what level the water reaches, what height, and the water came as it should be,... [but then] it has risen big.... The water has entered from above here and it was coming through the mountains, and the worst thing is that we did not see it coming... Yes, 2.2 meters more or less it was... and some houses have been knocked down, and from that time we began to plan to be able to leave, to find a place where we can relocate to, since 1999.... (V3-5)

Conversely, farmers in V4 suffer from partial floods below 0.5 m between one to three times every year, mostly in the rainy season. These annual floods cause damage mainly in low-lying parts of the village but usually develop slowly and leave time to react. Beyond, however, major floods inundated V4 in 1977 and 2015. In 2015, water flooded the entire village in the early morning from the river and two ravines, and the inundation reached 1.2 to 1.6 m:

Can't you see there is a ravine there, the river pushes that ravine over there, and on the other side there is another ravine; they both push each other, and the water comes here, it doesn't come from there but comes from behind... When it comes during the day at least you can move, but when it catches us at night there is no way out, it is not possible and so it has happened several times. I remember one time I was in my bed, and it was cold, and the water was already all over the bed and I was desperate, I couldn't even get out. (V4-11)

In addition, villagers observed rising intensities of rainfall and related mudslides and storms:

Too much rain, too, before it wasn't like that but now... [Y]ou never saw it spilling over the hills, but now yes, the hills are washed down with the rain, floods come from the ravines, from the river. (V4-17)

Moreover, villagers in V3 and V4 perceived changes in timing and intensities of rainfall seasons:

[M]ore or less before, there was what we used to call campañas, seasons, but now we can't see campañas anymore. The weather is crazy, any time it can rain, or the sun shines. (V3-6)

These shifts have harmed crops:

When the plant is blooming, there may be rainfall of no more than an hour and the next day massive sun, which then causes that plant to produce as if it was burned, and the production is spoiled. (V4-6)

Excessive humidity and more heat have increased pests and plagues, which have severely harmed crops. More heat has also worsened human health and possibilities for open-air labor in both villages:

... [W]e almost live in the agricultural fields, every day, and we feel that there is an immense change, and the rain sometimes exceeds, as well as the warming. There are days when heat arrives that cannot be endured; previously, 15 to ten years ago, we still worked eight hours, we worked normal. Now we only work six hours, we must get up early now, the routine is that we get up at 5am in the morning and we are already arriving at the farm, until 12pm and from there no more, the heat does not allow it... Before, it was minimal, it reached 30 °C, today it reaches 40, 45 °C.... (V4-6)

Further stressors included deforestation in the surroundings of both villages, which some farmers presumed to be the reason behind weather changes. Leaders in V4 reported pressure induced by migrants who extracted wood and cleared forests for agriculture. The village, aware of the importance of healthy ecosystems for their survival, has tried to defend itself against such agricultural expansion:

We say that it is our reserve, and we have to keep it as such... since in the end we are going to live here all our lives, until the day we are going to die... [M]ostly, what we want is to protect our forests as that's where the water springs come from. If we deforest there, we will see no more water. (V4-2)

The lowland, poor *mestizos* in V3 and the extremely poor *Indígenas* in V4 applied different preparation and adaptation strategies for these hazards. Yet, they had limited options for the latest, intensive floods in 1999 and 2015. To cope with the instant impacts, both villages used mutual assistance like food sharing. The few farmers who could rescue animals sold them to finance food:

We always raise animals and we had to try to protect them by doing everything possible so that they did not die in the flood... Then [selling] allowed us to sustain ourselves till all that was over. (V4-6)

However, because many animals drowned, few farmers had assets to smooth income losses, and credits were widely unavailable. To alleviate food insecurity, farmers had to wait three months until the soil dried to sow again, and between three to twelve months to harvest again. Meanwhile, the *Indígenas* attempted to plant fast-growing crops, collected wild plants, and hunted animals:

Well, we dedicate ourselves to other activities, for example, fast short-term crops such as beans, corn, ... vegetables are also short-term, and then we wait to recover the production that generates more income. (V4-6)

Farmers in V3 and V4 also engaged in off-farm work, such as day labor.

Eventually, the severe flood damage and the lack of protection options claimed by the state led to the decision to request relocation to safer zones (see section 6.2.2), as a village leader explained:

The only option they gave us was relocation... The municipality, when civil defense came, never spoke of riverine protection... It is that the river has moved soil, in that part you can't make a riverine defense. You make a defense, the same flow of the river will eat the bases and it carries it away. (V3-3)

In V4, after the 2015 flood and delays in the relocation (see section 6.2.2 below), households have started to invest in basic physical protection such as fortifying shelter. These measures may offer partial protection, but have also increased attachment to a dangerous flood zone, and they have drained scarce resources needed for a possible future relocation and rebuilding:

... [M]ost here are improving their houses with columns, they are no longer made of sticks, now they are pure concrete columns, so they are making it difficult to leave from one place to another. (V4-9)

Regarding other hazards such as increasing heat, interviewees explained for example that they adjusted the hours during which they performed outside labor to avoid overheating.

6.2.2 Migration Dimensions

Several migration patterns from the villages are of interest: first, general flows; second, displacement forced by floods, especially in 1999 and 2015; third, return or onward migration after these floods; and fourth, ensuing immobility and relocation processes, as completed for V3 and still stalled for V4.

First, continuous, rural-to-urban migration from V3 and V4 has been mostly driven by economic and educational reasons. However, the number of such migrants has been small, to a large extent because farmers have not possessed required resources, networks, and education for moving.

Second, floods have been a main driver of migration. In V4, unlike in V3, annual floods can displace certain households from houses without second floors in low parts of the village. By contrast, major floods—the latest in 1999 and 2015—damaged many houses and threatened lives in both villages, thus causing widespread *acute* forced migration for *survival*. Even households with basic protection measures in place, such as houses elevated on stilts, were displaced. As the waters rose dangerously high, most of the highly exposed villagers had few choices but to leave:

In the afternoon, it was the flood; [it was] the first time that the water has grabbed us like this, in a big way, those drains there, all those drains have grown and they have unified with the river and that river has grown very big, and the water has flooded us... my house has been knocked down by the water, we were on the trail for three months.... (V3-20)

Third, flood damages, residual waters, and concerns about more floods impeded return at first. Yet, most eventually returned to their houses because they lacked alternatives. Some older adults felt trapped due to obligations to children and limited job prospects elsewhere. Only 20 families from V3 migrated to cities after the flood due to the losses, hunger, and the lack of development prospects; the few residents from V4 who migrated farther did so temporarily for day labor to support their families.

Fourth, the forced migrants who had returned to V3 and V4 decided to request relocation soon after the latest major floods¹⁷ due to the continued flood exposure and development challenges, the lack of physical protection options claimed by authorities, and the lack of aspirations or resources to migrate farther away. In response, the state declared the villages as areas of "very high, unmitigable risk", in line with Peru's relocation law. However, only V3 relocated in 2014, after having waited for 15 years, whereas the relocation of V4 has been stalled since 2015, as is explained next.

6.2.2.1 Initial Displacement, Entrapment, and Completed Relocation in V3

After the 1999 flood, the farmers' initial, *acute* displacement in V3 lasted between one to twelve weeks, depending on damages and related return possibilities. Poverty hindered movement to safer zones farther away and most fled over short distances to a nearby trail at first. Many villagers had no choice but to return and live in the damaged homes for weeks once the flood waters had receded.

Due to the experienced damage, fear of future floods, and the lack of physical protection possibilities, residents soon decided in community meetings that they needed to relocate to a nearby, higher area (*anticipatory* forced migration). The village and staff at Civil Defense made a relocation plan. While personal leadership of a governor helped initiate the relocation, later governance failures and poverty obstructed the aspired relocation greatly. Because the state did not provide land for the relocation, the poor villagers ended up trapped and struggled for over ten years to acquire needed land privately. Meanwhile, people suffered from continued hazard exposure, uncertainty, and mental health burdens. Subsequent movement depended on people's resources: only few wealthier families migrated to other places; those who had experienced moderate flood damages and had been able to rebuild stayed to wait for relocation; and the households most affected by the flood already moved to nearby zones out of necessity, often under *survival* or *distress* conditions:

...We have left little by little. Someone already built their house, from there, another one made one, and thus gradually one could see that [the houses] were forming and the largest share began to leave... They were already building their little houses here because they were the most affected.... (V3-15)

¹⁷ Aspirations to change settlements due to the floods had existed for a long time. After major floods in 1963 (V3) and 1977 (V4), respectively, younger villagers had already argued in favor of relocation, but met resistance by older residents who favored the proximity to the river and the continuity of their habits.

After years in suspension, the villagers eventually succeeded in swapping land with a local agribusiness. Once the new land—around 700 m from the previous site and on higher grounds—was secured, movement again proceeded gradually in function of resources, and mostly under *distress* conditions. The first villagers moved in 2011 and slowly started constructing shelter. Others who lacked money for rebuilding relocated as late as in 2017. In mid-2019, when I collected the data, all residents had relocated. Although the state had still neither issued the final resolution to register the relocated site nor approved a land-use change, which caused problems, most farmers perceived the relocation as a "good decision" (V3-1) and aspired to stay in the destination (see section 6.2.3).

The relocatees have maintained limited connections back to their previous, nearby settlement. The houses on the land transferred to an agribusiness were decaying and a few farmers used them to raise small animals. Some reported that they still periodically visited the old cemetery. Others, especially older residents, still nostalgically spent time by the riverbed and used the river for bathing.

6.2.2.2 Initial Displacement, Stalled Relocation, and Prolonged Entrapment in V4

V4 has suffered from slow, annual floods that can cause short-distance displacement, typically from homes in low-lying zones to houses of unaffected relatives or to huts in uphill fields. While such floods can cause ample damage, they normally do not last long and only drive short displacements.

By contrast, the exceptional flood in 2015 *acutely* forced all villagers to flee. Most either walked or went by boat to their field huts or to the hills and spent between three to eight days there before returning. Several households also had to remain on the second floors of flooded homes for days:

We went upstairs, to my brother-in-law's house..., they have a second floor, there we go up with all the animals, like Noah [laughs]... [T]here were eleven [people] plus the animals [laughs]... [The floor is] more or less 32 square meters... [and we spent] eight days there. (V4-5)

Most of the farmers stayed in the flood zone because they lacked resources to live elsewhere, or expressively desired to stay in their community and their native land. Few families left V4.

Instead, most residents aspired to relocate as a whole village to a nearby safer zone. In a meeting after the 2015 flood, villagers as well as district and Regional authorities agreed to relocate (*anticipatory* forced migration) to an envisaged territory that is elevated, safer, and close to the village and fields. Farmers decided

to relocate because they feared new major floods; suffered from annual floods which perpetually interfered with development; and hoped for a better future for their children:

About the relocation, the idea emerged because this village floods a lot, so the idea came up of wanting to live better. And thinking about the children, to be able to put the children in a zone so that they no longer suffer as we have been suffering. How much have we suffered, since being children we have suffered with the flooding, that's why the idea came up. (V4-5)

Only a minority aspired to stay, noting that they would miss the proximity to the river where they had grown up. Others were afraid of the costs of moving; that it would take time to receive basic services; that the state would not support them; and that new lots would be too small. Some worried that diseases like dengue might be more common in the new zone, and that the area, although safer from river floods, could still be exposed to floods from ravines (see section 6.2.4: Outlook on the future).

However, governance failures and poverty have hindered the relocation so far. The *Indígenas* expressed frustration that the Regional government had promised the major share of funds for acquiring land for the relocation in 2015, but has not delivered since, seemingly due to changing staff and priorities in an ineffective bureaucracy. Further aggravating the problems, the owner of the most fitting land inflated prices to exploit the opportunity for government money. Authorities have not adopted the suggestion of technical experts to expropriate with compensation at real costs, as permitted by Peru's relocation law. The extremely poor farmers have been unable to afford to buy own land or to migrate individually to safer grounds, and most of them would only be able to move if land was free of cost. In the meantime, hardly any households could afford to buy lots in the envisaged destination individually, and even these households lacked money to build new houses.

Village leaders remarked their legally guaranteed participation rights in the relocation have been infringed. Simultaneously, they have lacked access to the political system to make their case, and regularly traveling to the capital was prohibitively expensive. In 2019, the *Indígenas* said, "*It's been four years now and we have hardly advanced at all*" (V4-2). They felt like "going in circles, you are trapped" (V4-3) and neglected: "When there is a flood, they tell us that relocation is going to happen; when the flood has passed, they have already forgotten again" (V4-10). Families complained about the lack of support from the authorities, whom they accused of indifference, cheating, and corruption:

As I say, here in Peru, the government has money to support us but the only thing they do is for themselves, they only think about themselves. Why do you think that several governments are in jail?... [T]hey steal more, clearly, and nothing more, little and nothing are they interested in the people here in the village. Many times you trust them, that that guy is going to become president and things are going to change; and that happens with many authorities who enter [office], even here in this very town. Compatriots, people from here, who know our reality, become authorities, only to suddenly make profit for themselves, for their own accounts. (V4-20)

The accumulated obstructions ended in one incident where frustrated villagers refused to let go state representatives after a meeting to press the Regional governor to fulfil his promises. The act, which the state perceived as hostage taking, hardened lines. As delays in the relocation process have extended, more people have expressed doubts if an eventual relocation would guarantee acceptable outcomes. Although a few were becoming too frustrated to move, most retained hopes that relocation would improve their plight (see section 6.2.3: Outlook on the future). Many stated that, "*If the village tells us we are going to leave, we will leave*" (V4-11). A mother in her mid–50s explained, "*I already think about staying, but if they would all leave now, we would leave*" (V4-17).

6.2.3 Well-Being Dimensions: Migrants from V3 After the Belated, Completed Relocation

In the next subsections, I analyze how these two flood-driven entrapment and relocation processes in Peru's *Selva* have affected people's well-being and apply the four axes developed in section 2.3: *development from a secure base, a space to live better,* and *social relatedness* (objective well-being, OWB), as well as *subjective well-being* (SWB).

6.2.3.1 Development from a Secure Base

6.2.3.1.1 Decent Livelihoods

Climate change has severely harmed livelihoods in V3.¹⁸ The major flood in 1999, in particular, destroyed most of people's agricultural assets: "[A]ll the fields have been destroyed; animals, cattle, pigs, sheep, all have been washed away by the river" (V3-10). Sowing new crops and harvesting again took up to one year and

¹⁸ While not the focus here, villagers said that changing rainfalls, humidity, rising heat, and greater intensity or new types of pests and plagues have also damaged crops, and more heat has restricted the possibility to perform outdoor labor.

meanwhile, residents had to switch their livelihood activities. They lamented the shortage of humanitarian assistance and alleged that corruption impeded recovery.

After the flood, the farmers requested to relocate and succeeded in doing so after a long time. In a lucky coincidence, they received access to jobs in a private canalization project when the relocation started, which temporarily lifted their incomes and supported the reconstruction (see section 6.2.3: Adequate housing). After the project had finished, most villagers returned to farming as they lacked alternatives.¹⁹ Nonetheless, various farmers stressed that the relocation has improved incomes, because the new, nearby land was both close enough to their fields and directly by a street, which made it easier for them to sell their products and get hired for day labor (see 6.2.3: Basic services). Many perceived economic gains because the improved street access also enabled them to benefit from an overall increased labor demand:

Well, we are happy because there is work, we do not lack work... [H]ere they look for [day labor for] corn planting, far from other places [they come] to look for peons, whereas there in [the old site in] the back, as it was in the back, people did not enter. (V3-17)

Although the relocation has improved access to jobs and markets for most farmers, agriculture and day labor still only yielded unstable and precarious incomes only just enough to survive or support their children. Purchasing power has not increased because higher costs of living evened out gains:

Yes, since we have grown up until now, we have been day laborers... [A] small part has changed as down where we lived before, we lacked someone to come and invest, to be able to earn. Now there are investors in papaya, rice... [There is] a little more work, but not to earn enough, no, if not to support our children at least... (V3-19)

... [S]ometimes there are no jobs. Here we only work to eat no more, sometimes there is nothing, well ... We have an adolescent who is studying, sometimes we have to send him his little money ... because there is no job, you cannot get money together. (V3-12)

A minor challenge for livelihood restoration emerged from the relocation planners' limited attention to people's lifestyles (see section 6.2.3: A space to live better): the newly designated, smaller lots complicated traditional activities like raising free-range animals and producing vegetables.

¹⁹ A marginal number of villagers started new activities, such as driving small cabs, which improved household income.

6.2.3.1.2 Health and Food Security

The 1999 flood greatly affected people's physical and mental health and raised burdens of infectious diseases and trauma (see also section 6.2.3: Emotional balance and cognitive satisfaction).²⁰ For example, after the flood, villagers "*fainted in despair, they fell ill from the humidity*" (V3-19) and the "*children cried with fear, we have never seen [that before]*" (V3-7). Anxiety persisted for long:

... [O]ver there the river grew, we could not sleep, [thinking that] suddenly the water will carry us away, like we have seen before. Well, young man, the water has come, and that made us afraid. When it rained for weeks, we were frightened. (V3-17)

The flood's destruction also harmed physical health and food security for long. The mayor detailed that the village had suffered two years of famine until the agricultural production recovered. In addition, the time-consuming rebuilding of shelter during the relocation challenged people's health (see section 6.2.3: Adequate housing). At the time of the interviews, various houses still lacked solid walls and exposed people to the weather. Views on the quality of health service provision in the new site were divided, but people perceived that basic infrastructure and materials had worsened compared to the old site. Unlike before, villagers could not afford to build a health post but only rented a shed for health services. On the positive side, the better road access simplified traveling for health services.

6.2.3.1.3 Educational Opportunities

After relocation, the villagers had to construct a new school in a community effort and with their own resources. When interviewed, they stated that the service quality had reached a similar (low) level as in their old site. Yet, because authorities had still not officially registered the physical relocation (see 6.2.3: A space to live better) and thus new funds were pending, the facilities remained inadequate:

The infrastructures down there [in the old site], initial, primary school: everything was well made, of noble material, and here today ... we do not have a good infrastructure. We have done everything with the efforts of the people, like this, we have done it jointly by ourselves, to be able to have at least something... We have built it, but it is somewhat rustic... as I say, when the supervision of the UGEL comes [Directory of the Local Educational Management Unit of the Ministry of Education], the first thing they see is that the infrastructure of the facilities is not adequate. (V3-3)

 $^{^{20}}$ Hotter weather has raised further health challenges, for example when performing open-air labor (see section 6.2.1).

After relocation, improved street access eased commuting for pupils who attended schools in other towns (see 6.2.3: Basic services). Still, many farmers dreamt of a better future for their children (see 6.2.3: Outlook on the future) but could not afford costs for higher education. For example, a farmer hoped his children could *"progress* [salir adelante]", but also noted, *"Right now we don't have more options to enable them to study the careers they want, the economic means are just low"* (V3-11).

6.2.3.2 A Space to Live Better

Years after relocating, the state had still neither issued the final resolution to register the relocated site nor approved a land-use change from rural to urban. Both steps were prerequisites for receiving property titles and thus access to social programs, such as housing support, as envisaged by law:

In February 2018, we already made the full submission, all the documentation for the relocation plan, so that we can finally be registered. Almost a year and a half have passed and nothing... [T]he PCM [Presidency of the Council of Minister, responsible government entity] over there are messing up and we have nothing... (V3-3)

The interviewees cited a lack of political will, interest, and skilled personnel, rotating functionaries, as well as competing priorities of authorities in attending disasters as reasons for the delays. Lacking the means to make their voices heard, the villagers felt that, "*[We] are not recognized on the map, we are separated from the map, that is why we cannot have any support; ... it is as if this village would not exist*" (V3-6). People were disappointed with the authorities who failed to support them:

Yes, they [the officials] have arrived but they have done nothing, they came to talk, talk no more, but we do not see anything, more than five years and we have no answers, there is no support for anything even though they know about the situation. (V3-6)

6.2.3.2.1 Adequate Housing

The flood in 1999 severely and lastingly damaged shelter: "At first it was uncomfortable, we had nothing, even now all we have is thanks to our sacrifice, we had no electricity, we had no water, and the houses were tents" (V3-3). As the state cleared and plotted the relocation land but never delivered promised rebuilding support, many farmers could not move for long. In a lucky coincidence, they received access to jobs in a private canalization project (see section 6.2.3: Decent livelihoods). The farmers used this income to slowly rebuild their houses without the legally promoted state support:

... [F] rom there, we have started to improve our houses, make our houses bigger... and with better materials than before... Without [the construction jobs], now we would still be in tents.... (V3-3)

By the time of the interviews, most homes still had dirt floors, but other outcomes had diverged: various farmers had larger houses with improved materials such as bricks, whereas others lived only in makeshift housing, some of which consisted of scaffolding and blankets instead of walls. The inadequate shelter caused hardship especially for older, younger, sick, and pregnant villagers:

First when we came, we went covered with blankets, when we arrived, as there was no money.... It costs a lot, two years ago we have just succeeded in building our house... We suffered like this, the wind was strong, even our mattress was wet... We cried, one suffered here. Little by little my husband has been fixing the house ... Little by little then, you can't do things like that if there is no money. (V3-7)

Finally, the relocation design paid limited attention to people's lifestyle: the new lots are smaller, which complicated traditional activities close to the house, such as raising free-range animals.

6.2.3.2.2 Basic Services

At the beginning of their relocation, villagers lacked light, water, and other basic services, which complicated the transition. Some farmers needed more than a year to grow used to the new situation. Because promised service improvements were delayed, the community staged demonstrations to demand change. Over time, various services became available and some of them, such as light, improved compared to the previous site. Yet, the villagers were disappointed that they were still worse off than other "modern villages", and said, "We want to live as others live, to have what others have, basic services" (V3-3). They felt that the state had lured them into relocation by promising better services but never delivered, and complained that progress resulted mainly from their own efforts:

There we are still, just surviving. To us, they painted everything in bright colors in the relocation plan, to come and live here... They said they were going to build us our houses, that from the moment we make the relocation plan, they are going to give us our infrastructure, health post, kindergarten, education but... the grand people who came from CENEPRED [institution in charge of relocations], from the government,

they practically deceived us. Until now, it is a deception, young man... Then, seeing that we do not have support, the people took the reins of work, with the sweat of our forehead. All we have, what little we have, is thanks to ourselves. (V3-3)

Concerning water, the farmers had to use the river water for consumption in the previous site, which caused a small number of cholera cases. After relocation, they initially lacked water:

The first days, it really looked difficult when there was no water or light here, it felt uncomfortable, well, but right now we are calmer here. When there was no water and electricity, water was to be brought from afar, it is not like when you have water at home. (V3-7)

Tubes for river water were installed one year after relocation, but the quantity has occasionally been insufficient, and farmers needed to buy drinking water from costly external sources. Similar as in the old site, they lacked sanitation and sewerage systems, yet the new, smaller lots worsened the situation because people now lacked space for wastewaters and their bathrooms were susceptible to rainfalls:

The big difference was that down there we had very large lots, that is, we could build silos wherever we wanted. Currently our lots are only 10x20 meters and the smallest thing you can do for the bathrooms is 4x4 meters, not 3x3 meters, but with the rains the grounds are muddy, they currently are collapsing. Some residents have up to three catholes in their gardens, there is no more space. (V3-3)

In particular, the associated health risks have caused hardship for at-risk groups. Due to the lack of drainage, rainfalls also often created small ponds breeding mosquitos and infectious diseases.

Conversely, electricity has improved. In the old site, farmers had used candles and generators for a few hours of electricity and light per day. One year after relocating, they received electricity. Yet, they had to build much of the infrastructure for light themselves due to the limited state support:

Everything we want, we pressed ourselves... In 2014, when people began to come, there was no light here... [W]e put up the poles with the support of the people, we provided the labor.... (V3-3)

Next, the reduced distance from the street after relocating positively affected well-being. The close-by road facilitated traveling for health services (see section 6.2.3: Health and food security) and eased commuting for pupils who

attended schools in other towns (see 6.2.3: Educational opportunities). It also improved access to markets and jobs (see 6.2.3: Decent livelihoods):

Here, then, [we are] much better, do you know why? Because here they come to sell everything, we live near the track. Because living over there in the back, nothing was going to sell. (V3-17)

Finally, street access also decreased perceived isolation and disconnectedness. As a farmer remarked,

It was different over there because the village was isolated, and now it can be seen... [We're in] a more visible part, because before we were like forgotten in the back, nobody saw us.... The town was isolated... [W] e are better located, closer to the road... Here it is already an 'urban' area. (V3-3)

6.2.3.2.3 Pleasant Surroundings

The natural environment in the new site was largely unchanged apart, from a slightly larger distance from the river, which some villagers missed. The farmers seemed mostly satisfied with their rural surroundings and nature, noting that, "*They way we live, it seems fine to us*" (V3-15). After relocation, some villagers praised the more condensed design in the new site and stated, "*Now the town is more orderly, the houses, the streets are [well-]designed*" (V3-10). Yet others missed the proximity to their farmlands, free-range animals, as well as the previously larger, natural and recreational spaces:

We had more space, we were able to recreate, more than anything under the trees, in the gardens there ... We no longer have that, we cannot plant trees here because it takes up space... So right now, here we have more heat... over there was fresh air, now not anymore... [It is] more closed, oppressed ... The birds no longer come [laughs]. (V3-6)

Yet even the unsatisfied farmers conceded to the change, "Since that is how they have distributed us ... but what are we going to do, if they have given us [lots] like this, we have to accept [it]" (V3-18).

6.2.3.2.4 Safety from Hazards

The relocation achieved its central goal to move people out of the dangerous, lowlying flood zone directly by the river.²¹ The destination site—higher and farther away from the river—remains largely unaffected by rainfall. A woman explained that, "Well, compared to before we feel calmer now. At night, we no longer think that we are going to flood [nervous laughter], calmer we do feel here, yes" (V3-7). According to the mayor, minor exposure to hazards resulted from smaller pluvial floods and overflowing canals due to drainage problems, but impacts had reduced thanks to new protection:

Floods? Not anymore, only when it rains too much it floods us, it floods us from here, from what comes out of a canal... [but] it is not the same as the river. When the river grows, it floods us all... It always overflows, but it doesn't reach us here..., yes, it overflows, to the [previous site of our] little town, but not over here. If we were still in that village, until now the river would affect us... Little by little we have been adjusting. When we came for the first time [to the new site] we had no drainage, the entire lower part was flooded again and we had no experience with that flooding; and we gave it a solution with drains but there is still much to do anyway, it always floods, but not in exaggeration. (V3-3)

6.2.3.2.5 Security

In V3, the floods and the relocation did not lead to security threats and the farmers felt safer than before. As the old village had been "*quite isolated*" (V3-16) and farther from the road "*armed*" men had sporadically threatened them. Now, "*They no longer enter like that as we are close to the road*" (V3-7). A woman explained that the availability of light had also improved their security (V3-19).

6.2.3.3 Social Relatedness

The villagers observed that they had continuously lived in unity in their moderately-sized village and relocation has had marginal, positive effects on relationships. The social system has been conserved since all farmers relocated and they clustered in spatially similar ways as before. The villagers have maintained their customs, and most were happy about the continued good coexistence with neighbors and larger community: "Yes, we live in peace, we do not have a bad life, here in this village, we live pure families. Over there, it was the same" (V3-9). Neighbors were in closer and more regular contact due to the dense clustering

²¹ Moreover, farmers felt safer from wild animals, yet the proximity to car traffic meant more risk for their own animals.

of the houses compared to their prior scattered, larger lots. Additionally, the better availability of light (see section 6.2.3: Basic services) enabled more meetings and thereby contributed to relationships. The better road access also facilitated better connections with contacts in other cities. Assertiveness and solidarity have continued, and people have used established support systems like food sharing, mutual support for the sick, and reciprocal harvest assistance.

The challenging relocation process has further unified V3. Their unity and community action have been key drivers of progress: villagers had to make efforts to find land themselves (see section 6.2.2) and after relocating, they staged demonstrations to express their disappointment with initially missing infrastructure and services (see 6.2.3: Basic services). People's relationships also benefited from the need to work together as a community to reconstruct the village. With little external support, people across age and sex groups have given free labor for community tasks like earthworks and rebuilding the school and parish hall. Villagers have fought to realize the relocation and to avoid some of the worst possible risks with their own *"bare fist, with the sweat of their foreheads, all the residents collaborating ... [while] the state has not given us any support"* (V3-3).

6.2.3.4 SWB Dimensions

6.2.3.4.1 Emotional Balance and Cognitive Satisfaction

In V3, respondents suffered for long from the losses and havoc wreaked by the flood in 1999. Many reported trauma and continued anxiety:

One lived with that fear, that at any moment water will flood us; suddenly, when one is sleeping, the river can flood us like this. We have lived terrified with that. (V3-16)

By contrast, most interviewees reported relief and joy that the relocation had greatly reduced exposure (see section 6.2.3: Safety from hazards). For example, a female farmer in her early 50s and mother of three children explained, "[W]e no longer live thinking that the river is going to flood us, we live more calmly, we sleep calmly, unlike before..." (V3-16). Like her, most respondents named decreased exposure as a primary reason that they felt more satisfied with life and had more positive emotions. They also cited similar or better social relations, improving living standards, as well as reduced isolation. For example, a female farmer stated that she was "well, much better here" given the improved road access, and felt "calmer" as well as "happier, now that there is more work" (V3-17).

While some respondents felt pleased from the start, many others described initial sadness to leave their homes: "*I, from over there, from my little house, I came crying when I left my house, the work of my husband*" (V3-10). For many,

especially older adults, it took long to grow used to their new homes, often due to the arduous reconstruction and the delays in improving basic services (see 6.2.3: Basic services). They said "*leaving our home, living in another way*" made them "*worried*" initially, but they had come to feel "*now calmer, more amazed at life*" (V3-6). One respondent had been "*sad for more than eight months*" after relocating but now felt "*calmer, all of us are used to it*" (V3-20).

Conversely, other farmers reported that their cognitive satisfaction had not changed. For example, a mother of two remarked that it was "*almost the same, really*" as before (V3-14)), despite slight economic advances and better accessibility thanks to the relocation, which she welcomed.

However, people also voiced frustration, anger, and disappointment due to recurrent governance failures (see section 6.2.3: A space to live better): "*They have not given me any support, that is why I have said that I am resentful...*" (V3-16). The mayor criticized that, "*All entities have come—health, education, energy, transportation—each and everyone has made a commitment, but everything was pure blah blah*" (V3-3). They felt tired and upset by the delays and alleged corruption:

Three years is already too much. Sometimes, it seems to me that they give little importance to small villages; in large towns... they already have water, drainage, everything. Only here we are obstructed... we do not have any kind of support... There is a lot of corruption, that's why I say heck.... (V3-19)

6.2.3.4.2 Outlook on the Future

Various respondents did not think about their own future but focused on the lives of their children, for whom they desired to receive a better education to progress (*salir adelante*) (see section 6.2.3: Educational opportunities). A male farmer and day laborer, father of two children, explained that,

Well, for me to have a future later? No. I [think] of my children, to make them study, to give them the studies they need. When a child wants to study, we have to give with what we can, even by selling my pants [laughs]. That's my idea, my thought, for my children. (V3-19)

Others felt hopeful that they could progress and life well in the future because the relocation had decreased exposure and improved development prospects (in combination with the better overall economic situation). Especially the idea of progressing (*salir adelante*) thanks to the new location was omnipresent and appeared like a genuine hope. For example, a farmer stated he felt "*more hope*" and more "progressing" compared to before, "Not over there, they [the authorities] didn't even want to support us with anything, they told us as long as you don't leave from there, there won't be any support, so they told us" (V3-7). Others were optimistic that the land issues would be resolved and receiving titles would then improve access to social programs, basic services, and development. Character and faith also influenced outlooks. For example, a buoyant farmer sighed due to the costly rebuilding of shelter without support yet still felt "more hope for the future" than fear (V3-16). Conversely, the continued economic insecurity worried many farmers and especially day laborers:

Unfortunately, there is no such thing, there is no money. Here everyone is day laborer, they earn their 30 soles, 40 soles a day here... Nobody has more, we are all in the same condition. (V3-15)

6.2.4 Well-Being Dimensions: Aspiring Migrants from V4 in Prolonged Entrapment

6.2.4.1 Development from a Secure Base

6.2.4.1.1 Decent Livelihoods

In V4, annual floods have repeatedly strained livelihoods to a certain degree. By contrast, the major flood in 2015, which triggered the decision to relocate, resulted in severe and long-lasting damage, especially in lower-lying parts of the village. After the floodwaters had receded, many villagers returned to subsistence farming, but coping with the losses has proven difficult (see section 6.2.1):

It [the flood] took all my belongings... The crops are lost, it is totally lost... All, all is lost because when the corn floods, it does not flower, nor does the corn plant appear, all of it is water... [B]ecause when you go to the land, you only see mud... We almost nonstop lose the crops... This is how it happens, we work, I sell my juanes [traditional food] anyway, the husband works daily, from there we gain money for food. (V4-20)

When interviewed in 2019, various farmers had still not recovered. Only the few, less exposed persons said that incomes had not changed much. Few villagers were pleased with the received state support, and many criticized that it was insufficient to relieve damage and enable recovery: "*They do not support us* … they have given us nothing and a grain of sand, … they have forgotten us" (V4-10).

Because the relocation was stalled, V4 has remained at risk of a new major flood and its lower-lying parts have continued to suffer from annual incidents. The repeated flooding has prompted a downward spiral of poverty that has left
households with minimal room for economic maneuver. Farmers feared having to trade off priorities—such as money for protection measures against money for education—and worried about the costs of rebuilding houses after a possible, future relocation.

6.2.4.1.2 Health and Food Security

Because many *Indígenas* lost their crops in the flood in 2015 and could not harvest or earn income that year, the flood triggered a prolonged period of hunger:²²

Yes, we have suffered lots [sad]. When you find yourself like this, you can't even go grocery shopping, you can't do anything, not even cook... [W]e have been without eating all day.... (V4-11)

Flood water puddles increased mosquito breeding and left "*a large quantity of diseases*" (V4-10), including: "[*F*]lu, bone pain, infections... conjunctivitis, diarrhea, stomach pain... It is a depot of mosquitoes [nervous laughter]... [I]t was too much, you come and they finish you [laughs]" (V4-6). Additionally, water contamination after spills of wastewaters and bathrooms led to diseases:

The impacts of the flood? That's what comes, well, diarrhea from the consumption of water that is not treated and from mosquitoes... [I]t is an area that is flat..., and there are many infectious puddles left there, of course mosquitoes reproduce there.... (V4-3)

The flood also severely harmed mental health and led to anxiety, trauma, and sadness (see also section 6.2.4: Emotional balance and cognitive satisfaction): "Sure, more than anything [we were] afraid, nervous. You do not know the amount of water that comes, well, how can you not be afraid?" (V4-10). The health risks were most severe for children: "Clearly, [I feel] anxiety of the diseases, it [the flood] leaves a terrible flu, we get sick a lot, much more than anything the children" (V4-11).

Past floods also damaged the health post and obstructed service provision; after such events, needed travel to health centers elsewhere posed financial obstacles for the poor villagers. The stalled relocation has led not only to continued exposure to flood-related health threats but further aggravated them: after V4 was declared a high-risk zone in 2017, the state canceled planned upgrades for

²² In times without floods, residents assumed their food security was better than that of urban dwellers, since they had their own food production: "*In the city, if it is not for money, you don't eat; but here, we produce and eat*" (V4-19).

health and health-related infrastructure, such as sanitation, because Peru's relocation law forbids public investments in such zones (similarly for 6.2.4: Educational opportunities, Basic services):

Now, I tell you this is the documentation that the district mayor gave us, declaring [V4] as an area of high, unmitigable risk... That's why now we don't have investments here in the village. (V4-2).

Water, school infrastructure, the health post is not being built. In 2017, we were going to build our health post..., and it was not done... No investment, nor support; our water and sewerage was going to be done here in [V4] in 2016 and it has not been done due to relocation. (V4-3)

The *Indígenas* hoped that once they would secure new land and relocate, health investments would become possible. Yet, a few farmers also feared that the new site might raise risks of infectious diseases such as dengue: "[B]ecause according to what I hear, there are mosquitoes... more than here, where there is a season that mosquitoes arrive. But not there, there, it is every day" (V4-10).

6.2.4.1.3 Educational Opportunities

The intense flood in 2015 seriously damaged school buildings and induced a closure for several days: "Everything is muddy, we have to clean it up, that's why even the school on this side is already falling apart, it is already collapsing" (V4-5). Villagers had to take their children to the cities for schooling. Due to the stalled relocation, flood exposure has continued, and lower annual floods still interrupt schooling for days to weeks. Moreover, infrastructure investments, including for education, stopped after V4 was declared a high-risk flood zone in 2017, while the young population has kept growing:

... [1]n 2016, we were going to build our educational center and it was not done either... What was removed is the investment that was going to be there, for... the improvement of the construction of the educational centers; that is what they took from us. (V4-3)

Nonetheless, farmers hoped that a later relocation would improve education: "Yes, *it is decided to leave... for the safety for the lives of our children, because they need to have a good school*" (V4-3).

6.2.4.2 A Space to Live Better 6.2.4.2.1 Adequate Housing

After the 2015 flood, rebuilding homes proved difficult for the poor farmers, while inadequate housing caused health issues and exposed them to adverse weather. Given the delays in the promised land acquisition, a few more affluent house-holds started to fortify their homes in the flood zone against future hazards (see section 6.2.1). Yet most farmers lacked such options; they kept hoping that an eventual relocation would reduce their exposure and facilitate a safer life in better shelter:

Well, over there, the houses will no longer be flooded... [1] even [have] a hope of fixing our home, living like in a city, having our bathroom, our nice shower. (V4-5)

Yet the poor *Indígenas* also worried about the costly rebuilding after a possible, eventual relocation. Officials promised support once land would be secured and titled, but the weak governance experienced to date made farmers doubt if they would receive social support needed for reconstruction even if they relocated finally. Most also worried that the relocation would decrease the sizes of their lots and thus impede small-scale agriculture, such as raising free-range animals nearby.

6.2.4.2.2 Basic Services

After the state had declared V4 as a flood zone in 2017—a step required by Peru's relocation law—it stopped promised investments in basic services on-site but failed to acquire land after that. As a result, the prolonged entrapment has resulted in decaying infrastructure and increasing vulnerabilities.

Concerning water, the villagers continued to rely on tubed water from surrounding ravines and rivers. Water was always available but in insufficient quality and caused diseases if not treated for consumption. Entrapment worsened the situation, as a village leader explained, since the withdrawal of investments perpetuated unhygienic conditions and forced the poor farmers to rely on catholes:

Our water and sewerage were going to be done here in [village] in 2016 and it has not been done due to relocation..., that is what they took from us. (V4-3)

Conversely, forced immobility did not change people's access to electricity, light, and transport. The village remained reachable mostly by boat as a nearby track was in a poor state and impassable during the rainy season. People hoped that relocation would finally improve their market access:

Yes, [access] is a bit difficult because the road is lousy again ... It complicates, the [selling of] products, more than everything..., it would also help us to get our products out... [S]ometimes in winter we cannot bring [them], the flood interrupts us.... (V4-2)

6.2.4.2.3 Pleasant Surroundings

The farmers did not notice changes in their surroundings due to the prolonged entrapment. Most continued satisfied with their natural environment and agricultural activities, which they considered as safer, calmer, healthier, as well as more water- and food-secure than city life:

Yes, it is more peaceful than living in the city, it is better here... In the city, you see every day that they kill each other, they disappear, and here – calm. You go to your farm, you are on your farm in the afternoon, you return relaxed to your house, you rest at night, untroubled. (V4-9)

I like the tranquility of the village, that silence at night, the pure air. We can't have [tap] water but we go to the ravine. On the other hand, in [the district town] there is no water, it was a desperation and it is hotter; not here, it is cool here.... (V4-20)

However, villagers also stated that the beauty of V4 in the dry season was overshadowed by the dangers of the rainy season: "Yes, it is beautiful. What happens is that here when it is summer, everything is beautiful, but when the flow of the river comes, it worries us a lot ..." (V4-2).

The opinions of the envisioned new site diverged. Most farmers looked forward to more safety and calmness; they hoped to "*make a modern community*, *more properly ordered, to be able to live a calmer life, we want to improve the quality of life*" (V4-2). Only a small number of older residents explained that they would miss living next to the river and related activities, such as fishing.

6.2.4.2.4 Safety from Hazards

The main goal of the envisioned relocation of V4 was to decrease people's exposure to annual and exceptional floods. Because their favored site was in an uphill area, sufficiently far away from the riverbed, most farmers expressed hope that a relocation would greatly reduce exposure: "*That [site] is higher... The flood does not get there ... They told us that it is almost 700 or 800 meters high or something like that...*" (V4-2). Only few worried they could still be exposed to floods, stating, "There is also danger, there are ravines that can flood, and there are two ravines over there too" (V4-17).

Still, due to the delayed land acquisition, flood damages have continued to undercut development and the risk of a new major flood has instilled fear. While many still hoped to relocate (see 6.2.4: Outlook on the future), others had resigned due to the constant delays and the recurrent misery:

You are afraid, every year it floods, that is my way of thinking. For me, it is as if I were already used to the losses... [We feel] less safe because any time, it can happen. (V4-20)

6.2.4.2.5 Security

People reported that the prolonged entrapment has left their security situation unchanged. Security was mainly guaranteed through citizen patrols (*rondas*) and people felt safe in the village, where they enjoyed "*that we are at peace, there is not much corruption, there is no robbery*" (V4-9).

6.2.4.3 Social Relatedness

Social relationships in the small village were positive. Farmers appreciated the existing solidarity mechanisms and mutual support systems, such as food sharing, which allayed flood impacts.

... [A]ll the residents, the neighbors bring what is in the house, banana, rice, beans, it can be a fish, or it can be a portion of meat. All the residents who are typically affected in this village collaborate..., really all the people made an olla commún [common food pot].... (V4-16)

Farmers also provided labor for communal tasks, such as mutual help in sowing and harvesting. Their entrapment seemed to have left social relationships unchanged or marginally improved, because the *Indígenas* have had to coordinate and fight together for progress. As a village leaders explained, "*There is no divisiveness* ... of course, we are a united community and that is the objective ... *It has not changed [after the flood], it continues its course like that*" (V4-2). For the relocation process, farmers still used village-level decision-making mechanism and assemblies. They enjoyed "to live well with my family, live well with my neighbors, and not to argue" (V4-5). Most agreed that, "Here, the coexistence is normal, one for another ... we support each other at no cost" (V4-9). Only a small number of socially less embedded persons rued a lack of solidarity and support within the community.

6.2.4.4 SWB Dimensions

6.2.4.4.1 Emotional Balance and Cognitive Satisfaction

Most villagers continued to experience anxiety, fear, and preoccupation for long after the 2015 flood (see 6.2.4: Health and food security and Safety from hazards). Children suffered in particular: "*They are afraid, so when they were going to school it flooded, all the streets were ugly too, the children suffered* …" (V4-7). Some families had to transfer their terrified children to live with relatives in safer areas of V4. Farmers also felt sadness and pain because of the losses, noting that their conditions were "*difficult, life is very sad when the water enters*" (V4-11). A mother reported: "*We have suffered lots [sad]… The situation is not easy, it is not easy to live on water, young man, it is too tough*" (V4-11).

Simultaneously, the years of waiting to be relocated have frustrated and infuriated people. They felt treated like in "*a game*" and had gotten "*angry*" (V4-2) because "*there is no support*" (V4-5) by officials, whom the villagers accused of indifference, lies, and corruption: "*They don't stop cheating us*" (V4-14). The repeated frustrations culminated in an attempt to press the Regional governor to fulfil his promises by refusing to let go state representatives after a meeting. Besides anger, the delays have instilled fatigue, helplessness, and worries. One farmer felt like "going in circles, you are trapped" (V4-3). Another one rued, "When there is a flood, they tell us that relocation is going to happen; when the flood has passed, they have already forgotten again" (V4-10).

The farmers also worried about the phasing out of public investments after the state had declared the village as a high-risk flood zone, while it failed to provide new land for the relocation:

That is what worries, right: when are we going to leave, when does support come, and not to lose state investments because [this village] is not in a suitable place, no. When is it going to see an investment? That's why we would like to accelerate this process now, to be able to relocate.... (V4-2)

Many dwellers were less satisfied with life in entrapment compared to before the flood because they lacked support from the authorities. Continued economic hardship also increased dissatisfaction, as a mother of six in her mid–60s remarked, *"When one works in the fields, everything is arduous..., one makes an effort to work, so we can sustain us"* (V4-17). Others explained that satisfaction had remained *"the same for the meantime, now we are still at peace"* (V4-11); they had adjusted and felt better emotionally over time, either as a psychological survival mechanism or in display of resilience. A few farmers who had been spared the worse flood impacts continued to be satisfied with life.

6.2.4.4.2 Outlook on the Future

Asked about their views of the future, many farmers were "between fear and hope" (V4-11). Witnessing already preoccupying climatic changes (see section 6.2.1), they anticipated that the impacts would make life worse in the future. Since the villagers had to stay in the exposed zone, their major fear was the imminent flood risk (see 6.2.4: Safety from hazards): "[People] worry about the flood because wintertime is coming and again there will be flooding, they say; psychologically it worries us ..." (V4-2). Some resigned due to the repeated suffering and the lack of options for change.

Several farmers also had worries related to deprivation and economic insecurity. Especially older adults were resigned or fatalistic concerning their own development prospects:

I can no longer think about my future because I am already advanced in age. About my future? Not anymore. I only work to support myself, you no longer work to have something, no longer... I don't think about the good life anymore, we're old now. (V4-17)

Instead, some hoped that the next generations could improve through hard work and education:

I would like my children to have a good future because there is no future for us, right. Well, we want more for our children; that they also be good professionals, so that they can live from their profession... We are but farmers. (V4-16)

For many farmers, religion provided hope during the difficult prolonged immobility: "Yes, I have faith in God that we can achieve it" (V4-16). Especially people who lacked economic perspectives clung to their faith for hope that god would allow them to progress. A farmer in her mid–40s stated:

Well, my optimism is this: thinking that yes, they will help us to get out of here, so we no longer live here with the floods... I'm hopeful. Maybe later. Or someone to help us, [one has to] leave it in the hands of God no more... (V4-5)

Despite the hurdles encountered so far, many villagers still hoped that they would be able to relocate out of the flood zone and to safety eventually: "Yes, I don't

lose hope. When there is support, yes, gladly we'll go and live there" (V4-14). Some were positive that a recent change of representatives at district and Regional levels could catalyze the process. Nevertheless, most doubted that relocation would occur swiftly. Asked if the relocation could still occur, a village leader replied:

Why not [sighs]... Yet it will not be tomorrow, nor the day after, but at some point it will happen, that is our faith, not to lose hope... [I]n these four years that we are doing the process it [has been] difficult, but yes, every project takes a long time, it is not overnight, worse for these types of projects... (V4-2)

Imagining an eventual relocation, many villagers hoped that it would facilitate a new, future "modern" village with improved livelihoods options and infrastructure shielded from hazards:

Now for safety, we want to go there, also to build our little houses with a view to the future, well, to allow our children that at some point they also enjoy themselves, that is, mostly looking at the living conditions. Well, so that one does not stay at high risk every year, suffering with this flood that we are just overcoming. (V4-2)

Many saw no future without relocation, as the response by another farmer illustrates:

Our life would be a little better over there. We can already imagine that we will no longer suffer from the flood, when we are at the altitude–but here, if we continue here, we will suffer the same. (V4-16)

However, repeated governance failures have also raised doubts how the relocation would affect people. Few had lost hope entirely, but many feared that they would not receive enough support for rebuilding, that the associated costs would be too high, and the new lots too small. Some dreaded more diseases in the new site, and not all were reassured that it would be safe from floods.

6.3 Discussion

The *Selva* case study offers new data for understanding the links between climaterelated planned relocation, entrapment, and well-being. In this section, I interpret the observed hazard-(im)mobility dynamics and their well-being effects along the four studied axes, situate them in the broader literature, and analyze relevant mechanisms of action as well as structural conditions.²³

6.3.1 Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways

Floods were a main driver of migration in the study sites, as in many rural Amazonian areas (see review in Bergmann et al. 2021a). Only in V4, annual floods have occasionally coerced short-term and short-distance migration of the most exposed households. By contrast, in both V3 and V4, major floods have forced most villagers to flee in at least two instances. Afterwards, place attachment combined with poverty hindered follow-on migration and the majority returned to their homes, which confirms the inverse relationship between vulnerability and migration found in other contexts (Adger et al. 2014; Black et al. 2013; Warner & Afifi 2014), and the role of ties to land in decisions to migrate or stay, especially for Indigenous people (Yates et al. 2021). In both villages, only the second respective disaster triggered the desire to "exit" (leaning on Hirschman 1970), thus stressing the possible effects of cumulative shocks raised in other studies (Blocher et al. 2021b). Risk appraisal, fear and uncertainty, deprivations, and children's future prospects drove the communities' eventual decisions to request relocation, similarly as seen in other cases (Seebauer & Winkler 2020b). In response, the state declared both zones as areas of "very high, unmitigable risk" in line with Peruvian legislation on relocation, although the legislation's exact threshold of what constitute "unmitigable" hazards remains unclear (Venkateswaran et al. 2017). While both communities decided themselves to relocate-often a catalyst for success (Matthews & Potts 2018)-only V3 relocated in 2014, after struggling for 15 years to find land itself, whereas V4 has remained in limbo since 2015. Despite the perennial obstacles, most people in V4 still wished to leave; community decision-making, group dynamics, and social thresholds mattered for their decisions, similar to dynamics observed in other contexts of settlement change or abandonment (McLeman 2011).

For initiating and implementing relocations, the cases stress the critical influence of governance, resource availability, land issues, the influence of private actors, and community action. First, weak governance, especially state failure to acquire land, has delayed (V3) or stalled (V4) relocation, which confirms the critical influence of state institutions on relocation outcomes (Mortreux et al. 2018). Since relocations have complex, cross-cutting governance demands (de Sherbinin

²³ This chapter is partially based on my previous work published in Bergmann (2021).

et al. 2011), weak structures and institutions can worsen results (Bronen & Chapin 2013; Connell & Coelho 2018), as seen in the cases here and others in the *Selva* (e.g. Pittaluga 2019). Both V3 and V4 struggled to receive sustained support from Regional authorities for their relocations. This is a common obstacle when relocations address a small and marginalized share of the electorate and states thus perceive a low benefit-cost ratio for action (Hino et al. 2017), especially in highly centralized states (Perry & Lindell 1997) that disregard rural development needs (Arnall 2019). Government inaction in the cases here also seemed driven by a lack of accountability, including inadequate institutional structures, and the lack of pressure to respond to hazards, to establish legitimacy, or to reap adaptation benefits, similar as in other relocations (Mortreux et al. 2018). People's witnessed lack of possibilities to express their needs and to participate meaningfully in the process is a challenge in many relocations that often relates to power hierarchies (Bertana 2020; Thaler et al. 2020; Wilmsen & Webber 2015).

Second, in both villages, poverty has been a major hurdle to circumvent these governance failures, for example, by purchasing land or migrating individually. The case studies therefore corroborate the inverse correlations between vulnerability and migration suspected in the general literature (e.g. Warner & Afifi 2014). While the state lacked incentives to deliver solutions, V3 and V4 was deficient in proper resources to purchase land on their own, as witnessed in numerous other relocations (Hino et al. 2017). Land has been one of the key obstacles here, as often in relocations in Peru (e.g. Sperling et al. 2008) and worldwide (Piggott-McKellar et al. 2020; UNHCR et al. 2017).

Third, and related, private actors influenced these land issues significantly. In V3, private landowners catalyzed eventual progress by accepting a land swap. However, in V4, landowners increased obstacles to the relocation by allegedly inflating land prices for the most fitting lot to exploit the opportunity for government money. The cases thus stress the influence of "complex networks of agents" in relocations beyond the state, which are often overseen (Rogers & Wilmsen 2020: 265).

Finally, people's agency and resistance have shaped trajectories, as seen in other cases (McMichael et al. 2019). In V3, mutual support systems, community tasks, and community action were essential to catalyze the execution of the relocation and to avoid some of the severest risks. People became the driving force for relocation through their own efforts to find land. They also staged demonstrations to express disappointment with initially missing infrastructure and services, pointing to the possible influence of resistance on outcomes (McMichael et al. 2019). The case confirms that some communities can be agents driving their own relocations despite government inaction (Iuchi 2014). Even when incentives for

concerned actors to implement relocations are low, bottom-up fights and strong community organization may result in reasonable outcomes (Hino et al. 2017). Yet, this is not always the case. The extremely poor farmers in V4 have been unable to secure land on their own when the state failed to deliver. This observation supports de Haas' (2021) argument that structural constraints can severely restrict agency and thus influence (im)mobilities and well-being. While *Indígenas* in V4 have also stood united in their fight for change, with increasing frustration, the means have occasionally created frictions, such as refusing to let go state experts after a meeting.

6.3.2 Well-Being Effects, Mechanisms, and Structural Conditions

The delayed (V3) and the stalled relocation (V4) have heavily affected the rainforest villagers. The state approached both cases "as a mechanical process" with little attention to people's well-being, a frequent risk in relocations worldwide (Perry & Lindell 1997: 57).

6.3.2.1 Development from a Secure Base

In both villages, the floods severely damaged livelihoods. Farmers returned to their previous subsistence activities, but recovery was slow and incomplete, partially due to insufficient assistance. Initial health challenges depended on the severity of damages experienced. Severe losses often caused mental health issues, and the damaged subsistence production also created severe, enduring food insecurity. Moreover, the lack of assets, inadequate shelter, contaminated waters, and mosquitos exposed people to new health threats. The results therefore confirm prior findings that rainforest floods can seriously damage infrastructure, shelter, assets, and agriculture (Takasaki et al. 2004), constrain livelihoods for long (Sherman et al. 2015), induce food insecurity (Langill 2018; MIMP & IOM 2015; Sherman et al. 2015), and severely harm mental health (Rojas-Medina et al. 2008).

The floods prompted both communities to request relocation. Yet, people's well-being declined during the lengthy, fragmented processes that resulted, which stresses the role of relocation duration for well-being (Thaler et al. 2020). Beyond the uncertainty if people would eventually relocate, other mechanisms also created hardship. First, the mired relocations trapped people in sites with recurring, severe floods, and, in the case of V4, also with damages from annual floods. Second, particularly in V4, health service provision worsened for two reasons

during forced immobility. At first, the major flood in 2015 damaged on-site health structures, while remoteness and poverty hindered people to travel for aid. Later, declaring V4 as a high-risk flood zone, as required by the relocation law, stopped public investments in the current site, while the state failed to acquire land for a new site and farmers remained exposed to the same flood-related health threats. Being unable to leave the risk zone also caused mental stress for at-risk groups. Third, similar effects and mechanisms apply to education in the trapped village V4. Floods have continued to interrupt schooling and damage buildings while withdrawn investments have further aggravated the situation. Such marginalization through discontinued state investments in public services threatens relocatees in many cases worldwide (Cernea 2004). Overall, the case study substantiates that trapped people are at risk of impoverishment (Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2018), especially non-resilient groups confronted with cumulative damages (Mallick & Schanze 2020) and health shocks (Brubaker et al. 2011; Schwerdtle et al. 2017). Ensuing downward spirals of poverty might lead to trade-offs with expenses for other essential activities and reduce the eventual ability to relocate, given the costs for rebuilding lives in a new site.

After physical relocation, livelihood restoration is key for success but often difficult to achieve (Brookings et al. 2015; Cernea 2004). While hopes prevailed in V4 that livelihoods would improve after moving to the envisaged new land, Peruvian (Bernales 2019; Desmaison et al. 2018; Estrada et al. 2018; Lavell et al. 2016; Vásquez et al. 2018) and global cases caution about impoverishment risks in relocations (Piggott-McKellar et al. 2020; Wilmsen & Webber 2015); many at best improve infrastructure but threaten other key capitals. The case of V3 provides nuances to this literature. Here, relocation facilitated livelihood continuity while significantly improving the access to the road system and thereby to markets and jobs. The case demonstrates that livelihoods can recover under specific conditions (Ferris & Weerasinghe 2020), especially if people relocate voluntarily (Bazzi et al. 2016) and to a site that offers livelihood potential (which, absent state action over many difficult years, V3 had to obtain itself). V3's community-wide relocation also appears to have created more positive results than related cases of individual and household migration driven by floods in Peru's rainforest.²⁴ Nevertheless, most relocatees have continued in a milder version of their previous poverty trap due to the generally rising costs of living. Health effects have been

²⁴ Studies stress that such migration can lead to precarious work and raise food insecurity. It may improve educational chances, but not for children compelled to move for work. See List (2016); Sherman et al. (2015); Sherman et al. (2016).

mixed at best, as seen in other relocations worldwide (Mazhin et al. 2020; Schwerdtle et al. 2020). Poverty and a lack of state support hindered the creation of appropriate health infrastructure after relocation. Conversely, the improved location decreased physical exposure to flood-related health threats and raised access to transportation for health services. Weak governance also contributed to adverse results regarding education. Because the final administrative registration of the relocation was stalled—which hindered public investments— villagers themselves had to shoulder the building of school edifices. The recurrent bureaucratic delays have deteriorated the infrastructure and deprived households of money required for other needs. Therefore, in line with concerns by the IPCC (Adger et al. 2014), despite some gains, truly improving *development from a secure base* has proved difficult for the relocatees from V3. The main obstacles were preexisting vulnerabilities, inequalities, and other structural factors such as weak governance that created *distress* conditions for moving and settling.

6.3.2.2 A Space to Live Better

The floods in V3 and V4 severely damaged houses and infrastructure, as seen in other zones in Peru's Selva (MIMP & IOM 2015; Sherman et al. 2015). Subsequent entrapment in hazardous zones has led to recurrent loss and damage. For V4, the relocation goal-safety from flood hazards-has not been achieved due to the state's failure to acquire land. While immobility has not changed people's views of their surroundings, basic services have worsened. Because the state declared the current village site as a high-risk flood zone, planned investments in water and sewerage were stopped, which raised vulnerabilities and perpetuated unhygienic conditions for the trapped farmers. Such challenged spaces to live during entrapment, for example through service discontinuation (Cernea 2004), are a shared global concern (Ayeb-Karlsson et al. 2018; Foresight 2011; Mallick & Schanze 2020). In the eventual relocation of V3, various mechanisms created mixed outcomes. On the negative side, delays in the relocation process and governance shortcomings slowed down the reconstruction of adequate shelter. Without receiving land titles, the poor farmers could not retrieve social programs to support the costly rebuilding. Only coincidental access to jobs in a private company facilitated the start of reconstruction; some, but not all households succeeded in slowly improving their homes, although with high expenses and sacrifices. Authorities initially failed to install or improve basic services after the relocation, which caused hardship and disappointment. Gradual improvements such as electricity and tubed water required high investments by the farmers themselves. Other promised upgrades, for example of sewerage and sanitation systems, never arrived, and the new, downsized lots made the associated impacts worse. Some

dissatisfaction also related to the size of their new, small lots, and the larger distance from natural amenities, but most farmers were pleased with their new surroundings due to similar recreational and aesthetic ecosystem services and the modern village design. On the positive side, two key well-being benefits of the relocation were more proximity to a street and less exposure to hazards. First, the improved access to the road system after relocation has had positive multiplier effects for livelihoods, education, and health. Second, the relocation effectively reduced primary hazard exposure due to the larger distance from the river and the higher elevation, which significantly enhanced well-being. The case thus substantiates claims of prior studies in Peru (Desmaison et al. 2018; Jarman 2020; Lopez 2018) and worldwide that relocations can, under specific circumstances, contribute to DRR/DRM (Ferris & Weerasinghe 2020; Melde et al. 2017). Secondary hazards were moderate and manageable for V3, although they are a recurrent concern in other relocations (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021). Finally, rising physical insecurity was not observed in the two cases, and V3's security even benefited from the relocation due to the closer proximity to the road system and the better availability of light, contrary to global results (Sow et al. 2016; Webber & Barnett 2010; Yates et al. 2021) and prior analyses in Peru (Bernales 2019; MIMP & IOM 2015). In summary, this study demonstrates that entrapment during relocation threatens people's space to live better. Eventual relocation under distress conditions can also imperil housing, basic infrastructure, and services adjusted to people's ways of life, as expected from global studies (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021; Cernea 2004) and those in Peru (e.g. Lopez 2018; Pittaluga 2019). Nevertheless, it may improve other dimensions of a space to live better, especially exposure to hazards.

6.3.2.3 Social Relatedness

The relocation processes have had mainly positive effects on *social relatedness* in both villages. After the floods and during entrapment, social cohesion has stayed robust due to ongoing community tasks, mutual support mechanisms to confront damages, and strong traditions that nurtured community relationships. Mutual support often occurs instantly after disasters (Braun & Aßheuer 2011; Drury & Cocking 2007), yet in both V3 and V4, support extended beyond the crisis moment and enhanced social relations. The experienced delays and challenges during entrapment have also increased unity because people have had to come together to coordinate their cause and fight for progress. The main factors that have enhanced V3's possibilities to maintain positive social ties after its eventual relocation were its moderate size, previous unity, the spatial continuity after moving, and effective self-organization. People's fight against perennial delays

and government shortcomings united them, including through joint rebuilding efforts or demonstrations to express their discontent. In addition, the relocation preserved spatial clusters of families, which enabled them to maintain social structures and relationships. In the new site, the closer spatial setting and better light facilitated more contacts between peers. Thus, this study confirms prior findings from the Pacific that community structure and relocation design influence the prospect of maintaining *social relatedness* after moving, and that community and social support are key to mitigate challenges or ease adjustment (Yates et al. 2021). Overall, the positive results in this case contradict findings in prior global (Bower & Weerasinghe 2021; Schwerdtle et al. 2020) and Peruvian studies (Desmaison et al. 2018; Lopez 2018; Sperling et al. 2008). The *community-wide* migration of V3 has also had more positive social effects than observed in other studies on flood-driven, *individual and household* migration in Peru's rainforest.²⁵

6.3.2.4 SWB

The cases V4 and V3 (before its eventual relocation) highlight that forced immobility can cause similar SWB losses as those witnessed in forced migration (Bartram 2015; Hendriks 2015). Various mechanisms appear likely. First, in both villages, losses due to major floods (and subsequently annual floods in V4) have led to strong negative emotions and cognitive dissatisfaction. Second, the mired relocations, governance failures, and resultant entrapment have further worsened the SWB of many farmers. Third, trapped people's SWB was probably also reduced because they could not realize their aspirations and compared their plight with other, better-off villages, as comparison theory would suggest (Haindorfer 2019a; Schyns 2000, 2001). Finally, some trapped people in V4 experienced partial hedonic adaptation to their plight, either in display of resilience or as a survival mechanism. Most of the trapped farmers in V4 saw no future in their current location given repeated floods and poverty. Despite the lack of progress, many retained hope that a relocation could eventually occur and enable a modern, upgraded village shielded from hazards; they believed in a modernization narrative that is known from other relocations (Arnall 2019). While some respondents appeared intrinsically optimistic-and optimism has dispositional elements (Carver & Scheier 2014)-for others, hope was anchored in faith or in external circumstances, such as the change of functionaries in charge of the relocation. This result confirms that hope can have varied internal and external sources

²⁵ Existing studies in the rainforest stress that *individual* or *household* migration can pressure social relations through separation, abandonment of older adults, erosion of local traditional knowledge, and the lack of possibilities for migrants and stayers to provide for each other, see List (2016); Sherman et al. (2015); Sherman et al. (2016).

(Pleeging et al. 2021b). Imagining an eventual relocation evoked hope for a safer and better future in most respondents; this extends previous results (e.g. Boccagni 2016) by proving that hope can help both migrants *and* aspiring migrants to cope with hardship. Nevertheless, the constant delays and repeated governance failures also contributed to resignation, uncertainty, distrust, and doubts, which corroborates that a lack of progress and control can drain hope (Edey & Jevne 2003).

The implemented relocation of V3 specifically had time-dependent effects on SWB. At the start, enduring trauma, the straining, lengthy transition to the new site, and continued governance failures severely worsened farmers' emotional balance and cognitive satisfaction. Conversely, lasting scarring (Jovanović 2019; Mousteri et al. 2018) did not occur absent major health shocks or financial losses after relocation. Various villagers have experienced gradual hedonic adaptation. Contradicting findings on internal, individual or household migration in other poor countries (e.g. Chen et al. 2019; Mulcahy & Kollamparambil 2016), various relocatees even improved their SWB. Gains seemed to arise from two effects that respondents had hoped for in the new site, namely better development prospects and reduced hazard exposure. This confirms that the possibility to fulfill aspirations affects migrants' SWB (e.g. Chen et al. 2019). By contrast, relative deprivation, often a salient mechanism in internal migration (e.g. Knight & Gunatilaka 2018), was not central for V3 since the entire village moved to an unpopulated area, which prevented social comparisons with stayers or locals. Sentiments to the future were mostly optimistic but mixed with strong concerns and anxieties, similar as for relocatees in other areas (Yates et al. 2021). Various mechanisms expected from the review in chapter 4 applied: most relocatees were hopeful for progress related to work, education, as well as the anticipated solution to their land titling issues and the linked access to social programs and better infrastructure. Such hope might motivate further action that could eventually increase well-being (Pleeging et al. 2021a). Even so, economic insecurity affected many farmers, some of whom were anxious regarding the future. Still others held more positive outlooks despite similar issues thanks to personal coping mechanisms, such as faith or humor (two aspects that remain understudied in migration studies, as the review in chapter 4 shows). Finally, in both villages, many thought only of the future for their children, a known externalization pattern for many migrants (Boccagni 2016).

6.4 Summary and Induction of Propositions

In this section, I summarize key well-being effects and mechanisms in the delayed, but completed *voluntary* relocation of V3 and the prolonged, *forced* immobility in V4. Building on the analysis of these cases, I then induce propositions on broader well-being dynamics in climate (im)mobilities.

Figure 6.10 portrays the identified well-being effects as well as relevant structural conditions and mechanisms of action. Severe floods in 1999 and 2015 raised aspirations to migrate voluntarily in V3 and V4, respectively. Yet, due to limited migration capabilities and lacking state support, farmers in V3 only relocated after 15 years, whereas those in V4 have remained in entrapment until today. These (im)mobilities occurred under distress because structural opportunities were only low to average, whereas high structural constraints emerged from severe climate risks and deficient DRR/DRM; poverty and inequality; dependency on ecosystem services with few diversification options; spatial insularity; weak governance; limited political participation; and the influence of non-state actors. The Indígenas' prolonged entrapment in V4 has had significant impacts on their well-being. Because the state designated their village as a high-risk flood zone but failed to purchase a promised new plot for the relocation, farmers did not only still suffer from continued flooding, but also lost planned infrastructure investments. Their vulnerabilities have increased on a trajectory of "chronic distress" (Seebauer & Winkler 2020a: 2227). With worsening need fulfillment, most respondents lost SWB (deprivation).²⁶ Many also expressed negative outlooks on the future (enforced fear) given economic insecurity and years of bad governance, which have raised doubt that the relocation will be completed. By contrast, V3 faced major hurdles in the protracted relocation but eventually moved. Although challenges persisted after relocation, most farmers perceived the eventual transfer as successful in material dimensions owing to the decreased exposure to hazards as well as the improved access to jobs and markets. Most villagers followed a trajectory of "delayed recovery" (Seebauer & Winkler 2020a: 2227) and reported positive feelings, cognitive satisfaction (higher well-being, despite mixed need fulfillment), and optimistic views of the future (enfolded hope). The light gray boxes in the figure below synthesize the well-being mechanisms identified in these cases that may be relevant in other contexts as well.

²⁶ For terminology, see section 2.3. *Deprivation* refers to adverse objective conditions accompanied by low cognitive satisfaction and negative emotional balance.



Figure 6.10 Main well-being effects for relocatees from V3 and trapped persons in V4, structural conditions, and identified mechanisms of action. (Note: Created by the author) Based on these empirical findings, more general propositions on the wellbeing impacts of climate (im)mobilities can be induced along the four studied axes.

- (1) First, the results suggest that when poor agricultural communities with limited migration capabilities aspire to move away from severe climate hazards—but also wish to preserve their socio-spatial unit and ties to land or livelihoods—weak governance and deficient institutions can protract requested planned relocation over several taxing years. Access to decision makers, bureaucratic processes, and sustained funding are key for effective implementation, yet difficult to achieve for the many remote, poor, and politically disenfranchised smallholders in centralized states with low interest in rural communities. Resultant entrapment in high-risk zones and relocation procedures detached from rural needs, such as service discontinuation, likely threaten people's *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better*, and eventually reduce their adaptive capacities and migration capabilities. In such *distress* conditions, non-state actors can become pivotal players either moderating or multiplying state failures and well-being threats.
- (2) Second, in poorer countries with deficient institutions, weak governance is likely to interact with land tenure issues to compound relocation obstacles. Ensuing entrapment and adverse well-being effects can become prolonged; they may end only if aspiring relocatees find ways to resist or circumvent governance failures and resolve land acquisition. If eventual relocation is achieved, even under *distress* conditions, it may have narrow positive effects for adaptive capacities over the long term. Yet, such limited gains only materialize if the new site significantly reduces hazard exposure while benefitting livelihoods, provided that the relocation does not create deleterious harm in other key dimensions of *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better*.
- (3) Third, the results demonstrate that despite severe disaster losses and government failures that trap aspiring relocatees, small, tight-knit communities with deeply rooted traditions, support mechanisms, and effective organizational structures may be able to maintain positive *social relatedness*. During entrapment, in-group unity and cohesion can even increase in reaction to seriously constraining structural conditions and may ultimately catalyze action or resistance needed to mitigate the effects of state neglect. If relocation is achieved, even if in fragmented trajectories and *distress* conditions of moving, communities with the characteristics described above may be able to conserve positive *social relatedness* provided that the new spatial design is sensitive

to social needs and the relocation does not create other existential threats to well-being.

(4) Finally, the cases suggest that for marginalized communities lacking on-site adaptation options or state support to leave at-risk areas, climate change can create persistent stressors and severe OWB losses, which, in turn, also harm SWB. Because even high-quality social networks cannot offset such severe harm, it is likely that people will experience a subjective present state of deprivation. In addition, enforced fear of the future is to be expected for many trapped people worldwide who have experienced climate-related loss and damage, governments failing to fulfill their protection obligations, and a resulting lack of control or progress. Rising despair in such situations can further strain other well-being elements over time. Simultaneously, trapped people may cultivate precarious hope in case they have personal coping mechanisms, expect external support, hope to move to a better life elsewhere, or believe in opportunities for next generations. Contrariwise, voluntarily relocating away from risk zones may raise SWB depending on the duration, strains, and outcomes of the transfer. If relocation produces large gains in key OWB elements that outweigh likely challenges in other elements over time, it can lead to subjectively higher (but often still mixed) well-being with enfolded hope for the future. Such SWB, in turn, can create beneficial ripple effects on people's OWB, and may thus contribute to a virtuous cycle.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.





Costa: Flood Displacement During the 2017 Coastal El Niño in Peru

"El agua pasaba sobre mi cabeza, era altísimo, era como para ahogarme, sí por eso ya salimos de allá. No teníamos a donde irnos, salimos a la pista por mientras pero el agua se pasaba también... No teníamos pensado, ni en sueños lo teníamos, lo que íbamos a sufrir tanto ... Porque en la casa ya teníamos todo, no nos faltaba nada ..."

"The water was running over my head, it was so high, it was enough to drown me, yes that's why we left from there. We had nowhere to go, we went out on the track for a while, but the water came there too ... We had never imagined, not even in our dreams, that we would suffer that much... Since in the house we already had everything, we did not lack anything ..." (own translation, as in all the chapter).

Statement by a *mestizo* mother of six children, who was displaced after the Coastal El Niño 2017 floods in Piura. She worked in housekeeping and was in her early 40s at the time of the interview (LP-11).

For two reasons, the research interest in Peru's western arid coast (*Costa*) was in the well-being of persons displaced short distances away from their homes by floods during the 2017 Coastal El Niño (CEN) event. First, Peru's coast is periodically affected by severe El Niño-driven rainfall (Sanabria et al. 2018), which climate change will increase significantly in this century (Cai et al. 2015; IPCC 2019a; Peng et al. 2019). Second, related floods are the main driver of displacement on Peru's coast (Bayer et al. 2014; Ferradas 2015; French & Mechler 2017; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). The 2017 CEN floods, specifically, were the largest push for such displacement (or *acute, forced* migration) over the past decade in Peru, with close to 300,000 cases (IDMC 2019). Thus, examining the well-being of displaced persons from villages in the Piura Region after the 2017 CEN provides a useful temporal analog for future challenges. In the first section, I provide information on the geographical context, measured and projected climate change,

exposure, vulnerabilities, local coping and adaptation, and hazard-related migration by Peru's coast. Then, I explain the new qualitative and quantitative results of this case study of displaced persons' well-being following the 2017 CEN.

7.1 Context

Although Peru's narrow coastal strip covers only about 11% of its landmass, it is home to 58% of the population, a share that has significantly increased over the past decades (INEI 2018c).¹ The study sites herein are situated in the lower (LP) and upper part (UP) of the northern Piura Region (Figure 7.1).² Piura is Peru's second largest Region and was home to 1.86 million people in 2017, 79% of whom lived in urban areas. The studied sites comprise small villages of origin in two districts in LP and one district in UP. The larger districts have between 19,000 and 83,000 inhabitants (INEI 2018c). All districts consist of one larger district town each and several scattered, smaller satellite villages. On average, the sites in LP are at elevations of below 50 m.a.s.l. and those in UP at 100 m.a.s.l.

All study sites are nested in the ecological floor coined Chala (Pulgar Vidal 1972), which is characterized by a subtropical desert climate, warm to hot temperatures, and minimal, highly seasonal rainfall. The Andes separate the subtropical desert climate in the western coastal area from the tropical, humid climate in eastern Amazonia (Mächtle 2016). As a result, less than 2% of Peru's renewable water resources accrue to the Pacific basin (ANA 2018), where 58% of Peru's inhabitants live (INEI 2018c). About a third of Peru are drylands and desertification is a major, ongoing threat (CEPES 2015; INRENA 2006, 2011; MINAM 2016a). Most of the coastal rivers are short and seasonal. Irrigated crop farming is only possible on a narrow band west to the mountains; further downhill, shrublands extend, and the coastal plain has almost no natural vegetation cover. In certain desert areas, an intensive groundwater-irrigated and export-oriented agroindustry exists, which often overexploits local water resources (Damonte 2019; Damonte & Boelens 2019). UP has greater average rainfalls and lower temperatures than LP (Figure 7.2) because it is at a higher altitude and farther away from the coast.³

¹ This section partially draws on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

² For privacy protection, neither the names of the study sites nor of interviewees are specified.

³ The station name is concealed for privacy protection. I would like to thank again my colleague Stephanie Gleixner who kindly produced graphs for the results chapters on the *Sierra* and *Costa* with PISCO data, and for the *Selva* chapter with station rainfall data and PISCO temperature data.



Figure 7.1 Sites for qualitative data collection on Peru's coast. (Note: To protect the respondents, the pins indicate approximate locations only. Created by the author, based on CIA (1970))



Figure 7.2 Temperatures and rainfall close to the sites in Piura. (Note: The figure depicts average temperatures and rainfall per month 1982–2016 close to the sites in LP (left) and UP (right). The station names here and in the following figures are concealed to protect the privacy of respondents. Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author)

Farmers in Piura have to cope continually with "too wet and too dry conditions" (Sperling et al. 2008: 25). During recurrent El Niño events, they are threatened by *abrupt* events such as storms, heavy rainfall, pluvial or fluvial flooding, and *huaycos*⁴ (flash floods). In addition, farmers suffer from *gradual* hazards such as warming, dry spells, and droughts.

Climate change has raised the frequency and intensity of these slow-onset and sudden-onset hazards. On the coast, temperatures have increased between 0.15 and 0.25 °C per decade between 1981 and 2016 (Aybar et al. 2020). An analysis of gridded data, based on satellite and station data from the PISCO dataset (Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2016), offers details for the study sites in LP. It shows higher average temperatures through most of the year in the period 1997–2016 compared to 1982–2001. Annual mean temperatures have not changed significantly, but the daily temperature range has increased. Extreme heat (95th percentile of maximum temperature) and the number of hot days are significantly greater than before. Other studies confirm that the number of cold nights has declined while the number of tropical nights and hot days have risen (Donat et al. 2013; Skansi, María de los Milagros et al. 2013). Extremely warm days have increased at least by two in northern South America over recent decades in austral summers (Ceccherini et al. 2016; Feron et al. 2019). The analysis of PISCO data illustrates the temperature trends in LP. It shows increases in average

⁴ *Huaycos* are flash floods formed in the highlands after extreme rainfall, which carry mud, rock, and debris flows through ravines and valleys.



temperatures, in maximum daily temperature range, and temperature extremes (Figure 7.3).

Figure 7.3 Temperature trends close to LP. (Note: Average monthly temperature 1982–2001 compared to 1997–2016 (top left) and annual mean, maximum, minimum temperature (top right); daily maximum temperature range (middle left), 95th percentile of maximum temperature (middle right); and number of hot days >35 °C (bottom left). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author)

Average rainfall trends on the coast have not changed significantly (Haylock et al. 2006; Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2012a), but intensities may have risen in its south (Heidinger et al. 2018). Minimum annual runoff has increased (Lavado-Casimiro et al. 2012a), likely due to first stages of glacier loss in the highlands that increase meltwater until the peak flow is reached (Rau et al. 2019). The analysis of PISCO data in LP reveals that the yearly average rainfall and rainfall extremes (95th percentile) have remained similarly low, apart from El Niño years (Figure 7.4). Figure 6.1 in chapter 6 illustrates that many of Peru's flood-exposed zones are on the coast, including in Piura (MINAGRI 2012: 38).



Figure 7.4 Rainfall trends close to LP. (Note: Average daily precipitation (top left) and annual precipitation (bottom left); dry spell (top right) and 95th percentile trends (bottom right). Produced by Stephanie Gleixner with PISCO data, edited by the author)

The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) is key for climate variability in Peru and worldwide (McPhaden et al. 2006). Every one to five years, the sea surface temperature (SST) in the Eastern (EP) or Central Pacific (CP) warms (El Niño) before it cools eventually (La Niña) (Sanabria et al. 2018). Strong EP El Niños increase rainfall by Peru's northern coast but reduce it in other parts, whereas strong La Niña episodes have largely opposite effects (Lavado-Casimiro & Espinoza 2014). Conversely, strong CP El Niños decrease rainfall in upstream regions along Peru's western coast (Rau et al. 2017). The latest Pacific El Niño events that severely affected Peru occurred in 1982-1983 and 1997-1998, while the strong events in 1972-1973 and 2015-16 had weaker impacts (Sanabria et al. 2018). ENSO has significantly fluctuated in the past (Cobb et al. 2013), but its variance has increased over past decades (McGregor et al. 2013). Coastal El Niño (CEN) events are rarer than CP or EP El Niños, and previous episodes occurred in Peru in 1891, 1925, and 2017 (Hu et al. 2019; Peng et al. 2019; Takahashi & Martínez 2019). The unexpected 2017 CEN-the focus here-was probably driven by anomalously warm SSTs along South America's west coast (Hu et al. 2019; Rodríguez-Morata et al. 2019). Like strong EP El Niños, CENs can cause torrential rainfalls off Peru's northern coast. In March 2017, the CEN generated rainfall amounts similar to the Pacific El Niño events in 1982-1983 and 1997–1998 (Rodríguez-Morata et al. 2019). Climate change made the 2017 CEN at least 1.5 times more likely to occur compared to preindustrial times (Christidis et al. 2019).

In the coming decades, climate change could affect Peru's coast in various ways.⁵ In a low emission scenario, average temperatures may increase between 0.75 to 1.5 °C by 2050 and between 1 to 1.75 °C by 2100 compared to 1985–2005; in a high emissions scenario, they could rise by 1 to 2 °C and 3.5 to 6 °C (Bergmann et al. 2021a).⁶ In another high emission projection,⁷ the 50th percentile of mean temperature would rise from 24 °C in the 2010s to 27 °C in the 2080s (Figure 7.5).

By 2050, in a medium emissions scenario, extremely warm days and heat waves would increase 5–10 times per season. In a high emissions scenario, what is an extremely hot summer day in Lima today would become 11 times more frequent compared to 1961–1990 (Feron et al. 2019). By 2100, extremely hot summer months will be much more common, especially on the coast (Adams

⁵ Climate models in the IPCC's Fifth Assessment Report used four representative concentration pathways (RCPs) to cover possible future emissions, see van Vuuren et al. (2011). RCP8.5 (high) assumes the highest CO2 concentration, leading to a global surface temperature increase of 2.6 to 4.8 °C for the end of the 21st relative to the end of the 20th century. RCP2.6 (low), the most optimistic scenario that requires strong mitigation suggests an increase of 0.3 to 1.7 °C. RCP6.0 and RCP4.5 (medium) fall in between with 1.1 to 2.6 °C and 1.4 to 3.1 °C warming. See IPCC (2014).

⁶ The results are averages of four ISIMIP models.

⁷ SSP 3.70, leading to above 4 °C mean global temperature increase by 2100.



Figure 7.5 Observed and projected temperature in the Province where LP is sited. (Note: Mean air temperature (top) and number of hot days (bottom), 1975–2085. Observations/W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsdam.de)

et al. 2014). 3-sigma heat events,⁸ still rare today, will be the norm in Peru roughly half of the summer months in a 2 °C warmer world by 2100 and for most summer months in case of 4 °C warming. 5-sigma events, which currently do not exist in Peru, will occur in 20% (70%) of summer months for 2 °C (4 °C) global warming. In the LP area, high emissions would lead to over 350 hot days per year (Figure 7.5). Globally, the risk of heat exceeding body thresholds of temperature and humidity will increase by between 48% in a low and 74% in a high emission scenario by 2100 (Mora et al. 2017a).

This study focuses on floods, but rainfall projections come with uncertainties. Peru may see fewer rainy days but more intense rainfalls (Christensen et al. 2013; Giorgi et al. 2014). On its arid northern coast, average rainfall may increase (Sörensson et al. 2010; Vera et al. 2006). Recent rainfall models confirm this trend (Figure 7.6). A study of a central coastal basin finds that discharge is seasonal and decreases in the dry-season but rises in the wet-season for the 2050s and 2080s (Olsson et al. 2017).

Climate change will also make El Niño events, the focus of this study, more frequent, even if temperatures should stabilize over the long term (Wang et al. 2017). The IPCC (2019a) has medium confidence that extreme events will occur twice as often under both low and high emission pathways in the 21st as compared to the 20th century. Other projections show that strong EP El Niños could rise from six events in the 20th to nine in the 21st century while CP El Niños and extreme La Niñas will also occur more frequently (Cai et al. 2015; Cai et al. 2018). More El Niño events can but do not inevitably create more extreme rainfall over Peru (Sanabria et al. 2018). Extreme CEN events may also become more frequent, but the range across models is large (Peng et al. 2019).

More frequent, extreme El Niño events will also interact with permanent sea-level rise (SLR) and thus present new threats to Peru's coastline population (Reguero et al. 2015). Globally, for 2100 compared to 1986–2005, a low (high) emission scenario could result in mean SLR between 0.29–0.59 m (0.61–1.10 m) (IPCC 2019a). For Peru specifically, the highest-emissions scenario could result in SLR of at least 0.7 m by 2100 (Church et al. 2013). After 2100, locked-in SLR will continue for long (Strauss et al. 2015) and in the highest emissions scenario, global mean SLR would reach 15 cm per decade (IPCC 2019a).⁹ At this

⁸ 3-sigma or 5-sigma events are monthly and seasonal temperatures >3 or >5 standard deviations (SD) warmer than mean temperature.

⁹ The collapse of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet could add several meters over the long term and a loss of the Greenland ice sheet would add about seven meters on a timescale of centuries to millennia. See IPCC (2019a).



Figure 7.6 Observed and projected rainfall in the Province where LP is sited. (Note: Precipitation (top) and number of wet days (middle), 1975–2085. Observations/ W5E5 observations-Regional Rivalry SSP3 7.0 W/m² / CMIP6 GCM ensemble. Created with data from Climate Impacts Online by PIK, http://kfo.pik-potsdam.de)

pace, Peru would experience 1 m SLR over the next 100 years.¹⁰ Adaptation may mitigate some damages in Peru (Anthoff et al. 2006; Nicholls 2011). Permanent, local SLR impacts are less severe than in the most affected Latin American areas but large relative to the coastal area of Peru (Dasgupta et al. 2009; Gosling et al. 2011; MINAM 2010; Pearson 2009; Teves et al. 1996; USAID 2011). Moreover, coastal flooding events will add to permanent SLR inundations and may threaten tens of thousands of inhabitants in Lima alone (Reguero et al. 2015). Synergetic effects of (permanent) SLR and more frequent (episodic) strong El Niño events could also worsen periodic coastal flooding in Peru, as ENSO can create extra SLR for several months off Peru's coast (Reguero et al. 2015). Finally, error-corrected data reveals that exposure to SLR and coastal floods may be much greater than assumed earlier (Kulp & Strauss 2019).

These hazards affect people in Peru in multiple ways. Exposure to El Niño events is high, with over 7 million people across the country (Figure 7.7, not counting droughts) (SINAGERD et al. 2014). They live mostly in the north, led by the Piura Region with 1.7 million people, where exposure is high due to hydro-geographical features, such as steep river gradients (French & Mechler 2017). During the 2017 CEN, rainfall deviated most strongly from the average of the previous decades in Peru's central and northern coast (where Piura is sited) and in the central rainforest (Figure 7.8). These rainfall anomalies led to extensive floods (Dartmouth Flood Observatory 2017; Son et al. 2020). In addition, settlements in flood-zones are also growing in Peru, often involving corruption or the state's acquiescence (Bayer et al. 2014; French & Mechler 2017). Poor dwellers in slums are most exposed, among them internal migrants who often settle on affordable but high-risk lands (Venkateswaran et al. 2017), and who tend to be less prepared for or experienced with ENSO impacts (Bayer et al. 2014).

Not only exposure but also vulnerabilities are high. People in Piura's rural areas are mostly traditional, smallholder crop and livestock farmers, who have to irrigate their crops year-round, or day laborers (Aragón et al. 2018; Bayer et al. 2014; Oft 2009). In a large-scale survey, about 27% of the farmers on Peru's desert strip were poor, and only 58% of the household heads had completed primary education (Aragón et al. 2018). Such exclusion from basic services is often gendered (Oft 2009, 2010). The lack of non-farming income sources and high poverty makes farmers highly vulnerable to production shocks (Aragón et al. 2021). In typical households, few members gain incomes, and their livelihoods

¹⁰ In 2010, Peru's Ministry of Environment expected SLR of 0.60 to 0.81 m along the northern coast of Peru over the next 100 years (MINAM (2010)), but recent studies suggest more severe impacts, see Pörtner et al. (2019).



Figure 7.7 Exposure to probability of ENSO events by Regions. (Note: Not including droughts. Created by the author with data from CENEPRED, as published in SINAGERD et al. (2014: 26))

are centered on only one ecosystem-based activity, which raises climate vulnerability (Oft 2009, 2010). Most rural farmers in Piura have almost no savings or convertible assets and can hardly cover their monthly expenses. In some exposed areas, vulnerabilities are due to the lack of land titles (Bayer et al. 2014). A lack of oversight and frail materials leads to inadequate housing especially for poor people in Piura, which increases vulnerability to hazards (French & Mechler 2017).

As a result, El Niño events can have devastating effects. Table 7.1 indicates that estimated damages for the 2017 CEN, the focus of this research, amount to USD 3.1 billion or roughly 1.6% of Peru's GDP (French et al. 2020; Macroconsult 2017). The previous 1982–1983 and 1997–1998 events caused losses of USD 3.28 and 3.5 billion, equivalent to 12% and 6% of the annual GDPs, respectively (Sanabria et al. 2018; Vargas 2009). All these events severely damaged infrastructure, basic services, agriculture, fisheries, and livestock in Peru (Badjeck 2008; Sperling et al. 2008).

Previous studies find that the adaptive capacity of subsistence farmers in Peru's desert plains¹¹ for floods is low and depends on access to assets such as seeds, fertilizer, land and livestock (Sperling et al. 2008). For example, households that succeed in preserving livestock during El Niño events are better able to adapt

¹¹ This section does not cover strategies of fishers and scallop farmers living directly by the sea, who employ different coping and adaptation techniques to deal with ENSO hazards. Their strategies include prey- or gear-switching, changing harvesting areas, or exiting fisheries or scallop farming. See Badjeck (2008); Badjeck et al. (2009); Kluger et al. (2019).



Figure 7.8 Rainfall anomalies during the 2017 CEN in Peru and flood extent in its northwest. (Note: On the left, the intensity of the rainfall anomalies during the 2017 CEN is calculated comparing the rainfall levels between January to March 2017 to those in the same months in the reference period 2000–2020. Created by Roman Hoffmann.¹² On the right, red is flood water mapped from ESA Sentinel 1 SAR data, dark blue is all previously mapped flooding, and light blue is the normal annual water extent mapped via NASA (90 m spatial resolution) SWBD. Cropped from Dartmouth Flood Observatory (2017))

and profit from their positive side effects, such as new vegetation cover. For coping with floods, the largest share of respondents in surveys across Piura asks for help from family and friends; many others either can do nothing, reduce expenses, or pursue extra work (Oft 2009, 2010). These coping strategies cover about three quarters of the incurred losses. When asked what respondents would do differently in a hypothetical future flood event, 23% would not change their farming strategies, 20% would diversify crops, and 15% would not grow anything at all. Similarly, a study in Tumbes indicates that residents find ways to live with

¹² I would like to thank my colleague Roman Hoffmann, with whom I collaborated for the quantitative analysis in this chapter, for producing this figure. It uses MERRA-2 rainfall data by NASA, which is based on GPM satellite data. Riccardo Biella helped with the data extraction and resampling to a 1 km resolution applying bilinear interpolation.

Sector	1982-1983	1997-1998	2017
Population	 512 deaths 1,304 injuries 1.27 million affected	 366 deaths 1,040 injuries 0.53 million affected	138 deaths459 injuries1.45 million affected
Transport network	 2,600 km of highway damaged 47 bridges destroyed	 3,136 km of highway damaged 370 bridges destroyed 	13,311 km of highway damaged449 bridges destroyed
Housing	98,000 homes destroyed111,000 homes damaged	42,342 homes destroyed108,000 homes damaged	 63,802 homes destroyed 350,181 homes damaged
Education	875 schools damaged	 956 schools damaged 	• 2,870 schools damaged
Health	• 260 health posts damaged	 580 health posts damaged 	 934 health posts damaged
Σ value losses	USD 3.28 billion (1998)	USD 3.5 billion (1998)	USD 3.1 billion (2017)

Table 7.1 Loss and damage in Peru during recent El Niño events

Note: Reproduced by the author from (French et al. 2020: 5), based on INDECI data.

water shortages and loss of assets and homes after El Niño events, but recovery requires extensive time (Bayer et al. 2014). For water scarcity, studies indicate a similar range of reaction strategies as for floods.¹³ For all hazards, migration also figures among people's coping and adaptation strategies, as is discussed next.

First, this study focuses on *abrupt* El Niño events, floods, and intense rainfalls, which are the largest drivers of internal displacement in Peru (IDMC 2021b). Such hazards usually force more temporary than permanent movements (Bayer et al. 2014; Espinoza-Neyra et al. 2017; French et al. 2020; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). For example, following the 1997–1998 event, 5% to 10% of people in one study left for good while a higher percentage looked for temporary work (Bayer et al. 2014). Oft's (2009, 2010) survey finds that 7% of households in Piura's low-lands migrate during floods, most often temporarily for day labor. When asked how they would adapt to floods over the longer term, only 1% pointed to temporary migration. For many, even temporary migration due to floods tends to

¹³ To deal with water scarcity, most coastal farmers ask for help from peers or reduce expenses; others cannot do anything, work additional time, ask for credit, use different crops, extend the used land, migrate temporarily, sell livestock, attempt to produce charcoal, and resort to child labor, see Aragón et al. (2018); Oft (2009, 2010); Sperling et al. (2008).

be an "option of last resort" to smooth income losses through jobs in coastal cities or the Amazonian lowlands (Sperling et al. 2008: 40). Flows can be gendered: while men migrate to work on rural farms, women move to cities for domestic work (Sperling et al. 2008). Multiple hazards related to El Niño events, compounded by development challenges, have also resulted in several attempted and completed community relocations in the coastal zone (Ferradas 2015; French et al. 2020; Oft 2009, 2010; Sperling et al. 2008; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). The focus of this analysis-the 2017 CEN event-forced both temporary and permanent migration. It was the single heaviest push for displacement in the past decade in Peru, with close to 300,000 displacements (IDMC 2019). Floods, mudslides, and flash floods destroyed 63,800 houses and damaged more than 350,000 dwellings; dented thousands of schools and health posts; caused close to 140 deaths; and affected a total of roughly 1.5 million people (French et al. 2020).¹⁴ In May 2017, a survey registered 13,155 displaced persons in camps in Cura Moria and in Catacaos in LP (IOM 2017b). 87% of the sites emerged spontaneously, and most were close to the villages of origin, along streets to the city of Piura (Venkateswaran et al. 2017). In September 2017, a survey in 25 camps in LP found that the displaced persons were on average at the end of their 20s, and there was almost gender parity (IOM 2017c). In a non-representative survey in April 2018, 17% male and 18% female children lived among the remaining displaced persons in 16 sites in LP. 56% of all the respondents reported prior disaster displacement experiences (IOM 2018).

Second, while not the focus of this study, *slow-onset* processes also contribute to migration on Peru's coast. For example, water scarcity in Piura can damage health, livelihoods, and educational opportunities and drive migration as a result (Sperling et al. 2008). In one survey in Piura's lowlands, 8% of households affected by water scarcity used migration as a coping strategy, and 2% would consider it for longer-term adaptation (Oft 2009, 2010). Migration after droughts can be more permanent than after floods (Sperling et al. 2008). Temperature changes can also damage agricultural livelihoods (Aragón et al. 2021; Oft 2009, 2010), but few studies examine possible links to migration.

For future movements by Peru's coast, the climate projections debated above could have several implications. Many hazards that influence the drivers of (im)mobilities will intensify. To begin with, projected high temperatures during

¹⁴ While not the focus of this study, El Niño events also shape the availability of marine resources, which, in turn, affects fisher's reliance on seasonal or long-term migration, see Badjeck (2008); Kluger et al. (2019); Kluger et al. (2020).

much of the year and periodic heat waves—combined with rising water scarcity will likely have strong, rising impacts on farmers' livelihoods and health, and thus affect migration and entrapment. Simultaneously, more intense rainfalls could destroy productive assets and homes and thereby compel displacement in the absence of effective disaster risk reduction and management (DRR/DRM). Especially the impacts of more frequent El Niño events could coerce more flight. More frequent, *episodic* strong El Niño events will also have synergetic effects with *permanent* SLR and could result in displacement and relocation if adaptation inaction, population growth in exposed areas, and weak governance combine (Reguero et al. 2015; Wrathall et al. 2019).

Against this background, the next section empirically evaluates how the 2017 CEN floods displaced people from the study sites and how this displacement has affected their well-being.

7.2 Qualitative Empirical Results

In November 2018, I interviewed 24 persons (9 m / 15f) displaced by the 2017 CEN in camp sites in LP (Figure 7.9) and in flood-affected villages in UP. Respondents' average (median) age was 44 years (43 years), with a range of 22 to 62 years (Table 7.2). Most respondents were subsistence farmers. Few of them had supplementary but limited livestock, and various did not possess own fields but rented them or worked as day laborers for agribusinesses and other landowners. A small number of interviewees worked as civil servants, in construction, or transportation. Interviewed women usually oversaw complementary activities such as free-range animals and some vending of farmed products. All interviewees spoke Spanish and auto-identified as *mestizo*.

To gather background evidence, I also interviewed staff at the Regional government's units for Social Development, Urban Planning, and Natural Resources, and the Authority for Reconstruction with Changes (RCC) for the 2017 CEN. Furthermore, an advisor to the mayor of Piura, two local mayors, one village alderman, and three community leaders in camps for displaced persons shared insights.


Figure 7.9 Impressions of the field work in Piura. (Note: The photos show homes of displaced persons interviewed in lower (LP, left) and upper Piura (UP, right). Photos by the author)

7.2.1 Climate Change Dimensions

Most respondents who were forced to flee after the 2017 CEN stressed that flooding and flash floods had affected them. In addition, many perceived climate-related diseases and pests that affected human beings and animals, heat, as well as strong winds and declining crop productivity (Figure 7.10). Less than one fifth of the respondents also mentioned droughts, water scarcity, and rainfall changes.

Villagers in LP and UP remembered several major El Niño events. Moreover, families living close to a drain by the Piura River in LP stated that they were flooded mildly every winter. While the 1983 and the 1998 El Niños had also displaced persons, the 2017 CEN floods were the most severe in people's memory. In UP, respondents suffered pluvial and fluvial floods in mid-March 2017. The floods developed rapidly, blocked or destroyed access streets, isolated households, and forced many to seek shelter on hills and in communal buildings, as discussed below. Impacts were most severe for those in low-lying areas. Unmaintained drains and the nightly flood-onset exacerbated damages:

When we were sleeping, no, like at two in the morning, no, it started to rain hard ... The water started to rise, and we only saved what is necessary, clothes, it caught us off guard. When my son tells me 'Mom, the house is already full, we can no longer do anything,'... the only thing [I could do] was to watch how I lost mattresses, clothes, shoes, everything was ruined. (UP-6)

Alias	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
LP-1	F	59	Free range animals keeping	Selling produce	Mestizo
LP-2	F	56	Free range animals keeping	-	Mestizo
LP-3	М	48	Day labor	Crop farming	Mestizo
LP-4	F	54	Providing services (civil servant)	Providing services (sewing)	Mestizo
LP-5	M	45	Providing services (construction)	Crop farming	Mestizo
LP-6	М	42	Day labor	-	Mestizo
LP-7	F	43	Housekeeping	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo
LP-8	М	57	Day labor	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo
LP-9	F	36	Free range animals keeping	Day labor	Mestizo
LP-10	F	22	Housekeeping	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo
LP-11	F	42	Housekeeping	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo
LP-12	F	39	Housekeeping	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo
LP-13	F	31	Free range animals keeping	-	Mestizo
LP-14	F	23	Free range animals keeping	Day labor	Mestizo
UP-1	M	51	Providing services (civil servant)	-	Mestizo
UP-2	F	26	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
UP-3	F	31	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
UP-4	М	34	Day labor	Crop farming	Mestizo
UP-5	М	60	Crop farming	Free range animals keeping	Mestizo

Table 7.2 Basic data on interviewees in areas affected by the 2017 CEN in LP and UP

(continued)

Alias	Sex	Age	Main occupation	Secondary occupation	Ethnicity or "race"
UP-6	F	42	Crop farming	Day labor	Mestizo
UP-7	F	47	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
UP-8	F	62	Crop farming	-	Mestizo
UP-9	М	58	Crop farming	Day labor	Mestizo
UP-10	М	43	Crop farming	-	Mestizo

Table 7.2(continued)



Figure 7.10 Hazards affecting interviewees in the coastal region. (Note: The graph depicts the percentage of interviewed affected people from the coastal villages who mentioned different types of hazards affecting them at least once during the interviews. Created by the author)

In LP, the Piura River broke levees, overflew rapidly, and severely damaged villages twice in late March. People perceived the magnitude of the floods as unprecedented and felt overwhelmed:

The water came twice, it came on a Monday and the other came on Wednesday, and it came back even more... Thank God it was daytime, if it had been nighttime, how many would have died, creatures, old people. Quickly, the water rose and came from all sides. (LP-14)

Several respondents did not believe in an early warning they had received and refused to leave, because previous El Niño floods, although severe, had never reached the same intensity. Most villagers close to the broken levees lost their houses, fields, and other assets, and were displaced:

One could not save anything because the water rose very quickly, our concern was to get ourselves out, so we left with our clothes on, nothing else, all things stayed there, everything was lost (LP-5)

Beyond floods, combined gradual climatic and non-climatic stressors have affected the farmers, decreased their coping capacities, and rendered them more susceptible to periodical abrupt El Niño-hazards. Interviewees in LP and UP witnessed more heat and more or new plagues, which threatened agriculture and human health and forced some migration. For example, one farmer observed:

Ah yes, it no longer produces as before, the production is decreasing now ... Because of the climate, the sun that burns a lot ... It was not like this before then, in previous times, those that the elderly tell you about; well, they say that the plants produced like this, you just sowed and harvested. (LP-3)

Immediate coping with the 2017 CEN event was difficult for the interviewees owing to the sheer magnitude of the losses. Because they had few assets convertible to money or savings, many had to depend on the uneven humanitarian assistance. For longer-term adaptation, numerous people in LP indicated they wanted to stay in the areas they had fled to, which were protected from floods (see section 7.2.2). In UP, farmers observed a lack of knowledge, skills, and finances for DRR/DRM, and attested that, "*People worry ... They don't know what to do, what they can do*" (UP-10). Some attempted to build basic physical protection but lacked the required means:

Yes, a wall was made, but it does not provide guarantees, ... it is made of sand. If it [the rainfall] is slow, it does nothing, but if it comes with force, it tears the wall down as if there was nothing. (UP-5)

Soil deterioration is an additional stressor. Farmers needed to borrow money to buy fertilizers and pesticides, and to sow again after harvest losses, which might result in vicious debt circles if later harvests are also unsatisfactory. Water scarcity is also a perennial issue, especially after El Niños, and migrants said that population growth and more water-intensive crops had intensified the issue over the past decade. While some interviewees stated that they struggled to cope with water scarcity, the focus of this analysis is on the 2017 CEN, which were the main driver of displacement.

7.2.2 Migration Dimensions

Next, applying the framework of section 2.2, I assess migration drivers, *aspirations*, *capabilities*, and common paths. Interviewees had to flee fast as the CEN floods threatened homes and lives:

The water was running over my head, it was so high it was enough to drown me, yes that's why we left from there ... Yes, the first time [it flooded] we stayed in the church, in the schools, but because of the downpour, the roofs were destroyed and the water was entering. The second time we already had to leave, in that humidity, in that mud that was left, it was very ugly, we were crying, the thunder was scary, we were asking God to have pity with us. (LP-11)

... [I]t started to rain hard... Then over there [by my brother's house] they started to scream, to cry, we all went there ... the house was coming down on them... 'No, right now there is no way we can stay here, we better get out ourselves', ... it caught us off guard. (UP-6)

Before the floods, most interviewees had had low or no aspirations to leave. One indication of these aspirations to stay is that many ignored early warnings and preferred to remain on site despite the imminent flood threat. Yet, once the water flooded their houses, they had little choice but to flee for survival and protection. Migration aspirations were thus instrumental (de Haas 2021) and the movements were *forced, acute* displacement. For example, a displaced woman in her early 40s said:

We had never thought about leaving before the flood. We had never imagined, not even in our dreams, that we would suffer that much... since in the house we already had everything, we did not lack anything, we had a chair to sit on, a table where the children could write, we had light, we had water. (LP-11)

Most displacement started in a similar way because the abrupt floods created a largely homogeneous, acute need to flee, which affected people simultaneously. Migration capabilities influenced people's options in LP tangentially. Their movements did not require specific social capital, such as relatives offering shelter, since migrants fled to a nearby, uninhabited land (although conflicted land, see 5.2.2: Basic services).¹⁵ Those with access to boats could escape marginally

¹⁵ Interviewees had allegedly received this land after the 1998 El Niño; it was, however, eventually sold to two agribusinesses, resulting in land conflicts after the CEN caused displacement in 2017.

easier and faster and were able to save some belongings; others without transportation means were trapped briefly before the army evacuated them. Timing differed only slightly. Many farmers fled early on during the first flood, as the water rose rapidly to the top of their houses; others persevered for hours in the flooded area, some out of choice, others against their will. Finally, a small number waited out until the second flood hit. For most, displacement occurred over several spatial steps: they escaped first to their rooftops, nearby hills, or higher buildings; then to the close-by highway; and eventually to the nearby land where they built camps or settled in designated evacuation areas. Displaced persons were forced to stay away for long as their villages of origin remained flooded and the houses seriously damaged. When I conducted the interviews in November 2018, they had lived in prolonged displacement for close to 20 months.

In UP, in mid-March 2017, intense rainfalls damaged or destroyed several lowlying houses and forced the owners to flee over short distances. However, because the impacts were less severe in UP than in LP, the interviewees returned earlier. Displacement was also more disperse in UP than in LP, where most people ended in camps. For example, two farmers in UP had been displaced to the high school for one month but returned to their land after they had received temporary housing modules. Another female farmer and her family were displaced to relatives first and then to the high school for one month. She initially had to leave her father behind because he was unable to walk and "everything was water over there", so they "raised his bed with bricks" until they could "get him out later" to the high school (UP-6). This case stresses the role of health status and physical ability for migration capabilities. Others stayed with relatives or in tents for several months. For example, one female farmer in her mid–20s lived with her man and their two years old child in a tent for more than a year.

Beyond short-distance and short-duration displacement, a few young farmers from UP migrated to the sea or to cities for some months to smooth income losses. For example, a man in his mid–30s worked in coastal fisheries for several months to support his family after he had lost his house. Some interviewees observed scant permanent movement, but others stated that, "*Many people who lost their houses got displaced to Lima, especially if they did not receive assistance initially*" (UP-10). The longer and farther away people wanted to move, the more vital were capabilities. For example, a displaced crop farmer in his early 60s recalled he could not move as far as he would have liked since "*there are no resources to evacuate to another place*" (UP-5). He remained in *forced* immobility.

Many of the respondents had been displaced multiple times in earlier El Niño events. For example, a woman in her late 30s had fled to a relative's house in 1998 for one month, then was displaced from her house again in 2002 for one night, and finally had to leave again in 2017 (LP-12).

Among those displaced in the 2017 CEN, a few had come to UP from the highlands years ago, partially due to climate impacts in their villages of origin. These farmers can be considered "double climate migrants", and their plight stresses the salience of accumulating shocks. For example, a crop farmer in his early 60s, originally from the rural highlands, indicated that he like many others had migrated with his whole family to UP ten years ago due to worsening agricultural production. They had built a decent life, but then lost close to everything in the 2017 CEN floods (UP7).

The camps in LP were built relatively close to the flooded home villages, which enabled varied translocal ties, such as going back to rescue belongings early on and clean premises later; sending children to unaffected schools back home (see section 7.2.3: Educational opportunities); or visiting the ruined homes for nostalgic reasons. Only few displaced persons returned completely because they wanted to be closer to their previous schools or had succeeded in restoring parts of their fields. Several farmers had dual residencies or moved between the locations for their work but lived in the camps.

During the interviews in November 2018, most displaced persons from LP had already spent 20 months in the barren desert camps and still wanted to stay. They acquiescently abandoned their old homes and accepted longer distances to fields. A central reason to stay was fear of new floods, especially among children and older adults. This fear of more inundations was built up through cumulative flood experience and boosted by radio forecasts or word of mouth:

Most have stayed here ... out of fear ... due to the danger of the river, it was not the first time... I have experienced this since I was a child. (LP-7)

These fears often combined with the experienced losses, which made a return less viable:

When [the kids] see that rain falls, they are already scared, they run inside the house, due to the rain they get really scared. They don't want to go back anymore... why return, so that the children get scared? The houses are already destroyed, they collapsed, how are we going to stand up again? (LP-11)

Finally, besides El Niño events, the interviews confirm that droughts can drive seasonal migration. For example, the male head of one household in UP would migrate close to every year to the coast for fishing in dry seasons, when the family suffered economically.

7.2.3 Well-Being Dimensions

In the following, I describe the results of the qualitative text analysis of the primary data collected from interviews with displaced persons. I examine how the displacement from areas in LP and UP harmed by CEN floods have affected people's well-being and apply the four well-being axes explained in section 2.3: *development from a secure base, a space to live better,* and *social relatedness* (objective well-being, OWB), as well as *subjective well-being* (SWB).

7.2.3.1 Development from a Secure Base

7.2.3.1.1 Decent Livelihoods

When I interviewed the displaced persons in LP in November 2018, 20 months after the floods, they were still struggling to make a decent living in the nearby camps.¹⁶ The floods had destroyed harvests and assets, fields were not yet fully recovered, and owners of parcels "*can no longer give work*" (LP-11). Many men and some women switched to work as day laborers for a nearby agribusiness that had remained unaffected. The agribusiness owned the conflicted land where their camps were erected, and reportedly, the displaced could work for it as the result of negotiations on the land (see 5.2.2: Basic services). This day labor provided a key income buffer after the flood shock. Yet adults older than 50 years remained excluded, stressing how age can influence disaster recovery. The offered work was also precarious and unstable, as one of the community leaders detailed. Another leader criticized:

Let's say that the need for work is such that you endure the work, ... the company takes advantage ... [Y]our daily salary is 33 soles [Peruvian currency] and with a break of 15 minutes, not more, they exploit people. This is one of the realities that people [live], the difference of your own farm and of providing a service... Staff who do not perform, they remove after four days ... Although our people suffer at work, at least there is a source to make their family livelihood ... Imagine if these companies did not exist ... But I still say there is a mistreatment of the workers. (LP-6)

¹⁶ Similarly, the displaced persons perceived that the few longer-distance migrants who had gone to work temporarily in Lima or Piura city often ended in precarious work, without social security, unstable income, and irregular housing.

Despite these limited options for day labor, various farmers remained un- or underemployed and had entered economic hardship. Even those who could continue their pre-flood jobs (such as some *moto* drivers) suffered losses, albeit to a smaller extent. Regardless of the specific income source, many respondents were only earning *"just enough for food, more than anything to survive"* (LP-10). When asked on his income, a middle-aged farmer who was forced to switch to day labor replied:

Enough for the sustenance of the house, but not more [nervous laughter], it depends on the children you have, I have four... [Before] there was something to sell, now as the situation is, one cannot work on the farm as the water has left sands in the fields ... Yes, one works only for the sustenance of the house, for the daily expenses, it is not enough to save and buy other things [lowered voice]. (LP-3)

Before the floods, women usually contributed to household incomes by raising free-range animals. However, most could not rescue their animals. One woman in her mid–50s explained how her income had decreased significantly since they had lost all their animals and lacked jobs or savings to reinvest:

Oh yes, sometimes it is not enough and now everything is expensive. ... Sometimes it is sad because there is no work ... I am already [mid 50s], they don't give me work anymore, that is painful to me... [I]t's the first thing we want, that there be something to work, to buy some small things, more than anything food. (LP-4)

Some women were starting to invest in animals again with the help of NGOs and local farmers, aiming to start producing and selling food. If households combined their income activities, they could subsist but not thrive. For example, one woman in her mid–30s with six children, and highly pregnant when interviewed, had lost all animals, and was only slowly reinvesting with support from a charity. She could not produce *chicha* [alcoholic drink] anymore as she lacked wood and water, and her man was precariously employed in day labor, rendering their income just enough "*to survive*" (LP-9).

Displaced persons in UP suffered similar losses of assets, animals, and crops, due to rainfalls, floods, and subsequent pests. Those lucky enough to rescue some animals usually had to sell them after the floods to smooth the income losses. Farmers had to wait long until they could sow crop seeds and grow pastures for livestock again. Water scarcity added as an obstacle to their recovery. Most people had been poor before the floods, but afterwards, under- or unemployment aggravated their situation. The labor market provided even less possibilities to buffer losses than in LP, because UP had less agribusiness demand for day labor. Those farmers who were able to switch to day labor worked precariously and had worse income than before. A female farmer in her early 40s deplored:

What you earn is only to survive, you cannot progress, because they pay you little, that is why when the phenomenon [El Niño] came, it hit us too strong, and left us poorer. One works to survive, to support the children, they cry, they ask for food, milk. That's the experience we have here. (UP-6)

She and her family could only take the most necessary things and lost most assets. They had nothing to eat initially, as their crops were destroyed, pastures for livestock could not grow, and new crops required time until harvesting. They received limited help from the government, pointed to corruption, and felt abandoned by the state. Many interviewees confirmed this lack of state presence and noted that NGOs and villagers' mutual support mechanisms mitigated these gaps to some extent.

In summary, the 2017 CEN eroded livelihoods. It also increased the climate vulnerability of displaced farmers because they lacked seeds, food, and income from harvests, or savings, and no DRR/DRM were taken to protect livelihoods. A mayor rued:

Eh, well if it [a future flood] comes it would be worse, but we must prepare to prevent... Well, right now with this government there is no support, there is nothing, the municipality is worse, we are close to the end of the year and there is no support. (UP-1)

7.2.3.1.2 Health and Food Security

Shortly after the CEN floods, the displaced persons had large needs regarding health and nutrition. In November 2018, the interviewees confirmed that diseases remained widespread. The vulnerabilities of older adults, children, people with physical disabilities, pregnant women, and people with preexisting diseases were particularly exacerbated by poverty and the unhealthy living conditions during the displacement. In UP, insufficient water quantity and quality was a widespread issue because the displaced persons lived close to the flooded areas, sanitation had collapsed, and people lacked funds to buy water. As a result, infectious diseases spread fast, especially among children.

With their livelihoods destroyed and no savings, most respondents also suffered from hunger and depended on humanitarian assistance or mutual support. In UP, the floods had blocked access streets and exacerbated food insecurity. A farmer remarked: *"There was no passing, we were isolated then. For [nearby cities]* there was no access, for example in terms of food, we suffered a lot here because of food" (UP-9). Dependency on external assistance was high and when I interviewed the displaced persons 20 months after the floods, many still could not produce or purchase enough food for adequate nourishment. A highly pregnant woman stressed the difficulties for her and her six children:

Sometimes, here we suffer because there is none [food]; we endure hunger, but children do not. Sometimes, there are days when you eat, there are days when you don't, and sometimes we help each other with a plate of food because the spouses don't have a job. (LP-9)

People who lacked housing or land titles struggled to access social programs, and the National School Feeding Program (*Qali Warma*) seemed not easily portable. A community leader described widespread food insecurity, which affected children in particular:

Yes, it affects the alimentation of the children, the reason is that there is no work ... Yes, because we do not know how to get [food] ... We asked for a comedor [popular dining room] that is suitable for children, but we were not lucky. (LP-5)

Camp sector leaders also stressed the psychosocial impacts of the floods and displacement (see 5.2.2: Emotional balance and cognitive satisfaction). Several women suffered trauma due to the experienced threats to live, losses, and flight. In few areas, NGOs provided basic care, but most respondents rued that they received no emotional or psychological support. Others had to make substantial efforts to receive help. As one mother explained, "*I had to take my 7-year-old daughter there to [town] to be seen by a psychologist because she was scared and did not want to stay* ..." (LP-11).

Further health challenges related to decreased protection possibilities from adverse weather conditions, for example, because the displaced persons remained in inadequate shelter:

We have been in a tent for eight to nine months, there we already burned, we were very burned... When there was sun, we could not enter the tents, it burned too much.... (LP-4)

And now children with this climate—the children get sick with the flu, the cough. At night [it's] quite cold and here, we sleep on the floor, and it is cold. (LP-9)

Health service provision has stayed fragmented after the CEN floods. In November 2018, the interviewees felt that the health situation had slightly improved

compared to the start of their displacement and the serious infrastructure losses then, but was still worse than before. Several camp sectors had only a health post in a container with intermittent service. Other areas stated that services were gradually withdrawn and that "there is no health center here, the nurses are leaving because they are hired, and we are left with nothing" (LP-11). Several respondents had to travel to unaffected health posts in surrounding villages. Health emergencies constituted severe challenges because they required costly travel to the district city for help and transportation options were low at night:

In the afternoon, in the evening, there is no one attending you. There have already been abortions here, there have been people who have come out of an emergency, children with respiratory infections late at night,... the routes are not adequate, and we do not have the mobility to be able to help people. (LP-6)

Finally, the lack of income or insurance to pay for health services exacerbated health problems:

Yes, they [the agribusinesses] don't pay you as it should be.... You work your working day, you don't have insurance, you don't have anything, you fall ill, and you die since you don't have money. (UP-6)

7.2.3.1.3 Educational Opportunities

When interviewed in November 2018, respondents rued the substantial losses of school infrastructure and the lack of services for the large number of displaced children. They observed that schools in the camps had been built fast and for temporary use (linked to the land conflicts, see 5.2.2: Basic services), but remained the only available option for a long time. According to one community leader, infrastructure was only slowly improving and promised support such as school feeding programs did not arrive. All respondents confirmed that educational opportunities for their children had severely deteriorated after the CEN. Various children had to walk strenuous, long distances to the few unaffected high schools in their villages of origin: "they have to go up hills and go down", remaining "in the sun, the children burn, they get blisters, they get tired" (LP-9). The exhaustion, adding to mental health issues, made it difficult for children to concentrate in class. Parents felt that, "Sending children to schools is scary" (LP-11) as it involved a passage over the nearby highway and the risk of (at times deadly) accidents (LP-6). Yet, sending them by moto (autorickshaw) on a regular

basis was too expensive for most parents. Finally, the lack of light in homes also hindered homework.

7.2.3.2 A Space to Live Better

7.2.3.2.1 Adequate Housing

The quality of housing heavily deteriorated for most displaced persons. The interviewees confirmed that many arrived with nothing but their clothes to the desolate, empty desert area. They received tents that provided basic shelter initially, in which they spent one to twelve months. 20 months after the floods, several of the interviewees still had only basic additional structures built around their tents. Only few respondents received temporary housing modules later. While they perceived these modules as an improvement over tents, the modules were of poorer quality than the houses they had had before the CEN. Inadequate housing conditions exacerbated other vulnerabilities, especially of pregnant women, older adults, children, and people with physical limitations:

Another of the great needs here is, the type of life as we have, no, the houses for example as you see are of rustic material, we have the elderly, we have children, we have the disabled [sic], and housing is not so adequate because of the cold here, the wind that makes people fall with respiratory infections. There have also been diarrheas, well the situation is critical, no ... The conditions are, let's say, precarious, no, rustic material, kitchens of this type and well.... (LP-6)

For example, a highly pregnant woman in her mid–30s explained how the shelter failed to protect her family from the cold and how she was afraid of the health impacts on her baby. Cooking occurred mostly with collected wood, which created health risks through indoor pollution and fire risks.

All interviewees described the shelter reconstruction as arduous and "*expensive*" (LP-3). "*Little by little*" (LP-4), they made small improvements, although the materials remained "*rustic*" (LP-3):

The material is expensive ... we bought it suffering hunger ... [It is] expensive to make such a house, here we have invested to make this room, not more, over there I still need to do one, but I do not have money to buy the materials. Well, that is the situation [sighs]. (LP-2)

Compared to LP, displacement was more dispersed in UP and resulted in different shelter situations. The displaced persons lived in tents, public buildings, and unaffected houses of relatives. For example, two crop farmers were forced to move to the high school and stayed there for one month before returning to their land, where an NGO provided temporary housing modules. Overall, the farmers described that housing had significantly deteriorated compared to before the floods, and that damages were long lasting. Although many respondents had already suffered damages in previous El Niño events, they ignored or could not adhere to warnings by authorities not to rebuild in low-lying land and to avoid poor materials, as they lacked financial means and safe plots for protected homes.

7.2.3.2.2 Basic Services

Most of the interviewees had had almost complete access to basic services in their villages of origin before the 2017 CEN. They struggled with managing the ensuing lack of provision in the barren desert camps. Land conflicts posed a major obstacle to receiving investments in basic services. Interviewees had allegedly received the land to which they escaped after the 1998 El Niño; yet *"because of bad leaders"* (LP-6), it had been sold to two agribusinesses, which created land conflicts after the displacements in 2017. After the CEN, this land conflict stalled government investments:

... [*T*]*he state itself did not even want to set foot here due to the very situation of the private* [land]..... *The minister came also, he told us that he could not invest because they were not in the capacity to invest in a property that did not belong to the state.* (LP-6)

Conflicts (see 5.2.2: Security) and talks led to partial solutions for persons in some sectors, who could stay and work for the company. For these sectors, municipalities agreed to a land-use change from rural to urban to legalize settlements. Notwithstanding, people doubted that the agreement was final:

First his [the landowner's] family came to throw them away, the fences we had; they fought, they set their dogs on us [laughs]. Then the young lady from the municipality came to resolve, they came here and had an agreement, but now the gentleman says no, and does not want to give the terrain. So, we only have certificates. (LP-12)

In other camp sectors, the company did not compromise and ended the discussions. For these displaced persons, the land issues resulted in high uncertainty. They were worried because "*many told us that they were going to take the land from us*" (LP-8) and longed for a solution:

What we most want is that they give us a proof of possession, we want it to be a true one, that they do not take away from us. Because here there are problems sometimes,

if the businessman throws us out, where are we going to go back to? We want that they give us a document that protects us..., for the well-being of the children... The other time, they also said that they were going to evict us, and the children are scared when they hear that, they start crying. We sleep alert, too. (LP-11)

These obstacles and the fragmented humanitarian assistance resulted in an uneven availability of basic services in the camps. Various respondents voiced their frustrations with the government and often alleged corruption. Crowded living conditions added further pressure on the insufficient services.

Although water provision was a crucial need for survival and recovery, many camps remained without sufficient, safe, and reliant water for long. In November 2018, the interviewees remarked that water quantity, quality, and costs diverged across sectors. In some zones, the agribusiness owning the land provided water in tanks, in limited amounts but of sufficient quality. Other areas regularly received free water to group tanks from the state. For still others, private trucks provided water to group tanks in sufficient quantity but at high costs. In addition, water deliveries were becoming less frequent, so that some sectors now experienced scarcity. Finally, various sectors had to rely on water of insufficient quantity and quality from wells in nearby villages.

Regarding sanitation, the difficult situation with few latrines shared by many households had improved at first but then declined again. By November 2018, the interviewees rued a widespread lack of sanitation and drainage. In several areas, the temporary constructions built by the state or NGOs were decaying, after more than one and a half years of use by numerous displaced persons, or had already collapsed and were dysfunctional:

... [I]n the very school, for example their toilets, the toilets were also built thanks to the NGOs.... but these services were not, in other words, this is temporary, and because we have been around for a while, we will have spent two years here, and these hygienic services have already collapsed. (LP-6)

In contrast to their villages of origin, in November 2018, most interviewees described a persistent lack of light and electricity in the camps. Only few had access to solar lanterns or panels outside of their modules for limited hours of light. Several interviewees recalled that they had been promised access to electricity and light but expressed doubt that the promises would be fulfilled. The darkness complicated children's schoolwork, resulted in security risks, and lead to fire risks due to the use of candles. For example, a father of four children in his late 50s pleaded that,

Hopefully the new Regional authorities ... we hope they help us and remember us, because here we are without water, without light, which is the most essential thing for children who have to do their homework. (LP-8)

Poor roads created additional obstacles for the displaced persons. Transportation providers (*motos*) could not enter the sandy camps as most "*roads are pure sand, are not even planned*", which increased respondents' perceived isolation and made them "*suffer*" (LP-6). They got "*blisters*" and were exhausted from walking on the sands (LP-4), especially children and older adults:

Here the only thing we want is access roads, the ladies from [nearby town] have to carry their bundle from here to there, no motorcycle enters, it is what one suffers the most without access roads. (LP-3)

7.2.3.2.3 Pleasant Surroundings

By the time of the interviews, the displaced persons in UP had returned to their homes, and many of them rued the destruction of their fields and missed the work there. Yet overall, they described limited changes regarding the satisfaction with their locality, natural surroundings, and related activities.

By contrast, the displaced persons in LP arrived in barren desert lands that most perceived as hostile compared to their prior home villages: "In these small terrains we have all been; pure thorns, herbs were these lands; all together, we had to help clean, men and women" (LP-1). According to a community leader, the living conditions were crowded, with more than 2000 families living in an area apt for 500, which raised stress on the already stretched infrastructure (see 5.2.2: Basic services). Additionally, the significantly smaller sizes of the new lots complicated the traditional raising of free-range animals and the storing of produce. Positive feelings about the surroundings were rare.

7.2.3.2.4 Safety from Hazards

In UP, a large number of displaced persons moved back to their old lots and thus into the same flood exposure as before. Consequently, many feared new floods and felt less prepared for possible impacts than before (see also 7.2.1; 5.2.2: Safety from hazards, Outlook on the future). In November 2018, the respondents in LP stated they felt safer from floods as the camps were located on sandy ground that could absorb downpours. They were slightly more elevated and farther away from the canal and drain. Especially traumatized persons reported relief to be on

safer grounds. For example, a displaced woman in her mid–30s, when asked if she felt safer or not in the new destination, replied:

Yes. Although it was difficult for us to tarry here, we were crying, it was sad to be here... Remembering is sad, we didn't eat, we only took care of the children, but little by little we got used to here, and to return there, no? Not anymore. (LP-9)

While safer from floods, the displaced persons in LP faced exposure to new hazards in the barren desert, which was exacerbated by poor housing (see 5.2.3: Adequate housing). The exposure to adverse weather conditions harmed especially the health of at-risk groups, such as children and older adults (see 5.2.2: Health and food security). By day, the desert sun caused sun burns and the heat in the tents was unbearable while overnight, they were exposed to winds and cold temperatures.

7.2.3.2.5 Security

In November 2018, interviewees reported insecurity, including violence due to the land conflict (see section 7.2.3: Basic services), thefts, and robberies. First, after fleeing, the land conflict with the private landowner created tensions. Violent clashes allegedly killed at least one displaced person. By the time of the interviews, some sectors had found a compromise on the land, but others continued in uncertainty (see 7.2.3: Basic services). The second insecurity issue concerned thefts and robberies, which were widespread in UP during the flood and at the start of displacement. In LP, robberies and thefts of water tanks or animals were still common. Farmers said, "When we call them [the police], they come whenever they feel like it, and the thieves have already fled" (LP-9). Finally, some sectors self-organized citizen patrols (rondas) that contributed to interviewees' perceived security:

We make the ronda [citizen patrols] at night ... since a month ago there were robberies in a row ... as the animals are stolen and that's because they see that there is no security, with this ronda things are improving ... Several things have been taken ... Right now, we are, as one says, relaxed, we feel that there is no theft anymore. (LP-8)

However, other sectors without *rondas* or police forces perceived perennial insecurity. The lack of light (see 7.2.3: Basic services) exacerbated the security risks: "*More than anything, we want them to improve our town so that we too can live more peacefully, because the darkness of the night is dangerous*" (LP-7). Women in the interviews did not explicitly mention gender-based violence. However, when male household members migrated to other areas for work, insecurity for women and children could rise. For example, the young mother of one child described how her husband's migration to the coast to smooth income losses raised insecurity:

Yes, here with the children I stay ... It is not easy, and it is also dangerous since it has happened to us once that they scared us, that hooded men came here, they scared us. So sometimes I'm also afraid of being alone. (UP-3)

7.2.3.3 Social Relatedness

The interviewees asserted that they had formed functional, cohesive communities prior to the floods. In UP, most people fled within their villages and felt that "we are united" (UP-9). They maintained good relations and observed solidarity: "[W]e all give a hand to each other. For those affected, we tried to help, to give them a way out so they could progress, and not leave [them] alone" (UP-9).

In LP, the CEN displaced entire villages. The displaced explained that social cohesion and unity remained high because neighborhoods and social structures were replicated in the camps: "Yes, we know each other here, we live in one community, and we support each other" (LP-9). A community leader said, "Here we treat each other as one family because we stand together and we are always there, in dialogue" (LP-5). The displaced persons observed good social relations, with mutual support systems buffering the worst damages. Sharing tools or assets and mutual help in reconstruction and communal tasks was common. The displaced persons in LP also swiftly self-organized to elect community leaders who acted as local camp sector coordinators.¹⁷ One of these leaders stated, "Yes, we hold meetings almost weekly, biweekly, in order to organize ourselves, to coordinate" (LP-5).

The interviewees did not mention changes in family relations due to the flood and displacements. They only described adverse social effects in cases when peers migrated to other areas for work. For example, a young mother and her children missed her husband who had migrated to the coast to smooth losses, and recalled how his absence raised security issues (see section 7.2.3: Security). Her husband, returned by the time of the interview, confirmed the difficulties during the family separation:

¹⁷ A non-representative survey in May 2017 showed that in 80% of camps, displaced persons had formed communal committees to help with the site management. 63% of respondents in camps in Piura received their information primarily from community leaders and 77% identified them as the most trustworthy sources. See IOM (2017b).

... [*T*]he situation is ugly because you leave your family in the situation that was here... Yes, well, it would be nice if there was work in only one site, if we both worked together, with the children. (UP-4)

7.2.3.4 SWB Dimensions

7.2.3.4.1 Emotional Balance and Cognitive Satisfaction

Disaster experiences and displacement can have a long-lasting impact on SWB. 20 months after the CEN disaster, the interviewees still experienced strong negative emotions due to the floods and the displacement. For several religious displaced persons, who considered the flood a punishment by god for previous misbehavior, the disaster evoked feelings of guilt and regret (see section 7.2.3: Outlook on the future). Yet, most prevalent were feelings of helplessness, sadness, and pain. Respondents linked these negative emotions to losses, increased poverty, poor shelter, threats to health, and stress:

... [F] or the one who no longer has a place to live, until now it is something traumatic. My sister-in-law always says, 'I would like just one room [to live in]', but nothing. I'm begging to God, and I really do want some help to come because it hurts. (UP-6)

These negative feelings were salient especially at the start of displacement when deprivations were greatest. However, for many, these emotions persisted despite slow advances as they worried about the arduous recovery. For example, a woman described how her family was sad about the losses, the new exposure to weather extremes, the costly and troublesome reconstruction, and the hunger (LP-2). Family separation due to longer-distance migration also created sadness (see section 7.2.2).

Many displaced persons stressed perennial psychosocial issues, including anxiety, fear, shock, and trauma. For example, one woman described how she had feared to drown in the floods, lost all her assets, arrived horrified in the camps, and still suffered 20 months later: *"We were already scared, and the other year left us traumatized"* (LP-11). Many intensely feared that more floods might occur:

We don't [want to go back] anymore, because the radio stations start saying that the water is going to come again, we are already traumatized by that, we all cried when it happened. (LP-4)

Children, in particular, were traumatized after the floods and afraid of new disasters. Mothers suffered to witness the continued anxiety of their children. One of them observed that, ... [The children] no longer want to return, they are afraid. When they left, they were scared, traumatized by what happened because well, that was never seen in life before. (LP-5)

The interviewees criticized that professional psychological care was insufficient in most areas (see section 7.2.3: Health and food security). Still, a small number of displaced persons slowly lightened up because they had started rebuilding lives and felt safer from future floods. Various respondents showed notable resilience, which was at times supported by humor. For example, a respondent in UP was saddened by the loss of his house and assets. Although he worried about his wife's health and was afraid of a new flood, he was also humorous, laughed during the interview, and made jokes (UP-5). Yet, in other cases, laughing was a mechanism of defense rather than an adaptive humorous take:

Interviewer: "We are investigating the social impacts of the phenomenon of El Niño. How did you pass that experience?" LP-4: "We don't want to remember [laughs]". LP-13 [adds]: "It was a sadness."

Various children processed their experiences by playing games. One mother reported how she, saddened by her losses, felt pain when she watched her three children playfully simulate the floods. However, the children seemed to enjoy the game (LP-4). Another mother said her son had liked the time when they were forced to live in the school building, although he had suffered from a serious stomach infection shortly before, and the family lacked money to receive adequate health care.

My son used to tell me, 'Mom, how cool, living in a school'. I have never had a house with a second floor, but my son would go up to the second floor in the school, and he liked to live in the school, he was happy, he did not want to leave from there. (UP-7)

While various interviewees expressed gratefulness toward humanitarian assistance by NGOs, they were angry, annoyed, disappointed, and frustrated about the government's handling of the CEN and the recovery. Many felt angry or deceived due to the empty promises for improving their situation (see also e.g. section 7.2.3: Decent livelihoods). Various observed corruption. For example, a woman who had lost her house in 1998 for the first time, and then again in 2017, was angry about the "*neglect of authorities*" to maintain drains, because otherwise the flood "could have been avoided" (UP-6). She was also frustrated and disappointed by the flawed government responses after the flood: To [name of an NGO] we are grateful, they helped us a lot... The state is absent... The state is taking a long time, many obstacles; what happens is that the state has a lot of corruption... Yes, the governments that we have had have been bad, in a row, bad, bad. (UP-6)

This perceived corruption also evoked feelings of injustice and shame among the displaced persons.

7.2.3.4.2 Outlook on the Future

When prompted to assess their views of the future, various people stressed religious faith as their anchor for consolation, hope, and patience, even in their dire circumstances and with evident trauma:

There are families that are still in need, but they also have to wait, yes God makes that it continues, otherwise they will have to wait just with patience, and someday God will touch their hearts again.... I have consolation, hope and I have faith in God that someday we are going to recover some things, not everything, because the situation does not allow anymore to buy everything we had. (LP-5)

Even so, various religious persons perceived the CEN as a divine punishment, which instilled guilt, regret, and surrender in some of them. Others hoped that virtuous behavior could improve their plight:

But since one believes in God, these are tests that little by little they are making for us, sometimes we say, 'Why does it happen, why does it happen?', but it happens because sometimes we also no longer obey God and God gets tired of correcting us. We do bad things and then God, when he punishes, he sends for everyone, good and bad, and thank God we are surviving here. Yes, but when you are with God everything comes to your house ... [It is] the will of God and you have to have patience. (UP-6)

Beyond faith, the solidarity in communities, the decreased exposure to floods, and trust in individual capabilities also made respondents in LP hopeful that they would be able to progress and improve the future of their children (see section 7.2.3: Safety from hazards). People hoped that progress would be possible if the land conflict was solved (see 5.2.2: Basic services), if the state invested more, and if NGO support continued. Many followed the Peruvian narrative that progressing (*salir adelante*) was always possible. This idea seemed to be a sign of resilience in several cases; in others, where possibilities for growth were extremely low, this narrative of progress created extra pressure or led to self-deception. For example, when asked about his view of the future, a community leader contended:

Ah well, we aim to salir adelante [to progress], keep fighting, start living a new life. In other words, start again from the bottom since certainly all the things that we had, well, we no longer have. Now, to start a new life, start buying things, start building a new home—and sometimes one does not have the resources, and the materials are expensive and cannot be bought, but anyway, one is getting up little by little ... Also, hope, clearly, [we] value everything we have, and we will recover little by little. (LP-5)

Conversely, several displaced persons expressed resignation, discouragement, and fatigue due to economic and land insecurity (see section 7.2.3: Basic services). Two respondents feared that, "Maybe we will never replace what we have lost [sad]" (LP-2) and, "Well, I think everything will remain the same [nervous laugh-ter]" (UP-2). In UP particularly, farmers stressed that their precarious agricultural livelihoods limited their economic prospects, and to make things worse, El Niño floods, alternating dry spells, and warming have repeatedly disrupted their lives and decreased hopes for the future. The CEN losses made farmers feel "clearly less, less prepared" for future hazards, which could undo their slow recovery: "God forbid too [laughs], pucha [slur], it would be worse [if a flood happened again] ... Well, we no longer have somewhere to sow and how to survive" (UP-9).

7.3 Quantitative Empirical Results

In this section, I complement the qualitative study of Piura with a quantitative analysis based on secondary data that cover all districts across Peru which were declared in a state of emergency due to the CEN. These data yield additional insights into people's differential displacement risk and the impacts of displacement on their well-being one month and seven months after the event (whereas the qualitative data was collected more than one and a half years after the disaster).

As detailed before in section 3.2.2, the analyses are based on two surveys. These two surveys are (a) the CEN Survey collected around one month after the disaster, between mid- and end of April 2017, and (b) the National Census enumerated six months later, at the end of October 2017. The CEN Survey contains data on 398,148 persons in 199,938 dwellings and 2,615 public buildings in the 892 districts declared in a state of emergency (see Table 3.1). Both analyses below focus on a subsample of 186,437 *affected* adults, namely those whose homes suffered at least minor damages in the disaster.¹⁸ 88% of this group

¹⁸ The analysis excludes children below 18 years to avoid double-counting and because the survey did not contain relevant data for them on key well-being items, such as employment.

(164,084 adults) could be tracked in the National Census for the well-being analysis, which compares well-being effects between the *affected*, *disaster displaced adults* and those respondents who were *affected but could remain at home* as the most suitable comparison group.

7.3.1 Magnitude of Displacement and Differential Displacement Risk

To begin with, the CEN Survey provides insights into the magnitude of the overall displacement and households' differential displacement risk. However, the data does not explicitly identify displaced households.¹⁹ In this dissertation, I focus on the habitability of respondents' homes to infer if they were displaced due to the disaster.²⁰ In the CEN Survey, enumerators observed and indicated whether the visited houses were (a) unaffected; (b) habitable but in need of renovations; (c) uninhabitable; or (d) collapsed.²¹ Because the comparison here focuses on the affected population, category (a) was excluded. The analysis operates with a new binary variable which uses category (b) for the status of affected but non-displaced and merges categories (c) and (d) as the proxy for disaster displaced. Applying these proxies, 24.1% of all affected households (or 42,410 adults) surveyed after the CEN were displaced: the homes of 15.53% of the households (or 27,583 adults) were uninhabitable while those of 8.57% (or 14,827 adults) were entirely collapsed. In some districts where rainfall was intense, more than 20% of the households were displaced; Figure 7.11 illustrates the extreme rainfall anomalies during the CEN in the 20 districts with the highest share of displaced households.

In a next step, three logistic regression models were applied to assess who among the affected 86,734 households had been most at risk of displacement (Table 7.3). The first model uses exogenous environmental factors as proxies for

¹⁹ The CEN survey identifies "damaged" persons, but this designation is only an indication of possible displacement. One cannot take for granted that all "damaged" persons were displaced because INEI applies the label "damaged" to persons who *either* had uninhabitable houses, *or* suffered severe economic losses, including unemployment or losses of agricultural assets, *or* whose health was affected due to the CEN. See INEI (2017c: 8).

 $^{^{20}}$ As explained in section 3.2.2, this assumption that the habitability of homes is a proxy for displacement is a plausible basis for the analysis but comes with certain limitations.

²¹ For 1,550 datapoints, enumerators noted that there was no infrastructure or land in the designated lot; they were excluded from the analysis. Likewise, households that consisted only of children were excluded from the analysis.



Figure 7.11 Rainfall anomalies and household displacement in severely affected districts. (Note: The figure compares the standard deviations (SD) of rainfall between January and March 2017 with the same months in the period 2000–2020. It shows the intensities of the anomalies in the 20 most severely affected districts in the country (blue bars) and the percentage of households in the CEN Survey reporting to have lost their home (turquoise bars). Created by Roman Hoffmann)

people's exposure to the disaster, namely data on rainfall anomalies between January and March 2017 as well on the average distances to inland water bodies, maximum elevations, and elevation ranges in the analyzed districts.²² The second model adds household composition and demographic characteristics to these environmental factors, including household size, the share of children, older adults, or people with disabilities in the households, if the household was headed by a single parent, and the level of education. The third model expands these prior parameters further with variables on livelihood characteristics and the wealth

²² The data sources for these regression parameters included GTOPO30 and MERRA-2, as explained in footnote 28 in Chapter 3.

of the households, such as occupation, tenure security, as well as housing and infrastructure quality.

Regarding performance, model 3 has the highest Pseudo- R^2 and therefore the highest explanatory power. In this best-fit model, most parameters had a statistically significant influence on displacement risk. All results in the models are marginal effects calculated at the mean of all covariates. The risk increased greatly due to environmental factors, such as the intensity of the CEN rainfall anomaly (0.2507***) and the elevation range in the districts (0.2344**). If households were farmers (0.3178***), lived in small rural villages (0.2036**),²³ had young or older children (0.1965*** or 0.0769***), were headed by single parents (0.1691***), or had members with disabilities (0.1589***) also critically raised displacement risk. By contrast, dwelling in decent types of housing, such as houses or flats (-0.3122^{***}) ,²⁴ and owning property with a title (-0.2373^{***}) strongly reduced the risk. Smaller decreases in displacement risk followed for households with larger sizes (-0.1303***), who rented or lived with family (-0.1281**), and at greater distance to inland water bodies (-0.0721***). For every 10-percentage point increase of adults with at least secondary education or female members in the household, the risk of being displaced also decreased by 1.6% (**) and 1.3% (***), respectively.²⁵ Parameters without statistical significance were limited access to public infrastructure prior to the CEN, living in non-standard housing (such as hotels or asylums), the maximum elevation in the district, the number of older adults in the household, and if all adult household members were unemployed prior to the disaster.

7.3.2 Short- and Mid-Term Impacts of Displacement on Well-Being

The next analysis focuses on the impacts of displacement on respondents' wellbeing directly after the CEN and seven months later. The two surveys provide

²³ INEI considers settlements with less than 2,000 inhabitants as rural. See INEI (2018c: 15).

²⁴ The variable is coded as follows. *Decent types of housing* refers to houses and apartments or rooms in tenements. *Non-standard types* include collective housing (hotel, hostel, lodging, asylum) and other types. The reference for both is *deficient types of housing*, such as huts, cabins, improvised housing, or premises not intended for human habitation.

 $^{^{25}}$ All variables referring to a *percentage share* of household members are scaled from 0 to 1. For example, 0.1 represents 10% of female household members. Thus, the effect on the dependent variable gauges an increase from 0% to 100% of women. A 10-percentage point increase of women in the household would lead to an effect of -0.1283/10 = 0.0128.

Independent variables	Dependent varia Household displa	ble: cement (binary)	
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Environmental factors	<u>.</u>	·	·
Maximum elevation in district (in	0.0162	-0.0257	-0.049
1000 m)	[0.067]	[0.066]	[0.065]
Elevation range in district (in	0.2034*	0.2376**	0.2344**
1000 m)	[0.104]	[0.102]	[0.105]
Precipitation anomaly in Jan-Mar	0.2416***	0.2314***	0.2507***
(in SD)	[0.052]	[0.051]	[0.054]
Average distance to inland water	-0.0739***	-0.0691***	-0.0721***
bodies in district (km)	[0.023]	[0.024]	[0.025]
Household characteristics			
Household size		-0.1282***	-0.1303***
		[0.016]	[0.018]
Single parent household		0.1422***	0.1691***
		[0.040]	[0.042]
Any household members with		0.1725***	0.1589***
disabilities		[0.039]	[0.041]
Number of children < 5 years in		0.2228***	0.1965***
household		[0.029]	[0.028]
Number of children 5–17 years in		0.0934***	0.0769***
household		[0.020]	[0.020]
Number older adults > 65 years in		-0.0386	-0.007
household		[0.035]	[0.030]
% of adults with at least secondary		-0.2962***	-0.1610**
education ²⁶		[0.069]	[0.064]
% female household members		-0.1601***	-0.1283***
		[0.034]	[0.034]

 Table 7.3
 Logistic regression models analyzing marginal effects of drivers of household displacement risk

(continued)

²⁶ Footnote 25 applies to all parameters that gauge percentage shares of household members.

Independent variables	Dependent van Household disp	r iable: blacement (binary))
	(1)	(2)	(3)
Livelihood characteristics and we	alth		
All adult household members			-0.0001
unemployed prior to disaster			[0.036]
Housing type: decent (reference:			-0.3122***
deficient)			[0.093]
Housing type: non-standard			-0.1137
(reference: deficient)			[0.470]
Household owns property with			-0.2373***
title (reference: property without			[0.065]
uue)			-0.1281**
Household rents or lives with family (reference: property without title)			[0.057]
Household has only limited access			0.116
to public infrastructure prior to disaster (water, sewerage, electricity)			[0.079]
Agricultural household			0.3178***
			[0.045]
Household lives in rural area			0.2036**
			[0.094]
Observations (households)	86,734	86,734	86,734
Pseudo R ²	0.016	0.023	0.034
AIC	94,263	93,574	92,624

Table 7.3 (continued)

Note: Regression coefficients in cells with clustered standard errors in parentheses. The coefficients are shown as marginal effects calculated at the mean of all covariates. Standard errors were clustered at the district level. P-values: $* \le 0.1 * * \le 0.05 * * * \le 0.01$.

insights into a selection of the central well-being dimensions applied in this dissertation (section 2.3 explains the full framework), mainly into a space to live better and development from a secure base. Yet, the data are limited on various key subitems of these dimensions, such as education, safety from hazards, and physical security. Additionally, the surveys lack data on social relatedness or SWB. The well-being analyses below are thus not as comprehensive as the qualitative study in section 7.2.3 but they illuminate key changes in the well-being of a much larger number of people. For context, note that the quantitative data cover people's situation directly after the event in April and half a year later in October 2017, whereas the qualitative data sheds light on the situation in November 2018, more than a year later.

To begin with, shortly after the disaster, people displaced by the CEN reported substantially higher damage on livelihoods, health, shelter, and basic services than those residents who were affected by the disaster but able to remain in their houses within the districts declared in a state of emergency (Table 7.4). Because the sample covers close to the full affected population, summary statistics render robust results on people's well-being outcomes. Regarding development from a secure base, the survey registered severe damages to livelihoods: the agricultural production of 92% of the displaced compared to 85% of the non-displaced, but affected households was damaged; 25% of the displaced and 17% of the nondisplaced households lost work due to the disaster; while 90% of the businesses in homes of displaced households and 72% of those in the non-displaced group were damaged. Additionally, the disaster strongly affected people's health. In Piura-the focus of the qualitative study-109 persons died, out of a total of 280 fatalities countrywide. In all of Peru, 6% of the displaced and 3% of the affected non-displaced persons were injured in the event. As many as 43% of the displaced and 41% of the non-displaced households suffered from health problems one month after the CEN, such as respiratory infections, diarrhea, dengue, and tuberculosis. Finally, food insecurity was rampant in the districts declared in a state of emergency. Approximately 80% of the displaced households compared to 69% of the non-displaced respondents suffered from moderate or severe food insecurity in the month after the event. In addition, the CEN Survey registered 81 damaged health centers. As the only indication of changes in educational opportunities in the data, the survey also recorded damages to 518 educational facilities. Other sources document an even higher damage to 934 health posts and 2,870 schools (French et al. 2020: 5). The effects on a space to live better were similarly severe: around 85% of the displaced persons noted that the disaster had severely damaged the walls or roofs of their houses, compared to less than 10% for the non-displaced group. Among the displaced households, 78% had no access to sanitation, 71% lacked access to water, and more than half of them lived without electricity, which represent substantially higher shares than for the affected, non-displaced group. The data is visualized in Figure 7.12 below.

In a next step, linear regression analyses were used to discern the impacts of displacement on the individual (not household) well-being of respondents seven months after the disaster. The analysis draws on a dataset with the affected adults of the CEN survey tracked in the National Census. A well-being index was constructed based on 35 items available in the Census. Most items existed for a space to live better, including the type of housing;²⁷ construction materials; access to water, sanitation, and electrical light; property title; number of persons per rooms; fuel used for cooking; and the availability of household assets (16 assets, such as computer, cell phone, refrigerator, and car). For development from a secure base, the Census provides three items of interest, namely indictors on people's employment status, their health insurance, and disabilities, whereas no relevant data existed for education. All individual indicators were combined in a well-being index using principal component analysis (PCA). In PCA, items are assigned weights based on their relative importance in the sample. Well-being items that allow to differentiate more effectively between different groups are given a higher weight. The resulting index was normalized to a scale from 0 to 100 to simplify the interpretation (Table 7.5, Table 7.6).

Figure 7.13 illustrates the distribution of the respondents along this normalized well-being scale. It indicates that the respondents' well-being is skewed toward the lower end of the scale.

In a next step, five models linearly regressed peoples' well-being score on displacement. As a baseline, the first model uses displacement as the only variable, while the subsequent models gradually add more controls. The second model includes the exogenous environmental factors from the prior analysis as controls, such as the intensity of the CEN rainfall anomaly. The third model controls for these environmental parameters as well as for household composition and demographics. In addition, the fourth model also encompasses livelihoods and wealth variables. Lastly, the fifth model adds individual characteristics to the parameters already included in the previous models. By adding further environmental, household, and individual variables to the models, the analysis attempts to control for self-selection effects that might confound the estimation of displacement impacts on well-being. Displacement is not a random process, but factors, such as the

²⁷ Decent types of housing include houses and apartments or rooms in tenements, as opposed to huts or cabins, improvised housing, and others. Hotels, hostels, lodging, boarding houses, health facilities, penitentiary, residential care centers, army bases, and houselessness are excluded.

	Not displaced			Displaced		
	Share of respondents	SD	N	Share of respondents	SD	N
Development from a	secure base					
Agricultural production damaged	.85	.358	32,245	.921	.27	12,160
Lost work due to disaster	.168	.374	56,803	.251	.434	17,699
Business got damaged	.723	.448	5,839	.898	.303	1,352
Got injured in disaster	.033	.178	65,830	.055	.228	20,904
Experienced health impacts	.412	.492	65,830	.43	.495	20,904
Experienced food insecurity	.693	.461	65,830	.796	.403	20,904
A space to live better	*					
Walls of house severely damaged	.096	.295	65,830	.842	.365	20,904
Walls of house moderately damaged	.879	.326	65,830	.158	.365	20,904
Roof of house severely damaged	.069	.254	65,830	.85	.357	20,904
Roof of house moderately damaged	.773	.419	65,830	.15	.357	20,904
Household has no access to water	.511	.5	60,704	.71	.454	19,071

Table 7.4 Summary statistics on loss and damage experienced by households due to the CEN event in 2017

(continued)

Table 7.4 (continued)

	Not displaced			Displaced		
	Share of respondents	SD	N	Share of respondents	SD	N
Household has no access to sanitation	.583	.493	59,760	.777	.416	18,669
Household has no access to electricity	.284	.451	62,588	.555	.497	19,451

Note: Based on responses from 86,734 households in the CEN Survey. Some indicators are calculated for a sub-sample of the relevant respondents. For example, the share of households experiencing damages in their business or agricultural production refers to all households who had a business or an agricultural production prior to the disaster.



Figure 7.12 Loss and damage among the affected, displaced or non-displaced population. (Note: Visualizes the data specified in Table 7.4 above)

age, sex, or socioeconomic status of respondents can change the probability of displacement in systematic ways (Aksoy & Poutvaara 2021; Borjas et al. 1992; Kaestner & Malamud 2014). Because displacement is driven by a range of such factors that might simultaneously influence the well-being outcome, the observed changes in well-being in the dataset might not be due to the displacement itself, but rather due to pre-movement factors that made displacement more likely in the first place. Controlling for these factors in the models renders a more accurate representation of displacement effects, which is reflected in changes in the regression coefficients as the numbers of controls increase from model 1 to 5.

The results in Table 7.7 demonstrate that displacement led to statistically strongly significant well-being decreases in every model. The negative effect of

Variable	Mean	SD	min	max	Ν	PCA weights
Decent type of housing ²⁸	.97	.171	0.000	1	165,724	.0414296
Wall materials: high quality	.683	.465	0.000	1	162,920	.1497772
Roof materials: high quality	.221	.415	0.000	1	162,920	.1587134
Rooms: low quality	.552	.497	0.000	1	162,920	2254049
Rooms: intermediate quality	.383	.486	0.000	1	162,920	.1491993
Rooms: high quality	.065	.246	0.000	1	162,920	.1606593
Water: low quality	.217	.412	0.000	1	162,920	1533882
Water: intermediate quality	.14	.347	0.000	1	162,920	0548475
Water: high quality	.643	.479	0.000	1	162,920	.171703
Sanitation: low quality	.361	.48	0.000	1	162,920	1939327
Sanitation: intermediate quality	.106	.308	0.000	1	162,920	0679328
Sanitation: high quality	.518	.5	0.000	1	162,920	.2348671
Access to electricity	.849	.358	0.000	1	162,920	.1529223
House with property title	.357	.479	0.000	1	162,920	.113005
Not more than 2 people per room	.966	.181	0.000	1	162,920	.0243775
Access to modern cooking fuel	.618	.486	0.000	1	165,724	.2369635

Table 7.5 Summary statistics of variables used for constructing the well-being index

(continued)

 $^{^{28}}$ The reference here are all other types of housing, including non-standard and deficient housing.

Variable	Mean	SD	min	max	N	PCA weights
Assets: audio system	.269	.444	0.000	1	162,920	.18807
Assets: television	.658	.474	0.000	1	162,920	.2222769
Assets: gas stove	.667	.471	0.000	1	162,920	.23341
Assets: refrigerator	.37	.483	0.000	1	162,920	.2432326
Assets: washing machine	.108	.31	0.000	1	162,920	.2067373
Assets: microwaves	.074	.261	0.000	1	162,920	.1793246
Assets: electric blender	.435	.496	0.000	1	162,920	.2432661
Assets: electric iron	.393	.488	0.000	1	162,920	.2401447
Assets: computer	.156	.363	0.000	1	162,920	.2248524
Assets: cell phone	.765	.424	0.000	1	162,920	.1491313
Assets: telephone	.085	.279	0.000	1	162,920	.1830393
Assets: TV connection	.263	.44	0.000	1	162,920	.2076736
Assets: internet connection	.126	.332	0.000	1	162,920	.2010318
Assets: car	.048	.213	0.000	1	162,920	.1182356
Assets: motorcycle	.131	.338	0.000	1	162,920	.0856661
Assets: boat	.017	.13	0.000	1	162,920	0230222
Unemployed	.544	.498	0.000	1	165,724	0515379
Disability	.148	.355	0.000	1	165,724	0044143
Health insurance	.771	.42	0.000	1	165,724	0306757

Table 7.5 (continued)

displacement on well-being remains consistent and statistically significant across all models, while the strength of the effect decreases from model 1 to 5 as these models successively account for more confounding variables. Concerning model performance, model 5 has the lowest AIC score, which indicates the highest explanatory power. Based on the estimated Adjusted R^2 , this best-fit model explains about 36% of the variance in the well-being outcome (whereas displacement alone in model 1 explains 1.5% of the variance). In the best-fit model 5,

Component	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative
Comp1	7.5032	5.17752	0.2144	0.2144
Comp2	2.32568	0.397699	0.0664	0.2808
Comp3	1.92798	0.323601	0.0551	0.3359
Comp4	1.60438	0.278449	0.0458	0.3817
Comp5	1.32593	0.136607	0.0379	0.4196
Comp6	1.18932	0.054026	0.034	0.4536
Comp7	1.1353	0.043758	0.0324	0.4861
Comp8	1.09154	0.033382	0.0312	0.5172
Comp9	1.05816	0.054001	0.0302	0.5475
Comp10	1.00415	0.051416	0.0287	0.5762
Comp11	0.952739	0.022173	0.0272	0.6034
Comp12	0.930565	0.01811	0.0266	0.63
Comp13	0.912455	0.037086	0.0261	0.656
Comp14	0.875369	0.026125	0.025	0.6811
Comp15	0.849244	0.004975	0.0243	0.7053
Comp16	0.844269	0.015962	0.0241	0.7294
Comp17	0.828307	0.013588	0.0237	0.7531
Comp18	0.814719	0.04309	0.0233	0.7764
Comp19	0.771629	0.029271	0.022	0.7984
Comp20	0.742358	0.037959	0.0212	0.8196
Comp21	0.704399	0.015796	0.0201	0.8398
Comp22	0.688603	0.01267	0.0197	0.8594
Comp23	0.675933	0.028652	0.0193	0.8787
Comp24	0.64728	0.064251	0.0185	0.8972
Comp25	0.583029	0.025423	0.0167	0.9139
Comp26	0.557607	0.027468	0.0159	0.9298
Comp27	0.530139	0.022066	0.0151	0.945
Comp28	0.508073	0.025027	0.0145	0.9595
Comp29	0.483046	0.047434	0.0138	0.9733
Comp30	0.435613	0.052929	0.0124	0.9857

Table 7.6 Summary statistics of the principal component analysis

(continued)

Component	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative
Comp31	0.382684	0.292096	0.0109	0.9967
Comp32	0.090588	0.064955	0.0026	0.9993
Comp33	0.025633	0.025543	0.0007	1
Comp34	9.02E-05	9.02E-05	0	1
Comp35	0	•	0	1

Table 7.6 (continued)



Figure 7.13 Histogram of the normalized well-being index based on 35 indicators. (Note: Created by Roman Hoffmann)

displacement caused statistically significant losses of 3.14 points on the wellbeing scale that ranges from 0 to 100 (-3.1389^{***} , compared to -6.2189^{***} in model 1).

In addition, most control parameters have statistically significant effects on well-being. Strong influences in the best-fit model 5 are secondary education (14,9207***), housing type (11,9633*** and 4,9532***), living in small rural villages (-10,4514***), and owning property with a title (5,9972***). Migration between districts in the five years prior to the Census also substantially

CEN	
he (
after 1	
onths	
even m	
mpacts so	
ing ii	
ll-be	
l we	
idua	
ndiv	
of i	
lrivers	
zing c	
analy	
nodels	
ssion 1	
r regre	
Linea	
7.7	
Table	

Independent variables	Dependent variable Well-being (continuc	: us)			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Displacement	-6.2189 ***	-6.2163 ***	-4.6671***	-3.1353***	-3.1389***
	[1.013]	[0.946]	[0.630]	[0.510]	[0.491]
Environmental factors					
Maximum elevation in district		-0.0067***	-0.0050***	-0.0039***	-0.0039***
(in 1000 m)		[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0:000]
Elevation range in district (in		0.0063***	0.0047***	0.0045***	0.0045***
1000 m)		[0.002]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
Precipitation anomaly in		-0.942	-0.8416	-1.5547 ***	-1.5122 ***
Jan-Mar in district		[1.045]	[0.704]	[0.565]	[0.553]
Average distance to inland		-0.557	-0.7608*	-0.8263**	-0.8248**
water bodies in district (km)		[0.554]	[0.398]	[0.370]	[0.361]
Household characteristics					
Household size			1.9252***	1.7427***	2.0147***
			[0.177]	[0.162]	[0.166]
Single parent household			+*0606.0-	-1.6123***	-2.1539***
			[0.407]	[0.335]	[0.317]
Any household members with			-0.3457	-0.1222	0.2187
disabilities			[0.332]	[0.255]	[0.211]
					(continued
Independent variables	Dependent variable: Well-being (continuo	(sn			
-----------------------------------	---	-----	-------------	-----------------	-----------------
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Number of children < 5 years in			-3.1101 ***	-2.5400^{***}	-2.1056^{***}
household			[0.235]	[0.201]	[0.175]
Number of children 5–17 years			-1.0414***	-0.7287***	-0.5589***
in household			[0.122]	[0.110]	[0.109]
Number older adults > 65 years			3.0808***	2.3352***	1.2695^{***}
in household			[0.478]	[0.361]	[0.276]
% of adults with at least			22.1204***	17.0473***	14.9207 * * *
secondary education ²⁹			[1.423]	[1.148]	[1.071]
% female household members			4.4697***	3.8720***	2.3341^{***}
			[0.398]	[0.350]	[0.303]
Livelihood characteristics and v	wealth				
All adult household members				-3.5964***	-4.2015***
unemployed prior to disaster				[0.213]	[0.235]
Housing type: decent				5.0598***	4.9532***
(reference: deficient)				[0.680]	[0.667]
					(continued)

Table 7.7 (continued)

²⁹ Footnote 6 applies to all parameters that gauge percentage shares of household members.

Independent variables	Dependent variable Well-being (continu	e: ous)			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Housing type: non-standard				12.1200***	11.9633***
(reference: deficient)				[2.150]	[2.177]
Household owns property with				6.0970***	5.9972***
title (reference: property without title)				[0.587]	[0.565]
Household rents or lives with				3.7503***	3.7391***
family (reference property: without title)				[0.787]	[0.780]
Household has only limited				-4.3532***	-4.2752***
access to public infrastructure prior to disaster (water, sewerage, electricity)				[0.568]	[0.553]
Agricultural household				-4.5387***	-4.4098***
				[0.666]	[0.645]
Household lives in rural area				-10.6750^{***}	-10.4514^{***}
				[0.663]	[0.652]
Individual characteristics					
Female respondent					1.7038^{***}
					[0.168]
					(continued)

 Table 7.7
 (continued)

Independent variables	Dependent variable Well-being (continue	: (snc			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
Marital status: divorced,					-1.1245^{***}
separated, widowed					[0.202]
Secondary education or higher					2.3800***
					[0.185]
Respondent was unemployed					0.2926
prior to disaster					[0.201]
Disability					-1.3301^{***}
					[0.217]
Age					0.0921***
					[0.011]
Recently migrated (past 5 years)					5.3214^{***}
					[1.221]
Observations (individual respondents)	162,427	162,427	162,427	162,427	162,427
R ²	0.01525	0.05936	0.24923	0.3536	0.36194
Adjusted R ²	0.01525	0.05933	0.24917	0.35352	0.36183
AIC	1,447,954	1,440,519	1,403,914	1,379,618	1,377,522
Note: I inage rearised in the	ts in calls with clustar	od standard anous in	naranthasas Standar	I amone in an all and a	at the district level Th

Table 7.7 (continued)

Note: Linear regression coefficients in cells with clustered standard errors in parentheses. Standard errors were clustered at the district level. The outcome is the normalized well-being index ranging from 0 (lowest well-being) to 100 (highest well-being). P-values: $* \le 0.1 * * \le 0.05 * * * \le 0.01$.

raises well-being $(5,3214^{***})$. Examples of the various other control parameters with strong influence include being an agricultural household $(-4,4098^{***})$ or having limited access to infrastructure $(-4,2752^{***})$ and unemployment $(-4,2015^{***})$ prior to the CEN. Two controls without statistically significance are unemployment prior to the disaster and having household members with disabilities.

7.4 Discussion

In this chapter, I interpret the empirical results of the *Costa* case study and situate them in the broader literature. The focus is on the key mechanisms of action and structural conditions that have influenced the observed hazard-(im)mobility dynamics and resultant well-being effects.

7.4.1 Hazard-(Im)mobility Links and Pathways

The abrupt floods during the 2017 CEN acutely forced farmers from LP and UP who lacked previous migration aspirations to flee. The qualitative data from Piura suggest that because the floods constituted a largely uniform, rapid, and critical push to move, migration capabilities were tangential at first. Yet, the quantitative data offer a more nuanced view of differential displacement risk across Peru. Clearly, higher exposure to the disaster strongly increased displacement risk. Both pluvial and fluvial flooding raised the displacement risk, since rainfall intensities and the proximity to inland water bodies (thus the possible excess of water) as well as the elevation range in the districts (thus slopes for possible floods and mudslides) had significant effects. Other studies confirm that hydrogeographical features have contributed to people's exposure to the CEN in Peru (French & Mechler 2017). Therefore, spatial disaster risk analysis is imperative to understand and address related displacement risk. Peru has done first steps in the direction of such spatial analyses (SINAGERD et al. 2014), but the data requires updates and should also account for the associated displacement risk. However, the regressions also reveal that not all the exposed people faced the same risk of being displaced; rather, this risk was greatly influenced by their social vulnerability to flood impacts.

First, the threat of being displaced due to CEN impacts was high for people living in poorly protected shelter. The Peruvian state recognizes that deficient housing is a major cause of disaster vulnerability in the country (SINAGERD et al. 2014). Four out of five houses in Peru are self-constructed, with limited oversight or control of building codes (Calderón et al. 2015).³⁰ As a result, precarious housing with poor materials is widespread. In cities, over one third of dwellers lived in slums in 2014 (World Bank 2019), and informal settlements have grown threefold between 1993 and 2012 (Calderón et al. 2015). The expansion of informal settlements continues and is accompanied by plot trading and challenges such as clientelist state behavior and unequal access to opportunities. Although the vulnerability of informal settlements in Peru is known, it remains unattended (French & Mechler 2017). This analysis stresses the need to improve housing quality in disaster-exposed areas to reduce displacement risk. Conversely, the regression results emphasize that owning property with a title strongly reduced displacement risk, as did renting or living with family, albeit to a lesser extent. A possible interpretation is that homeowners with a title have more income which allows them to protect their houses better from hazards. Furthermore, they might be more likely to live in legal settlements in more affluent neighborhoods with better infrastructure, DRR/DRM, governance, and access to social programs.³¹ In the same way, people who rent or live with family may dwell in more resilient conditions than those without a title. Consequently, addressing the widespread tenure insecurity in Peru (Calderón et al. 2015; Prindex 2022) may help reduce disaster displacement risk.

Moreover, farmers were at higher risk of displacement than those in other economic sectors. One explanation could be that many smallholders and subsistence farmers have undiversified income sources and depend on ecosystem services and livelihood assets close to their homes that disasters tend to disrupt for long. Numerous poor farmers also lack buffering capacities to cope with shocks. In Peru, this lack of access to financial mechanisms for self-protection is a major cause of disaster vulnerability (SINAGERD et al. 2014) and, by extension, of displacement risk. Farmers also tend to depend on water for irrigation and might therefore have lived close to water sources that are prone to spill over during heavy rainfalls and damage people's homes as a result. The substantial displacement risk of farmers should concern policymakers because around 30% of the Peruvian labor force works in agriculture (World Bank 2019), a share that is considerably higher in rural areas. 97% of these agricultural jobs were informal in

³⁰ The insights from other studies referenced in this and the following paragraphs draw in part on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

³¹ Another hypothesis which cannot be assessed with the applied data is that homeowners might also have decided to stay longer due to higher place attachment, for example, to protect their assets.

2014 and lacked proper social security (CEPLAN 2016), which can raise susceptibility to disasters and displacement. Related, the regressions indicate that living in small rural villages increased displacement risk. Most farmers in Peru live in the countryside. Peru's rural areas are generally poorer and more deeply deprived, and they have worse infrastructure and DRR/DRM systems in place than its cities. An estimated 46% of rural residents were below the national poverty line in 2014 compared to 15% of the urban population, and the poverty gap for the rural poor was on average 14% below this line, but only 3% for the urban poor (World Bank 2019). As a result, the risk of displacement is considerably higher in rural than in urban areas. Even so, urban displacement risk can also be high, especially in marginalized neighborhoods (IDMC 2021c).

Finally, various intersectional social factors-such as being a household headed by a single parent, having limited education, having household members with disabilities, or having young children-made displacement more likely. Other studies have also demonstrated that intersectional factors strongly influence the climate adaptation options available to people in Peru (Erwin et al. 2021). These findings can be interpreted in two ways. First, due to systematic marginalization and resulting disadvantages in Peru (Sanborn 2012), these social factors may deprive people of basic resources required for protection against disasters, such as resilient shelter. Second, all the variables above, and particularly lower education levels, probably also correlate with having less income, buffering capacities, and resources for fleeing. Displacement is generally more associated with fast- than with slow-onset hazards (Koubi et al. 2016; Zickgraf 2021), but when hazards hit fast and hard, vulnerable households may be unable to evacuate out of harm's way (Boas et al. 2020).³² Finally, the analysis indicates that households with more male members were more likely to be displaced. Data corroborates that the probability of flight is usually higher for men than for women in other contexts as well (Aksoy & Poutvaara 2019). Some studies suggest that households with more women may be better prepared for disasters, but the literature is inconclusive on this question (Alam & Rahman 2017; Ashraf & Azad 2015; Bronfman et al. 2019; Castañeda et al. 2020; Sharma et al. 2015). An alternative explanation, but outside of this framework, is that attitudes toward risk-taking behavior, such as flight, might have differed during the disaster depending on people's sex. Another possible explanation could be that social

³² A third hypothesis, which cannot be examined through the data, is that households with atrisk members might have had to move fast to seek assistance and protection and, as a result, were less likely to remain in their damaged homes.

norms or sex-specific discrimination in learning, for example concerning swimming, could have trapped more women than men in damaged buildings (Rigaud et al. 2018). A different possibility is that caregiving norms may have forced women to stay with and assist at-risk family members (Ariyabandu 2009; Valdés 2009). Taken together, these findings on displacement risk related to intersectional social factors underscore the need to address systematic disadvantages in highly unequal societies such as Peru to lower disaster displacement risk. In addition, the findings call on humanitarian actors to prepare for the fact that people displaced by disasters can include a high share of persons in vulnerable situations due to certain social factors that do not only make displacement more likely but also increase post-disaster vulnerability. These results contradict another seminal study which finds that selectivity of migration may be limited in sudden-onset disasters; the displacement observed in that study was not predicted by age, education, sex, or socioeconomic status (Gray et al. 2014), although these factors are usually seen as influencing vulnerability to hazards (Cutter et al. 2003; Cutter et al. 2010; Cutter et al. 2014). By contrast, the statistical analysis herein indicates that certain social factors do raise displacement risk. This finding is in line with other papers which observe that (im)mobility in disasters is differentiated by various population characteristics (Black et al. 2013; Boas et al. 2020). Consequently, these factors may provide entry points for policy and planning to reduce displacement risk in future El Niño events in Peru. For example, improving education would support development and simultaneously decrease vulnerabilities to disasters and displacement. Education reduces disaster vulnerability regarding preparedness and response because it improves skills, knowledge, information, and resources to handle disasters, shapes risk perceptions, and supports wealth and health (Muttarak & Lutz 2014).

In summary, the statistical analyses underline that displacement risk was substantially driven by poor shelter and tenure insecurity; undiversified and vulnerable agricultural livelihoods located in deprived rural zones; physical disaster exposure; and intersectional social factors that reduced coping capacities and increased humanitarian needs. These detected factors could also inform recent efforts by international organizations to develop indicators for monitoring disaster displacement and ensuing risks (Guadagno & Yonetani 2022; IOM & IDMC 2022). The indicators are intended to feed into disaster-related assessment and monitoring processes. Beyond, these efforts to develop risk indicators should also consider other commonly applied disaster vulnerability metrics, such as social (e.g. social networks), institutional (e.g. local disaster training), or community capitals (e.g. community cohesion) (Berkes & Ross 2013; Cutter et al. 2014; Cutter & Finch 2008; Kim et al. 2018; Norris et al. 2008; Sherrieb et al. 2010), which this study could not explore due to a lack of available data.

The qualitative data from Piura reveals more details about the displacement trajectories. Most interviewees fled fast, over short distances, and for survival under strong constraining structural conditions. Subsequent settling was dispersed in UP, where people lived in public buildings, in tents, or with relatives, which stresses the need to address urban and non-camp displacement in Peru and worldwide (IDMC 2021c; UNHCR 2014). These migrants fled for a short duration and had mostly returned to their original land by the time of the interviews, which underlines the need to investigate micro-mobilities, an issue for which data is still limited and that remains unattended by policy and donors (Safra de Campos et al. 2017; Safra de Campos et al. 2020). Conversely, in LP, most people were displaced to nearby camps in the barren desert for a long period because their villages of origin remained devastated, which echoes global findings that displacement often implies prolonged challenges (Crawford et al. 2015; Devictor 2019). Most displaced persons in the camps intended to stay permanently out of fear of future floods. Nonetheless, they have kept translocal connections and occasionally dual residencies for educational and livelihood needs, which provides evidence that translocality approaches are needed in this field of study (Peth & Sakdapolrak 2020). Furthermore, the findings reinforce global calls to assess secondary displacement risk, cumulative shocks, and how more frequent climate impacts may influence patterns of recurrent displacement (Blocher et al. 2021b): in both LP and UP, many displaced persons had been previously displaced by earlier El Niño events, while several others had originally migrated to Piura due to climate impacts in the highlands, but then been forced to leave again by the CEN impacts. In addition to the large-scale, short-distance displacement analyzed in the qualitative data, other studies and anecdotal interview evidence point to limited, larger-distance moves driven by the CEN floods, which validates the global finding that vulnerability and mobility are often inversely related (Adger et al. 2014). Beyond abrupt El Niños, gradual processes such as warming and droughts have also shaped migration in Piura through complex effects, which points to the understudied intricacies of compounding effects of slow- and sudden onset hazards (IOM 2020).

7.4.2 Well-Being Effects, Structural Conditions, and Mechanisms

The statistical analyses demonstrate consistently that displacement negatively affected people's well-being one and seven months after the disaster. Displacement greatly reduced well-being in statistically significant ways in all models, including in those controlling for environmental and socioeconomic parameters at the household and individual level. In the best-fit model with a sample of 162,331 affected adults, displacement led to an average 3.14-point loss on the well-being index that ranges from 0 to 100. The data reveals that displacement strongly deteriorated people's *space to live* (including housing quality, tenure security, and basic services) and *development from a secure base* (based on the applied employment and health indicators) around half a year after the disaster.

While the quantitative analysis thus substantiates the short- and medium-term losses that the displaced persons experienced,³³ longer-term effects cannot be deduced from the data. The broader literature is also limited on this question but suggests that intersectional social factors influence the outcomes. In one of the few available studies, education was not predictive of post-traumatic stress one year after a disaster, but higher educated individuals had better housing, smaller declines in spending and consumption, and better psycho-social health four years later (Frankenberg et al. 2013). Similarly, several empirical studies in a special issue (Muttarak & Lutz 2014) confirm that people with higher education suffered lower loss and damage and could recover more swiftly after disasters than others. Future work could expand the analysis here and discern the determinants of recovery for displaced persons after the CEN in Peru to verify if intersectional factors also influenced their results over the longer term. For the development of the well-being effects up to one and a half years after the disaster (around one year later than the survey data), the primary qualitative data collected for this dissertation provided additional insights. These insights, including into a range of well-being metrics and mechanisms that were unavailable in the used datasets, are contextualized in the literature below.

7.4.2.1 Development from a Secure Base

The qualitative data demonstrates that the respondents often remained impoverished after they had lost their agricultural livelihoods, as seen in other studies of

³³ As discussed in the limitations in section 3.2.2, the data does not allow to distinguish if the displaced people remained in displacement or were able to return with the analyzed period. Thus, it is unclear if displacement itself has an impact regardless of the time spent away from home or if short periods of displacement affect well-being even after months.

the 2017 CEN (IOM 2017c, 2018) and previous El Niños (Oft 2010; Sperling et al. 2008). Several mechanisms contributed to the severe economic losses of the displaced persons First, previous levels of livelihood diversification had been low, and as most farmers had depended entirely on farming or day labor, flood damage to their small farms was difficult to buffer. Second, displaced persons had often engaged in livelihood activities that were difficult to recover. It took long before they could plant and harvest crops or raise animals again for consumable or marketable outputs. Third, many respondents lacked savings or lost livestock in the floods, which hindered reinvestments. Fourth, few of the subsistence farmers disposed of skills transferable to job markets less affected by the floods, such as those in cities. Fifth, the effects of livelihood erosion were significantly moderated by the demand for day labor by agribusinesses in areas surrounding LP that were spared flood damage. However, this buffer was inaccessible for older adults in LP and not available to the same extent in UP. Sixth, household composition shaped the economic effects; the more healthy members at working age a household was composed of, the better it could pool income options for recovery. Finally, economic consequences were aggravated by alleged corruption and lack of humanitarian assistance by the state, and basic service gaps have impeded livelihood recovery. Conversely, help by NGOs or private actors, and mutual community support, slightly mediated economic damages.

Other studies also confirm the result that the 2017 CEN severely harmed people's health. It damaged infrastructure (French et al. 2020); on-site health services in camps remained limited; mental health issues were widespread; infectious diseases abounded; and many of the displaced depended on gradually more irregular food distributions (Espinoza-Neyra et al. 2017, 2018; IOM 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2018). This study provides detailed insights into the mechanisms underlying these impacts. First, the floods destroyed health facilities and created lasting risks from new diseases. Second, in the camps, displaced persons suffered from more hazard exposure while living in substandard shelter with poorer protection. Third, flood damages and livelihood erosion, combined with a lack of savings or credit, hindered access to medicine or health services and raised food insecurity. The displaced also lacked psychosocial care options. The health risks were most salient for those with vulnerabilities relating to age, sex, and physical ability. Fourth, the lack of land titles in the camps further impeded access to social programs that could have enhanced health. Fifth, NGO support could only partially buffer the gaps of state presence, and their services dwindled over time with rising donor fatigue.

Similarly, prior work corroborates the finding that El Niño-induced damages and hardship tend to worsen educational opportunities (French et al. 2020; Sperling et al. 2008). In the 2017 CEN specifically, a large number of children were displaced and faced educational challenges (IOM 2018). The analysis here demonstrated that several mechanisms worsened their educational opportunities. First, flood damages damaged educational infrastructure and external assistance was insufficient for people's needs during the prolonged displacement. Second, flood-impoverished families struggled to pay school fees or had to withdrew children for work. Third, physically accessing educational facilities resulted difficult due to the larger distances, strenuous trajectories, and costly passages. Finally, pupils struggled to study and learn due to the exhausting physical access, trauma, stress, anxiety, food insecurity, and the lack of light for homework.

Altogether, the findings therefore re-emphasize the concerns from the review in chapter 4 that pre-movement vulnerabilities set the limits for people's *development from a secure base*, and that those most affected by severe hazards, and moving under *survival* conditions, have the highest risk to suffer losses (e.g. Afifi et al. 2016). This study also reinforces the result of the review that livelihood, health, and educational risks can persist for long after displacement, especially if external assistance is insufficient (e.g. Bruijn 2009; Cazabat 2020; Crawford et al. 2015; UNESCO 2020).

7.4.2.2 A Space to Live Better

Many of the displaced had consciously lived in flood-exposed areas because of livelihood and land needs or choices. In a vicious circle, they have struggled to repair or rebuild flooded homes at high costs close to every 15 years, which has often left them less prepared for future floods, as witnessed in the CEN. After the CEN, their prospects for recovery were poor for various reasons. First, few displaced persons had resources to reconstruct in a safe and adequate way. In LP, they settled in barren desert spaces too small for their needs and felt dissatisfied with their new setting. In UP, they returned to their familiar but damaged homes, and rued the destruction of their fields and missed the work there. Second, external assistance for shelter was deficiently funded, unevenly provided, and centered on temporary help instead of long-term development needs of prolonged displacement. Third, similar reasons (including the lack of state presence, corruption, uneven or short-term, unsustainable humanitarian assistance, and donor fatigue or withdrawal) also led to greatly worsening basic services for most of the displaced. In LP, land conflicts were an additional key hindrance for service investments by the state. The deprived displaced persons also lacked money to buy or repair decaying services, and crowded living conditions raised pressure on the weak infrastructure. This work thus echoes prior studies on the 2017 CEN in Peru which identified extensive challenges in housing, infrastructure, and basic services that persisted long after displacement (French et al. 2020; IOM 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2018). This analysis also reinforces the finding from the broader literature that the definitive losses suffered by displaced persons, their disenfranchised societal positions, and the lack of external help often impede recovery (e.g. World Bank 2017b).

Changes in the exposure to hazards depended on the availability of unaffected land after the displacement: in LP, people fled to an area safer from floods but exposed to other minor hazards, whereas in UP, they mostly stayed close to or returned to the same exposure. Few displaced persons received support for or could afford to build adequate shelter to protect themselves from future risk. Nonetheless, the cases in LP highlight that even displacement may yield limited gains when it helps people to move out of harm's way, as seen in other areas of Peru (Jarman 2020). Conversely, returning may be desired for many reasons but can also mean a return to the same hazard exposure, as seen in UP. These findings echo global concerns that climate migration can bring safety from initial hazards, but also create new exposure (e.g. Adger et al. 2014), especially because migrants often settle in high-risk zones and are unaware of hazards (for Peru, see e.g. Rubiños & Anderies 2020).

Finally, two factors substantially contributed to physical insecurity. First, the absence of security personnel created conditions conducive to violence and crime during the floods and throughout the prolonged displacement. Patrols selforganized by the displaced buffered this insecurity moderately. Second, land conflicts with the private landowner in LP also raised violent tensions, which negotiations could partly offset with time. The review in chapter 4 confirms that insecurity is common in climate migration (Melde et al. 2017), especially for women (Fleury 2016), after disasters, and during displacement (e.g. McMichael et al. 2012). Prior studies specifically on the CEN 2017 also echo the insecurity reported here, and indicate that the lack of security provisions, secure lighting, or safe spaces for children and women in camps amplified risks (IOM 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2018). Contrary to the women interviewed in this study, IOM (2017b) also observed gender-based violence in the camps, especially where infrastructure such as public light and shelter was deficient. However, the answers in the study here may represent sample bias or relate to the interview situation, social taboos, fear of over-disclosure (Reczek 2014), or a normalization of violence.

7.4.2.3 Social Relatedness

Social relatedness remained good due to several mechanisms. First, communities had had strong social ties before displacement and because they preserved a similar spatial dispersion after settling in camps (in LP), or stayed in their villages (UP), they were able to maintain these bonds. Second, pre-existing mutual support systems as part of local traditions, such as communal tasks and food sharing, contributed to good relations. Third, people's capacity to self-organize and the availability of capable community leaders were essential to channel social life and structure support. After displacement due to the CEN, this social capital was a key asset for coping and recovery, as witnessed by other studies in Peru, especially where people felt abandoned by authorities (Moncada et al. 2018; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). Although prolonged absences of family members did put pressure on social structures in some cases, this study thus contradicts the global finding that displacement often threatens *social relatedness* (e.g. Schwerdtle et al. 2020; World Bank 2017b).

7.4.2.4 SWB

How displaced persons appraised their new lives emotionally and cognitively depended on various factors. A first key variable was the severity of experienced flood losses and perceived recovery options. Many suffered greatly; sadness, pain, helplessness, anxiety, fear, and trauma were salient especially at the beginning of displacement but persisted or were (re-)produced over the arduous recovery. Second, respondents also reported subjective ill-being because they felt inadequately cared for or supported by external actors, which evoked feelings of anger, disappointment, frustration, injustice, and disgrace. Third, the lack of professional support for coping with negative experiences also worsened SWB. Fourth, personal coping mechanisms, including humor and religious faith, provided limited buffer. Fifth, social networks offered support and care that helped many households, but such networks were heavily missed when migration separated household members. The study thus adds to and echoes the limited evidence of present SWB after forced migration. Prior studies also find that SWB losses in displacement result from the lack of preparedness and the forced conditions of moving; scarring effects before and after moving; and intersectional vulnerabilities to emotional, social, and health risks of moving (e.g. Bartram 2015; Luhmann et al. 2012). The analysis here focuses on the internal standards of the displaced respondents (pre- vs. post-movement). Relative deprivation related to stayers or locals-another key strain on SWB identified in the literature (e.g. Chen et al. 2019)-is unlikely in Piura, since most respondents were similarly affected, almost no one stayed in the source areas, and destination zones lacked

pre-defined host communities. Finally, the cross-sectional design makes it difficult to assess if hedonic adaptation has occurred. However, the data collected 20 months after the floods emphasized that people still suffered from a large SWB decline. The wider literature also suggests that *scarring* can lastingly reduce SWB (e.g. Kettlewell et al. 2020; Luhmann et al. 2012; Mousteri et al. 2018), which seems likely here due to the unemployment, financial losses, and health shocks caused by the CEN. Other qualitative studies on the CEN also report persistent suffering and despair after the disaster (Moncada et al. 2018).

Almost no displaced persons held neutral views of the future, and many expressed hopelessness as they suffered from combined, large well-being stressors. Such despair may further deepen perceptions of vulnerability and block action or engagement (e.g. Schueller & Seligman 2011). Most but not all of the mechanisms identified in the reviewed literature reduced hope (Edey & Jevne 2003; Snyder 2002). Especially experiences of trauma and loss as well as lack of control and progress (such as related to weak governance, economic hardship, and tenure insecurities) raised despair in Piura. Conversely, alienation or a lack of social connections were not observable. Religious faith was one key contributor to hope and consolation, as known from other contexts (e.g. Lim et al. 2019), but faith also evoked feelings of guilt, regret, and surrender in some cases, an effect still understudied. Other people nourished hope thanks to trust in their individual capabilities, solidarity in their communities, and a belief that external actors would support them. The social narrative that progressing was possible (salir adelante) created optimism for many migrants, and such optimism can be a key motivator of further productive action (Forgeard & Seligman 2012). However, given the factual hurdles, such optimism seemed unrealistic and self-deceiving in some cases, and such forms of illusionary hope can be detrimental (Turner 2017). Finally, many of the displaced persons held mixed sentiments toward the future, confirming the need to consider outlooks on the future as layered, as the review in chapter 4 suggested. For example, faith in god and patience regarding recovery would mix with pessimism and anxiety regarding future floods in some cases, similar as in a study of climate migration in the Pacific (Yates et al. 2021). Overall, because SWB is key for effective functioning, displaced persons' decline of present SWB and their challenged views of the future can pose cascading threats for other OWB dimensions (e.g. Carver & Scheier 2014; Diener et al. 2018b).

7.5 Summary and Induction of Propositions

In this section, I first briefly recap the observed well-being dynamics, mechanisms of action, and structural conditions in this case of displacement (*forced, acute* migration) under *survival* conditions. After that, I induce broader propositions on the potential well-being implications of climate migration.

Figure 7.14 provides a visual summary of the identified well-being effects, relevant structural conditions, and mechanisms of action. It illustrates that displacement occurred under high structural constraints, including severe climate risks and deficient DRR/DRM; poverty and inequality; limited livelihood options; tenure insecurity; poor and hardly accessible basic services; weak governance; and limited political participation. Various of the adverse structural conditions identified through the qualitative analysis as influential drivers of well-being were confirmed by the complementary statistical analyses. Conversely, structural opportunities were low, such as the influence of non-state actors. As a result, the severe and abrupt CEN floods caused forced, survival migration with detrimental conditions for moving and settling. Throughout the lifecycle of displacement, people suffered extreme losses, which continued to worsen their prospects for development from a secure base and a space to live better. Conversely, social relatedness remained similar after moving. Because displacement has become prolonged without substantial improvements, people's need fulfillment, long-term asset base, and capacities for climate adaptation have worsened. Consequently, most displaced persons evaluated their need fulfillment as negative (deprivation), and only few experienced partial positive feelings or cognitive satisfaction despite their plight (*adjustment*).³⁴ Expectations for the future were mostly negative and resulted in prevalent enforced fear as well as some fragile adjustment. The light gray boxes in the figure summarize key conditions and well-being mechanisms which may also be influential in other contexts.

Based on the findings in this case of *survival* displacement (*forced*, *acute* migration) by Peru's coast, one can derive more general propositions on the well-being impacts of climate migration.

(1) First, the results stress that in the constraining structures of societies with weak governance, ineffective DRR/DRM, insecure tenure, and undiversified subsistence farming with minimal margins, sudden-onset hazard displacement

³⁴ For terminology, see section 2.3. *Deprivation* refers to adverse objective conditions accompanied by low cognitive satisfaction and negative emotional balance. *Adjustment* is subjective well-being despite adverse objective conditions.



can greatly reduce people's agency and prospects for *development from a secure base*. When effective DRR/DRM is unavailable, repeated displacement may be the only way to safe one's life. When such forced, *acute* migration becomes prolonged or protracted without an avenue for self-reliance, it is likely to worsen people's long-term asset base and capacities for climate adaptation in dangerous areas. Women, minors, older adults, and those with health limitations are at especially high risk of losing resources.

- (2) Second, climate change also increases the risk that poor farmers who need to carve out a precarious living in areas exposed to recurring, abrupt hazards can suffer from cumulative shocks, whose destructions diminish their chances to obtain *a space to live better*. After displacement, farmers' losses, insecure asset base, the lack of land and housing titles, along with neglect by authorities, can force them into vicious circles of inadequate housing, deficient access to basic infrastructure, and perennial insecurity.
- (3) Third, strong community bonds and traditions, self-organization capacities, and neighborhood continuity can create conditions that shield displaced groups from some of the possible harm. Where these factors exist, *social relatedness* may be preserved.
- (4) Finally, the results suggest that the SWB of forced, survival climate migrants is at risk. Profound losses, arduous recovery, and negative governance experiences make it likely that OWB and SWB losses converge into a present subjective state of *deprivation*. Extreme stress results as the displaced lose resources, or resources (such as farming skills) become devalued or obsolete, and as their goals are obliterated or obstructed after displacement. Subjective adjustment may occur exceptionally when strong social networks combine with personal coping mechanisms such as faith or humor. Whether *deprivation* and adjustment are accompanied by optimism (*precarious hope* or *high adjustment*) or by pessimism regarding the future (*enforced fear* or *fragile adjustment*) depends on the balance between persistent, large stressors and setting-, community-, or person-related resilience factors. The greater the stressors, the more likely more fear than hope for the future. Because despair is likely to be salient in displacement under survival conditions, negative ripple effects on other well-being dimensions are to be expected.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.





Comparative Analysis and Overarching Propositions

In the following comparative analysis, I induce overarching propositions regarding the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities. To increase the validity of the propositions, I use the full empirical evidence base generated from the three case studies. The case studies on the highlands, rainforest, and coastal zone of Peru had similar starting points in terms of the inhabitants' livelihoods, climate vulnerabilities, and exposure. However, they involved varied hazards and (im)mobilities with dissimilar numbers of people and spatiotemporal pathways. Moreover, different structural settings created a wide array of *improvement*, distress, and survival conditions for (im)mobilities. Finally, migratory agency differed across the cases and led to dynamics ranging from more *voluntary* to clearly forced instances of migration or immobility. Table 8.1 contrasts the configurations of the key variables of the conceptual framework devised in chapter 2 in the case studies. By comparing the three different cases, I identify resemblances and divergences regarding the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities and mechanisms of action. I then distill these differences and similarities into propositions that can be applied beyond the contexts studied here and tested in future research.

studies
e case
the
Е.
variables
immobility
and
migration
Key
able 8.1
۳,

	Sierra	Selva	Costa
Source area	Lima Region	San Martín Region	Piura Region (for QUAL analysis); all of Peru (for quant analysis)
Severity and speed of hazards precipitating migration	<i>Gradual</i> hazards, developing over decades: rainfall changes as well as ongoing (V1) and complete (V2) glacier retreat	<i>Abrupt</i> hazards: major, severe fluvial floods over several days in 1963/99 in V3 and in 1977/ 2015 in V4; additionally damaging but manageable annual floods in V4	<i>Abrupt</i> hazards: severe fluvial and pluvial floods over various days during the 2017 Coastal El Niño event
Migration drivers	Water scarcity emerging as driver in V1 and a cause of exodus in V2, in interaction with socioeconomic, educational, and lifestyle factors	Flooding as abrupt and critical push for initial short-term displacement, as well as subsequent relocation requests and immobility	Flooding as abrupt and critical push for prolonged displacement
Acuteness of migration	Anticipatory/proactive (V1), increasingly acute/reactive (V2)	Acute/reactive	Acute/reactive
Agency (aspirations, capabilities)	Limited but sufficient migration capabilities + mixed aspirations → more voluntary to increasingly forced migration; stayers partially voluntarily (V1), acquiescently or forcibly immobile (V2)	Low to average migration capabilities $+$ high aspirations \rightarrow V3 eventually completed <i>voluntary</i> relocation after years of <i>forced</i> immobility, V4 in protracted <i>forced</i> immobility	Low migration capabilities + low aspirations \rightarrow <i>forced</i> migration
			(continue

~			
	Sierra	Selva	Costa
Structural conditions for staying or moving and settling	Average constraints $+$ average to low opportunities \rightarrow migration and immobility on a continuum between <i>improvement</i> and <i>distress</i> conditions	High constraints + low to average opportunities \rightarrow immobility and relocation under <i>distress</i> conditions	High constraints + low opportunities \rightarrow migration under <i>survival</i> conditions
Entities moving or staying	Individuals and households moving (younger, wealthier, male groups first); mostly older adults (primarily women) staying	Two entire communities aspiring to relocate but forced to stay; one still in protracted <i>forced</i> immobility (V4), one eventually relocated (V3)	Many families (UP) and entire communities (LP) migrating
Trajectories and destinations	Over long distances, from rural to urban areas (to Lima >300 km and Huancayo >100 km), mostly direct but some stepped migration; mainly to city peripheries; generally permanent	Initially short-distance, short-interval forced migration followed by return; protracted, stalled (V4) and completed permanent relocation (V3) over a short distance to direct vicinity (<1 km); uninhabited, agricultural land	Over short distances (mostly <20 km); to camps on uninhabited agricultural lands (LP) or to public buildings and relatives (UP); mostly permanent, dual residencies common, few complete returns (LP) or return common (UP)
Translocal ties	Stronger ties for V1 than for V2 (less remote, more mobile reception, more stayers); mostly sociocultural links, limited financial remittances; fewer returns than previously; active urban hometown associations	None, since entire village relocated (V3) or whole community trapped (V4)	In LP, several dual residencies to work in fields close to old sites; sending children to unaffected schools back home; visiting the ruined homes for nostalgic reasons

 Table 8.1
 (continued)

8.1 Well-being Impacts

In the subsequent descriptive analysis, I contrast the net well-being impacts in the three case studies, compare the results within and across the four well-being axes, and explain how the effects evolved.

First, the studied (im)mobilities led to a range of total well-being outcomes, with more net-negative than net-positive results on average. Building on the case studies and other work (Bonanno et al. 2011; Seebauer & Winkler 2020a), I classified and located all the results on a spectrum of five well-being Ideal types (Figure 8.1). Most severely harmed were the *survival* migrants after the Coastal El Niño and the trapped farmers in the Sierra, who had completely lost their glacial meltwater; these villagers suffered a tailspin into severe ill-being. Achieving mainly negative but marginally better results than these two groups were most migrants from the Sierra and the trapped farmers in the Selva (V4), who were deadlocked in a worsening state of life. Many stayers in the Sierra village affected by mid-stage glacier retreat displayed well-being levels between *deterioration* and stagnancy. Similar to this group, but on the more positive side of the spectrum, were the Selva farmers who were eventually relocated and fared between stagnancy or return to baseline and fragile advances. Finally, a few migrants from the Sierra who had moved under comparatively better conditions experienced incremental but fragile advances in well-being. No group reached eventual, genuine well-being.



Figure 8.1 Spectrum of well-being Ideal types and outcomes of studied groups. (Note: Created by the author)

Second, these net totals should not conceal the multilayered nature of people's well-being outcomes. The heatmap in Figure 8.2 tabulates the qualitative results of chapters 5–7 and portrays the well-being impacts observed across the analyzed groups. In chapter 7, the statistical analyses corroborated the qualitative results for those well-being dimensions for which data was available.



Figure 8.2 Heatmap of well-being outcomes. (Note: Qualitative results were ranked on a scale from 1 (negative) to 9 (positive) and then color coded. Created by the author)

The heatmap illustrates that obtaining *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better* were challenging for most groups. Since these first two objective well-being (OWB) components mostly changed in similar directions (despite

important exceptions in one or two sub-variables, such as safety from hazards), it seems that bidirectional effects existed between them. For example, migrants who lacked income were also less likely to be able to fulfill other needs such as housing; simultaneously, a lack of basic services such as water or sanitation hindered livelihood, health, and educational advances. Overall, the best outcomes were achieved in social relatedness, which proved neutral to positive for most groups and did not worsen even in severely adverse settings. While social ties contributed to OWB and subjective well-being (SWB), for example by buffering losses, they remained remarkably unaffected by changes in the other two OWB axes, which points to partially separate mechanisms of action. Finally, SWB mainly changed in a direction similar to OWB, and, accordingly, most groups' SWB tended to decline. It seems that development from a secure base and a space to live better had a joint strong impact on SWB, while social relatedness had moderating effects. However, because some migrants had worse SWB results than key OWB variables would predict and vice versa, it is critical to measure both OWB and SWB. To conclude, most well-being impacts converged within and across the studied axes for the various groups, but a small number of significant divergences were observed. Figure 8.3 summarizes these possible directions of interactions between the well-being axes.



Figure 8.3 Approximate directions of interactions between well-being components. (Note: Created by the author)

Third, the varied (im)mobilities had different well-being impacts over time. To begin with, the time required to initiate migration after the onset of the hazard heavily affected well-being. If people desired but were unable to move, they were forced to remain in unsafe zones where they suffered further OWB losses, while the realization that desired movement was unattainable also reduced their SWB. For most farmers who succeeded in moving, the early phase of settlement was challenging due to prior loss and damage, the costly transitions to new sites, and the need to build a new life. The start was most difficult when structural conditions such as governance or tenure systems were unfavorable. Although most migrants underwent an initial OWB decline after moving, their paths diverged over time. Nearly all migrants' OWB improved relative to their levels at the taxing start of the process, but the extent of improvement varied. Short-term gains were related to finding ad-hoc solutions to the numerous new demands faced after moving and reaping the initial rewards of hard work and sacrifice. Longer-term improvements, however, required either resources with transformative potential, such as investments in education and the fruits of improving social networks, or beneficial events, such as the receipt of external assistance or the granting of land titles. Conversely, a longer duration of stay threatened to reproduce or exacerbate vulnerabilities, especially for the many people who were subjected to adverse structural conditions and had limited baseline resources. Finally, while (im)mobilities caused a persistent shift in some people's SWB, several others achieved partial hedonic adaptation to their new situations over time. Such cognitive and emotional adaptation was even observed for several forced migrants who had an expectedly high resistance to moving.

In summary, the well-being impacts in the three cases analyzed can be grouped together in three characteristic temporal trajectories across seven phases of (im)mobilities (Figure 8.4).¹ The first path led survival migrants on the *Costa* and trapped people in the *Sierra* into a *tailspin into severe ill-being* with almost no possibility of improvement. The second path created a *deadlock in a worsening state of life* for most migrants from the *Sierra* and the trapped people in the *Selva*, while the voluntary stayers in the *Sierra* risked ending up on this path as well. Finally, a few of the *Sierra* migrants and *Selva* relocatees reached *incremental fragile advances* in well-being. Because of these improvements, the direction of future change was less predetermined for this third pathway than for the other two.

¹ Note that the seven phases identified here should not suggest that (im)mobilities and related well-being changes occurred linearly. Rather, structural and individual challenges or opportunities frequently lead to fragmented journeys as well as strong well-being vacillations over time.



Figure 8.4 Three characteristic well-being trajectories of climate (im)mobilities over time. (Note: Created by the author)

8.2 Conditions and Mechanisms Shaping Well-being

This study aimed not only to identify the well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities but also to explain what contributed to, enabled, or produced them. Viewed comparatively, the Peruvian case studies highlight the importance of three major aspects that shape well-being across the lifecycles of (im)mobilities, as visualized in Figure 8.5. The most dominant influence was (a) the (un)favorability of structural conditions, followed by (b) the nature and impacts of hazards. Finally, there were (c) moderating effects of people's level of agency, namely their migratory aspirations and capabilities as well as the additional resources required to settle or stay. Below, I discuss how these three elements were configured in the case studies and the ways in which they influenced the results. (As noted above, there were also feedback effects between the different axes of well-being, with a stronger effect of objective on subjective dimensions than vice versa; these effects are not discussed again).



Figure 8.5 Major influences on well-being changes. (Note: Created by the author)

8.2.1 Structural Conditions

First and foremost, the boundaries of migrants' and stayers' actions and wellbeing paths were strongly determined by manifest structural conditions at varying levels, such as institutions, policies, customs, norms, networks, and social stratification, as well as people's socialization into these structures. The analysis below highlights that structural constraints considerably outweighed structural opportunities in most cases, which frequently promoted ill-being (Figure 8.6).



Figure 8.6 Structural constraints and limited opportunities strongly influence well-being paths. (Note: Created by the author)

In all cases, various structural constraints significantly reduced people's opportunities to be well. The studied agricultural communities were structurally disadvantaged in three ways: they were heavily exposed to climate hazards due to global emissions, while local rural-urban development divides and weak governance reduced their ability to manage these climate threats in ways that would

preserve well-being. To begin with, the affected people were systematically disadvantaged because they had to cope with climate hazards emerging from global emissions to which they had made a negligible contribution. Furthermore, as undiversified subsistence farmers, they operated with minimal margins and had seriously limited capacity to cope with the increasing climate impacts. In Peru, 80% of farmers depend on informal subsistence livelihoods, and many of these farmers are vulnerable to food insecurity and income shocks (CEPLAN 2016; WFP & CENEPRED 2015; World Bank 2019). In 2014, people in rural areas in Peru were three times more likely to live below the national poverty line than urban residents, and their poverty was more profound (World Bank 2019, 2021c). In addition, since most farmers lived in remote areas in a centralized state that did not prioritize rural areas, they tended to be disenfranchised and subjected to weak governance. As a result, a lack of administrative resources, the absence of rule of law, and insufficient quality and continuity of state assistance further hindered effective local climate adaptation and disaster risk reduction and management (DRR/DRM). Spatial insularity also constrained people's prospects for well-being in other ways; for example, poor mobile reception and transportation options reduced the ability of the trapped people in the Sierra to maintain contact with migrated peers. These structural deficits in development, climate adaptation and DRR/DRM, and governance heightened the risk of entrapment or movement under distress or survival conditions, which typically reduced wellbeing. For example, inhabitants of the poor rainforest villages had few options but to request relocation as they lacked the resources needed to adapt in place and the government did not invest in local DRR/DRM. Later, weak governance and bureaucratic failures left them trapped in risk zones for years, which further worsened their well-being. Already marginalized people had few chances to escape such disenfranchisement; when they migrated, state neglect was mostly reproduced and occasionally reinforced across space, regardless of whether farmers moved to nearby uninhabited zones or faraway settlements. For example, weak governance and a lack of administrative resources constrained the development opportunities and climate adaptation options for the farmers in the Sierra village who were deprived of glacial meltwater, and similar structural factors continued to limit their room to maneuver after they were forced to migrate to Lima and Huancayo. In the cities, weak urban governance and state neglect curbed these migrants' ability to access adequate public services and other requisites for wellbeing.² Furthermore, structural ripple effects of rapid, irregular urban expansion

² Thus, as predicted by segmented assimilation theory (see section 2.2.3), the *hostile* urban *mode of incorporation* strongly reduced migrants' opportunities to raise OWB and SWB.

and population growth worsened migrants' opportunities for well-being as they struggled with oversaturated housing markets alongside largely unregulated and informal but highly competitive job markets.³ In addition, rising costs of living threatened to nullify the possible income gains migrants stood to make following their move. Moreover, increasing land scarcity and tenure insecurity challenged the well-being of the urban migrants, who were increasingly forced to settle in irregular, peripheral city zones marked by limited state presence and adverse living conditions. Similar land and tenure issues also reduced people's well-being in the *Selva* and *Costa* cases, where non-state actors further aggravated these factors, for example by increasing land prices or contributing to land conflicts.

Finally, certain individuals and groups faced disproportionately high structural constraints due to systematic marginalization related to intersecting social factors. Across all cases, women, minors, older adults, people with health limitations, and Indígenas tended to be at higher risk than others of a well-being decline when migrating or staying. For example, while most migrants suffered from government neglect, pregnant women, young children, and older adults were affected particularly hard by state failure to facilitate access to social programs and basic services.⁴ Such systematic marginalization due to social factors was widespread: displaced children on the Costa and trapped children in the Selva were disproportionately harmed by restricted health and educational services; older, often-sick, and primarily female adults with limited migration capabilities who ended up trapped in the Sierra village with complete glacier loss struggled to make a living without appropriate state support in the increasingly uninhabitable area; pregnant women in both the prolonged displacement on the Costa and the fragmented, drawn-out relocations in the Selva suffered disproportionately from health challenges due to the degraded health infrastructure and state failure to restore it; migrants from the Sierra with prior health burdens or disabilities faced difficult starting conditions and limited livelihood options in the cities due to inequitable labor market structures and insufficient public services; and, finally, a number of women on the Costa suffered from insecurity after their male partners had migrated, given the lack of security provision by the state. These findings support calls to use intersectional and gender lenses in climate migration studies in ways that also account for structural inequalities (Edwards & Wiseman 2011; Lama et al. 2021). At a minimum, sensitivity to the role of gender is needed:

³ Not all changes were negative. For example, educational offers improved, but for many migrants, they were too costly.

⁴ Remarkably, *Sierra* migrants did not explicitly mention structural discrimination after moving, which is common in Peru' cities, see Barrantes & Busse (2014); Moreno & Oropesa (2012); Sanborn (2012).

half of Peru's population is female and disproportionately affected by structural disadvantages, such as illiteracy and tenure insecurity (Oliver-Smith 2014; UN 2021), and these factors also influence their migratory agency and opportunities for well-being.

In contrast to these significant structural constraints on well-being, structural opportunities had low to average importance. To start with, in all cases, freedom of movement was a fundamental source of support for people's transitions across space; all aspiring migrants with sufficient resources could execute their decisions to move within Peru without facing legal or political limitations. In addition, social networks constituted both key structural opportunities and resources that benefitted well-being in all case studies. For example, strong social support systems helped affected people who were neglected by the state to mitigate their experienced loss and damage to some extent and enabled migrants to decrease the transition costs of their moves. Moreover, non-state actors such as NGOs and private businesses mitigated hardship in several cases but seldom did so entirely. For example, support from NGOs and international organizations after the 2017 Coastal El Niño partially mitigated losses and the negative impacts of the state's insufficient humanitarian assistance. In addition, thriving sectoral job markets contributed structurally to well-being in a few cases. For example, the Selva relocatees gained better road access after moving and could thereby also profit from the general growth in labor demand at the time. While businesses' self-interested demand for labor occasionally coincided with migrants' need to make a living, working conditions were often exploitative, as seen in the Costa case.Finally, there were more marginal or case-specific effects of other structural opportunities, such as digitalization and technology diffusion, which helped the voluntary stayers in the Sierra to maintain contact with the migrants and thus contributed to their well-being.

In summary, a major reason that most migrants' and stayers' well-being outcomes tended to be net-negative was that structural constraints significantly limited their room to maneuver. *Survival* migration or immobility, occurring under high structural constraints and low opportunities, entailed the highest risk of ill-being, while most *distress* (im)mobilities under high constraints and low to average opportunities also reduced well-being. By contrast, some of the rarer cases of *improvement* migration under more favorable structural conditions resulted in fragile well-being advances.⁵

 $^{^{5}}$ *Free* migration, the fourth Ideal type mentioned by de Haas (2021), did not occur in this study.

8.2.2 Nature and Impacts of Hazards

While structural constraints were a dominant influence on people's well-being trajectories, the nature and impacts of hazards also shaped the types and conditions of (im)mobilities that occurred, as well as the resultant well-being paths. Key factors were the speed of hazard onset as well as the severity, irrevocability, and possible accumulations of impacts, and, closely related, the extent to which people could anticipate the climate threats and deal with them. All the case studies validated that subsistence farmers who operated with minimal margins and depended on difficult-to-diversify, ecosystem-based livelihoods were highly vulnerable to cumulative impacts from severe *gradual* and *abrupt* hazards and had limited options for local coping or adaptation, which resulted in well-being threats.

First, abrupt hazards left little time for preparation and caused displacements which challenged well-being, but the extent of the resulting hardships depended on the severity of the hazards. To begin with, moderate annual floods caused temporary displacements in one Selva village and cumulative damage that inhabitants could mostly manage on-site with moderate well-being losses. Conversely, severe abrupt hazards, such as exceptional floods, forced acute survival migration of large groups in the Selva and Costa, and while the initial, short-distance movements saved lives, they had to be implemented rapidly and under unsafe and traumatizing conditions that considerably reduced well-being. On the Costa, people remained displaced for prolonged periods and fell into ill-being due to the experienced losses and the lack of recovery options. While safer from hazards, they heavily depended on self-help and dwindling humanitarian assistance. By contrast, most of the displaced persons in the Selva at first returned to their floodexposed home areas due to place attachment or a shortage of better options; when they decided to leave but lacked the resources necessary to do so, they ended up trapped for years, waiting for relocation. Such entrapment in areas with recurrent abrupt hazards-which often interacted with gradual processes such as warming and rainfall changes-significantly harmed well-being in both the Sierra and Selva. Only those who eventually relocated to a safer area in the Selva years later slightly improved their well-being. This finding highlights the need for durable solutions to prolonged or protracted entrapment.

Second, early- or mid-stage *gradual* hazards, such as extensive glacier loss in water-scarce *Sierra* areas, slowly expanded *anticipatory improvement* migration at first, which had mixed to positive well-being effects. However, as climate impacts accumulated in later stages, there was a change in the resources and conditions required for moving as well as the resultant well-being effects, and the farmers who moved after the meltwater had been completely lost in V2 had on average worse well-being outcomes. The cases suggest that when gradual climate impacts threaten habitability, they can force *acute* migration under *distress* or *survival* conditions similar to that described above for grave *abrupt* hazards. In such cases, migratory feedback mechanisms can lead to gradual settlement abandonment, which also threatens the shrinking population's well-being. While some farmers in the *Sierra* chose to stay and experienced mixed well-being effects (at least before climate impacts and emigration intensified), others whose migration resources eroded became trapped in deprivation.

To summarize, the hazards contributed to varied well-being paths. Nonetheless, parallels emerged between the well-being tracks taken after (a) low-intensity, abrupt impacts and early-stage, gradual impacts as well as between those taken after (b) severe, abrupt impacts and irrevocable, late-stage gradual impacts. The latter type of hazard made ill-being most likely because it caused greater and less repairable loss and damage, while the affected people had the weakest abilities to anticipate and deal with these hazards.

8.2.3 Agency

Finally, although well-being trajectories were primarily defined by structural constraints and the severity of climate impacts, the affected people's limited *agency* also shaped these paths. Building on the framework presented in section 2.3, the analysis confirmed that people's agency depended on (a) their migratory *aspirations* and *capabilities* to move and (b) the additional *resources* required to settle or stay, which were partially influenced by intersecting social factors such as age and sex.

To begin with, migratory *aspirations* shaped well-being paths. Being *forced*⁶ to move tended to reduce well-being most severely, because migrants' unrealizable desire to stay in their homes lowered their readiness to invest in their new lives after moving (*Sierra* V2 and *Costa*). Conversely, *voluntary* (and, in the best case, anticipatory) migrants usually nurtured aspirations that supported their new starts (*Sierra* V1, *Selva* V3). They were eager to profit from the longed-for

⁶ As discussed in section 2.2.2, migration or staying is seldom unambiguously *voluntary* or *forced*. Even seemingly voluntary cases can be connected to financial or social necessities, and even apparently forced instances can have elements of choice. Furthermore, capabilities and aspirations can interact, and such interactions may shape well-being effects, for example, when people who aspire to stay start to direct their resources to improve the local situation and thus are better.

change and dealt with the initial struggles in the hope that future gains would reimburse them. Yet, such high migratory aspirations also made disappointment more likely, since not all expectations could be met, as seen for some *Sierra* migrants. Finally, people who stayed *voluntarily* typically fared better than those who aspired to leave but were unable to do so and ended up *trapped*, as noted below.

The second element influencing well-being outcomes was migratory *capabilities*. Most migrants lacked sufficient resources to be able to move in safety and dignity. For example, several displaced persons in the coastal zone lost close to all their resources in floods; they had to flee rapidly for survival under highly adverse conditions and ended up in a barren desert strip. The additional trauma, insecurity, and losses experienced during these journeys reinforced their later pathways toward ill-being. Conversely, the few people in the case studies with more capabilities were usually able to move earlier and more safely. For example, in the *Selva*, people with savings were the first to relocate to sheltered land and thereby reduced their hazard exposure and improved their well-being. Finally, if people's capabilities were too low to enact an existing desire to leave, their well-being usually declined severely because they were forcibly trapped in situations they wanted or needed to escape.

People required not only migratory capabilities but also further resources to fulfill their needs, pursue their goals, and address demands where they settled or stayed (Ryan et al. 2008). Within the structural constraints that severely limited people's actions, the amount of resources that they possessed created further path dependencies for well-being impacts. For changes in the well-being dimension development from a secure base, key resources included the availability of buffers and resources to cope with shocks, the state of livelihood diversification and recoverability, the transferability of prior skills and access to new skills, as well as health and education baselines. Next, whether people obtained a space to live better depended strongly on the socioeconomic resources they had available to pursue reconstruction after disaster displacement or to settle in secure, legal city zones after migration. Further, people's social relatedness paths were contingent on their baseline embeddedness in their home communities as well as on the number and quality of social entry points or networks in their destination. Finally, personal coping mechanisms and people's tendency toward optimism or pessimism shaped SWB trajectories significantly. Overall, people who had low baseline resources that could not easily be transformed to match their new situations and who struggled to acquire new resources often faced roadblocks, predetermined breaking points, and downward spirals of ill-being. For example, after their villages had been destroyed by floods, migrants on the Costa were

forced to settle in makeshift camps with extremely low baseline resources. Many spiraled into ill-being because prior losses of livelihoods, assets, infrastructure, and health constituted large burdens for their attempts to rebuild their lives. As another example, most Sierra migrants remained deadlocked in a worsening state of life in the cities because they lacked the educational profiles required to obtain decent jobs and lived in slums. Simultaneously, their baseline poverty hindered their ability to make investments that could have compensated for these disadvantages, such as moving to more secure zones with adequate basic services. In Rvan and colleagues' (2008) terms, migrants who lacked sufficient baseline resources struggled to cope with aversive demands (adverse external events and experiences) while facing frequent demand overload or demand strains (insufficient resources to satisfy needs or goals or the availability of finite resources to address competing priorities). Conversely, more baseline resources-especially those with transformational potential, such as transferable skills-usually resulted in more room to maneuver and greater well-being. These resources enabled people to deal better with aversive demands, to experience less demand overload or strains (Ryan et al. 2008), and to create or take advantage of opportunities.⁷ For example, a small number of Sierra migrants possessed or acquired the resources needed to start studying, which allowed them to gain the skills required to obtain better jobs (although in often arduous processes); these skills, in turn, increased other aspects of their well-being. At the individual level, resources conducive to well-being in all cases included good health, the ability to study and work, sacrifice, self-help, innovation, entrepreneurship, social skills, and personal coping mechanisms. Resources at the community level accrued from the capacity to self-organize, act, and resist marginalization. For example, dense social networks, mutual support mechanisms, communal task systems, self-organized reconstruction measures compensating for state deficits, as well as joint struggles for change contributed to positive impacts on every well-being component studied here. The case of the Selva village demonstrates that persistent community action can, in certain cases, mitigate some of the worst well-being risks associated with climate (im)mobilities. Ultimately, people's resources were partially determined by intersecting social factors. Some of these intersecting factors, such as health burdens, reduced people's resources and thereby increased their susceptibility to aversive demands such as worsening health infrastructure, whereas migrants or stayers with better health were either not affected by or better equipped to

⁷ Ryan and colleagues (2008) point out that high *resources* can also create well-being risks when they result in *demand insufficiency*, namely un- or underchallenging situations. Such demand insufficiency was not witnessed in the cases here.

deal with such demands. Simultaneously, certain socially ascribed factors created well-being challenges or opportunities because they resulted in systemic marginalization or privileges. This is where the individual level connects with structure, as discussed in the section above on structure. For example, because the systematically disadvantaged Indigenous people in the rainforest had limited access to education and social services, their resources to cope with the floods were limited.

8.3 Summary and Overarching Propositions

In summary, the comparison of the case studies reveals that significant structural constraints set hard limits on people's well-being pathways. Foremost, weak governance as well as development and climate inequalities, together with other structures of neglect and marginalization, created an uneven distribution of opportunities to migrate in the first place, to move or stay under tolerable conditions, and to subsequently preserve or enhance well-being. For migrants moving to formerly uninhabited spaces and stayers, structural factors and the respective social systems did not change fundamentally, which is why inequalities tended to be reproduced or reinforced. Although migrants from the Sierra settled in different urban settings, moving also typically reproduced or exacerbated and only partly modified strong structural constraints; in some cases, old constraints (such as spatial insularity) were replaced with new ones (such as tenure insecurity). Therefore, structural constraints constituted a dominant determinant of people's well-being and the reason that most stayers and migrants experienced deprivations. Simultaneously, people's well-being trajectories also depended on the varying nature and impacts of hazards, which shaped their baseline resources to different extents. Severe *abrupt* or late-stage *gradual* climate impacts created particularly heavy well-being burdens for subsequent (im)mobilities. Moreover, the analysis demonstrated that most farmers had very limited agency to address climate impacts or circumvent state failures and other structural hurdles, which further lowered their chances of maintaining or enhancing their well-being. Few affected people managed to use their limited agency to achieve small advances within their constrained room to maneuver. Figure 8.7 synthesizes these findings of the comparative analysis. By plotting the three key influences on well-being identified here, it displays that strong structural constraints, severe hazards, and limited agency led to net well-being declines or stagnation for most analyzed groups.


Figure 8.7 Well-being impacts in function of structure, hazards, and agency. (Note: Created by the author)

Lastly, the comparative analysis of varied forms of climate (im)mobilities in Peru makes it possible to induce propositions that are transferable to certain settings beyond these specific cases. In particular, the propositions may be applicable to subsistence farmers and other people with marginal access to socioeconomic, spatial, and political resources, who live in climate impact hotspots that are characterized by both weak governance and adverse social structures, as is discussed in more detail in the conclusions in chapter 9. The nine propositions below respond to the main questions that guided this research, namely, in what ways and why migrating from or staying in areas harmed by climate hazards affects people's well-being.

- (1) People's well-being trajectories during climate (im)mobilities are highly contingent on the favorability of structural conditions as well as on the nature and impacts of hazards, while people's levels of agency can moderate well-being effects to a limited extent.
- (2) The more damaging or less repairable the climate impacts, the higher the risk of harmful conditions during related climate migration or immobility and of ensuing well-being losses. Well-being risks are particularly high after severe abrupt hazards, late-stage gradual hazards, and cumulative shocks.
- (3) The more unfavorable the structural conditions under which staying or climate migration and settling occur, the more damaging the impacts on people's well-being. Well-being is especially threatened where development gaps, constrained livelihood options, weak governance, marginalization, and land issues combine.
- (4) Because most marginalized climate migrants and stayers lack the opportunity to influence larger societal structures, prior marginalization and inequalities are likely to be reproduced or exacerbated in most cases if third actors do not intervene substantially.
- (5) For most poor, undiversified subsistence farmers living in societies with weak governance and deep inequalities, climate migration likely entails well-being losses early on, which hinders the farmers' subsequent well-being trajectories. The majority may experience net-negative outcomes.
- (6) The more people are forced to move or stay against their aspirations, and the fewer their capabilities for migration, the higher the risk of adverse wellbeing effects. Poverty, a lack of social networks, and the often unplanned, precarious circumstances of forced (im)mobility constitute key risks for wellbeing losses.
- (7) The fewer people's further resources are for either settling after migration or staying at their original sites, the more likely are deepening vulnerabilities during (im)mobilities. In particular, the lack of financial, social, and human capital that can be flexibly applied in changing surroundings increases vulnerabilities.
- (8) The more intersecting social factors, such as age, ethnicity, health status, and sex, make affected people susceptible to aversive demands or lead to structural marginalization, the more likely well-being losses during climate (im)mobilities.

(9) Regardless of whether subsistence farmers migrate or stay after climate impacts, the impacts on *development from a secure base* and *a space to live better*—which include livelihoods, health, education, and decent living conditions—tend to influence one another strongly. By contrast, the impacts on *social relatedness* can partially differ. Jointly, these OWB elements have a stronger feedback effect on *SWB* than vice versa.

These propositions are based on a systematic comparison of observations made in the case study chapters 5–7 and the identified patterns of similarities and differences. While the propositions are specified in the theoretical domain, future research could transform them into falsifiable hypotheses in order to test them in the empirical domain (Bhattacherjee 2022); doing so is beyond the scope of this dissertation. To this end, the concepts from the mostly qualitative findings would need to be operationalized and translated into corresponding quantitative variables. Subsequently, the hypotheses built on these variables could be tested with observed data and either supported or rejected (Morgan 2015). Such future research would be welcome to expand the still limited knowledge on the wellbeing impacts of climate (im)mobilities and enable the construction of better theories regarding the impacts of migration and staying in general.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



Part III Seeing Behind the Curtain

Conclusions



9

In this dissertation, I examined the multidimensional well-being of internal climate migrants and stayers in affected areas across Peru's three large topographical zones, namely its highlands, rainforest, and coastline. I focused on the extent to which people could meet their needs *and* how they self-assessed well-being. The applied objective well-being (OWB) axes concerned people's chances for *development from a secure base* (including livelihoods, health, and education), *a space to live better* (factors such as shelter), and *social relatedness*. The subjective wellbeing (SWB) axis included present *emotional balance* and *cognitive satisfaction*, and *views of the future* (see chapter 2). The findings indicate how moving or staying affected well-being, how different components of OWB and SWB varied and related to each other, and how they changed over time. In addition, the results show which mechanisms of action and social conditions influenced the observed well-being impacts.

Taking a comparative approach, I analyzed qualitative and quantitative data on well-being impacts from three case studies that shared similarities and differences. The cases focused on climate migration from, or immobility in, rural villages with similar subsistence livelihoods that were struck by water-related hazards typical for Peru's three large topographical zones. Resulting (im)mobility dynamics were characteristic of the respective hazards but dissimilar across cases, which created varying conditions for well-being impacts. In the first case study, I examined long-distance, rural-to-urban individual or household migration from two villages in Peru's highlands (*Sierra*) in the Lima Region to large cities. Gradual water scarcity due to glacier recession and rainfall changes influenced their migration. Movement ranged from more *voluntary* to clearly *forced* instances and mostly occurred under *distress* because of unfavorable structural conditions, as

J. Bergmann, At Risk of Deprivation, Studien zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1_9

opposed to a few migrants moving under more favorable *improvement* conditions. Stayers were mostly *voluntarily immobile* in one and *trapped* in the other highland village. In the second analysis, I focused on attempted planned relocation of two villages in the rainforest (*Selva*) Region of San Martín after severe, *abrupt* floods. Both cases resulted in *forced immobility* for years under structural constraints that created *distress* conditions. Only one of the two villages eventually completed *voluntary* relocation to another location in its close vicinity, equally under structural *distress* conditions. In the third case, I examined shortdistance, internal displacement driven by abrupt floods during the 2017 Coastal El Niño, with a focus in the coastal (*Costa*) Region of Piura in the qualitative strand and regression analyses for all of Peru. This *forced* migration occurred under structural barriers that led to *survival* conditions for moving.

Through qualitative text analysis and regression models, I demonstrated that well-being impacts were on average more net-negative than net-positive across cases. The wide range of the examined cases could be clustered in three characteristic well-being pathways with similar dynamics across the different phases of migration or immobility. First, displaced persons in the coastal zone and trapped people in the highlands experienced a tailspin into severe ill-being. Both groups suffered extensive losses because of severe climate impacts, which jeopardized their later well-being. Because staying or migrating proceeded under highly adverse structural conditions and with very limited agency, these affected people ended in downward spirals of objective and subjective destitution with little room for recovery. Second, most migrants from the highlands and the trapped people in the rainforest winded up deadlocked in a worsening state of life, while the voluntary stayers in the Andes risked following this path as well. Increasing climate-induced harm, combined with structural marginalization and constrained individual resources, blocked their opportunities for well-being in the urban areas characterized by increasingly unreceptive modes of incorporation. Finally, a small number of migrants from the highlands and the relocatees in the rainforest were able to recover slowly after climate impacts, albeit with taxing and laborious processes. Less adverse structural conditions or more moderate levels of agency enabled them to obtain incremental, fragile advances in well-being. Despite these absolute well-being differences between groups, within the examined groups, the OWB and SWB components mostly changed in similar directions. Especially development from a secure base and a space to live better had palpable bidirectional links, and jointly, they influenced SWB strongly. Conversely, social relatedness assumed a partially separate dynamic: due to strong community or diaspora ties and self-organization capacities, most migrants and stayers preserved or regained social capital, even in cases when other well-being components deteriorated.

Using the full body of the evidence generated from the individual case studies, I induced several propositions on the underlying mechanisms behind the observed well-being effects. The results suggest that well-being impacts of different climate (im)mobilities are primarily contingent on the favorability of structural conditions as well as on the nature and impacts of hazards. Critical structural constraints which amplify risks to well-being include gaps in development and climate adaptation; limited rural livelihood options; land scarcity; tenure insecurity; marginalization; weak governance; and the effects of population growth. Conversely, subsistence farmers' frequently low levels of agency can moderate the effects only to a limited extent. In most cases, well-being losses early on after the onset of hazards create strong, persistent burdens for people's subsequent prospects to be well, regardless of whether they stay or migrate. The risk of additional deprivation is particularly high when structural constraints outweigh structural opportunities in defining the course of (im)mobilities; when people's migratory agency and further resources are minimal; and when intersectional social factors result in high vulnerabilities or systemic disenfranchisement. Consequently, for most poor, undiversified subsistence farmers harmed by severe climate impacts and subjected to serious structural constraints, climate migration and immobility are bound to threaten well-being in the short to medium term. Prior structural adversities are likely reproduced or exacerbated during such climate (im)mobilities, if concerned actors do not intervene thoroughly. In rarer cases when structural conditions, hazard impacts, and levels of agency are relatively favorable, well-being may return to the baseline, stagnate, or rise marginally, however, such recovery or gains tend to be frail.

9.1 Implications

There are substantial reasons for concern that the risks to well-being identified here exist not only for the studied groups but also for other structurally disadvantaged subsistence farmers engaged in climate (im)mobilities across Peru and worldwide.¹ In Peru, about one in four laborers work in agriculture, and around 80% as subsistence farmers (CEPLAN 2016; World Bank 2019). Their vulnerabilities are frequently as high as in the case studies conducted for this dissertation: 46% of Peru's rural residents are poor and many more threatened

¹ While the focus here was on rural areas, numerous urban residents also face displacement risk, see IDMC (2021c).

by poverty (World Bank 2017a); four in five farmers have insecure land ownership or tenure (FAO 2022); most farmers work informally (CEPLAN 2016); and 70% of all towns in Peru, mainly in the rural areas, are in a state of high or very high food insecurity (WFP & CENEPRED 2015). These numbers provide an indication of the scale of people threatened by well-being losses related to climate (im)mobilities in Peru today.

At the global level, around two in three people in low and lower-middleincome countries live in rural areas and work in climate-sensitive agricultural activities (UNDESA 2021; World Bank 2021c). They are often subjected to structural conditions similar to those that increased the risks to well-being most strongly in this study. Compounding the well-being threats, these structural drivers of risk are particularly salient in countries where climate hazards are also most severe. First, development gaps are large in many of the world's rural areas, and the COVID-19 pandemic has reversed much of the progress of past decades (UN 2021). Globally, close to one fifth of the rural residents live in extreme poverty (UNDESA 2021); 65% of all poor, working adults are farmers (World Bank 2021c); about half of all food-insecure people depend on small-scale agriculture (Sanchez & Swaminathan 2005); and 91% of those working in agriculture lack social protection (UN 2021). Second, while smallholders are greatly exposed and vulnerable to climate hazards (Donatti et al. 2019; Niles & Salerno 2018), adaptation remains fragmented and insufficient worldwide (Berrang-Ford et al. 2015; Berrang-Ford et al. 2021), and adaptive capacities are weakest in low and lower middle-income countries (ND-GAIN 2022). The adaptive capacities of smallholders are especially low, and they have already reached soft limits of adaptation in various world regions today (IPCC 2022a). Third, most subsistence farmers have limited options to improve or adjust their livelihoods, leaving them vulnerable to shocks. Key barriers for developing or diversifying on- or off-farm activities include small farm sizes, limited access to modern markets, and gaps in rural education (Fan & Rue 2020; Lakin & Gasperini 2003). Fourth, land scarcity and tenure insecurity remain pervasive structural constraints that increase wellbeing risks related to climate (im)mobilities in many countries. Around four in five farms worldwide are smallholdings with less than two hectares in size, which require substantial human labor and inputs, have a low productivity, and are vulnerable to shocks because they operate with minimal margins (Gómez y Paloma et al. 2020; Hannah Ritchie & Max Roser 2021; Herrero et al. 2017; Lowder et al. 2014). Simultaneously, in most poorer countries, more than half of the farmers lack land ownership or secure tenure, especially smallholders and female farmers (FAO 2022; UN 2021). Globally, close to one billion people fear to be likely or very likely evicted in the next five years (Prindex 2022). Fifth, many social

groups worldwide continue to be systematically marginalized. As two examples, 3 billion girls and women live in countries with poor or very poor gender equality (EM 2022; World Bank 2021c), and the world's one billion people with disabilities also continue to suffer from socioeconomic exclusion and poverty rates above average (WHO & World Bank 2011; World Bank 2020b). Sixth, weak governance poses a persistent constraint in many world regions (World Bank 2017d), which can exacerbate well-being risks linked to climate (im)mobilities. For example, corruption remains a serious problem in two thirds of all countries, with almost no progress achieved (Transparency International 2022). Further challenges concerning state legitimacy, fragility, rule of law, and human rights are extensive around the globe (FFP 2021). Close to half of the world's population distrusts state institutions, around one third perceives civil servants as untrustworthy, and politicians are seen as the least trustworthy among various professions (Edelman 2022; Ipsos 2021). Seventh, population growth can add to the structural factors that raise well-being risks related to climate (im)mobilities. Critically, most growth might be concentrated in poorer countries which also face most climate risks (Guzmán et al. 2009; Nugent 2019; UNDESA 2019), although access to modern energy and education could still significantly attenuate such growth trajectories (Belmin et al. 2022; KC & Lutz 2017; Lutz & KC 2011). Altogether, the number of people in Peru and globally subjected to structural constraints similar to those identified in this study is large, which stresses the scale of possible wellbeing threats related to climate (im)mobilities. A great share of future climate (im)mobilities may occur in the regions with the highest structural constraints: while projections for immobility, relocation, and displacement are unavailable, close to 3% of the total population in six developing regions, or 216 million people, may become internal climate migrants by 2050, if high emissions combine with unequal development (Clement et al. 2021).²

The findings identified here also yield insights with relevance beyond Peru for another reason: Peru is home to examples of most of the Earth's climate zones, highly varying landscapes, and megadiverse ecosystems and can therefore be considered a microcosm of the global challenges caused by climate change (MINAM 2015). In this dissertation, I purposefully gathered data in three significantly different zones of this megadiverse country to raise the external validity of findings and provide insights for adjacent areas which share similar livelihood systems, ecosystems, and climate zones. Examples of such areas include Chile's northern

² The regions included in the models are East Asia & the Pacific; Eastern Europe & Central Asia; Latin America; North Africa; South Asia; Sub-Saharan Africa. The estimates are to be considered conservative, see Clement et al. (2021: 4).

desert, other mountainous zones in the Andean countries, and rainforest regions in neighboring states. To date, few studies collect comparative data on climate (im)mobilities in neighboring countries, although especially border regions often share fundamental similarities. This thinking within national boundaries limits the research community's ability to understand the nexus within similar socioecological systems more comprehensively. Such comparisons would be useful to examine the effects of different policy setups.

In a following step, the findings on how and why different climate (im)mobilities affect well-being can also inform future research and planning to protect affected people. Such insights are needed as the numbers of climate migrants and trapped people are set to rise but studies on the related well-being impacts remain scarce (Clement et al. 2021; Foresight 2011; Hoffmann et al. under review). Chiefly, this dissertation has implications for two arenas. First, it sheds light on adequate methodological and conceptual approaches for studying this issue. Second, it provides evidence for the ongoing debates on the adaptive potential of migration or staying as well as for those on Loss and Damage due to climate change, which, jointly, underpin policymaking and planning in this field.

To begin with, the study adds to the methodological development in the field by using mixed methods. Such designs have been called for to improve the understanding of mechanisms of action, the validity of findings, and researchers' reflectivity, but remain rare³ (Bergman 2018; Boas et al. 2020; Durand-Delacre et al. 2021; Schwerdtle et al. 2020). The central qualitative component in this study was key to both identify the well-being effects of climate (im)mobilities and understand their underlying mechanisms of action. This work thus corroborates that qualitative research has unique "powers" and is "inimitable" to assess climate impacts and related experiences people make in the social world (Nature Climate Change 2021: 717). Applying the same qualitative methods to varying forms of climate (im)mobilities across Peru also rendered a robust evidence base that, through comparative analysis, allowed inducing propositions with greater validity. Three lessons were learned for future mixed methods studies in this field. First, they could expand their qualitative components with more focus groups for groups deserving specific attention (Ruppenthal et al. 2005; Skop 2006; Wilkinson 1999). Second, an intergenerational and life course perspective for time-dependent effects could be valuable (Kley 2011; Singh et al. 2019; Wingens et al. 2011). Lastly, fine structure and system analyses of the primary data, two resource-intensive methods, may provide additional depth (Froschauer & Lueger

³ For examples in this topic area, see Fernández et al. (2019); Guodaar et al. (2017); Rademacher-Schulz et al. (2014).

2003). Simultaneously, the applied quantitative methods were valuable to corroborate the well-being losses and measure the strength of effects in the case study of the 2017 Coastal El Niño. The dataset with close to 190,000 respondents covered all of Peru and rendered results with statistical and substantive significance that validated the results derived from the small-scale, qualitative sample from select sites in northern Peru (Mahoney 2008). Peru's statistical agency supported this research by matching respondents in two previously separate datasets, which rendered longitudinal data that allowed analyzing well-being changes over time. This type of collaboration could provide a model for how to obtain data to improve knowledge on various other aspects of climate (im)mobilities (Vinke & Hoffmann 2020). In addition, the regression analyses of the extensive survey data identified new patterns only visible in samples much larger than the qualitative one, such as the increased displacement risk related to being a single parent. However, a statistical analysis alone would have been unable to provide the same depth of analysis of the processes, context, and social conditions that led to the well-being impacts, and thus, the qualitative strand proved key "to understand the meaning of what we see" in the survey data (Boas et al. 2020: 195). Because the regression analyses were also limited to the available items in the secondary survey, which did not reflect all pertinent well-being elements, the primary qualitative data remained critical to identify the wide range of relevant changes. Therefore, to summarize, the mixed methods approach centered on a strong qualitative strand and enhanced by statistical analyses proved fitting to identify the well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities and understand underlying mechanisms of action.

Beyond these methodological lessons, the study also provides insights into conceptual frameworks suited to study climate (im)mobilities. Conceptualization is vital because only what is defined can be measured, assessed, and consequently inform policy and planning. Well-being proved an appropriate lens for this study, which is in line with the approach favored recently by the IPCC (Cissé et al. 2022). The findings confirmed the importance of all components in the applied well-being framework, namely needs derived from universal and local views (Copestake 2008b; McGregor et al. 2015) combined with people's subjective life evaluations (Costanza et al. 2007; OECD 2013). This multidimensional well-being framework covered most key metrics on vulnerability in displacement suggested by international organizations (EGRIS 2020; JIPS 2018) as well as the reconstruction needs for displacement and resettlement described in Cernea's (2004) influential model (see Section 2.3). In the analysis, the framework proved valuable for two reasons. First, the applied objective measures were sufficiently comprehensive for the complexity of the research questions at hand. The analysis highlighted that all objective measures deserved separate attention

because they often changed in the same direction, but not always. For example, past studies often only used income or the three human development metrics income, education, and health as proxies for overall well-being; yet such a narrow lens would have overlooked diverging changes in other well-being realms in the case studies, such as the diverging effects on social relatedness. The international metrics on displacement vulnerabilities mentioned above also insufficiently account for social relatedness. Conversely, those metrics recommend measuring political and legal items as well, such as access to documentation, which I did not examine in this study, but which could usefully inform future data collection on climate migration. Second, applying a lens on people's subjective state of life resulted in new-and occasionally contradictory-insights into people's well-being.⁴ It demonstrated that people's SWB was challenged for the most part and in some cases, even seemingly reasonable conditions failed to translate into positive lives in people's own evaluations. Such SWB declines require dedicated policy attention not only as they demonstrate how people's self-appraised life quality can come under pressure, but also because SWB can impinge on other well-being variables (Diener et al. 2018b; Forgeard et al. 2011). For example, the widespread hopelessness among climate migrants and trapped people could intensify perceptions of vulnerability, uncontrollability, and unpredictability; it may also block action to protect oneself against harm, to protest injustices, and ultimately to subsist in adverse settings (Carver & Scheier 2014; Forgeard & Seligman 2012). An analysis merely centered on OWB, or standard economic measures of success, would have failed to expose these nuanced effects. The findings of this study thus support calls for more complete measures of well-being in migration research and policies (Hendriks & Bartram 2019). Particularly, they emphasize that a multidimensional well-being lens built on objective and subjective measures of well-being is indispensable for examining the complex effects of climate (im)mobilities. However, to my knowledge, such human-centered lenses have not been applied previously in this field, despite their increasing significance in studies on migration (Haindorfer 2019a) and sustainable development (Adams et al. 2020; Lutz et al. 2021). While I focused on hedonic approaches to SWB in this study given time and resource constraints, future work could apply lenses that also integrate eudaimonic ideas. Eudaimonia (from ancient Greek "flourishing") was the highest goal of human action for Aristotle. It centers on positive functioning, personal development, self-realization, meaning and purpose (Robinson 1999), using and developing the best in people (Huta & Ryan 2010), or

⁴ Similarly, both subjective evaluations of the present and views of the future should be measured because they diverged occasionally, which resulted in different well-being states.

living virtuous lives that realize the human potential (Delle Fave et al. 2011b; Huta & Waterman 2014). Psychological well-being (PWB) research builds on this notion (Ryff 1989; Ryff & Keyes 1995; Ryff & Singer 2008). While hedonic and eudaimonic measures are associated, they refer to distinct subjective states and underlying phenomena (Henderson & Knight 2012; OECD 2013). A primary reason why eudaimonic ideas deserve integration in studies on migration impacts is that gains and losses in both hedonic *and* eudaimonic dimensions affect overall well-being (Huta & Ryan 2010). For this reason, several scholars argue that these paths jointly form SWB (Delle Fave et al. 2011a; McGillivray 2007; Stiglitz et al. 2009). Available integrated approaches⁵ would offer potential to understand well-being impacts of climate (im)mobilities even more comprehensively. Such future work could also mitigate agreed limitations of exclusively hedonic SWB frameworks.⁶

Beyond informing methodological and conceptual debates, this study also has key implications for discussing the adaptive potential of climate migration and related policymaking or planning. At least since scholarly work in the 2000s (McLeman & Smit 2006) and the inception of the Cancún Adaptation Framework (UNFCCC 2010), migration, displacement, and relocation have been considered from a climate adaptation viewpoint (Warner 2012). Whereas prior studies on Peru have echoed related framing debates without critically engaging with them (see Bergmann et al. 2021a), the results of this study cast doubt on the notion of *migration as adaptation*. They suggest that under prevailing policy and structures, migration does not work as a positive adaptation strategy for many people. However, it could be more successful with the reforms recommended in Section 9.2.

First, the findings emphasize that *gradual* climate impacts (such as glacier retreat and rainfall changes) can render migration conditions increasingly *distress-ful*, especially for people with tangible prior vulnerabilities and those subjected to state neglect. Most affected people suffered from substantial OWB hardship and

⁵ Examples include the *flourishing* work by Keyes (2007); (2010); (2014) or Huppert and So (2013), as well as the *orientations to happiness framework* by Peterson et al. (2005); Park et al. (2009); Seligman (2011, 2018).

⁶ For example, satisfaction and a good mood are not always the product of a good life or can arise from morally ambiguous actions, and actions causing momentary pleasure may be self-destructive overall, see Kashdan et al. (2008); Annas (2004). Climate change is a stark example that the 'pleasant' lives of a small share of the world population, built on unsustainable consumption, can threaten the well-being of generations to come. By contrast, eudaimonic views stress that satisfaction and good feelings are no ends in themselves for intellectual, social, and moral beings, but authentic well-being also requires virtuousness, a greater cause, and engagement, see Henderson & Knight (2012); Ryan & Deci (2001).

evaluated their needs as unfulfilled while these SWB losses, in turn, threatened to further reduce OWB. In destinations, adverse structural conditions continued to diminish migrants' prospects for adaptive gains. For example, land scarcity and unequal tenure systems left rural distress migrants with few choices but to live in irregular settlements where they lacked decent housing, basic services, and tenure security. The results also support concerns that even those who manage to adapt to primary climate impacts in their homelands by migrating often encounter secondary hazards in the cities (Adger et al. 2018). Taken together, these findings suggest that in societies with strong structural inequalities, few poor people may have sufficient agency to confront escalating hazards effectively, either by moving or staying. Accordingly, the results reinforce existing challenges to presentations of migration as adaptation (Blocher et al. 2021a; Sakdapolrak et al. 2016; Vinke 2019; Vinke et al. 2020; Wrathall et al. 2014). Moreover, the study reveals that for poor migrants from isolated areas moving under distress structural conditions, moving is prone to fail as a translocal group risk management strategy, as suggested by advocates for migration as adaptation and NELM theory (Ober & Sakdapolrak 2017; Stark & Bloom 1985). For example, remittances had palliative effects for stayers in the highlands but could not effectively support climate adaptation or nullify the negative effects of emigration, such as losses of labor force and social capital. The more advanced the stage and volume of emigration, the more negative became the impacts for areas of origin, especially once thresholds toward settlement abandonment were crossed. Consequently, the adaptive potential of migration seems limited in the many areas worldwide where gradual climate impacts threaten to be most severe but where, at once, structural inequalities and constrained household resources make it unlikely that migrants benefit in the short to medium term. If such migration can yield better adaptive results over the longer term, particularly over generations, remains an important open question that requires more longitudinal studies.

Second, this study cautions that displacement forced rapidly by *abrupt* hazards such as floods, and occurring as displacement under structurally challenging *survival* conditions, unequivocally threatens to degrade adaptive capacities. For example, migration saved lives after the 2017 Coastal El Niño floods in Peru, but overall, outcomes for OWB and adaptive capacities were devastating as people lost their livelihoods, assets, and homes. These unfulfilled needs caution about the absence of progress toward durable solutions for people displaced by climate impacts (EGRIS 2020; JIPS 2018) and the Sustainable Development Goals (UNGA 2015). Most migrants also ended in subjective states of *deprivation*, which can further deteriorate OWB. These observed well-being losses provide a call to increase investments in disaster risk reduction and management (DRR/ DRM), which is all the more needed as the hazards which have caused most disaster displacement in Peru to date are projected to increase (see chapter VII). Without concerted efforts, displacement risk will also rise since more people will be living in exposed areas in Peru (SINAGERD et al. 2014) and globally (de Sherbinin et al. 2012). While some people are forced to settle in such exposed zones, others choose to live in them because of interim benefits, such as having access to affordable land (Hallegatte 2017; Mishra 2001). Nevertheless, this study suggests that such cost–benefit calculations could change rapidly as recurrent *abrupt* hazards become more frequent and severe, and their impacts accumulate with *gradual* processes such as warming. As a result, permanent displacement risk can arise for those who chose to 'live with the floods' before (Gaillard et al. 2008; Sultana 2010) and those who are forced to do so. Because such *acute*, forced *survival* movements are bound to threaten well-being, displacement should not be discussed under the umbrella of adaptation.

Third, it should not be forgotten that many people stay in place even when severely threatened by climate impacts, which can also strongly affect adaptive capacities and well-being. Nonetheless, stayers remain "a neglected challenge" in policy, data, and research in Peru (Bergmann et al. 2021a) and worldwide (Foresight 2011; Geddes et al. 2012: 953). Policymakers and planners must recognize that immobilities have multiple drivers and varied impacts (Black et al. 2013; Upadhyay et al. under review). Many people in Peru voluntarily opt to stay in the beginning of gradual climate changes and attempt to adapt locally because they are bound to their homes through place satisfaction, social obligations, or fear of leaving (Adams 2016; Koubi et al. 2016). Conversely, climate impacts that wear down migration capabilities can trap at-risk groups in dangerous zones (Black & Collyer 2014).⁷ The analyses in Peru's rainforest and highlands caution that especially such forced immobility can worsen adaptive capacities and well-being, including through continued hazard exposure and resultant downward spirals of loss and damage, SWB declines, and further reductions of migration capabilities. People trapped in areas with frequent, severe hazards may risk ending up threatened by periodic, life-threatening displacements. Entrapment must thus be a humanitarian and development concern in the many poor areas globally where climate impacts are worsening but governance is weak and local adaptation options limited. Adequate resources and policies are needed to address operational issues (Geddes et al. 2012), yet required efforts are difficult because they involve domestic politics of states that are often ill-equipped or unwilling

⁷ While the focus here is on immobility in hometowns, it can also occur *during* or *after* climate migration journeys.

to deal with the issue (Black et al. 2013). Finally, the case in Peru's *Sierra* shows that *voluntary* immobility in risk zones can initially yield better results than entrapment (Ahsan et al. 2022); but as climate impacts and migration intensify, conditions can gradually worsen and threaten stayers' adaptive capacities and well-being, another reason why more longitudinal research is needed.

Fourth, the analysis demonstrates that planned relocation in states with weak governance carries significant risks for people's adaptive capacities and wellbeing. When on-site reaction strategies reach their limits, moving can become the only viable—although challenging—option. Facilitated climate migration can be one way to meet the protection responsibilities of home governments, emitting states, and the international community (Aleinikoff 2020), and corrective and prospective relocations are one concrete tool that concerned actors use to facilitate escape from risk zones. Yet, past relocations in Peru have been burdened with a lack of oversight, financial limitations, and institutional frictions.⁸ Implementing authorities often disregarded land and social issues, livelihood necessities, and people's place attachment. Therefore, several related initiatives have threatened well-being. Many affected people have either declined to move, returned, or maintained dual residencies (see review in Bergmann et al. 2021a). The new Selva case study herein verifies that attempted relocation can have ambivalent effects for adaptation and well-being. It cautions that relocations are often fragmented journeys and threaten to entail long phases of harmful entrapment. Even the more positive trajectory of the one completed relocation created mixed OWB and SWB impacts at best. This result suggests that relocations can help groups lacking proper migration capabilities adapt to climate risks only under specific conditions (Ferris & Weerasinghe 2020): the adaptive potential is limited without suitable institutional capacities, committed state support and funding for the often-prolonged transitions, genuine consultation and participation, and safeguards for people's rights. Relocation can only be a last resort for a small share of the growing number of people who live in high-risk zones, and the evidence presented in this study cautions that severe well-being problems can ensue. When relocation is required, Peru's relocation legislation constitutes progress,9 but this analysis demonstrates that its implementation remains fragmented. Other studies confirm this gap between policy and practice in Peru's DRR/DRM (French et al. 2020; French & Mechler 2017; GFDRR 2010), which echoes its general governance problems (McNulty & Guerra Garcia 2019; Morón & Sanborn 2006;

⁸ This paragraph is partially based on my previous work published in Bergmann (2021).

 $^{^9}$ Ley N°29,869 (Law, 2012); Ley N°30,645 (2017, Modification); and Decreto Supremo N°115–2013-PCM (Regulation).

Thiery 2016). Similar concerns exist worldwide: relocation legislation often does not exist and if it does, execution is weak and can imperil people's well-being (Wilmsen & Webber 2015). An additional threat is that relocations can serve political and economic motives, including control over populations (Farbotko et al. 2020). Thus, relocations remain a risky option for people's adaptive capacities and well-being. Worryingly, global "momentum is shifting toward planned relocation" despite this conflicted past use (Farbotko et al. 2020: 703), and Peru has also embraced it as a strategic solution in various frameworks (French et al. 2020; Lavell et al. 2016).

Altogether, these findings question how much adaptive potential diverse forms of climate (im)mobilities offer, especially when they occur under structurally adverse survival or distress conditions, after severe hazards, involuntarily, and with limited agency. The latest IPCC report agrees that while people attempt to respond to climate-induced uncertainty and well-being threats through migration, the "migrant success [sic]" is highly variable and delimited by structure and agency (Cissé et al. 2022: 48-49). As a result, especially displacement and forced migration have "generated and perpetuated vulnerability" (IPCC 2022a: 12). In many countries with high structural constraints, adaptive gains may be limited to few cases where climate impacts are less severe and where people possess resources above average or systematic advantages. It is worrying that even migration under structurally more favorable improvement conditions seems to create short- to medium-term advances that are fragile at best, while initially voluntary stayers in risk zones may also increasingly lose adaptive capacities as climate impacts intensify. Although the long-term balance between the costs and benefits of staying or moving still requires more research, the findings above do have implications for the approaches championed in policy processes such as the Cancún Adaptation Framework (UNFCCC 2010), the Global Compact for Migration (UNGA 2018), and the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 (Guadagno 2016; UNISDR 2015). Because climate migration and immobility threaten to exacerbate many people's vulnerabilities for years, human rights protection and human security approaches should supplement and, in many cases, supplant migration as adaptation lenses. Such a shift in tone would also stress that states must assume their protection responsibilities instead of transferring responsibility for adaptation to individuals by calling on them to migrate (Bettini & Gioli 2016). The findings of this study reveal the blind spots of migration as adaptation perspectives: if applied in simplistic ways, they risk ignoring that climate (im)mobilities of subsistence farmers in highly unequal societies tend to (re)produce vulnerabilities; that numerous people are threatened with entrapment which reduces their well-being; and that sending areas

may not profit strongly from emigration. Finally, migration can entail a substantial impoverishment risk as well as loss and damage for those who move (Cernea 2004; Thomas & Benjamin 2020), as discussed below. Unfortunately, staying in place under the status quo is not an alternative for many households that face the increasingly damaging effects of climate change. As discussed in the recommendations, actions to improve well-being for both movers and stayers are needed.

Against this background, migration rightfully features in policy discussion on Loss and Damage (L&D), which have been riddled by controversies, however (James et al. 2014; Tschakert et al. 2019). The debate has been catalyzed by improved scientific knowledge on severe or irrevocable climate impacts that have not been avoided—or cannot be avoided anymore.¹⁰ In 2013, L&D became institutionalized in the Warsaw International Mechanism (WIM) in the UNFCCC. Because displacement is a climate change effect that can imply significant L&D, WIM commissioned a task force to provide options "to avert, minimize and address displacement" (Task Force on Displacement 2018: 1). Multidimensional well-being studies like the present one can inform this debate by providing a fuller picture of both OWB and SWB gains and losses due to climate (im)mobilities. Foremost, the Costa case study highlights the severe economic and non-economic L&D experienced by persons displaced by abrupt hazards in Peru, both prior to and throughout movement and settling. Moreover, recurrent state failures have contributed to continued L&D in the rainforest, at first when the two studied villages were forced into immobility in risk zones, and later when one of them eventually relocated but lacked promised protection and support for reconstruction. Finally, findings in the Sierra indicate that gradual climate impacts in remote, ecologically vulnerable areas with limited state presence can lead to mixed movements; however, both initially more voluntary, improvement migrants as well as increasingly forced distress migrants are threatened by provisional and non-provisional losses throughout their journeys (although to different extents). Additionally, the analysis underlines that climate change and related (im)mobilities can bring about losses for both migrants and sending communities, such as the erosion of traditional knowledge and community cohesion. From a climate justice perspective, all these losses require remedies and compensation by the international community (Page & Heyward 2017). This study reinforces calls that "financial, technical, and legal support would be appropriate for instances where hard [adaptation] limits are transgressed" (Mechler et al.

¹⁰ Still, the evidence base remains unfortunately skewed towards richer countries, see van der Geest & Warner (2020).

2020: 1245), especially for losses regarding development from a secure base and a space to live better. Other losses are more difficult to recover or compensate for, however. Examples include emigration-induced losses of cultural practices, traditions, identity, and social organization in hometowns or migrants' losses of aesthetic and cultural ecosystem services. As these losses can also strongly reduce well-being, they urgently require responses by the international community. However, while UNFCCC members agreed to improve action and support for people affected by L&D-including through finance, technology, and capacity building-words are not followed by necessary action, and WIM has had an overall limited effect to date (Mechler et al. 2020). A particular concern is that gradual events and non-economic L&D -two factors that were salient in this study-remain insufficiently addressed. Because richer and poorer countries hold diverging views on questions of liability and event attribution, the compensation offered by the former is far from the L&D incurred by the latter (Calliari et al. 2020; Gewirtzman et al. 2018). Given estimated L&D of several hundred billion USD per year, assistance would need to equal at least 300 billion in 2030 (Hirsch 2021), but richer states removed the Glasgow L&D Facility envisaged by poorer states in the Conference of the Parties 26 in 2021 (Basu 2021; Broom 2021). This study demonstrates how urgent it is to solve this difficult question and address rising volumes of climate migration and immobility that result from, and can entail, substantial loss and damage.

9.2 Recommendations

While the three case studies corroborate the pervasive well-being risks associated with several forms of climate (im)mobilities, the comparative analysis also establishes that concerned actors have scope to uphold or enhance well-being. The major entry points following from the analysis are thoroughly improving challenging structural conditions, profoundly lowering climate risks, as well as supporting the agency of climate migrants and stayers. Figure 9.1 shows that action is recommended across four clusters: (a) reducing climate risks; (b) protecting and informing stayers; (c) facilitating movement in dignity where needed; as well as (d) safeguarding and improving the well-being of migrants.



Figure 9.1 Recommendations to enhance the well-being of affected populations. (Note: Created by the author)

First, climate risk reduction is imperative since people's well-being trajectories strongly depend on the nature and impacts of hazards.¹¹ Global emissions reductions are pivotal to curb climate impacts yet reaching the Paris Goal of limiting warming to a less critical level of 1.5 °C global mean surface temperatures higher above pre-industrial times by 2100 seems impossible with current commitments. Current real-world action suggests a path that would more likely result in 2.7 °C (Climate Action Tracker 2021; WMO 2021). Ensuing climate hazards in such a scenario would pose high well-being threats to migrants and stayers alike in affected areas (Masson-Delmotte et al. 2021). Next, because pressures on people's well-being will grow even in lower emissions scenarios, reducing exposure and vulnerability is as important as mitigating greenhouse gases (Masson-Delmotte et al. 2018). Foremost, the findings in all three case studies stress that the international community and states must invest more to address livelihood erosion, uninhabitability, and settlement abandonment in affected areas. Chiefly, they must reduce displacement risk where staying in dignity is viable and desired, by addressing structural, intersectional inequalities. To this end, regional and international cooperation, increased funding, and dedicated development efforts are

¹¹ This and the next paragraph are based on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a, 2021b).

needed fast, because climate change threatens to exacerbate the existing inequalities that already raise displacement risk for people in rural areas (Hallegatte et al. 2016; Hallegatte et al. 2018) and cities (IDMC 2021c). Modelling indicates that stringent development action can sharply reduce forced internal migration related to gradual climate impacts (Clement et al. 2021; Rigaud et al. 2018). Accompanied by investments in DRR/DRM (Hallegatte et al. 2017) and in local climate adaptation (GCA 2019; IPCC 2022a), such efforts can also shield people from well-being losses. Critically, Peru should accelerate the shift toward building long-term resilience and prospective DRR/DRM instead of after-the-fact responses. Mobilizing DRR/DRM resources, for example, by targeting global climate funds, is key especially for zones with high displacement risk. At the same time, all DRR/DRM efforts must work hand in hand with climate adaptation to expand subsistence farmers' room to maneuver. More transformational, effective adaptation is needed (Berrang-Ford et al. 2021) and tested options for such adaptation include investments in livelihood diversification; fertilizer and compost practices; water supply and irrigation systems; agroecology and agroforestry; extension services; community-based programs; sharing traditional and local knowledge; and reliance on social networks (Owen 2020).

Second, protection for stayers must be a priority for areas with worsening climate impacts. As seen in the Sierra study, increasing emigration can lead to losses of labor force, social networks, traditions, and critical infrastructure in rural areas, which, in turn, create a risk of severe, progressive OWB and SWB declines. In the Selva, entire communities wishing to relocate were forced into immobility that threatened their well-being for years. Concerned actors need to expand operational efforts to address such immobilities. First of all, forced immobility implies challenges for domestic and international protection and efforts are needed to support in-place DRR/DRM, local adaptation in dignity, and vulnerability reductions (Geddes et al. 2012; Nawrotzki & DeWaard 2018). For example, support should diversify livelihoods, train skills, strengthen financial resources (Afifi et al. 2016), improve monitoring systems for diseases, food, and water security (Brubaker et al. 2011), and compensate for loss and damage (Page & Heyward 2017). However, care is needed so that support efforts do not contribute to forced immobility by "implicitly oblig[ing] ... citizens to hold fast and dig in, shore up defences and hope for the best" (Baldacchino 2018: 223). Next, the state must recognize that some people—especially older adults and those with special ties to land—do not want to leave despite high risks, and that they may have a right to stay (Black et al. 2013). Voluntary immobility implies challenges at the domestic level, with international assistance, to build resilience and sustain livelihoods (Geddes et al. 2012). Humanitarian and development actors must address common problems such as economic hardship, education and health service problems, food insecurity, and psychosocial issues. Action is also needed to conserve local knowledge, traditions, and customs to avoid losses of identity, culture, and history. Furthermore, for both forced and voluntary immobility, translocal approaches integrating communities in source and destination areas are required, as the Sierra case study emphasizes. Projects should expand the adaptation potential of financial and social remittances sent by individuals and through hometown associations. Supporting translocal communication possibilities could also contribute to the well-being of migrants and stayers. However, care must be taken to ensure that responsibilities for protection and adaptation are not outsourced to affected individuals (Bettini & Gioli 2016); where climate impacts threaten people, the international community must guarantee adequate climate financing for adaptation and compensate for loss and damage. Finally, while staying can be a choice, the international community and states must enable all people in affected areas to access evidence about the local interplay of gradual and *abrupt* hazards and their cumulative effects, so they can make informed decisions about whether to invest in place or prepare moving to suitable destinations. Information campaigns, financial literacy programs, access to financial resources, and pre-departure orientation workshops could help (Clement et al. 2021). Such information may be provided through trusted local gatekeepers such as farmers' organizations, migrant actors, or NGOs. The Sierra case illustrates that this type of data must account for adaptation limits and possible social tipping points, such as closure of critical infrastructure.

Third, all case studies highlight that when severe climate impacts cannot be avoided anymore, moving may remain the only path to safety among various perilous options and should be supported carefully (Guadagno & Yonetani 2022). Many people who desire to stay for socio-cultural reasons simultaneously perceive that climate impacts can overwhelm their capacities and express the need to move (Zickgraf 2019). Concerned actors should not attempt to force such people into ill-fated local adaptation efforts (Baldacchino 2018); rather, they should support the 'right' to move to reduce well-being risks related to forced immobility (Black et al. 2013; Bronen & Chapin 2013; Geddes et al. 2012; Nawrotzki & DeWaard 2018). Such efforts can be considered a duty from a moral and climate justice perspective (Bettini et al. 2017; Bettini & Gioli 2016; Gemenne 2015); many of those most affected by climate impacts are poor farmers who have often managed to live with, not at the expense of, nature for centuries and caused limited emissions, but may still lose their home and well-being. They have a right to protection, compensation, and remedies. Facilitated migration can

be one way to meet the protection responsibilities of home governments, emitting states, and the international community (Aleinikoff 2020). Yet, care must be taken that state obligations for protection and climate adaptation are not outsourced to at-risk groups themselves, such as when narratives of retreat from risk areas intend to obscure "state withdrawal and the individualisation of responsibility" (Baldwin 2016; Felli & Castree 2012; Tubridy & Lennon 2021: 517). Rather, planners should identify and map areas that may degrade severely and will not be habitable in the future, register inhabitants, and ensure their rights are respected, protected, and fulfilled (Brookings et al. 2015). In Peru, numerous remote rural areas may be at risk of settlement abandonment; such abandonment can be a standard process due to demographic changes, but in some cases, it is the combined result of climate impacts and an absent state, which means that entry points for action exist. Options must be provided to those who make informed decisions to leave these areas but do not have sufficient migration capabilities, such as the studied villages in the Selva and certain households in the Sierra. Foremost, Peru and other states should ensure legal status and freedom of movement, if needed beyond national borders. A multilateral initiative for a climate passport could contribute support for safe and early enough migration in dignity (WBGU 2018). In addition, South America is already a pioneer when it comes to regional freedom of movement, as I have discussed elsewhere (Bergmann et al. 2021a).¹² Nonetheless, alternative legal pathways may also be needed in some cases here, such as options to apply for protection prior to reaching desired destinations (Humble 2014), or bilateral and regional agreements for labor migration (Geddes et al. 2012; McLeman 2019). Beyond these policy needs, investments in people prior to moving are key, especially for those with preexisting vulnerabilities, who are at elevated risk of a well-being decline. Aspiring migrants must be able to acquire skills that are transferable to destinations, so that they can move early enough and are able to secure jobs elsewhere. Additional support options for livelihoods include microcredits, loans, and safety nets (Afifi et al. 2016) or job creation in destinations (Foresight 2011). Equally important, social networks are key resources for people aspiring to migrate and can help smooth newcomers' transitions to new areas; states could consider ways to extend their benefits, such as by facilitating communication options between migrants and hometowns or backing activities by diaspora organization (Nawrotzki & DeWaard 2018). Moreover, efforts are needed to devise incentives for migrants to settle across

¹² South America converges towards a discourse of freedom of movement, see Acosta (2018); Cernadas (2013); Llamas (2017). Various solid protection mechanisms exist in the region and have been applied for disaster displacement in the past, see Nansen Initiative (2015) For a detailed discussion, see the policy chapter in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

various municipalities suitable for their needs, beyond the habitual major destinations. To avoid overwhelming single hubs and preserve people's well-being prospects, ways of making secondary cities and other destinations more attractive should be investigated, planned, and developed. Such polycentric incentives could include income opportunities, microcredits, provision of public services, and housing programs in alternative destinations. Lessons can be learnt from Bangladesh, whose Perspective Plan 2021–2041 embraces a growth pole strategy to incentivize migrants toward secondary urban cities while developing rural growth centers (GED 2020; Khan et al. 2021).¹³

Among the options to facilitate movement for aspiring migrants, planned relocation may be a last resort measure if applied carefully, giving special attention to people's rights and well-being, in line with best standards and existing laws (Ferris & Weerasinghe 2020).¹⁴ Nevertheless, the Selva case study suggests that several improvements are needed in Peru. To start with, the state should enforce zoning properly to avoid new settlements in high-risk zones. It ought to clarify legal ambiguities of what makes risks "unmitigable" for existing settlements (Venkateswaran et al. 2017) and ensure the exhaustion of softer options for DRR/ DRM and climate adaptation for them, as instructed by law (French et al. 2020). To this end, authorities should strengthen the participative process that leads to the decision to move. If relocation is agreed on, its implementation requires better governance, more institutional resources, and national frameworks translated into local practice. The central government should invest in technical and absorption capacities of subnational authorities in strongly affected areas, alongside technical support by experts. In addition, access to information, consultation, and effective participation must be strengthened throughout relocation and in legislation, which enshrines these rights only ambiguously.¹⁵ To bridge funding gaps, the state could better exploit the legally permitted option of using charges from natural resource exploitation and mining. Likewise, the Selva cases demonstrate that efforts are needed to alleviate public investment gaps between declarations of uninhabitability and settlements' eventual relocation. Next, to address land scarcity issues and to avoid land price hikes, the state should explore the legally permissible tool of compensated expropriation. Furthermore, legislation entitles relocatees to benefits and rights, but the Ministry of "Vulnerable Populations and

¹³ However, lessons must also be learnt from problems in past growth pole strategies, including on possible spillover and leakage effects, spatial polarization, and enclave dynamics, see Lo (2013); Parr (1999b, 1999a); Polenske (2017).

¹⁴ This paragraph is based on my previous work published in Bergmann (2021).

¹⁵ Peru's relocation law makes citizen participation a right but only "when circumstances allow" and "with the necessary availability" (art. 5, 6, 17, translated by the author).

Women" [sic]¹⁶ lacks adequate funding to fulfil its legal task to protect and assist them, with special attention to at-risk groups. The state should also invest more in long-term livelihood restoration and decent living conditions in line with people's customs and culture, as legally granted. To this end, ensuring proximity to accessible livelihood options, transportation, and markets is key. Swifter granting of individual titles is also needed so people can receive the access to social programs that legislation encourages, including social housing and reconstruction support. Another imperative is to improve oversight and accountability in relocations. Despite grievances, complaints, and conflicts, the Peruvian state did not fulfil its obligation to inform relocatees about legally required resolution mechanisms (including mediation and arbitration by designated government entities), and thus rendered these mechanisms inaccessible. It is also key to catalyze thirdparty engagement in relocations. First, engagement by actors such as the Peruvian Ombudsman, non-governmental organizations, and the media could improve state accountability. For example, advocacy organizations with campaigning experience in development-induced resettlement could integrate disaster relocation in their portfolios, and international protective accompaniment could help defend people's rights. Lastly, the study highlighted that private sector engagement is key for success. The state could encourage landowners to consider cooperation with communities wishing to relocate, such as swapping territories or trading land for labor. Moreover, it could support companies to bring forward planned investments in destinations and offer preferential access to relocatees to create income for recovery. Likewise, the state could promote private sector contributions to relocation costs, for example, through solidarity funds, materials, or microcredits.

Fourth, this study located entry points to counter the risk that migrants, displaced persons, and relocatees suffer severe well-being losses after moving. To begin with, Peru should protect rural-to-urban migrants and their families as well prepare key urban destination areas for addressing the local effects of immigration. To this end, states and municipal actors must work toward receptive *modes of incorporation* and policies that enable migrants to flourish together with host communities, whose receptivity is another key determinant of migrants' wellbeing (Helliwell et al. 2018a). They must actively manage urban growth and attend related challenges for infrastructure, services, and markets. Interventions for *development from a secure base* could include labor rights protection in informal job segments; access to education so that migrants can transform their skills

¹⁶ Original Spanish name: *Ministerio de la Mujer y Poblaciones Vulnerables* (MIMP).

to match urban markets, according to their wishes and possibilities; voucher systems for flexible training programs; and micro credits to support entrepreneurship. Migrants' health must also be protected, including through universal health care, portable social protection, and adjustable social welfare systems, which could be supported by mobile money and digital identification systems (Clement et al. 2021; Rigaud et al. 2018; Schwan & Yu 2018). To improve migrants' space to live, it is key to address tenure insecurity in irregular settlements and facilitate access to public services. To this end, the state should guarantee titling and investments in viable zones without incentivizing new settlement in high-risk areas; improve land use management and land administration systems; and recognize customary land practices. In addition, cities must protect migrants against physical insecurity and pollution, as well as urban climate hazards and related displacement risk. As one example, the magnitude of challenges for Peru's cities related to glacier loss will depend on how they invest in buffering capacity while managing rising water demand (Veettil & Kamp 2019). Next, to support social relatedness, it is recommendable to strengthen diaspora organizations and community structures, social cohesion between host and migrant groups, and mechanisms against discrimination. Finally, SWB challenges are probable, and states should address them by backing personal coping mechanisms and community support. Mental health and psychosocial support for mental disorders is needed (Mukdarut et al. 2017; Tol et al. 2011) alongside positive psychology programs for mentally healthy, but SWB-deprived migrants (Hernandez & Overholser 2021; Koydemir et al. 2021). Social relationships and community resources are equally key for building psychological resilience that supports transformational responses to climate change (Adams et al. 2021). It is encouraging that Peru's National Action Plan to Avert and Address Forced Migration and Displacement due to the Effects of Climate Change,¹⁷ which is currently being developed, calls on the state to avoid the deterioration of migrants' well-being in the cities, to address rising demand on urban infrastructure and services, and to reduce the possibility of social conflicts. In addition, the Municipality of Lima, the city with the highest concentration of migrants in Peru and likely a primary destination for future climate migrants, has started work on the topic. Lima has actively collaborated in the Task Force of the Global Working Group of Mayors on Climate and Migration and helped to develop their Action Agenda (C40-MMC 2021). The Agenda is based on three priorities, namely (a) urban resilience, (b) urban inclusion, and (c) urban transformation, ten principles, six recommendations, and 27 proposed actions. When the Municipality of Lima consulted the author of this dissertation,

¹⁷ Original Spanish names: Ley N°30754 Ley marco sobre cambio climático. (2018, Law).

it announced that it would work on the implementation of the Action Agenda and focus on generating evidence and information (Garreta 2022). Moreover, Lima's Local Plan for Climate Change 2021–2030¹⁸ points to migrants as populations in potentially vulnerable situations and aims at reducing exposure and vulnerability in the city (MML 2021). If words are followed by action, these frameworks could help advance the protection of climate migrants. To end with, from a climate justice view, the international community must support cities in affected countries in these numerous tasks. Funding for adequate resources and personnel in public service provision is needed in cities with increasing immigration and natural growth, alongside remedies for loss and damage. Municipalities and city networks such as C40 can be stewards that create inclusionary cities (Lacroix 2021; Oomen 2020), especially in states with weak central governance or state disinterest, as discussed further below. Next, many of these recommendations for rural-to-urban migration due to gradual hazards also apply to large-scale forced, *acute* climate migration due to *abrupt* hazards. For such cases, it is additionally key to build bridges between DRR/DRM (such as better early warning) and sustained, people-centered displacement care (such as providing durable shelter and infrastructure as well as addressing physical insecurity). Concerned actors may also learn from the buffer effects of social relatedness observed in this study and devise strategies to strengthen social capital (Stojanov et al. 2021). Humanitarian assistance should be closely connected with development efforts, such as by involving the private sector in job recovery or through adaptive social protection (Béné et al. 2018; Bowen et al. 2020). The Costa case study also emphasizes that strategies against aid withdrawal and donor fatigue are needed, especially when future disasters will multiply and overstretch attention and resources that are already scarce today. Finally, states must work with, consult, and have displaced persons participate in finding durable solutions that fit their intersectional needs; as return is occasionally inconceivable or the best option, local integration and resettlement need to be duly considered (Bradley 2018; Harild & Christensen 2010). Figure 9.2 summarizes these recommended actions on migrants' well-being.

All things considered, to safeguard and improve people's well-being, concerned actors must address climate risks; improve structural constraints; and strengthen climate migrants' and stayers' agency. In particular, stakeholders must address the fact that structural constraints often create insurmountable obstacles for affected people. Especially weak governance emerges as a major barrier for

¹⁸ Original Spanish name: *Plan Local de Cambio Climático de la Provincia de Lima (PLCC)* 2021–2030.



Figure 9.2 Intervention options to safeguard and improve migrants' well-being. (Note: Created by the author)

raising well-being in climate (im)mobilities effectively, since it increases disaster risk (Ahrens & Rudolph 2006; Sen 2010; Tierney 2012) and impedes durable recovery (Shaw 2014). As the UN Secretary-General's Special Representative for DRR stated, "the biggest risk driver of all is bad risk governance" (UNDRR 2020: para. 22). For example, the weak DRR/DRM and climate adaptation governance witnessed in the case studies echo Peru's general governance problems, including corruption that has debilitated its democracy and economy for decades (Bigio & Ramírez 2017; Quiroz 2019). Therefore, on the one hand, it is necessary to provide comprehensive support for affected people that is, where necessary, decoupled from unwilling or incapable authorities. Alternative pathways include working through subnational actors, such as city networks (Lacroix 2021; Oomen 2020), or building resilience through NGOs. However, such action should not provide an easy way out for the state and avoid duplications or parallel systems (Fraser & Kirbyshire 2017; Medina 2021). On the other hand, the international community must invest in efforts to improve governance in countries with worsening climate risks (Patterson 2020). I have analyzed policies in Peru in detail before and demonstrated that existing legislation in various arenas provides a valid starting point to address climate migration (Bergmann et al. 2021a). Still, policy gaps persist; norms remain insufficiently interconnected; and financing and implementation gaps continue, especially at subnational levels (French et al. 2020; GFDRR 2010; Venkateswaran et al. 2017). The main recommendations

detailed in that prior study are briefly restated here. Policy improvements are needed for immobility and especially entrapment, which are still absent in most frameworks in Peru. For climate migration, the landmark project for strengthening government efforts should remain Peru's Action Plan to Avert and Address Forced Migration and Displacement due to the Effects of Climate Change (which is currently being drafted as envisaged in Peru's Climate Change Framework Law and the linked Regulation).¹⁹ In addition, updates of Peru's National Adaptation Plan (NAP), Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs), as well as other climate and agricultural strategies should integrate measures to enable people to stay if they can do so in safety and dignity²⁰ and support migrants under the five existing adaptation priority areas agriculture, fishery, forestry, health, and water.²¹ Besides policy improvements, Peru should strengthen intersectoral and multilevel coordination for integrated DRR/DRM, climate adaptation, and human rights protection, as well as streamline related institutional responsibilities. Increased international funding will be key to support effective governance Peru, but the country also requires better subnational capacities to absorb this funding in a manner consistent with the subsidiarity principle. Lastly, dedicated action to strengthen institutions and organizational capacities is required now in Peru and elsewhere (Cissé et al. 2022), as increasing climate impacts will challenge state institutions and might further impair the needed responses in the future (Mahadevia Ghimire 2021).

Nevertheless, this study also cautions that persistent structural constraints may be difficult to address and therefore highlights the simultaneous need for strengthening affected people's agency thoroughly. Bolstering agency is key because concerned states frequently lack political will and have limited capacities to meet their obligations to respect, protect, and fulfill the rights of people harmed by climate change (Aleinikoff & Martin under review). To this end, climate adaptation funding could sponsor community organization building and negotiation training for local leaders.²² Supporting citizens' campaigning skills could be another avenue, for instance, through access to watchdog networks or social

¹⁹ Original Spanish names: Ley N° 30,754 Ley marco sobre cambio climático (2018, Law); Decreto Supremo N°013-2019-MINAM que aprueba el Reglamento de la Ley N° 30,754 (2019, Regulation).

 $^{^{20}}$ Forced climate migration should be avoided where possible but must not be prevented at all costs, since it can be necessary to save lives in adverse situations.

²¹ Original Spanish names: *Plan Nacional de Adaptación al Cambio Climático del Perú*, Resolución Ministerial Nº096 -2021-MINAM; *Contribuciones Nacionalmente Determinadas del Perú 2015*; and *Reporte de Actualización de las NDC del Perú al 2030*.

²² This paragraph partially draws on my previous work published in Bergmann (2021).

media and media training. Moreover, projects could sponsor exchange between affected communities to promote peer-to-peer sharing of experiences and alliancebuilding. Enabling meaningful conversations within frontline communities and learning from them will be equally key (Climigration Network 2021). In addition, action to foster more horizontal relationships between communities and the state is advisable, for example, by integrating traditional knowledge in collaborative risk monitoring and assessment, by nurturing community-based self-reliance strategies, or by raising self-governance capacities through community-based DRM and climate adaptation (Bronen et al. 2020; Chapin et al. 2016; Forsyth 2013; Grube & Storr 2014; Norris et al. 2008; Shaw 2012). Finally, another promising avenue could consist in increasing support for migrants' own networks, such as hometown associations, which could help buffer hardship for newcomers, assist them during settling, and facilitate translocal ties to hometowns.

9.3 Research Avenues

Beyond providing new empirical insights for an emergent field of investigation, this study also indicates various directions where more knowledge is desirable.²³ The two key research needs I stress in the following are (a) holistic well-being assessments for heterogenous climate (im)mobility dynamics and (b) further evidence on effective solutions to enhance affected people's well-being.

First, scientists could improve the understanding of how climate change influences (im)mobilities and how affected people fare.²⁴ To begin with, climate immobility remains a major knowledge gap (Hoffmann et al. 2020); new studies could clarify concepts and apply comparative approaches to explore how people react to and anticipate hazards, what makes them unwilling or unable to move, how much agency they retain, and how their well-being develops over time (Mallick & Schanze 2020; Schewel 2020). Likewise, scholars should explore the interactions of multiple migration drivers more in detail, including the economic, political, and demographic drivers that currently remain understudied in Peru (such as consumer prices or conflict). Critically, few existing studies conduct climate impact analyses with adequate depth to date, even though these impacts can affect all migration drivers (Adger et al. 2015; Black et al. 2013). Interdisciplinary

²³ While I focus on *research* avenues here, the dissertation also bolsters calls for better *data* on climate (im)mobilities. A prior study of mine provides detailed recommendations for such data issues in Peru, see Bergmann et al. (2021a).

 $^{^{24}}$ This paragraph is partially based on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

research teams could provide one way forward to close this gap. One example of a topic that requires views from both natural and social science are climate threats to habitability and linked dynamics of settlement abandonment (McLeman 2011), including the possible social tipping points and feedback mechanisms witnessed in the Sierra case study. Simultaneously, studies could examine not only what makes people susceptible to primary or secondary displacement, but also where and why entrapment is a risk. Furthermore, for a fuller picture of how risk landscapes in Peru are shifting due to climate change, future studies are needed that expand their focus beyond smallholders as possibly affected groups. For example, research is also needed on how climate change harms marine livelihoods, the agroindustry, agricultural processing and distribution activities, off-farm livelihoods, as well as the secondary and tertiary sectors in general, and how such impacts affect climate (im)mobilities. In addition, while most existing work focuses on rural-to-urban climate migration, this study demonstrated that movements over small distances or limited periods of time within rural areas can also strongly affect well-being. Such micro-mobilities remain under the radar of research, policy, and donor attention in Peru and worldwide (Cundill et al. 2021; Safra de Campos et al. 2020).

Improving knowledge on why and how people move or stay in the context of climate hazards is a steppingstone to enhance the understanding of linked wellbeing impacts. To identify entry points for planning and policies that can support well-being, methodological innovation is needed. For example, mixed methods studies that combine qualitative data with longitudinal data and employ intersectional, intergenerational, and life course views might offer potential. Big data could also help study well-being but must be used carefully to protect respondents (Martin & Singh 2022). Moreover, it is indispensable that more studies use conceptual frameworks that facilitate holistic assessments of multidimensional well-being effects. The framework devised in this dissertation could be adjusted and applied to contexts outside of Peru; for example, emic research could help amend the applied objective measures of well-being according to local conceptualizations in regions of interest. Future research could also deepen the understanding of the indicators suggested in this analysis. On the one hand, studies on the social effects of (im)mobilities remain rare, although social relatedness affected all other well-being dimensions in this study and changed itself in mixed and unexpected way during (im)mobilities. Future migration studies must not overlook this key dimension of well-being. On the other hand, more analyses are needed on the long-term SWB effects of climate change (Fischer & van de Vliert 2011; Maddison & Rehdanz 2020), linked immobility (Farbotko & McMichael

2019; Mallick & Schanze 2020), and migration (Luhmann et al. 2012). Scholars could also clarify the exact interplays of all SWB elements (Pleeging et al. 2021a), for example, how views of the future affect SWB and motivation for action in the present. Further, as argued above, studies could use integrated, hedonic *and* eudaimonic approaches to analyze SWB holistically. More theoretical advancements on the impacts of migration and immobility would also be welcome. Finally, in order to improve the knowledge base and build better theories on the consequences of climate (im)mobilities, the propositions developed in chapter 8 could be operationalized into hypotheses that quantitative research could test in additional contexts (Morgan 2015). Long-term longitudinal studies could yield benefits for understanding both the causes and effects of climate (im)mobilities (KNOMAD 2016).

Second, besides integrated well-being assessments of climate (im)mobilities, this study also calls for research on effective solutions that help preserve or enhance well-being. To begin with, researchers should examine options for people wishing to stay, including in-place climate adaptation and DRR/DRM. For example, mapping, studying, and integrating traditional and Indigenous knowledge in livelihood adaptation to extreme climatic conditions should become a key research area (Makondo & Thomas 2018; Petzold et al. 2020). Further, although internal remittances have a significant volume in Peru (Sánchez Aguilar 2012a), their potential contribution to climate adaptation and the well-being of stayers remains understudied (as do threats to equality that may be linked to remittances) (Bergmann et al. 2021a). Concurrently, a better evidence base is needed on possible effective interventions to support people who wish to leave unsafe areas, since uninhabitability and the numbers of climate migrants are set to increase in many regions worldwide (Clement et al. 2021). Donors should fund high-quality program evaluations, such as through randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (Gazeaud et al. 2021; Meghir et al. 2022), on pre-migration assistance efforts, support for migrants to settle across polycentric destinations, and improved relocations. States must enhance the monitoring and evaluation of implemented relocations, not only in Peru (Bergmann 2021). Next, more research is needed on effective options to support migrants' well-being. Studies could examine the effectiveness of interventions to enhance migrants' resources to settle in decent conditions, according to their intersectional needs (Cundill et al. 2021; Erwin et al. 2021). Resources that might offer transformational potential could include skills training programs (Panth 2013; Ratha et al. 2015), Mental Health and Psychosocial Support (MHPSS) (Augustinavicius et al. 2018; Bangpan et al. 2019; Tol et al. 2012), and Positive Psychology interventions (Bolier et al. 2013; Carr et al. 2021). Programming could also benefit from more insights into how hopelessness can be

addressed in ethical ways without creating false hope (Cheavens & Guter 2017; Hernandez & Overholser 2021; Polivy & Herman 2002). Critically, beyond better evidence on options to support individuals, more studies are also needed on how to mitigate the varied structural factors that obstruct climate migrants' and stayers' chances to be well. Two key areas for research here are ways to improve land issues and weak governance, two of the major obstacles to achieving well-being. For example, studies should evaluate how more receptive modes of incorporation for migrants can be supported in destinations in durable ways so that receptivity persists even during crises. Generally speaking, an urban study perspective on climate migration is needed to advance research since cities will be key destinations for migrants. For example, scholars could examine which factors make certain cities likely destinations or source areas for climate migrants and which differentiated preparations for urban governance are needed depending on the characteristics of climate impacts, migration, and cities themselves (Adger et al. 2020; de Sherbinin et al. 2007; de Sherbinin et al. 2012; DePaul 2012; Stojanov et al. 2021). Action to support destinations remains another major research gap. For example, by what means can institutional and absorption capacities be bolstered while municipal resource constraints are addressed (UNDESA 2018)? In which ways can arrangements for multilevel coordination and accountability be augmented (Mukhopadhyay & Revi 2012; Srivastava 2020)? Simultaneously, how can regulatory environments be improved and planners' or policymakers' negative attitudes toward migration be changed (McLeman 2020; Tacoli 2009)? Moreover, this study emphasizes that more research is needed on how non-state actors influence affected people's well-being, and how they can be integrated in solutions. To date, collective actors such as hometown associations, faith-based organizations, social institutions, or local NGOs have received limited attention in climate migration studies (Pairama & Le Dé 2018). Similarly, options to integrate the private sector and local businesses (besides migrants themselves) into climate adaptation and DRR/DRM remain understudied (Adamo 2010; Gemenne et al. 2020; Tacoli 2007).

Finally, more knowledge is needed on how to support people's agency in the many zones worldwide where state protection is unlikely (Bergmann 2021; McMichael et al. 2019). For example, scholars could examine ways to connect affected individuals in peer learning networks and support groups (Block et al. 2018) or via peer-provided counseling in areas that lack specialist services (Graaff et al. 2020; WHO 2016). Studies may also explore how to increase affected people's financial resources for action through peer-to-peer lending, crowdfunding, and private sponsorship (Emanuel-Correia et al. 2021; Lenard 2016). Moreover, collaborative risk monitoring and assessment as well as citizen science could

contribute to climate adaptation (Bremer et al. 2019; Bronen et al. 2020; Groulx et al. 2017; Walker et al. 2021; Wehn et al. 2021). Lastly, researchers could assess how to enhance collective agency, for example by efforts to increase communities' capacity for "do-it-yourself" adaptation and resilience (Cloutier et al. 2018: 284; Koliou et al. 2018). As climate injustices and state failures are multiplying, more knowledge is also needed on programs that support collective resistance by bolstering community organization, support systems, grass root movements, civil disobedience, and protest (Chenoweth & Stephan 2008; Lemons & Brown 2011; Reeves et al. 2014).

9.4 Outlook

Extensive human activity affecting the Earth's geology and environment has ended the stable conditions of the Holocene and moved the planet into a new, human-dominated epoch, the Anthropocene (Steffen et al. 2018; Zalasiewicz et al. 2017; Zalasiewicz et al. 2020). As one feature of this transition, climate change is magnifying threats to live on Earth in an unparalleled fashion (IPCC 2022a), and ever more affected people are forced to decide whether to stay or leave their homes (Clement et al. 2021). It is difficult to foresee how the nexus between such climate (im)mobilities and well-being will evolve in the near and far future in Peru and worldwide. However, the well-being outcomes observed here provide an indication that worsening climate impacts could sharply reduce subsistence farmers' chances to fulfill their needs and perceive their lives as satisfactory, regardless of whether they stay or migrate after being affected by climate impacts.

In the near future, many climate impacts are strongly predetermined by committed warming due to past emissions (Huntingford et al. 2020; Zhou et al. 2021).²⁵ When current *gradual* hazards intensify as a result, one can expect that they will also amplify existing internal migration patterns in Peru, namely from rural to urban areas in all of the country, especially from the highlands to coastal cities and to some extent to the rainforest. Likewise, as *abrupt* hazards will become more severe and frequent in the next years, present displacement and relocation dynamics in Peru's coastal flood zones and its rainforest could expand. Simultaneously, entrapment could threaten gradually more poor farmers in marginalized rural zones. As structural conditions are unlikely to improve fast,

²⁵ Near-term climate change also depends on current rates of near-term climate forcers (NTCFs), but the exact extent (and therefore the scope for possible mitigation if NCTFs are reduced) remains an issue of research, see Allen et al. (2020); Collins et al. (2013); IPCC (2021); Nakajima et al. (2020); Smith & Mizrahi (2013).

current climate (im)mobilities provide valid temporal analog for understanding possible well-being effects in such near-future processes, and the findings of this study caution that the outcomes could be more negative than positive. People subjected to high structural constraints, affected by severe hazards, and possessing limited agency will be most at risk of misery.

By contrast, over the long run, many interactions between climate impacts, migration, and immobility are possible, and the well-being outcomes are less certain.²⁶ These interactions depend on global emissions and climate sensitivity, action taken to reduce exposure and vulnerability, demographic, societal, and political change, and other factors. My findings as well as the synopsis of both the climate and migration literature in Peru suggest that while the exact magnitude of challenges may differ depending on the pathway chosen, severe well-being threats are to be expected in most cases. Even in an optimistic scenario-in which emissions would be drastically reduced to limit global warming to 2 °C by 2100 compared to pre-industrial levels-strong climate impacts would threaten well-being in Peru in the long term. As one example, extensive gradual glacier retreat would cause severe water stress and raise questions of habitability in the Sierra (Pörtner et al. 2019; Vuille et al. 2018). As a result, internal improvement migration for livelihood diversification could continue to rise steadily and turn into distress movements over time, in parallel with entrapment risk in poor, disenfranchised zones. Simultaneously, the *abrupt* hazards causing disaster displacement in Peru would rise even in this more optimistic scenario. For example, even in lower emissions paths, extreme El Niño events will become more frequent in this century (Cai et al. 2018; IPCC 2019a; Peng et al. 2019) while settlements in exposed areas still grow (SINAGERD et al. 2014). Thus, the number of acute, forced survival migrants could rise and put gradually more people at risk of severe ill-being. Nonetheless, this lower-emissions future would grant Peruvian policymakers and society more leeway to prepare for and address impacts. First, certain development gains could still materialize and be invested in development and local climate adaptation to reduce vulnerabilities (Hallegatte et al. 2016) while the moderate and gradual nature of migration overall would grant more options to prepare. The state could incentivize polycentric settlement, while cities would have more time to devise protection mechanisms for migrants as well as to prepare public services, housing, infrastructure, and labor markets. In addition,

 $^{^{26}}$ The next paragraphs partially draw on my previous work published in Bergmann et al. (2021a).

concerned actors would retain better chances to reduce the risk of rapid displacement through DRR/DRM (Hallegatte et al. 2017), including by using softer, more well-being-preserving options than planned relocation.

However, if states continued their current path of climate action, the Earth could warm around 2.7 °C by 2100 (Climate Action Tracker 2021; WMO 2021) and the resultant climate hazards would become increasingly difficult to manage (Masson-Delmotte et al. 2021). In such a scenario, climate impacts could undo much of Peru's development progress and sharply increase vulnerabilities (Hallegatte et al. 2018; World Bank 2017c). In parallel, populations would continue to grow in highly exposed areas, resulting in salient climate risks across rural and urban zones. The adaptation option space would shrink extremely while loss and damage would multiply strongly (Mechler et al. 2020). Questions of habitability would become increasingly pressing due to three unparalleled "no-analog" climate threats in Peru, namely near-complete deglaciation and related water stress in the *Sierra*; extreme heat stress and a risk of rainforest dieback in the *Selva*; and more frequent extreme El Niño events on top of rising sea levels on the Costa (Bergmann et al. 2021a: 1). This study suggests that if such parallel and cumulative threats to habitability materialized, they could lead to both entrapment for large populations and unparalleled migration flows that would threaten people's well-being. Migration could become predominantly forced when climate impacts reduce resources to move in a safe manner, and as a result, migrants' vulnerabilities would increase. Key destinations such as Lima and regional capitals would be at risk of getting overwhelmed, both due to immigration and their own climate impacts, such as water scarcity (Buytaert et al. 2017; Schütze et al. 2019). One can imagine that at a future point in this scenario, a partial migration flow reversal could occur: if coastal cities would become overwhelmed and poor people living in their margins suffered from extreme water and food insecurity, they might start settling in the few remaining rural areas that still allow for subsistence agriculture. These zones would, in turn, experience rapidly growing populations that exert pressure on available resources and well-being. Shocks can induce such reversals of migration corridors, as seen most recently during the COVID-19 pandemic (Dupraz-Dobias 2020; Martin & Bergmann 2021). Also in pre-Hispanic Peru, monsoon-driven changes in water availability recurrently overwhelmed local adaptive capacities and induced migration from the coast to the highlands, and vice versa (Fehren-Schmitz et al. 2010; Fehren-Schmitz et al. 2014; Reindel 2009). Because the climate impacts in the future scenario discussed here could be more severe than in pre-Hispanic times and affect a more densely populated country, cities' capacities to ensure food security and provide basic services could be overstretched even when considering technological and
institutional advancements. Taken together, in this future climate scenario, adaptation in ways that preserve well-being ways would become impossible for large numbers of Peruvians.

To conclude, while this study cannot offer a definite answer to the question of future climate (im)mobilities in Peru, it cautions that the well-being threats related to migrating or staying could be extensive. As discussed earlier in this chapter, similar arguments apply for the large number of smallholders who live in similar conditions in many of the world's rural regions. Therefore, stringent efforts are required to reduce climate risks, protect stayers and migrants, and facilitate movement in dignity where needed. The recommendations presented here are all the more critical because well-being risks due to climate change can compound the effects of other shocks, such as conflicts and economic or health crises. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic strongly exacerbated vulnerabilities and inequalities and created new ones in Peru and worldwide. Similar as for the climate (im)mobilities studied here, those people subjected to most structural constraints and with least agency were hit hardest, and their well-being has continued to suffer from the ensuing health and economic crises (Abizaid et al. 2020; Carreras et al. 2021; Gamero & Pérez 2020; World Bank 2021b, 2021a). Globally, migrants have been among the most affected by the pandemic (Guadagno 2020; Martin & Bergmann 2021; Orcutt et al. 2020). Thus, as humankind is breaking more planetary boundaries in the Anthropocene (Lade et al. 2020; O'Neill et al. 2018), complex emergencies that threaten the well-being of large populations may become the new normal in numerous regions of the Earth.

Actions taken in this decade will be critical in determining the magnitude of future climate impacts, other shocks, resultant migration and immobility, and their well-being impacts. The prospect for mitigating climate impacts to a more manageable extent depends on the level of global ambition and the pace of change in emissions reduction. Simultaneously, policies and action to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals could contribute to reduce vulnerabilities and build resilience to shocks (IPCC 2022a). Improved climate adaptation targeted at vulnerable populations would bring multiple co-benefits, not least to increased resilience against other emergencies, such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, committed warming and locked-in climate impacts could make migration the only option in various zones of Peru and at-risk regions worldwide, while entrapment risk could rise simultaneously. Merely striving to deter migration is neither

likely to succeed, nor will it lead to positive well-being outcomes (Webber & Barnett 2010). Rather, building systems, capacities, and institutions for dealing with a changing landscape of (im)mobilities in a future world with increasing climate risks must be a priority. Not only local policymakers and civil society will need to join forces to enable adaptation in dignity and to safeguard people's well-being, but also the international community must finally meet its protection obligations in Peru and other at-risk regions globally.

Open Access This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.



References

- Abdurazakova, D. (2013) 'Social impact of international migration and remittances in Central Asia', Asia-Pacific Population Journal, 26/3: 29–54.
- Abizaid, C., Panduro, L. Á. C. and Egusquiza, S. G. (2020) 'Pobreza Y Medios De Subsistencia En La Amazonía Peruana En Tiempos De La Covid-19', *Journal of Latin American Geography*, 19/3: 202–14.
- Abubakar, I., et al. (2018) 'The UCL–Lancet Commission on Migration and Health: the health of a world on the move', *The Lancet*, 392/10164: 2606–54.
- Acosta, D. (2018) *The National Versus the Foreigner in South America: 200 Years of Migration and Citizenship Law.* Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Adamo, S. B. (2010) 'Environmental migration and cities in the context of global environmental change', *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 2/3: 161–65.
- Adamo, S. B. and de Sherbinin, A. M. (2014) 'Migration and Environmental Change in North America (USA and Canada)'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 135–53. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Adams, H. (2012) Migration decision-making under environmental change: Place utility, mobility and ecosystem services in highland Peru. Doctoral thesis, University of East Anglia.
- Adams, H. (2016) 'Why populations persist: mobility, place attachment and climate change', *Population and Environment*, 37/4: 429–48.
- Adams, H., et al. (2020) 'Multi-dimensional well-being associated with economic dependence on ecosystem services in deltaic social-ecological systems of Bangladesh', *Regional Environmental Change*, 20: 42.
- Adams, H. and Adger, W. N. (2013) 'The contribution of ecosystem services to place utility as a determinant of migration decision-making', *Environmental Research Letters*, 8/ 1: 15006.
- Adams, H., Blackburn, S. and Mantovani, N. (2021) 'Psychological resilience for climate change transformation: relational, differentiated and situated perspectives', *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 50: 303–09.
- Adams, S., et al. (2014) *Turn down the heat: confronting the new climate normal (Vol. 2): Main report (English).* World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- ADB (2012) Addressing climate change and migration in Asia and the Pacific. Asian Development Bank: Manila.

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s) 2024

J. Bergmann, At Risk of Deprivation, Studien zur Migrations- und

Integrationspolitik, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-42298-1

- Adger, W. N., et al. (2014) 'Human security'. In: Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Dokken, D. J., Mach, K. J., Mastrandrea, M. D., Bilir, T. E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K. L., Estrada, Y. O., Genova, R. C., Girma, B., Kissel, E. S., Levy, A. N., MacCracken, S., Mastrandrea, P. R., White, L. L. (eds.) Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp. 755–91. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, New York.
- Adger, W. N., et al. (2015) 'Focus on environmental risks and migration: causes and consequences', *Environmental Research Letters*, 10/6: 60201.
- Adger, W. N., et al. (2020) 'Urbanization, Migration, and Adaptation to Climate Change', *One Earth*, 3/4: 396–99.
- Adger, W. N. and Adams, H. (2013) 'Migration as an adaptation strategy to environmental change'. In: ISSC and UNESCO (eds.) World social science report 2013: Changing global environments, pp. 261–64. OECD Publishing: Paris.
- Adger, W. N., Safra de Campos, R. and Mortreux, C. (2018) 'Mobility, displacement and migration and their interactions with vulnerability and adaptation to environmental risks'.
 In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration*, pp. 29–41. Routledge: London.
- Adler, A. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2016) 'Using wellbeing for public policy: Theory, measurement, and recommendations', *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 6/1: 1–35.
- Adler, M. D., Fleurbaey, M. and Hurka, T. (2016) 'Objective Goods'. In: Adler, M. D., Fleurbaey, M., Hurka, T. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Well-Being and Public Policy*, Vol. 1, online resource. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Afifi, T., et al. (2016) 'Human mobility in response to rainfall variability: opportunities for migration as a successful adaptation strategy in eight case studies', *Migration and Development*, 5/2: 254–74.
- AFP (2021) 'Miles de migrantes climáticos viven hace años en campamentos en el desierto de Perú', France 24, 26.10.2021 accessed 25 April 2022.
- Ahrens, J. and Rudolph, P. M. (2006) 'The Importance of Governance in Risk Reduction and Disaster Management', Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management, 14/4: 207–20.
- Ahsan, M. N., et al. (2022) 'Promise, premise, and reality: the case of voluntary environmental non-migration despite climate risks in coastal Bangladesh', *Regional Environmental Change*, 22: 1.
- Aksel, S., et al. (2007) 'Migration and psychological status of adolescents in Turkey', Adolescence, 42/167: 589–602.
- Aksoy, C. G. and Poutvaara, P. (2019) 'Refugees' and Irregular Migrants' Self-Selection into Europe: Who Migrates Where?', *CESifo Working Paper*, 7781.
- Aksoy, C. G. and Poutvaara, P. (2021) 'Refugees' and irregular migrants' self-selection into Europe', *Journal of Development Economics*, 152: 102681.
- Alam, K. and Rahman, M. H. (2017) 'The Role of Women in Disaster Resilience'. In: Madu, C. N. and Kuei, C. (eds.) *Handbook of Disaster Risk Reduction & Management*, pp. 697– 719. World Scientific: Singapore.
- Alata, E., Fuentealba, B. and Recharte, J. (2018) 'El despoblamiento de la puna: efectos del cambio climático y otros factores', *Revista Kawsaypacha*, 2: 49–68.

- Alba, R. D. and Nee, V. (2005) *Remaking the American mainstream: Assimilation and contemporary immigration.* Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Albrecht, G., et al. (2007) 'Solastalgia: the distress caused by environmental change', *Australasian psychiatry : bulletin of Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists*, 15 Suppl 1: S95–8.
- Albrecht, G. (2011) 'Chronic Environmental Change: Emerging 'Psychoterratic' Syndromes'. In: Weissbecker, I. (ed.) Climate Change and Human Well-Being: Global Challenges and Opportunities, International and Cultural Psychology, pp. 43–56. Springer New York: New York.
- Aldridge, R. W., et al. (2018) 'Global patterns of mortality in international migrants: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *The Lancet*, 392/10164: 2553–66.
- Aleinikoff, T. A. (2020) 'Environmental Mobility: The Responsibility of the International Community', International Migration, 58/6: 254–57.
- Aleinikoff, T. A. and Martin, S. F. (under review) *Environmental Mobility Action: The responsibility of the international community in situations of mobility due to environmental events.*
- Alidu, L. and Grunfeld, E. A. (2018) 'A systematic review of acculturation, obesity and health behaviours among migrants to high-income countries', *Psychology & health*, 33/ 6: 724–45.
- Alix-Garcia, J., et al. (2018) 'Do refugee camps help or hurt hosts? The case of Kakuma, Kenya', *Journal of Development Economics*, 130: 66–83.
- Alix-Garcia, J. and Saah, D. (2010) 'The Effect of Refugee Inflows on Host Communities: Evidence from Tanzania', *The World Bank Economic Review*, 24/1: 148–70.
- Alkire, S. (2002) 'Dimensions of human development', World Development, 30/2: 181-205.
- Alkire, S. (2016) 'Measures of Human Development: Key Concepts and Properties', OPHI Working Paper, 107.
- Allen, R. J., et al. (2020) 'Climate and air quality impacts due to mitigation of non-methane near-term climate forcers', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 20/16: 9641–63.
- Alloush, M., et al. (2017) 'Economic Life in Refugee Camps', World Development, 95: 334– 47.
- Altamirano, T., et al. (2004) 'Universal and Local Understanding of Poverty in Peru', Global Social Policy: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Public Policy and Social Development, 4/ 3: 313–36.
- Altamirano Girao, F. (2012) Escenarios de migraciones (forzadas) ante el cambio climático global : el caso de la comunidad andina de Cruz de Mayo (Parón) y la Laguna Parón. Master's thesis, Universidad Internacional de Andalucía.
- Altamirano Rua, T. (2014) *Refugiados ambientales: cambio climatico y migracion forzada.* Fondo editorial de la Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú: Lima.
- Altamirano Rua, T. (2021) *Refugiados ambientales: Cambio climático y migración forzada: Segunda Edición.* Fondo editorial de la Pontificia Universidad Católica del Perú: Lima.
- Alvarez, J.-L. (2008) 'Wellbeing and institutions'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted, pp. 153–84. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Álvarez, J. L., et al. (2008) 'Resources, Conflict, and Social Identity in Context'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted, pp. 31–60. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.

- ANA (2018) Compendio nacional de estadísticas de recursos hídricos 2017. Autoridad Nacional del Agua (ANA): Lima.
- Andres, N., et al. (2014) 'Water resources and climate change impact modelling on a daily time scale in the Peruvian Andes', *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 59/11: 2043–59.
- Andrews, O., et al. (2018) 'Implications for workability and survivability in populations exposed to extreme heat under climate change: a modelling study', *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 2/12: e540-e547.
- Anglim, J., et al. (2020) 'Predicting psychological and subjective well-being from personality: A meta-analysis', *Psychological bulletin*, 146/4: 279–323.
- Annas, J. (2004) 'Happiness as achievement', Daedalus, 133/2: 44-51.
- Anthias, F. (2008) 'Thinking through the lens of translocational positionality: An intersectionality frame for understanding identity and belonging', *Translocations: Migration and Social Change*, 4: 5–20.
- Anthoff, D., et al. (2006) 'Global and regional exposure to large rises in sea-level: a sensitivity analysis', *Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research Working Paper*, 96.
- Ao, X., Jiang, D. and Zhao, Z. (2016) 'The impact of rural–urban migration on the health of the left-behind parents', *China Economic Review*, 37: 126–39.
- Aragón, F. M., Oteiza, F. and Rud, J. P. (2018) 'Climate change and agriculture: farmer adaptation to extreme heat', *LSE Grantham Institute Working Paper*.
- Aragón, F. M., Oteiza, F. and Rud, J. P. (2021) 'Climate Change and Agriculture: Subsistence Farmers' Response to Extreme Heat', *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 13/ 1: 1–35.
- Ariyabandu, M. M. (2009) 'Sex, Gender and Gender Relations in Disasters'. In: Enarson, E., Chakrabarti, P. G., Enarson, E. P., Dhar Chakrabarti, P. G. (eds.) Women, gender and disaster: Global issues and initiatives, pp. 5–17. Sage: Los Angeles.
- Arnall, A. (2019) 'Resettlement as climate change adaptation: what can be learned from state-led relocation in rural Africa and Asia?', *Climate and Development*, 11/3: 253–63.
- Asgary, R., Emery, E. and Wong, M. (2013) 'Systematic review of prevention and management strategies for the consequences of gender-based violence in refugee settings', *International health*, 5/2: 85–91.
- ASHG (2018) 'ASHG Denounces Attempts to Link Genetics and Racial Supremacy', American journal of human genetics, 103/5: 636.
- Ashraf, M. A. and Azad, M. A. K. (2015) 'Gender Issues in Disaster: Understanding the Relationships of Vulnerability, Preparedness and Capacity', *Environment and Ecology Research*, 3/5: 136–42.
- Atkinson, R. and Flint, J. (2001) 'Accessing hidden and hard-to-reach populations: Snowball research strategies', *Social research update*, 33/1: 1–4.
- Augustinavicius, J. L., et al. (2018) 'Monitoring and evaluation of mental health and psychosocial support programs in humanitarian settings: a scoping review of terminology and focus', *Conflict and health*, 12: 9.
- Aybar, C., et al. (2020) 'Construction of a high-resolution gridded rainfall dataset for Peru from 1981 to the present day', *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 65/5: 770–85.
- Ayeb-Karlsson, S., Smith, C. D. and Kniveton, D. (2018) 'A discursive review of the textual use of 'trapped' in environmental migration studies: The conceptual birth and troubled teenage years of trapped populations', AMBIO, 47/5: 557–73.

- Azizi, S. (2021) 'The impacts of workers' remittances on poverty and inequality in developing countries', *Empirical Economics*, 60/2: 969–91.
- Baas, M. and Yeoh, B. S. A. (2019) 'Introduction: Migration studies and critical temporalities', *Current Sociology*, 67/2: 161–68.
- Badjeck, M.-C. (2008) Vulnerability of coastal fishing communities to climate variability and change: implications for fisheries livelihoods and management in Peru. Doctoral thesis, University of Bremen.
- Badjeck, M.-C., et al. (2009) 'Climate variability and the Peruvian scallop fishery: the role of formal institutions in resilience building', *Climatic Change*, 94/1–2: 211–32.
- Baez, J., et al. (2017a) 'Droughts augment youth migration in Northern Latin America and the Caribbean', *Climatic Change*, 140/3–4: 423–35.
- Baez, J., et al. (2017b) 'Heat Exposure and Youth Migration in Central America and the Caribbean', American Economic Review, 107/5: 446–50.
- Bailey, T. C., et al. (2007) 'Hope and optimism as related to life satisfaction', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 2/3: 168–75.
- Baker, S. E., Edwards, R. and Doidge, M. (2012) 'How many qualitative interviews is enough?: Expert voices and early career reflections on sampling and cases in qualitative research', *National Centre for Research Methods Review Paper*.
- Bakewell, O. (2010) 'Some Reflections on Structure and Agency in Migration Theory', Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 36/10: 1689–708.
- Baldacchino, G. (2018) 'Seizing history: development and non-climate change in Small Island Developing States', Int J of Cl Chan Strat and Man, 10/2: 217–28.
- Balderrama, C. (2011) 'Rural migration in Bolivia: the impact of climate change, economic crisis and state policy', *Human Settlements Working Paper Series—Rural-Urban Interactions and Livelihood Strategies*, 31.
- Baldwin, A. (2016) 'Premediation and white affect: climate change and migration in critical perspective', *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 41/1: 78–90.
- Baldwin, A., Methmann, C. and Rothe, D. (2014) 'Securitizing 'climate refugees': the futurology of climate-induced migration', *Critical Studies on Security*, 2/2: 121–30.
- Baldwin-Edwards, M. (2008) 'Towards a Theory of Illegal Migration: historical and structural components', *Third World Quarterly*, 29/7: 1449–59.
- Banerjee, S., et al. (2014) 'The Changing Hindu Kush Himalayas: Environmental Change and Migration'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 205–27. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Banerjee, S., et al. (2017) 'Do Financial Remittances Build Household-Level Adaptive Capacity? A Case Study of Flood-Affected Households in India', KNOMAD Working Papers, 16.
- Banerjee, S., Gerlitz, J.-Y. and Kniveton, D. (2013) 'A Methodology for Assessing Patterns of Labour Migration in Mountain Communities Exposed to Water Hazards'. In: Faist, T. and Schade, J. (eds.) Disentangling Migration and Climate Change: Methodologies, Political Discourses and Human Rights, pp. 81–100. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Bangpan, M., Lambert, F. and Dickson, K. (2019) 'Mental health and psychosocial support programmes for adults in humanitarian emergencies: a systematic review and metaanalysis in low and middle-income countries', *BMJ Global Health*, 4/5: e001484.

- Bardsley, D. K. and Hugo, G. J. (2010) 'Migration and climate change: examining thresholds of change to guide effective adaptation decision-making', *Population and Environment*, 32/2–3: 238–62.
- Barichivich, J., et al. (2018) 'Recent intensification of Amazon flooding extremes driven by strengthened Walker circulation', *Science advances*, 4/9: eaat8785.
- Barnett, J. R. and Adger, W. N. (2018) 'Mobile Worlds: Choice at the Intersection of Demographic and Environmental Change', Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 43/ 1: 245–65.
- Barrantes, R. and Busse, P. (2014) *Salud, vulnerabilidades, desigualdades.* IEP Ediciones: Lima.
- Barrón, M. (2008) 'Exclusion and discrimination as sources of inter-ethnic inequality in Peru', *Economia*, 61/31: 51–80.
- Bartels, M. and Boomsma, D. I. (2009) 'Born to be happy? The etiology of subjective wellbeing', *Behavior genetics*, 39/6: 605–15.
- Bartram, D. (2010) 'Economic Migration and Happiness: Comparing Immigrants' and Natives' Happiness Gains from Income', *SSRN Electronic Journal*.
- Bartram, D., et al. (2013) 'Review of studies on migration, happiness and well-being'. In: Laczko, F. and Appave, G. (eds.) World migration report 2013: Migrant well-being and development, pp. 86–104. International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva.
- Bartram, D. (2015) 'Migration and Quality of Life in the Global Context'. In: Glatzer, W., Camfield, L., Møller, V., Rojas, M. (eds.) Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents, pp. 491–503. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Bastia, T. (2014) 'Intersectionality, migration and development', Progress in Development Studies, 14/3: 237–48.
- Basu, J. (2021) 'CoP26: Not on official agenda but Loss & Damage comeback gives hope, say experts', *Down To Earth*, 01.12.2021 <<u>https://www.downtoearth.org.in/news/cli</u> mate-change/cop26-not-on-official-agenda-but-loss-damage-comeback-gives-hope-sayexperts-80467> accessed 27 December 2021.
- Bates, D. C. (2002) 'Environmental refugees? Classifying human migrations caused by environmental change', *Population and Environment*, 23/5: 465–77.
- Bauloz, C., Vathi, Z. and Acosta, D. (2019) 'Migration, inclusion and social cohesion: Challenges, recent developments and opportunities'. In: McAuliffe, M., Khadria, B., Bauloz, C. (eds.) *World migration report 2020*, Vol. 14. 10th edn., pp. 185–206. International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- Bayer, A. M., et al. (2014) 'An unforgettable event: a qualitative study of the 1997–98 El Niño in northern Peru', *Disasters*, 38/2: 351–74.
- Bazzi, S., et al. (2016) 'Skill Transferability, Migration, and Development: Evidence from Population Resettlement in Indonesia', *American Economic Review*, 106/9: 2658–98.
- Beck, H. E., et al. (2018) 'Present and future Köppen-Geiger climate classification maps at 1-km resolution', *Scientific Data*, 5.
- Bedford, C., Bedford, R. and Ho, E. (2009) The Social Impacts of Short-term Migration for Employment: A Review of Recent Literature. Research report for NZAID. University of Waikato: Hamilton.
- Beine, M., Bertoli, S. and Fernández-Huertas Moraga, J. (2016) 'A Practitioners' Guide to Gravity Models of International Migration', *The World Economy*, 39/4: 496–512.

- Beine, M., Docquier, F. and Rapoport, H. (2008) 'Brain Drain and Human Capital Formation in Developing Countries: Winners and Losers', *The Economic Journal*, 118/528: 631–52.
- Beine, M. and Jeusette, L. (2021) 'A meta-analysis of the literature on climate change and migration', *Journal of Demographic Economics*, 87/3: 293–344.
- Belmin, C., et al. (2022) 'Fertility transition powered by women's access to electricity and modern cooking fuels', *Nature Sustainability*, 5/3: 245–53.
- Bendandi, B. (2020) 'Migration induced by climate change and environmental degradation in the Central Mediterranean Route'. In: Fargues, P. and Rango, M. (eds.) *Migration in West and North Africa and across the Mediterranean: Trends, risks, development and governance*, pp. 318–29. International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- Bendandi, B. and Pauw, P. (2016) 'Remittances for Adaptation: An 'Alternative Source' of International Climate Finance?'. In: Milan, A., Schraven, B., Warner, K., Cascone, N. (eds.) *Migration, Risk Management and Climate Change: Evidence and Policy Responses*, pp. 195–211. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Béné, C., Cornelius, A. and Howland, F. (2018) 'Bridging Humanitarian Responses and Long-Term Development through Transformative Changes—Some Initial Reflections from the World Bank's Adaptive Social Protection Program in the Sahel', *Sustainability*, 10/6: 1697.
- Bennett, C. M. and McMichael, A. J. (2010) 'Non-heat related impacts of climate change on working populations', *Global health action*, 3/1: 5640.
- Benveniste, H., Oppenheimer, M. and Fleurbaey, M. (2022) 'Climate change increases resource-constrained international immobility', *Nature Climate Change*, 12/7: 634–41.
- Berelson, B. (1952) Content Analysis in Communication Research. Free Press: Glencoe.
- Bergman, M. M. (2018) 'The Century of Migration and the Contribution of Mixed Methods Research', *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12/4: 371–73.
- Bergmann, J. (2019) *The Role of Population Movements in Dealing with Climate Hazards in Peru: Systematically disentangling a Gordian relationship.* Master's thesis, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin.
- Bergmann, J., et al. (2021a) Assessing the Evidence: Climate Change and Migration in Peru. International Organization for Migration; Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research: Geneva, Potsdam.
- Bergmann, J. (2021) 'Planned relocation in Peru: advancing from well-meant legislation to good practice', *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences*, 11/3: 365–75.
- Bergmann, J., et al. (2021b) 'Too much, too little water: Addressing climate risks, no-analog threats and migration in Peru', *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Policy Brief Series*, 6/1.
- Berkes, F. and Ross, H. (2013) 'Community resilience: toward an integrated approach', Society & Natural Resources, 26/1: 5–20.
- Berlemann, M. and Steinhardt, M. F. (2017) 'Climate Change, Natural Disasters, and Migration—a Survey of the Empirical Evidence', CESifo Economic Studies, 63/4: 353–85.
- Berlin, I. (1969) Four essays on liberty. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Bernales, D. (2019) "We are not a slum; we are a city": Evaluation of "New City of Belen" and its inhabitants response. Master's thesis, TU Berlin.
- Bernard, A. and Bell, M. (2018) Internal migration and education: A cross-national comparison: Background report to the 2019 UNESCO Global Education Monitoring Report: Paris.

- Bernardo, A. B. (2010) 'Extending hope theory: Internal and external locus of trait hope', *Personality and Individual Differences*, 49/8: 944–49.
- Berrang-Ford, L., et al. (2021) 'A systematic global stocktake of evidence on human adaptation to climate change', *Nature Climate Change*, 11/11: 989–1000.
- Berrang-Ford, L., Ford, J. D. and Paterson, J. (2011) 'Are we adapting to climate change?', Global Environmental Change, 21/1: 25–33.
- Berrang-Ford, L., Pearce, T. and Ford, J. D. (2015) 'Systematic review approaches for climate change adaptation research', *Regional Environmental Change*, 15/5: 755–69.
- Berry, J. W. (1992) 'Acculturation and Adaptation in a New Society', *International Migra*tion, 30: 69–85.
- Berry, J. W. (1997) 'Immigration, Acculturation, and Adaptation', Applied Psychology, 46/ 1: 5–34.
- Berry, J. W. (2009) 'A critique of critical acculturation', *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 33/5: 361–71.
- Berry, J. W. (2016) 'Theories and models of acculturation'. In: Schwartz, S. J. and Unger, J. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Acculturation and Health: Oxford Handbooks Online*, pp. 15–28. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Bertana, A. (2020) 'The role of power in community participation: Relocation as climate change adaptation in Fiji', *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space*, 38/5: 902–19.
- Bettini, G. (2013) 'Climate Barbarians at the Gate? A critique of apocalyptic narratives on 'climate refugees', *Geoforum*, 45: 63–72.
- Bettini, G. and Gioli, G. (2016) 'Waltz with development: insights on the developmentalization of climate-induced migration', *Migration and Development*, 5/2: 171–89.
- Bettini, G., Nash, S. L. and Gioli, G. (2017) 'One step forward, two steps back? The fading contours of (in)justice in competing discourses on climate migration', *The Geographical Journal*, 183/4: 348–58.
- Betts, A., et al. (2014) *Refugee economies: Rethinking popular assumptions*. University of Oxford: Oxford.
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2022) Social Science Research—Principles, Methods, And Practices. LibreTexts: California, USA.
- Bhopal, R. (2004) 'Glossary of terms relating to ethnicity and race: for reflection and debate', Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 58/6: 441–45.
- Biermann, P., Bitzer, J. and Gören, E. (2022) 'The relationship between age and subjective well-being: Estimating within and between effects simultaneously', *The Journal of the Economics of Ageing*, 21: 100366.
- Biernacki, P. and Waldorf, D. (1981) 'Snowball sampling: Problems and techniques of chain referral sampling', Sociological methods & research, 10/2: 141–63.
- Bigio, S. and Ramírez, N. (2017) 'Corrupción e indicadores de desarrollo en el Perú y el mundo: una revisión empírica', Asociación Peruana De Economía—Documento de trabajo, No. 111.
- Bilsborrow, R. E. (1992) 'Population growth, internal migration, and environmental degradation in rural areas of developing countries', *European Journal of Population*, 8/2: 125–48.
- Birkmann, J., et al. (2022) 'Poverty, livelihoods and sustainable development'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.) *Climate*

Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, In press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.

- Black, R., et al. (2011a) 'Climate change: Migration as adaptation', *Nature*, 478/7370: 447–49.
- Black, R., et al. (2011b) 'The effect of environmental change on human migration', *Global Environmental Change*, 21: S3-S11.
- Black, R., et al. (2013) 'Migration, immobility and displacement outcomes following extreme events', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 27: S32-S43.
- Black, R. and Collyer, M. (2014) 'Populations 'trapped' at times of crisis', Forced Migration Review, 45: 52–55.
- Bloch, A. (2007) 'Methodological challenges for national and multi-sited comparative survey research', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 20/2: 230–47.
- Blocher, J. et al. (eds.) (2021a) Assessing the evidence: Climate change and migration in the United Republic of Tanzania. International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva.
- Blocher, J., et al. (2021b) Hot, wet and deserted: Climate Change and Internal Displacement in India, Peru, and Tanzania. Insights from the EPICC Project: Background Paper for the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre GRID 2021: Geneva.
- Block, A. M., et al. (2018) 'Peer Support Groups: Evaluating a Culturally Grounded, Strengths-Based Approach for Work With Refugees', *Advances in Social Work*, 18/3: 930–48.
- Boas, I., Dahm, R. and Wrathall, D. J. (2020) 'Grounding Big Data on Climate-Induced Human Mobility', *Geographical Review*, 110/1–2: 195–209.
- Boccagni, P. (2016) 'Searching for Well-being in Care Work Migration: Constructions, Practices and Displacements among Immigrant Women in Italy', *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society*, 23/2: 284–306.
- Boccagni, P. (2017) 'Aspirations and the subjective future of migration: comparing views and desires of the "time ahead" through the narratives of immigrant domestic workers', *Comparative migration studies*, 5/1: 4.
- Bodmer, R., et al. (2018) 'Major shifts in Amazon wildlife populations from recent intensification of floods and drought', *Conservation biology : the journal of the Society for Conservation Biology*, 32/2: 333–44.
- Bogner, A. and Menz, W. (2009) 'The Theory-Generating Expert Interview: Epistemological Interest, Forms of Knowledge, Interaction'. In: Bogner, A., Littig, B., Menz, W. (eds.) *Interviewing Experts*. 1st edn., pp. 43–80. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Bolier, L., et al. (2013) 'Positive psychology interventions: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies', *BMC Public Health*, 13/1: 119.
- Bonanno, G. A., et al. (2010) 'Weighing the Costs of Disaster: Consequences, Risks, and Resilience in Individuals, Families, and Communities', *Psychological science in the public interest : a journal of the American Psychological Society*, 11/1: 1–49.
- Bonanno, G. A., Westphal, M. and Mancini, A. D. (2011) 'Resilience to loss and potential trauma', Annual review of clinical psychology, 7: 511–35.
- Borderon, M., et al. (2018) 'A systematic review of empirical evidence on migration influenced by environmental change in Africa', *IIASA Working Paper*, 18–003.
- Borderon, M., et al. (2019) 'Migration influenced by environmental change in Africa: A systematic review of empirical evidence', *Demographic Research*, 41/18: 491–544.

- Borjas, G. J., Bronars, S. G. and Trejo, S. J. (1992) 'Self-selection and internal migration in the United States', *Journal of Urban Economics*, 32/2: 159–85.
- Borma, L. S., Nobre, C. A. and Cardoso, M. F. (2013) 'Response of the Amazon Tropical Forests to Deforestation, Climate, and Extremes, and the Occurrence of Drought and Fire'. In: Pielke, R. A. (ed.) *Climate Vulnerability: Understanding and Addressing Threats* to Essential Resources: Volume 2: Vulnerability of Human Food Resources to Climate, pp. 153–63. Academic Press: Cambridge.
- Boulton, C. A., Lenton, T. M. and Boers, N. (2022) 'Pronounced loss of Amazon rainforest resilience since the early 2000s', *Nature Climate Change*, 12/3: 271–78.
- Bourdieu, P. and Wacquant, L. J. D. (2004) An invitation to reflexive sociology. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Bowen, T., et al. (2020) Adaptive Social Protection: Building Resilience to Shocks: Building resilience to shocks. International development in focus. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Bower, E. and Weerasinghe, S. (2021) Leaving Place, Restoring Home: Enhancing the Evidence Base on Planned Relocation Cases in the Context of Hazards, Disasters, and Climate Change. Platform on Disaster Displacement (PDD); UNSW; Kaldor Centre for International Refugee Law: Geneva.
- Boyd, M. (1989) 'Family and Personal Networks in International Migration: Recent Developments and New Agendas', *International Migration Review*, 23/3: 638–70.
- Bradley, M. (2018) 'Durable Solutions and the Right of Return for IDPs: Evolving Interpretations', *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 30/2: 218–42.
- Brandenberger, J., et al. (2019) 'A systematic literature review of reported challenges in health care delivery to migrants and refugees in high-income countries—the 3C model', *BMC public health*, 19/1: 755.
- Brandt, R., Kaenzig, R. and Lachmuth, S. (2016) 'Migration as a Risk Management Strategy in the Context of Climate Change: Evidence from the Bolivian Andes'. In: Milan, A., Schraven, B., Warner, K., Cascone, N. (eds.) *Migration, Risk Management and Climate Change: Evidence and Policy Responses*, pp. 43–61. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Braun, B. and Aßheuer, T. (2011) 'Floods in megacity environments: vulnerability and coping strategies of slum dwellers in Dhaka/Bangladesh', *Natural Hazards*, 58/2: 771–87.
- Braybrooke, D. (1987) Meeting needs. Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- Bremer, S., et al. (2019) "My new routine': Assessing the impact of citizen science on climate adaptation in Bangladesh', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 94: 245–57.
- Brettell, C. B. (2014) 'Theorizing migration in anthropology'. In: Brettell, C. B. and Hollifield, J. F. (eds.) *Migration theory: Talking across disciplines*, pp. 148–97. Routledge: New York.
- Brettell, C. B. (2016) 'Perspectives on Migration Theory—Anthropology'. In: White, M. J. (ed.) International Handbook of Migration and Population Distribution, International Handbooks of Population, Vol. 6, pp. 41–68. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Brettell, C. B. and Hollifield, J. F. (2014a) 'Introduction: Migration Theory Talking Across Disciplines'. In: Brettell, C. B. and Hollifield, J. F. (eds.) *Migration theory: Talking across disciplines*, pp. 1–37. Routledge: New York.
- Brettell, C. B. and Hollifield, J. F. (eds.) (2014b) *Migration theory: Talking across disciplines*. Routledge: New York.

- Brickman, P. (1971) 'Hedonic relativism and planning the good society'. In: Appley, M. H. (ed.) Adaptation-level theory: A Symposium on Adaptation-Level (AL) Theory held at the University of Massachusetts at Amherst, on May 7–9, 1970, pp. 287–301. Academic Press: New York.
- Brickman, P., Coates, D. and Janoff-Bulman, R. (1978) 'Lottery winners and accident victims: Is happiness relative?', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 36/8: 917–27.
- Bronen, R., et al. (2020) 'Usteq: integrating Indigenous knowledge and social and physical sciences to coproduce knowledge and support community-based adaptation', *Polar Geography*, 43/2–3: 188–205.
- Bronen, R. and Chapin, F. S. (2013) 'Adaptive governance and institutional strategies for climate-induced community relocations in Alaska', *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 110/23: 9320–25.
- Bronfman, N. C., et al. (2019) 'Natural disaster preparedness in a multi-hazard environment: Characterizing the sociodemographic profile of those better (worse) prepared', *PloS one*, 14/4: e0214249.
- Brookings, Georgetown University and UNHCR (2015) *Guidance On Protecting People From Disasters And Environmental Change Through Planned Relocation.* The Brookings Institution: Washington, D.C.
- Broom, F. (2021) 'Developing countries 'deeply frustrated' by COP26 outcome', *SciDe-vNet*, 15.11.2021 https://www.scidev.net/global/news/developing-countries-deeply-frustrated-by-cop26-outcome/ accessed 27 December 2021.
- Brubaker, M., et al. (2011) 'Climate change and health effects in Northwest Alaska', *Global health action*, 4/1: 8445.
- Bruijn, B. de (2009) 'The living conditions and well-being of refugees', *Human Development Research Paper Series*, 25.
- Bruininks, P. and Malle, B. F. (2005) 'Distinguishing Hope from Optimism and Related Affective States', *Motivation and Emotion*, 29/4: 324–52.
- Bryman, A. (2006) 'Integrating quantitative and qualitative research: how is it done?', Qualitative Research, 6/1: 97–113.
- Burrows, K. and Kinney, P. L. (2016) 'Exploring the Climate Change, Migration and Conflict Nexus', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13/4: 443.
- Bury, J. T., et al. (2011) 'Glacier recession and human vulnerability in the Yanamarey watershed of the Cordillera Blanca, Peru', *Climatic Change*, 105/1–2: 179–206.
- Bury, S. M., Wenzel, M. and Woodyatt, L. (2016) 'Giving hope a sporting chance: Hope as distinct from optimism when events are possible but not probable', *Motivation and Emotion*, 40/4: 588–601.
- Busseri, M. A. (2018) 'Examining the structure of subjective well-being through metaanalysis of the associations among positive affect, negative affect, and life satisfaction', *Personality and Individual Differences*, 122: 68–71.
- Bustamante, L. H. U., et al. (2018) 'Stress, trauma, and posttraumatic stress disorder in migrants: a comprehensive review', *Revista brasileira de psiquiatria*, 40/2: 220–25.
- Buunk, A. P. and Gibbons, F. X. (2007) 'Social comparison: The end of a theory and the emergence of a field', *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 102/1: 3–21.
- Buytaert, W., et al. (2017) 'Glacial melt content of water use in the tropical Andes', *Environmental Research Letters*, 12/11: 114014.

- Buytaert, W. and de Bièvre, B. (2012) 'Water for cities: The impact of climate change and demographic growth in the tropical Andes', *Water Resources Research*, 48/8: W08503.
- C40-MMC (2021) Action Agenda on Climate and Migration: C40 Cities Leadership Group Mayors Migration Council, C40 Cities Leadership Group Mayors Migration Council https://migrationnetwork.un.org/resources/c40-mmc-global-mayors-action-agenda-climate-and-migration> accessed 19 February 2022.
- Cai, W., et al. (2015) 'Increased frequency of extreme La Niña events under greenhouse warming', *Nature Climate Change*, 5/2: 132–37.
- Cai, W., et al. (2018) 'Increased variability of eastern Pacific El Niño under greenhouse warming', *Nature*, 564/7735: 201–06.
- Calderón, J. C., et al. (2015) 'On the path to progress: improving living conditions in Peru's slum settlements', ODI Case Study Report Urban Poverty, June 2015.
- Calliari, E., Serdeczny, O. M. and Vanhala, L. (2020) 'Making sense of the politics in the climate change loss & damage debate', *Global Environmental Change*, 64: 102133.
- Caminade, C., McIntyre, K. M. and Jones, A. E. (2019) 'Impact of recent and future climate change on vector-borne diseases', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1436/1: 157–73.
- Campbell, A. and Converse, P. E. (eds.) (1972) *The human meaning of social change. Publications of Russell Sage foundation.* Russell Sage Foundation: New York.
- Campbell, J. and Bedford, R. (2014) 'Migration and Climate Change in Oceania'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 177–204. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Cantor, D. J. (2015) Law, Policy and Practice Concerning the Humanitarian Protection of Aliens on a Temporary Basis in the Context of Disasters: Background Paper, States of the Regional Conference on Migration and Others in the Americas, Regional Workshop on Temporary Protection Status and/or Humanitarian Visas in Situations of Disaster, 10–11 February 2015: San José, Costa Rica. Nansen Initiative.
- Cantor, D. J. (2016) 'Migrants and natural disasters: National law, policy and practice in the Americas', *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Policy Brief Series*, 2/February 2016.
- Cárdenas, M., Di Maro, V. and Sorkin, I. (2009) 'Migration and life satisfaction: evidence from Latin America', *Journal of Business Strategies*, 26/1: 9–34.
- Cardona, O.-D., et al. (2012) 'Determinants of Risk: Exposure and Vulnerability'. In: Field, C. B., Barros, V., Stocker, T. F., Dahe, Q. (eds.) Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change, pp. 65–108. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Carpenter, A. and Quispe-Agnoli, M. (2015) 'A Comparison of Economic and Social Implications of Rapid Urbanization in Lima and Santiago de Chile', *Perspectives on Global Development and Technology*, 14/5: 497–518.
- Carr, A., et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 16/6: 749–69.
- Carranza, C. C. (2016) 'Die peruanische Wirtschaft zu Beginn des 21. Jahrhunderts'. In: Paap, I. and Schmidt-Welle, F. (eds.) Peru heute: Politik, Wirtschaft, Kultur, Bibliotheca Ibero-Americana, Band 166, pp. 93–116. Verlag Vervuert: Frankfurt a.M.
- Carrasco-Escobar, G., et al. (2020) 'Revealing the air pollution burden associated with internal Migration in Peru', *Scientific reports*, 10/1: 7147.

- Carreras, M., Vera, S. and Visconti, G. (2021) 'A Tale of Two Pandemics: Economic Inequality and Support for Containment Measures in Peru', *Journal of Politics in Latin America*, 13/3: 358–75.
- Carver, C. S. and Scheier, M. F. (2014) 'Dispositional optimism', Trends in cognitive sciences, 18/6: 293–99.
- Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F. and Segerstrom, S. C. (2010) 'Optimism', *Clinical psychology review*, 30/7: 879–89.
- Castañeda, J. V., et al. (2020) 'Understanding the culture of natural disaster preparedness: exploring the effect of experience and sociodemographic predictors', *Natural Hazards*, 103/2: 1881–904.
- Castellanos, E., et al. (2022) 'Central and South America'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, In press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Castells-Quintana, D., Del Lopez-Uribe, M. P. and McDermott, T. K. (2018) 'Adaptation to climate change: A review through a development economics lens', *World Development*, 104: 183–96.
- Castles, S. (2012) 'Understanding the relationship between methodology and methods'. In: Vargas-Silva, C. (ed.) *Handbook of research methods in migration*, pp. 7–25. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham.
- Cattaneo, C., et al. (2019) 'Human Migration in the Era of Climate Change', *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy*, 13/2: 189–206.
- Cavagnoud, R. T. F. (2018) 'Vulnerabilidades medioambientales y migraciones juveniles desde las comunidades altoandinas cercanas al Lago Titicaca (Perú).', *Revista Boliviana de Investigación / Bolivian Research Review*, 13/1: 25–51.
- Cazabat, C. (2020) Measuring the costs of internal displacement on IDPs and Hosts: Case studies in Eswatini, Ethiopia, Kenya and Somalia. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC): Geneva.
- Ceccherini, G., et al. (2016) 'Magnitude and frequency of heat and cold waves in recent decades: the case of South America', *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science*, 16/ 3: 821–31.
- CEPES (2015) 'Los suelos en el Perú', La Revista Agraria, 170/15: 1-16.
- CEPLAN (2011) *Plan Bicentario: El Perú hacia 2021*. Centro Nacional de Planeamiento Estratégico: Lima.
- CEPLAN (2016) 'Economía informal en Perú:Situación actual y perspectivas', Serie: Avance de Investigación, 8.
- Cernadas, P. C. (2013) Migration, Citizenship and Free Movement in South America: A Rights-Based Analysis of Regional Initiatives: Draft paper prepared for the UNRISD Conference Regional Governance of Migration and Socio-Political Rights: Institutions, Actors and Processes, 14–15 January 2013: Geneva, Switzerland.
- Cernea, M. M. (2004) Impoverishment Risks and Reconstruction: A Model for Population Displacement and Resettlement: Presented at UN Symposium on Hydropower and Sustainable Development, 27–29 October 2004: Beijing, China.

- Cerrutti, M. and Bertoncello, R. (2003) Urbanization and internal migration patterns in Latin America: Paper prepared for Conference on African Migration in Comparative Perspective, 4–7 June 2003: Johannesburg, South Africa, Centro de Estudios de Población, pp. 1–24.
- Challinor, A. J., et al. (2014) 'A meta-analysis of crop yield under climate change and adaptation', *Nature Climate Change*, 4/4: 287–91.
- Chambers, C. P. and Echenique, F. (2016) *Revealed Preference Theory. Econometric Society monographs*, Vol. 56. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Chambers, R. (2003) *Whose reality counts?: Putting the first last.* Intermediate Technology: London.
- Chambers, R. and Conway, G. (1992) 'Sustainable rural livelihoods: practical concepts for the 21st century', *Institute of Development Studies Discussion Paper*, 296.
- Chapin, F. S., et al. (2016) 'Community-empowered adaptation for self-reliance', *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 19: 67–75.
- Charbonneau, M. (2008) 'From transhumance to nomadism: Movements in Andean pastoral societies', *Mappemonde*, 90.
- Cheavens, J. S. and Guter, M. M. (2017) 'Hope therapy'. In: Gallagher, M. W. and Lopez, S. J. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Hope*, pp. 133–42. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Chen, J., Chen, S. and Landry, P. F. (2013) 'Migration, environmental hazards, and health outcomes in China', Social science & medicine (1982), 80: 85–95.
- Chen, J. J., Kosec, K. and Mueller, V. (2019) 'Moving to despair? Migration and well-being in Pakistan', World Development, 113: 186–203.
- Cheng, Z., Wang, H. and Smyth, R. (2014) 'Happiness and job satisfaction in urban China: A comparative study of two generations of migrants and urban locals', *Urban Studies*, 51/10: 2160–84.
- Chenoweth, E. and Stephan, M. J. (2008) 'Why Civil Resistance Works: The Strategic Logic of Nonviolent Conflict: Columbia Univ. Press,', *International Security*, 33/1: 7–44.
- Cherry, K. E., et al. (2017) 'Optimism and Hope After Multiple Disasters: Relationships to Health-Related Quality of Life', *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 22/1: 61–76.
- Choquette-Levy, N., et al. (2021) 'Risk transfer policies and climate-induced immobility among smallholder farmers', *Nature Climate Change*, 11/12: 1046–54.
- Christensen, J. H., et al. (2013) 'Climate phenomena and their relevance for future regional climate change'. In: Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., Midgley, P. M. (eds.) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp. 1217–308. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, New York.
- Christians, C. G. (2005) 'Ethics and Politics in Qualitative Research'. In: Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. (eds.) *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research*, pp. 139–64. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Christidis, N., Betts, R. A. and Stott, P. A. (2019) 'The Extremely Wet March of 2017 in Peru', Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 100/1: S31-S35.
- Church, J. A., et al. (2013) 'Sea Level Change.'. In: Stocker, T. F., Qin, D., Plattner, G. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Allen, S. K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., Midgley, P. M. (eds.) Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group

I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp. 1137–216. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, New York.

- CIA (1970) Public domain Peru Vegetation Map No. 76868, Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) https://maps.lib.utexas.edu/maps/americas/peru_veg_1970.jpg> accessed 6 April 2022.
- Cissé, G., et al. (2022) 'Health, Wellbeing, and the Changing Structure of Communities'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.) *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, In press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Clark, A. E. and Senik, C. (2010) 'Who Compares to Whom? The Anatomy of Income Comparisons in Europe', *The Economic Journal*, 120/544: 573–94.
- Clayton, S. (2020) 'Climate anxiety: Psychological responses to climate change', *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 74: 102263.
- Clemens, M., Huang, C. and Graham, J. (2018) The Economic and Fiscal Effects of Granting Refugees Formal Labor Market Access, by, Center for Global Development (CGD) https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/economic-and-fiscal-effects-granting-refugees-formal-labor-market-access-brief.pdf> accessed 5 May 2021.
- Clement, V., et al. (2021) *Groundswell Part 2: Acting on Internal Climate Migration*. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Climate Action Tracker (2021) *Global Update—Glasgow's 2030 credibility gap: November 2021* https://climateactiontracker.org/documents/997/CAT_2021-11-09_Briefing_Global-Update_Glasgow2030CredibilityGap.pdf accessed 23 January 2022.
- Climigration Network (2021) Lead with Listening: A Guidebook for Community Conversations on Climate Migration. Climigration Network: Cambridge.
- Cloutier, G., Papin, M. and Bizier, C. (2018) 'Do-it-yourself (DIY) adaptation: Civic initiatives as drivers to address climate change at the urban scale', *Cities*, 74: 284–91.
- Cobb, K. M., et al. (2013) 'Highly variable El Niño-southern oscillation throughout the Holocene', *Science*, 339/6115: 67–70.
- Cohan, C. L. and Cole, S. W. (2002) 'Life course transitions and natural disaster: marriage, birth, and divorce following Hurricane Hugo', *Journal of Family Psychology*, 16/1: 14– 25.
- Cohen, R. (2008) Global diasporas: An introduction. Routledge: [S.l.].
- Cohen, R. and Toninato, P. (2010) The creolization reader. Routledge: London.
- Cohn, A. S., et al. (2017) 'Smallholder Agriculture and Climate Change', *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 42/1: 347–75.
- Coleman, D. (2008) 'The demographic effects of international migration in Europe', Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 24/3: 452–76.
- Coleman, J. S. (2000) *Foundations of social theory*. 3rd edn. The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Collins, P. H. and Bilge, S. (2020) Intersectionality. Polity Press: Cambridge, Medford.
- Collins, W. J., et al. (2013) 'Global and regional temperature-change potentials for near-term climate forcers', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 13/5: 2471–85.
- Cometti, G. (2015a) Lorsque le brouillard a cessé de nous écouter: Changement climatique et migrations chez les Q'eros des Andes Péruviennes. Peter Lang CH: Bern.

- Cometti, G. (2015b) 'The necessity for an ethnographic approach in Peru', Forced Migration Review, 49: 14.
- Cometti, G. (2018) 'Changement climatique et crise des relations de réciprocité dans les Andes péruviennes: Les Q'eros et l'Anthropocène'. In: Beau, R. and Larrère, C. (eds.) *Penser l'Anthropocène, Académique*, pp. 235–47. Presses de Sciences Po: Paris.
- Connell, J. (2010) *Migration and the globalisation of health care: The health worker exodus?* Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham.
- Connell, J. and Coelho, S. (2018) 'Planned relocation in Asia and the Pacific', Forced Migration Review, 59: 46–49.
- Cook, K. H. and Vizy, E. K. (2008) 'Effects of Twenty-First-Century Climate Change on the Amazon Rain Forest', *Journal of Climate*, 21/3: 542–60.
- Cook, T. D., Campbell, D. T. and Shadish, W. (2002) *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for generalized causal inference*. Houghton Mifflin: Boston.
- Coomes, O. T., et al. (2010) 'Floodplain fisheries as natural insurance for the rural poor in tropical forest environments: evidence from Amazonia', *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 17/6: 513–21.
- Copestake, J. (2008a) 'Conclusions and Implications for Development Policy and Practice'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted, pp. 211–30. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Copestake, J. (2008b) 'Introduction and Overview'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) *Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted*, pp. 1–29. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Copestake, J. (ed.) (2008c) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Copestake, J. (2009) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Global and Local Views Confronted: Paper prepared for delivery at the 2009 Congress of the Latin American Studies Association, 11–14 June 2009: Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- Copestake, J. (2011) 'Well-Being in Development: Comparing Global Designs with Local Views in Peru', *European Journal of Development Research*, 23/1: 94–110.
- Corbin, J. and Strauss, A. L. (2014) Basics of qualitative research. Sage Publications, Inc.: Los Angeles.
- Correa, E. (ed.) (2011) Preventive Resettlement of Populations at Risk of Disaster: Experiences from Latin America. World Bank; Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR): Washington, D.C.
- Costa, L. and Kropp, J. P. (2013) 'Linking components of vulnerability in theoretic frameworks and case studies', *Sustainability Science*, 8/1: 1–9.
- Costanza, R., et al. (2007) 'Quality of life: An approach integrating opportunities, human needs, and subjective well-being', *Ecological economics*, 61/2: 267–76.
- Costanza, R., et al. (2008) 'An integrative approach to quality of life measurement, research, and policy', *SAPIEN. S. (Surveys and Perspectives Integrating Environment and Society)*, 1/1: 17–21.
- Costanza, R. et al. (2011) DR7a: Changes in ecosystem services and migration in low-lying coastal areas over the next 50 years: Foresight Project, Migration and Global Environmental Change. Foresight Project, Migration and Global Environmental Change. UK Government Office for Science: London.

- Crawford, N., et al. (2015) Protracted displacement: uncertain paths to self-reliance in exile. HPG Commissioned Report. Overseas Development Institute (ODI): London.
- Crea, T. M., Calvo, R. and Loughry, M. (2015) 'Refugee Health and Wellbeing: Differences between Urban and Camp-Based Environments in Sub-Saharan Africa', *Journal* of Refugee Studies, 28/3: 319–30.
- Crenshaw, K. (1989) 'Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics', *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1: 139–67.
- Crespeigne, E., et al. (2009) 'Exploración de las estrategias y prácticas de una comunidad campesina de los Andes Centrales frente a los riesgos extremos asociados al cambio climático'. In: Ames, P. and Caballero, V. (eds.) *Perú: el problema agrario en debate.*: *Seminario SEPIA XIII*, pp. 260–90. Tarea Asociación Gráfica Educativa: Lima.
- Creswell, J. W. and Clark, V. L. P. (2017) *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Crettaz, E. and Suter, C. (2013) 'The Impact of Adaptive Preferences on Subjective Indicators: An Analysis of Poverty Indicators', *Social indicators research*, 114/1: 139–52.
- Crisp, R. (2017) 'Well-Being'. In: Edward N. Zalta (ed.) The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. 2017th edn., online resource. Metaphysics Research Lab at Stanford University: Stanford.
- Crosby, F. (1976) 'A model of egoistical relative deprivation', *Psychological Review*, 83/2: 85–113.
- Crosby, F. and Gonzalez-Intal, A. M. (1984) 'Relative Deprivation and Equity Theories'. In: Folger, R. (ed.) *The Sense of Injustice: Social Psychological Perspectives*, pp. 141–66. Springer US: Boston.
- Croucher, S. M. and Kramer, E. M. (2017) 'Cultural fusion theory: An alternative to acculturation', Journal of International and Intercultural Communication, 10/2: 97–114.
- Cummins, R. A. (2014) 'Can Happiness Change? Theories and Evidence'. In: Sheldon, K. M. and Lucas, R. E. (eds.) *Stability of Happiness*, pp. 75–97. Academic Press: London.
- Cundill, G., et al. (2021) 'Toward a climate mobilities research agenda: Intersectionality, immobility, and policy responses', *Global Environmental Change*, 69: 102315.
- Cutter, S. L., Ash, K. D. and Emrich, C. T. (2014) 'The geographies of community disaster resilience', *Global Environmental Change*, 29: 65–77.
- Cutter, S. L., Boruff, B. J. and Shirley, W. L. (2003) 'Social Vulnerability to Environmental Hazards *', *Social Science Quarterly*, 84/2: 242–61.
- Cutter, S. L., Burton, C. G. and Emrich, C. T. (2010) 'Disaster resilience indicators for benchmarking baseline conditions', *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Man*agement, 7/1: 51.
- Cutter, S. L. and Finch, C. (2008) 'Temporal and spatial changes in social vulnerability to natural hazards', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105/7: 2301–06.
- Cwerner, S. B. (2001) 'The Times of Migration', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 27/1: 7–36.
- Czaika, M. and de Haas, H. (2012) 'The Role of Internal and International Relative Deprivation in Global Migration', Oxford Development Studies, 40/4: 423–42.
- Czaika, M. and Vothknecht, M. (2012) 'Migration as Cause and Consequence of Aspirations', *IMI Working Papers*, 57.

- Czaika, M. and Vothknecht, M. (2014) 'Migration and aspirations—are migrants trapped on a hedonic treadmill?', *IZA Journal of Migration*, 3/1: 1.
- Da Paca, V. H. M., et al. (2020) 'Variability of Trends in Precipitation across the Amazon River Basin Determined from the CHIRPS Precipitation Product and from Station Records', *Water*, 12/5: 1244.
- Dalby, S. (2002) Environmental security. Borderlines, Vol. 20. Univ. of Minnesota Press: Minneapolis.
- Dalby, S. (2012) Security and environmental change. Polity: Cambridge.
- Damonte, G. H. (2019) 'The constitution of hydrosocial power: agribusiness and water scarcity in Ica, Peru', *Ecology and Society*, 24/2: 21.
- Damonte, G. H. and Boelens, R. (2019) 'Hydrosocial territories, agro-export and water scarcity: capitalist territorial transformations and water governance in Peru's coastal valleys', *Water International*, 44/2: 206–23.
- Danermark, B., Ekstrom, M. and Jakobsen, L. (2002) Explaining society: an introduction to critical realism in the social sciences. Routledge: London, New York.
- Dartmouth Flood Observatory (2017) 2017 Flood Peru 4450: (Draft, Work in Progress), Dartmouth Flood Observatory https://floodobservatory.colorado.edu/Events/2017Peru4450/2017Peru4450/2017Peru4450.html accessed 22 February 2022.
- Dasgupta, S., et al. (2009) 'The impact of sea level rise on developing countries: a comparative analysis of impacts in developing countries', World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series, 4901.
- Das-Munshi, J., et al. (2012) 'Migration, social mobility and common mental disorders: critical review of the literature and meta-analysis', *Ethnicity & health*, 17/1–2: 17–53.
- Davidson, C. (2009) 'Transcription: Imperatives for Qualitative Research', International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 8/2: 35–52.
- de Haan, A. (1999) 'Livelihoods and poverty: The role of migration—a critical review of the migration literature', *Journal of Development Studies*, 36/2: 1–47.
- de Haas, H. (2009) 'Mobility and human development', UNDP Human Development Research Paper, 01.
- de Haas, H. (2010a) 'Remittances, Migration and Development: Policy Options and Policy Illusions'. In: Hujo, K. and Piper, N. (eds.) South-South Migration: Implications for Social Policy and Development, Social Policy in a Development Context, pp. 158–89. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- de Haas, H. (2010b) 'The internal dynamics of migration processes: A theoretical inquiry', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 36/10: 1587–617.
- de Haas, H. (2014) 'Migration theory Quo Vadis?', International Migration Institute Working Papers, 36/100.
- de Haas, H. (2021) 'A theory of migration: the aspirations-capabilities framework', *Comparative migration studies*, 9/1: 8.
- de Jong, G. F., Chamratrithirong, A. and Tran, Q.-G. (2002) 'For better, for worse: Life satisfaction consequences of migration', *International Migration Review*, 36/3: 838–63.
- de Sherbinin, A. M., et al. (2011) 'Preparing for resettlement associated with climate change', *Science*, 334/6055: 456–57.
- de Sherbinin, A. M., et al. (2012) 'Migration and risk: net migration in marginal ecosystems and hazardous areas', *Environmental Research Letters*, 7/4: 45602.

- de Sherbinin, A. M. and Bai, L. (2018) 'Geospatial Modelling and Mapping'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration*, pp. 85–91. Routledge: London.
- de Sherbinin, A. M., Schiller, A. and Pulsipher, A. (2007) 'The vulnerability of global cities to climate hazards', *Environment and Urbanization*, 19/1: 39–64.
- Della Porta, D. (2008) 'Comparative analysis: case-oriented versus variable-oriented research'. In: Della Porta, D. and Keating, M. (eds.) *Approaches and methodologies in the social sciences: A pluralist perspective*, pp. 198–222. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Delle Fave, A., et al. (2011a) 'The Eudaimonic and Hedonic Components of Happiness: Qualitative and Quantitative Findings', *Social indicators research*, 100/2: 185–207.
- Delle Fave, A., Massimini, F. and Bassi, M. (2011b) 'Hedonism and Eudaimonism in Positive Psychology'. In: Delle Fave, A., Massimini, F., Bassi, M. (eds.) *Psychological Selection and Optimal Experience Across Cultures: Social Empowerment through Personal Growth, Cross-Cultural Advancements in Positive Psychology*, Vol. 2, pp. 3–18. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Demetriades, J. and Esplen, E. (2008) 'The Gender Dimensions of Poverty and Climate Change Adaptation', *IDS Bulletin*, 39/4: 24–31.
- Dench, S., Iphofen, R. and Huws, U. (2004) An EU code of ethics for socio-economic research. RESPECT project, Vol. 412. Institute for Employment Studies: Brighton.
- DePaul, M. (2012) 'Climate change, migration, and megacities: addressing the dual stresses of mass urbanization and climate vulnerability', *Paterson Review of International Affairs*, 12: 145–62.
- Desmaison, B., Boano, C. and Astolfo, G. (2018) 'CASA [Ciudades Auto-Sostenibles Amazónicas]: desafíos y oportunidades para la sostenibilidad de los proyectos de reasentamiento poblacional preventivo en la Amazonía Peruana', *Medio Ambiente y Urbanización*, 88/1: 149–76.
- Devictor, X. (2019) 2019 update: How long do refugees stay in exile? To find out, beware of averages, World Bank Blogs https://blogs.worldbank.org/dev4peace/2019-update-how-long-do-refugees-stay-exile-find-out-beware-averages accessed 23 January 2022.
- DeWaard, J., Nobles, J. and Donato, K. M. (2018) 'Migration and Parental Absence: A Comparative Assessment of Transnational Families in Latin America', *Population, Space and Place*, 24/7: e2166.
- Díaz, S. M., et al. (2019) The global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services: Summary for policy makers. Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES).
- Diener, E. (1984) 'Subjective well-being', Psychological bulletin, 95/3: 542-75.
- Diener, E., et al. (1985) 'The Satisfaction With Life Scale', *Journal of personality assessment*, 49/1: 71–75.
- Diener, E. (2000) 'Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and a proposal for a national index', *American Psychologist*, 55/1: 34–43.
- Diener, E., et al. (2010) 'New Well-being Measures: Short Scales to Assess Flourishing and Positive and Negative Feelings', *Social indicators research*, 97/2: 143–56.
- Diener, E., et al. (2017a) 'Findings all psychologists should know from the new science on subjective well-being', *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne*, 58/2: 87–104.

- Diener, E., et al. (2017b) 'If, Why, and When Subjective Well-Being Influences Health, and Future Needed Research', *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 9/2: 133–67.
- Diener, E. and Biswas-Diener, R. (2008) *Happiness: Unlocking the mysteries of psychological wealth. Psychological experiments online.* Wiley: Malden, MA, Oxford.
- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E. and Oishi, S. (2018a) 'Advances and Open Questions in the Science of Subjective Well-Being', *Collabra. Psychology*, 4/1: 15.
- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E. and Scollon, C. N. (2009) 'Beyond the hedonic treadmill: Revising the adaptation theory of well-being'. In: Michalos, A. C. and Diener, E. (eds.) *The Science* of Well-Being: *The Collected Works of Ed Diener, Social Indicators Research Series*, Vol. 37. 1st edn., pp. 103–18. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Diener, E., Oishi, S. and Tay, L. (2018b) 'Advances in subjective well-being research', *Nature human behaviour*, 2/4: 253–60.
- Diener, E. and Tay, L. (2016) 'New frontiers: societal measures of subjective well-being for input to policy'. In: Bruni, L. (ed.) Handbook of research methods and applications in happiness and quality of life, Handbooks of research methods and applications series, pp. 35–52. Edward Elgar Publishing: Northhampton.
- Dodge, R., et al. (2012) 'The challenge of defining wellbeing', International Journal of Wellbeing, 2/3: 222–35.
- Doherty, T. J. and Clayton, S. (2011) 'The psychological impacts of global climate change', American Psychologist, 66/4: 265–76.
- Dolan, P., Kudrna, L. and Stone, A. (2017) 'The Measure Matters: An Investigation of Evaluative and Experience-Based Measures of Wellbeing in Time Use Data', *Social indicators research*, 134/1: 57–73.
- Donat, M. G., et al. (2013) 'Updated analyses of temperature and precipitation extreme indices since the beginning of the twentieth century: The HadEX2 dataset', *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 118/5: 2098–118.
- Donatti, C. I., et al. (2019) 'Vulnerability of smallholder farmers to climate change in Central America and Mexico: current knowledge and research gaps', *Climate and Development*, 11/3: 264–86.
- Dourojeanni, P., et al. (2016) 'Vulnerability Assessments for Ecosystem-based Adaptation: Lessons from the Nor Yauyos Cochas Landscape Reserve in Peru'. In: Salzmann, N., Huggel, C., Nussbaumer, S. U., Ziervogel, G. (eds.) Climate Change Adaptation Strategies—An Upstream-downstream Perspective, pp. 141–60. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Doyal, L. and Gough, I. (1984) 'A theory of human needs', Critical Social Policy, 4/10: 6–38.
- Doyal, L. and Gough, I. (1991) A theory of human need. Macmillan: Basingstoke.
- Drury, J. and Cocking, C. (2007) The mass psychology of disasters and emergency evacuations: A research report and implications for practice. University of Sussex: Brighton.
- Duffy, P. B., et al. (2015) 'Projections of future meteorological drought and wet periods in the Amazon', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112/43: 13172–77.
- Dun, O. V. and Gemenne, F. (2008) 'Defining ,environmental migration', Forced Migration Review, 31: 10–11.
- Dunne, J. P., Stouffer, R. J. and John, J. G. (2013) 'Reductions in labour capacity from heat stress under climate warming', *Nature Climate Change*, 3/6: 563–66.

- Dupraz-Dobias, P. (2020) 'COVID-19 shifts Peru's internal migration into reverse', *The New Humanitarian*, 08.07.2020 https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2020/07/08/Peru-internal-migration-coronavirus> accessed 23 January 2022.
- Durand-Delacre, D., et al. (2021) 'Climate Migration Is about People, Not Numbers'. In: Böhm, S. and Sullivan, S. (eds.) *Negotiating Climate Change in Crisis*, pp. 63–82. Open Book Publishers: Cambridge.
- Dustmann, C. and Glitz, A. (2011) 'Migration and Education'. In: Hanushek, E. A., Woessmann, L., Machin, S. (eds.) *Handbook of the economics of education: Volume 4*, *Handbooks in economics*, Vol. 26, pp. 327–439. North Holland: Amsterdam, London.
- Eakin, H. and Luers, A. L. (2006) 'Assessing the Vulnerability of Social-Environmental Systems', *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 31/1: 365–94.
- Easterlin, R. A. (1974) 'Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot? Some Empirical Evidence'. In: David, P. A. and Reder, M. W. (eds.) Nations and households in economic growth: Essays in honor of Moses Abramovitz, pp. 89–125. Academic Press: New York.
- Easterlin, R. A. (2001) 'Income and Happiness: Towards a Unified Theory', *The Economic Journal*, 111/473: 465–84.
- Easterlin, R. A., et al. (2010) 'The happiness-income paradox revisited', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107/52: 22463–68.
- Easterlin, R. A. and O'Connor, K. J. (2020) 'The Easterlin Paradox', *IZA Discussion Papers*, 13923.
- Easton, G. (2010) 'Critical realism in case study research', *Industrial Marketing Management*, 39/1: 118–28.
- Easton, K. L., McComish, J. F. and Greenberg, R. (2000) 'Avoiding common pitfalls in qualitative data collection and transcription', *Qualitative health research*, 10/5: 703–07.
- Edelman (2022) Edelman Trust Barometer 2022 <https://www.edelman.com/sites/g/files/ aatuss191/files/2022-01/2022%20Edelman%20Trust%20Barometer%20FINAL_Jan25. pdf> accessed 18 March 2022.
- Edey, W. and Jevne, R. F. (2003) 'Hope, Illness and Counselling Practice: Making Hope Visible', Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy, 37/1.
- Edwards, T. and Wiseman, J. (2011) 'Climate Change, Resilience and Transformation: Challenges and Opportunities for Local Communities'. In: Weissbecker, I. (ed.) *Climate Change and Human Well-Being: Global Challenges and Opportunities, International and Cultural Psychology*, pp. 185–200. Springer New York: New York.
- Egger, P. H., Ehrlich, M. von and Nelson, D. R. (2012) 'Migration and Trade', *The World Economy*, 35/2: 216–41.
- EGRIS (2020) International Recommendations on Internally displaced persons Statistics (IRIS). Publications Office of the European Union (EU): Luxembourg.
- Ek, E., et al. (2008) 'Psychosocial factors as mediators between migration and subjective well-being among young Finnish adults', Social science & medicine, 66/7: 1545–56.
- El-Hinnawi, E. (1985) *Environmental refugees*. United Nations Environment Programme: Nairobi.
- EM (2022) 'Back to Normal' is Not Enough: the 2022 SDG Gender Index 2022. Equal Measures (EM): Woking.
- Emanuel-Correia, R., et al. (2021) 'Does peer-to-peer crowdfunding boost refugee entrepreneurs?', *Finance Research Letters*, 46/A: 102264.

- Emmer, A., Vilímek, V. and Zapata, M. L. (2018) 'Hazard mitigation of glacial lake outburst floods in the Cordillera Blanca (Peru): the effectiveness of remedial works', *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, 11/11: S489-S501.
- Encyclopædia Britannica (2018) *Amazon River* https://www.britannica.com/place/Amazon-River accessed 23 January 2022.
- Erwin, A., et al. (2021) 'Intersectionality shapes adaptation to social-ecological change', World Development, 138: 105282.
- Escobar, A. (1995) *Encountering Development: The Making and Unmaking of the Third World.* Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- Espinoza, J. C., et al. (2006) 'La variabilité des débits du Rio Amazonas au Pérou. Climate variability and Change—Hydrological Impacts'. In: Demuth, S., Gustard, A., Planos, E., Scatena, F., Servat, E. (eds.) *Climate Variability and Change—Hydrological Impacts: IAHS Publications 308*. Proceedings of the Fifth FRIEND World Conference held at Havana, Cuba, November 2006, pp. 424–29: La Habana.
- Espinoza-Neyra, C., Jara-Pereda, M. and Díaz-Vélez, C. (2017) 'Trastorno de estrés postraumático en una población afectada por inundaciones ocasionadas por el Niño Costero en Perú', *Revista peruana de medicina experimental y salud publica*, 34/4: 751–52.
- Espinoza-Neyra, C., Jara-Pereda, M. and Díaz-Vélez, C. (2018) 'Réplica: sobre la evaluación del trastorno por estrés postraumático a los afectados por el niño', *Revista peruana de medicina experimental y salud publica*, 35/3: 541.
- Estrada, B. D., Baca, U. V. and Diaz, K. E. (2018) 'Medios de vida, tecnologías apropiadas y su integración con los planes de desarrollo urbano: el caso de la Nueva Ciudad de Belén, Loreto, Perú', *Espacio y Desarrollo*, 31: 171–93.
- Falco, C., Donzelli, F. and Olper, A. (2018) 'Climate Change, Agriculture and Migration: A Survey', Sustainability, 10/5: 1405.
- Fan, S. and Rue, C. (2020) 'The Role of Smallholder Farms in a Changing World'. In: Gómez y Paloma, S., Riesgo, L., Louhichi, K. (eds.) *The role of smallholder farms in food and nutrition security*, pp. 13–28. Springer: Cham.
- FAO, et al. (2018) The linkages between migration, agriculture, food security and rural development: Technical report. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; International Fund for Agricultural Development; International Organization for Migration; World Food Programme: Rome.
- FAO (2022) FAOSTAT: Sustainable Development Goals, Indicator 5.a.1 <https://www.fao. org/faostat/en/#data/SDGB> accessed 17 March 2022.
- Farbotko, C., et al. (2020) 'Relocation planning must address voluntary immobility', *Nature Climate Change*, 10/8: 702–04.
- Farbotko, C. and McMichael, C. (2019) 'Voluntary immobility and existential security in a changing climate in the Pacific', Asia Pacific Viewpoint, 60/2: 148–62.
- Faugier, J. and Sargeant, M. (1997) 'Sampling hard to reach populations', Journal of advanced nursing, 26/4: 790–97.
- Fauser, M. (2018) 'Mixed Methods and Multisited Migration Research: Innovations From a Transnational Perspective', *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12/4: 394–412.
- Favell, A. (2019) 'Integration: twelve propositions after Schinkel', *Comparative Migration Studies*, 7/1: 21.
- Feather, N. T. (1992) 'Values, Valences, Expectations, and Actions', *Journal of Social Issues*, 48/2: 109–24.

- Fehren-Schmitz, L., et al. (2010) 'Pre-Columbian population dynamics in coastal southern Peru: A diachronic investigation of mtDNA patterns in the Palpa region by ancient DNA analysis', American Journal of Physical Anthropology: The Official Publication of the American Association of Physical Anthropologists, 141/2: 208–21.
- Fehren-Schmitz, L., et al. (2014) 'Climate change underlies global demographic, genetic, and cultural transitions in pre-Columbian southern Peru', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111/26: 9443–48.
- Felli, R. and Castree, N. (2012) 'Neoliberalising Adaptation to Environmental Change: Foresight or Foreclosure?', *Environ Plan A*, 44/1: 1–4.
- Fellmeth, G., et al. (2018) 'Health impacts of parental migration on left-behind children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *The Lancet*, 392/10164: 2567–82.
- Fellmeth, G., Fazel, M. and Plugge, E. (2017) 'Migration and perinatal mental health in women from low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology*, 124/5: 742–52.
- Fernández, C., Sierra-Huedo, M. L. and Chinarro, D. (2019) 'Climate Change-Induced Migration in Morocco: Sub-Saharian and Moroccan Migrants'. In: Paradiso, M. (ed.) *Mediterranean Mobilities*, pp. 177–95. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Feron, S., et al. (2019) 'Observations and Projections of Heat Waves in South America', Scientific reports, 9/1: 8173.
- Ferradas, P. (2015) La memoria es también porvenir. Historia mundial de los desastres. Soluciones Prácticas: Lima.
- Ferris, E. G. and Weerasinghe, S. (2020) 'Promoting Human Security: Planned Relocation as a Protection Tool in a Time of Climate Change', *Journal on Migration and Human Security*, 8/2: 134–49.
- Festinger, L. (1954) 'A Theory of Social Comparison Processes', Human Relations, 7/2: 117– 40.
- FFP (2021) Fragile States Index Annual Report 2021. The Fund for Peace: Washington, D.C.
- Field, C. B. et al. (eds.) (2012) Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Figueiredo, A. R., et al. (2019) 'Percepções e adaptações às mudanças climáticas na Cordilheira Branca, Peru', Sociedade & Natureza, 31: 1–23.
- Findlay, A. M. (2011) 'Migrant destinations in an era of environmental change', Global Environmental Change, 21: S50-S58.
- Findlay, A. M. and Nowok, B. (2012) 'The uneven impact of different life domains on the wellbeing of migrants', *ESRC Centre for Population Change Working Paper*, 26.
- Finney, N. and Marshall, A. (2018) 'Is migration in later life good for wellbeing? A longitudinal study of ageing and selectivity of internal migration', *Area (Oxford, England)*, 50/ 4: 492–500.
- Fischer, R. and van de Vliert, E. (2011) 'Does climate undermine subjective well-being? A 58-nation study', *Personality & social psychology bulletin*, 37/8: 1031–41.
- FitzGerald, D. S. and Arar, R. (2018) 'The Sociology of Refugee Migration', Annu. Rev. Sociol., 44/1: 387–406.
- Flavell, A., Milan, A. and Melde, S. (2020) *Migration, environment and climate change: Literature review.* Umweltbundesamt: Dessau-Roßlau.

- Fleury, A. (2016) 'Understanding women and migration: A literature review', KNOMAD Working Papers, 8.
- Flick, U. (2009) An introduction to qualitative research. Sage Publications, Inc.: Los Angeles.
- Foo, S. Q., et al. (2018) 'Prevalence of Depression among Migrants: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15/9.
- Ford, J. D., et al. (2010) 'Case study and analogue methodologies in climate change vulnerability research', Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 1/3: 374–92.
- Foresight (2011) Migration and Global Environmental Change: Future Challenges and Opportunities. Final Project Report. UK Government Office for Science: London.
- Forgeard, M. J. C., et al. (2011) 'Doing the right thing: Measuring wellbeing for public policy', *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 1/1: 79–106.
- Forgeard, M. J. C. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2012) 'Seeing the glass half full: A review of the causes and consequences of optimism', *Pratiques Psychologiques*, 18/2: 107–20.
- Forsyth, T. (2013) 'Community-based adaptation: a review of past and future challenges', Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 4/5: 439–46.
- Frank, A. G. (1966) The development of underdevelopment. New England Free Press: Boston.
- Frank, K., Hou, F. and Schellenberg, G. (2016) 'Life Satisfaction Among Recent Immigrants in Canada: Comparisons to Source-Country and Host-Country Populations', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17/4: 1659–80.
- Frankenberg, E., et al. (2013) 'Education, Vulnerability, and Resilience after a Natural Disaster', *Ecology and Society*, 18/2: 16.
- Fraser, A. and Kirbyshire, A. (2017) 'Supporting governance for climate resilience: Working with political institutions', ODI Working paper, August 2017/517.
- Fredrickson, B. L. (2001) 'The role of positive emotions in positive psychology. The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions', *The American psychologist*, 56/3: 218– 26.
- French, A., et al. (2020) 'Root causes of recurrent catastrophe: The political ecology of El Niño-related disasters in Peru', *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 47: 101539.
- French, A. and Mechler, R. (2017) Managing El Niño Risks Under Uncertainty in Peru: Learning from the past for a more disaster-resilient future. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis; Soluciones Prácticas; Zurich Insurance Group: Laxenburg.
- Frey, H., et al. (2016) 'A robust debris-flow and GLOF risk management strategy for a datascarce catchment in Santa Teresa, Peru', *Landslides*, 13/6: 1493–507.
- Friedrichs, J. (2014) 'Forschungsethik'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 81–91. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Fritze, J. G., et al. (2008) 'Hope, despair and transformation: Climate change and the promotion of mental health and wellbeing', *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 2/1: 13.
- Froschauer, U. and Lueger, M. (2003) Das qualitative Interview: Zur Praxis interpretativer Analyse sozialer Systeme. UTB, Vol. 2418. WUV Universitätsverlag: Wien.
- Fujita, F. (2008) 'The frequency of social comparison and its relation to subjective wellbeing'. In: Eid, M. and Larsen, R. J. (eds.) *The science of subjective well-being*, pp. 239– 57. Guilford Press: New York.

- Fujita, F. and Diener, E. (2013) 'Social comparisons and subjective well-being'. In: Buunk, B. P., Gibbons, F. X., Buunk, A. P. (eds.) *Health, Coping, and Well-being: Perspectives From Social Comparison Theory*, pp. 329–57. Taylor & Francis, Ltd.: Hoboken.
- Füssel, H.-M. (2012) 'Vulnerability to climate change and poverty'. In: Edenhofer, O., Wallacher, J., Lotze-Campen, H., Reder, M., Knopf, B., Müller, J. (eds.) *Climate Change, Justice and Sustainability: Linking climate and development policy*, pp. 9–17. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Füssel, H.-M. and Klein, R. J. T. (2006) 'Climate Change Vulnerability Assessments: An Evolution of Conceptual Thinking', *Climatic Change*, 75/3: 301–29.
- Fussell, E., Curtis, K. J. and DeWaard, J. (2014) 'Recovery Migration to the City of New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina: A Migration Systems Approach', *Population and Envi*ronment, 35/3: 305–22.
- Gaillard, J.-C., et al. (2008) 'Living with increasing floods: insights from a rural Philippine community', *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*, 17/3: 383– 95.
- Gallup (2017) Number of Potential Migrants Worldwide Tops 700 Million https://news.gallup.com/poll/211883/number-potential-migrants-worldwide-tops-700-million.aspx accessed 20 February 2019.
- Gamero, J. and Pérez, J. (2020) Perú—Impacto de la COVID-19 en el empleo y los ingresos laborales: Nota técnica país OIT para los Países Andinos. Organización Internacional del Trabajo (OIT): Lima.
- Garreta, D. S. (2022) Ayuda memoria: trabajo de la MML respecto a la migración por efectos del cambio climático: Virtual interview by Jonas Bergmann, 18.02.2022.
- Gasper, D. (2007) 'Human Well-being: Concepts and Conceptualizations'. In: McGillivray, M. (ed.) Human well-being: Concept and measurement, Studies in development economics and policy, pp. 23–64. Palgrave Macmillan; United Nations University, World Institute for Development Economics Research: Basingstoke, New York, Helsinki.
- Gasper, D. (2008) 'Conceptualising human needs and wellbeing'. In: Gough, I. (ed.) Wellbeing in developing countries: From theory to research, pp. 47–70. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Gasper, D. (2009) 'Needs and well-being'. In: Peil, J. and van Staveren, I. (eds.) *Handbook* of economics and ethics, Elgar original reference, chapter 46. Elgar: Cheltenham.
- Gazeaud, J., Mvukiyehe, E. and Sterck, O. (2021) 'Cash Transfers and Migration: Theory and Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial', *The Review of Economics and Statistics*: 1–45.
- GCA (2019) Adapt Now: A Global Call for Leadership on Climate Resilience. World Resources Institute: Washington, D.C.
- GED (2020) Perspective Plan of Bangladesh 2021–2041: Making Vision 2041 a Reality. General Economics Division (GED) and Bangladesh Planning Commission accessed 20 December 2021.
- Geddes, A., et al. (2012) 'Migration, Environmental Change, and the 'Challenges of Governance", Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 30/6: 951–67.
- Geddes, A. (2015) 'Governing migration from a distance: interactions between climate, migration, and security in the South Mediterranean', *European Security*, 24/3: 473–90.

- Gelatt, J. (2013) 'Looking Down or Looking Up: Status and Subjective Well-Being among Asian and Latino Immigrants in the United States', *International Migration Review*, 47/ 1: 39–75.
- Gemenne, F. (2011) 'Why the numbers don't add up: A review of estimates and predictions of people displaced by environmental changes', *Global Environmental Change*, 21/SUPPL. 1: S41-S49.
- Gemenne, F. (2015) 'One good reason to speak of climate refugees'', Forced Migration Review, 49: 70–71.
- Gemenne, F. (2018) 'Qualitative research techniques: It's a case-studies world'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration*, pp. 117–24. Routledge: London.
- Gemenne, F., et al. (2020) 'Transformative Climate Action in Cities', *Forced Migration Review*, 63: 32–35.
- Gemenne, F. and Blocher, J. (2017) 'How can migration serve adaptation to climate change?: Challenges to fleshing out a policy ideal', *The Geographical Journal*, 183/4: 336–47.
- George, A. L. (1959) 'Quantitative and qualitative approaches in content analysis'. In: Pool, I. d. S. (ed.) *Trends in content analysis*, pp. 7–32. University of Illinois Press: Urbanda.
- Georges, C. (2004) '20th-Century Glacier Fluctuations in the Tropical Cordillera Blanca, Perú', Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 36/1: 100–07.
- Gerber, J. P., Wheeler, L. and Suls, J. (2018) 'A social comparison theory meta-analysis 60+ years on', *Psychological bulletin*, 144/2: 177–97.
- Gerring, J. and Cojocaru, L. (2016) 'Selecting Cases for Intensive Analysis', Sociological methods & research, 45/3: 392–423.
- Geschwender, J. A. (1978) Racial stratification in America. Brown: Dubuque.
- Gewirtzman, J., et al. (2018) 'Financing loss and damage: reviewing options under the Warsaw International Mechanism', *Climate Policy*, 18/8: 1076–86.
- GFDRR (2010) Disaster Risk Management in Latin America and the Caribbean Region: GFDRR Country Notes Peru, Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery (GFDRR) https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/drm-country-note-2010-peru.pdf> accessed 23 January 2022.
- Ghai, D. (1978) 'Basic Needs and its Critics', The IDS Bulletin, 9/4: 16-18.
- Giddens, A. (1984) *The constitution of society: Outline of the theory of structuration.* University of California Press: Berkeley, Los Angeles.
- Giesen, R. H. and Oerlemans, J. (2013) 'Climate-model induced differences in the 21st century global and regional glacier contributions to sea-level rise', *Climate Dynamics*, 41/ 11–12: 3283–300.
- Gilroy, P. (1994) 'Diaspora', Paragraph, 17/3: 207-12.
- Ginnetti, J., et al. (2019) Assessing the impacts of climate change on flood displacement risk. Methodological Paper. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre: Geneva.
- Giorgi, F., et al. (2014) 'Changes in extremes and hydroclimatic regimes in the CREMA ensemble projections', *Climatic Change*, 125/1: 39–51.
- Gläser, J. and Laudel, G. (2010) Experteninterviews und qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Als Instrumente rekonstruierender Untersuchungen. Lehrbuch. 4th edn. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften: Wiesbaden.
- Glatzer, W. (2012) 'Cross-National Comparisons of Quality of Life in Developed Nations, Including the Impact of Globalization'. In: Land, K. C., Michalos, A. C., Sirgy, M. J.

(eds.) *Handbook of Social Indicators and Quality of Life Research*, pp. 381–98. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.

- Glatzer, W. (2015) 'Monitoring and Analyzing Quality of Life: An Introduction'. In: Glatzer, W., Camfield, L., Møller, V., Rojas, M. (eds.) *Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents*, pp. 1–11. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Glatzer, W. and Zapf, W. (1984) Lebensqualität in der Bundesrepublik: Objektive Lebensbedingungen und subjektives Wohlbefinden. (Sonderforschungsbereich 3 der Universitäten Frankfurt und Mannheim "Mikroanalytische Grundlagen der Gesellschaftspolitik". Schriftenreihe, 10 A). Campus Verlag: Frankfurt a.M.
- Glazer, M. (1982) 'The Threat of the Stranger: Vulnerability, Reciprocity, and Fieldwork'. In: Sieber, J. E. (ed.) *The Ethics of Social Research*, pp. 49–70. Springer New York: New York.
- Gloor, M., et al. (2013) 'Intensification of the Amazon hydrological cycle over the last two decades', *Geophysical Research Letters*, 40/9: 1729–33.
- Golding, I., et al. (2018) Migration and the Economy: Economic Realities, Social Impacts and Political Choices. Oxford Martin School; Citi: Oxford.
- Gómez, O. (2013) 'Climate change and migration: A review of the literature', ISS Working Paper Series, 572: 1–48.
- Gómez y Paloma, S., Riesgo, L. and Louhichi, K. (eds.) (2020) *The role of smallholder farms in food and nutrition security.* Springer: Cham.
- GoP (2015) Intended Nationally Determined Contribution from the Republic of Peru. Government of Peru: Lima.
- Gordon, M. M. (1964) Assimilation in American life : the role of race, religion, and national origins. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Gore, C. (1930) The Philosophy of the Good Life. J.M. Dent & Sons: London.
- Gosling, S. N., et al. (2011) *Climate: Observations, projections and impacts: Peru.* Met Office: Exeter.
- Gough, I. (ed.) (2008) *Wellbeing in developing countries: From theory to research.* Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Gough, I. (2015) 'Climate change and sustainable welfare: the centrality of human needs', *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 39/5: 1191–214.
- Gough, I., McGregor, J. A. and Camfield, L. (2008) 'Theorising wellbeing in international development'. In: Gough, I. (ed.) Wellbeing in developing countries: From theory to research, pp. 3–44. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Graaff, A. M. de, et al. (2020) 'Peer-provided Problem Management Plus (PM+) for adult Syrian refugees: a pilot randomised controlled trial on effectiveness and cost-effectiveness', *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 29: e162.
- Graham, C. (2016) 'Does Migration Cause Unhappiness or Does Unhappiness Cause Migration? Some Initial Evidence from Latin America'. In: Rojas, M. (ed.) Handbook of Happiness Research in Latin America, International handbooks of quality-of-life. 1st edn., pp. 325–41. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Graham, C. and Markowitz, J. (2011) 'Aspirations and happiness of potential Latin American immigrants', Journal of Social Research & Policy, 2/2: 9–25.

- Graham, C. and Nikolova, M. (2018) 'Happiness and International Migration in Latin America'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 89–114. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- Gray, C. L. (2007) Rural Out-Migration to Alternative Destinations in the Southern Ecuadorian Andes: The Roles of Environmental Assets and Livelihood Diversification: Presented at Population Association of America Annual Conference, 29–31 March 2007: New York, USA.
- Gray, C. L. (2010) 'Gender, Natural Capital, and Migration in the Southern Ecuadorian Andes', *Environ Plan A*, 42/3: 678–96.
- Gray, C. L., et al. (2014) 'Studying Displacement After a Disaster Using Large Scale Survey Methods: Sumatra After the 2004 Tsunami', Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 104/3: 594–612.
- Gray, C. L. and Bilsborrow, R. E. (2013) 'Environmental influences on human migration in rural Ecuador', *Demography*, 50/4: 1217–41.
- Gray, C. L. and Bilsborrow, R. E. (2014) 'Consequences of Out-Migration for Land Use in Rural Ecuador', *Land Use Policy*, 36.
- Gray, C. L. and Mueller, V. (2012) 'Drought and Population Mobility in Rural Ethiopia', World Development, 40/1: 134–45.
- Green, B. L., et al. (1991) 'Children and disaster: age, gender, and parental effects on PTSD symptoms', *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30/6: 945–51.
- Greenwood, M. J. (2016) 'Perspectives on Migration Theory—Economics'. In: White, M. J. (ed.) International Handbook of Migration and Population Distribution, International Handbooks of Population, Vol. 6, pp. 31–40. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Greiner, C. and Sakdapolrak, P. (2016) 'Migration, Environment and Inequality: Perspectives of a Political Ecology of Translocal Relations'. In: McLeman, R. A., Schade, J., Faist, T. (eds.) *Environmental Migration and Social Inequality*, pp. 151–63. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Griffiths, M., Rogers, A. and Anderson, B. (2013) 'Migration, time and temporalities: Review and prospect', COMPAS Research Resources Paper, March 2013.
- Groulx, M., et al. (2017) 'A Role for Nature-Based Citizen Science in Promoting Individual and Collective Climate Change Action? A Systematic Review of Learning Outcomes', *Science Communication*, 39/1: 45–76.
- Grube, L. and Storr, V. H. (2014) 'The capacity for self-governance and post-disaster resiliency', *The Review of Austrian Economics*, 27/3: 301–24.
- Gruber, J., Mauss, I. B. and Tamir, M. (2011) 'A Dark Side of Happiness? How, When, and Why Happiness Is Not Always Good', *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6/3: 222– 33.
- Gruder, C. L. (1971) 'Determinants of social comparison choices', Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 7/5: 473–89.
- Guadagno, L. (2016) 'Human Mobility in the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction', *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 7/1: 30–40.
- Guadagno, L. (2020) 'Migrants and the COVID-19 pandemic: An initial analysis', IOM Migration Research Series, 60.
- Guadagno, L. and Yonetani, M. (2022) 'Displacement risk: Unpacking a problematic concept', *International Migration*: imig.13004.

- Guest, G., Bunce, A. and Johnson, L. (2006) 'How Many Interviews Are Enough?', Field Methods, 18/1: 59–82.
- Guest, G., Namey, E. and McKenna, K. (2017) 'How Many Focus Groups Are Enough? Building an Evidence Base for Nonprobability Sample Sizes', *Field Methods*, 29/1: 3–22.
- Gulyas, J. (2015) 'Hopes and Fears—Future Views of Quality of Life'. In: Glatzer, W., Camfield, L., Møller, V., Rojas, M. (eds.) Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents, pp. 869–94. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Guodaar, L., Beni, A. and Benebere, P. (2017) 'Using a mixed-method approach to explore the spatiality of adaptation practices of tomato farmers to climate variability in the Offinso North District, Ghana', *Cogent Social Sciences*, 3/1: 1273747.
- Gurak, D. T. and Caces, F. (1992) 'Migration networks and the shaping of migration systems'. In: Kritz, M. M., Lim, L. L., Zlotnik, H. (eds.) *International migration systems: a global approach*, pp. 150–76. Oxford; Clarendon Press: New York.
- Guzmán, J. M. et al. (eds.) (2009) Population dynamics and climate change: This book is in part the product of an Export Group Meeting on Population Dynamics and Climate Change held on 24–25 June 2009. United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA): New York.
- Hackbarth, M., et al. (2012) 'Natural disasters: an assessment of family resiliency following Hurricane Katrina', *Journal of marital and family therapy*, 38/2: 340–51.
- Haeberli, W., et al. (2016) 'New lakes in deglaciating high-mountain regions—opportunities and risks', *Climatic Change*, 139/2: 201–14.
- Haindorfer, R. (2019a) 'Stand der Forschung I: Forschungsergebnisse und Erklärungsansätze zu Migration und Lebenszufriedenheit'. In: Haindorfer, R. (ed.) Lebenszufriedenheit und Pendelerfolg: Ost-West-Pendelnde aus Tschechien, Slowakei und Ungarn in Österreich, pp. 53–71. Springer: Wiesbaden.
- Haindorfer, R. (2019b) 'Stand der Forschung II: Forschungsergebnisse zum subjektiven Migrationserfolg und zum Zusammenhang mit der Lebenszufriedenheit'. In: Haindorfer, R. (ed.) Lebenszufriedenheit und Pendelerfolg: Ost-West-Pendelnde aus Tschechien, Slowakei und Ungarn in Österreich, pp. 73–89. Springer: Wiesbaden.
- Hallegatte, S. et al. (eds.) (2016) Shock Waves: Managing the Impacts of Climate Change on Poverty: Managing the Impacts of Climate Change on Poverty. Climate Change and Development. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Hallegatte, S. (2017) 'A Normative Exploration of the Link Between Development, Economic Growth, and Natural Risk', *Economics of Disasters and Climate Change*, 1/1: 5–31.
- Hallegatte, S., et al. (2017) Unbreakable: Building the resilience of the poor in the face of natural disasters. Climate change and development series. International Bank for Reconciliation and Development; World Bank Group: Washington, D.C.
- Hallegatte, S., Fay, M. and Barbier, E. B. (2018) 'Poverty and climate change: introduction', *Environment and Development Economics*, 23/3: 217–33.
- Haller, A. and Borsdorf, A. (2013) 'Huancayo Metropolitano', Cities, 31: 553-62.
- Haller, W., Portes, A. and Lynch, S. M. (2011) 'Dreams Fulfilled and Shattered: Determinants of Segmented Assimilation in the Second Generation', *Social forces*, 89/3: 733–62.
- Hammersley, M. (2009) 'Why Critical Realism Fails to Justify Critical Social Research', Methodological Innovation Online, 4/2: 1–11.
- Han, P. (2005) Soziologie der Migration: Erklärungsmodelle, Fakten, Politische Konsequenzen, Perspektiven. UTB Soziologie, Vol. 2118. 2nd edn. UTB GmbH: Stuttgart.

- Hannah Ritchie and Max Roser (2021) Farm Size https://ourworldindata.org/farm-size accessed 17 March 2022.
- Harild, N. and Christensen, A. (2010) The Development Challenge of Finding Durable Solutions for Refugees and Internally Displaced People. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Harrell-Bond, B. and Voutira, E. (2007) 'In Search of ,Invisible' Actors: Barriers to Access in Refugee Research', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 20/2: 281–98.
- Harris, J. R. and Todaro, M. P. (1970) 'Migration, Unemployment and Development: A Two-Sector Analysis', American Economic Review, 60/1: 126–42.
- Hartmann, B. (2010) 'Rethinking climate refugees and climate conflict: Rhetoric, reality and the politics of policy discourse', *Journal of International Development*, 22/2: 233–46.
- Harttgen, K. and Klasen, S. (2009) 'A Human Development Index by Internal Migration Status', *Human Development Research Paper Series*, 54.
- Hartwig, M. (ed.) (2007) Dictionary of Critical Realism. Routledge: London.
- Hastenrath, S. and Ames, A. (1995) 'Recession of Yanamarey Glacier in Cordillera Blanca, Peru, during the 20th century', *Journal of Glaciology*, 41/137: 191–96.
- Hauer, M. E., et al. (2020) 'Sea-level rise and human migration', *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 1/1: 28–39.
- Hayes, K., et al. (2018) 'Climate change and mental health: risks, impacts and priority actions', *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 12/1: 28.
- Haylock, M. R., et al. (2006) 'Trends in Total and Extreme South American Rainfall in 1960– 2000 and Links with Sea Surface Temperature', *Journal of Climate*, 19/8: 1490–512.
- Headey, B. and Muffels, R. J. (2018) 'A Theory of Life Satisfaction Dynamics: Stability, Change and Volatility in 25-Year Life Trajectories in Germany', *Social indicators research*, 140/2: 837–66.
- Headey, B., Veenhoven, R. and Wearing, A. (1991) 'Top-down versus bottom-up theories of subjective well-being', *Social indicators research*, 24/1: 81–100.
- Heckathorn, D. D. (2002) 'Respondent-driven sampling II: deriving valid population estimates from chain-referral samples of hidden populations', *Social problems*, 49/1: 11–34.
- Heidinger, H., et al. (2018) 'A new assessment in total and extreme rainfall trends over central and southern Peruvian Andes during 1965–2010', *International Journal of Climatology*, 38/S1: e998-e1015.
- Heikkinen, A. (2017) 'Climate Change in the Peruvian Andes: A Case Study on Small-Scale Farmers' Vulnerability in the Quillcay River Basin', *Iberoamericana—Nordic Journal of Latin American and Caribbean Studies*, 46/1: 77–88.
- Helfferich, C. (2014) 'Leitfaden- und Experteninterviews'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 559–74. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Helliwell, J. F., et al. (2018a) 'International Migration and World Happiness'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 13–44. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R. and Sachs, J. D. (2018b) 'Happiness and Migration: An Overview'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 3–12. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- Helliwell, J. F., Shiplett, H. and Bonikowska, A. (2020) 'Migration as a test of the happiness set-point hypothesis: Evidence from immigration to Canada and the United Kingdom', *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue canadienne d'économique*, 53/4: 1618–41.

- Hellman, C. M., Pittman, M. K. and Munoz, R. T. (2013) 'The First Twenty Years of the Will and the Ways: An Examination of Score Reliability Distribution on Snyder's Dispositional Hope Scale', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 14/3: 723–29.
- Helm, S. V., et al. (2018) 'Differentiating environmental concern in the context of psychological adaption to climate change', *Global Environmental Change*, 48: 158–67.
- Henderson, L. W. and Knight, T. (2012) 'Integrating the hedonic and eudaimonic perspectives to more comprehensively understand wellbeing and pathways to wellbeing', *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 2/3: 196–221.
- Hendriks, M. (2015) 'The happiness of international migrants: A review of research findings', *Migration Studies*, 3/3: 343–69.
- Hendriks, M., et al. (2018) 'Do international migrants increase their happiness and that of their families by migrating?'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 45–66. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- Hendriks, M. and Bartram, D. (2016) 'Macro-conditions and immigrants' happiness: Is moving to a wealthy country all that matters?', *Social science research*, 56: 90–107.
- Hendriks, M. and Bartram, D. (2019) 'Bringing Happiness Into the Study of Migration and Its Consequences: What, Why, and How?', *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 17/ 3: 279–98.
- Hendriks, M. and Commandeur, H. R. (2018) Migrant happiness: Insights into the broad well-being outcomes of migration and its determinants. Erasmus University Rotterdam: Rotterdam.
- Hendriks, M., Ludwigs, K. and Veenhoven, R. (2016) 'Why are Locals Happier than Internal Migrants? The Role of Daily Life', *Social indicators research*, 125/2: 481–508.
- Henne, Thorsten and Stutzer, Alois (2014) 'Aspiration Theory'. In: Michalos, A. C. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, pp. 253–55. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Henry, S. J. F., Schoumaker, B. and Beauchemin, C. (2003) 'The Impact of Rainfall on the First Out-Migration: A Multi-level Event-History Analysis in Burkina Faso', *Population* and Environment, 25/5: 423–60.
- Hernandez, S. C. and Overholser, J. C. (2021) 'A Systematic Review of Interventions for Hope/Hopelessness in Older Adults', *Clinical gerontologist*, 44/2: 97–111.
- Hernández, A. V., et al. (2012) 'Effect of rural-to-urban within-country migration on cardiovascular risk factors in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review', *Heart* (*British Cardiac Society*), 98/3: 185–94.
- Herren, U. J. (1991) "Droughts have Different Tails": Response to Crises in Mukogodo Division, North Central Kenya, 1950s-1980s', *Disasters*, 15/2: 93–107.
- Herrero, M., et al. (2017) 'Farming and the geography of nutrient production for human use: a transdisciplinary analysis', *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 1/1: e33-e42.
- Heymann, D. (2007) 'Learning from Pandemics: Past as Prologue'. In: Lemon, S. M. (ed.) *Ethical and legal considerations in mitigating pandemic disease: Workshop summary*, pp. 33–43. National Academies Press: Washington, D.C.
- Hildebrandt, N. and McKenzie, D. J. (2005) *The Effects of Migration on Child Health in Mexico*. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Hino, M., Field, C. B. and Mach, K. J. (2017) 'Managed retreat as a response to natural hazard risk', *Nature Climate Change*, 7/5: 364–70.

- Hirono, T. and Blake, M. E. (2017) 'The Role of Religious Leaders in the Restoration of Hope Following Natural Disasters', SAGE Open, 7/2: 1–15.
- Hirsch, T. (2021) Climate Finance for Addressing Loss and Damage: How to Mobilize Support for Developing Countries to Tackle Loss and Damage. Analysis. Brot für die Welt: Berlin.
- Hirschman, A. O. (1970) *Exit, voice, and loyalty: Responses to decline in firms, organizations, and states.* Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Hitzler, R. and Honer, A. (1997) Sozialwissenschaftliche Hermeneutik: Eine Einführung. VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften: Wiesbaden.
- Ho, R. and Milan, A. (2012) *Rainfall, food security, and human mobility: case study Peru.* UNU-EHS: Bonn.
- Hoffmann, R., et al. (2020) 'A meta-analysis of country-level studies on environmental change and migration', *Nature Climate Change*, 10/10: 904–12.
- Hoffmann, R., Sedová, B. and Vinke, K. (2021) 'Improving the evidence base: A methodological review of the quantitative climate migration literature', *Global Environmental Change*, 71: 102367.
- Hoffmann, R., Vinke, K. and Šedová, B. (under review) 'From evidence to policy: Bridging the gaps in climate migration research'.
- Hofmeijer, I., et al. (2013) 'Community vulnerability to the health effects of climate change among Indigenous populations in the Peruvian Amazon: a case study from Panaillo and Nuevo Progreso', *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 18/7: 957–78.
- Hofstede, G. (1984) 'The Cultural Relativity of the Quality of Life Concept', Academy of Management Review, 9/3: 389–98.
- Hook, K. M. and Snyder, D. (2021) Water as Lifeblood: Adaptation to Prevent Climate Change Migration in the Mountains of Peru and Morocco. Master's thesis, University of Colorado Boulder.
- Hopf, C. (1995) Familie und Rechtsextremismus: Familiale Sozialisation und rechtsextreme Orientierungen junger M\u00e4nner. Jugendforschung. Juventa: Weinheim.
- Hopf, C. (2015) 'Qualitative Interviews—ein Überblick'. In: Flick, U., Kardorff, E. von, Steinke, I. (eds.) *Qualitative Forschung: Ein Handbuch, Rowohlts enzyklopädie*, Vol. 55628. 11th edn., pp. 349–59. Rowohlt-Taschenbuch-Verl.: Reinbek.
- Hopf, C. and Hopf, W. (1997) Familie, Persönlichkeit, Politik: Eine Einführung in die politische Sozialisation. Grundlagentexte Soziologie. 1st edn. Beltz Juventa: Weinheim.
- Hopf, C. and Schmidt, C. (1993) Zum Verhältnis von innerfamilialen sozialen Erfahrungen, Persönlichkeitsentwicklung und politischen Orientierungen: Dokumentation und Erörterung des methodischen Vorgehens in einer Studie zu diesem Thema. Institut für Sozialwissenschaften der Universität Hildesheim: Hildesheim.
- Horkheimer, M. (1982) Critical theory: Selected essays. Continuum: New York.
- Howard, J. A. and Renfrow, D. G. (2014) 'Intersectionality'. In: McLeod, J. D., Lawler, E. J., Schwalbe, M. (eds.) Handbook of the Social Psychology of Inequality, Handbooks of sociology and social research, pp. 95–121. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Hu, L., et al. (2020) 'Expectations for the Future Life of Floating People in Mega-Cities: A Study of In-Migrants in Beijing, China', *Psychology*, 11/09: 1315–39.
- Hu, Z.-Z., et al. (2019) 'On the variety of coastal El Niño events', *Climate Dynamics*, 52/12: 7537–52.
- Hübler, M. (2016) 'Does Migration Support Technology Diffusion in Developing Countries?', World Development, 83: 148–62.

- Huggel, C., et al. (2020) 'Anthropogenic climate change and glacier lake outburst flood risk: local and global drivers and responsibilities for the case of lake Palcacocha, Peru', *Natural Hazards and Earth System Science*, 20/8: 2175–93.
- Hugo, G. J. (1996) 'Environmental concerns and international migration', *International Migration Review*, 30/1: 105–131.
- Hugo, G. J. and Bardsley, D. K. (2014) 'Migration and Environmental Change in Asia'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate*, *Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 21–48. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Humble, A. T. (2014) 'The rise of trapped populations', Forced Migration Review, 45: 56-57.
- Hunter, L. M., et al. (2021) 'Scales and sensitivities in climate vulnerability, displacement, and health', *Population and Environment*, 43/1: 61–81.
- Hunter, L. M., Luna, J. K. and Norton, R. M. (2015) 'The Environmental Dimensions of Migration', Annu. Rev. Sociol., 41/1: 377–97.
- Hunter, L. M. and Nawrotzki, R. J. (2016) 'Migration and the Environment'. In: White, M. J. (ed.) *International Handbook of Migration and Population Distribution, International Handbooks of Population*, Vol. 6, pp. 465–84. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Huntingford, C., Williamson, M. S. and Nijsse, F. J. M. M. (2020) 'CMIP6 climate models imply high committed warming', *Climatic Change*, 162/3: 1515–20.
- Huppert, F. A. and So, T. T. C. (2013) 'Flourishing across Europe: Application of a new conceptual framework for defining well-being', *Social indicators research*, 110/3: 837–61.
- Huta, V. (2014) 'Eudaimonia'. In: David, S. A. (ed.) *The Oxford handbook of happiness*, *Oxford library of psychology*. 1st edn., pp. 201–13. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Huta, V. and Ryan, R. M. (2010) 'Pursuing pleasure or virtue: The differential and overlapping well-being benefits of hedonic and eudaimonic motives', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 11/6: 735–62.
- Huta, V. and Waterman, A. S. (2014) 'Eudaimonia and Its Distinction from Hedonia: Developing a Classification and Terminology for Understanding Conceptual and Operational Definitions', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 15/6: 1425–56.
- Hyman, H. H. (1942) 'The psychology of status', Archives of Psychology (Columbia University), 269: 94.
- Hynie, M. (2018) 'The Social Determinants of Refugee Mental Health in the Post-Migration Context: A Critical Review', *Canadian journal of psychiatry. Revue canadienne de psychiatrie*, 63/5: 297–303.
- IDB, et al. (2017) Food Security and Emigration—Why people flee and the impact on family members left behind in El Salvador, Guatemala and Honduras. World Food Programme: Panama City.
- IDMC (2019) Peru Country Information: as of 31 December 2018, Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre http://www.internal-displacement.org/countries/peru> accessed 23 January 2022.
- IDMC (2020) *Global Report on Internal Displacement 2020*. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre: Geneva.
- IDMC (2021a) *Global Report on Internal Displacement 2021 (GRID)*. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre: Geneva.
- IDMC (2021b) Peru Country Information: as of 22 February 2021b, Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre http://www.internal-displacement.org/countries/peru accessed 22 February 2021.

- IDMC (2021c) UnSettlement: Assessing Urban Disaster Displacement Risk in the 21st Century. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre: Geneva.
- INAIGEM (2018) Inventario Nacional de Glaciares: Las Cordilleras del Perú. Instituto Nacional de Investigación en Glaciares y Ecosistemas de Montaña: Huaraz.
- INEI (2011) *PERÚ: Migración Interna reciente y el Sistema de Ciudades 2002—2007.* Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática: Lima.
- INEI (2016*) Censos 2017: Niveles y tendencias de la migración internacional peruana: Presentación. December 2016: Lima https://www.inei.gob.pe/media/MenuRecursivo/boletines/presntacion_migraciones.pdf> accessed 26 January 2021.
- INEI (2016b) Evolución de la pobreza monetaria 2009–2015: Informe Técnico. Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática: Lima.
- INEI (2017^a) Censo de población, vivienda e infraestructura pública afectadas por "El Niño Costero" 2017: Presentación. Junio 2017: Lima https://www.mesadeconcertacion.org. pe/sites/default/files/archivos/2017/documentos/09/censo_el_nino_costero_2017.pdf> accessed 3 April 2021.
- INEI (2017b) Emigración Internacional de Peruanos: Características de los Hogares de Origeny de los Receptores de Remesas, 2013 y 2015. Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática: Lima.
- INEI (2017c) Ficha Técnica Del Empadronamiento de Distritos Declarados en Emergencia Por Desastres Naturales: Lima.
- INEI (2018^a) Censos Nacionales 2017: XII de Población, VII de Vivienday III de Comunidades Indígenas: Sistema de Consulta de Base de Datos a Nivel de Manzana, Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática https://censos2017.inei.gob.pe/publici/index.asp accessed 23 January 2022.
- INEI (2018b) Estadísticas de la emigración internacional de Peruanos e inmigración de extranjeros, 1990—2017. Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática (INEI): Lima.
- INEI (2018c) Péru: Perfil Sociodemográfico: Informe Nacional. Censos Nacionales 2017: XII de Población, VII de Vivienday III de Comunidades Indígenas. Instituto Nacional de Estadística e Informática: Lima.
- INRENA (2006) Tercer Informe sobre la implementación de la CNULCDS: Lima.
- INRENA (2011) Programa de Acción Nacional de Lucha contra la Desertificación. Instituto Nacional de los Recursos Naturales: Lima.
- IOM (2011) 'Glossary on Migration', International Migration Law, 25.
- IOM (2017^a) Matriz de Seguimiento de Desplazados (DTM): Perú—Piura, Ronda 1 Perfil de Sitio (15 Abril 2017). International Organization for Migration: Lima.
- IOM (2017b) Matriz de Seguimiento de Desplazados (DTM)Inundaciones y Huaicos Perú 2017: Evaluación de Sitios Piura y Lambayeque—Ronda 2 (23 Mayo 2017). International Organization for Migration: Lima.
- IOM (2017c) Matriz de seguimiento de desplazamiento—DTM Ronda 3—Septiembre 2017. International Organization for Migration: Lima.
- IOM (2017d) 'Migraciones, Ambiente y Cambio Climático: Estudios de Caso en América del Sur', *Cuadernos Migratorios*, 8.
- IOM (2018) Matriz de monitoreo del desplazamiento—DTM Ronda 4—Perú: Fenómeno del niño costero 2017, Evaluación final de sitios—abril, 2018. International Organization for Migration: Lima.
- IOM (2019) 'Glossary on Migration', International Migration Law, 34.
- IOM (2020) Internal displacement in the context of the slow-onset adverse effects of climate change: Submission by the International Organization for Migration to the Special Rapporteur on the Human Rights of Internally Displaced Persons. International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- IOM and IDMC (2022) Developing indicators on displacement for Disaster Risk Reduction, International Organization for Migration (IOM); Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC) https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1411/ files/documents/drr-displacement-indicator-project-brochure_0.pdf> accessed 24 February 2022.
- Ionesco, D., Mokhnacheva, D. and Gemenne, F. (2017) *Atlas der Umweltmigration*. Oekom: Berlin.
- Ioris, A. A. R. (2015) 'The Urbanisation of Lima, Neoliberal Reforms and Water-Related Tensions'. In: Ioris, A. A. R. (ed.) Water, State and the City, Cities and the Global Politics of the Environment, pp. 75–107. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Iosifides, T. (2012) 'Migration research between positivistic scientism and relativism: a critical realist way out'. In: Vargas-Silva, C. (ed.) *Handbook of research methods in migration*, pp. 26–49. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham.
- Iosifides, T. (2017) 'Against 'Migration': Using Critical Realism as a Framework for Conducting Mixed-Method, Migrantization Research', *Journal of Critical Realism*, 16/2: 128–42.
- IPCC (ed.) (2014) Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Geneva.
- IPCC (2018a) 'Annex I: Glossary'. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D., Skea, J., Shukla, P. R., Pirani, A., Moufouma-Okia, W., Péan, C., Pidcock, R., Connors, S., Matthews, J., Chen, Y., Zhou, X., Gomis, M. I., Lonnoy, E., Maycock, T. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Waterfield, T. (eds.) Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, in press. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Geneva.
- IPCC (2018b) 'Summary for Policymakers'. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D., Skea, J., Shukla, P. R., Pirani, A., Moufouma-Okia, W., Péan, C., Pidcock, R., Connors, S., Matthews, J., Chen, Y., Zhou, X., Gomis, M. I., Lonnoy, E., Maycock, T. K., Tignor, M. M. B., Waterfield, T. (eds.) *Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, pp. 1–32. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Geneva.*
- IPCC (2019a) 'Summary for Policymakers'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Nicolai, M., Okem, A., Petzold, J., Rama, B., Weyer, N. (eds.) *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate*, in press. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Geneva.
- IPCC (2019b) 'Summary for Policymakers'. In: Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Calvo Buendia, E., Masson-Delmotte, V., Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Zhai, P., Slade, R., Connors, S., van

Diemen, R., Ferrat, M., Haughey, E., Luz, S., Neogi, S., Pathak, M., Petzold, J., Portugal Pereira, J., Vyas, P., Huntley, E., Kissick, K., Belkacemi, M., Malley, J. (eds.) *Climate change and land: An IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems: summary for policymakers*, pp. 1–36. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Geneva.

- IPCC (2021) 'Summary for Policymakers'. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Conners, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, O., Yu, R., Zhou, B. (eds.) *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis: Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change AR6*, in press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- IPCC (2022a) 'Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Summary for Policymakers'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, In press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- IPCC (2022b) 'Summary for Policymakers'. In: IPCC (ed.) Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, in press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, New York.
- Ipsos (2021) Global Trustworthiness Index 2021 https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ ct/news/documents/2021-10/Global-trustworthiness-index-2021.pdf> accessed 18 March 2022.
- Iuchi, K. (2014) 'Planning Resettlement After Disasters', Journal of the American Planning Association, 80/4: 413–25.
- Ivlevs, A., Nikolova, M. and Graham, C. (2019) 'Emigration, remittances, and the subjective well-being of those staying behind', *Journal of Population Economics*, 32/1: 113–51.
- Jacobsen, K. and Landau, L. B. (2003) 'The dual imperative in refugee research: some methodological and ethical considerations in social science research on forced migration', *Disasters*, 27/3: 185–206.
- Jacobson, J. L. (1988) Environmental refugees: a yardstick of habitability. Worldwatch paper, Vol. 86. Worldwatch Institute: Washington, D.C.
- Jäger, J., et al. (2009) Environmental Change and Forced Migration Scenarios (EACH-FOR) Project Synthesis Report. UNU-EHS: Bonn.
- James, R., et al. (2014) 'Characterizing loss and damage from climate change', *Nature Climate Change*, 4/11: 938–39.
- Jarman, C. (2020) Resisting El Niño: an investigation into coping strategies to flood-related disasters in the Rímac river basin, Peru. Master's thesis, Lund University.
- JIPS (2018) Durable Solutions Analysis Guide. Joint IDP Profiling Service (JIPS): Geneva.
- Johansson, R. (1990) 'The refugee experience in Europe after World War II: some theoretical and empirical considerations'. In: Rystad, G. (ed.) *The Uprooted: Forced migration as an international problem in the post-war era*, *Lund studies in international history*, Vol. 25, pp. 227–69. Chartwell-Bratt; Lund University Press: Bromley, Lund.

- Jolly, R. (1976) 'The World Employment Conference: The Enthronement of Basic Needs', Development Policy Review, A9/2: 31–44.
- Jónsson, G. (2010) 'The environmental factor in migration dynamics—a review of African case studies', *IMI Working Papers*, 21.
- Jovanović, V. (2019) 'Adolescent life satisfaction: The role of negative life events and the Big Five personality traits', *Personality and Individual Differences*, 151: 109548.
- Juen, I., Kaser, G. and Georges, C. (2007) 'Modelling observed and future runoff from a glacierized tropical catchment (Cordillera Blanca, Perú)', *Global and planetary change*, 59/1–4: 37–48.
- Kaczan, D. J. and Orgill-Meyer, J. (2020) 'The impact of climate change on migration: a synthesis of recent empirical insights', *Climatic Change*, 158/3–4: 281–300.
- Kaenzig, R. (2011) 'Bolivian Andes: from climate change to human displacements?'. In: Borsdorf, A., Stotter, J., Veulliet, E. (eds.) Managing alpine future II: "inspire and drive sustainable mountain regions"; proceedings of the Innsbruck conference, November 21– 23, 2011, IGF-Forschungsberichte, Vol. 4, pp. 47–57. Verl. der Österr. Akad. der Wiss: Wien.
- Kaenzig, R. (2015) 'Can glacial retreat lead to migration? A critical discussion of the impact of glacier shrinkage upon population mobility in the Bolivian Andes', *Population and Environment*, 36/4: 480–96.
- Kaenzig, R. and Elizabeth Warn (2015) Identificando temas claves en migración, medio ambiente y cambio climático en América del Sur. Working Paper. International Organization for Migration (IOM).
- Kaenzig, R. and Piguet, É. (2012) 'Migration et changement climatique en Amérique Latine: Quels enjeux', VertigO-la revue électronique en sciences de l'environnement, 11/3: en ligne.
- Kaenzig, R. and Piguet, É. (2014) 'Migration and Climate Change in Latin America and the Caribbean'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate*, *Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 155–76. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Kaestner, R. and Malamud, O. (2014) 'Self-Selection and International Migration: New Evidence from Mexico', *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 96/1: 78–91.
- Kagan, S. (1994) 'Me and My Life', Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society, 94: 309-24.
- Kahneman, D. and Riis, J. (2006) 'Living, and thinking about it: Two perspectives on life'.
 In: Huppert, F. A., Baylis, N., Keverne, B. (eds.) *The science of well-being*, pp. 285–306.
 Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Kälin, W. and Cantor, D. J. (2017) 'The RCM Guide: a novel protection tool for crossborder disaster-induced displacement in the Americas', *Forced Migration Review*, 56: 58–61.
- Kashdan, T. B., Biswas-Diener, R. and King, L. A. (2008) 'Reconsidering happiness: the costs of distinguishing between hedonics and eudaimonia', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, ³/₄: 219–33.
- Katseli, L. T., Lucas, R. E. B. and Xenogiani, T. (2006) 'OECD Development Centre Working Papers', OECD Development Centre Working Papers, 250/250.
- Kaufmann, V., Bergman, M. M. and Joye, D. (2004) 'Motility: mobility as capital', International Journal of Urban and Regional Research, 28/4: 745–56.
- KC, S. and Lutz, W. (2017) 'The human core of the shared socioeconomic pathways: Population scenarios by age, sex and level of education for all countries to 2100', *Global Environmental Change*, 42: 181–92.

- Kelle, U. (2014) 'Mixed Methods'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 153–66. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Kettlewell, N., et al. (2020) 'The differential impact of major life events on cognitive and affective wellbeing', SSM—population health, 10: 100533.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2007) 'Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: a complementary strategy for improving national mental health', *The American psychologist*, 62/ 2: 95–108.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2010) 'Flourishing'. In: Weiner, I. B. and Craighead, W. E. (eds.) *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, pp. 671–72. John Wiley & Sons, Inc: Hoboken.
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2014) 'Happiness, Flourishing, and Life Satisfaction'. In: Cockerham, W. C., Dingwall, R., Quah, S. (eds.) *The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of Health, Illness, Behavior, and Society, Wiley Blackwell encyclopedias in social science*, pp. 747–51. John Wiley & Sons, Inc: Chichester.
- Khan, M. R., Chowdhury, M. and Huq, S. (2021) 'Climate-Resilient Migrant-Friendly Towns: A Conceptual Framework', *ICCCAD Policy Brief*, December 2021.
- Kim, H., Marcouiller, D. W. and Woosnam, K. M. (2018) 'Rescaling social dynamics in climate change: The implications of cumulative exposure, climate justice, and community resilience', *Geoforum*, 96: 129–40.
- King, R., et al. (2006) 'Time, generations and gender in migration and settlement'. In: Penninx, R., Berger, M., Kraal, K. (eds.) *The dynamics of international migration and settlement in Europe: A state of the art, IMISCOE joint studies*, pp. 233–69. Amsterdam Univ. Press: Amsterdam.
- King, R. (2012) 'Theories and Typologies of Migration: An Overview and A Primer', Willy Brandt Series of Working Papers in International Migration and Ethnic Relations, 12/3: 1–45.
- Kingma, M. (2018) Nurses on the Move: Migration and the Global Health Care Economy. The Culture and Politics of Health Care Work Ser. Cornell University Press: Ithaca.
- Kley, S. (2011) 'Explaining the Stages of Migration within a Life-course Framework', *European Sociological Review*, 27/4: 469–86.
- Kluger, L. C., et al. (2019) 'Coping with abrupt environmental change: the impact of the coastal El Niño 2017 on artisanal fisheries and mariculture in North Peru', *ICES Journal* of Marine Science, 76/4: 1122–30.
- Kluger, L. C., et al. (2020) 'On the move: The role of mobility and migration as a coping strategy for resource users after abrupt environmental disturbance—the empirical example of the Coastal El Niño 2017', *Global Environmental Change*, 63: 102095.
- Knight, J. and Gunatilaka, R. (2010) 'Great Expectations? The Subjective Well-being of Rural–Urban Migrants in China', World Development, 38/1: 113–24.
- Knight, J. and Gunatilaka, R. (2018) 'Rural-Urban Migration and Happiness in China'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 67–88. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- KNOMAD (2015) Longitudinal Research on Environmental Change and Migration: A Workshop on Objectives, Methods, and Applicability to Policy and Practice: March 19–20, 2015, Workshop Report.
- KNOMAD (2016) Quantitative Assessments of Environmentally-Induced Migration: May 9– 10, 2016, Summary Report.

- Koliou, M., et al. (2018) 'State of the research in community resilience: progress and challenges', Sustainable and resilient infrastructure, 5/3: 131–51.
- Kollmair, M. and Banerjee, S. (2011) Drivers of Migration in Mountainous Regions of the Developing World: A review: Foresight Project, Migration and Global Environmental Change. UK Government Office for Science: London.
- Kone, Z. L. and Özden, Ç. (2017) 'Brain Drain, Gain, and Circulation', KNOMAD Working Papers, 19.
- Koo, A. (2012) 'Is there any chance to get ahead? Education aspirations and expectations of migrant families in China', *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 33/4: 547–64.
- Kooij, D. T., et al. (2018) 'Future time perspective: A systematic review and meta-analysis', Journal of Applied Psychology, 103/8: 867–93.
- Kothari, U. (2003) 'Staying put and staying poor?', *Journal of International Development*, 15/5: 645–57.
- Kottak, C. P. (2012) Mirror for humanity: A concise introduction to cultural anthropology. 8th edn. McGraw-Hill: New York.
- Koubi, V., et al. (2016) 'The role of environmental perceptions in migration decision-making: evidence from both migrants and non-migrants in five developing countries: Evidence from both migrants and non-migrants in five developing countries', *Population and Environment*, 38/2: 134–63.
- Koubi, V., et al. (2018) 'The Determinants of Environmental Migrants' Conflict Perception', International Organization, 72/4: 905–36.
- Koydemir, S., Sökmez, A. B. and Schütz, A. (2021) 'A Meta-Analysis of the Effectiveness of Randomized Controlled Positive Psychological Interventions on Subjective and Psychological Well-Being', *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 16/3: 1145–85.
- Kramer, E. M. (2019) 'Cultural Fusion Theory'. In: Nussbaum, J. (ed.) Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Communication, online resource. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Kratz, F. (2020) 'On the way from misery to happiness? A longitudinal perspective on economic migration and well-being', *Migration Studies*, 8/3: 307–55.
- Krueger, R. A. (1999) Developing Questions For Focus Groups. Focus group kit, Vol. 3. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Krueger, R. A. and King, J. A. (1999) Moderating Focus Groups Richard A. Krueger. Focus group kit, Vol. 4. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Kuckartz, U. (2010) Einführung in die computergestützte Analyse qualitativer Daten. Lehrbuch–VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. 3rd edn. Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften/ GWV Fachverlage: Wiesbaden.
- Kuckartz, U. (2014a) 'Datenaufbereitung und Datenbereinigung in der qualitativen Sozialforschung'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 383–96. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Kuckartz, U. (2014b) Qualitative Text Analysis: A Guide to Methods, Practice and Using Software. Sage Publications, Inc.: London.
- Kuckartz, U. and Rädiker, S. (2019) Analyzing qualitative data with MAXQDA. Springer: Cham.
- Kulp, S. A. and Strauss, B. H. (2019) 'New elevation data triple estimates of global vulnerability to sea-level rise and coastal flooding', *Nature communications*, 10/1: 4844.
- Kumar, A. (2011) The Basics of Sociology. Lulu Press: New York.

- Kunz, E. F. (1973) 'The Refugee in Flight: Kinetic Models and forms of Displacement', International Migration Review, 7/2: 125–46.
- Kunz, E. F. (1981) 'Exile and Resettlement: Refugee Theory', International Migration Review, 15/1/2: 42–51.
- Kurz, A., et al. (2000) 'Das problemzentrierte Interview', Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung, 1: 463–75.
- Kuznar, L. A. (1991) 'Transhumant Goat Pastoralism in the High Sierra of the South Central Andes: Human Responses to Environmental and Social Uncertainty', *Nomadic Peoples*, 28: 93–104.
- Kvale, S. (2007) Doing interviews. The SAGE qualitative research kit. Sage Publications, Inc.: Los Angeles, London.
- Kvale, S. and Brinkmann, S. (2009) InterViews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing. InterViews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing, 2nd ed. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Lacroix, T. (2021) 'Migration-related city networks: a global overview', *Local Government Studies*: 1–21.
- Laczko, F. and Aghazarm, C. (eds.) (2009) *Migration, environment and climate change: Assessing the evidence.* International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva.
- Laczko, F. and Appave, G. (eds.) (2013) *World migration report 2013: Migrant well-being and development.* International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva.
- Lade, S. J., et al. (2020) 'Human impacts on planetary boundaries amplified by Earth system interactions', *Nature Sustainability*, 3/2: 119–28.
- Lagakos, D. (2020) 'Urban-Rural Gaps in the Developing World: Does Internal Migration Offer Opportunities?', *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 34/3: 174–92.
- Lakin, M. and Gasperini, L. (2003) 'Basic education in rural areas: status, issues, and prospects'. In: FAO, UNESCO, IIEP (eds.) *Education for rural development: Towards new policy responses*, pp. 77–174. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO): Rome.
- Lama, P., Hamza, M. and Wester, M. (2021) 'Gendered dimensions of migration in relation to climate change', *Climate and Development*, 13/4: 326–36.
- Lammers, E. (2007) 'Researching refugees: Preoccupations with power and questions of giving', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 26/3: 72–81.
- Lamnek, S. and Krell, C. (2016) *Qualitative Sozialforschung*. 6th edn. Beltz: Weinheim, Basel.
- Langerwisch, F., et al. (2013) 'Potential effects of climate change on inundation patterns in the Amazon Basin', *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17/6: 2247–62.
- Langill, J. C. (2018) Differential Experiences of Climate Change: Local Knowledge and Perspectives of Severe Flooding in the Peruvian Amazon. Master's thesis, University of Toronto.
- Langill, J. C. (2020) 'The Nature of Gender Relations: The Changing Language of Gender amid Anthropogenic Climate Change in Amazonian Peru'. In: Brunn, S. D. and Kehrein, R. (eds.) *Handbook of the Changing World Language Map*, pp. 1–20. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Langill, J. C. (2021) 'The co-production of gendered livelihoods and seasonal livelihoods in the floodplains of the Peruvian Amazon', *Gender, Place & Culture*, 28/8: 1106–29.

- Langill, J. C. and Abizaid, C. (2020) 'What is a bad flood? Local perspectives of extreme floods in the Peruvian Amazon', *AMBIO*, 49/8: 1423–36.
- Latinobarómetro (2018) Informe Latinobarómetro 2018. Corporación Latinobarómetro: Santiago de Chile.
- Lavado-Casimiro, W. S., et al. (2011) 'Assessment of climate change impacts on the hydrology of the Peruvian Amazon-Andes basin', *Hydrological Processes*, 25/24: 3721–34.
- Lavado-Casimiro, W. S., et al. (2012a) 'Basin-scale analysis of rainfall and runoff in Peru (1969–2004): Pacific, Titicaca and Amazonas drainages', *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 57/4: 625–42.
- Lavado-Casimiro, W. S., et al. (2012b) 'Trends in rainfall and temperature in the Peruvian Amazon-Andes basin over the last 40 years (1965–2007)', *Hydrological Processes*, 27/ 20: 2944–2957.
- Lavado-Casimiro, W. S. et al. (2016) PISCO: Peruvian Interpolated data of the SENAMHI's Climatological and hydrological Observations: Precipitación v1. 0. Servicio Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología.
- Lavado-Casimiro, W. S. and Espinoza, J. C. (2014) 'Impactos de El Niño y La Niña en las lluvias del Perú (1965–2007)', *Revista Brasileira de Meteorologia*, 29/2: 171–82.
- Lavell, A., et al. (2016) Diagnostic Report: Colombia, Peru & Mexico (1/4). Reducing Relocation Risk in Urban Areas. The Bartlett Development Planning Unit (DPU); Latin American Social Science Faculty (FLACSO): London.
- Lavenex, S., Jurje, F. and Givens, T. E. (2016) 'Regional migration governance'. In: Börzel, T. and Risse, T. (eds.) Oxford handbook of comparative regionalism, chapter 20. Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Lawson, T. et al. (eds.) (2009) Critical realism: Essential readings. Routledge: London, New York.
- Le Dé, L., Gaillard, J.-C. and Friesen, W. (2013) 'Remittances and disaster: a review', International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 4: 34–43.
- Lee, E. S. (1966) 'A theory of migration', Demography, 3/1: 47-57.
- Lemons, J. and Brown, D. (2011) 'Global climate change and non-violent civil disobedience', *Ethics in Science and Environmental Politics*, 11/1: 3–12.
- Lenard, P. T. (2016) 'Resettling refugees: is private sponsorship a just way forward?', *Journal* of Global Ethics, 12/3: 300–10.
- Lennox, E. (2015) 'Double Exposure to Climate Change and Globalization in a Peruvian Highland Community', *Society & Natural Resources*, 28/7: 781–96.
- Lennox, E. and Gowdy, J. (2014) 'Ecosystem governance in a highland village in Peru: Facing the challenges of globalization and climate change', *Ecosystem Services*, 10: 155–63.
- Lens, W., et al. (2012) 'Future time perspective as a motivational variable: Content and extension of future goals affect the quantity and quality of motivation', *Japanese Psychological Research*, 54/3: 321–33.
- Lenton, T. M., et al. (2008) 'Tipping elements in the Earth's climate system', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105/6: 1786–93.
- Lenton, T. M., et al. (2019) 'Climate tipping points—too risky to bet against', *Nature*, 575: 592–95.
- Levitt, P. and Lamba-Nieves, D. (2011) 'Social remittances revisited', Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 37/1: 1–22.

- Liao, H.-W. and Carstensen, L. L. (2018) 'Future Time Perspective: Time Horizons and Beyond', *GeroPsych*, 31/3: 163–67.
- Lim, J. R., et al. (2019) 'Individuals' religiosity and emotional coping in response to disasters', Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management, 27/4: 331–45.
- Lindert, J., et al. (2009) 'Depression and anxiety in labor migrants and refugees—a systematic review and meta-analysis', *Social science & medicine (1982)*, 69/2: 246–57.
- List, G. (2016) Agriculture and the risk of crop loss in the Amazon River floodplain of Peru. Master's thesis, McGill University.
- Llamas, V. (2017) 'Could Latin American citizenship be a fourth durable solution?', Forced Migration Review, 56: 67–68.
- Lo, F.-C. (2013) Growth Pole Strategy and Regional Development Policy: Asian Experience and Alternative Approaches. Elsevier: Burlington.
- Lockley, R., Altamirano, T. and Copestake, J. (2008) 'Wellbeing and Migration'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted, pp. 121–51. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Long, K. N., et al. (2020) 'The role of Hope in subsequent health and well-being for older adults: An outcome-wide longitudinal approach', *Global Epidemiology*, 2: 100018.
- Longhi, S., Nijkamp, P. and Poot, J. (2008) 'Meta-analysis of empirical evidence on the labour market impacts of immigration', *IZA Working Papers*, 3418.
- Longhi, S., Nijkamp, P. and Poot, J. (2010) 'Joint impacts of immigration on wages and employment: review and meta-analysis', *Journal of Geographical Systems*, 12/4: 355–87.
- Lönnqvist, J.-E., et al. (2015) 'The mixed blessings of migration: Life satisfaction and selfesteem over the course of migration', *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 45/4: 496– 514.
- Lopez, L. (2018) *Limitations and opportunities of the planned relocation in a context of adaptation to climate change.* Doctoral thesis, University of Antwerp.
- López-i-Gelats, F., et al. (2015) 'Adaptation Strategies of Andean Pastoralist Households to Both Climate and Non-Climate Changes', *Human Ecology*, 43/2: 267–82.
- Lowder, S. K., Skoet, J. and Singh, S. (2014) 'What do we really know about the number and distribution of farms and family farms in the world? Background paper for The State of Food and Agriculture 2014', *ESA Working Paper*, 14–02.
- Lu, H., Kandilov, I. T. and Zhu, R. (2020) 'The Impact of Internal Migration on the Health of Rural Migrants: Evidence from Longitudinal Data in China', *Journal of Development Studies*, 56/4: 840–55.
- Lu, M., et al. (2018) 'Different Future Time Perspectives Interplay in Predicting Life Satisfaction', *GeroPsych*, 31/3: 103–13.
- Lucas, R. E. (2007) 'Adaptation and the set-point model of subjective well-being: Does happiness change after major life events?', *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 16/ 2: 75–79.
- Lucas, R. E. B. (ed.) (2021a) Crossing the Divide: Rural to urban migration in developing countries. Oxford scholarship online Economics and Finance. Oxford University Press: New York, NY.
- Lucas, R. E. B. (2021b) 'Economic Motives and Barriers to Internal Migration1'. In: Lucas, R. E. B. (ed.) Crossing the Divide: Rural to urban migration in developing countries, Oxford scholarship online Economics and Finance, pp. 187–246. Oxford University Press: New York, NY.

- Lucas, R. E. B. (2021c) 'Impacts of Migration on Families'. In: Lucas, R. E. B. (ed.) Crossing the Divide: Rural to urban migration in developing countries, Oxford scholarship online Economics and Finance, pp. 331–84. Oxford University Press: New York, NY.
- Luhmann, M., et al. (2012) 'Subjective well-being and adaptation to life events: a metaanalysis', Journal of personality and social psychology, 102/3: 592–615.
- Luhmann, M., et al. (2013) 'The prospective effect of life satisfaction on life events', *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4/1: 39–45.
- Lundholm, E. and Malmberg, G. (2006) 'Gains and losses, outcomes of interregional migration in the five nordic countries', *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography*, 88/ 1: 35–48.
- Lutz, W., et al. (2021) 'Years of good life is a well-being indicator designed to serve research on sustainability', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118/12: e1907351118.
- Lutz, W. and KC, S. (2011) 'Global human capital: integrating education and population', Science (New York, N.Y.), 333/6042: 587–92.
- Lyra, A., et al. (2017) 'Projections of climate change impacts on central America tropical rainforest', *Climatic Change*, 141/1: 93–105.
- Mächtle, B. (2016) 'Umwelt und Mensch im Naturraum'. In: Paap, I. and Schmidt-Welle, F. (eds.) *Peru heute: Politik, Wirtschaft, Kultur, Bibliotheca Ibero-Americana*, Band 166, pp. 17–38. Verlag Vervuert: Frankfurt a.M.
- Mackenzie, C., McDowell, C. and Pittaway, E. (2007) 'Beyond 'Do No Harm': The Challenge of Constructing Ethical Relationships in Refugee Research', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 20/2: 299–319.
- MacLean, L. M., Meyer, M. and Estable, A. (2004) 'Improving accuracy of transcripts in qualitative research', *Qualitative health research*, 14/1: 113–23.
- Macroconsult (2017) Peruvian economic losses during El Niño 2017: Technical Report. Macroconsult: Miraflores.
- Maddison, D. and Rehdanz, K. (2020) 'Cross-country variations in subjective wellbeing explained by the climate'. In: Maddison, D., Rehdanz, K., Welsch, H. (eds.) *Handbook* on Wellbeing, Happiness and the Environment, pp. 105–26. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham, Northampton.
- Magallanes, J. M. (2015) Climate Change and the Potential for Conflict and Extreme Migration in the Andes: A Computational Approach for Interdisciplinary Modeling and Anticipatory Policy-Making. Doctoral thesis, George Mason University.
- Mahadevia Ghimire, K. (2021) 'Natural Disasters and Weak Government Institutions: Creating a Vicious Cycle that Ensnares Developing Countries', *Law and Development Review*, 14/1: 59–104.
- Mähönen, T. A., Leinonen, E. and Jasinskaja-Lahti, I. (2013) 'Met expectations and the wellbeing of diaspora immigrants: a longitudinal study', *International journal of psychology* : Journal international de psychologie, 48/3: 324–33.
- Mahoney, J. (2008) 'Toward a Unified Theory of Causality', *Comparative Political Studies*, 41/4–5: 412–36.
- Mak, J., Roberts, B. and Zimmerman, C. (2021) 'Coping with Migration-Related Stressors: A Systematic Review of the Literature', *Journal of immigrant and minority health*, 23/2: 389–404.

- Makondo, C. C. and Thomas, D. S. G. (2018) 'Climate change adaptation: Linking Indigenous knowledge with western science for effective adaptation', *Environmental Science & Policy*, 88: 83–91.
- Mallick, B. and Schanze, J. (2020) 'Trapped or Voluntary? Non-Migration Despite Climate Risks', Sustainability, 12/11: 4718.
- Mallick, B., Sultana, Z. and Bennett, C. M. (2020) 'How do sustainable livelihoods influence environmental (non-)migration aspirations?', *Applied Geography*, 124: 102328.
- Manning, C. and Clayton, S. (2018) 'Threats to mental health and wellbeing associated with climate change'. In: Clayton, S. and Manning, C. (eds.) *Psychology and Climate Change*, pp. 217–44. Elsevier: Amsterdam.
- Manzi, M. (2005) Peasant adaptation to environmental change in the Peruvian Amazon : livelihood responses in an Amerindian and a non-Amerindian community. Master's thesis, McGill University.
- Marcotullio, P., Baptista, S. and de Sherbinin, A. M. (2012) 'Urbanization, Poverty Reduction, and Ecosystem Integrity'. In: Ingram, J. C., DeClerck, F., Del Rumbaitis Rio, C. (eds.) Integrating Ecology and Poverty Reduction: The Application of Ecology in Development Solutions, pp. 101–24. Springer New York: New York.
- Marengo, J. A., et al. (2013) 'Recent Extremes of Drought and Flooding in Amazonia: Vulnerabilities and Human Adaptation', *American Journal of Climate Change*, 02/02: 87–96.
- Marengo, J. A. and Espinoza, J. C. (2016) 'Extreme seasonal droughts and floods in Amazonia: causes, trends and impacts', *International Journal of Climatology*, 36/3: 1033–50.
- Markides, K. S. and Rote, S. (2015) 'Immigrant Health Paradox'. In: Scott, R. A. and Kosslyn, S. M. (eds.) *Emerging Trends in the Social and Behavioral Sciences: An interdisciplinary, searchable, and linkable resource*, pp. 1–15. Wiley: Hoboken.
- Martin, P. (2003) Economic integration and migration: The Mexico-US case. WIDER Discussion paper, Vol. 35. United Nations University, World Institute for Development Economics Research: Helsinki.
- Martin, P. (2005) 'Economic Costs and Benefits of International Labour Migration'. In: Omelaniuk, I. (ed.) World migration report 2005: Costs and Benefits of International Migration, pp. 185–202. International Organization for Migration (IOM): Geneva.
- Martin, S. F. and Bergmann, J. (2021) '(Im)mobility in the Age of COVID-19', *International Migration Review*, 55/3: 660–87.
- Martin, S. F. and Singh, L. (2022) 'Environmental change and human mobility: Opportunities and challenges of big data', *International Migration*: imig.13002.
- Marx, E. (1990) 'The Social World of Refugees: A Conceptual Framework', Journal of Refugee Studies, 3/3: 189–203.
- Marzeion, B., Jarosch, A. H. and Hofer, M. (2012) 'Past and future sea-level change from the surface mass balance of glaciers', *The Cryosphere*, 6/6: 1295–322.
- Maslow, A. H. (1943) 'A theory of human motivation', Psychological Review, 50/4: 370-96.
- Massey, D. S. (1990) 'Social structure, household strategies, and the cumulative causation of migration', *Population index*, 56/1: 3–26.
- Massey, D. S., et al. (1993) 'Theories of International Migration: A Review and Appraisal', *Population and Development Review*, 19/3: 431.
- Massey, D. S. and España, F. G. (1987) 'The social process of international migration', *Science*, 237/4816: 733–38.

- Masson-Delmotte, V. et al. (eds.) (2018) Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Geneva.
- Masson-Delmotte, V. et al. (eds.) (2021) Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis.: Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change AR6. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Matthews, T. and Potts, R. (2018) 'Planning for climigration: a framework for effective action', *Climatic Change*, 148/4: 607–21.
- Max-Neef, M. A. (1991) Human scale development: Conception, application and further reflections. Apex Press: New York.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012) A realist approach for qualitative research. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Maxwell, J. A. and Mittapalli, K. (2010) 'Realism as a Stance for Mixed Methods Research'. In: Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (eds.) SAGE Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research, pp. 145–68. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Mayring, P. (2010) 'Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse'. In: Mey, G. and Mruck, K. (eds.) *Handbuch qualitative Forschung in der Psychologie*, pp. 601–13. Springer: Wiesbaden.
- Mayring, P. (2014) *Qualitative content analysis: theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution.* SSOAR: Klagenfurt.
- Mazhin, S. A., et al. (2020) 'Migration health crisis associated with climate change: A systematic review', *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 9: 97.
- McAuliffe, M., Kitimbo, A. and Khadria, B. (2019) 'Reflections on migrants' contributions in an era of increasing disruption and disinformation'. In: McAuliffe, M., Khadria, B., Bauloz, C. (eds.) World migration report 2020, Vol. 14. 10th edn., pp. 161–84. International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- McDermott, B. M., et al. (2010) 'Vulnerability factors for disaster-induced child posttraumatic stress disorder: the case for low family resilience and previous mental illness', *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, 44/4: 384–89.
- McDermott, B. M. and Cobham, V. E. (2012) 'Family functioning in the aftermath of a natural disaster', *BMC Psychiatry*, 12/1: 55.
- McFarlane, A. C. (1987) 'Family functioning and overprotection following a natural disaster: the longitudinal effects of post-traumatic morbidity', *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, 21/2: 210–18.
- McGillivray, M. (2007) 'Human Well-being: Issues, Concepts and Measures'. In: McGillivray, M. (ed.) Human well-being: Concept and measurement, Studies in development economics and policy, pp. 1–22. Palgrave Macmillan; United Nations University, World Institute for Development Economics Research: Basingstoke, New York, Helsinki.
- McGranahan, G., Balk, D. and Anderson, B. (2007) 'The rising tide: assessing the risks of climate change and human settlements in low elevation coastal zones', *Environment and Urbanization*, 19/17: 17–37.
- McGregor, A., Coulthard, S. and Camfield, L. (2015) 'Measuring What Matters: The role of well-being methods in development policy and practice', *ODI Development Progress*, June 2015/Project Note 4.

- McGregor, J. A. (2008) 'Researching Human Wellbeing: From Concepts to Methodology'. In: Gough, I. (ed.) Wellbeing in developing countries: From theory to research, pp. 316–50. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- McGregor, S., et al. (2013) 'Inferred changes in El Niño–Southern Oscillation variance over the past six centuries', *Climate of the Past*, 9/5: 2269–84.
- McKenzie, D. J. and Rapoport, H. (2007) 'Network effects and the dynamics of migration and inequality: Theory and evidence from Mexico', *Journal of Development Economics*, 84/1: 1–24.
- McKenzie, D. J. and Rapoport, H. (2011) 'Can migration reduce educational attainment? Evidence from Mexico', *Journal of Population Economics*, 24/4: 1331–58.
- McKenzie, D. J., Stillman, S. and Gibson, J. (2010) 'How important is selection? Experimental vs. non-experimental measures of the income gains from migration', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 8/4: 913–45.
- McKenzie, D. J. and Yang, D. (2010) 'Experimental Approaches in Migration Studies', World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, 5395.
- McKinsey&Company (2016) People on the Move: Global Migration's Impact https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Industries/Public%20and%20Social%20Sector/Our%20Insights/Global%20migrations%20impact%20and%20opportunity/MGI-People-on-the-Move-Full-report.pdf> accessed 23 January 2022.
- McLeman, R. A. (2011) 'Settlement abandonment in the context of global environmental change', *Global Environmental Change*, 21: S108-S120.
- McLeman, R. A. (2016a) 'Conclusion: Migration as Adaptation: Conceptual Origins, Recent Developments, and Future Directions'. In: Milan, A., Schraven, B., Warner, K., Cascone, N. (eds.) *Migration, Risk Management and Climate Change: Evidence and Policy Responses*, pp. 213–29. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- McLeman, R. A. (2016b) Interconnectivity of Climate Change, Ecosystems, Livelihoods, and Migration: Implications for Long Term, Climate-Resilient Development Planning: Unpublished Background Paper for the Groundswell Report. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- McLeman, R. A. (2019) 'International migration and climate adaptation in an era of hardening borders', *Nature Climate Change*, 9/12: 911–18.
- McLeman, R. A. (2020) 'Perception of climate migrants', *Nature Climate Change*, 10/7: 600–01.
- McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (2018) 'Environmental migration research: evolution and current state of the science'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration, pp. 3–16. Routledge: London.
- McLeman, R. A. and Hunter, L. M. (2010) 'Migration in the context of vulnerability and adaptation to climate change: insights from analogues', *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 1/3: 450–61.
- McLeman, R. A. and Smit, B. (2006) 'Migration as an Adaptation to Climate Change', *Climatic Change*, 76/1–2: 31–53.
- McMichael, C., et al. (2020) 'A review of estimating population exposure to sea-level rise and the relevance for migration', *Environ Res Lett*, 15/12: 123005.
- McMichael, C., Barnett, J. R. and McMichael, A. J. (2012) 'An ill wind? Climate change, migration, and health', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120/5: 646–54.

- McMichael, C., Katonivualiku, M. and Powell, T. (2019) 'Planned relocation and everyday agency in low-lying coastal villages in Fiji', *The Geographical Journal*, 185/3: 325–37.
- McNulty, S. L. and Guerra Garcia, G. (2019) 'Politics and Promises: Exploring Fifteen Years of Peru's Participatory Decentralization Reform', *Public Organization Review*, 19/1: 45– 64.
- McPhaden, M. J., Zebiak, S. E. and Glantz, M. H. (2006) 'ENSO as an integrating concept in earth science', *Science*, 314/5806: 1740–45.
- Mechler, R., et al. (2020) 'Loss and Damage and limits to adaptation: recent IPCC insights and implications for climate science and policy', *Sustainability Science*, 15/4: 1245–51.
- Medina, L. (2021) Towards adaptive governance of climate change-induced migration: the case of the Peruvian Andes. Master's thesis, University of Birmingham.
- Meghir, C., et al. (2022) 'Migration and Informal Insurance: Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial and a Structural Model', *The Review of Economic Studies*, 89/1: 452–80.
- Melde, S., Laczko, F. and Gemenne, F. (2017) Making mobility work for adaptation to environmental changes: Results from the MECLEP global research. International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- Melzer, S. M. (2011) 'Does migration make you happy? The influence of migration on subjective well-being', *Journal of Social Research & Policy*, 2/2: 73–92.
- Melzer, S. M. and Muffels, R. J. (2012) 'Migrant's Pursuit of Happiness—The Impact of Adaptation, Social Comparison and Relative Deprivation: Evidence from a 'Natural' Experiment', SOEPpapers on Multidisciplinary Panel Data Research, 448.
- Melzer, S. M. and Muffels, R. J. (2017) 'Migrants' pursuit of happiness: An analysis of the effects of adaptation, social comparison and economic integration on subjective wellbeing on the basis of German panel data for 1990–2014', *Migration Studies*, 5/2: 190– 215.
- Mendola, M. (2012) 'Rural out-migration and economic development at origin: A review of the evidence', *Journal of International Development*, 24/1: 102–22.
- Merton, R. K. and Kitt, A. (1950) 'Contributions to the theory of reference group behavior'. In: Merton, R. K. and Lazarsfeld, P. F. (eds.) *Continuities in Social Research: Studies in the Scope and Method of "The American Soldier."*, Vol. 16, pp. 40–105. Free Press: Glencoe.
- Methmann, C. and Oels, A. (2015) 'From 'fearing' to 'empowering' climate refugees: Governing climate-induced migration in the name of resilience', *Security Dialogue*, 46/1: 51–68.
- MIDIS (2020) MIDISditrito: Reportes Interactivos, Ministerio de Desarrollo e Inclusión Social (MIDIS) http://sdv.midis.gob.pe/RedInforma/Reporte?id=18> accessed 23 January 2022.
- Mignolo, W. D. (2007a) 'Delinking: The rhetoric of modernity, the logic of coloniality and the grammar of de-coloniality', *Cultural Studies*, 21/2–3: 449–514.
- Mignolo, W. D. (2007b) 'Introduction: Coloniality of power and de-colonial thinking', Cultural Studies, 21/2–3: 155–67.
- Mignolo, W. D. (2012) Local histories/global designs: Coloniality, subaltern knowledges, and border thinking. Princeton studies in culture/power/history. Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- Milan, A. (2016) Rural livelihoods, location & vulnerable environments: Approaches to migration in mountain areas of Latin America. Doctoral thesis, Maastricht University.

- Milan, A. and Gioli, G. (2015) 'Migration and global environmental change: methodological lessons from mountain areas of the global South', *Earth System Dynamics*, 6/1: 375–88.
- Milan, A. and Ho, R. (2014) 'Livelihood and migration patterns at different altitudes in the Central Highlands of Peru', *Climate and Development*, 6/1: 69–76.
- Milán-García, J., et al. (2021) 'Climate change-induced migration: a bibliometric review', *Globalization and health*, 17/1: 74.
- Millington, J. (2000) 'Migration and Age: The Effect of Age on Sensitivity to Migration Stimuli', *Regional Studies*, 34/6: 521–33.
- Milona, M. (2020) Hope and Optimism. John Templeton Foundation: West Conshohocken.
- MIMP and IOM (2015) *Desplazamientos Internos en el Perú*. Ministerio de la Mujer y Poblaciones Vulnerables; International Organization for Migration: Lima.
- MINAGRI (2012) Plan de Gestión de Riesgos y Adaptación al Cambio Climático en el Sector Agrario 2012–2021. Ministerio de Agricultura y Riego: Lima.
- MINAM (2010) Segunda Comunicación Nacional del Perú a la Convención Marco de las Naciones Unidas sobre Cambio Climático. CH9 Integración de la gestión del cambio climático en el desarrollo nacional. Ministerio del Ambiente: Lima.
- MINAM (2011) Inventario y evaluacion del patrimonio natural en la Reserva Paisajistica Nor Yauyos Cochas. Ministerio del Ambiente; Negmann Sac: San Isidro, Lima.
- MINAM (2015) *Estrategia Nacional ante el Cambio Climático*. Ministerio del Ambiente: Lima.
- MINAM (2016^a) Estrategia Nacional contra la Desertificación y la Sequía 2016—2030. Ministerio del Ambiente: Lima.
- MINAM (2016b) *Estrategia Nacional sobre Bosques y Cambio Climático*. Ministerio del Ambiente: Lima.
- MINAM (2021) Plan Nacional de Adaptación al Cambio Climático del Perú: Resolución Ministerial №096 -2021-MINAM. Ministerio del Ambiente: Lima.
- Ming, H., et al. (2021) 'Cumulative Risk and Hopelessness among Chinese Rural-to-Urban Migrant Adolescents', *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 30/8: 2016–27.
- Mishra, D. K. (2001) 'Living with Floods: People's Perspective', *Economic and Political Weekly*: 2756–61.
- Mittelman, W. (1991) 'Maslow's Study of Self-Actualization', Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 31/1: 114–35.
- MML (2021) Plan Local de Cambio Climático de la Provincia de Lima—PLCC 2021–2030. Municipalidad Metropolitana de Lima: Lima.
- Mohapatra, S., Joseph, G. and Ratha, D. (2012) 'Remittances and natural disasters: expost response and contribution to ex-ante preparedness', *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 14/3: 365–87.
- Möller, V., et al. (2022) 'Annex II: Glossary'. In: Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M. M. B., Poloczanska, E., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., Löschke, S., Möller, V., Okem, A., Rama, B. (eds.) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, In press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Moncada, M. A. et al. (2018) Vulnerabilidad social e impacto del desastre natural producido por el fenómeno del Niño Costero, en el cotidiano de las familias de las poblaciones

rurales afectadas de Lima: Presented at XVI Coloquio Panamericano de Investigación en Enfermería,5–9.11.2018: La Habana, Cuba.

- Mora, C., et al. (2017a) 'Global risk of deadly heat', Nature Climate Change, 7/7: 501-06.
- Mora, C., et al. (2017b) 'Twenty-Seven Ways a Heat Wave Can Kill You: Deadly Heat in the Era of Climate Change', Circulation. Cardiovascular quality and outcomes, 10/11: 1–3.
- Moreno, M. and Oropesa, R. S. (2012) 'Ethno-racial identification in urban Peru', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 35/7: 1220–47.
- Morgan, D. L. (1999a) Planning Focus Groups. Focus group kit, Vol. 2. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Morgan, D. L. (1999b) *The focus group guidebook. Focus group kit*, Vol. 1. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Morgan, D. L. (2015) 'From themes to hypotheses: following up with quantitative methods', *Qualitative health research*, 25/6: 789–93.
- Morinière, L. (2012) 'Environmentally influenced urbanisation: footprints bound for town?', Urban Studies, 49/2: 435–50.
- Morón, E. A. and Sanborn, C. (2006) 'The Pitfalls of Policymaking in Peru: Actors, Institutions and Rules of the Game', *IDB Working Paper*, 206.
- Morrissey, J. W. (2014) 'Environmental change and human migration in sub-Saharan Africa'.
 In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 81–109. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Mortreux, C., et al. (2018) 'Political economy of planned relocation: A model of action and inaction in government responses', *Global Environmental Change*, 50: 123–32.
- Mousteri, V., Daly, M. and Delaney, L. (2018) 'The scarring effect of unemployment on psychological well-being across Europe', *Social science research*, 72: 146–69.
- Mukdarut, B., et al. (2017) The Impact of Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Interventions on People Affected by Humanitarian Emergencies: A systematic review. Oxfam: Oxford.
- Mukhopadhyay, P. and Revi, A. (2012) 'Climate change and urbanization in India'. In: Dubash, N. K. (ed.) Handbook of Climate Change and India: Development, Politics and Governance, pp. 327–40. Routledge: New York.
- Mulcahy, K. and Kollamparambil, U. (2016) 'The Impact of Rural-Urban Migration on Subjective Well-Being in South Africa', *Journal of Development Studies*, 52/9: 1357–71.
- Mulligan, M., Burke, S. and Douglas, C. (2014) 'Environmental Change and Migration Between Europe and Its Neighbours'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues*, Vol. 2, pp. 49–79. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Munshi, K. (2020) 'Social Networks and Migration', *Annual Review of Economics*, 12/1: 503–24.
- Muradian, R. (2006) 'Immigration and the environment: Underlying values and scope of analysis', *Ecological economics*, 59/2: 208–13.
- Murillo, F. (2014) Migration and Urbanization Paths: Reshaping the Human Geography of Latin America and the Caribbean: Background paper to IOM World Migration Report 2015.
- Murray, K., Davidson, G. and Schweitzer, R. (2008) *Psychological wellbeing of refugees* resettling in Australia: A literature review prepared for the Australian Psychological Society. Australian Psychological Society: Melburne.

- Muttarak, R. and Lutz, W. (2014) 'Is Education a Key to Reducing Vulnerability to Natural Disasters and hence Unavoidable Climate Change?', *Ecology and Society*, 19/1: 42.
- Myers, N. (1993) 'Environmental refugees in a globally warmed world', *BioScience*, 43/11: 752–61.
- Nagabhatla, N., et al. 'Water and Migration: A Global Overview.: United Nations University Institute for Water, Environment and Health, Hamilton, Canada', UNU-INWEH Report Series, 2020/Issue 10.
- Nakajima, T., et al. (2020) 'A development of reduction scenarios of the short-lived climate pollutants (SLCPs) for mitigating global warming and environmental problems', *Progress in Earth and Planetary Science*, 7/1.
- Nansen Initiative (2015) Human Mobility in the Context of Natural Hazard-Related Disasters in South America: Background Paper, Nansen Initiative/Refugee Law Initiative South America Consultation, Quito, Ecuador, 15–16 July 2015.
- Nash, S. L. (2018) 'From Cancun to Paris: An Era of Policy Making on Climate Change and Migration', *Global Policy*, 9/1: 53–63.
- Nature Climate Change (2021) 'Powers of qualitative research', *Nature Climate Change*, 11/ 9: 717.
- Nawrotzki, R. J., et al. (2015) 'Amplification or suppression: Social networks and the climate change-migration association in rural Mexico', *Global Environmental Change*, 35: 463– 74.
- Nawrotzki, R. J. and DeWaard, J. (2018) 'Putting trapped populations into place: Climate change and inter-district migration flows in Zambia', *Regional Environmental Change*, 18/2: 533–46.
- ND-GAIN (2022) *Rankings*, Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (ND-GAIN) <<u>https://gain.nd.edu/our-work/country-index/rankings</u>/> accessed 18 March 2022.
- Neef, M., Elizalde, A. and Hopenhayn, M. (1986) *Desarrollo a escala humana: Una opción para el futuro. Development Dialogue:* Santiago de Chile, Numero especial 1986.
- Neher, A. (1991) 'Maslow's Theory of Motivation', *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 31/ 3: 89–112.
- Neumann, K. and Hermans, F. (2017) 'What Drives Human Migration in Sahelian Countries? A Meta-analysis', *Population, Space and Place*, 23/1: e1962.
- Neve, J.-E. de, et al. (2012) 'Genes, economics, and happiness', Journal of Neuroscience, Psychology, and Economics, 5/4: 193–211.
- Nicholls, R. J. (2011) 'Planning for the Impacts of Sea Level Rise', *Oceanography*, 24/2: 144–57.
- Nielsen, S. S. and Krasnik, A. (2010) 'Poorer self-perceived health among migrants and ethnic minorities versus the majority population in Europe: a systematic review', *International journal of public health*, 55/5: 357–71.
- Nikolova, M. and Graham, C. (2015) 'In transit: The well-being of migrants from transition and post-transition countries', *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 112: 164–86.
- Niles, M. T. and Salerno, J. D. (2018) 'A cross-country analysis of climate shocks and smallholder food insecurity', *PloS one*, 13/2: e0192928.
- Nobre, C. A., et al. (2016) 'Land-use and climate change risks in the Amazon and the need of a novel sustainable development paradigm', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113/39: 10759–68.

- Norris, F. H., et al. (2008) 'Community resilience as a metaphor, theory, set of capacities, and strategy for disaster readiness', *American journal of community psychology*, 41/1–2: 127–50.
- Novikov, A. M. and Novikov, D. A. (2019) Research Methodology: From philosophy of science to research design. CRC Press: [S.I.].
- Nowok, B., et al. (2013) 'Does migration make you happy? A longitudinal study of internal migration and subjective well-being', *Environment and Planning A*, 45/4: 986–1002.
- Nugent, C. (2019) 'The 10 Countries Most Vulnerable to Climate Change Will Experience Population Booms in the Coming Decades', *TIME*, 11.07.2019 https://time.com/562 1885/climate-change-population-growth/ accessed 18 March 2022.
- Nuijten, M. and Vries, P. A. de (2003) 'Cultural difference and the evocation of otherness: reflections on the (mis)-use of the concept of culture in Andean Studies'. In: Salman, T. and Zoomers, A. (eds.) *Imaging the Andes: Shifting margins of a marginal world, CEDLA Latin America studies*, no. 91, pp. 64–80. Aksant: Amsterdam.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (1992) 'Human Functioning and Social Justice', *Political Theory*, 20/2: 202–46.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2012) Women and Human Development: The capabilities approach. The Seeley lectures, Vol. 3. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2013) Creating capabilities: The human development approach. The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press: Cambridge, London.
- O'Neill, D. W., et al. (2018) 'A good life for all within planetary boundaries', *Nature Sustainability*, 1/2: 88–95.
- Ober, K. (2019) 'The links between climate change, disasters, migration, and social resilience in Asia: A literature review', *ADB Economics Working Paper Series*, 586.
- Ober, K. and Sakdapolrak, P. (2017) 'How do social practices shape policy? Analysing the field of 'migration as adaptation' with Bourdieu's 'Theory of Practice", *The Geographical Journal*, 183/4: 359–69.
- Obi, C., et al. (2020) 'How does international migration impact on rural areas in developing countries? A systematic review', *Journal of Rural Studies*, 80: 273–90.
- Obokata, R., Veronis, L. and McLeman, R. A. (2014) 'Empirical research on international environmental migration: a systematic review', *Population and Environment*, 36/1: 111–35.
- OCHA (1998) *Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement*. United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs: New York.
- OECD (2013) OECD guidelines on measuring subjective well-being. OECD Publishing: Paris.
- OECD (2018) 'Labour market impact of immigration'. In: OECD and ILO (eds.) *How Immi*grants Contribute to Developing Countries' Economies, pp. 109–32. OECD Publishing: Paris.
- OECD and EU (2015) Indicators of Immigrant Integration 2015. OECD Publishing: Paris.
- Oetzel, R. and Ruiz, S. A. (2017) *Movilidad humana, desastres naturales y cambio climático en América Latina: De la comprensión a la acción.* Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit: Bonn.
- Oft, P. (2009) Can Resilience Be Built through Micro-Finance Tools? A Case Study of Coping and Adaptation Strategies to Climate-Related Shocks in Piura, Peru. Doctoral thesis, University of Bonn.

- Oft, P. (2010) Micro-finance instruments can contribute to build resilience: A case study of coping and adaptation strategies to climate-related shocks in Piura, Peru. Graduate research series, Vol. 2. UNU-EHS: Bonn.
- Ojala, M. (2012) 'Hope and climate change: the importance of hope for environmental engagement among young people', *Environmental Education Research*, 18/5: 625–42.
- Oliver-Smith, A. (2014) 'Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction in Highland Peru'. In: Glavovic, B. C. and Smith, G. P. (eds.) Adapting to Climate Change: Lessons from Natural Hazards Planning, pp. 77–100. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Olsson, T., et al. (2017) 'Downscaling climate projections for the Peruvian coastal Chancay-Huaral Basin to support river discharge modeling with WEAP', *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, 13: 26–42.
- O'Neill, B., et al. (2022) 'Key Risks Across Sectors and Regions'. In: IPCC (ed.) *Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, in press. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, New York.
- Oomen, B. (2020) 'Decoupling and Teaming up: The Rise and Proliferation of Transnational Municipal Networks in the Field of Migration', *International Migration Review*, 54/3: 913–39.
- Oppenheimer, M., et al. (2014) 'Emergent Risks and Key Vulnerabilities'. In: Field, C. B., Barros, V. R., Dokken, D. J., Mach, K. J., Mastrandrea, M. D., Bilir, T. E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K. L., Estrada, Y. O., Genova, R. C., Girma, B., Kissel, E. S., Levy, A. N., MacCracken, S., Mastrandrea, P. R., White, L. L. (eds.) Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp. 1039–99. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, New York.
- Orcutt, M., et al. (2020) 'Global call to action for inclusion of migrants and refugees in the COVID-19 response', *The Lancet*, 395/10235: 1482–83.
- Orlove, B. S. (2009) 'The past, the present and some possible futures of adaptation'. In: Adger, W. N., Lorenzoni, I., O'Brien, K. L. (eds.) Adapting to climate change: Thresholds, values, governance, pp. 131–63. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, New York.
- Otto, I. M., et al. (2017) 'Social vulnerability to climate change: a review of concepts and evidence', *Regional Environmental Change*, 17/6: 1651–62.
- Owen, G. (2020) 'What makes climate change adaptation effective? A systematic review of the literature', *Global Environmental Change*, 62: 102071.
- Paerregaard, K. (2013) 'Bare Rocks and Fallen Angels: Environmental Change, Climate Perceptions and Ritual Practice in the Peruvian Andes', *Religions*, 4/2: 290–305.
- Paerregaard, K. (2016) 'Making Sense of Climate Change: Global Impacts, Local Responses, and Anthropogenic Dilemmas in the Peruvian Andes'. In: Crate, S. A. and Nuttall, M. (eds.) Anthropology and climate change : from actions to transformations, pp. 250–60. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group: New York.
- Page, E. A. and Heyward, C. (2017) 'Compensating for Climate Change Loss and Damage', *Political Studies*, 65/2: 356–72.
- Pairama, J. and Le Dé, L. (2018) 'Remittances for Disaster Risk Management: Perspectives from Pacific Island Migrants Living in New Zealand', *International Journal of Disaster Risk Science*, 9/3: 331–43.

- Palmié, S. (2006) 'Creolization and Its Discontents', Annual Review of Anthropology, 35/1: 433–56.
- Panth, B. (2013) 'Skills Training and Workforce Development with Reference to Underemployment and Migration'. In: Maclean, R., Jagannathan, S., Sarvi, J. (eds.) Skills Development for Inclusive and Sustainable Growth in Developing Asia-Pacific, pp. 195–212. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Parfit, D. (1992) Reasons and persons. Clarendon Press: Oxford.
- Park, N., Peterson, C. and Ruch, W. (2009) 'Orientations to happiness and life satisfaction in twenty-seven nations', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4/4: 273–79.
- Park, R. E., et al. (1925) The city. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Park, R. E. (1928) 'Human Migration and the Marginal Man', American journal of sociology, 33/6: 881–93.
- Parr, J. B. (1999a) 'Growth-pole Strategies in Regional Economic Planning: A Retrospective View: Part 2. Implementation and Outcome', *Urban Studies*, 36/8: 1247–68.
- Parr, J. B. (1999b) 'Growth-pole strategies in regional economic planning: a retrospective view. Part 1. Origins and advocacy: Part 1. Origins and advocacy', *Urban Studies*, 36/7: 1195–215.
- Parsons, L. A., et al. (2018) 'The Threat of Multi-Year Drought in Western Amazonia', Water Resources Research, 54/9: 5890–904.
- Patterson, J. J. (2020) Remaking Political Institutions: Climate change and beyond. Cambridge elements. Elements in earth system governance. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Paudyal, P. and Tunprasert, D. (2018) 'Impact of migration on health and wellbeing of leftbehind families: a systematic review', *European Journal of Public Health*, 28/suppl_4.
- Paul, A. (2016) Happiness, well-being and human development: The case for subjective measures: Background Paper 2016 UNDP Human Development Report accessed 23 January 2022.
- Pavot, W. and Diener, E. (1993) 'Review of the satisfaction with life scale', *Psychological assessment*, 5/2: 164–72.
- Pawson, R. and Tilley, N. (1997) Realistic evaluation. Sage Publications, Inc.: London.
- Pearson, A. R. (2009) The Turning Tides: Protection Strategies for the Port of Callao for Adapting to Global Sea Level Rise: Stanford University Engineering and Public Policy Framework Project: Climate Change and Its Impacts on the Built Environment in the Coastal Zone. Stanford University: Palo Alto.
- Peng, Q., et al. (2019) 'Coupled ocean-atmosphere dynamics of the 2017 extreme coastal El Niño', *Nature communications*, 10/1: 298.
- Penz, P. (1986) Consumer Sovereignty and Human Interests. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Perez, C., et al. (2010) 'Climate Change in the High Andes: implications and adaptation strategies for small-scale farmers', *The International Journal of Environmental, Cultural, Economic and Social Sustainability*, 6: 71–88.
- Perlmann, J. and Waldinger, R. (1997) 'Second generation decline? Children of immigrants, past and present—a reconsideration', *International Migration Review*, 31/4: 893–922.
- Perry, R. W. and Lindell, M. K. (1997) 'Principles for Managing Community Relocation as a Hazard Mitigation Measure', *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 5/1: 49–59.

- Peterson, C., Park, N. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2005) 'Orientations to happiness and life satisfaction: the full life versus the empty life', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 6/1: 25–41.
- Peterson, C. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2004) Character strengths and virtues: A classification manual and handbook. 62nd edn. Oxford University Press; American Psychological Association: New York, Washington, D.C.
- Peth, S. A. and Sakdapolrak, P. (2020) 'Resilient family meshwork. Thai–German migrations, translocal ties, and their impact on social resilience', *Geoforum*, 114: 19–29.
- Pettit, H. and Ruijtenberg, W. (2019) 'Migration as hope and depression: existential im/ mobilities in and beyond Egypt', *Mobilities*, 14/5: 730–44.
- Petzold, J., et al. (2020) 'Indigenous knowledge on climate change adaptation: a global evidence map of academic literature', *Environmental Research Letters*, 15/11: 113007.
- Pfefferbaum, B., et al. (2016) 'Effects of Displacement in Children Exposed to Disasters', *Current psychiatry reports*, 18/8: 71.
- Piggott-McKellar, A. E., et al. (2020) 'A livelihood analysis of resettlement outcomes: Lessons for climate-induced relocations', AMBIO, 49/9: 1474–89.
- Piguet, É. (2013) 'From "Primitive Migration" to "Climate Refugees": The Curious Fate of the Natural Environment in Migration Studies', Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 103/1: 148–62.
- Piguet, É. (2018) 'Theories of voluntary and forced migration'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration, pp. 17–28. Routledge: London.
- Piguet, É., Kaenzig, R. and Guélat, J. (2018) 'The uneven geography of research on "environmental migration", *Population and Environment*, 39/4: 357–83.
- Pine, F. (2014) 'Migration as Hope', Current Anthropology, 55/S9: S95-S104.
- Piore, M. J. (1979) *Birds of passage : migrant labor and industrial societies*. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Pires Ramos, E., et al. (2017) 'Towards a regional agreement on environmental displacement?', Forced Migration Review, 65.
- Pittaluga, A. C. (2019) Failing like a state: Preventive resettlements as climate change risk reduction and adaptation strategies, and the curious case of Belén. Master's thesis, Universitetet i Oslo.
- Plane, D. A. (1993) 'Demographic influences on migration', Regional Studies, 27/4: 375-83.
- Pleeging, E., Burger, M. and van Exel, J. (2021a) 'The Relations between Hope and Subjective Well-Being: a Literature Overview and Empirical Analysis', *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 16/3: 1019–41.
- Pleeging, E., van Exel, J. and Burger, M. (2021b) 'Characterizing Hope: An Interdisciplinary Overview of the Characteristics of Hope', *Applied Research in Quality of Life*.
- Polenske, K. R. (2017) 'Growth Pole Theory and Strategy Reconsidered: Domination, Linkages, and Distribution'. In: Higgins, B. (ed.) Regional Economic Development: Essays in Honour of Francois Perroux, Routledge Library Editions. 1st edn., pp. 91–111. Taylor & Francis, Ltd.: Milton.
- Polivy, J. and Herman, C. P. (2002) 'If at first you don't succeed: False hopes of self-change', *The American psychologist*, 57/9: 677–89.
- Popp, K. (2014) 'Regional Policy Perspectives'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) People on the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues, Vol. 2, pp. 229–53. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.

- Porst, L. and Sakdapolrak, P. (2018) 'Advancing adaptation or producing precarity? The role of rural-urban migration and translocal embeddedness in navigating household resilience in Thailand', *Geoforum*, 97: 35–45.
- Portes, A., Fernández-Kelly, P. and Haller, W. (2005) 'Segmented assimilation on the ground: The new second generation in early adulthood', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 28/6: 1000–40.
- Portes, A., Guarnizo, L. E. and Landolt, P. (1999) 'The study of transnationalism: pitfalls and promise of an emergent research field', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 22/2: 217–37.
- Portes, A., McLeod, S. A. and Parker, R. N. (1978) 'Immigrant Aspirations', Sociology of Education, 51/4: 241–60.
- Portes, A. and Zhou, M. I. N. (1993) 'The New Second Generation: Segmented Assimilation and its Variants', *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 530/1: 74–96.
- Pörtner, H.-O. et al. (eds.) (2019) *IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate*. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): Geneva.
- Pörtner, H.-O. et al. (eds.) (2022) Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Price, C. E. and Feldmeyer, B. (2012) 'The Environmental Impact of Immigration: An Analysis of the Effects of Immigrant Concentration on Air Pollution Levels', *Population Research and Policy Review*, 31/1: 119–40.
- Prindex (2022) *Prindex Comparative Report 2020*. Overseas Development Institute; Global Land Alliance: London.
- Proyecto Glaciares (2018) Informe sobre Modelización Hidrologica hidrológica y Cambio Climático en cuenca del Cañete 2018: Lima.
- Przyborski, A. and Wolhrab-Sahr, M. (2014) 'Forschungsdesigns f
 ür die qualitative Sozialforschung'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 117–33. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Pulgar Vidal, J. (1972) *Geografía del Perú: Las ocho regiones naturales del Perú*. Editorial Universo: Lima.
- Quiroz, A. W. (2019) *Historia de la corrupción en el Perú*. Instituto de Estudios Peruanos: Lima.
- Rabatel, A., et al. (2013) 'Current state of glaciers in the tropical Andes: a multi-century perspective on glacier evolution and climate change', *The Cryosphere*, 7/1: 81–102.
- Racoviteanu, A. E., et al. (2008) 'Decadal changes in glacier parameters in the Cordillera Blanca, Peru, derived from remote sensing', *Journal of Glaciology*, 54/186: 499–510.
- Rademacher-Schulz, C., Schraven, B. and Mahama, E. S. (2014) 'Time matters: shifting seasonal migration in Northern Ghana in response to rainfall variability and food insecurity', *Climate and Development*, 6/1: 46–52.
- Radić, V., et al. (2014) 'Regional and global projections of twenty-first century glacier mass changes in response to climate scenarios from global climate models', *Climate Dynamics*, 42/1–2: 37–58.
- Ramírez, I. J. (2019) 'Exploring Tropical Variability and Extremes Impacts on Population Vulnerability in Piura, Peru: The Case of the 1997–98 El Niño'. In: Venugopal, V., Sukhatme, J., Murtugudde, R., Roca, R. (eds.) *Tropical Extremes*, pp. 263–97. Elsevier: Amsterdam.

- Ramsay, T. and Manderson, L. (2011) 'Resilience, Spirituality and Posttraumatic Growth: Reshaping the Effects of Climate Change'. In: Weissbecker, I. (ed.) *Climate Change and Human Well-Being: Global Challenges and Opportunities, International and Cultural Psychology*, pp. 165–84. Springer New York: New York.
- Rapley, J. (2007) Understanding development: Theory and practice in the Third World. 3rd edn. Rienner: Boulder.
- Ratha, D., Mohapatra, S. and Scheja, E. (2011) Impact of migration on economic and social development: A review of evidence and emerging issues. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- Ratha, D., Yi, S. and Yousefi, S. R. (2015) 'Migration and development: The Asian experience'. In: Triandafyllidou, A. (ed.) *Routledge Handbook of Immigration and Refugee Studies, Routledge International Handbooks Ser*, pp. 260–77. Taylor & Francis, Ltd.: London.
- Rau, P., et al. (2017) 'Regionalization of rainfall over the Peruvian Pacific slope and coast', International Journal of Climatology, 37/1: 143–58.
- Rau, P., et al. (2019) 'Assessing multidecadal runoff (1970–2010) using regional hydrological modelling under data and water scarcity conditions in Peruvian Pacific catchments', *Hydrological Processes*, 33/1: 20–35.
- Rawls, J. (1993) Political liberalism. Columbia University Press: New York.
- Rawls, J. (2005) A theory of justice. The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press: Cambridge.
- Reczek, C. (2014) 'Conducting a multi family member interview study', *Family process*, 53/ 2: 318–35.
- Reeves, A., Lemon, M. and Cook, D. (2014) 'Jump-starting transition? Catalysing grassroots action on climate change', *Energy Efficiency*, 7/1: 115–32.
- Reguero, B. G., et al. (2015) 'Effects of Climate Change on Exposure to Coastal Flooding in Latin America and the Caribbean', *PloS one*, 10/7: e0133409.
- Reindel, M. (2009) 'Life at the Edge of the Desert—Archaeological Reconstruction of the Settlement History in the Valleys of Palpa, Peru'. In: Herrmann, B., Wagner, G. A., Reindel, M. (eds.) New Technologies for Archaeology: Multidisciplinary investigations in Palpa and Nasca, Peru, Natural Science in Archaeology, pp. 439–61. Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Reitz, J. G., et al. (2009) Multiculturalism and Social Cohesion: Potentials and Challenges of Diversity. 1st edn. Springer Netherlands: s.l.
- Renaud, F. G., et al. (2007) Control, adapt or flee: How to face environmental migration? Interdisciplinary security connections, No. 5. UNU-EHS: Bonn.
- Rentfrow, P. J. (2018) 'Geographical variation in subjective well-being'. In: Diener, E., Oishi, S., Tay, L. (eds.) Handbook of Well-Being, pp. 866–75. Noba Scholar: Salt Lake City.
- Rezaeian, M. (2013) 'The association between natural disasters and violence: A systematic review of the literature and a call for more epidemiological studies', *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences : The Official Journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences*, 18/ 12: 1103–07.
- Richmond, A. H. (1988) 'Sociological theories of international migration: the case of refugees', *Current Sociology*, 36/2: 7–25.
- Richmond, A. H. (1994) *Global apartheid: Refugees, racism, and the new world order.* Oxford University Press: Toronto, New York.

- Richmond, A. H. (2002) 'Globalization: implications for immigrants and refugees', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 25/5: 707–27.
- Rigaud, K. K., et al. (2018) Groundswell: Preparing for Internal Climate Migration.: Washington, D.C.
- Robinson, D. N. (1999) Aristotle's psychology. Joe Christensen Inc.: Lincoln.
- Rockenbauch, T. and Sakdapolrak, P. (2017) 'Social networks and the resilience of rural communities in the Global South: a critical review and conceptual reflections', *Ecology and Society*, 22/1: 10.
- Rodgers, G. (2004) 'Hanging out with forced migrants: methodological and ethical challenges', *Forced Migration Review*, 21: 48–49.
- Rodríguez-Morata, C., et al. (2019) 'The anomalous 2017 coastal El Niño event in Peru', *Climate Dynamics*, 52/9–10: 5605–22.
- Rodríguez-Vignoli, J. and Rowe, F. (2018) 'How is internal migration reshaping metropolitan populations in Latin America? A new method and new evidence', *Population Studies*, 72/ 2: 253–73.
- Rogers, A. and Castro, L. J. (1981) 'Age patterns of migration: cause-specific profiles', *Research Reports*, RR-81–6: 125–59.
- Rogers, S. and Wilmsen, B. (2020) 'Towards a critical geography of resettlement', *Progress in Human Geography*, 44/2: 256–75.
- Rojas, M. (2018) 'Happiness in Latin America Has Social Foundations'. In: Helliwell, J. F., Layard, R., Sachs, J. D. (eds.) World Happiness Report 2018, pp. 115–45. Sustainable Development Solutions Network: New York.
- Rojas-Medina, Y., Vargas Machuca, J. A. and Trujillo, O. V. (2008) 'Trastorno de estrés agudo y episodio depresivo mayor en víctimas de una inundación en Tingo María: prevalencia y efectos de su desplazamiento a un alberg', *Revista Peruana de Medicina Experimental y Salud Pública*, 25/1: 66–73.
- Rosenthal, G. (2018) Interpretive Social Research. Göttingen University Press: Göttingen.
- Roth, J. (2015) Intersectionality: InterAmerican Wiki: Terms—Concepts—Critical Perspectives https://www.uni-bielefeld.de/cias/wiki/i_Intersectionality.html accessed 23 January 2022.
- Rowthorn, R. (2008) 'The fiscal impact of immigration on the advanced economies', Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 24/3: 560–80.
- Røysamb, E., et al. (2018) 'Genetics, personality and wellbeing. A twin study of traits, facets and life satisfaction', *Scientific reports*, 8/1: 12298.
- Rubiños, C. and Anderies, J. M. (2020) 'Integrating collapse theories to understand socioecological systems resilience', *Environmental Research Letters*, 15/7: 75008.
- Rudmin, F. W. (2003) 'Critical History of the Acculturation Psychology of Assimilation, Separation, Integration, and Marginalization', *Review of General Psychology*, 7/1: 3–37.
- Rudmin, F. W., Wang, B. and Castro, J. de (2016) 'Acculturation Research Critiques and Alternative Research Designs'. In: Schwartz, S. J. and Unger, J. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Acculturation and Health: Oxford Handbooks Online*, 75–96. Oxford University Press: New York.
- Ruhs, M. (2015) *The price of rights: Regulating international labor migration.* 3rd edn. Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- Rumbaut, R. G. (1997) 'Assimilation and its discontents: between rhetoric and reality', International Migration Review, 31/4: 923–60.

- Runciman, W. G. (1966) *Relative deprivation and social justice : a study of attitudes to social inequality in twentieth-century England.* University of California Press: Berkeley.
- Ruppenthal, L., Tuck, J. and Gagnon, A. J. (2005) 'Enhancing research with migrant women through focus groups', Western journal of nursing research, 27/6: 735–54.
- Ryan, D., Dooley, B. and Benson, C. (2008) 'Theoretical Perspectives on Post-Migration Adaptation and Psychological Well-Being among Refugees: Towards a Resource-Based Model', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 21/1: 1–18.
- Ryan, R. M. and Deci, E. L. (2001) 'On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being', Annu. Rev. Psychol., 52/1: 141–66.
- Ryff, C. D. (1989) 'Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 57/6: 1069–81.
- Ryff, C. D. and Keyes, C. L. M. (1995) 'The structure of psychological well-being revisited', Journal of personality and social psychology, 69/4: 719–27.
- Ryff, C. D. and Singer, B. H. (2008) 'Know Thyself and Become What You Are: A Eudaimonic Approach to Psychological Well-Being', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9/1: 13–39.
- Sadler, G. R., et al. (2010) 'Recruitment of hard-to-reach population subgroups via adaptations of the snowball sampling strategy', *Nursing & health sciences*, 12/3: 369–74.
- Safi, M. (2010) 'Immigrants' Life Satisfaction in Europe: Between Assimilation and Discrimination', *European Sociological Review*, 26/2: 159–76.
- Safra de Campos, R., et al. (2020) 'Where People Live and Move in Deltas'. In: Nicholls, R. J., Adger, W. N., Hutton, C. W., Hanson, S. E. (eds.) *Deltas in the Anthropocene*, pp. 153–77. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Safra de Campos, R., Bell, M. and Charles-Edwards, E. (2017) 'Collecting and Analysing Data on Climate-related Local Mobility: the MISTIC Toolkit', *Population, Space and Place*, 23/6: e2037.
- Sagoff, M. (1994) 'Should Preferences Count?', Land Economics, 70/2: 127-44.
- Saharso, S. (2019) 'Who needs integration? Debating a central, yet increasingly contested concept in migration studies', *Comparative Migration Studies*, 7.
- Sakdapolrak, P., et al. (2016) 'Migration in a changing climate. Towards a translocal social resilience approach', Die Erde; Zeitschrift der Gesellschaft für Erdkunde zu Berlin, 147/ 2: 81–94.
- Sanabria, J., et al. (2014) 'Potential impacts of early twenty-first century changes in temperature and precipitation on rainfed annual crops in the Central Andes of Peru', *Regional Environmental Change*, 14/4: 1533–48.
- Sanabria, J., et al. (2018) 'Rainfall along the coast of Peru during strong El Niño events', International Journal of Climatology, 38/4: 1737–47.
- Sanborn, C. (2012) La discriminación en el Perú: balance y desafíos. Universidad del Pacífico: Lima.
- Sanchez, P. A. and Swaminathan, M. S. (2005) 'Public health. Cutting world hunger in half', Science (New York, N.Y.), 307/5708: 357–59.
- Sánchez Aguilar, A. (2012^a) Migraciones internas en el Perú: Lima.
- Sánchez Aguilar, A. (2012b) Perfil migratorio del Perú, 2012. International Organization for Migration (IOM): Lima.
- Sandelowski, M. (1994) 'Notes on transcription', *Research in Nursing & Health*, 17/4: 311–14.

- Sassen, S. (1991) *The global city : New York, London, Tokyo.* Princeton University Press: Princeton.
- Satici, S. A. (2016) 'Psychological vulnerability, resilience, and subjective well-being: The mediating role of hope', *Personality and Individual Differences*, 102: 68–73.
- Saunders, M. N. K. et al. (eds.) (2019) *Research Methods for Business Students*. Pearson: Harlow.
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2011) Research methods for business students. Pearson: Harlow.
- Sayer, A. (1992) Method in social science: A realist approach. Routledge: London.
- Sayer, A. (2000) Realism and Social Science. Sage Publications, Inc.: London.
- Scanlon, T. (1993) 'Value, Desire and Quality of Life'. In: Nussbaum, M. C. and Sen, A. (eds.) *The quality of life*, pp. 184–200. Clarendon Press: Oxford.
- Schade, J., Faist, T. and McLeman, R. A. (2016) 'Conclusion: Inequality and Migration as Adaptation—Where Do We Go from Here?'. In: McLeman, R. A., Schade, J., Faist, T. (eds.) *Environmental Migration and Social Inequality*, pp. 203–28. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Schauwecker, S., et al. (2017) 'The freezing level in the tropical Andes, Peru: An indicator for present and future glacier extents', *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 122/10: 5172–89.
- Scheffran, J., Marmer, E. and Sow, P. (2012) 'Migration as a contribution to resilience and innovation in climate adaptation: Social networks and co-development in Northwest Africa', *Applied Geography*, 33/1: 119–27.
- Schellnhuber, H. J., et al. (2016) 'The Challenge of a 4°C World by 2100'. In: Brauch, H. G., Oswald Spring, Ú., Grin, J., Scheffran, J. (eds.) Handbook on Sustainability Transition and Sustainable Peace, Hexagon Series on Human and Environmental Security and Peace, Vol. 10, pp. 267–83. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Schewel, K. (2020) 'Understanding Immobility: Moving Beyond the Mobility Bias in Migration Studies', International Migration Review, 54/2: 328–55.
- Schiller, N. G., Basch, L. and Blanc-Szanton, C. (1992) 'Transnationalism: A new analytic framework for understanding migration', *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 645/1: 1–24.
- Schimmack, U., et al. (2002) 'Culture, personality, and subjective well-being: integrating process models of life satisfaction', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 82/ 4: 582–93.
- Schinkel, W. (2018) 'Against 'immigrant integration': for an end to neocolonial knowledge production', *Comparative Migration Studies*, 6/1: 31.
- Schinkel, W. (2019) 'Migration studies: an imposition', *Comparative Migration Studies*, 7/ 1: 32.
- Schoonenboom, J. and Johnson, R. B. (2017) 'How to Construct a Mixed Methods Research Design', KZfSS Kölner Zeitschrift für Soziologie und Sozialpsychologie, 69/Suppl 2: 107– 31.
- Schueller, S. M. and Seligman, M. E. P. (2011) 'Optimism and Pessimism'. In: Dobson, K. S. and Dozois, D. J. A. (eds.) *Risk Factors in Depression*, pp. 171–94. Elsevier: Burlington.
- Schulze, M. and Krätschmer-Hahn, R. (2014) 'Relative Deprivation Theory'. In: Michalos, A. C. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research*, pp. 5443–45. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.

- Schütze, M., et al. (2019) 'Integrated modelling of a megacity water system—The application of a transdisciplinary approach to the Lima metropolitan area', *Journal of Hydrology*, 573: 983–93.
- Schwan, S. and Yu, X. (2018) 'Social protection as a strategy to address climate-induced migration', *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 10/ 1: 43–64.
- Schwarz, N., Diener, E. and Kahneman, D. (eds.) (1999) *Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology.* Russell Sage Foundation: New York.
- Schwerdtle, P. N., et al. (2020) 'Health and migration in the context of a changing climate: a systematic literature assessment', *Environmental Research Letters*, 15/10: 103006.
- Schwerdtle, P. N., Bowen, K. J. and McMichael, C. (2017) 'The health impacts of climaterelated migration', *BMC Medicine*, 16/1: 1.
- Schyns, P. (2000) 'The relationship between income, changes in income and life-satisfaction in West Germany and the Russian Federation: relative, absolute, or a combination of both?'. In: Diener, E. and Rahtz, D. R. (eds.) Advances in Quality of Life Theory and Research, pp. 83–109. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Schyns, P. (2001) 'Income and Satisfaction in Russia', Journal of Happiness Studies, 2/2: 173–204.
- Scitovsky, T. (1992) *The joyless economy: The psychology of human satisfaction.* Oxford University Press: New York.
- Scoones, I. (1998) 'Sustainable rural livelihoods: a framework for analysis', Institute of Development Studies Working Papers, 72.
- Seawright, J. (2016) Multi-method social science: Combining qualitative and quantitative tools. Cambridge books online. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- Seawright, J. and Gerring, J. (2008) 'Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research', *Political Research Quarterly*, 61/2: 294–308.
- Šedová, B., Čizmaziová, L. and Cook, A. (2021) 'A meta-analysis of climate migration literature', *CEPA Discussion Papers*, 29.
- Seebauer, S. and Winkler, C. (2020a) 'Coping strategies and trajectories of life satisfaction among households in a voluntary planned program of relocation from a flood-risk area', *Climatic Change*, 162/4: 2219–39.
- Seebauer, S. and Winkler, C. (2020b) 'Should I stay or should I go? Factors in household decisions for or against relocation from a flood risk area', *Global Environmental Change*, 60: 102018.
- Seehaus, T., et al. (2019) 'Changes of the tropical glaciers throughout Peru between 2000 and 2016—Mass balance and area fluctuations', *The Cryosphere*, 13/10: 2537–56.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002) Authentic happiness: Using the new positive psychology to realize your potential for lasting fulfillment. Free Press: New York.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2011) Flourish: A visionary new understanding of happiness and wellbeing. 1st edn. Free Press: New York.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2018) 'PERMA and the building blocks of well-being', *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 13/4: 333–35.
- Selod, H. and Shilpi, F. (2021) 'Rural-Urban Migration in Developing Countries : Lessons from the Literature', World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series, 9662.
- Sen, A. (1983) 'Development: Which Way Now?', Economic Journal, 93/372: 742-62.
- Sen, A. (1999) Development as freedom. Alfred A. Knopf: New York.

- Sen, A. (2010) *Poverty and famines: An essay on entitlement and deprivation.* Oxford University Press: Oxford.
- Sen, A. and Nussbaum, M. (1993) 'Capability and well-being. The quality of life'. In: Nussbaum, M. C. and Sen, A. (eds.) *The quality of life*, pp. 30–53. Clarendon Press: Oxford.
- SENAMHI (n.d.) Clima: Heladas y Friajes https://www.senamhi.gob.pe/?p=heladas-y-friajes-recursos accessed 26 June 2019.
- SENAMHI (2015) *Regionalización y caracterización de sequías en el Perú*. Servicio Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología del Perú: Lima.
- SENAMHI (2019) Caracterización espacio temporal de la sequía en el Perú a escala de departamentos altoandinos (1981–2018). Servicio Nacional de Meteorología e Hidrología del Perú: Lima.
- Senik, C. (2009) 'Direct evidence on income comparisons and their welfare effects', Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 72/1: 408–24.
- Senik, C. (2015) Gender gaps in subjective wellbeing: Research report. Publications Office of the European Union: Luxembourg.
- SERNANP (2006) *Plan Maestro de la Reserva Paisajística Nor Yauyos Cochas 2006–2011*. Servicio Nacional de Areas Naturales Protegidas por el Estado: Lima.
- SERNANP (2016) *Plan Maestro de la Reserva Paisajística Nor Yauyos Cochas 2016–2020.* Servicio Nacional de Areas Naturales Protegidas por el Estado: Lima.
- Shannon-Baker, P. (2016) 'Making Paradigms Meaningful in Mixed Methods Research', Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 10/4: 319–34.
- Sharma, R., Kumar, V. and Raja, D. (2015) 'Disaster preparedness amongst women, the invisible force of resilience: A study from Delhi, India', *International Journal of Health System and Disaster Management*, 3/3: 163.
- Sharpe, M. (2018) 'Mixed Up: International Law and the Meaning(s) of 'Mixed Migration', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 37/1: 116–38.
- Shaw, R. (2012) Community-based disaster risk reduction. Community, environment, and disaster risk management, Vol. 10. 1st edn. Emerald Publishing: Bingley.
- Shaw, R. (2014) 'Post Disaster Recovery: Issues and Challenges'. In: Shaw, R. (ed.) Disaster Recovery: Used or Misused Development Opportunity, pp. 1–13. Springer Japan: Tokyo.
- Sheldon, K. M. and Lucas, R. E. (2014) *Stability of Happiness: Theories and Evidence on Whether Happiness Can Change.* Elsevier: Burlington.
- Sherman, M., et al. (2015) 'Vulnerability and adaptive capacity of community food systems in the Peruvian Amazon: a case study from Panaillo', *Natural Hazards*, 77/3: 2049–79.
- Sherman, M., et al. (2016) 'Food system vulnerability amidst the extreme 2010–2011 flooding in the Peruvian Amazon: a case study from the Ucayali region', *Food Security*, 8/3: 551–70.
- Sherrieb, K., Norris, F. H. and Galea, S. (2010) 'Measuring capacities for community resilience', *Social indicators research*, 99/2: 227–47.
- Sietz, D., Mamani Choque, Sabino Edgar and Lüdeke, Matthias K. B. (2012) 'Typical patterns of smallholder vulnerability to weather extremes with regard to food security in the Peruvian Altiplano', *Regional Environmental Change*, 12/3: 489–505.
- SINAGERD, et al. (2014) Plan Nacional de Gestión del Riesgo de Desastres (PLAN-AGERD) 2014–2021. Sistema Nacional de Gestión del Riesgo de Desastres; Presidencia del Consejo de Ministros; Secretaria de Gestión del Riesgo de Desastres; Centro Nacional

de Estimación, Prevención, y Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres; Instituto Nacional de Defensa Civil: Lima.

- Singh, C., et al. (2019) 'Exploring methodological approaches to assess climate change vulnerability and adaptation: reflections from using life history approaches', *Regional Environmental Change*, 19/8: 2667–82.
- Siriwardhana, C., et al. (2014) 'A systematic review of resilience and mental health outcomes of conflict-driven adult forced migrants', *Conflict and health*, 8: 13.
- Sjaastad, L. A. (1962) 'The Costs and Returns of Human Migration', Journal of Political Economy, 70/5: 80–93.
- Skansi, María de los Milagros, et al. (2013) 'Warming and wetting signals emerging from analysis of changes in climate extreme indices over South America', *Global and planetary change*, 100: 295–307.
- Skeldon, R. (1977) 'The Evolution of Migration Patterns during Urbanization in Peru', Geographical Review, 67/4: 394–411.
- Skeldon, R. (1985) 'Population pressure, mobility, and socio-economic change in mountainous environments: regions of refuge in comparative perspective', *Mountain Research and Development*, 5/3: 233–50.
- Skop, E. (2006) 'The methodological potential of focus groups in population geography', *Population, Space and Place*, 12/2: 113–24.
- Smit, B. and Wandel, J. (2006) 'Adaptation, adaptive capacity and vulnerability', *Global Environmental Change*, 16/3: 282–92.
- Smith, M. S., Bastin, G. and Chewings, V. (2011) DR6: Environmental and nonenvironmental drivers of migration from global drylands: Foresight Project, Migration and Global Environmental Change. Foresight Project, Migration and Global Environmental Change. UK Government Office for Science: London.
- Smith, S. J. and Mizrahi, A. (2013) 'Near-term climate mitigation by short-lived forcers', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 110/ 35: 14202–06.
- Snyder, C. R., et al. (1991) 'The will and the ways: Development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 60/4: 570–85.
- Snyder, C. R. (2000) Handbook of hope: Theory, measures & applications. Academic Press: San Diego.
- Snyder, C. R. (2002) 'Hope Theory: Rainbows in the Mind', *Psychological Inquiry*, 13/4: 249–75.
- Solanes, A., et al. (2021) 'Can we increase the subjective well-being of the general population? An umbrella review of the evidence', *Revista de Psiquiatría y Salud Mental (English Edition)*, 14/1: 50–64.
- Son, R., et al. (2020) 'Climate diagnostics of the extreme floods in Peru during early 2017', *Climate Dynamics*, 54/1–2: 935–45.
- Sörensson, A. A., et al. (2010) 'Projected precipitation changes in South America: a dynamical downscaling within CLARIS', *Meteorologische Zeitschrift*, 19/4: 347–55.
- Sow, P., Marmer, E. and Scheffran, J. (2016) 'Between the heat and the hardships. Climate change and mixed migration flows in Morocco', *Migration and Development*, 5/2: 293– 313.

- Spencer, N. and Urquhart, M.-A. (2018) 'Hurricane Strikes and Migration: Evidence from Storms in Central America and the Caribbean', *Weather, Climate, and Society*, 10/3: 569– 77.
- Sperling, F., et al. (2008) 'Transitioning to climate resilient development: Perspectives from communities in Peru', World Bank Environment Department Papers, Climate Change Series, 115.
- Srivastava, R. K. (2020) Managing Urbanization, Climate Change and Disasters in South Asia. Disaster Studies and Management Ser. Springer Singapore Pte. Limited: Singapore.
- Staal, A., et al. (2020) 'Hysteresis of tropical forests in the 21st century', *Nature communications*, 11/1: 4978.
- Stark, O. (1978) Economic demographic interactions in agricultural development: The case of rural to urban migration. Population and agricultural development. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations: Rome.
- Stark, O. (2006) 'Inequality and migration: A behavioral link', *Economics Letters*, 91/1: 146– 52.
- Stark, O. and Bloom, D. E. (1985) 'The New Economics of Labor Migration', American Economic Review, 75/2: 173–78.
- Stark, O. and Taylor, J. E. (1989) 'Relative deprivation and international migration oded stark', *Demography*, 26/1: 1–14.
- Steffen, W., et al. (2018) 'Trajectories of the Earth System in the Anthropocene', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115/33: 8252–59.
- Stewart, F. (1985) 'A Basic Needs Approach to Development'. In: Stewart, F. (ed.) Planning to Meet Basic Needs, pp. 1–13. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A. and Fitoussi, J.-P. (2009) Report by the commission on the measurement of economic performance and social progress. The Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress (CMEPSP).
- Stillman, S., et al. (2015) 'Miserable Migrants? Natural Experiment Evidence on International Migration and Objective and Subjective Well-Being', *World Development*, 65/C: 79–93.
- Stilwell, B., et al. (2004) 'Migration of health-care workers from developing countries: strategic approaches to its management', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 82/8: 595–600.
- Stojanov, R., et al. (2021) 'Climate Mobility and Development Cooperation', *Population and Environment*, 43: 209–31.
- Stonequist, E. V. (1937) The marginal man: a study in personality and culture conflict. The marginal man: a study in personality and culture conflict. Scribner; Simon & Schuster: New York.
- Stott, P. A., et al. (2016) 'Attribution of extreme weather and climate-related events', Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 7/1: 23–41.
- Strauss, B. H., Kulp, S. A. and Levermann, A. (2015) 'Carbon choices determine US cities committed to futures below sea level', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, 112/44: 13508–13.
- Strübing, J. (2014) 'Grounded Theory und Theoretical Sampling'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 457–72. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.

- Stuart-Smith, R. F., et al. (2021) 'Increased outburst flood hazard from Lake Palcacocha due to human-induced glacier retreat', *Nature Geosci*, 14/2: 85–90.
- Stuckey, H. (2014) 'The first step in Data Analysis: Transcribing and managing qualitative research data', *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, 02/01: 6–8.
- Suh, E. M., et al. (1998) 'The shifting basis of life satisfaction judgments across cultures: Emotions versus norms', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 74/2: 482–93.
- Suh, E. M., Diener, E. and Fujita, F. (1996) 'Events and subjective well-being: Only recent events matter', *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 70/5: 1091–102.
- Sultana, F. (2010) 'Living in hazardous waterscapes: Gendered vulnerabilities and experiences of floods and disasters', *Environmental Hazards*, 9/1: 43–53.
- Tacoli, C. (2007) 'Poverty, Inequality and the Underestimation of Rural–urban Linkages', Development, 50/2: 90–95.
- Tacoli, C. (2009) 'Crisis or adaptation? Migration and climate change in a context of high mobility', *Environment and Urbanization*, 21/2: 513–25.
- Tacoli, C. (2011) 'Not only climate change: mobility, vulnerability and socio-economic transformations in environmentally fragile areas of Bolivia, Senegal and Tanzania', *IIED Human Settlements Working Paper*, 28.
- Takahashi, K. and Martínez, A. G. (2019) 'The very strong coastal El Niño in 1925 in the far-eastern Pacific', *Climate Dynamics*, 52/12: 7389–415.
- Takasaki, Y., Barham, B. L. and Coomes, O. T. (2004) 'Risk coping strategies in tropical forests: floods, illnesses, and resource extraction', *Environment and Development Economics*, 9/2: 203–24.
- Takasaki, Y., Barham, B. L. and Coomes, O. T. (2010) 'Smoothing Income against Crop Flood Losses in Amazonia: Rain Forest or Rivers as a Safety Net?', *Review of Devel*opment Economics, 14/1: 48–63.
- Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (2010) 'Quality of inferences in mixed methods research: Calling for an integrative framework'. In: Bergman, M. M. (ed.) Advances in mixed methods research: Theories and appications, pp. 101–19. Sage Publications, Inc.: Los Angeles.
- Task Force on Displacement (2018) Report of the Task Force on Displacement: Advanced unedited version 17 September 2018.
- Tay, L. and Diener, E. (2011) 'Needs and subjective well-being around the world', *Journal* of personality and social psychology, 101/2: 354–65.
- Tay, L., Herian, M. N. and Diener, E. (2014) 'Detrimental Effects of Corruption and Subjective Well-Being', Social Psychological and Personality Science, 5/7: 751–59.
- Tay, L., Kuykendall, L. and Diener, E. (2015) 'Satisfaction and Happiness—The Bright Side of Quality of Life'. In: Glatzer, W., Camfield, L., Møller, V., Rojas, M. (eds.) Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents, pp. 839–53. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Taylor, J. E., et al. (2016) 'Economic impact of refugees', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113/27: 7449–53.
- Teddlie, C. and Tashakkori, A. (2010) 'Overview of contemporary issues in mixed methods research'. In: Tashakkori, A. and Teddlie, C. (eds.) SAGE Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social & Behavioral Research, pp. 1–41. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- Teves, N., et al. (1996) 'Sea-Level Rise along the Lima Coastal Zone, Perú, as a Result of Global Warming: Environmental Impacts and Mitigation Measures'. In: Smith, J.

B., Bhatti, N., Menzhulin, G. V., Benioff, R., Campos, M., Jallow, B., Rijsberman, F., Budyko, M. I., Dixon, R. K. (eds.) *Adapting to Climate Change: An International Perspective*, pp. 283–98. Springer: New York.

- Texidó, E. and Warn, E. (2013) Migrant well-being and development: South America: Working paper for the World Migration Report 2013 (IOM). International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- Thaler, T., Seebauer, S. and Schindelegger, A. (2020) 'Patience, persistence and pre-signals: Policy dynamics of planned relocation in Austria', *Global Environmental Change*, 63: 102122.
- The Brookings Institution and University of Bern (2010) *IASC Framework on Durable Solutions for Internally Displaced Persons:* Washington, D.C.
- Thiede, B. C., Gray, C. L. and Mueller, V. (2016) 'Climate Variability and Inter-Provincial Migration in South America, 1970–2011', *Global environmental change : human and policy dimensions*, 41: 228–40.
- Thiery, P. (2016) 'Das politische System: Verfassung, Staat und Demokratie'. In: Paap, I. and Schmidt-Welle, F. (eds.) Peru heute: Politik, Wirtschaft, Kultur, Bibliotheca Ibero-Americana, Band 166, pp. 143–78. Verlag Vervuert: Frankfurt a.M.
- Thober, J., Schwarz, N. and Hermans, K. (2018) 'Agent-based modeling of environmentmigration linkages: a review', *Ecology and Society*, 23/2: 41.
- Thomas, A. and Benjamin, L. (2020) 'Non-economic loss and damage: lessons from displacement in the Caribbean', *Climate Policy*, 20/6: 715–28.
- Thow, A. M., Fanzo, J. and Negin, J. (2016) 'A Systematic Review of the Effect of Remittances on Diet and Nutrition', *Food and nutrition bulletin*, 37/1: 42–64.
- Tierney, K. (2012) 'Disaster Governance: Social, Political, and Economic Dimensions', Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 37/1: 341–63.
- Tito, R., Vasconcelos, H. L. and Feeley, K. J. (2018) 'Global climate change increases risk of crop yield losses and food insecurity in the tropical Andes', *Global change biology*, 24/2: e592-e602.
- Tognotti, E. (2013) 'Lessons from the history of quarantine, from plague to influenza A', *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 19/2: 254–59.
- Tol, W. A., et al. (2011) 'Mental health and psychosocial support in humanitarian settings: linking practice and research', *The Lancet*, 378/9802: 1581–91.
- Tol, W. A., et al. (2012) 'Relevance or Excellence? Setting Research Priorities for Mental Health and Psychosocial Support in Humanitarian Settings', *Harvard Review of Psychi*atry, 20/1: 25–36.
- Transparency International (2022) Corruption Perceptions Index 2021, Transparency International (TI) https://images.transparencycdn.org/images/CPI2021_Report_EN-web.pdf> accessed 17 March 2022.
- True, J. (2013) 'Gendered violence in natural disasters: Learning from New Orleans, Haiti and Christchurch', Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 25/2: 78–89.
- Tschakert, P., et al. (2017) 'Climate change and loss, as if people mattered: values, places, and experiences', *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 8/5: e476.
- Tschakert, P., et al. (2019) 'One thousand ways to experience loss: A systematic analysis of climate-related intangible harm from around the world', *Global Environmental Change*, 55: 58–72.

- Tschakert, P. and Tutu, R. (2010) 'Solastalgia: Environmentally Induced Distress and Migration Among Africa's Poor Due to Climate Change'. In: Afifi, T. and Jäger, J. (eds.) *Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability*, pp. 57–69. Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Tubridy, F. and Lennon, M. (2021) 'Flood risk management, (un)managed retreat and the "relocation fix": examining shifting responsibilities and compounding risks through two Irish case studies', *Local Environment*, 26/4: 517–33.
- Tuholske, C., et al. (2021) 'Global urban population exposure to extreme heat', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 118/41: e2024792118.
- Tumi, A. R. and Tumi, J. M. R. (2013) 'Estrategias de adaptación frente al cambio climático en familias rurales del altiplano puneño: estudio de caso en el centro poblado de Huancho—Huancané—Perú', Comuni@ccion: Revista de Investigación en Comunicación y Desarrollo, 4/1: 57–73.
- Turner, G. (2017) 'Facilitating 'reasonable hope' with refugees and asylum seekers', Forced Migration Review, 55: 72–74.
- Turner, S. (2016) 'What Is a Refugee Camp? Explorations of the Limits and Effects of the Camp', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 29/2: 139–48.
- Umer, M. and Elliot, D. L. (2021) 'Being Hopeful: Exploring the Dynamics of Post-traumatic Growth and Hope in Refugees', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 34/1: 953–75.
- UN (2021) The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2021. United Nations: New York.
- UNDESA (1998) 'Recommendations on Statistics of International Migration: Revision 1', *Statistical Papers Series M*, No. 58, Rev. 1.
- UNDESA (2016) *The International Migration Report 2015*. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division: New York.
- UNDESA (2018) World Urbanization Prospects: The 2018 Revision. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division: New York.
- UNDESA (2019) *World Population Prospects 2019, Volume II: Demographic Profiles.* United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division: New York.
- UNDESA (2021) *Reconsidering rural development. World social report*, Vol. 2021. United Nations: New York.
- UNDP (2009) *Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development*. United Nations Development Programme: New York.
- UNDP (2020) Human Mobility, Shared Opportunities: A Review of the 2009 Human Development Report and the Way Ahead. United Nations Development Programme: New York.
- UNDRR (2020) Biggest risk driver of all is bad governance: Statement by the Secretary-General's Special Representative for Disaster Risk Reduction to the High-Level Politcal Forum on Sustainable Development on Water-related Disaster Risk Reduction under the COVID-19 Pandemic, UNDRR https://www.undrr.org/news/biggest-risk-driver-all-badgovernance accessed 23 January 2022.
- UNESCO (2020) 'The impact of climate displacement on the right to education', UNESCO Working Papers on Education Policy, 12.
- UNFCCC (1992) United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: FCCC/ INFORMAL/84, 1 December 1997.

- UNFCCC (2010) Report of the Conference of the Parties on its sixteenth session, held in Cancun from 29 November to 10 December 2010: Decision 1/CP.16 The Cancun Agreements, 29 Nov 2010.
- UNFCCC (2013) Non-economic losses in the context of the work programme on loss and damage: Technical paper, FCCC/TP/2013/2, 9 October 2013.
- UNFCCC (2015) Adoption of the Paris Agreement: FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1, 12 December 2015.
- UNGA (2015) Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development: A/ RES/70/1, 21 October 2015, United Nations General Assembly (UNGA).
- UNGA (2016) Report of the open-ended intergovernmental expert working group on indicators and terminology relating to disaster risk reduction: A/71/644, 1 December 2016.
- UNGA (2018) Global Compact for Migration: A/RES/73/195, 19 December 2018.
- UNHCR (2014) UNHCR Global Strategy for Settlement and Shelter 2014–2018. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees: Geneva.
- UNHCR (2021) 2021 Planning summary: Operation: Peru. 29/12/2020, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) https://reporting.unhcr.org/sites/default/files/pdf summaries/GA2021-Peru-eng.pdf> accessed 23 January 2022.
- UNHCR, Georgetown University and IOM (2017) A toolbox: Planning Relocations to Protect People from Disasters and Environmental Change. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees; Georgetown University; International Organization for Migration: Geneva.
- UNISDR (2015) Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030. United Nations: New York.
- Upadhyay, H., Vinke, K. and Weisz, H. (under review) "We are still here": Climate change and immobility in highly mobile Himalayan communities'.
- USAID (2011) *Peru Climate Change Vulnerability and Adaptation Desktop Study*. United States Agency for International Development (USAID): Washington, D.C.
- USAID (2014) Peru tropical forest and biodiversity assessment: US Foreign Assistance Act, Section 118/119 Report August.
- USAID (2017) Climate change risk profile: Peru: Factsheet, United States Agency for International Development https://www.climatelinks.org/sites/default/files/asset/document/ 2017_Climate%20Change%20Risk%20Profile_Peru.pdf> accessed 23 January 2022.
- Valdés, H. M. (2009) 'A Gender Perspective on Disaster Risk Reduction'. In: Enarson, E., Chakrabarti, P. G., Enarson, E. P., Dhar Chakrabarti, P. G. (eds.) Women, gender and disaster: Global issues and initiatives, pp. 18–28. Sage: Los Angeles.
- Valdivia, C., et al. (2010) 'Adapting to Climate Change in Andean Ecosystems: Landscapes, Capitals, and Perceptions Shaping Rural Livelihood Strategies and Linking Knowledge Systems', *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 100/4: 818–34.
- van der Geest, K. and Warner, K. (2020) 'Loss and damage in the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report (Working Group II): a text-mining analysis', *Climate Policy*, 20/6: 729–42.
- van der Land, V., Romankiewicz, C. and van der Geest, K. (2018) 'Environmental change and migration: A review of West African case studies'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration*, pp. 163–77. Routledge: London.
- van Gennep, A. (1960) The rites of passage. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.

- van Iiempt, I. and Bilger, V. (2012) 'Ethical challenges in research with vulnerable migrants'.
 In: Vargas-Silva, C. (ed.) *Handbook of research methods in migration*, pp. 451–66.
 Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham.
- van Meeteren, M., Engbersen, G. and van San, M. (2009) 'Striving for a Better Position: Aspirations and the Role of Cultural, Economic, and Social Capital for Irregular Migrants in Belgium', *International Migration Review*, 43/4: 881–907.
- van Vuuren, D. P., et al. (2011) 'The representative concentration pathways: an overview', *Climatic Change*, 109/1–2: 5–31.
- Vargas, P. (2009) *El cambio climático y sus efectos en el Perú*. Banco Central de Reserva del Perú: Lima.
- Vásquez, A., et al. (2018) 'La Perspectiva de Género ¿Una consideración necesaria para comprender y transformar estructuras de desigualdad en el contexto del cambio climático? Aportes de la iniciativa Ciudades Resilientes al Clima en América Latina', *Medio Ambiente y Urbanización*, 88/1: 199–245.
- Veenhoven, R. (2014) 'Livability Theory'. In: Michalos, A. C. (ed.) Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research, pp. 3645–47. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Veenhoven, R. (2015) 'The Overall Satisfaction with Life: Subjective Approaches'. In: Glatzer, W., Camfield, L., Møller, V., Rojas, M. (eds.) Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents, pp. 207–38. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Veettil, B. K. (2018) 'Glacier mapping in the Cordillera Blanca, Peru, tropical Andes, using Sentinel-2 and Landsat data', *Singapore Journal of Tropical Geography*, 39/3: 351–63.
- Veettil, B. K. and Kamp, U. (2019) 'Global Disappearance of Tropical Mountain Glaciers: Observations, Causes, and Challenges', *Geosciences*, 9/5: 196.
- Venkateswaran, K., MacClune, K. and Enriquez, M. F. (2017) Learning from El Niño Costero 2017: Opportunities for Building Resilience in Peru. ISET International; Zurich Flood Resilience Alliance: Boulder.
- Vera, C., et al. (2006) 'Climate change scenarios for seasonal precipitation in South America from IPCC-AR4 models', *Geophysical Research Letters*, 33/13: L13707.
- Veronis, L., et al. (2018) 'Environmental change and international migration: a review'.
 In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration*, pp. 42–70. Routledge: London.
- Vertovec, S. (1999) 'Conceiving and researching transnationalism '', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 22/2: 447–62.
- Vertovec, S. (2007) 'Introduction: New directions in the anthropology of migration and multiculturalism', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 30/6: 961–78.
- Vicente-Serrano, S. M., et al. (2018) 'Recent changes in monthly surface air temperature over Peru, 1964–2014', *International Journal of Climatology*, 38/1: 283–306.
- Vidal Merino, M., et al. (2020) 'The Andean Farmers of Peru: Farm-Household System Vulnerability to Climate-Related Hazards'. In: Leal Filho, W., Nagy, G. J., Borga, M., Chávez Muñoz, P. D., Magnuszewski, A. (eds.) *Climate Change, Hazards and Adaptation Options: Handling the Impacts of a Changing Climate*, pp. 1029–44. Springer International Publishing: Cham.
- Villa, M., Rodríguez, J. and Lattes, A. E. (2017) 'Population Dynamics and Urbanization in Latin America: Concepts and Data Limitations'. In: Hugo, G. J. (ed.) New Forms of Urbanization: Beyond the Urban-Rural Dichotomy, pp. 89–111. Routledge: London.

- Vinke, K. (2019) Unsettling settlements—cities, migrants, climate change: Rural-urban climate migration as effective adaption? Studien zur internationalen Umweltpolitik. Lit Verlag: Berlin.
- Vinke, K., et al. (2020) 'Migration as Adaptation?', Migration Studies, 8/4: 626-34.
- Vinke, K. and Hoffmann, R. (2020) 'Data for a difficult subject: Climate change and human migration', *Migration Policy Practice Journal*, X/1: 16–22.
- Vogl, S. (2014) 'Gruppendiskussion'. In: Baur, N. and Blasius, J. (eds.) Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung, pp. 581–86. Springer Verlag: Wiesbaden.
- Vroom, V. H. (1964) Work and motivation. Wiley: New York.
- Vroome, T. de and Hooghe, M. (2014) 'Life Satisfaction among Ethnic Minorities in the Netherlands: Immigration Experience or Adverse Living Conditions?', *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 15/6: 1389–406.
- Vuille, M., et al. (2018) 'Rapid decline of snow and ice in the tropical Andes—Impacts, uncertainties and challenges ahead', *Earth-Science Reviews*, 176: 195–213.
- Wake, C., Barbelet, V. and Skinner, M. (2019) 'Rohingya refugees' perspectives on their displacement in Bangladesh: Uncertain futures', *HPG Working Paper*, June 2019.
- Walker, D. W., Smigaj, M. and Tani, M. (2021) 'The benefits and negative impacts of citizen science applications to water as experienced by participants and communities', *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 8/1: 8:e1488.
- Wallerstein, I. M. (1974) The modern world-system. Academic Press: New York.
- Wallis, C. (2005) 'The New Science of Happiness', *TIME Magazine*, 09.01.2005 https://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,1015832,00.html accessed 23 January 2022.
- Wang, G., et al. (2017) 'Continued increase of extreme El Niño frequency long after 1.5 °C warming stabilization', *Nature Climate Change*, 7/8: 568–72.
- Ward, C. (2008) 'Thinking outside the Berry boxes: New perspectives on identity, acculturation and intercultural relations', *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 32/2: 105–14.
- Warn, E. (2014) 'The Impact of Climate Change: Migration and Cities in South America', IOM Bulletin, 63/2.
- Warner, K., et al. (2009) In search of shelter: Mapping the effects of climate change on human migration and displacement. CARE International: Washington, D.C.
- Warner, K. (2012) 'Human Migration and Displacement in the Context of Adaptation to Climate Change: The Cancun Adaptation Framework and Potential for Future Action', *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 30/6: 1061–77.
- Warner, K. and Afifi, T. (2014) 'Where the rain falls: Evidence from 8 countries on how vulnerable households use migration to manage the risk of rainfall variability and food insecurity', *Climate and Development*, 6/1: 1–17.
- Warner, W. L. and Srole, L. (1945) The social systems of American ethnic groups. Yale University Press; H. Milford; Oxford University Press: New Haven, London.
- Warsini, S., Mills, J. and Usher, K. (2014) 'Solastalgia: living with the environmental damage caused by natural disasters', *Prehospital and disaster medicine*, 29/1: 87–90.
- Waters, M. C., et al. (2010) 'Segmented Assimilation Revisited: Types of Acculturation and Socioeconomic Mobility in Young Adulthood', *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 33/7: 1168–93.
- WBGU (2018) 'In Nansen's footsteps: a climate passport for humane migration', *German Advisory Council on Global Change Policy Paper*, 9.

- Webber, M. and Barnett, J. R. (2010) 'Accommodating Migration To Promote Adaptation To Climate Change', World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series, 5270.
- Wehn, U., et al. (2021) 'Impact assessment of citizen science: state of the art and guiding principles for a consolidated approach', *Sustainability Science*, 16/5: 1683–99.
- Wellard, S. and McKenna, L. (2001) 'Turning tapes into text: issues surrounding the transcription of interviews', *Contemporary nurse*, 11/2–3: 180–86.
- Werner, S. (2012) 'Subjective well-being, hope, and needs of individuals with serious mental illness', *Psychiatry research*, 196/2–3: 214–19.
- WFP and CENEPRED (2015) *Mapa de vulnerabilidad a la inseguridad alimentaria ante la recurrencia de fenómenos de origen natural 2015*. World Food Programme; Centro Nacional de Estimación, Prevención y Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres: Lima.
- White, M. J. and Johnson, C. (2016) 'Perspectives on Migration Theory—Sociology & Political Science'. In: White, M. J. (ed.) *International Handbook of Migration and Population Distribution, International Handbooks of Population*, Vol. 6, pp. 69–90. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- WHO (1948) Constitution of the World Health Organization: Geneva.
- WHO (2016) Problem management plus (PM+): Individual psychological help for adults impaired by distress in communities exposed to adversity. World Health Organization: Geneva.
- WHO and World Bank (2011) World report on disability. World Health Organization: Geneva.
- Wiegel, H., Boas, I. and Warner, J. (2019) 'A mobilities perspective on migration in the context of environmental change', *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 10/6: 10:e610.
- Wigfield, A. and Cambria, J. (2021) 'Expectancy-value theory: retrospective and prospective'. In: Yoder, N. and Skoog-Hoffman, A. (eds.) *Motivating the SEL Field Forward Through Equity, Advances in motivation and achievement*, 16,A. 1st edn., pp. 35–70. Emerald Publishing: Bingley.
- Wigfield, A. and Eccles, J. S. (2000) 'Expectancy-value theory of achievement motivation', Contemporary educational psychology, 25/1: 68–81.
- Wilkinson, S. (1999) 'Focus Groups', Psychology of Women Quarterly, 23/2: 221-44.
- Williams, A. M. and Baláž, V. (2012) 'Migration, Risk, and Uncertainty: Theoretical Perspectives', *Population, Space and Place*, 18/2: 167–80.
- Wills, T. A. (1981) 'Downward comparison principles in social psychology', *Psychological bulletin*, 90/2: 245–71.
- Wilmsen, B. and Webber, M. (2015) 'What can we learn from the practice of developmentforced displacement and resettlement for organised resettlements in response to climate change?', *Geoforum*, 58: 76–85.
- Wingens, M., et al. (2011) A Life-Course Perspective on Migration and Integration. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Witzel, A. and Reiter, H. (2012) *The problem-centred interview*. Sage Publications, Inc.: London.
- WMO (2021) United In Science 2021: A multi-organization high-level compilation of the latest climate science information. World Meteorological Organization: Geneva.
- Wodon, Q., et al. (2014) 'Climate Change, Extreme Weather Events, and Migration: Review of the Literature for Five Arab Countries'. In: Piguet, É. and Laczko, F. (eds.) *People on*
the Move in a Changing Climate, Global Migration Issues, Vol. 2, pp. 111–34. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.

- Wolsko, C. and Marino, E. (2016) 'Disasters, migrations, and the unintended consequences of urbanization: What's the harm in getting out of harm's way?', *Population and Environment*, 37/4: 411–28.
- Wood, J. V., Choi, K. and Gaucher, C. (2007) 'Social Comparison'. In: Baumeister, R. F. F. and Vohs, K. D. D. (eds.) *Encyclopedia of Social Psychology*, online resource. Sage Publications, Inc.: Thousand Oaks.
- World Bank (2015) Mind, society, and behavior. World Development Report, Vol. 2015. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- World Bank (2017a) Country Poverty Brief Peru: October 2017 <link unavailable at time of publishing> accessed 10 November 2019.
- World Bank (2017b) Forcibly Displaced: Toward a Development Approach Supporting Refugees, the Internally Displaced, and Their Hosts: Toward a development approach supporting refugees, the internally displaced, and their hosts. World Bank: Washington.

World Bank (2017c) Peru-Systematic Country Diagnostic. World Bank: Washington, D.C.

- World Bank (2017d) World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- World Bank (2018) *Moving for Prosperity: Global Migration and Labor Markets*. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- World Bank (2019) World Development Indicators, World Bank http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators> accessed 23 January 2022.
- World Bank (2020a) Forced Displacement Literature Review : 2019–2020. World Bank Group: Washington, D.C.
- World Bank (2020b) Pivoting to Inclusion. World Bank: Washington, D.C.
- World Bank (2021a) Poverty & Equity Brief Peru: April 2021 <a href="https://databank.worldbankw.worldbank.worldbankw.worldbank.worldbankw.worldbankw.worl
- World Bank (2021b) Poverty & Equity Brief Peru: October 2021 https://databank.worldb ank.org/data/download/poverty/987B9C90-CB9F-4D93-AE8C-750588BF00QA/AM2 021/Global_POVEQ_PER.pdf> accessed 28 December 2021.
- World Bank (2021c) World Development Indicators, World Bank http://data.worldbank.org/data-catalog/world-development-indicators> accessed 23 January 2022.
- World Bank Group (2016) *Migration and development: a role for the World Bank Group:* Washington, D.C.
- Wrathall, D. J., et al. (2014) 'Migration Amidst Climate Rigidity Traps: Resource Politics and Social–Ecological Possibilism in Honduras and Peru', Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 104/2: 292–304.
- Wrathall, D. J., et al. (2018) 'Water stress and human migration: a global, georeferenced review of empirical research', *FAO Land and Water Discussion Papers*, 11.
- Wrathall, D. J., et al. (2019) 'Meeting the looming policy challenge of sea-level change and human migration', *Nature Climate Change*, 9/12: 898–901.
- Wright, K. (2010) "It's Limited Kind of Happiness': Barriers to Achieving Human Wellbeing among Peruvian Migrants in London and Madrid', *Bulletin of Latin American Research*, 29/3: 367–83.

- Wright, K. (2011) 'Constructing Migrant Wellbeing: An Exploration of Life Satisfaction Amongst Peruvian Migrants in London', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 37/ 9: 1459–75.
- Wright, R. and Ellis, M. (2016) 'Perspectives on Migration Theory: Geography'. In: White, M. J. (ed.) International Handbook of Migration and Population Distribution, International Handbooks of Population, Vol. 6, pp. 11–30. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Wu, X., et al. (2016) 'Impact of climate change on human infectious diseases: Empirical evidence and human adaptation', *Environment international*, 86: 14–23.
- Yamamoto, J. (2007) Subjective wellbeing from a developing country perspective. An alternative multilevel approach: Presented at WeD International Conference, Wellbeing in International Development, 28–30 June 2007: Bath, UK.
- Yamamoto, J. (2014) 'Andean and Amazonian Native Conceptions of Well-Being'. In: Michalos, A. C. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research*, pp. 169– 73. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Yamamoto, J. (2016) 'The Social Psychology of Latin American Happiness'. In: Rojas, M. (ed.) Handbook of Happiness Research in Latin America, International handbooks of quality-of-life. 1st edn., pp. 17–31. Springer Netherlands: Dordrecht.
- Yamamoto, J. and Feijoo, A. R. (2007) 'Componentes émicos del bienestar. Hacia un modelo alternativo de desarrollo', *Revista de Psicología*, 25/2: 197–231.
- Yamamoto, J., Feijoo, A. R. and Lazarte, A. (2008) 'Subjective wellbeing: An alternative approach'. In: Copestake, J. (ed.) Wellbeing and Development in Peru: Local and universal views confronted, pp. 61–101. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Yamamoto, L., Serraglio, D. A. and Cavedon-Capdeville, F. d. S. (2018) 'Human mobility in the context of climate change and disasters: a South American approach', *Int J of Cl Chan Strat and Man*, 10/1: 65–85.
- Yang, D. (2009) 'International Migration and Human Development', Human Development Research Paper, 29.
- Yap, S. C. Y., Anusic, I. and Lucas, R. E. (2014) 'Does happiness change? Evidence from longitudinal studies'. In: Sheldon, K. M. and Lucas, R. E. (eds.) *Stability of Happiness*, pp. 127–45. Academic Press: London.
- Yar, A. and Wali, A. (2020) 'Critical review of climate change induced migration An emerging challenge for contemporary society', *Engineering World*, 2: 47–57.
- Yates, O. E. T., et al. (2021) 'Reshaping ties to land: a systematic review of the psychosocial and cultural impacts of Pacific climate-related mobility', *Climate and Development*: 1– 18.
- Yeboah, T. (2021) 'Future aspirations of rural-urban young migrants in Accra, Ghana', Children's Geographies, 19/1: 45–58.
- Yohani, S. C. and Larsen, D. J. (2009) 'Hope Lives in the Heart: Refugee and Immigrant Children's Perceptions of Hope and Hope-Engendering Sources during Early Years of Adjustment', *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 43/4: 246–64.
- Yudell, M., et al. (2016) 'Taking race out of human genetics', Science, 351/6273: 564-65.
- Zalasiewicz, J., et al. (2017) 'The Working Group on the Anthropocene: Summary of evidence and interim recommendations', *Anthropocene*, 19: 55–60.
- Zalasiewicz, J., Waters, C. and Williams, M. (2020) 'The Anthropocene'. In: Gradstein, F. M., Ogg, J. G., Schmitz, M. D., Ogg, G. M. (eds.) *Geologic Time Scale 2020*, pp. 1257–80. Elsevier: San Diego.

- Zander, K. K., et al. (2022) 'Topic modelling exposes disciplinary divergence in research on the nexus between human mobility and the environment', *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 9/1: 1–9.
- Zanhouo, D. A. K. and Nana, A. B. I. (2019) 'Modeling Climate Change Impact on Health and Population Migration: A Systematic Review', *Economics Literature*, 1/1: 51–65.
- Zapf, W., et al. (1987) 'German social report', Social indicators research, 19: 3–171.
- Zavaleta, C., et al. (2018) 'Multiple non-climatic drivers of food insecurity reinforce climate change maladaptation trajectories among Peruvian Indigenous Shawi in the Amazon', *PloS one*, 13/10: e0205714.
- Zhou, C., et al. (2021) 'Greater committed warming after accounting for the pattern effect', *Nature Climate Change*, 11/2: 132–36.
- Zhou, M. (1997) 'Segmented Assimilation: Issues, Controversies, and Recent Research on the New Second Generation', *International Migration Review*, 31/4: 975–1008.
- Zickgraf, C. (2018) 'Immobility'. In: McLeman, R. A. and Gemenne, F. (eds.) Routledge Handbook of Environmental Displacement and Migration, pp. 71–84. Routledge: London.
- Zickgraf, C. (2019) 'Keeping People in Place: Political Factors of (Im)mobility and Climate Change', Social Sciences, 8/8: 228.
- Zickgraf, C. (2021) 'Climate change, slow onset events and human mobility: reviewing the evidence', *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 50: 21–30.
- Zulkafli, Z., et al. (2016) 'Projected increases in the annual flood pulse of the Western Amazon', *Environmental Research Letters*, 11/1: 14013.